
Agenda compiled by:
Governance Services
Civic Hall

Gerard Watson
395 2194

Produced on Recycled Paper
1

EXECUTIVE BOARD

Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on
Wednesday, 27th July, 2016 at 1.00 pm

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors

J Blake (Chair)
R Charlwood
D Coupar
J Lewis
R Lewis
L Mulherin
M Rafique
L Yeadon

A Carter S Golton

Public Document Pack



2

CONFIDENTIAL AND EXEMPT ITEMS

The reason for confidentiality or exemption is stated on the agenda and on each of the reports in 
terms of Access to Information Procedure Rules 9.2 or 10.4(1) to (7). The number or numbers 
stated in the agenda and reports correspond to the reasons for exemption / confidentiality below:

9.0 Confidential information – requirement to exclude public access
9.1 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential 
information would be disclosed. Likewise, public access to reports, background papers, 
and minutes will also be excluded.

9.2 Confidential information means
(a) information given to the Council by a Government Department on terms which 

forbid its public disclosure or 
(b) information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under another 

Act or by Court Order. Generally personal information which identifies an 
individual, must not be disclosed under the data protection and human rights 
rules. 

10.0 Exempt information – discretion to exclude public access
10. 1 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information 
would be disclosed provided:
(a) the meeting resolves so to exclude the public, and that resolution identifies the 

proceedings or part of the proceedings to which it applies, and
(b) that resolution states by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the 

Local Government Act 1972 (paragraph 10.4 below) the description of the 
exempt information giving rise to the exclusion of the public.

(c) that resolution states, by reference to reasons given in a relevant report or 
otherwise, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

10.2 In these circumstances, public access to reports, background papers and minutes will 
also be excluded. 

10.3 Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely 
affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a 
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary 
for one of the reasons specified in Article 6.

10. 4 Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to 
any condition):
1 Information relating to any individual
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information).
4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or officer-
holders under the authority.

5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings.

6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment

7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime

 



3

A G E N D A

Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

1  

 

APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS

To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded)

(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting)

2  

 

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1 To highlight reports or appendices which officers 
have identified as containing exempt information 
within the meaning of Section 100I of the Local 
Government Act 1972, and where officers 
consider that the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report.

2 To consider whether or not to accept the officers 
recommendation in respect of the above 
information.

3 If the recommendation is accepted, to formally 
pass the following resolution:-

RESOLVED –  That, in accordance with 
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the 
public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of those parts of the agenda 
designated as exempt  on the grounds that it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that 
if members of the press and public were present 
there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information.



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

4

3  

 

LATE ITEMS

To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration

(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes)

4  

 

DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

5  

 

MINUTES

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the 
meeting held on 22nd June 2016

1 - 24

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

6  

K

Killingbeck 
and Seacroft; 
Middleton 
Park; 
Weetwood

INVESTMENT IN NEW SOCIAL, EMOTIONAL 
AND MENTAL HEALTH SPECIALIST 
PROVISION FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE

To consider the joint report of the Director of 
Children’s Services, the Director of Adult Social 
Services and the Deputy Chief Executive which 
presents the case for change in respect of Social, 
Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) provision - 
including key statutory duties, the national policy 
framework and the costs and benefits of the main 
options for change. In addition, the report provides 
background information and detail on the proposed 
construction programme and seeks approval for 
the relevant injections into the capital programme 
and related authority to spend.

25 - 
44



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

5

7  

K

Kirkstall OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION TO INCREASE 
LEARNING PLACES AT BEECROFT PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

To consider the report of the Director of Children’s 
Services on a proposal to increase learning places 
at Beecroft Primary School, brought forward to 
meet the local authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency 
of school places. The report describes the outcome 
of consultation regarding proposals and seeks 
permission to publish a statutory notice in respect 
of this proposal.

45 - 
62

8  

K

Beeston and 
Holbeck; City 
and Hunslet

OUTCOME OF STATUTORY NOTICES TO 
INCREASE LEARNING PLACES AT LOW ROAD 
PRIMARY SCHOOL AND COTTINGLEY 
PRIMARY ACADEMY

To consider the report of the Director of Children’s 
Services on proposals to increase learning places 
at Low Road and Cottingley Primary Schools, 
brought forward to meet the local authority’s duty 
to ensure sufficiency of school places, and which 
support the achievement of the Best Council 
priority to improve educational achievement and 
close achievement gaps. The report is divided into 
two parts to describe the outcome of each of the 
statutory notices and seeks final decisions on each 
of these proposals.

63 - 
82

9  

K

City and 
Hunslet

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION TO INCREASE 
LEARNING PLACES AT HUNSLET ST MARY'S 
CHURCH OF ENGLAND PRIMARY SCHOOL

To consider the report of the Director Children’s 
Services providing details of a proposal to increase 
learning places at Hunslet St Mary’s Church of 
England Primary School brought forward to meet 
the local authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of 
school places, and which supports the 
achievement of the Best Council priorities to 
improve educational achievement and close 
achievement gaps. The report seeks permission to 
publish a statutory notice in respect of this 
proposal.   

83 - 
96



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

6

10 

K

REGIONALISATION OF ADOPTION

To consider the report of the Director of Children’s 
Services providing information about the adoption 
reform proposals contained within the Education 
and Adoption Act 2016.  The report also outlines 
the work being undertaken in collaboration with 
other Local Authorities and Voluntary adoption 
agencies (VAA’s) throughout the Yorkshire and 
Humber region to create a new model of service 
delivery for adoption services. Overall, this report 
provides the up to date position on the plans for 
Leeds to transition to the new arrangements.

97 - 
110

COMMUNITIES

11 

 

EMPTY HOMES STRATEGY: FILLING THE VOID 
2016-19

To consider the report of the Director of 
Environment and Housing requesting approval of a 
further 3 years of activity by the Private Sector 
Housing service in Holbeck based on the return of 
empty homes back into occupation.

111 - 
122

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

12 

K

WORKING TOGETHER TO IMPROVE 
DOMESTIC WASTE AND RECYCLING 
PRACTICES

To consider the report of the Director of 
Environment and Housing which provides an 
update on the progress made in developing and 
implementing the strategy for communications and 
engagement in relation to waste and recycling. The 
report also sets out the principles to guide the 
approach to securing behaviour change, from 
education through to enforcement action.

123 - 
150



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

7

ECONOMY AND CULTURE

13 

 

LEEDS CITY COUNCIL'S INITIAL RESPONSE 
TO THE REFERENDUM ON THE UK'S 
MEMBERSHIP OF THE EUROPEAN UNION

To consider the report of the Chief Executive which 
sets out the steps Leeds City Council, working 
closely with partners, will take to support people, 
growth, businesses, and key institutions in the city 
following the EU Referendum. 

151 - 
170

14 

 

COMPASSIONATE CITY WITH A STRONG 
ECONOMY: FINANCIAL STRATEGY

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive which provides an update on the 
development of the Council’s medium term 
financial strategy in the context of the 
Government’s spending plans; and local service 
and financial challenges. The report also highlights 
the scale of the challenge and potential impact. 

171 - 
186

15 

 

City and 
Hunslet

LEEDS INNOVATION DISTRICT

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development which sets out the potential for 
developing the concept of an “innovation district” 
for Leeds, provides background information about 
innovation districts and to advise how the 
development of one in Leeds could be beneficial 
for the city. Finally, the report seeks approval to 
carry out a range of short and medium term 
activities in order to develop the concept further. 

187 - 
200

16 

 

TRANSFER OF HURST BEQUEST TO LEEDS 
ART FUND

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development regarding the transfer of the balance 
of the Hurst bequest to the Leeds Art Fund, subject 
to agreement being reached between relevant 
parties and Leeds Art Fund.

201 - 
208



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

8

EMPLOYMENT, SKILLS AND OPPORTUNITY

17 

 

EQUALITY IMPROVEMENT PRIORITIES 
PROGRESS REPORT 2015 - 2016

To consider the report of the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Citizens and Communities) which sets 
out the annual progress against the Council’s 
Equality Improvement Priorities for 2015 – 2016. 
The report also outlines the refreshed Equality 
Improvement Priority for Adult Social Care and a 
new priority for Environment and Housing.

209 - 
270

RESOURCES AND STRATEGY

18 

 

BEST COUNCIL PLAN ANNUAL 
PERFORMANCE REPORT 2015/16

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive presenting a year-end review which looks 
back on the Council’s performance in delivering each 
of the six strategic objectives as set out in the 
2015/16 Best Council Plan. 

271 - 
292

19 

 

FINANCIAL HEALTH MONITORING 2016/17 - 
QUARTER 1

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive setting out the Council’s projected 
financial health position for 2016/17 at Quarter 1. 
The report highlights that budget monitoring is a 
continuous process throughout the year and the 
report reviews the position of the budget and 
highlights potential key risks and variations after 
the first quarter of the year.

293 - 
318



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

9

20 

 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2016-2020 QUARTER 1 
UPDATE

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive providing an update on the capital 
programme as at end of June 2016.  The report 
includes an update of capital resources, progress 
on spend and a summary of the economic impact 
of the capital programme. 

319 - 
330

21 

 

ANNUAL RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive providing an update on the Council’s most 
significant corporate risks and summarises the 
arrangements in place to manage them and 
highlights the further work planned. 

331 - 
342

22 

K

GROWING THE LEEDS DIGITAL ECONOMY

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development on the growth of the digital sector in 
Leeds and the work undertaken by officers to 
support and promote this sector. The report also 
seeks approval to devolve powers to build a Tech 
Hub to the Director of City Development.

343 - 
364

REGENERATION, TRANSPORT AND 
PLANNING

23 

K

Beeston and 
Holbeck; City 
and Hunslet

SOUTH BANK REGENERATION FRAMEWORK 
AND LEEDS STATION

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development presenting details of the South Bank 
framework, the status of work on the Leeds Station 
and which seeks approval to undertake 
comprehensive public consultation on the 
framework, the next steps on the HS2 Growth 
Strategy and to develop a reference case design 
for the Leeds Station.

365 - 
418



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

10

24 

 

Burmantofts 
and Richmond 
Hill; City and 
Hunslet; 
Garforth and 
Swillington; 
Middleton 
Park; 
Rothwell; 
Temple 
Newsam

AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AREA ACTION PLAN - 
SUBMISSION DRAFT

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development which provides an update on the 
progress of the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan 
(AVLAAP) submission draft, seeks agreement to 
the content of the 10th May 2016 Development 
Plan Panel report (as detailed at Appendix 1) and 
recommends to Council that the ‘Submission Draft’ 
of the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan as 
appended (which includes the Sustainability 
Appraisal Report and addendum) be submitted to 
the Secretary of State for Examination. 

419 - 
720

25 

K

Headingley CONSIDERATION OF AN AWARD OF GRANT 
FUNDING TO YORKSHIRE COUNTY CRICKET 
CLUB TO CONTRIBUTE TOWARDS THE 
REDEVELOPMENT OF THE NORTH-SOUTH 
STAND AT HEADINGLEY STADIUM

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development seeking approval to the award of 
grant funding of £4m to Yorkshire County Cricket 
Club (YCCC), as a financial contribution towards 
the redevelopment of the North-South stand at 
Headingley Stadium, for the purpose of securing 
four World Cup Cricket Matches in 2019 and 
ensuring the Category A status of the ground 
leading to the award of a new Staging Agreement 
for the hosting of International Cricket matches in 
Yorkshire from 2020 onwards.

721 - 
754



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

11

26 

K

City and 
Hunslet

WHITEHALL ROAD / NORTHERN STREET 
JUNCTION IMPROVEMENT

To consider  the report of the Director of City 
Development seeking approval for the detailed 
design and implementation of a junction 
improvement scheme at Whitehall Road and 
Northern Street as indicated in the attached 
drawing EP/732227/MIS/25 at a cost of £2.61m. 
The report highlights that these costs will be 
funded wholly by developer contributions, of which 
£2.039m is funded by directly related development 
contributions from three local development sites 
and the remaining £571,000 is funded from Section 
106 contributions.

755 - 
770

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS

27 

 

OVERVIEW OF THE HEALTH AND CARE 
SUSTAINABILITY AND TRANSFORMATION 
PLANS

To consider the joint report of the Director of Public 
Health, the Director of Adult Social Services and 
the Director of Children’s Services which provides 
the Board with an overview of the emerging health 
and care Sustainability and Transformation Plans 
(STP). The report provides the background and 
context of the Plans and sets out the relationship 
between the Leeds STP and the West Yorkshire 
STP. Additionally, the report highlights some of the 
areas which will be addressed within the Leeds 
STP which will add further detail to the strategic 
priorities set out in the recently refreshed Leeds 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021.

771 - 
788



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

12

Third Party Recording 

Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings 
either as they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the 
recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this agenda.

Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the 
recording was made, the context of the discussion that took place, and a clear identification 
of the main speakers and their role or title.

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to 
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments made by 
attendees.  In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those 
points must be complete.

Webcasting

Please note – the publically accessible parts of this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent 
broadcast via the City Council’s website. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or 
part of the meeting is to be filmed.



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

EXECUTIVE BOARD

WEDNESDAY, 22ND JUNE, 2016

PRESENT: Councillor J Blake in the Chair

Councillors A Carter, R Charlwood, 
D Coupar, S Golton, J Lewis, R Lewis, 
L Mulherin, M Rafique and L Yeadon

1 The Chair's Opening Comments 
Tribute to Jo Cox MP and those who had lost their lives in Orlando, Florida
In opening the meeting, the Chair made reference to the terrible events of last 
week, which had seen 49 people killed in Orlando, Florida, and also the killing 
of Jo Cox MP.

As a mark of respect for both Jo Cox MP and those who lost their lives in 
Orlando, the meeting observed a minute’s silence.  

Councillor Charlwood
The Chair welcomed all in attendance to the meeting, especially Councillor 
Charlwood, given that it was her first meeting as an Executive Board Member.

EU Referendum
The Chair highlighted that given the proximity of this meeting to the EU 
Referendum and the fact that we remained within the purdah period, 
Members would need to exercise caution, should any issues arise during the 
meeting which related to the referendum question.

Municipal Journal Local Government Achievement Awards
The Chair paid tribute to, and congratulated all concerned for Leeds City 
Council’s recent success at the Municipal Journal Local Government 
Achievement awards. Specifically, it was noted that the Council had been 
voted ‘Local Authority of the Year’, whilst awards were also received in the 
areas of ‘Commercialism in the Property Estate’ and ‘Innovation and Impact in 
Children’s Services’.

2 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public 
RESOLVED – That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of The Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt on 
the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public 
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information so 
designated as follows:-

(a) Appendix E to the report entitled, ‘Learning Places Programme: Capital 
Programme Update’, referred to in Minute No. 9 is designated as 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

exempt from publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of 
Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds 
that the information contained within the submitted appendix relates to 
the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) which, if disclosed to the public could 
or would be likely to prejudice the commercial interests of that person 
or of the Council. On the basis that the information provided details 
pre-tender estimates, there is a risk that disclosing the information 
could prejudice the outcome of the tenders when submitted.

(b) Appendix A to the report entitled, ‘Community Hubs: Phase 2 Business 
Case’, referred to in Minute No. 15 is designated as exempt from 
publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that the information 
contained within the submitted appendix relates to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding 
the information) and contains property valuations for Council buildings 
which the report proposes are disposed of. It is therefore considered 
that the public interest in maintaining the content of the appendix as 
exempt from publication outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information, as publication could prejudice potential value of asset 
rationalisation.

(c) Appendix 1 to the report entitled, ‘The Grand Quarter’, referred to in 
Minute No. 25 is designated as exempt from publication in accordance 
with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 on the grounds that the information contained within the 
submitted appendix relates to the financial or business affairs of a 
particular organisation and of the Council. It is considered that the 
public interest in maintaining the content of the appendix as exempt 
from publication outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information due to the impact that disclosing the information would 
have on the Council and third parties

(d) Appendices 1 and 2 to the report entitled, ‘Design and Cost Report: 
Proposed Maintenance Works: Leeds Grand Theatre’, referred to in 
Minute No. 26 is designated as exempt from publication in accordance 
with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 on the grounds that the information contained within the 
submitted appendix relates to the financial and business affairs of the 
Council and a number of third party organisations. It is considered that 
the public interest in treating this information as exempt from 
publication outweighs the public interest in disclosing it by reason of 
the fact that it contains information and financial details which, if 
disclosed, would adversely affect the business of the Council and third 
parties. 

(e) Appendix 1 to the report entitled, ‘Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone 
Update and Infrastructure Delivery’, referred to in Minute No. 27 is 
designated as exempt from publication in accordance with paragraph 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the 
grounds that the information contained within the submitted appendix 
relates to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). It is considered that 
the public interest in maintaining the content of Appendix 1 as exempt 
from publication outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. This report relates to a procurement exercise and as such 
release of detailed information about the power requirement at this time 
would prejudice the council’s position.

(f) Appendix 1 to the report entitled, ‘Design and Cost Report for the 
Acquisition of Properties for the Council’s Investment Portfolio’, 
referred to in Minute No. 28 is designated as exempt from publication 
in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that the information contained 
within the submitted appendix relates to the financial or business affairs 
of a particular organisation and of the Council. It is considered that the 
public interest in maintaining the content of the appendix as exempt 
from publication outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information, due to the impact that disclosing the information would 
have on the Council and third parties.

3 Late Items 
No formal late items of business were added to the agenda, however 
Members were in receipt of a re-issued version of Appendix B to agenda item 
16 (Welfare Reform and Council Tax Support), as although the appendix had 
featured within the agenda papers, the formatting of that document had led to 
some text within it being obscured. As such, a re-formatted version had been 
provided to Board Members for their consideration prior to the meeting 
(Minute No. 16 refers).

4 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
There were no Disclosable Pecuniary Interests declared at the meeting, 
however, in relation to the agenda items entitled, ‘Learning Places 
Programme’ and ‘Outcome of Consultation to Increase Primary School Places 
at Hawksworth Wood Primary School', Councillor Yeadon drew the Board’s 
attention to her position as governor of Hawksworth Wood Primary School 
(Minute Nos. 9 and 14 refer).  In relation to the agenda item entitled, ‘Design 
and Cost Report: Proposed maintenance works: Leeds Grand Theatre’, 
Councillor Yeadon also drew the Board’s attention to her position as Chair of 
the Leeds Grand Theatre and Opera House Board of Management (Minute 
No. 26 refers).

In addition, a further comment with regard to interests was made at a later 
point in the meeting. (Minute No. 16 refers).

5 Minutes 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 20th April 2016 be 
approved as a correct record. 

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

6 Children's Transport Changes - Deputation to Council 
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report which was in response 
to the deputation presented to full Council on 23rd March 2016 representing 
families from East Keswick and Bardsey in respect of changes to the 
Children’s Transport Policy. At that meeting, Council resolved that the 
response to the deputation be referred to Executive Board for consideration.

In considering this matter, and responding to enquiries raised, it was 
confirmed that the Local Government Ombudsman’s (LGO’s) finding was that 
although the school transport policy had been correctly applied, the Council 
had not clearly explained to parents that their nearest priority school for 
admissions purposes may not be their nearest qualifying school for transport 
purposes. When this became apparent, all parents who had unsuccessfully 
applied for assistance were advised in writing to appeal in line with the 
Council’s transport policy. It was also confirmed that clearer information was 
now provided to parents on such matters, an issue which had already been 
addressed before the complaint to the LGO. In addition, it was noted that the 
Council is providing a refund of travel costs and free school transport for a 
period of time to the children of the two families concerned in line with the 
LGO’s recommendations, and has agreed to apply the LGO’s 
recommendations to other families in identical circumstances who had 
unsuccessfully appealed.

Emphasis was placed upon the importance of clarity of communication with 
parents, and also continuing to ensure that in such circumstances families 
were treated consistently and fairly and in line with the policy. 

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, it was requested that further detail on the 
specifics of this case and the finding and recommendations of the LGO be 
provided to the Member in question.

RESOLVED – That the contents of the submitted report be received and 
noted.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions 
referred to within this minute)

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS

7 Review of the Long Term Community Support Service - next steps and 
Progress Report 
Further to Minute No. 104, 19th November 2014, the Director of Adult Social 
Services submitted a report presenting the outcome of the review and related 
consultation undertaken with respect to the Long Term Community Support 
Service, and in light of such outcomes, the report outlined a proposal for Adult 
Social Care to cease provision of the long term service.

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

Responding to an enquiry regarding potential new providers and their links to 
the city, the Board was provided with details of the criteria that such providers 
would need to satisfy in such areas. In addition, it was requested that the 
providers liaise and engage with local Ward Members when delivering 
services. In noting the low level of locally based providers identified for this 
service, it was suggested that this could potentially be a matter which could 
be raised with the Local Government Association for consideration on a wider 
basis.

Members also considered the role of the Council, as a commissioning body, 
and the development of that role in processes such as this.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That approval be given to cease the directly provided Long Term 

Community Support Service (LTCSS), and that the plans for the 
transfer of customers to independent sector providers be noted;

(b) That the timescales for ceasing the directly provided Long Term 
Community Support Service (LTCSS), commencing in July 2016, be 
agreed, with an aim to complete closure by September 2016;

(c) That approval be given to the undertaking of continued formal 
consultation under Employment Legislation with Trade Unions and staff 
and support for staff throughout the process, including identifying any 
opportunities for employment within the Council;

(d) That the use of £0.656m from the savings achieved to develop the in-
house Skills for Independent Living Service (SkILs) be approved, and 
that the opportunities which this development creates for staff, be 
noted;

(e) That the work which has been undertaken in carrying out the further 
review of the Long Term Community Support Service (LTCSS), be 
noted;

(f) That in approving a decision on the future of the service the outcome of 
the full consultation report, as detailed within Appendix 1 to the 
submitted report, be noted;

(g) That the development of alternative models of support, including those 
provided in the independent sector and the support available for 
existing customers to transfer to suitable alternative services within the 
independent sector, be noted;

(h) That it be noted that the lead officer responsible for the implementation 
of such matters is the Director of Adult Social Services.

Page 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

8 Annual Reports of the Fostering and Adoption Service & annual updates 
of the respective Statements of Purpose 
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report which presented the 
Annual Reports for both the Fostering and Adoption Services. In addition, the 
report also sought approval of the revised Statements of Purpose for Leeds 
City Council’s Fostering and Adoption Services.

Having received an overview of the key points detailed within the report, 
responding to a specific enquiry, the Board received further information on the 
actions being taken to care for the increasing number of adolescents which 
were becoming looked after in Leeds, whilst the success and cost of the 
‘Staying Put’ scheme in the city was noted. In addition, Members also 
received an update regarding the current position in respect of external 
residential placements and also considered the Residential Review which had 
been undertaken.

RESOLVED – That the submitted report be received and noted, and that 
support continues to be provided for the work of the fostering service and the 
promotion of best outcomes for children.

9 Learning Places Programme - Capital Programme Update 
Further to Minute No. 75, 21st October 2015, the Director of Children’s 
Services, the Deputy Chief Executive and the Director of City Development 
submitted a joint report which presented an update on the three year strategy 
for providing sufficient school places in the city, an update on the progress of 
the projects currently forming the Learning Places Programme and which also 
sought approval for the ‘authority to spend’ for schemes within the 2016 Bulge 
Cohort Programme, which was a sub-programme of the Learning Places 
Programme.

Responding to a specific enquiry, officers undertook to provide the Member in 
question with details of the original estimated costs for those schemes, as 
detailed within Appendix B to the submitted report.

Following consideration of Appendix E to the submitted report, designated as 
exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the meeting, it was

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the following be approved:

(i) Authority to spend on the schemes identified within the 2016 Bulge 
Cohort Programme which have an individual cost in excess of 
£500k, at a total value up to £3,410,000, as detailed within the 
Table at exempt Appendix E of the submitted report;

(ii) The delegation of the approval of design and cost reports for the 
bulge cohort schemes which exceed £500k to the Director of 

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

Children’s Services, and that these approvals shall be subject to the 
agreement of the Director of City Development and the Deputy 
Chief Executive in consultation with the appropriate Executive 
Members in line with the September 2014 Executive Board 
approval for the Learning Places Programme, and as detailed in the 
Table in exempt Appendix E;

(iii) That the resolutions as detailed within this minute be exempted 
from the Call In process, for those reasons as set out within 
paragraph 4.5.3 of the submitted report (detailed below).

(b) That the following be noted:
(i) The projected funding deficit which currently stands at £67.5m, 

based on Education Funding Agency rates, together with the fact 
that this is likely to increase due to a number of factors, as set out 
within paragraph 4.4.5 of the submitted report; 

(ii) That the current reporting period has seen two further requests to 
access the programme capital risk fund (for Castleton Primary 
School and Roundhay Secondary School) totalling £1,278,944, 
leaving a balance of £4,356,056, which were approved in 
accordance with the Executive Board governance arrangements.

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a 
decision may be declared as being exempt from Call In by the decision taker if 
it is considered that any delay would seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the 
public’s interests. In line with resolution (a)(iii) above, the resolutions 
contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In process due to 
the constricted programme required to enable delivery of Bulge Cohort 
schemes by September 2016 and the limited opportunity to seek authority to 
spend between the date when pupil preferencing data is available (April 2016) 
and when orders need to be placed (mid to end of June 2016).  The submitted 
report confirmed that the latest budget estimates had only just been received 
and costs are higher than anticipated on some of the projects, which has 
meant that they now fall within the remit of Executive Board rather than 
general departmental delegation limits, and some orders would need to be 
placed as soon as the authority to spend is granted at the Executive Board 
meeting in order to maintain programme.  If the decision is not implemented 
before the end of the call-in period, there is a significant risk that some 
projects will not be completed in time for the start of term, with the subsequent 
risk of disruption to the education of a number of children starting school this 
year). 

10 Outcome of statutory notices on proposals to expand primary provision 
in Hyde Park/Headingley, Swarcliffe/Whinmoor and Bramley planning 
areas 
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report regarding the proposals 
brought forward to meet the local authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of 
school places. Specifically, this report was divided into three parts, dealing 
with proposals to expand Bramley (Community) Primary, Brudenell 

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

(Community) Primary and Fieldhead Carr (Community) Primary Schools and 
also to establish specialist provision at Bramley (Community) Primary School.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the proposal to expand Brudenell (Community) Primary School by 

increasing its capacity from 280 pupils to 420 pupils, increasing the 
admission number from 40 to 60 with effect from September 2017, be 
approved;

(b) That the proposal to expand Bramley (Community) Primary School by 
increasing its capacity from 280 pupils to 420 pupils, increasing the 
admission number from 40 to 60 with effect from September 2017, be 
approved, and also, approval be given to establishing Special 
Educational Needs (SEN) provision for pupils with Complex 
Communication Difficulties including children who may have a 
diagnosis of ASC (Autistic Spectrum Condition) from September 2017 
for approximately 6 pupils;

(c) That the proposal to expand Fieldhead Carr (Community) Primary 
School by increasing its capacity from 210 pupils to 420 pupils, 
increasing the admission number from 30 to 60 with effect from 
September 2018, be approved;

(d) That it be noted that the officer responsible for the implementation of 
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems.

11 Outcome of consultation to increase primary school places in Hunslet 
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report on proposals brought 
forward to meet the local authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school 
places. Specifically, the submitted report detailed the outcome of consultation 
on proposals to expand primary school provision at Hunslet Moor Primary 
School and which sought permission to publish a statutory notice in respect of 
such proposals.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the publication of a Statutory Notice to expand Hunslet Moor 

Primary School from a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils with an 
increase in the admission number from 45 to 60 with effect from 
September 2018, be approved;

(b) That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of 
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems.

12 Outcome of a consultation on a proposal to cease to provide complex 
social, emotional and mental health provision under the West Oaks SEN 
Specialist School and College (Oakwood Lane site) and providing for 
these needs under the Wellspring Academy Trust 
Further to Minute No. 153, 9th March 2016, the Director of Children’s Services 
submitted a report on the outcome of the consultation undertaken and 
subsequent Statutory Notice regarding the proposal to cease to provide 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

complex social, emotional and mental health (SEMH) provision under the 
West Oaks SEN Specialist School and College (Oakwood Lane site). 
Specifically, the report sought approval to provide for these needs under the 
Wellspring Academy Trust.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the proposal to cease to provide behaviour, emotional and social 

difficulty (BESD) provision under the governance of The West Oaks 
SEN Specialist School and College (Oakwood Lane site) from 31 
August 2016, be approved, with this being conditional upon the 
conversion of the existing BESD SILC into a 4 – 19 SEMH sponsored 
academy. The provision at the Oakwood Lane site would become part 
of the new academy from 1 September 2016. Should the academy 
conversion not be in place by then, then the provision would continue 
at Oakwood Lane under the governance of West Oaks SEN Specialist 
School and College.

(b) That it be noted that the officer responsible for the implementation of 
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems.

13 Outcome of consultation to increase primary and secondary school 
places in Burmantofts & Richmond Hill 
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report presenting proposals 
brought forward to meet the local authority's duty to ensure efficiency of 
school places. Specifically, this report described the outcome of consultation 
regarding the proposals to expand primary and secondary school provision in 
Burmantofts and which sought permission to publish statutory notices in 
respect of such proposals.

Responding to a specific enquiry, officers undertook to provide the Member in 
question with a briefing on the proposal to expand primary places at 
Shakespeare Primary School. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the publication of a Statutory Notice to expand primary places at 

Shakespeare Primary School from a capacity of 315 pupils to 630 
pupils with an increase in the admission number from 45 to 90 with 
effect from September 2018, be approved, which will involve the 
relocation of Shakespeare Primary School onto the Dolly Lane site;

(b) That the publication of a Statutory Notice to expand secondary places 
at The Co-operative Academy of Leeds from a capacity of 900 students 
to 1,200 students, with an increase in the admissions number from 180 
to 240 with effect from September 2019, be approved;

(c) That it be noted that the officer responsible for the implementation of 
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems.

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

14 Outcome of consultation to increase primary school places at 
Hawksworth Wood Primary School 
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report regarding proposals 
brought forward to meet the local authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of 
primary school places. Specifically, the report detailed the outcome of the 
consultation undertaken in respect of proposals to expand primary school 
provision at Hawksworth Wood Primary School and to publish a Statutory 
Notice in respect of such proposals.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the publication of a Statutory Notice to expand primary provision 

at Hawksworth Wood Primary School from a capacity of 210 pupils to 
420 pupils, with an increase in the admission number from 30 to 60 
with effect from September 2017, be approved;

(b) That it be noted that the officer responsible for the implementation of 
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems.

COMMUNITIES

15 Community Hubs - Phase 2 Business Case 
Further to Minute No. 25, 15th July 2015, the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Citizens and Communities) submitted a report presenting the progress which 
had been made to date on the Community Hub programme, specifically the 
delivery of the six Priority 1a schemes. In addition, the report also sought 
agreement to a number of proposals in order to progress Phase 2 of the 
scheme. Finally, the report also sought approval for the overall funding 
injections and authority to spend required to enable the delivery of the 
Community Hub Phase 2 programme.

Responding to a concern raised with regard to proposals in Horsforth, it was 
highlighted that consultation would continue with local Ward Members and all 
other relevant parties on this matter, and it was highlighted that the related 
proposals remained ‘in principle’ whilst such consultation took place. 

With regard to proposals in Pudsey, emphasis was placed upon the 
importance of continuing to utilise Pudsey Town Hall as a venue for public 
meetings.

With regard to Rothwell, a concern was raised regarding the declaration of the 
area office as surplus to requirements.  

Following consideration of Appendix A to the submitted report, designated as 
exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the meeting, it was

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the contents of the submitted report, and specifically the progress 

made on delivering the Phase 1a Community Hubs, be noted;

Page 10



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

(b) That the delivery of the Phase 2 of Community Hubs schemes, be 
supported;

(c) That the contributions of £600k from the Changing the Workplace and 
Corporate Property Management programmes already injected into the 
capital programme be noted, and that an additional injection of 
£4,017.4k be authorised in order to finalise the total funding needed of 
£4,617.4k for phase 2 of the Community Hubs programme;

(d) That expenditure of £4,617.4k for the delivery of phase 2 of the 
Community Hubs programme be authorised, subject to the approval of 
the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) to the 
individual submission of business cases for delivering each part of the 
Phase 2 Community Hub programme;

(e) That the disposal of the properties, as set out in the capital receipt 
section of exempt appendix A to the submitted report, be approved;

(f) That the use of the revenue savings expected from the proposed asset 
rationalisation and delivery of the Community Hubs, as set out in 
paragraph 6.4.9 of the submitted report, be approved, in order to 
contribute towards the capital repayment cost required to deliver the 
Phase 2 Community Hub programme.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions 
referred to within this minute, whilst under the same provisions, Councillor 
Golton required it to be recorded that he voted against the decisions referred 
to within this minute)

16 Welfare Reform and Council Tax Support 
The Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) submitted a report 
providing analysis on the impact of local Council Tax Support schemes since 
2013 on those groups who no longer received 100% Council Tax support. In 
addition, the report also considered the expected impacts of the 
Government’s continuing package of welfare reforms on local Council Tax 
Support schemes and set out options for how the Council could respond to 
such changes. Overall, the purpose of providing such information was to 
identify where changes were being recommended to the support scheme, 
and, if required, to obtain approval to undertake any related public 
consultation exercise.

Board Members were in receipt of a re-issued version of Appendix B to this 
report, as although the appendix had featured within the original agenda 
papers, the formatting of that document had led to some text within it being 
obscured. As such, a re-formatted version had been provided to Board 
Members for their consideration prior to the meeting.

Page 11



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

Responding to an enquiry, it was noted that the relevant Scrutiny Board was 
intending to undertake a piece of work on the matters raised within the 
submitted report.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the development of a revised Council Tax Support scheme, as set 

out in paragraphs 3.18 – 3.30 and Appendix C to the submitted report, 
be approved;

(b) That a public consultation exercise on the revised scheme be 
approved, with the consultation to be concluded by November 2016;

(c) That approval be given to retaining the Child Allowance for 3rd and 
subsequent children during the transition to any new scheme;

(d) That approval be given to retain the Family Premium during the 
transition to any new scheme;

(e) That the development of a hardship scheme for those in protected 
groups who may be worse off under a revised scheme, be approved;

(f) That the intention to offer a financial incentive for jobseekers to 
complete Personal Work Support Packages by offering to write off 
court costs, be noted.

(During the consideration of this item, Councillor A Carter drew the Board’s 
attention to the fact that his step-daughter was in receipt of related benefits)

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

17 Meeting the Cost of Non-Urgent Tree Works 
The Director of Environment and Housing submitted a report regarding the 
issue of non-urgent tree works on Council owned or managed land in 
circumstances where a resident or organisation may consider agreeing to pay 
for such works.

Members welcomed the proposals detailed within the submitted report, 
however it was highlighted that this proposal should be part of a wider 
approach towards the management of trees across Leeds. In response it was 
noted that Leeds did have a tree planting programme, and that further details 
of this could be provided to Members, should they wish to receive them.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That approval be given to the following:-

(i) That the full cost of non-urgent works on Council trees can be met 
by an interested party, subject to the criteria as set out in 
paragraphs 3.8 and 3.9 of the submitted report, with specified 
works being in line with best arboricultural practice (BS 3998) by a 
Council approved contractor;

Page 12



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

(ii) That where it is deemed appropriate to remove a Council tree 
affected by development, then this work be undertaken by a Council 
approved contractor where the private landowner is prepared to 
meet the full cost;

(b) That it be noted that the Chief Officer (Parks and Countryside) will be 
responsible for the implementation of such matters.

18 Cremator Replacement 
The Director of Environment and Housing submitted a report presenting 
potential options to sustain cremation provision in the city in order to meet 
current and anticipated demand.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That it be noted that the existing cremators at Lawnswood are coming 

to the end of their operational life and need replacing;

(b) That it be noted that it is not suitable to only replace cremators at 
Lawnswood without filtration, as this would be vulnerable to a change 
in legislation and contrary to statutory guidance;

(c) That approval be given to undertake a feasibility study to ‘RIBA B’ at 
Lawnswood to install 3 cremators with mercury filtration equipment;

(d) That a land search be conducted to the east of the city in order to 
identify suitable site locations, in accordance with the criteria as 
identified in paragraph 3.4.4 of the submitted report;

(e) That it be noted that the Chief Officer Parks and Countryside is 
responsible for the implementation of such matters, and that it also be 
noted that a future report is anticipated to be submitted to Executive 
Board before the end of 2016.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions 
referred to within this minute)

ECONOMY AND CULTURE

19 Review of Discretionary Business Rate Relief Scheme 
Further to Minute No. 201, 5th March 2014, the Director of City Development 
submitted a report which sought approval to extend the current scope of 
discretionary rate relief to ‘for profit’ organisations which met agreed criteria, 
as permitted under Section 69 of the Localism Act 2011.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the proposals to extend the guidelines for the award of 

discretionary relief for Business Rates from 2016/17 onwards, be 
approved;

Page 13



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

(b) That the implementation of the scheme be delegated to the Chief 
Officer Economy and Regeneration, in consultation with the Executive 
Members for ‘Economy & Culture’ and ‘Resources & Strategy’, together 
with the Deputy Chief Executive.

20 Growing the Leeds Visitor Economy 
Further to Minute No. 135, 17th December 2015, the Director of City 
Development submitted a report highlighting the success of the transition of 
‘VisitLeeds’ to the Council from April 2015. In addition, the report also 
provided an overview of the current approach together with the mid to long 
term forward plan and how this was aligned to the core budget, looked to 
bring in external funding, whilst also exploiting cross boundary collaboration 
opportunities. Finally, the report sought approval to continue the 
implementation of this approach.

The work being undertaken by the Visitor Economy and Inward Investment 
team was welcomed, and in response to a specific enquiry, the Board 
received information on the actions being taken to promote Leeds as a 
conferencing venue, which included details of the ‘Conferencing City 
Proposition’.

In promoting the city’s tourism offer within the context of the overall objective 
of maximising the economic benefits of tourism, emphasis was placed upon 
the potential of focussing promotions on Leeds and local residents, in addition 
to those from further afield, an area which was supported via a number of 
initiatives across Council directorates and partner organisations.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the strategic approach and forward plan for the Leeds Visitor 

Economy function, as set out in the submitted report (including the 
cross-boundary, partnership based approach aimed at attracting 
visitors in national and international markets) be approved, and that the 
detailed delivery of this be delegated to the Chief Officer of Economy 
and Regeneration, in consultation with the relevant Executive Member;

(b) That the approach to working with other destinations and ‘Welcome to 
Yorkshire’ on joint promotional campaigns be approved, and that the 
focus on attracting visitors from outside Leeds City Region, who spend 
more and support more jobs than local visitors, be endorsed;

(c) That the approach to attracting additional funding by applying for and 
delivering external investment and commercial match funding, 
(including in-kind support), be approved, in order to ensure that Leeds 
is a lead destination and included where relevant, and when the 
function has the capacity to do so;

(d) That approval be given for VisitLeeds to continue horizon scanning for 
strategic developments and opportunities, new approaches to funding, 
mutually beneficial collaborative partnerships (including working more 
closely and effectively with Leeds City Region destination management 

Page 14



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

organisations) and funding opportunities, and that such opportunities 
be responded to appropriately, in consultation with the Chief Officer of 
Economy and Regeneration;

(e) That the resolutions detailed above be exempted from the Call In 
process, for those reasons as detailed within paragraph 4.5.2 of the 
submitted report (detailed below).

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a 
decision may be declared as being exempt from Call In by the decision taker if 
it is considered that any delay would seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the 
public’s interests. In line with resolution (e) above, the resolutions contained 
within this minute were exempted from the Call In process due to the time 
sensitivity of external funding applications the function is currently bidding for, 
in particular the ‘Discover England’ fund where if the function is successful, it 
would be awarded funds to commence delivery early June 2016).

21 Storm Eva - Recovery Plan Update 
Further to Minute No. 157, 9th March 2016, the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Citizens and Communities) submitted a report which provided an update on 
the impact of Storm Eva in Leeds, specifically with regard to the recovery 
plan, flood alleviation proposals for the city, an update in respect of those who 
still remain affected by the floods, the ongoing discussions which continued 
with Government, proposals for regeneration and also the lessons which had 
been learned.

Responding to specific enquiries raised, the Board received an update on the 
progress being made on the development of the feasibility study for proposed 
flood alleviation measures, together with the collaborative work being 
undertaken with partners such as the Environment Agency. In addition, 
Members highlighted the need to ensure that those flood alleviation measures 
that the Authority could establish itself were progressed as appropriate, and 
were included in any wider flood alleviation proposals.  

Also in response to a specific enquiry, the Board received an update on the 
allocation of grant scheme monies to those affected, and also received further 
information regarding proposals on the use of any remaining government 
flood response funds.  

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the updates detailed within the submitted report, including the 

details on the progress of the Strategic Recovery Plan, be noted;

(b) That the implementation of the recommendations from the lessons 
learned review, as detailed within section 3.7 of the submitted report, 
be endorsed;

(c) That the principle of using the remaining government flood response 
funds to assist in supporting businesses in flood affected areas through 
further recovery and resilience measures, supporting any outstanding 

Page 15



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

clean-up priorities, and the development of a wider regeneration 
strategy for the Kirkstall Road corridor and industrial areas in Hunslet, 
be supported, and that the Director of City Development be requested 
to develop detailed proposals for this, in consultation with the relevant 
Executive Member.

RESOURCES AND STRATEGY

22 Financial Performance - Outturn Financial Year ended 31st March 2016 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report presenting the Council’s 
2015/16 financial outturn position for both revenue and capital and which 
included the Housing Revenue Account together with spending on schools. In 
addition, the report also highlighted the position regarding other key financial 
health indicators including Council Tax and Business Rates collection 
statistics, sundry income, reserves and the prompt payment of creditors.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the Council’s outturn position for the financial year ending 31st 

March 2016, as detailed within the submitted report, be noted, and that 
the creation of earmarked reserves, as detailed within paragraphs 3.6 
and 5.3 of the submitted report, be agreed, and that the release of such 
earmarked reserves be delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive;

(b) That it be noted that the Chief Officer Financial Services will be 
responsible for the implementation of such matters following the 
conclusion of the ‘Call In’ period.

23 Treasury Management Outturn Report 2015/16 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report which provided a final update 
on the Treasury Management Strategy and operations for the 2015/16 
financial year.

Responding to an enquiry, the Board received further information regarding 
the management of the Council’s debt budget. 

RESOLVED – That the Treasury Management outturn position for 2015/16 be 
noted, together with the fact that treasury activity has remained within the 
treasury management strategy and policy framework.

24 Financial Health Monitoring 2016/17 - Month 2 (May 2016) 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report which presented the projected 
financial health position for 2016/17, as at month 2 of the financial year.

Responding to Members’ enquiries, the Board received further details of the 
collaborative work being undertaken across directorates in order to manage 
the continued budgetary challenges, with specific reference being made to the 
pressures on the Children’s Services directorate budget.

RESOLVED – That the projected financial position of the authority, as 
detailed within the submitted report, be noted.

Page 16



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

REGENERATION, TRANSPORT AND PLANNING

25 The Grand Quarter 
Further to Minute No. 71, 21st October 2015, the Director of City Development 
submitted a report providing an update on the progress made in negotiations 
for the disposal and development of land at Belgrave Gardens and which also 
recommended that the Council exchanged an Option Agreement for the sale 
of such land.

Following consideration of Appendix 1 to the submitted report, together with 
the associated plan, designated as exempt from publication under the 
provisions of Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was 
considered in private at the conclusion of the meeting, it was

RESOLVED – 
(a) That approval be given to the Council exchanging an Option 

Agreement with Wade Lane Developments Limited for the sale of 
land at Belgrave Gardens on the terms as detailed within exempt 
appendix 1 to the submitted report;

(b) That approval be given for officers to negotiate the final terms for the 
disposal of Council owned land at Belgrave Gardens, and also for the 
disposal of the Council’s freehold reversionary interest in Belgrave 
House, Commerce House and Warwick House, and that final terms 
for the disposals be approved by the Director of City Development 
under delegated powers; and

(c) That subject to an encouraging response to the Expressions of Interest 
by the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF), the necessary authority be 
delegated to the Director of City Development, in liaison with the 
Executive Member (Regeneration, Transport and Planning), to 
submit a Stage 1 bid to the HLF in support of a heritage-led 
regeneration programme for the Grand Quarter.

26 Design and Cost Report: Proposed Maintenance Works: Leeds Grand 
Theatre 
The Director of City Development submitted a report regarding proposed 
maintenance works in respect of the Leeds Grand Theatre and which sought 
approval for an injection of funding into the Capital Programme, together with 
‘Authority to Spend’, in order to enable such maintenance works to be 
undertaken.

Following consideration of Appendices 1 and 2 to the submitted report, 
designated as exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to 
Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which were considered in private at the 
conclusion of the meeting, it was

RESOLVED – 
(a) That an injection of funding into the Capital Programme, together with 

an ‘Authority to Spend’ on the proposed maintenance works to the 

Page 17



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

Leeds Grand Theatre, as detailed within exempt Appendix 1 to the 
submitted report, be approved;

(b) That in the event that the injection of funding and ‘Authority to Spend’, 
as detailed within exempt Appendix 1 proves insufficient, the Deputy 
Chief Executive and the Director of City Development with the 
concurrence of the Executive Member for Economy and Culture be 
authorised to approve a further injection and ‘Authority to Spend’, as 
detailed in exempt Appendix 1, in order to facilitate the proposed 
maintenance works to the Theatre.

27 Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone update and Infrastructure Delivery 
The Director of City Development submitted a report which provided an 
update on the progress achieved to date in respect of the Leeds City Region 
Enterprise Zone and highlighted the priority areas of work moving forward. 
The report also sought approval to commence a procurement process and 
utilise Council owned land to deliver a power solution which was intended to 
ensure that the required infrastructure was in place to facilitate the continued 
delivery within the Enterprise Zone and wider Aire Valley area.

Following consideration of Appendix 1 to the submitted report, designated as 
exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the meeting, it was

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the progress made to secure development and occupation of new 

floorspace within the Enterprise Zone, be noted;

(b) That the recommendations made within the 2015 Enterprise Zone 
Growth Plan, be noted;

(c) That a procurement exercise by the Director City Development to 
deliver improved infrastructure within the Enterprise Zone, in 
consultation with the Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport 
and Planning, and subject to funding being confirmed by the Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP), be approved;

(d) That the necessary authority be delegated to the Director City 
Development in order to enter into negotiations and agree a contract to 
deliver the required infrastructure improvements;

(e) That the necessary authority be delegated to the Director City 
Development in order to agree terms for the use of Council owned land 
adjacent to the A63 to accommodate a new electricity substation;

(f) That the proposed funding mechanism to support delivery of the 
infrastructure improvements within the Enterprise Zone, be noted; 

Page 18



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

(g) That the necessary authority be delegated to the Director City 
Development in order to inject funding from the LEP into the Council’s 
Capital Programme, in order to support infrastructure delivery within 
the Enterprise Zone.

28 Design and Cost Report for Acquisition of Properties for the Council's 
Investment Portfolio 
The Deputy Chief Executive and the Director of City Development submitted a 
joint report regarding the terms for the acquisition of two newly constructed 
buildings in Leeds (3 Sovereign Square and Unit 1 Logic Leeds) which could 
be added to the Council’s property investment portfolio.

Members welcomed the proposals to acquire the properties, as detailed within 
the submitted report. 

It was confirmed to the Board that the name of the tenant to occupy Unit 1, 
Logic Leeds (Amazon) was now in the public domain. Following this, an 
enquiry was raised about potential concerns regarding the working practices 
of that company. In response, it was confirmed that regardless of whether the 
Council bought the property, Amazon had obtained the lease of Unit 1, Logic 
Leeds, and as such, should Members have concerns about the working 
practices of the company on their Leeds premises, then a dialogue could be 
had with them. In connection with this, Members also considered the 
possibility of establishing an ethical landlord policy for the Council. 

Following consideration of Appendix 1 to the submitted report, designated as 
exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the meeting, it was

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the acquisition of 3 Sovereign Square as an investment on the 

terms as detailed within exempt Appendix 1 to the submitted report, 
be approved;

(b) That the acquisition of Unit 1 Logic Leeds as an investment on the 
terms as detailed within exempt Appendix 1 to the submitted report, 
be approved;

(c) That the injection into the Capital Programme, together with the 
associated ‘Authority to Spend’, for the sums as detailed within 
exempt Appendix 1, be approved;

(d) That the Director of City Development, under the scheme of 
Delegation, be authorised to approve any changes to the 
recommended terms which may be necessary prior to completion, 
and that the Director of City Development also be authorised to 
complete the acquisitions;

Page 19



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

(e) That the Director of City Development be authorised to investigate the 
acquisition of additional investment opportunities which will further 
enhance the strength and performance of the Council’s investment 
portfolio in supporting the Council’s budget and stimulating economic 
regeneration and confidence as part of a strategic investment fund;

(f) That the resolutions, as detailed within this minute be exempted from 
the Call In process, for the reasons as set out within paragraph 4.5.3 
of the submitted report (detailed below);

(g) That the recommendation, as detailed at paragraph 10.1 of exempt 
Appendix 1 be approved, and that the Director of City Development 
be authorised to facilitate this resolution. 

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a 
decision may be declared as being exempt from Call In by the decision taker if 
it is considered that any delay would seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the 
public’s interests. In line with resolution (f) above, the resolutions contained 
within this minute were exempted from the Call In process as the Council is 
purchasing 3 Sovereign Square under the provision of an option agreement 
which requires the transaction to be exchanged within 20 days of notice being 
served by the vendor. By variation, the vendors have agreed to extend this to 
a long-stop date of the 27 June to exchange. Accordingly, if the Council does 
not exchange by that date it will lose its special position afforded by the option 
agreement. This situation would place the purchase under significant risk. 
Similarly, with respect to Unit 1 Logic Leeds, the price negotiated has been 
concluded on the basis that the sale is completed by 30 June 2016 to be 
before the end of the vendor’s financial year. Should the sale not complete to 
that timescale, the Council would be at risk of the sale and the purchase price 
being re-opened for negotiation in open competition with other parties).

29 Holbeck, South Bank Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) - 
Adoption 
Further to Minute No. 160, 9th March 2016, the Director of City Development 
submitted a report presenting feedback from the public consultation exercise 
undertaken on the draft Holbeck, South Bank Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) and which requested approval of the proposed changes 
arising from this. Specifically, the report recommended the adoption of the re-
drafted SPD, which would formally replace the existing Holbeck Urban Village 
Revised Planning Framework, previously adopted as Supplementary Planning 
Guidance in 2006.

Members acknowledged and welcomed the proposal to now refer to the area 
as Holbeck, rather than ‘Holbeck Urban Village’. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the contents of the submitted report, together with the associated 

formal consultation statement, be noted;

Page 20



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

(b) That the renaming of the Holbeck Urban Village, South Bank 
Supplementary Planning Document to ‘Holbeck, South Bank 
Supplementary Planning Document’ be approved, and that officers 
commence dialogue with residents and partners in order to consider 
how best to market and promote this area of the city;

(c) That the Holbeck, South Bank Supplementary Planning Document be 
adopted in the form as appended to the submitted report, pursuant to 
section 23 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended);

(d) That it be noted that the Chief Planning Officer will publish the Holbeck, 
South Bank Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and associated 
documents in accordance with the Town and Country planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
(as amended).

30 Dewsbury Road: Integrated Road Safety Scheme 
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval of 
the detailed design and implementation of the Dewsbury Road integrated road 
safety scheme and the associated Traffic Orders.

Responding to an enquiry, the Board noted that local Ward Members had 
been consulted, and that further consultation would continue, as the scheme 
progressed.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the scheme, as detailed within the submitted report, be approved, 

and that the detailed design and implementation of said package of 
measures, as shown on drawing TM-10-2377-GA-01b, as appended to 
the submitted report, be authorised;

(b) That authority to incur expenditure of £600,000, comprising of 
£495,000 works costs, £100,000 staff fees and £5,000 legal fees, be 
approved, and which are all to be funded from the Local Transport Plan 
Transport Policy Capital Programme;

(c) That it be noted that all remaining decisions following detailed design 
relating to the proposed Traffic Regulation Orders, Speed Limit Order, 
Movement Order, Section 90c Notices and the designation of cycle 
tracks on the public highway will be reported to the Chief Officer 
(Highways and Transportation) using existing powers under the Officer 
Delegation Scheme (Part 3, Council Constitution) and sub-delegated 
by the Director of City Development.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions 
referred to within this minute)

Page 21



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

31 Design and Cost Report for the Repair of Linton Bridge and other 
Highway Infrastructure Assets damaged during Winter Storms of 2015 
The Director of City Development submitted a report providing details 
regarding the cost of repairs to Council owned infrastructure as a result of the 
flooding in December 2015 and the grant award funding from government to 
effect repairs. Specifically, the submitted report detailed proposals regarding 
the repair of Linton Bridge and which sought support to approach Central 
Government to make additional funds available for broader infrastructure 
works.

Members received an update on the currently projected timeframe for the 
completion of the bridge, whilst the complexities of the project were noted. In 
addition, further information was also provided on the actions being taken to 
progress other assets which had been damaged by the 2015 winter storms.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the contents of the submitted report be noted;

(b) That the proposal not to pursue the provision of a temporary bridge 
between Linton and Collingham be approved;

(c) That the injection of £4.5m government grant for local road repairs into 
the Bridge Maintenance Capital Programme, together with associated 
‘Authority to Spend’, be approved, for the sole purpose of expeditious 
repairs to Linton Bridge, with any remaining funding at the completion 
of the repairs to be distributed proportionally to the cost of repairs to 
other Leeds City Council infrastructure assets;

(d) That the Permanent Works be procured and delivered in line with the 
dates as identified within section 3.11 of the submitted report;

(e) That support be given to an approach being made to Central 
Government to make additional funds available for broader 
infrastructure works;

(f) That it be noted that the Chief Officer Highways and Transportation is 
responsible for the implementation of such matters.

32 The Future of Transport in Leeds 
Further to Minute No. 72, 21st October 2015, the Director of City Development 
submitted a report which provided details of the Secretary of State for 
Transport’s decision to not grant the legal powers (under the Transport and 
Works Act) needed to construct and operate a trolleybus system in the form 
that was presented through the related Public Inquiry. In addition, the report 
highlighted that the funding allocated for New Generation Transport (NGT), 
£173.5m, would remain as allocated for schemes within Leeds, whilst it also 
presented the proposed next steps regarding the future of transport in Leeds.

Members made reference to the way in which such matters had recently 
featured in the local press. 

Page 22



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2016

Having noted the proposal to draw up an outline strategic case for the funding 
by the early autumn, Members discussed such timescales and looked forward 
to further discussion on this matter. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the Government’s decision regarding NGT, as detailed within the 

submitted report, be noted;

(b) That it be agreed that the Council do not make an application for a 
Judicial Review of the Secretary of State decision, now that the 
Department for Transport (DfT) has been allocated £173.5m for 
transport in Leeds;

(c) That it be noted that the Leader has asked for an associated scrutiny 
inquiry to take place, and that support be given to the proposal that the 
DfT and the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) be invited to 
participate;

(d) That approval be given to a letter being sent to the Secretary of State 
for Transport which outlines concerns about the process of developing 
public transport schemes in order to help lessons to be learnt 
nationally;

(e) That officers be requested to undertake city wide engagement on 
developing a new long term transport vision and an associated 
transport plan, including for the allocation of the £173.5m; 

(f) That approval be given for officers to work in partnership with WYCA 
and the DfT to draw up an outline strategic case for the funding by the 
early autumn for submission to Secretary of State for Transport with 
the aim that by the end of the year we will have reached a clear, 
transparent and concise funding agreement for the £173.5m with 
Government.

DATE OF PUBLICATION: FRIDAY, 24TH JUNE 2016

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELGIBLE DECISIONS: 5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 1ST JULY 2016

(Scrutiny Support will notify Directors of any items called in by 12.00noon on 
Monday, 4th July 2016)

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 20

Report of the Director of Children’s Services, the Director of Adult Services 
and the Deputy Chief Executive

Report to the Executive Board

Date: 27th July 2016

Subject: Investment in new Social, Emotional and Mental Health 
Specialist Provision for children and young people

Capital Scheme Number: 32457/000/000  

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):.

Killingbeck and Seacroft, Middleton Park, Weetwood,

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Summary of main issues 

1. In November 2015 the Executive Board approved the principles and direction of the 
Children’s Services ‘Social and Emotional Mental Health’ (SEMH) programme. This 
programme aims to improve education and support for children and young people with 
complex social, emotional and mental health needs. This is part of a wider citywide 
strategy supported by both the Council and NHS to invest and improve services for 
children’s emotional and mental health. The SEMH programme seeks to replace the 
outdated and costly provision with specially designed facilities that are managed and led 
by a leading provider of SEMH learning.  The transition will be achieved by working with 
an Academy partner, the Wellspring Academy Trust, whose provision has been rated by 
OfSTED as ‘outstanding’. The aim is to combine the existing BESD SILC and Pupil 
Referral Unit (PRU) provision into one multi-site, innovative SEMH Academy catering for 
ages four to nineteen and all aspects of the SEMH spectrum.  Delivery of these 
proposals will be managed as part of a co-ordinated, city-wide, multi-agency programme 
covering all aspects of this transition.  This report relates specifically to the construction 
and capital funding element of the SEMH programme which has the target of providing 
exemplar educational facilities for handover during the 2017/18 academic year.

2. As the November 2015 Report to the Executive Board set out, the SEMH programme is 
designed to be a ‘win-win’ approach – better for children and young people and better for 
the Council and the public purse. For children and young people, this offers an 
opportunity to radically improve the learning, support and outcomes of some of the city’s 

Report Author: Chris Gosling

Tel:  0113 39 51403

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



Page 2 of 20

most vulnerable children, replacing provision in old, unsuitable buildings with specially 
designed facilities managed by outstanding leaders. For the Council and the wider public 
sector there is an opportunity to avoid the escalating costs and the risks of weaknesses 
in local provision. The key risks of delay include: increased costs from a growing need 
for external placements as local provision is not suitable; the need for costly investment 
to maintain even minimum standards in existing buildings; longer term costs due to 
increased poor outcomes such as worklessness and adult mental illness.

3. Children’s Services Built Environment Team has developed the new build SEMH 
proposals in conjunction with the Leeds Local Education Partnership (LLEP) under the 
terms of their exclusivity on secondary and SILC projects.  The construction element will 
be delivered via the LLEP’s preferred partner, Interserve Construction Limited (ICL).  

4. To ensure economies of scale and achieve value for money, the three new build projects 
have been treated as one holistic programme of works.  As such they have been setup 
to run concurrently with the accommodation being delivered during the 2017/18 
academic year on a staggered basis.  Greater value will be achieved as a consequence, 
as the programme will be able to bulk procure materials and work packages across three 
sites, achieve savings on design fees by consistency of design and concurrency of 
development, and move labour and specialist resource between sites when required.

5. The three new campuses are to be strategically located across Leeds and will cater for 
their wider areas whilst operating as one multi-site school for administrative and 
curriculum purposes.  The three sites are located as follows in order of completion; East 
Leeds SEMH to be located on the vacant former ‘East Leeds Family Learning Centre 
Site’ in Seacroft, South Leeds SEMH on the vacant former ‘Merlyn Rees High School’ 
site in Belle Isle and North Leeds SEMH which is to be constructed on the existing 
‘Tinshill Learning Centre Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) Site’ in Tinshill following demolition of 
the current facility which is reaching the end of its design life.

6. Funding of £45m for development and construction of the three new facilities was 
approved in principle in the 18th November 2015 ‘Future for Social and Emotional Mental 
Health (SEMH) education provision in Leeds’ Executive Board paper.  The proposals 
detailed herein have been developed on this principal with a target construction and 
design budget of £40m.  The remaining monies are intended to cover works outside of 
the construction contract.  .

7. As detailed within the LLEP’s ‘new project process’ (NPP) mechanism the client, 
Children’s Services, reserves the right to terminate or reject the NPP end stage report if 
the scheme is deemed holistically to exceed the affordability criteria defined at the outset 
of the programme, inclusive of fees and other associated construction contract costs.  To 
provide further assurance over ‘value for money’ technical advisors have been appointed 
under a technical assurance (TA) role to assess the work produced and comment on its 
adherence to market factors and the stipulated technical parameters.  Furthermore, 
market testing and benchmarking of costs is to be built into the second ‘NPP’ end stage 
report to ensure the Local Authority has confidence in the figures provided prior to going 
into formal contract in November 2016.

Recommendations 

8. The Executive Board is requested to:

 Endorse the case for change to SEMH provision
 Approve the injection of £16,469.2k of Departmental Borrowing into the 

Capital Programme

Page 26



Page 3 of 20

 Approve the injection of £12,212k of LCC Borrowing into the Capital 
Programme. 

 Executive Board is requested to agree the principle of ring-fencing capital 
receipts from the sale of Elmete BESD SILC, Burley Park PRU and the 
Meanwood Centre subject to dispensation being granted by DfE for the use 
of any such receipts

 Approve Authority To Spend £45m – subject to individual Design and Cost 
Reports being brought forward at appropriate design freeze stage for 
approval by Learning Places Programme Board

 Note that the Deputy Director for Children’s Services is responsible for 
oversight of this programme.

1. Purpose of this Report

1.1        The purpose of this report is:

o To summarise the case for change, including key statutory duties, the national 
policy framework and the costs and benefits of the main options for change.

o To provide background information and detail to the Executive Board on the 
proposed construction programme which will provide three new, exemplar, 
world class facilities for the delivery of the SEMH continuum within Leeds.

o To seek authority to spend the £45m programme budget for the delivery of the 
SEMH Programme and note that this allocates £40m to construct the three new 
buildings and £5m in supporting costs to setup these new institutions.

o Establish the delegated approval process to be utilised on the SEMH 
Programme going forward, as detailed herein.

o Set out the programme of ‘early works’ at a value of £3.5m for construction 
works.  Including, but not exclusive to, site preparation, initial ground works and 
procurement of critical materials necessary for the main build programme to 
adhere to the project programme.  

o Undertake a programme of off-site Highways works prior to the commencement 
of the development as part of this ‘early works’ stage in order to facilitate 
construction traffic and minimise disruption in the development site locale.  A 
budget envelope of £750k has been allocated for the total LCC Highways works 
across the three sites. 

2. Background Information

2.1 Whilst the legal and policy framework for children’s services have been subject to 
great change in recent years, Local Authorities retain significant duties and 
responsibilities for sufficiency and vulnerable learners. Councils are generally 
responsible for ensuring sufficient school places are available in the local area, and 
more specifically are required to ensure that children and young people with an 
Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) are placed in settings that are suitable for 
their needs. The Children and Families Act 2014 extended this duty for young people 
with EHCP, requiring Councils to support young people up to the age of 25.In 

Page 27



Page 4 of 20

addition to the direct responsibilities for learners with additional needs and 
disabilities, Councils have a wider role in championing the needs of vulnerable 
learners, and in particular, additional legal duties to promote the learning of Children 
Looked After. Councils must ensure that, wherever possible in line with the needs of 
the child, Children Looked After must be placed in provision that is judged as ‘good’ 
or better by OfSTED. Lastly, it is worth remembering that Local Authorities continue 
to have a central and over-riding duty to safeguard and promote the wellbeing of 
children and weaknesses in SEMH provision can pose risks to the young people.

2.2 Responsibilities for school improvement, intervention and funding have changed 
radically in recent years. Most relevantly it is now the case that in the case of 
inspection failure in a school, the government will intervene and require the Local 
Authority to turn the school into an academy. Alongside changes in governance, 
funding regulations have changed and the vast majority of education funding is now 
ring-fenced to the control of individual schools, academies and Multi-Academy 
Trusts.

2.3 Improving children and young people’s emotional and mental health is a national and 
local priority for the NHS and children’s services. Nationally, the NHS ‘Future In Mind’ 
report set out the broad direction, and locally emotional and mental health in a priority 
in the Children and Young People’s Plan, the NHS Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan, and the city’s plan for change and improvement is set out in the Leeds ‘Local 
Transformation Plan’, developed jointly by the NHS and Council and other partners. 
Promoting mental and physical health equality is also one of the key priorities of the 
Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021. The SEMH programme is a key 
element of these local and national strategies and will be key part of the new 
continuum of care and support for children in Leeds. The joint approach to SEMH 
being taken in Leeds, between Children’s Services and Health partners, is innovative 
within the UK context.

2.4 Local and national research and analysis shows that more children and young people 
are suffering from poor emotional, social and mental health, and outcomes for these 
children are a cause for concern in Leeds and across the country. National figures 
suggest around one in four children and young people will experience poor emotional 
and mental health in childhood, and the incidence of serious problems seems to be 
growing – e.g. recent rising trends in self-harm or eating disorders. The additional 
challenges these young people face as they grow to adulthood means that they are 
more at risk of poor outcomes – for example the proportion achieving good GCSE 
results and the proportion of young people who are in education or employment is 
much lower than their peers. Without effective support these poor outcomes are likely 
to persist throughout as research shows that young people with SEMH needs are 
more likely to be at risk of adult unemployment, involvement with the criminal justice 
system or adult mental illness, e.g. 75% of long term adult mental illness is apparent 
by the age of 18.

2.4       Whilst the proportion of schools judged ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ by OfSTED in Leeds is 
well above the regional and national average, this is not the case for provision for all 
the vulnerable learners in SEMH provision. Learning and support for primary aged 
pupils at the Oakwood SILC has been judged to be ‘Outstanding’ but the provision for 
older learners at Elmete Wood has been repeatedly judged as ‘inadequate’ over the 
past decade. The most recent inspection, in September 2014, judged the school to 
be ‘inadequate’, with particular weaknesses in leadership, management and out of 
date buildings. 

Page 28



Page 5 of 20

2.5 The suitability of the accommodation is a significant factor in the poor outcomes of 
these young people. The current accommodation of the Pupil Referral Units and the 
SILC provision for children with SEMH is poor and the costs of placing children and 
young people in them is relatively high. The Ofsted report in September 2014 
identified that: “The school is failing to meet the needs of students because poor 
accommodation and a lack of resources limit the curriculum, learning opportunities 
and specialist therapeutic support that can be provided.” Developments of new 
school accommodation in the past 10 years in Leeds, including Private Finance 
Initiative buildings and Building Schools for the Future programme, have not included 
any improvement to accommodation for SEMH provision and therefore these children 
and young people have not benefitted from improvements to school accommodation 
in Leeds.

2.6 Due to the challenges with provision in Leeds for children and young people who 
need specialist support and education to meet SEMH needs, Leeds has had to place 
some children from this vulnerable group outside of the Local Authority to ensure 
their needs are fully met. This has resulted in the need for the children and young 
people with the most complex needs to have to travel the furthest from their homes 
and communities to attend school. The cost of external placements and associated 
transport is twice as high as provision within Leeds. The need for external placement 
is likely to grow due to population growth over the next few years.

2.7 As set out in the November 2015 Report, the city is seeking to address this issue by 
committing to a significant investment in this vulnerable and complex group of 
children and young people to ensure that the support for these children and young 
people is world class and meets the aspirations of the learners, their families, and the 
city’s aim to be ‘The Best City for Children and Young People.’. 

2.8 As soon as Elmete Wood failed its inspection in 2014, the Regional Schools 
Commissioner issued an order requiring the local authority to convert Elmete Wood 
into an Academy. The deadline for this was September 2016, and the process is 
currently on track to achieve this target. The Council has agreed a preferred provider, 
Wellspring Trust, which is a successful provider of SEMH learning and the only one 
in the North of England to be judged ‘outstanding’ by OFSTED.

2.9 The current proposals in the SEMH programme are for the current BESD and PRU 
provision will to be integrated into the SEMH academy under the management of 
Wellspring Academy Trust.  Once the new facilities are available these existing 
buildings will be vacated and the new provision will constitute ‘one school’ located 
across four sites.  Namely Leeds East (former ‘East Leeds Family Learning Centre’), 
Leeds South (former ‘Merlyn Rees High School’ site), North Leeds (redevelopment of 
the existing Tinshill Learning Centre PRU) and the existing KS2 BESD & PRU 
provision located at the Oakwood Lane site.

2.10 Three sites have been selected due to the need to service the local area of the pupils 
and to provide a manageable pupil number.  These buildings will be located 
geographically within Leeds to ensure that provision will be in the communities where 
the children live, thus reducing the need to transport children and young people 
across the local authority.  Attendance figures at the current BESD SILC indicate that 
the long distances pupils need to travel are a disincentive to learners and further 
reduce attendance. 

2.11 Research shows that children with SEMH needs require a smaller and more 
manageable environment as such placing 300 students in one building would prove 
untenable and would severely impact curriculum delivery and pupil management. 

Page 29



Page 6 of 20

Extensive research has been undertaken by the Education Psychology Team into 
what makes effective SEMH provision.  This research looked at current models 
located across the country rated good and outstanding by OFSETD.  Research 
indicates that the critical factor in the success of these institutions was limiting the 
number of young people on one site.  100 pupils was determined to be the maximum 
number felt appropriate in order to meet the social, emotional, mental health and 
educational needs of the young people; ensure the welfare of staff and maintain a 
calm nurturing environment. It was also felt that there needed to be flexibility to move 
a young person to a different site if the relationships had been unsuccessful / broken 
down while still maintaining the young person within the city.  By having one 
institution located across multiple sites, each providing a consistent offer, these 
impediments to children and young people’s progress within school have been 
mitigated. 

2.12 Under exclusivity rights for secondary and SILC accommodation, the new SEMH 
provision is to be delivered in partnership with the Leeds Local Education Partner 
(LEP).  The LEP have appointed a design team to deliver this comprising of Atkins 
Global as architect, BWB Consulting providing engineering services, Hoare Lea as 
mechanical & electrical designers and Interserve Construction Limited as the 
construction partner.  

2.13 The three school developments have been treated as one holistic programme, which 
has been setup to maximise efficiency and achieve significant economies of scale to 
deliver the most cost effective solution possible.  Substantial savings in design fees 
have already been achieved as a consequence of this concurrent development 
programme led approach.  A quantifiable example of this is the reduction in design 
fees across the programme, savings of £140,818 were achieved during feasibility by 
undertaking the three work studies as one package rather than as totally independent 
schemes.  It is anticipated that this programme led approach will lead to greater 
efficiency during the construction phase and procurement of materials and labour 
leading to significant economies of scale.

2.14 The design proposals are based upon the existing purpose-built Springwell Academy, 
located in Barnsley and managed by our appointed academy partner the Wellspring 
Academy Trust.  This facility represents one of the leading SEMH schools in the 
country and is one of the few campuses designed specifically with the needs and 
requirements of children and young people with SEMH at the core of it design remit.  
The design brief for Leeds was to build on this model and provide an improved, 
exemplar design which provides world class facilities for the city.  Every aspect of the 
design has been targeted principally with achieving particular curriculum and 
environmental outcomes for the children and young people attending the proposed 
facilities.  The three proposed new sites have a maximum occupancy of 100 pupils, 
split across permanent and referral places. 

 
2.15 The planning application for the first site to be delivered, East Leeds SEMH, was 

validated on 19th May 2016 with a target determination date of 18th August 2016.  
Development on the South and North Leeds SEMH, to be delivered second and third 
respectively, has now reached the point whereby the final two planning applications 
were submitted during July 2016 with a target determination date of 30th September.  
Financial close and signing of the full construction contract is scheduled for 
November 2016.  

3 Main Points

Page 30



Page 7 of 20

3.1 The Case for Change 

3.2 The proposed changes in education and support for children with complex social, 
emotional and mental health needs will be better for children and better for the 
Council. The status quo is untenable as it poses too many risks for children and too 
many risks for the authority. There is a clear legal, moral and  economic case for 
change

3.3 The legal case for change is shaped by the duties of the Council under the revised 
regulations and policy set out in the section above. The Authority has a clear duty  to 
secure sufficient school places for all local learners, further duties to provide ‘suitable’ 
provision for pupils with Education Health and Care Plans, a further duty to ensure 
Children Looked After are in high quality schools. Failure to meet these legal 
requirements would lead to the Council being vulnerable to challenge from the 
parents, the Ombudsman, OfSTED and the government. 

3.4 Regardless of any legal duties, there is a clear moral case for change. Leeds is 
committed to being a ‘Child Friendly City’ and the ‘Best City for Children and Young 
People’. The Council has won national praise from OfSTED and government for its 
political leadership and commitment to investing in improving outcomes for children 
and young people. Action is clearly needed to improve the lives of these vulnerable 
children and young people who face multiple challenges and barriers in their learning 
and journey to adulthood. At present, outcomes for this group are very poor. Key 
statistics include:

o In 2015, no pupils (0%) at Elmete Wood achieved 5+ A*-C grades at GCSE, 
compared to 55.5% of pupils across the city

o In 2014, 65% of pupils leaving Elmete Wood after GCSEs were NEET, 
compared to an average of 8% across Leeds or 13% in similar special 
schools across the country.

o In 2014, overall attendance at the school was 65.4%, well below any 
comparators locally or nationally.

3.5 It is worth noting that many of these young people with social, emotional and mental 
health needs have wider challenges and needs in their lives. A third of the current 
school roll at Elmete Wood have sufficiently significant needs that they are supported 
by the Social Work service as Children in Need and of these, 11 are Children Looked 
After. 

3.6 At present, the support and learning provided by the city for these children and young 
people does not meet minimum standards, let alone the higher standards that Leeds 
is committed to in its Best City strategy. To quote the OfSTED report of 2014, ‘The 
school is failing to meet the needs of students because poor accommodation and a 
lack of resources limit the curriculum, learning opportunities and specialist 
therapeutic support that can be provided.’ 

3.7 In addition to meeting the immediate needs of those children with complex social, 
emotional and mental health needs, the new SEMH provision will be a great 
opportunity for the city to develop a better, joined up continuum of support for all 
children and young people in the city. The specialist provision, and the expertise 
Wellspring will bring can help develop that wider support through support, advice and 
joint working.

Page 31



Page 8 of 20

3.8 The economic case for change is compelling. At present, the city is spending more 
and more on external provision and transport and piecemeal improvements to 
existing buildings. If a radical change is not agreed then these costs will begin to 
spiral as more and more learners need to be sent to schools outside the city because 
no suitable provision is available locally, and the city will be much more vulnerable to 
the potentially multi-million pound costs of intervention and improvement. Key cost 
information includes:

 In 2015/16 the total spent on out of area placements was £4,643,477. 
 In the same year transport costs increased sharply. Costs for the full 

academic year 2015/16 to one of the main out of area schools, Hall Cliffe, is 
expected to be £400K

 The average costs for out of area provision is £55K per year, plus an 
additional £10K for transport. In contrast, local provision costs on average 
£25K per year, with £1K in transport. Therefore, the additional cost per pupil 
is £39K per year.

3.9 In addition to short term, immediate costs, failure to intervene early will lead to 
serious additional costs to the individuals, Council and the wider public sector. For 
example, poor SEMH provision is likely to lead to more exclusions, which are 
estimated to cost over £11,000. Failure to achieve the equivalent of five good GCSEs 
is estimated to cost the public purse £443 per year in lost tax etc. over the working 
life of an individual, or nearly £18,000 over a lifetime. The average cost of a young 
person who is NEET is estimated to cost over £14,000 per person per year in benefit 
payments, lost tax etc.

3.10 In summary, there is a clear case for change. Failure to act will lead to continuing 
poor outcomes for children and rising costs and legal risks for the Council. 
Alternatively, change can make a massive difference to the lives of some of the most 
vulnerable children and young people in the city, help to achieve the Council’s Best 
City ambitions and the NHS and Council’s shared priorities for emotional and mental 
health whilst also helping to reduce costs and risks over time.

3.11 Design Proposals and Full Scheme Description

The SEMH programme constitutes the construction of three new exemplar school 
sites designed specifically for delivering the specialist requirements of the SEMH 
curriculum.  Working with the remit of providing ‘world class’ educational 
environments, as detailed within the 18th November SEMH Executive Board paper, 
Children’s Services have worked closely with appointed architectural practice, 
Atkins Global, and the curriculum provider, the Wellspring Academy Trust, to 
ensure all aspects of the building, grounds and infrastructure are tailored to the 
particular needs of the children and young people attending this provision.  The 
three schools will provide the following key components:

o Capacity for 100 pupils, split between permanent and assessment places, and 
approximately 70 full time equivalent members of staff.

o Use of natural features and careful design to provide a warm and welcoming 
environment to encourage attendance and a desire to be at school.  Placement 
of trees and landscaping critical to providing a calming environment with 
seamless links to a variety of outdoors learning opportunities.

Page 32



Page 9 of 20

o Placement of key stage groups into ‘learning zones’ located around a central 
communal area and landscaped courtyard to foster communication skills and 
engender social integration.  Considered design allows greater flexibility for the 
curriculum to adapt to the innovative teaching methods offered by Wellspring 
and the particular needs of the children and young people attending these 
schools.

o Communal spaces located within each ‘learning zone’ designed to build social 
skills during breakout lessons and lunch periods.

o Integrated therapeutic and nurture provision directly within each ‘learning zone’.

o Large teaching spaces to allow flexible learning and zoning for different types of 
activities.

o Minimising of lengthy circulation spaces and stair wells which traditionally foster 
anti-social behaviour and disrupt the school day.

o Extensive sports areas to provide a holistic physical education programme and 
promote integration within a team environment.

o Aspiration of one parking space per full time equivalent member of staff, site 
restrictions permitting, as per guidance from Leeds City Council Highways 
Department.  In addition each site will have an extensive ‘drop-off’ loop for 
managing pupil traffic to and from the site each day.

The facilities at the three sites will provide the same curriculum offer; the facilities 
and works within the programme will be the same with the exception of the following 
areas:

o Leeds South will have a full size community accessible artificial turf pitch in lieu 
of a smaller 7-a-side pitch provided at Leeds East and Leeds North.  Usage of 
this pitch by the local community will be managed via the adjacent Leeds Youth 
Hub.  Community bookings will be scheduled outside of defined school hours 
and will also be available at the weekend.  Community usage will extend to the 
staff car park and adjacent hard-core multi-use games court.

o Leeds South will utilise additional first floor area to provide additional office and 
staff resource space.  Due to its proximity to the ring road and motorways this 
site will form the ‘hub’ site from where the Leeds SEMH provision will be 
managed.  The building footprint will not differ between Leeds South and Leeds 
East as the additional floor area is gained by extending further onto the void roof 
space on the first floor.

o Leeds North will feature an adapted building layout to reflect the sloped site.  
Level of provision on offer will not differ from Leeds East and Leeds South and 
direct access to external areas, a key design criteria, will be maintained for all 
pupils.

o Demolition of the existing Tinshill Learning Centre to facilitate the 
redevelopment of that site as Leeds North SEMH.

3.12 An element of ‘early works’ is required firstly at East Leeds then at South Leeds to 
prepare the site for formal commencement of the construction programme from 
November 2016.  This package will also include procurement of essential materials to 

Page 33



Page 10 of 20

facilitate the November 2016 commencement, namely steel and other critical 
materials, and essential preparatory highways work.  All off-site highways works are 
to be completed by LCC Highways department.

3.13 The estimated programme cost is £45m.  This is comprised of a construction 
envelope of £40m (including all associated design fees), LLEP management fees of 
£1.9m (including feasibility design costs), off-site highways budget of £750k and 
£2.3m for all other project related costs including furniture and equipment.

3.14 Time is of the essence for these SEMH projects to ensure that the Council, in 
conjunction with its delivery partner Wellspring, can complete the transition from the 
existing BESD continuum and move towards a SEMH model.  The knock on effect of 
time pressures on design, procurement and delivery of basic need projects are 
significant and can easily derail projects unless flexible approaches are taken at all 
stages of projects.  The timeframe for transitioning from the current BESD provision 
to the newer SEMH dynamic has been agreed with the DfE, who in turn are actively 
managing the City’s progress in this area.

3.15 The works detailed within this report have been procured under the Strategic 
Partnering Agreement between the LLEP and Leeds City Council.  The associated 
corporate procurement rules apply to this process and have been adhered to.  The 
exclusive supplier arrangements, detailed under CPR 3.1.5, have been invoked in 
this instance.

3.16 This report notes that the overall SEMH Programme budget is set at £45m and 
proposes that the approval of the individual design and costs approvals on the three 
new-build schemes is delegated to the Director of Children’s Services, once design 
freeze has been achieved.  To ensure robust assessment of the proposals and to 
guarantee the schemes are open to examination by Members, it is proposed that the 
Director of Children’s Services decision must have the prior support of the Basic 
Need Programme Board and be made in consultation with the appropriate Executive 
Members.   Transparency will be maintained as the design and cost reports will be 
subject to the constitutional rules on officer decisions and all the three proposed 
schemes will be key decisions and subject to call in.  These approvals will only be 
made where they are within the overall programme budget.  The Learning Places 
Programme Board will provide check and challenge on the decisions.  In addition, 
new protocols have been agreed which set out the responsibility and accountability 
for tasks and approvals for the programme which will support transparency and aid 
teams to deliver effectively.

3.17 It is requested that the SEMH programme utilise the Basic Need capital risk fund and 
employ a managed approach to programme risk.  Approval is requested from 
Executive Board to delegate approval of any requests to access the Basic Need 
capital risk fund to the Director of Children’s Service, who will manage decisions on 
the allocation of money from the fund into the three schemes where a definitive and 
justifiable need is identified.  Decisions of the Director of Children’s Services must be 
made with the prior approval of the Basic Need Programme Board and in 
consultation with the appropriate Executive Members.  This approval will enable 
timely and proportionate responses to variations which are required to project 
budgets which can be managed within the overall programme budget.  This approach 
will ensure the Council can respond quickly so that projects are not subject to delay, 
can deliver at pace and so risks can be managed appropriately.  As with design and 
cost approvals, these decisions will be subject to the constitutional rules on decision 
making and call in.

Page 34



Page 11 of 20

3.18 Members will be aware that Executive Board has regularly approved programme 
budgets in the past.  In 2010 and 2011, similar management arrangements for the 
‘Building Schools for the Future’ programme was approved by Executive Board (April 
2010 for the 2010/11 programme and March 2011 for the 2011/12 programme), with 
the latest approval being the Basic Need Programme in September 2014, which also 
included the establishment of a Basic Need capital risk fund.  Other approved 
programme budgets operate on the Changing the Workplace and ICT programmes.

3.19 Extensive consultation has been undertaken with Leeds City Council’s Highways 
department regarding the extent and necessity of any off-site works.  Outline budget 
costs have been provided for the anticipated works and these have been included 
within the project budget detailed in section 5.4.

3.20 The construction cost estimate submitted by the LLEP on 27th May 2016 represents 
the current position at RIBA Stage 3, with further market testing and development of 
the figures due within the next work stage.  In order to ensure rigour of the design 
proposals and the holistic reduction of programme risk, the level of detail provided by 
the design team is in excess of what is the standard for this stage in the development 
programme.  This approach was agreed with Children’s Services in order to ensure 
robust cost estimates were provided and any escalation of risk or scope creep was 
minimised as the proposals developed.  An independent Technical Advisor review 
has since been completed on these Stage 3 figures and technical proposals, 
assurance has been provided by the appointed consultants that the figures represent 
good value and are competitive within the current market place.

3.21 As detailed within the LLEP’s ‘new project process’ (NPP) mechanism the client, 
Children’s Services, reserves the right to terminate or reject the NPP end stage 
report if the scheme is deemed holistically to exceed the affordability criteria defined 
at the outset of the programme, inclusive of fees and other costs.  To provide further 
assurance over ‘value for money’ independent consultants have been appointed to 
assess the work produced and comment on its adherence to market factors and 
required technical parameters.  Furthermore, market testing and benchmarking of 
costs is to be built into the second ‘NPP’ end stage report to ensure the Local 
Authority has confidence in the figures provided prior to going into formal contract in 
November 2016.

3.22 Formal market testing of the programme is due in the next phase of works, as noted 
above the construction envelope of £40m will not be exceeded and value engineering 
will be undertaken in the event of these tolerances being exceeded prior to going into 
formal contract.  All costs and technical proposals submitted to the client for approval 
are subject to independent analysis via the appointed third party technical advisors.  
Their input and advice has been available throughout the design process to check 
and challenge the information provided by the LLEP and ICL.  Similar to the 
approach on the ‘Building Schools for the Future’ and ‘Primary Capital Programmes’ 
ICL will be undertaking mini-tendering exercises on key work packages to ensure 
adherence to value for money requirements.  This will be an open exercise with full 
transparency to both the City Council and it’s technical advisors.

3.23 The award of the tender for the programme will be subject to a Tender Acceptance     
Report following a detailed review of all contract and tender documentation.

3.24 An ‘NEC3 Option A’ contract is to be entered into between the local authority and the 
LLEP, with clauses inserted where necessary to tailor the contract to the specific 
requirements and deliverables of the SEMH programme.

Page 35



Page 12 of 20

3.25 Planning application for Leeds East SEMH was validated on 19th May 2016 with a 
target termination date of 18th August 2016.  The subsequent applications for Leeds 
South SEMH and Leeds North SEMH were submitted on the 4th July 2016.  
Extensive consultation has been undertaken with Planning throughout design 
development.

4 Programme

4.1 The design and construction programme has been developed upon the principal that 
all three schools will be developed concurrently for handover during the 2017/18 
academic year.  This was deemed the most efficient way to maximise the available 
budget and achieve greater economies of scale when procuring materials and 
specialist work packages.

4.2 The key milestones to achieve this programme are as follows:

Milestone Site Date
Submission of planning application Leeds East 19th May 2016
Completion of detailed design & 
preparation of contract documents

All 23rd May 2016
(16 weeks)

Commencement of final market testing All 23rd May 2016
(18 weeks)

Submission of planning application Leeds North
Leeds South

4th July 2016

Final costs achieve for ‘early works’ Leeds East 7th July 2016
‘Early works’ order placed Leeds East 12th August 2016
Target planning determination date Leeds East 18th August 2016
‘Early works’ start on-site Leeds East 30th August 2016
Target planning determination date Leeds North

Leeds South
30th September 2016

Full scheme cost certainty achieved All 30th September 2016
Submission & approval of Design Cost 
Reports for construction works 

All October 2016

Decant of Tinshill Learning Centre to 
facilitate asbestos removal and 
demolition works

Leeds North 21st October 2016

Full scheme financial close All 11th November 2016
Full scheme construction period Leeds South 14th November 2016

(65 weeks)
Full scheme construction period Leeds East 17th November 2016

(52 weeks)
Full scheme construction period Leeds North 9th January 2017

(68 weeks)
Handover Leeds East 1st December 2017
School opening Leeds East 8th January 2018
Handover Leeds South 16th March 2018
School opening Leeds South 9th April 2018
Handover Leeds North 25th May 2018
School opening Leeds North 28th August 2018

4.3 As noted above an ‘early works’ package requires undertaking from 30th August 
2016, completion of which is essential to ensuring full construction start on-site being 

Page 36



Page 13 of 20

achieved on the 14th November 2016.  The placement of the ‘early works’ order on 
the 12th August 2016 therefore forms the first key entry on the critical path.

 
5 Corporate Considerations

5.1 Consultation and Engagement

5.1.1 The principles of the SEMH programme were subject to an Executive Board report 
approved on 18th November 2015.  Details of the consultation for the wider SEMH 
programme is detailed within the previous report, the information noted below relates 
specifically to the consultation undertaken as part of the construction programme.

5.1.2 The proposed development of the three new SEMH schools has been subject to 
extensive and on-going engagement with the following key stakeholders; end users 
as represented by the senior management team of the Wellspring Academy Trust, 
ward members for the locales where the schools are to be constructed, the Executive 
Member for Children and Families, the Leader of Council & Executive Member for Economy 
and Culture, local community groups in South Leeds, the South Leeds Youth Hub, members 
of staff at the current provision, Leeds City Council Highways Department, Asset 
Management, City Development, Parks & Countryside, Planning Department and the 
Principal Landscape Architect for Leeds City Development.

5.1.3 Extensive pre-planning consultation has been undertaken with Leeds Planning 
Department, including the Principal Landscape Architect, and colleagues in 
Highways.  Advice provided has been implemented into the scheme where practical 
and solutions agreed where necessary.  Every effort has been made to minimise and 
manage the associated planning risk within the budget tolerance and aspirational 
remit of the SEMH Programme.

5.1.4 Pre-planning consultation has been undertaken with Sport England and they have in 
turn declined to comment on the application submitted for East Leeds SEMH as the 
development does not fall within their planning remit.  Written confirmation has been 
provided that they have no objection in principal to the proposals at North Leeds 
SEMH as detailed at RIBA Stage 3.  The development at South Leeds SEMH 
provides extensive facilities for community usage and will meet shortfalls in the area 
for artificial turf pitches.  The design team has worked closely with the South Leeds 
Youth Hub and their community partners to ensure these facilities are accessible via 
the Youth Hub upon completion and tie into their strategic aims within the wider Belle 
Isle area.  The development at South Leeds SEMH will provide a betterment of the 
current facilities, a locked off vacant site, and will provide an extensive community 
offer outside of core business hours for the school.

5.1.5 Ward members have been briefed throughout the development process and at the 
end of each design stage.  Members for all three sites are fully supportive of the 
proposals and the benefits they provide to both the local wards and the wider 
community.

5.1.6 Members of the design team and Wellspring were available prior to the full Council 
meeting on the 29th June 2016 to present the proposals and field any questions from 
ward members.

5.1.7 A full public pre-planning drop-in session for Leeds East SEMH was held on the 11th 
May 2016 over an afternoon and evening.  Representatives from the design team 
were available to present the proposals and field any questions from members of the 
public.  

Page 37



Page 14 of 20

5.1.8 A full public pre-planning drop-in session for Leeds South SEMH was held on the 
evening of the 1st July 2016, tailored to children and young people in the area, and 
the morning of the 2nd July 2016, an open session to local residents and interested 
parties.  Representatives from the design team were available to present the 
proposals and field any questions from members of the public.  

5.1.9 A full public pre-planning drop-in session for Leeds North SEMH was held. 
Representatives from the design team were available to present the proposals and 
field any questions from members of the public.  

5.1.10 Throughout the design development the design team have and will continue to 
consult and draw upon the specialist expertise offered by the Wellspring Academy 
Trust as our appointed academy provider.  Every endeavour is being made to ensure 
the final product meets expectations and achieves Children’s Services aspiration of 
providing world class facilities for our most vulnerable children and young people 
whilst adhering to the programme budget parameters defined at the November 2015 
Executive Board.

5.1.11 Formal consultation was held with the current staff of the BESD and PRU provision 
over the holistic aims of the programme and the intentions for the new schools.  This 
was convened on the 11th December 2015, following this juncture Children’s Services 
have been working closely with the Wellspring Academy Trust to provide regular 
updates to staff, parents and carers via the publication of a periodic newsletter.  
Further consultation with staff and end users will be scheduled when required.

5.1.12 The SEMH programme was instigated by the Deputy Director for Children’s Services 
and forms part of a larger SEMH transition programme with extensive input from 
Children’s Service’s senior management team, Heads of Service and Directors.  
Multiple departments within the Council and the wider public sector are working 
closely on all aspects of the SEMH programme.  

5.1.13 Children’s Services are in close contact with the Department for Education on the 
SEMH programme and they offer their full support of the proposed programme of 
work detailed herein. 

5.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

5.2.1 The recommendations within this report are subject to the need to assess impact on 
any of the groups falling under equality legislation and the need to eliminate 
discrimination and promote equality. Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) have 
already been completed for this work. In the December 2013 Executive Board report 
an EIA was undertake for the overall strategy and a further EIA for the design 
proposals was completed in February 2016 in line with the timescales agreed in the 
December 2015 Report.

5.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan

5.3.1 These proposals are being brought forward to meet the Council’s statutory duty to 
ensure there are sufficient school places for children with a statement of special 
educational needs, or education health and care plan, which names social and 
emotional mental health (SEMH) as the principle need. They also contribute to the 
outcomes and priorities in the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021; 
specifically promoting mental health equality.

Page 38



Page 15 of 20

5.3.2 The proposal contributes to the city’s aspiration to the Best Council and the Best City 
in which to grow up; a Child Friendly City, through the creation of provisions that 
offers children in Leeds the opportunity to benefit from outstanding, integrated 
provision, which best meets their behaviour needs. That, in turn, will increase 
attendance, attainment and progression to education, employment and training 
among some of the city’s most vulnerable children, as desired by the Children and 
Young People’s Plan.

5.3.3 The proposal detailed herein responds directly to the Council’s aspirations to build a 
child friendly city and improve the opportunities for children and young people with 
social, emotional and mental health issues.  The design proposals have responded 
directly to the challenge of providing a stimulating environment which will provide a 
positive learning setting.  This project is a critical component of the Council’s 
mandate to review and improve the city’s SEMH continuum.

5.4 Resource and Value for Money

5.4.1 These proposals will require significant capital investment, a maximum of £45m 
across three sites. Without investment the learners with the highest levels of need 
will not have accommodation suitable for the purpose of meeting their specialist 
requirements. Should Leeds be unable to deliver SEMH provision locally, through 
lack of investment, the anticipated revenue cost for the learners would be in excess 
of £13.2m per annum leaving the local authority.. 

5.4.2 It is proposed that capital receipts generated as a result of Elmete Central BESD 
SILC, KS3 PRU Burley Park Centre and Meanwood Centre being declared surplus to 
requirements are to be used to fund the capital development costs.  This proposal 
was supported by Asset Management Board at the meeting held on 7th July 2016.  
Valuations of these three properties are being sought.  Dispensation has been 
requested from the Secretary of State to remove the eight year holding period 
attributable to the sale of void former school land on the proviso the funding accrued 
is used to fund the SEMH programme and school places created as a consequence.

5.4.3 A capital injection of £15m funded from the Basic Need Grant has been identified 
based on the creation of 100 additional school places created by the SEMH 
programme. These schemes create SEMH provision for young people that are 
currently in mainstream provision that should, more appropriately, be accommodated 
in specialist provision thereby freeing up an additional 100 places in other schools. 
The balance of funding will come from departmental prudential borrowing 
(£16,469.2m)to reflect borrowing funded from the full year annual savings in transport 
costs and LCC borrowing (£13,530.8m) to reflect the balance of corporate funding in 
lieu of the any potential dispensation from the DfE to increase borrowing costs 
funded from DSG.  

5.4.4 Discussions have been held with the Department for Education on potential capital 
injection into the SEMH programme, at present this supporting funding is not 
forthcoming. In addition, we are in consultation with the DfE to seek a dispensation 
from some of the provisions of the School and Early Years Finance (England) 
Regulations 2014 to allow debt charges to be funded from the High Needs Block 
from the revenue savings that accrue to the High Needs Block in respect of savings 
in placements costs and cost avoidance.

5.4.5 The estimated programme cost is £45m, exclusive of a risk allocation from the Basic 
Need capital risk fund, access to which is subject to the delegated approval process 

Page 39



Page 16 of 20

detailed within this report.  This is comprised of a construction envelope of £40m 
(including all associated design fees), LLEP management fees of £1.9m (including 
feasibility design costs), off-site highways budget of £750k and £2.3m for all other 
project related costs including furniture and equipment.

5.4.6 The three school developments have been treated as one holistic programme, which 
has been setup to maximise efficiency and achieve significant economies of scale to 
deliver the most cost effective solution possible.  Substantial savings in design fees 
have already been achieved as a consequence of this concurrent development 
programme led approach.  A quantifiable example of this is the reduction in design 
fees across the programme, savings of £140,818 were achieved during feasibility by 
undertaking the three work studies as one package rather than as totally independent 
schemes.  It is anticipated that this programme led approach will lead to greater 
efficiency during the construction phase and procurement of materials and labour 
leading to significant economies of scale.

5.4.7 The cost will be met through capital scheme number 32457/000/000 as part of the 
SEMH Programme.

5.4.8 The works detailed within this report have been procured under the Strategic 
Partnering Agreement between the LLEP and Leeds City Council.  The associated 
corporate procurement rules apply to this process and have been adhered to.  The 
exclusive supplier arrangements, detailed under CPR 3.1.5, have been invoked in 
this instance.

5.4.9 As detailed within the LLEP’s ‘new project process’ (NPP) mechanism the client, 
Children’s Services, reserves the right to terminate or reject the NPP end stage 
report if the scheme is deemed holistically to exceed the affordability criteria defined 
at the outset of the programme, inclusive of fees and other costs.  To provide further 
assurance over ‘value for money’ independent consultants have been appointed to 
assess the work produced and comment on its adherence to market factors and 
required technical parameters.  Furthermore, market testing and benchmarking of 
costs is to be built into the second ‘NPP’ end stage report to ensure the Local 
Authority has confidence in the figures provided prior to going into formal contract in 
November 2016.

5.4.10 Formal market testing of the programme is due in the next phase of works, as noted 
above the construction envelope of £40m will not be exceeded and value engineering 
will be undertaken in the event of these tolerances being exceeded prior to going into 
formal contract.  All costs and technical proposals submitted to the client for approval 
are subject to independent analysis via the appointed third party technical advisors.  
Their input and advice has been available throughout the design process to check 
and challenge the information provided by the LLEP and ICL.  Similar to the 
approach on the ‘Building Schools for the Future’ and Primary Capital Programmes 
ICL will be undertaking mini-tendering exercises on key work packages to ensure 
adherence to value for money requirements.  This will be an open exercise with full 
transparency to both the City Council and it’s technical advisors.

5.5 Capital Funding & Cash Flow

Page 40



Page 17 of 20

Funding Approval : Capital Section Reference Number :-
Previous total Authority TOTAL TO MARCH
to Spend on this scheme 2016 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020 on

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
LAND (1) 0.0
CONSTRUCTION (3) 0.0
FURN & EQPT (5) 0.0
DESIGN FEES (6) 0.0
OTHER COSTS (7) 0.0
TOTALS 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Authority to Spend TOTAL TO MARCH
required for this Approval 2016 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020 on

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
LAND (1)
CONSTRUCTION (3) 38,681.2 0.0 10,479.4 26,758.1 1,443.7
FURN & EQPT (5) 750.0 0.0 0.0 650.0 100.0
DESIGN FEES (6) 207.3 7.3 100.0 80.0 20.0
OTHER COSTS (7) 5,361.5 1,311.5 1,374.8 2,614.8 60.4
TOTALS 45,000.0 1,318.8 11,954.2 30,102.9 1,624.1 0.0 0.0

Total overall Funding TOTAL TO MARCH
(As per latest Capital 2016 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020 on
Programme) £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
LCC Borrow ing  13,530.8 1,318.8 0.0 12,212.0
Basic Need Grant 15,000.0 0.0 11,954.2 1,421.7 1,624.1
Departmental Borrow ing 16,469.2 0.0 16,469.2
Total Funding 45,000.0 1,318.8 11,954.2 30,102.9 1,624.1 0.0 0.0

Balance / Shortfall = 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

FORECAST

FORECAST

FORECAST

Scheme 32457

Parent Scheme Number: 32457/000/000

Title: SEMH Programme

5.6     Revenue Effects

Revenue Effects

5.6.1 Annual revenue savings of over £3.2M pa will be achieved, with the proposals also 
meeting future demand requirements within the city for specialist SEMH placements.

5.6.2 The annual revenue savings comprise savings from reduced transport and 
placements costs. It is estimated that transport cost savings of £0.8m pa will be 
achieved which will fund £16,469.2k of capital investment, identified in the Capital 
Funding and Cash Flow table as Departmental Borrowing.

5.6.3 Placement costs are funded from the High Needs Block of the Dedicate School 
Grant. The School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations 2014 state that 
prudential borrowing costs within the Schools Budget should not exceed amounts 
previously determined under the 2013 Regulations. Dispensation has been 
requested from the Department of Education to increase prudential borrowing costs. 
In lieu of this dispensation the balance of capital investment is underwritten by LCC 
Borrowing.

5.7       Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call-In

Page 41



Page 18 of 20

5.7.1 The approval of this report constitutes a ‘Key Decision’ and as such will be subject to 
‘Call-In’.

5.7.2 To ensure appropriate transparency and scrutiny, it is proposed that the delegated 
decisions made by officers as a consequence of this report will be subject to the 
normal constitutional rules on decisions.  This will mean that decisions will be subject 
to call in as usual at their design and cost stage and where funding from the Basic 
Need capital risk fund is proposed in excess of £250k they will be key decisions and 
subject to call-in.

5.7.3 The effect of the approvals in this report are to approve the funding envelope across 
the whole of the SEMH programme detailed in this report including the use of the 
Basic Need capital risk fund to allow variations on reports as required under Financial 
Procedure Rules (FPR) and that no further FPR approvals are required which are not 
already delegated to officers including Funding and Chief Officer approvals.  

5.7.4 The works detailed within this report have been procured under the Strategic 
Partnering Agreement between the LLEP and Leeds City Council.  The associated 
corporate procurement rules apply to this process and have been adhered to.  The 
exclusive supplier arrangements, detailed under CPR 3.1.5, have been invoked in 
this instance.

5.7.5 There are no other legal implications or access information issues arising from this 
report.

5.8       Risk Management

5.8.1 Risk is to be managed through the application of ‘best practice’ project management 
tools and techniques via the City Council’s ‘PM Lite’ risk methodology.  Experienced 
Project Management resource has been allocated from within the Built Environment 
Team.  The budget envelope does not allow for any support from the City Council’s 
Projects, Programmes & Procurement Unit (PPPU) for project management services.

5.8.2 Support on legal and contractual matters is to be provided by PPPU, funding for this 
element has been allowed for within the programme budget.

5.8.3 Further support on risk is to be provided by the independent technical advisors who 
will review the financial documentation, technical specification and advise on any 
necessary value engineering.

5.8.4 A risk log has been developed for the scheme and is being modified to include all the 
risks for the project and the relevant owner of the risk, whether it be the contractor or 
Leeds City Council. This log will be maintained and updated throughout the project 
and escalation of any risks that sit outside of the agreed tolerances will be via the 
Children’s Services Built Environment Programme Manager.

6 Conclusions

6.1 There is a strong legal, moral and economic case for change in Leeds’ provision for 
complex children and young people with social, emotional and mental health needs. 
The priority given to the issue of SEMH by both the local authority and NHS partners 
and the new approach will be better for children, better for families and reduce costs 

Page 42



Page 19 of 20

for the Council over time. In addition, the development of the new, world class, 
provision for children with SEMH needs will be an investment in a strong foundation 
for wider change in developing joined up, holistic support across the city for children 
and young people with emotional and mental health needs.

6.2 Working with our appointed design and delivery partners along with the Wellspring 
Academy Trust, Children’s Services have developed robust and innovative proposals 
that respond to the mandate of providing world class facilities for children and young 
people with social, emotional and mental health issues within the city.  Every aspect 
of the design proposals has been considered in direct response to the particular 
needs of the SEMH spectrum and have been designed from the ground up to provide 
an innovative, inspirational and bespoke environment for children and young people 
attending these schools. The proposals detailed within this report will provide 
specialist facilities and also cater for a rising population within the City.

6.3 The SEMH programme will be managed by Children’s Services in conjunction with 
the Leeds Local Education Partnership and their preferred delivery partner Interserve 
Construction Limited.

6.4 The development of the SEMH construction programme has been developed  
through extensive and continual consultation with a broad cross section of 
stakeholders and.

6.5 The cost of the works detailed within section 3 will be met through capital scheme 
32457/000/000 within the budget envelope of £45m. Procedures are in place to 
provide robust check and challenge around the budget and construction costs. 

7 Recommendations

7.1 The Executive Board is requested to:

 Endorse the case for change to SEMH provision
 Approve the injection of £16,469.2k of Departmental Borrowing into the 

Capital Programme
 Approve the injection of £12,212k of LCC Borrowing into the Capital 

Programme. 
 Executive Board is requested to agree the principle of ring-fencing capital 

receipts from the sale of Elmete BESD SILC, Burley Park PRU and the 
Meanwood Centre subject to dispensation being granted by DfE for the use 
of any such receipts

 Approve Authority To Spend £45m – subject to individual Design and Cost 
Reports being brought forward at appropriate design freeze stage for 
approval by Learning Places Programme Board

 Note that the Deputy Director for Children’s Services is responsible for 
oversight of this programme.

8 Background Documents1

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s 

Page 43



Page 20 of 20

8.1 None

website, unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents 
does not include published works.

Page 44



Report of Director of Children’s Services

Report to Executive Board

Date: 27 July 2016

Subject: Outcome of consultation to increase learning places at Beecroft Primary 
School

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Kirkstall
Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

 This report contains details of a proposal brought forward to meet the local 
authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. The changes that are 
proposed form prescribed alterations under the Education and Inspections Act 
2006. The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013 and accompanying statutory guidance set out the 
process which must be followed when making such changes. The statutory 
process to make these changes varies according the nature of the change and 
status of the school and the process followed in respect of these proposals is 
detailed in this report. The decision maker in these cases remains the local 
authority.

 A stakeholder event was held in March 2015 to discuss the options for increasing 
school places in Kirkstall / Burley / Hawksworth. Following the event, an online 
discussion was carried out to include the wider community and allow for 
discussions to take place on the suggestions that had emerged from the 
stakeholder event. Following this online discussion and a more detailed review of 
the demographics and site viability, a preferred option emerged to expand Beecroft 
Primary School. A public consultation took place on this proposal from 18 January 
to 12 February 2016.

Report author:  Viv Buckland
Tel:  37 83588

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



Recommendations

Executive Board is asked to:

 Approve the publication of a Statutory Notice to permanently expand Beecroft Primary 
School from a capacity of 210 pupils to 315 pupils with an increase in the admission 
number from 30 to 45 with effect from September 2017.

 Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Head of Learning Systems.

Page 46



Purpose of this report

1.1 This report contains details of a proposal brought forward to meet the local 
authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. This report describes the 
outcome of consultation regarding proposals to expand primary school provision 
at Beecroft Primary School and seeks permission to publish a statutory notice in 
respect of this proposal.

2 Background information

2.1 A stakeholder consultation event using Outcomes Based Accountability 
methodology was held on 17 March 2015 to discuss options for increasing school 
places in the Kirkstall / Burley / Hawksworth area. Those invited included local 
head teachers, Ward Members, school governors, parent representatives, local 
authority officers and representatives from the diocesan education boards. Data 
about birth rates, housing, and parental preferences for schools was shared.

2.2 The event provided an opportunity to allow for discussion amongst small groups 
of stakeholders, and for options to be suggested. Although the focus was on 
primary provision, the event also provided the opportunity to discuss the need for 
Free Early Education places for eligible 2 and 3-4 year olds as well as specialist 
places for children with special educational needs.

2.3 Participants agreed that there was a need for an additional 1.5 forms of entry 
across the Kirkstall / Burley / Hawksworth areas and possible suggestions put 
forward at the event included:

 Use of the Burley Park Pupil Referral Unit for a school. 

 Utilise the site of the former West Park Centre for primary provision. 

 Consider the Becketts Park site for primary provision 

 Expand Beecroft Primary School to 2 forms of entry (60 places in reception) 

 Expand Kirkstall St. Stephen’s C o f E Primary School. 

2.4 Following the event, an online forum was established using WordPress, seeking 
views from any interested parties on all of these suggestions. A total of 11 
responses were received supporting a mixture of the options put forward. Taking 
into account the feedback received, local demographics as well as site availability 
and viability, a preferred option emerged to expand Beecroft Primary School by 
0.5FE (15 places in reception)

2.5 Consultation on the preferred option to permanently expand Beecroft Primary 
School took place from 18 January 2016 to 12 February 2016. This included use 

Page 47



of the WordPress on line forum and the Council’s Talking Point survey system. A 
number of drop-in sessions were held to discuss the proposals. The drop-in 
sessions were attended by parents, local residents and other stakeholders. 
Information was distributed widely, including through the school, Early Years 
providers, on websites and a banner was placed at the school to advertise the 
consultation. Leaflets were distributed to local residents. Meetings were held with 
the governors, staff and school council of Beecroft Primary School.

2.6 A potential solution to accommodate the remaining 1FE need was identified at 
Hawksworth Wood Primary School. Consultation regarding this proposal took 
place during March 2016 and a paper has been submitted to the Executive Board 
stating the outcomes of that consultation.

3 Main issues

3.1 The main reasons for not considering some of the suggestions brought forward at 
the Stakeholder event are as follows:

 Use of the Burley Park Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) for a school. 
Burley Park PRU is currently fully occupied and there are no plans to relocate 
the service. This is not in an area of high demographic pressure.

 Utilise the site of the former West Park Centre for primary provision. 
All the available data has been analysed and it has been ascertained that a 
school on the former West Park Centre site would not solve the shortage issues 
in the Kirkstall area. 

 Consider the Becketts Park site for primary provision.
North Leeds Community Nursery and Leeds City College currently occupy this 
site and there are no plans to relocate these services. This is not in an area of 
high demographic pressure.

 Expand Beecroft Primary School to 2 forms of entry (60 places in reception) 
There is not enough space on site to accommodate 2FE.

 Expand Kirkstall St. Stephen’s C o f E Primary School. 
The site could not accommodate an expansion and Highways would have 
serious concerns about adding any extra capacity to this site.

3.2 The expansion of Beecroft Primary School has been brought forward as it is 
located in an area of high demographic need and is a popular school with parents, 
being oversubscribed for several years. The most recent Ofsted report rated the 
school as ‘Outstanding’ in 2010. 

3.3 During the consultation period there were 86 responses received in total, this 
included 11 submitted through Talking Point, 14 from the School Council, 6 by 
email and 55 on a response form. In total there were 67 responses in support of 

Page 48



the proposal and 19 responses opposing it. A summary of the issues raised 
follows and a copy of the responses received can be requested from the 
Sufficiency & Participation Team at educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk.

3.4 The Governing Body of Beecroft Primary School has given its full support to the 
proposal.

3.5 Within the 67 responses in favour of this proposal, comments were made about 
the need for extra places in the area to allow local children to secure a place at a 
local school. Several comments received referred to the additional ‘bulge’ cohorts 
the school had taken over the years, stating that some of these children who were 
local to Beecroft Primary may have had to travel out of the area to secure a 
school place had the school not taken over its published admission number. 
There were also many comments about the high standards at the school and it 
would be a good idea to expand a ‘superb’ school.

3.6 The concerns raised by respondents are listed as follows:

3.6.1 Concern: The school is not big enough to accommodate the extra children, 
including concerns about the size of the hall, cloakroom areas and the number of 
classrooms. 
Response: The proposed building work would deliver three additional classrooms 
within the existing building footprint of the school.  This would be achieved by 
extending the existing first storey accommodation (off the newly created library) 
and some internal remodelling to the ground floor.  When the proposed building 
work is complete, the new library space would continue to function as intended. 
The existing cloakroom provision would be remodelled as required within the 
proposed building works to support adjacent classrooms. Current Building Bulletin 
guidelines indicate the existing hall is oversized for a 1.5FE primary school, the 
proposed building work would meet the guidance in this respect.

3.6.2 Concern: If you make the school bigger the character of school will be negatively 
affected.
Response: The headteacher and governing body are very keen to retain the 
character of the school and are confident that they would manage any changes 
successfully, as they have done so for the past few years when they have 
accommodated extra children. 
Research indicates that size is not the determining factor with regard to those 
schools which are successful, but that the quality of teaching and learning and the 
quality of leadership and management are the key drivers for success. Beecroft 
Primary School benefits from both of these. There is no evidence to suggest that 
the expansion would have a negative impact upon the education of the pupils.

3.6.3 Concern: If expanding onto the first floor the school would have to include a lift to 
comply with disability requirements.

Page 49

mailto:educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk


Response: The school currently has level access through to the upper floors and 
any works proposed to the building would not change that. Any new 
accommodation would meet DDA guidelines.

3.6.4 Concern: There is not enough play space to accommodate the extra children. 
Sacred Heart children would lose important playspace.
Response: An area of existing land within the boundary of Beecroft Primary 
School has been identified that could be developed to enable children to play on it 
throughout the year. Members of the Parks and Countryside Team have visited 
the school and have advised that there are options available for development that 
could be assessed further if this proposal was approved. No play space would be 
lost from Sacred Heart Catholic Primary School if this proposal is approved.

3.6.5 Concern: There is already too much traffic around the school at drop off and pick 
up times. Parents park inconsiderately and dangerously causing problems for 
local residents and damage has already been caused to vehicles and grass 
verges. 
Response: Parking and traffic issues in and around the school would be 
assessed if this proposal goes ahead. Colleagues from our Built Environment and 
Highways Teams have already spoken to residents in the area (Eden Way, Eden 
Gardens, Argie Avenue and Sandford Road) and discussed possible solutions to 
these issues. Traffic surveys would be completed to enable Highways to establish 
a complete account of the highway use in the surrounding area. The school’s 
travel plan would also be reviewed.
The head teacher at Beecroft Primary School, Miss Turner, has arranged for 
parents to be able to park at the Millford Sports Club on the corner of Sandford 
Road and Beecroft Street for drop off and pick up times and walk up Sandford 
Road. Road Safety Officers have monitored this Park & Stride scheme and have 
advised that the school have worked hard to promote the scheme. They are also 
open to any new initiatives to help lower congestion and are very committed to 
promoting Safe Active travel and have been commended by the Road Safety 
Team in their efforts to make this scheme a success.
Highways officers have visited the site and are considering options to improve 
parking in the area. Due to the circumstance that two schools occupy this site, we 
would consider ways to improve on site staff parking for both schools. Discussions 
have already taken place with the Diocese to look at possible solutions by 
remodelling part of the current car park to increase the number of spaces 
available for staff, therefore removing the need for staff to park on the streets 
surrounding the school.

3.6.6 Concern: Expanding Beecroft Primary will have a negative impact on other 
neighbouring schools, especially Sacred Heart Catholic Primary School.
Response: There are a total of 180 primary school places in the Kirkstall / Burley 
/ Hawksworth planning area. The number of children due to start school in 

Page 50



September 2017 who live within this planning area is 224. This figure rises for 
subsequent years, confirming the need for an additional 1.5FE (45 places) to be 
established. Therefore, in addition to the proposal to expand Beecroft Primary 
School a consultation took place during March 2016 on a proposal to expand 
Hawksworth Wood Primary School from 1FE to 2FE from 2017. A report has been 
submitted to the Executive Board stating the outcomes of that consultation.

3.6.7 Concern: The school intends to pay for the building work, should this not be 
spent of the children.
Response: The project is intended to meet the local authority’s sufficiency duty 
and the build costs would therefore be met by the local authority. 

3.6.8 Concern: If the local authority decides to expand Beecroft Primary it is not without 
possibility that the Catholic diocese could ask for its building back.
Response: The Catholic Diocese has agreed to this expansion proposal and has 
recently been working closely with the local authority to alleviate some of the 
problems experienced with regard to power supply to both schools together with 
the issues around staff parking. 
There has been a lease agreement in place with the Diocese for many years, and 
the current lease runs until 2021.  If any alterations were to be made to this 
agreement then all parties would be involved in negotiating any changes.

3.6.9 Concern: Residents that live close to the school were not informed of the 
consultation.
Response: Letters regarding the consultation were sent to each parent/carer with 
a child at Beecroft Primary and to all the other schools in the area. Local residents 
were leafleted, but unfortunately due to an issue with our distributer, they were 
only delivered on 3 February. A banner advertising the consultation was attached 
to the school railings at the entrance by Sandford Road at the beginning of the 
consultation, so anyone using the path that links Kirkstall Road to Argie Avenue 
should have been able to see it. Unfortunately the banner was vandalised and 
had to be removed. The banner was subsequently replaced for the remainder of 
the consultation period. Everyone had the opportunity to respond to the 
consultation online through Leeds City Council’s website. A contact number was 
also available for anyone with any questions that could not attend a drop in 
sessions at the school. 

3.6.10 Concern: The school have already taken on extra children voluntarily, if the extra 
numbers are made permanent, what will stop them taking more children on a 
temporary basis. 
Response: Beecroft Primary School has taken a temporary cohort in reception of 
an extra 15 children since 2013. This amounts to 45 children in total. These 
children are currently working their way through the school. The site constraints 
mean that Beecroft Primary school could not take any more than 45 per year 

Page 51



group. If the school becomes a 1.5FE school then the maximum number of pupils 
in the school would be 315. The school could not accommodate any more than 
315 children in total due to the size of the site.

3.6.11 Concern: Previous building work has caused disruption to the onsite caretaker for 
Sacred Heart Catholic Primary School during the school holidays.
Response: We cannot comment on previous building work undertaken by the 
school as Leeds City Council was not involved with it. Any build projects we 
oversee would be carefully managed to ensure the health and safety of children at 
all times, therefore any works that are likely to be very noisy or disruptive would 
be carried out whilst pupils and staff are away. We would ask any contractors to 
be mindful of anyone on site during these times and try to keep disruption to a 
minimum.

3.6.12 Concern: You omitted to inform us that the Ofsted Grading of Outstanding 
Beecroft received was from 6 years ago, this means that full and transparent 
information was not included in the literature you shared with interested parties.
Response: The omission of the date of Beecroft’s last Ofsted report was in error, 
however, this is the last and most recent grading, and therefore the only one we 
could have entered into the document. In future, we will add the date of the Ofsted 
grading.

3.6.13 Concern: All public funds must be used to their best advantage and for the 
children they have been allocated to. Recently there have been several instances 
where the apportionment of costs between the schools has been to the detriment 
of the pupils.
Response: We cannot comment on school’s individual budgets, however the 
local authority’s Finance Team have stated that costs are based on pupil numbers 
and they would continue to work with both schools in the future to manage any 
financial concerns.

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The process in respect of this proposal has been managed in accordance with 
the relevant legislation and with local good practice.

4.1.2 Early consultation included a stakeholder event and on-line discussions through 
our WordPress site on the range of suggestions that emerged from the 
stakeholder event. The consultation on the preferred option included drop in 
sessions for parents/carers, residents and other stakeholders at Beecroft 
Primary School. 

Page 52



4.1.3 The drop-in sessions were information sharing sessions and also provided an 
opportunity for parents/carers, residents and other stakeholders to ask questions. 
Officers from Highways and Built Environment teams supported officers from 
Children’s Services at these sessions. 

4.1.4 Meetings were also held with the school council, staff and governing body of 
Beecroft Primary School. Other local schools were engaged in the stakeholder 
event and in the on-line consultation. Several conversations were held with the 
Head Teacher at Sacred Heart Catholic Primary School and the Catholic Diocese 
due to the shared nature of the site. 

4.1.5 Ward members were formally consulted during the public consultation stage, to 
both ensure awareness of all proposals city wide and to improve understanding of 
the impact of proposals in neighbouring areas. Local ward members have given 
their support to the proposal.

4.1.6 The consultation document for this proposal can be found at: 
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Currentschoolsconsultation.aspx or 
requested from the Sufficiency and Participation Team by emailing: 
educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 The EDCI form for Beecroft Primary School has been completed and is attached 
as an appendix to this report.

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The proposal is being brought forward to meet the Council’s statutory duty to 
ensure there are sufficient school places for all the children in Leeds. Providing 
places close to where children live allows improved accessibility to local and 
desirable school places, and thus reduces the risk of non-attendance. 

4.3.2 The proposal contributes to the council’s ambition for Leeds to be the Best City, 
including being a Child-Friendly City and to the Best Council Plan 2016/17 
outcome for everyone in Leeds to ‘do well at all levels of learning and have the 
skills they need for life’ through the creation of good quality, local school places. A 
good quality school place contributes to the achievement of targets within the 
Children and Young People’s Plan such as our obsession to ‘improve behaviour, 
attendance and achievement’. It is therefore important that when bringing any 
proposal forward, there is a degree of certainty that any change would not have a 
negative impact on the teaching and learning in the school. Beecroft Primary 
School was rated ‘Outstanding’ by Ofsted at its most recent inspection in 2010.

4.3.3 Further objectives of the Best Council Plan 2015-2020 are ‘supporting 
communities and tackling poverty’ and ‘building a child friendly city’. Choice and 

Page 53

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Currentschoolsconsultation.aspx
mailto:educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk


diversity for parents and families is promoted by responding to the needs of 
communities, by delivering additional school places in the areas where families 
need them. Meeting these expectations while demonstrating the five values 
underpinning all we do is fundamental to the Learning Places Programme.

4.4 Resources and value for money 

It is not possible at this stage to quantify an indicative budget for the proposed 
expansion of Beecroft Primary School. The project has progressed through early 
viability stages and formal detailed design would commence if Executive Board 
approve the publication of the statutory notice. However, early analysis of the 
proposed works estimates the scheme costs would not exceed £1million based on 
a desk-top exercise and utilising existing asset management data held, although 
this is subject to further surveys, structural calculations etc.  Planning applications 
and requests for Authority to Spend will follow at the appropriate time. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 The processes that have been and will be followed are in accordance with the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 as set out in the School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007, and 
amended by School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013.

4.5.2 This report is subject to call in.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 The proposal to increase primary provision in Kirkstall / Burley / Hawksworth has 
been brought forward in time to allow places to be delivered for 2017.

4.6.2 A decision not to proceed at this stage would mean fresh consultation on new 
proposals, and would mean places may not be delivered in time. There are limited 
options in this area for creating additional places and were the proposed scheme 
not to go ahead, the authority’s ability to meet its statutory duty for sufficiency of 
school places in the short term may be at risk.

4.6.3 There is a corporate risk associated with failing to provide sufficient school places 
in good quality buildings that meet the needs of local communities.

5 Conclusions

5.1 Our ambition is to be the best city in the country. As a vibrant and successful city 
we will attract new families to Leeds, and making sure that we have enough 
school places for the children is one of our top priorities. This proposal has been 

Page 54



brought forward to meet that need, and following the appropriate consultation we 
now seek to move them to the next stage. It would ensure that children in Leeds 
would have the best possible start to their learning, and so deliver our vision of a 
child friendly city.

5.2 The issues raised during consultation regarding the expansion of Beecroft Primary 
School have been considered, and on balance, the proposal remains strong and 
addresses the need for school places in the area.

5.3 The proposal has been supported during the public consultation, with the majority 
of respondents (67 out of 86) supporting it. This report demonstrates how the 
concerns raised may be addressed.

5.4 The additional places are required to ensure the authority meets its legal 
requirement to ensure sufficiency of primary provision for September 2017. There 
is evidence of local need for places and it is therefore recommended that the 
proposal be approved.

6 Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board is asked to approve the publication of a Statutory Notice to 
permanently expand Beecroft Primary School from a capacity of 210 pupils to 315 
pupils with an increase in the admission number from 30 to 45 with effect from 
September 2017.

6.2 Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Head of Learning Systems.

7 Background documents1 

7.1 None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   

   

1 

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Directorate: Children’s Services Service area: Sufficiency & Participation 
 

Lead person: Sue Bell 
 

Contact number: 0113 24 75793 

 

1. Title: Proposal to increase primary school places at Beecroft Primary School 
 

Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
If other, please specify 
The proposal is to expand primary places at Beecroft Primary School from a capacity 
of 210 to 315 pupils and permanently increase the admission number in Reception 
from 30 to 45 pupils with effect from September 2017. 
 

 

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 

The proposal is to expand primary places at Beecroft Primary School from a capacity 
of 210 to 315 pupils and permanently increase the admission number in Reception 
from 30 to 45 pupils with effect from September 2017. 
This will involve physically expanding the school. 

 
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 57



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   

   

2 

reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 

Questions Yes No 

Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 x 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

x  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 

 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 
harassment 

 Advancing equality of opportunity 

 Fostering good relations 

 x 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The proposal is to increase the number of primary places at Beecroft Primary School.  
Local demographics were analysed when considering school places in the area, along 
with parental preference trends and projections, and it was concluded that additional 
capacity is required.  The types of schools in the area were also considered, to ensure 
we adhere to our legal duty of offering parents choice and diversity. 
 
We consulted those affected on this proposal from 18 January 2016 to 12 February 2016, 
including parents and parents of pupils at local primary schools, governors and staff of 
the school, nearby schools, the diocese, Councillors, MPs and local residents.  
 
 

Page 58



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   

   

3 

 
To ensure maximum engagement with families we asked the school to promote the 
consultation on the proposals through their usual methods of communication such as the 
school website and newsletters.  Documents used during the consultation were available 
from the school and via links to the council’s webpage. These documents could be 
requested in different languages. Informal consultation drop in sessions took place which 
provided an opportunity for stakeholders to meet council officers, ask questions and to 
tell us what they thought of the proposal. These sessions were planned at school drop off 
and pick up times to ensure we were available to speak to people at convenient times.  
 
Stakeholders were able to give their views on the proposal by completing a consultation 
response form available either from the school offices, online or at the drop in sessions 
where assistance was offered if required. 
 
The majority of those who responded were in support of the expansion.  There were a 
total of 86 responses with 67 of the respondents supporting the expansion at Beecroft 
Primary School. 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
From the Equality Impact Assessment the Sufficiency and Participation Team found that 
this proposal would have a positive effect on some of the 6 categories listed below: 
• Age 
• Gender 
• Religion 
• Ethnicity 
• Disability 
• Sexual orientation 
 
Additional learning places create more opportunities for all pupils to be supported and to 
meet their needs at every age, whether they are male or female, and in every school. 
This proposal supports that aim and would not have an adverse impact on any child or 
young person who attends this school. The school ethos and accommodation would 
ensure that all children and young people who attend can take a full part in the school 
curriculum in an environment that supports their specific needs regardless of religion, 
ethnic background and nationality. The area around the school is a diverse, multi ethnic 
and multi faith community. Expansion of the existing school will result in more places 
being available for all students, ensuring children from BME and faith backgrounds will 
have an opportunity to access a school place. Children and young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities could access a school place if the provision can match 
their individual needs. Any new accommodation would meet DDA guidelines. 
 
Kirkstall is an area of high demographic need which is continually rising as families move 
into the area. During this academic year we have created additional temporary cohorts in 
local primary schools to accommodate the children needing a school place.  This 
proposal would ensure that additional primary places are created in the Kirkstall area for 

Page 59



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   

   

4 

primary aged children from September 2017 onwards. If the proposal is agreed, the 
school would grow from Reception upwards over a period of 7 years.  
 
The proposal would have a positive impact on promoting choice and diversity for local 
families who are applying for a school place. Beecroft Primary School was graded 
‘Outstanding’ by Ofsted in 2010 and is very popular with local families. An increase in the 
admission number would mean that more pupils would benefit from the high standard of 
education provided at the school. 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
If the proposal is taken forward, the extra primary places will be made available in 
Reception from September 2017. All parents/carers will therefore have the option of 
applying for these places or choosing alternative schools.  
 
During the consultation process, all views and responses are considered equally. If the 
proposal is approved, during the design process for new school accommodation, the 
plans would be shared with stakeholders and consulted on. Every effort would be made 
to communicate and consult with all equality protected characteristics regarding the new 
accommodation and the new admissions policy. 
 
Through the design process, any new accommodation to facilitate the expansion of the 
school would be compliant with the Equality Act 2010. This would ensure that the building 
is accessible to all users; students, staff and visitors. 
 

 
 

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

n/a 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

n/a 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

n/a 

 
 

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 

Name Job title Date 

Richard Amos 
 

Sufficiency & Participation 
Manager 

14 February 2016 

Date screening completed  
 

 

7. Publishing 

This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 

Page 60



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   

   

5 

has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing 
 
 
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening 
was sent: 

For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 61

mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Director of Children’s Services

Report to Executive Board

Date: 27th July 2016

Subject: Outcome of statutory notice to increase learning places at 
Low Road Primary School and Cottingley Primary Academy

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): City and Hunslet, Beeston and 
Holbeck

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. This report contains details of proposals brought forward to meet the Local 
Authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. The changes that are 
proposed form prescribed alterations under the Education and Inspections Act 
2006. The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013 and accompanying statutory guidance set out the 
process which must be followed when making such changes. The statutory process 
to make these changes varies according to the nature of the changes and the 
status of the schools. The process followed in respect of these proposals is detailed 
in this report. The decision maker in these cases remains the Local Authority.

2. Part A: Outcome of statutory notice to increase learning places at Low Road 
Primary School

Consultation on a proposal to expand Low Road Primary School from a capacity of 
140 pupils to 210 pupils by increasing the admission number from 20 to 30 with 
effect from September 2017 took place from 11 January to 5 February 2016. At its 
meeting on 20 April 2016 Executive Board gave permission for the local authority to 
publish a statutory notice in respect of the proposal and the statutory notice period 
commenced on 28 April 2016, concluding on 27 May 2016. This report gives details 
of the finalised proposal and seeks a final decision from Executive Board.

Report author:  Viv Buckland
Tel:  83588

Page 63

Agenda Item 8



3. Part B: Outcome of statutory notice to increase learning places at Cottingley 
Primary Academy

Consultation on a proposal to expand Cottingley Primary Academy from a capacity 
of 315 pupils to 420 pupils by increasing the admission number from 45 to 60 with 
effect from September 2017 took place from 11 January to 5 February 2016. At its 
meeting on 20 April 2016 Executive Board gave permission for the local authority to 
publish a statutory notice in respect of the proposals and the statutory notice period 
commenced on 28 April 2016, concluding on 27 May 2016. This report gives details 
of the finalised proposal and seeks a final decision from Executive Board.

Recommendations

Executive Board is asked to:

4. Approve the expansion of Low Road (Community) Primary School from a capacity 
of 140 pupils to 210 pupils with an increase in the admission number from 20 to 30 
with effect from September 2017.

5. Approve the expansion of Cottingley (Academy sponsor led) Primary Academy from 
a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils with an increase in the admission number 
from 45 to 60 with effect from September 2017.

6. Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Sufficiency and Participation 
Lead.

Page 64



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This report contains details of proposals brought forward to meet the local 
authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school places, and which support the 
achievement of the Best Council priority to improve educational achievement and 
close achievement gaps. This report is divided into two parts to describe the 
outcome of each of the statutory notices and seeks final decisions on each of 
these proposals.  

2 Background information

 Part A: Outcome of statutory notice to increase learning places at Low Road Primary 
School

2.1 Executive Board has considered the outcome of the consultation for the proposal 
and granted permission to publish a statutory notice, which was brought forward 
under the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and in accordance with the School 
Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) 
Regulations 2013. The notice was published on 28 April 2016 and expired on 27 
May 2016. A final decision on the proposal must be made within 2 months of the 
expiry of the notice, therefore by 27 July 2016. Executive Board is the decision 
maker for this proposal.   

2.2 The statutory notice was published in the Yorkshire Evening Post on 28 April 
2016. Copies of the statutory notice were displayed at each entrance to the school 
and around the school site. The full proposal was also posted on the Leeds City 
Council website. Stakeholders had the opportunity to make comments in writing, 
by letter or email.

Part B: Outcome of statutory notice to increase learning places at Cottingley Primary 
Academy

2.3 Executive Board has considered the outcome of the consultation for the proposal 
and granted permission to publish a statutory notice, which was brought forward 
under the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and in accordance with the School 
Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) 
Regulations 2013. The notice was published on 28 April 2016 and expired on 27 
May 2016. A final decision on the proposal must be made within 2 months of the 
expiry of the notice, therefore by 27July 2016. Executive Board is the decision 
maker for this proposal.   

2.4 The statutory notice was published in the Yorkshire Evening Post on 28 April 
2016. Copies of the statutory notices were displayed at each entrance to the 
school and around the school site. The full proposals were also posted on the 
Leeds City Council website. Stakeholders had the opportunity to make comments 
in writing, by letter or email.

3 Main issues

Part A: Outcome of statutory notice to increase learning places at Low Road Primary 
School

Page 65



3.1 During the consultation period there were twenty written responses received and 
one response submitted via Talking Point.  Twenty respondents supported the 
proposal to increase the number of school places and one respondent neither 
agreed nor disagreed with the proposal. There were no objections to proposal.  

3.2 A report was submitted to Executive Board in April 2016 which addressed all 
concerns raised during the consultation period.  

3.3 No representations were received during the statutory notice period. 

3.4 There is a particular pressure for school places across the Hunslet area. The 
expansion of Low Road Primary School would help ensure that there are sufficient 
good school places available for children to learn and gain the skills they need for 
life at a school close to where they live. 

3.5 The school’s governing body remain fully committed the planned expansion and 
no information has emerged to suggest the proposal should not proceed. 

Part B: Outcome of statutory notice to increase learning places at Cottingley Primary 
Academy

3.6 During the consultation period twenty four written responses were received and 
one response submitted via Talking Point. Twenty three respondents supported 
the proposal to increase the number of school places and two respondents 
objected to proposal.

3.7 A report was submitted to Executive Board in April 2016 which addressed all 
concerns raised during the consultation period.  

3.8 No representations were received during the statutory notice period.

3.9 The expansion of Cottingley Primary Academy is proposed as it is situated within 
an area of particularly high demographic need and can deliver the additional 
places required for children to learn and gain the skills they need for life at a 
school close to where they live.

3.10 The school’s governing body remain fully committed to the planned expansion 
and no information has emerged to suggest that the proposal should not proceed. 

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 Consultation with the communities impacted by these proposals was managed in 
accordance with all relevant legislation and local good practice. The notices were 
published in the Yorkshire Evening Post on 28 April 2016 and copies were placed 
at all of the school entrances. The full proposals were also placed on the Leeds 
City Council’s website and stakeholders had the opportunity to make comments in 
writing, by letter or email.

4.1.2 For each proposal, local ward members were formally consulted during the public 
consultation stage and were offered the opportunity to comment at the statutory 

Page 66



notice stage. Local ward members continue to give their support to each of the 
proposals.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 The EDCI screening forms have been completed and were attached as an 
appendix to the previous Executive Board reports. The EDCI forms are also 
attached as an appendix to this report.

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 These proposals are being brought forward to meet the Council’s statutory duty to 
ensure there are sufficient school for all the children in Leeds. Providing places 
close to where children live allows improved accessibility to local school places 
helping to support good levels of primary school attendance.

4.3.2 These proposals offer good value for money through their capacity to support the 
delivery of the desired ‘Best Council’ outcome to give everyone the chance to do 
well at every level of learning, gaining the skills they need for life. 

4.3.3 These proposals contribute to the city’s aspiration to be the Best Council, the best 
city in which to grow up and a Child Friendly City. The delivery of pupil places 
through the Learning Places Programme is one of the baseline entitlements of a 
Child Friendly City. By creating good quality local school places we can support 
the priority aim of improving educational achievement and closing achievement 
gaps. In turn, by providing young people with the skills they need for life, this 
proposal provides underlying support for the Council’s ambition to produce a 
strong economy by compassionate means. A good quality school place also 
contributes to the achievement of targets within the Children and Young People’s 
Plan such as our obsession to improve behaviour, attendance and achievement. It 
is, therefore, important that when bringing any proposal forward, there is a degree 
of certainty that any change would not have a negative impact on the teaching 
and learning in the school. Low Road Primary School was rated ‘Good’ by Ofsted 
at its most recent inspection. Although Cottingley Primary Academy was rated 
‘Requires Improvement’ at its most recent Ofsted inspection the LCC Learning 
Improvement team are supportive of this proposal and in the school’s most recent 
Ofsted monitoring inspection visit, which took place on 16th March 2015, the 
attending Ofsted inspector noted that the senior leaders, governors and the 
academy sponsor are taking effective action to tackle the areas requiring 
improvement.

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 An indicative budget for the proposed Low Road Primary School expansion 
project is estimated at £1.7 million based on a high-level calculation that considers 
the amount of new build, external/internal works and associated fees. An 
indicative budget for the Cottingley Primary Academy project is estimated at 
£750,000 based on the same criteria. Once the feasibility stage is complete for 
both projects, and they move towards the detailed design phase, the budgets will 
be realigned to reflect the design freeze or pre-tender estimates which will take 
account of site investigations and survey information.

Page 67



4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The processes that have been and will be followed are in accordance with the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 as set out in the School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007, and 
amended by School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013.

4.5.2 This report is subject to call in

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 The statutory time limit for final decisions on each of the proposals detailed in this 
report is 27 July 2016. These proposals to increase primary provision have been 
brought forward in time to allow for the necessary capital programmes so that 
places can be delivered in Hunslet and Beeston for the 2017 academic year. Any 
significant change to the proposals at this stage would preclude the delivery of 
places for these timescales and the authority’s ability to meet its statutory duty for 
sufficiency of school places in the short term may also be at risk.

4.6.2 A detailed risk register would be established and would be maintained for each of 
the projects, if approved. Any delay to the statutory process would increase the 
risk of delayed delivery of the building solution or financial risk of abortive fees 
being incurred. The authority’s ability to meet its statutory duty for sufficiency of 
school places in the short term may also be at risk.

4.6.3 There is a corporate risk associated with failing to provide sufficient school places 
in good quality buildings that meet the needs of local communities.

5 Conclusions

5.1 Our ambition is to be the best city in the country. As a vibrant and successful city 
we will attract new families to Leeds, and making sure that we have enough 
school places for the children is one of our top priorities. These proposals have 
been brought forward to meet that need, and following the appropriate 
consultation we now seek to move them to a final decision. They would ensure 
that children in Leeds would have the best possible start to their learning, and so 
deliver our vision of a Child Friendly City.

5.2 Consultation has shown majority support for the expansion of both Low Road 
Primary School and Cottingley Primary Academy, and all concerns and objections 
have been addressed in a previous Executive Board report. No objections were 
raised at the statutory notice stage and both proposals remain strong as they 
address the need for school places in the area.

5.3 The additional places are required to ensure the authority meets its legal 
requirement to ensure sufficiency of primary provision for September 2017. There 
is evidence of local need for places in both areas and it is, therefore, 
recommended that the proposals be approved.

Page 68



6 Recommendations

Executive Board is asked to:

6.1 Approve the proposed expansion of Low Road (Community) Primary School from 
a capacity of 140 pupils to 210 pupils with an increase in the admission number 
from 20 to 30 with effect from September 2017. 

6.2 Approve the proposed expansion Cottingley (Academy sponsor led) Primary 
Academy from a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils with an increase in the 
admission number from 45 to 60 with effect from September 2017. 

6.3 Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Sufficiency and Participation 
Lead.

7 Background documents1 

7.1 None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Children’s Services Service area: Sufficiency & Participation 

 
Lead person: Paul McGrath 
 

Contact number: 0113 24 78462 

 
1. Title: Cottingley Primary Academy 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
To expand Cottingley Primary Academy from a capacity of 315 to 420 pupils and 

increase the admission limit in Reception from 45 to 60 pupils from September 2017. 

 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
To expand Cottingley Primary Academy from a capacity of 315 to 420 pupils and 

increase the admission limit in Reception from 45 to 60 pupils from September 2017. 

 

This will involve a physical expansion of the school to accommodate the additional 

school places. 

 
 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 71



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

 
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 x 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

x  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 x 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The proposal is to increase the number of places at Cottingley Primary Academy. Local 

demographics were analysed when considering school places in the area, along with 

parental preference trends and projections. It was concluded that additional capacity is 

required.  The types of schools in the area were also considered, to ensure we adhere to 

our legal duty of offering parents choice and diversity. 

 

We consulted widely, including those directly affected by this proposal, from 11th January 

2016 to 5th February 2016. Those consulted included; Parents and carers of pupils at 

Cottingley Primary Academy and other local primary schools, local residents, governors 

and staff of the school, the diocese, Councillors, and MPs. We also publicised the 

consultation activity via local neighbourhood forums and communities committee groups. 

 

The majority of those who responded supported the expansion of the school. 

 
 
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
Age – a further 105 places will be created in the Beeston area for primary children from 

September 2017 onwards. If the proposal is agreed, the school will grow from Reception 

upwards over a period of 7 years. 

 

Disability – any new accommodation will be in line with current DDA guidelines. 

Page 73



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

 

Choice and Diversity- the proposals would have a positive impact on promoting choice 

and diversity for local parents.  

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
If the proposal is taken forward, the extra places will be made available in reception from 

September 2017, more parents will therefore have the option of applying for these places 

or choosing alternative schools. 

 

During the consultation period, all views and responses were considered equally. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Richard Amos 
 

Sufficiency & Participation 
Manager 

02 February 2016 

Date screening completed 01/02/2016 
 

 

Page 74



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

5

7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Children’s Services Service area: Sufficiency & Participation 

 
Lead person: Paul McGrath 
 

Contact number: 0113 24 78462 

 
1. Title: Low Road Primary School 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
To expand Low Road Primary School from a capacity of 140 to 210 pupils and 

increase the admission limit in Reception from 20 to 30 pupils from September 2017. 

 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
To expand Low Road Primary School from a capacity of 140 to 210 pupils and 

increase the admission limit in Reception from 20 to 30 pupils from September 2017. 

 

This will involve physically expanding the school to accommodate the additional 

pupils.  

 
 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 77



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

 
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 x 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

x  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 x 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The proposal is to increase the number of places at Low Road Primary School. Local 

demographics were analysed when considering school places in the area, along with 

parental preference trends, and projections, and it was concluded that additional capacity 

is required.  The types of schools in the area were also considered, to ensure we adhere 

to our legal duty of offering parents choice and diversity. 

 

We consulted widely, including those directly affected by this proposal, from 11th January 

2016 to 5th February 2016. Those consulted included; Parents and carers of pupils at 

Low Road Primary and other local primary schools, local residents, governors and staff of 

the school, the diocese, Councillors, and MPs. We also publicised the consultation 

activity via local neighbourhood forums and communities committee groups.  

 

The majority of respondents supported the proposed expansion plans. 

 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
Age – a further 70 places will be created in the Hunslet area for primary children from 

September 2017 onwards. If the proposal is agreed, the school will grow from Reception 

upwards over a period of 7 years. 

 

Disability – any new accommodation will be in line with current DDA guidelines. 

 

Choice and Diversity- the proposals would have a positive impact on promoting choice 

Page 79



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

and diversity for local parents.  

 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
If the proposal is taken forward, the extra places will be made available in reception from 
September 2017, more parents will therefore have the option of applying for these places 
or choosing alternative schools. 
 
During the consultation period, all views and responses were considered equally. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Richard Amos 
 

Sufficiency & Participation 
Manager 

02 February 2016 

Date screening completed 01/02/2016 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 

Page 80



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

5

making report:  
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 

Council. 
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 

and Significant Operational Decisions.  
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 

sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 
 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Director of Children’s Services

Report to Executive Board

Date: 27th July 2016

Subject: Outcome of consultation to increase learning places at 
Hunslet St Mary’s Church of England Primary School 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): City and Hunslet

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

This report contains details of a proposal brought forward to meet the Local Authority’s 
duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. The changes that are proposed form 
prescribed alterations under the Education and Inspections Act 2006. The School 
Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013 
and accompanying statutory guidance set out the process which must be followed when 
making such changes.  The statutory process to make these changes varies according to 
the nature of the change and the status of the school and the process followed in respect 
of the proposal is detailed in this report. The decision maker in these cases remains the 
Local Authority. 

Detailed analysis of available demographic data has been carried out to establish whether 
the existing amount of primary school provision in Hunslet is likely to meet expected future 
demand. This analysis has drawn attention to a need for additional school places and 
discussions have since followed with the following schools located within the area of need: 
St Mary’s C of E, Low Road, Hunslet Carr, and St Joseph’s Catholic Primary Schools. A 
preferred option to permanently expand Hunslet St Mary’s C of E Primary School was 
agreed through these discussions as a scheme able to adequately address the additional 
need for school places. Therefore, public consultation on a proposal to expand Hunslet St 
Mary’s School was conducted from 25th April until 20th May 2016.

Report author:  Viv Buckland
Tel:  83588

Page 83

Agenda Item 9



Recommendations

Executive Board is asked to:

1. Approve the publication of a Statutory Notice to expand Hunslet St Mary’s C of E 
Primary School from a capacity of 210 pupils to 315 pupils with an increase in the 
admission number from 30 to 45 with effect from September 2017.

2. Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Head of Service Learning 
Systems.

Page 84



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This report contains details of a proposal brought forward to meet the local 
authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school places, and which supports the 
achievement of the Best Council priorities to improve educational achievement 
and close achievement gaps. The report seeks permission to publish a statutory 
notice in respect of this proposal.   

2 Background information

2.1 The available demographic data has identified a need for additional school places 
in the Hunslet area to meet demand from families living locally. This is due to a 
continuous rise in the number of 0-5 year olds residing in this area of Leeds; the 
interaction with schools across the Hunslet, Belle Isle and Holbeck planning 
areas; and an extensive programme of house building both planned and already 
underway in the Hunslet area. There is a particular pressure for places in the area 
where Hunslet St Mary’s C of E Primary School is situated. Schools across the 
Hunslet area are full and unable to accommodate any additional demand.

2.2 A scheme to expand Hunslet St Mary’s C of E Primary School from 30 places up 
to 45 places in reception from September 2017 can be achieved within the 
school’s existing boundary; however, although not a prerequisite for the 
expansion to proceed, the proposal also broadens its scope to include a possible 
change in status of an area of public open space, adjacent to the school. This 
would improve the schools current safeguarding arrangements and provide 
additional outdoor play space. A separate but related consultation process will be 
undertaken in regard to any proposed change of use of this public open space.  

2.3 The governing body at Hunslet St Mary’s C of E Primary School have recognised 
that there is increased demand for school places locally and are supportive of 
plans to expand the school to help address this sufficiency issue.

2.4 There is potential to increase some childcare provision (Breakfast and after school 
clubs) at Hunslet St Mary’s C of E Primary School to assist in meeting additional 
demand identified by Early Years officers. The possible expansion of these 
services is supported by the school’s leadership and any required changes will be 
demand led.

2.5 Consultation on this option took place from 25th April to 20th May 2016. This 
included use of the WordPress online forum and three drop in sessions. The drop 
in sessions offered an opportunity to discuss the proposal with Leeds City Council 
representatives and to complete a consultation response form. Drop-in sessions 
were attended by parents, local residents and other interested stakeholders. An 
online Talking Point survey was also available during the consultation period, 
offering another method by which to express support or raise objections to the 
proposal. Information regarding the consultation was distributed widely to parents, 
local residents and other interested parties by Hunslet St Mary’s School, through 
Early Years providers, via websites and social media, and by local community 
groups. A number of banners were also placed at the school site to advertise the 
consultation and leaflets advertising the consultation activity were distributed to 

Page 85



local residents. Consultation meetings were also held with the governors, staff 
and school council of Hunslet St Mary’s School.  

3 Main issues

3.1 The expansion of Hunslet St Mary’s C of E Primary School is proposed as it is a 
good school in an area of high demographic need.  The school has agreed to take 
a temporary additional cohort of fifteen children for 2016 to meet the growing need 
for primary school places in the area, and the school’s governing body and the 
diocese both fully support a proposal for permanent expansion from 2017.  

3.2 During the consultation period there were twenty five written responses received 
and one response submitted via Talking Point. Twenty four respondents 
supported the proposal to increase the number of school places, one respondent 
neither agreed nor disagreed with the proposal and one respondent disagreed 
with the proposal. A summary of comments made and any concerns raised 
follows. A copy of the responses received can be requested from the Sufficiency 
and Participation Team at educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk.

3.3 Those respondents in support of the proposal commented that providing more 
school places at St Mary’s would be helpful in an area where it is becoming more 
difficult to get into a school close to home. Others commented that change is good 
and a larger playground would be great for the pupils. Some respondents 
commented that smaller reception classes and split classes could be more 
beneficial for children’s learning. 

3.4  Concerns raised by respondents are listed as follows;

3.4.1 Concern: Concern raised that class sizes would be larger, impacting on teaching 
standards and negatively affecting the educational achievement of future pupils at 
the school. 

Response: The school would ensure that staffing increases in line with the 
increase in pupil numbers. This would ensure that the current ratio of one teacher 
to every thirty children is maintained - as prescribed by current class size 
legislation – and reception class sizes would actually become smaller than at 
present. The head teacher and governing body are keen to retain the ethos and 
existing high standards of the school and are confident that the proposed change 
can be successfully managed without detriment to the education of current and 
future pupils. Support could also be provided on request by the Learning 
Improvement Team at Leeds City Council to assist them in managing the process.

3.4.2 Concern: Concern that the decision to increase school places at St Mary’s 
School has been rushed through without sufficient consultation or consideration of 
all the possible options to address the need for school places in the area. 

3.4.3 Response: The consultation process has been carried out following Department 
for Education consultation principles and in line with all current legislation and 
guidance. 

Page 86

mailto:educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk


A full process of stakeholder engagement involving local schools, diocesan 
representatives, ward members, and local authority officers from Highways, 
Learning Improvement, Built Environment, Planning, and Sufficiency and 
Participation has taken place to identify and agree this proposal as one which best 
meets the identified need.  

3.4.4 Concern: Concern that space in the school will become crowded and facilities 
such as the hall, playground and car park would be unable to cope with more 
staff, parents and children. 

Response: New classrooms and facilities, i.e. toilets and cloakrooms, will be built 
to accommodate the extra classes of children. All internal facilities (classrooms, 
toilets, cloakrooms etc.) would need to conform to minimum building regulations 
and standards and, therefore, would be appropriately sized and fit for purpose. 
Externally, additional playground space will be provided and made available from 
September 2017, extra drop off/pick up entrances to the site could be created and 
additional car parking for staff would need to be constructed should the proposal 
go ahead. In addition, school staff would ensure that the operational running of 
the school is adapted to prevent issues such as overcrowding. This may be 
achieved by implementation of phased lunch and break times across year 
groups/key stages. If required, additional staffing resources would be provided by 
the school to ensure that adequate supervision of children during break times is 
maintained.

3.4.5 Concern: Concern that the proposal does not contain plans for new purpose built 
provision for children with special educational needs, and that this will reduce 
accessibility to some children who require additional support.

Response: Unfortunately, following assessment by the Built Environment team, 
the inclusion of any additional SEN provision within this proposal would not be 
possible due to the constrained nature of the site. The Sufficiency and 
Participation and Complex Needs teams work closely together in order to identify 
where a proposed expansion of a school could include new resourced SEN 
provision and it is hoped that future proposals in this area of Leeds may be able to 
include such an element. 

3.4.6 Concern: Concerned that existing green space will be lost if an extension block is 
constructed across a part of the school garden area.

Response: An accommodation solution has not yet been fully determined and a 
detailed design for the new building would need to be developed. Any 
accommodation requirements would be agreed in consultation with the school 
leadership team and governing body as part of the expansion process. If the 
proposal goes ahead, it has been shown to be possible to incorporate new 
playground space into early design plans which would help to offset any loss of 
school garden space. In addition, a separate consultation process to change the 
status of some public open space may result in the school having access to an 
increased amount of secure green space which could be used to replace any lost 
garden areas. The school also has existing use of a large area of public open 
green space for physical education and games activities. 

Page 87



4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The process in respect of all the proposals has been managed in accordance with 
the relevant legislation and with local good practice.  

4.1.2 The consultation carried out included a four week period of on-line consultation on 
the preferred option, supported by the use of the council’s Talking Point survey 
system. A number of drop in sessions for parents/carers, residents and other 
stakeholders also took place at Hunslet St Mary’s C of E Primary School.

4.1.3 The drop in sessions were information sharing events that provided an opportunity 
for parents/carers, residents and other stakeholders to ask questions. Officers 
from Highways supported officers from Children’s Services at these sessions.  
The drop in sessions were held at the beginning and end of the school day to talk 
to parents before and after they dropped off and picked up their children. A drop in 
was also held during the school’s parent’s consultation day. 

4.1.4 Information sharing ‘Q&A style’ meetings were also held with the school council, 
staff and governing body of the school.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 The EDCI screening form has been completed and is attached as an appendix to 
this Executive Board report. 

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 This proposal is being brought forward to meet the Council’s statutory duty to 
ensure there are sufficient school places for all children in Leeds. Providing places 
close to where children live allows improved accessibility to local school places, 
helping to support good levels of primary school attendance.

4.3.2 This proposal offers good value for money through its capacity to support 
achievement of the Best Council’ outcome to give everyone the chance to do well 
at every level of learning, gaining the skills they need for life. 

4.3.3 This proposal provides tangible support for the city’s aspiration to be the Best 
Council, the best city in which to grow up and a Child Friendly City. The delivery of 
pupil places through the Learning Places Programme is one of the baseline 
entitlements of a Child Friendly City and by creating good quality local places we 
also offer strong support towards achievement of the aim to improve educational 
achievement and the closure of achievement gaps. In turn, this proposal provides 
underlying support for the Council’s ambition to produce a strong economy by 
compassionate means. A good quality school place also contributes to the 
achievement of targets within the Children and Young People’s Plan, such as our 
obsession to improve behaviour, attendance and achievement. It is, therefore, 
important that when bringing any proposal forward, there is a degree of certainty 
that any change would not have a negative impact on the teaching and learning in 
the school. Hunslet St Mary’s C of E Primary School was rated ‘Good’ by Ofsted 
at its most recent inspection. 

Page 88



4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 An indicative budget for the proposed Hunslet St Mary’s C of E Primary School 
expansion project is estimated at £1.6 million based on a high-level calculation 
that considers the amount of new build, external/internal works and associated 
fees. Once the feasibility stage is complete and moves towards the detailed 
design phase, the budget will be realigned to reflect the design freeze or pre-
tender estimate which will take account of site investigations and survey 
information.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The processes that have been and will be followed are in accordance with the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 as set out in the School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007, and 
amended by School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013.

4.5.2 This report is subject to call in

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 The proposal to increase primary provision in the Hunslet area has been brought 
forward in time to allow places to be delivered for 2017.

4.6.2 A decision not to proceed at this stage would mean fresh consultation on new 
proposals, and would mean places may not be delivered in time. The authority’s 
ability to meet its statutory duty for sufficiency of school places in the short term 
may also be at risk.

4.6.3 There is a corporate risk associated with failing to provide sufficient school places 
in good quality buildings that meet the needs of local communities.

5 Conclusions

5.1 Our ambition is to be the best city in the country. As a vibrant and successful city 
we will attract new families to Leeds, and making sure that we have enough 
school places for all children is one of our top priorities. This proposal has been 
brought forward to meet that need and, following the appropriate consultation, we 
now seek to move to the Statutory Notice stage. This proposal would help to 
ensure that all children in Leeds have the best possible start to their learning, and 
to deliver our vision of Leeds as a Child Friendly City.

5.2 The majority of the responses received during the consultation period support the 
proposal for expansion of Hunslet St Mary’s C of E Primary School. Concerns 
raised during consultation have been considered, and on balance, the proposal 
remains strong and addresses the need for school places in the area.

5.3 The additional places are required for September 2017 to ensure the authority 
continues to meet its legal requirement to ensure sufficiency of primary provision. 

Page 89



There is evidence of local need for places in the area and it is, therefore, 
recommended that the proposal be approved.

6 Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board is asked to:

Approve the publication of a Statutory Notice to expand Hunslet St Mary’s C of E 
Primary School from a capacity of 210 pupils to 315 pupils with an increase in the 
admission number from 30 to 45 with effect from September 2017. 

Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Head of Service Learning 
Systems.

7 Background documents1 

7.1 None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 90



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Children’s Services Service area: Sufficiency & Participation 

 
Lead person: Paul McGrath 
 

Contact number: 0113 24 78462 

 
1. Title: Hunslet St Mary’s Church of England Primary School 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
To expand Hunslet St Mary’s Primary School from a capacity of 210 to 315 pupils 

and increase the admission limit in Reception from 30 to 45 pupils from September 

2017. 

 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
To expand Hunslet St Mary’s Primary School from a capacity of 210 to 315 pupils 

and increase the admission limit in Reception from 30 to 45 pupils from September 

2017. 

This will involve physically expanding the school to accommodate the additional 

pupils.  

 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 91



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

 
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 x 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

x  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 x 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 
 

 
 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 

Page 92



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

The proposal is to increase the number of places at St Mary’s C of E Primary School. 

Local demographics were analysed when considering school places in the area, along 

with parental preference trends, and projections, and it was concluded that additional 

capacity is required.  The types of schools in the area were also considered, to ensure 

we adhere to our legal duty of offering parents’ choice and diversity. To this end, two 

proposals have been brought forward to help meet the additional demand for school 

places from September 2017; 1) St Mary’s C of E Primary School and 2) a nearby 

community primary school (Low Road Primary School) 

 

We consulted widely, including those directly affected by this proposal, from 25th April 

2016 to 20th May 2016. Those consulted included: Parents and carers of pupils at 

Hunslet St Mary’s CoE Primary and other local primary schools; local residents; 

governors and staff of the school; the diocese; Councillors and MPs. We publicised the 

proposal details and consultation activity via the LCC and school websites, social media, 

a local leaflet drop, and neighbourhood forums and community committee groups.  

 

The large majority of respondents supported the proposed expansion plans. Concerns 

raised during consultation have been considered, and on balance, the proposal remains 

strong and addresses the need for school places in the area. 

 
 Key findings 

(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
Age – a further 105 places will be created in the Hunslet area for primary children from 

September 2017 onwards. If the proposal is agreed, the school will grow from Reception 

upwards over a number of years. 

 

Disability – any new accommodation will be in line with current DDA guidelines. 

 

Choice and Diversity- the proposals would have a positive impact on promoting choice 

and diversity for local parents.  

 
 

Page 93



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
If the proposal is taken forward, the extra places will be made available in reception from 

September 2017, more parents will therefore have the option of applying for these places 

or choosing alternative schools. 

 
During the consultation period, all views and responses were considered equally. 
 

 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Richard Amos 
 

Sufficiency & Participation 
Lead 

25/05/2016 

Date screening completed 25/05/2016 
 

 
 
 
 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Page 94



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

5

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



`````

1

Report of Director of Children’s Services

Report to Executive Board

Date: 27th July 2016

Subject: Regionalisation of Adoption 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

The purpose of this report is to provide information about the adoption reform 
proposals contained within the Education and Adoption Act 2016.  The government is 
clear that all local authorities will be part of a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) or will 
have delegated their adoption functions to a RAA by 2020. 

Leeds has been working in collaboration with other Local Authorities and Voluntary 
adoption agencies (VAA’s) throughout the Yorkshire and Humber region to create a 
new model of service delivery for adoption services in line with the government’s 
agenda.

This report sets out the plan to develop a hub and spoke model of delivering adoption 
services in the region. The intention is that the regional hub will fulfil some functions 
and there will be three spokes: West Yorkshire, South Yorkshire and North and 
Humber spokes who will deliver adopter recruitment, assessment and adoption 
support at a local level. The plan is that the five West Yorkshire Local Authorities will 
come together to form a West Yorkshire RAA, hosted by Leeds City Council. This 
report provides the up to date position on the plans for Leeds to transition to the new 
arrangements.

Report author:  Sarah Johal
Tel:  0113 2783623

Page 97

Agenda Item 10



`````

2

Recommendations

To ask the Executive Board to support and endorse the proposals towards 
progressing of the arrangements to establish a Regional Adoption Agency and  the 
creation of a West Yorkshire Adoption Agency.

To agree the proposition that Leeds City Council becomes the host authority for the 
agency.

To agree this subject to the satisfactory resolution of the following:

 The appointment of a joint committee with appropriate membership, terms of 
reference and rules of procedure; 

 The appointment of a management board including the West Yorkshire local 
authorities and third sector organisations through a partnership agreement; 

 Proposed delegation of functions from the Joint Committee to the lead officer 
within the West Yorkshire Adoption Agency with regard to the recruitment and 
assessment of adopters, adoption panels, family finding and adoption support;

 The transfer of staff from other Local Authorities into Leeds City Council;

 The establishment of a budget for the new agency and a funding formula to 
reflect each Local Authorities contribution to the regional agency budget;

 Establish the commissioning needs of the new agency and the ICT 
requirements;

 The creation of an organisational unit within Leeds City Council for the new 
West Yorkshire Adoption Agency. The lead officer for this will be the Director 
of Children’s services and the unit will sit within Children’s Services. 

 To agree that the Director of Children’s Services will continue to work with 
each of the participating authorities to progress these matters. 

Page 98



`````

3

1 Purpose of this report

The purpose of this report is to provide information about the adoption reform 
proposals contained within the Education and Adoption Act 2016.  The 
government is clear that all local authorities will be part of a Regional 
Adoption Agency (RAA) or will have delegated their adoption functions to a 
RAA by 2020. 

Leeds has been working in collaboration with other Local Authorities and 
Voluntary adoption agencies (VAA’s) throughout the Yorkshire and Humber 
region to create a new model of service delivery for adoption services in line 
with the government’s agenda. This report provides the up to date position on 
the plans for Leeds to transition to the new arrangements.

2 Background information

Nationally

2.1 In 2015 the government published “Regionalising Adoption”, a White Paper 
with the stated intention of improving the provision of adoption services 
through the establishment of regional adoption agencies. 

The key aims of this are: 

 To place more children in a more timely way

 To recruit more of the right families for the children waiting, preparing 
them consistently and well.

 To improve the range, accessibility and quality of adoption support

2.2 The issues that the government were seeking to address within the adoption 
reform are as follows:

2.3 Inefficiencies:

 The current system is fragmented with around 180 agencies, both 
Local Authority and Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAA), recruiting 
and matching adopters for 5000 children per year. The majority of 
agencies are operating at a very small scale and this hinders 
strategic planning and economies of scale.

2.4      Timeliness of placing children:

 Whilst there has been significant improvement in the performance of 
Local Authorities in placing children swiftly with adoptive families 
there is further progress that can be made. This is particularly the 
case with harder to place children, often older, within a sibling group 
or with a disability.

Page 99



`````

4

 2.5       Adopter recruitment:

 There has been improvement in both the number of adopters 
recruited and the timescales to achieve this. However, whilst the 
number of approved adopters nationally is now greater than the 
number of children waiting, many of these adopters are less willing to 
consider those children who are harder to place.

2.6      Adoption support:

 The help that is offered to families after adoption is the responsibility 
of Local Authorities. However, it is currently fragmented and 
characterised by a combination of in-house and spot purchased 
arrangements with often significant variations between local authority 
areas

Yorkshire and Humber Region

2.7   In view of the White Paper the Yorkshire and Humber region, with a strong 
history of working together as part of the Yorkshire and Humberside Adoption 
Consortium, submitted an expression of interest to the Department of 
Education (DfE) to be one of the pioneer projects in August 2015. 

2.8   This resulted in DfE funded project work throughout Yorkshire and Humber to 
look at developing a hub and spoke model of delivering adoption services in 
the region. The plan put forward and supported by the DfE is that there will 
be three Regional Adoption Agencies (RAA’s):- South Yorkshire, North and 
Humber and West Yorkshire as spokes who deliver adopter recruitment, 
assessment, family finding and adoption support at a local level. These 
spokes are connected by a Hub who will fulfil some functions on behalf of all 
the three Regional Adoption Agencies (RAA’s) across the Yorkshire and 
Humber region. The work that the hub will do on behalf of the three RAA’s is 
still work in progress but aims to add value and improve outcomes for 
children as well as providing value for money.

2.9    West Yorkshire

2.10   In West Yorkshire, Leeds, Bradford, Wakefield, Calderdale and Kirklees local 
authorities and the VAA’s have been working closely together to develop the 
West Yorkshire RAA as well as looking at the wider collaboration across the 
Yorkshire and Humber Region.

2.11    An options appraisal has been undertaken in West Yorkshire to determine 
the best model of delivery. It is envisaged that the new regional adoption 
agency will be hosted by a local authority, with a localised presence while 
maintaining a local service in Children’s Services offices across the across 
West Yorkshire area. There is a clear indication that local authorities support 
Leeds being the host of the West Yorkshire Adoption Agency.

Page 100



`````

5

3 Main issues

3.1   The Education and Adoption Act 2016 is clear about the regionalisation 
agenda and government is clear that all local authorities will be part of a 
Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) or will have delegated their adoption 
functions to a RAA by 2020.

3.2   The Yorkshire and Humberside consortium have been successful in 
becoming an early adopter of the regionalisation agenda and have secured 
financial support to assist with the transition to the new hub and spoke model 
across the region. This project is one of a small group of projects across the 
country that has been identified to have the most potential to demonstrate 
what a RAA could look like and is a demonstration project, which will share 
any learning and professional advice received on issues that may be 
common to other projects across the country.

3.3   The five local authorities in West Yorkshire have come together and are 
shaping the new model of delivery across the West Yorkshire area in 
collaboration with the VAA’s and adoptive parents. There is a clear 
transitional plan in place and the RAA will provide a centre of excellence for 
adoption practice. The plan is that the RAA will become operational by April 
2017 providing a high quality service for children and adoptive families.

3.4   This is a good opportunity to improve the current adoption system in relation 
to streamlining the recruitment and assessment of adopters; to improve the 
timely matching of children and adopters and the provision of adoption 
support services across the region.

3.5   The adoption functions to be delegated to the West Yorkshire RAA1 include 
adopter recruitment and assessment, adoption panels, family finding and 
adoption support. Each Local Authority will still retain the responsibility for 
decisions about the planning for children and the match with a family. In 
Leeds, this will remain the responsibility of the Chief Officer, Children’s Social 
Work Service. There is further scope to look at support for Special Guardians 
and other permanence and kinship arrangements to be considered as part of 
the RAA as the project develops.

3.6   There are opportunities for further funding across the RAA’s with the DFE 
putting £16 million into looking at innovation and redesigning practice in this 
area and to improve the skills of the workforce to support permanence 
decisions and provide high quality adoption support.

3.7 The new arrangements will be overseen by a Joint Committee of councillors 
representing the 5 local authorities, who have knowledge of and 
responsibility for Children’s Services. It is proposed that this will meet as a 
minimum of one meeting per year with others to be arranged at the chair’s 
discretion. This will enable flexibility in terms of number of meetings if 
Members feel more control is necessary in the early days but are happy to 

1 Firstly by each of the Local Authorities to the proposed Joint Committee, and then by the Joint 
Committee to the lead officer within the organisational unit.

Page 101



`````

6

exercise a lighter touch as the RAA becomes established. The Director will 
appoint a Head of Service for the RAA and the Joint committee will receive 
the reports of performance and progress from the Head of Service and the 
Chair of the Management Board.

3.8 The management and performance management oversight of the RAA will 
be undertaken by a management board comprising local authorities’ 
Directors of Children’s Services or their delegates with co-opted 
representation on board from the voluntary adoption alliance. They will be 
supported by 4 nominated representatives from the voluntary adoption 
alliance (Y&H) the adopters’ forum and the adoptees forum.  The 
management board will meet 2 monthly to review both RAA functioning and 
also the impact for West Yorkshire’s children, adopters and birth families.

3.9 The strategic direction of the RAA will be discussed and agreed by the Joint 
Committee following the advice of the Management Board. The Joint 
committee will provide support and challenge to the management board in 
exercising their corporate parenting role, regarding the functions delegated to 
the RAA. The strategy will set stretch targets with key performance 
indicators. The RAA will be required both to maintain the good performance 
in WY to date but also to evidence the added value that the RAA has brought 
to the outcomes for children, their adoptive families and the support for 
adoption in addition to evidencing value for money. 

Options considered

Adoption Agency

3.10 The first option is to maintain the status quo position and continuing with our 
present arrangements as an Adoption Agency. This has been ruled out as it 
does not meet the need to reduce the number of adoption agencies that the 
government requires. If Leeds does not implement this proposal it would be 
out of step with the Yorkshire and Humber Local Authorities and will miss the 
opportunity of the central Government development funding to develop an 
alternative model.

3.11 The second option is to create a regional adoption service. This would make 
better use of resources to find adopters and match children to families 
quickly. If the Council does not implement this in a collegiate way with 
regional authorities it is likely to be forced by Central government to do so 
with less control over the process, arrangements and service delivery.

Delivery Model

3.12 In considering a preferred delivery model the West Yorkshire project board 
undertook an options appraisal and considered four options:-

 A regional adoption agency named accordingly, led by a host West 
Yorkshire local authority; 

 A regional adoption agency, led by a local authority trading company; 
 A new regional voluntary adoption agency established by partnership  

arrangements; and

Page 102



`````

7

 A regional adoption agency led by an existing voluntary adoption 
agency within the West Yorkshire region undertaking the role in the 
areas of the 5 LA’s.

3.13 The outcome of the appraisal was that partners support the integration of the 
5 Local Authority adoption agencies into a single regional agency led by a 
host local authority. All local authorities and the VA alliance indicated the 
choice for Leeds City Council to host the agency. 

4         Leeds Corporate Considerations

4.1             Consultation and Engagement 

      4.1.1     There has been regional consultation with lead members for children across 
the region to keep them updated about progress and this has also taken 
place locally. Steps have also been taken to ensure that new elected 
members have been briefed and there will be more detailed and ongoing 
consultation as the project develops.

4.1.2 There have been regular discussions with staff in Leeds to keep them up to 
date on the progress of regionalisation. The trade unions have also been 
kept up to date on the progress of the plans to date.

      4.1.3 The transfer of the adoption function to the regional agency and staff from 
other Local Authorities to Leeds will require detailed HR processes to 
address TUPE, assimilation, due diligence etc. as well as formal consultation 
with the staff and trade unions in the coming months. 

4.1.3 Engagement of adopted young people, adoptive parents and birth families 
has being underway regarding this agenda, with adoptive parents on the 
project board to ensure that the service is developed to meet the needs of 
adoptive families as the RAA is being developed.

4.2   Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 An equality impact assessment will be completed as part of the consultation 
process.

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1  The adoption service contributes to the Best Council Plan outcome for 
everyone in Leeds to ‘be safe and feel safe’ with specific priorities for 2016-
17 to ‘keep people safe from harm’ and ‘support children to have the best 
start in life’.  In addition, the supporting Children and Young People’s Plan 
identifies Looked after Children as one of three priority ‘obsessions’. The 
adoption service is integral to our plan to safely and appropriately reduce the 
numbers of Children Looked After through ensuring all our children are 
placed in a permanent family outside the care system as soon as possible 
and developments to improve adoption services address this priority.

Page 103



`````

8

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1   Work is ongoing to determine a regional adoption budget with an agreed            
funding formula from each of the Local Authorities. In addition work is also ongoing 
looking at assessing financial risk within the partnership and risks & rewards will be 
looked at. At this stage it is not envisaged that there will be additional financial costs 
to the authority.

4.4.2 It is envisaged that significant practice improvement for children and adopters 
will be achieved, as well as the scope for economies of scale and cost efficiencies, 
through the establishment of a regional agency over time.

4.4.3 The adoption staff will be working in a number of locations across the West 
Yorkshire area. The main office base will be within Leeds

4.5         Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The new arrangements will be underpinned by a detailed Partnership 
Agreement, determining a regional adoption budget with an agreed funding 
formula from each of the LA’s. 

4.5.2 The Education and Adoption Act 2016 makes provision to have joint 
arrangements to carry out local authority adoption functions in England.

4.5.3  The Secretary of State has the power to direct one or more local authorities 
to make arrangements for any or all of their specified adoption functions to be 
carried out on their behalf by one of the local authorities named or by another 
adoption agency. The Secretary of State can either name which adoption 
agency should carry out these functions, or instruct the local authorities to 
determine who should carry out the functions.

4.5.4 This means the Government has the power to remove the adoption function 
from a local authority it considers failing within its adoption duties and to pass 
these responsibilities to another agency. 

4.3.5   This report is subject to Call In.

4.6       Risk Management

4.6.1 As the host local authority Leeds needs to ensure that the risks in taking this 
on are minimised through clear partnership agreements and robust 
governance and accountability arrangements to be put into place. 

4.6.2 There is a host working group, chaired by the Chief Officer in Children’s 
services ensuring that the full responsibilities of hosting the agency are met 
and any risks minimised. 

4.6.3 If Leeds does not implement this proposal this does not meet the 
governments expectation to reduce the number of adoption agencies and 
Leeds would be out of step with the Yorkshire and Humber Local Authorities 

Page 104



`````

9

and would also miss the opportunity of government funding to implement the 
agency.

5          Conclusions

5.1 Leeds has been working in collaboration with other Local Authorities and 
Voluntary adoption agencies (VAA’s) throughout the Yorkshire and Humber region to 
create a new model of service delivery for adoption services in line with the 
government’s agenda. There is an agreed approach to the future delivery of services 
on a regional and sub-regional level. This will improve services for children and 
adoptive families and deliver a more effective and cost efficient service, utilising 
government funding to manage the transition and improve the practice in this 
important area of work.

6 Recommendations

6.1   To ask the Executive Board to support and endorse the proposals towards 
progressing of the arrangements to establish a Regional Adoption Agency 
and  the creation of a West Yorkshire Adoption Agency.

6.2 To agree the proposition that Leeds City Council becomes the host authority 
for the agency.

6.3 To agree this subject to the satisfactory resolution of the following:

• The appointment of a joint committee with appropriate membership, 
terms of reference and rules of procedure; 

• The appointment of a management board including the West Yorkshire 
local authorities and third sector organisations through a partnership 
agreement; 

• Proposed delegation of functions from the Joint Committee to the lead 
officer within the West Yorkshire Adoption Agency with regard to the 
recruitment and assessment of adopters, adoption panels, family 
finding and adoption support;

• The transfer of staff from other Local Authorities into Leeds City 
Council;

• The establishment of a budget for the new agency and a funding 
formula to reflect each Local Authorities contribution to the regional 
agency budget;

• Establish the commissioning needs of the new agency and the ICT 
requirements;

• The creation of an organisational unit within Leeds City Council for the 
new West Yorkshire Adoption Agency. The lead officer for this will be 
the Director of Children’s Services and the unit will sit within Children’s 
Services. 

Page 105



`````

10

 To agree that the Director of Children’s Services will continue to work 
with the participating authorities in order to progress these matters.

7 Background documents2

7.1 None

2 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s 
website, unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents 
does not include published works.

Page 106



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process 
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for 
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest 
opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already 
been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Childrens Service area: Social work service 

 
Lead person:  Sarah Johal Contact number:  3783623 
 
1. Title: Regionalisation of adoption 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
 
Changes to the adoption service and delegating the recruitment and assessment, family 
finding and adoption support function to a regional agency hosted by Leeds. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

 x  

Page 107



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

2

the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 x 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

x  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

x  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

x  

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 x 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion 
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
Please provide specific details  for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
. 
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 

Page 108



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

3

characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
 
 
 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

September 2016 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

November 2016 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

Howard Lovelady 

 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Sarah Johal 
 

Head of Service Looked 
after children 

30th June 2016 

7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing 
 
Date screening completed  

 
Date sent to Equality Team 
 

 

Date published 
(To be completed by the Equality Team) 

 

 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Director of Environment and Housing

Report to Executive Board

Date: 27th July 2016

Subject: Empty Homes Strategy: Filling the Void 2016/19

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. Empty Homes are a wasted resource in the city. They deprive an individual or family of 
a place to live, and can blight communities affecting confidence and investment. Since 
the first Empty Homes Strategy in 2005 the Council and partners have successfully 
reduced the number of empty homes from 12,000 to 3,800 in 2016.  As part of the Core 
Planning Strategy it was agreed by the Planning Inspector that the city could contribute 
to its housing supply by reducing the number of empty homes.  A target of a net 
reduction of 2,000 from 2012 to 2017 was agreed and forms part of the five year 
supply. By May 2016 a net reduction of 2,083 had been achieved.  It is essential that 
the net reduction is maintained as part of the Core Strategy for the city going forward.

2. Empty homes are an integral part of the Housing Growth Breakthrough Project.  As 
well as providing homes, their renovation contributes to the construction economy in 
the city providing work for mainly small and medium sized business.  By working with 
the Community Led Housing sector, empty homes provide them with opportunities for 
training work for vulnerable individuals helping them back into employment as well as 
providing a roof over their heads. 

3. As part of the strategy a number of specific areas with high concentrations of empty 
homes have been the proactively targeted as part of the strategy of improving 
neighbourhoods by Private Sector Housing. This is funded via New Homes Bonus, 
subject to the funding being used to return 138 long term empty homes per annum. 
Currently the team is concentrating in Holbeck.  Given the scale of the issues and the 

Report author: Mark Ireland
Tel: 3786334

Page 111

Agenda Item 11



potential to contribute to the wider regeneration of the area, it is proposed that work 
continues for a further 3 years to support the ongoing improvements.

4. The Council has had a long association with the Community Led Housing sector in the 
city over the last 25 years. Recently the Government has provided significant financial 
support to the sector via its empty homes funding. This is very unlikely to be available 
in the future. To support the sector further, the use of right to buy receipts, and longer 
term leased properties are both options as part of the Empty Homes Strategy: Filling 
the Void 2016/9.

5. Significant investment has been made by the Council in addressing empty homes and 
it has been very successful in reducing the numbers despite the pressures on the 
public sector. There will always be empty homes as they are part of a thriving housing 
market. However it is essential that the existing successes are maintained as part of 
the provision of homes within the Core Planning Strategy and wherever possible empty 
home numbers reduced further.

Recommendations

6. The Executive Board are requested to approve the following:

The Private Sector Housing service to remain in Holbeck for a further 3 years to target 
the empty homes as part of a number of initiatives in the area.

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to request the Executive Board to approve a further 3 
years of activity by the Private Sector Housing service in Holbeck based on the 
return of empty homes back into occupation.

2 Background information

2.1 An empty property is not simply bricks and mortar but a potential home for an 
individual or family to live and enjoy their lives. Whilst there is a need for empty 
homes as part of a healthy functioning housing market, there are a number that 
without intervention would remain empty, blight communities and be a wasted 
resource when there is a housing need within the city. 

2.2 Empty homes within the city have been declining since the Council first started to 
record them in 2005. Since 2005, long term empty homes, those void for longer 
than six months, have reduced from 12,000 to 3,800 in March 2016. Since the 
introduction of the Empty Homes Strategy: Filling the Void 2012/5, 12,838 long 
term empty homes have been returned to occupation as a result of the direct 
intervention of the Council and partners. (New homes become empty each year, 
so the numbers the council helps return to occupation exceeds the net reduction 
in homes from year to year.)

2.3 The strategy adopts the approach of ‘if it is empty it is a potential home’.  To 
address the issues a number of initiatives have been introduced including the 
partnership with the Empty Homes Doctor and the Community Led Housing 
sector, empty home loans, 150% Council Tax after 2 years of being empty, robust 
enforcement, including compulsory purchase and the Private Sector Housing 

Page 112



service targeting empty homes on a proactive geographical basis supported by an 
increased investment by the Council in empty homes work.

2.4 The proactive area based targeting was based on returning empty homes 
generating new homes bonus to cover the additional investment. The model 
required the return of 138 long term empty homes per annum for the approach to 
be successful.

2.5 The success of the work undertaken by the Council was recognised by the 
Planning Inspector when a net reduction of 2,000 empty homes from April 2012 to 
March 2017 was agreed as part of the Core Planning Strategy.  By May 2016 a 
net reduction of 2,083 had been achieved as a result of the investment made in 
empty homes.

2.6 The work of the Council and partners has been held up as best practice and 
subject to a number of both national and international awards. Recently Canopy, 
who bring empty properties back into use with the help of volunteers, who are 
supported by the Council, have been award the World Habitat Award which is 
supported by the United Nations.

3 Main issues

3.1 All cities require an element of empty homes for a successful functioning housing 
market. There can never be a case when no empty homes exist. Problems occur, 
however, when homes stand empty for considerable periods.  The definition of a 
long term empty home is therefore one that has stood empty for more than six 
months. Clearly, even within this definition, it would be unrealistic to reduce this to 
zero but nevertheless it is desirable to get this number as low as possible.

3.2 Whilst the Council and partners have been successful in reducing the level of 
empty homes within the city, in order to maintain the existing reduction it is 
essential that the Council and partners continue the work to deal with the blight 
they cause and to provide affordable homes. Failure to do so may mean potential 
homes remain empty, increased numbers become void and the need for homes 
increases affecting the existing targets within the Core Planning Strategy.

3.3 The current strategy will continue with the approaches previously implemented. 
However as part of the ongoing development of the empty homes work the 
strategy includes additional initiatives.

3.4 Following the success of the initial buy back project under the Home and 
Communities Empty Homes Round 2, to purchase long term empty right to buy 
properties, a further £7m investment to return 100 properties has been agreed. 
This project will continue to target previous right to buy properties which are 
blighting council estates but will be extended to tackle empty homes in 
neighbourhoods where acquisition by the Council deals resolves problems, meets 
demand and constitutes value for money.

3.5 The Council has had a long partnership with the Community Led Housing Sector, 
working with LATCH, Canopy and GIPSIL to return empty homes. Whilst there 
has been considerable Government funding to support the sector in the last 

Page 113



Parliament, this is no longer available, significantly reducing the funds available to 
the sector. 

3.6 The sector will be able to apply for right to buy grant of up to 30% to support their 
work. They will have to meet the same criteria as other applicants for the funding, 
but it will help to continue to support the purchase and renovation of empty homes 
by the sector. Access to this funding supports the sector with bids for additional 
money, either grants or loans, as it gives confidence to others regarding 
sustainability and the viability of schemes. 

3.7 The Executive Board has already agreed in principle to long term leases at a low 
rent for LATCH. It is proposed to consider this option for other similar 
organisations. By providing long term leases, organisations will be more 
sustainable long term. Properties will remain in the Council’s ownership but the 
long term leases increase their asset base and ability to borrow based on a loan 
to value rate of around 65%. This will allow further investment to be brought into 
the city to support activity on empty homes.

3.8 The Council has invested £500k per annum into the Private Sector Housing 
service and Empty Homes Doctor to support the return of empty homes. (The 
Empty Homes Doctor is a social enterprise venture which provides advice to 
those who own empty property.)  The cost is funded from the New Homes Bonus 
based on returning at least 138 long term empty homes per annum. Last year the 
funding returned a total of 275 long term homes generated by these two 
initiatives. 

3.9 The Private Sector Housing service targets geographical areas of the city with a 
view to addressing poor housing conditions and returning empty homes back into 
occupation. This has targeted 3 areas across the city since its inception, the 
Nowells, Edinburghs and Recreations. The outcome of this invention has 
produced the following outcomes:

 Nowells, Burmantofts - In June 2013 there were 44 empty homes; currently 
there are just 4 remaining empty, all subject to ongoing action by the service.

 Edinburghs, Armley - In April 2014 there were 45 empty homes with now 
only 1 remaining empty home which is subject to the continued action by the 
service.

 Recreations, Holbeck - In April 2015 there were 70 empty properties; 50 
were back into use by June 2016 and work is ongoing in this area. 

3.10 In both the Nowell’s and Armley more empty homes were brought back into use 
than the original number found to be empty. This was due to homes becoming 
empty during the period the service was in each area. These new empty homes 
were also targeted by the Council to ensure that they did not become long term 
empty homes that blighted the neighbourhood

3.11 The Private Sector Housing service proactive targeting of empty homes in 
neighbourhoods is proposed to remain in the Recreations area of Holbeck for a 

Page 114



further 3 years to contribute to the regeneration of the wider locality. The Index of 
Multiple Deprivation shows the area to be the second most deprived in the city 
and 37th in the country. Whilst there has been considerable investment via the 
Beeston Hill and Holbeck and Little London Regeneration scheme, the area still 
has considerable poor stock. By remaining in the area it will contribute in 
addressing the poor housing conditions and empty homes and it will support a 
partnership approach to address issues of fuel poverty, social inclusion, financial 
inclusion, safety, health and improving the environment. This will link to the 
proposed regeneration plan for the area currently being devised, which will help 
connect this neighbourhood into the wider plans for growth in the South Bank. It is 
proposed to bring a separate report to a future meeting of the Executive Board 
setting out a broader vision.

3.12 The Empty Homes Doctor is a not for profit social enterprise that works in 
partnership with the Council to address empty homes. They are able to support 
empty home owners who wish to deal with their properties without the need for 
the Council to take more formal action. They can support owners with 
independent advice, help with the sale of their homes via auction or through 
Estate Agents, support with legal issues and develop partnerships to create 
opportunities to help owners. Being independent from the Council means they are 
able to operate without the same restrictions placed on a local authority and 
enhance the overall package of measure the Council can offer owners to bring 
their homes back into use.

3.13 By supporting and working in partnership with the Empty Homes Doctor, the 
Council is able to concentrate its resources to address those owners who would 
never deal with their empty homes without proactive enforcement, including the 
use of compulsory purchase powers. This partnership approach provides a 
comprehensive package of options which has enhanced the ways and number of 
empty homes that can be addressed and returned to occupation.

3.14 It is proposed that the approach continues in Holbeck for a further 3 years at a 
cost of £400k per annum and that the Empty Homes Doctor is supported for a 
further 3 years at a cost of £100k per annum. The cost can continue to be funded 
by returning at least 138 long term empty homes back into occupation per annum 
as per the current financial model.

4 Council Policies and Best Council Plan

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The Council has engaged with partners on the strategy and their ability to 
contribute to the delivery of empty homes. All partners have plans in place to 
continue the delivery of empty homes.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 An Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Assessment screening form for 
the Empty Homes Strategy has been completed.

Page 115



4.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The Empty Homes Strategy 2016/19 links to the Housing Growth break through 
project and the Council’s Core Planning Strategy.

4.3.2 Work on empty homes provides social value for the city by providing training 
opportunities via the Community Led Housing Sector, contributes to the economy 
of the city, especially small to medium sized companies, via the renovation of the 
stock; provides affordable homes and improves community confidence when 
blight is removed. A study by Canopy showed that for every pound invested in 
empty homes there was a five pound return in social capital.

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The Council has a dedicated Empty Homes and Loans Team within its Private 
Sector Housing Service in Housing Leeds. The team will continue to lead on 
behalf of the Council to implement the strategy and work in partnership with 
others to return empty homes back into occupation for individuals and families to 
enjoy.

4.4.2 The proactive targeting of empty homes and Empty Homes Doctor support grant 
is funded from New Homes Bonus at £500k per annum provided their combined 
activity returns 138 long term empty homes back into occupation. Results for 
2015/6 showed this funding returned 275 long term empty homes. 

4.4.3 Returning empty homes not only contributes to the New Homes Bonus received 
by the Council but also saves money by reducing the blight caused, the cost of 
the blight to neighbourhoods and the Council, increases the supply of homes and 
helps protect the green space of the city.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 The report is eligible for call in.

4.5.2 The reduction of empty homes forms part of the Core Planning Strategy which 
has previously been subject to challenge by the sector. Maintaining the existing 
level of empty homes and the work of the Council and partners is required as part 
of this strategy in the future.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 The Council has a robust strategy for addressing empty homes and history of 
delivery. This was accepted by the Planning Inspector when challenged as part of 
the approval of the current Core Planning Strategy.

4.6.2 Monthly monitoring of empty homes allows the Council to identify issues, target 
resources and address any emerging issues which may affect the levels of empty 
homes within the city.

Page 116



5 Conclusions

5.1 Empty homes are properties which should be made available to provide a home 
for a family or individual. Whilst empty homes are an essential part of a healthy 
housing market there are a significant number which would remain empty without 
the direct intervention of the Council.

5.2 The success of previous Empty Homes Strategies and the Council’s ability to 
deliver a net reduction of empty homes year on year was recognised by the 
Planning Inspector as part of the Core Planning Strategy. This strategy includes a 
net reduction target of 2,000 between 2012 and 2017. By May 2016 a net 
reduction of 2,083 had been achieved.

5.3 In order for the City to achieve the homes it needs in the future it is essential that 
work to address empty homes continues so as not to affect the existing Core 
Planning Strategy targets and affect the supply of homes in the city.

5.4 To support the strategy it is proposed to continue to support the proactive 
geographical targeting of empty homes and that this activity continues to operate 
in Holbeck, and to support the work of the Empty Homes Doctor for a further 3 
years, subject to the return of at least 138 empty homes per annum as per the 
current financial model.

6 Recommendations

6.1 The Executive Board are requested to approve the following:

 The Private Sector Housing Service to continue to target empty homes within 
Holbeck for a further 3 years.

7.         Background Documents 1

None 

  

  The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, unless they 
contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Environment and 
Neighbourhoods 

Service area: Housing Leeds 
 

Lead person: 
Mark Ireland 

Contact number: 0113 3786334 

 
1. Title:  
Empty Homes Strategy Filling the Void 2016/19 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
The Empty Homes Strategy: Filling the Void 2016/19 develops the Council’s 
work in addressing empty homes.  The Council has had a very successful 
strategy from 2012/15 which has allowed it to significantly reduce the number 
of empty homes and return over 12000 in that period. That strategy introduced 
loans and the Leeds Neighbourhood Approach, improved enforcement against 
owners, and as part of the Government’s empty homes programme a buy back 
project of 20 long term empty previous right to buy homes. 
 
The 2016/19 strategy builds on the previous strategy by looking at developing 
new initiatives to support the Community Led Housing Sector with longer 
leases and right to buy receipts as well as supporting owners via new loans 
and expanding our own buy back of empty homes programme to a 100 
properties as part of the HCA 2016/18 programme. 
 
The strategy links to the Council’s Housing Growth and Jobs for Young people 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

x   

Page 119



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

break through project and the Core Planning Strategy with the aim to reduce 
the number of empty homes by 2000 by March 2017 from April 2017. 
 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 x 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

x  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 

Page 120



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

20th June 2016 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

8th July 2016 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

Mark Ireland Service Manager 
Private Sector Housing 

Page 121



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Mark Ireland 
 

Service Manager – Private 
Sector Housing 

27/06/16 

Date screening completed  
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 122



Report of the Director of Environment and Housing

Report to Executive Board

Date:  27th July 2016

Subject: Working Together to Improve Domestic Waste and Recycling Practices

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

Leeds City Council has introduced significant changes and improvements to waste 
collection services and practices over recent years, in particular with the roll out of 
fortnightly kerbside recycling collections. As a result, the city has benefitted from increased 
kerbside recycling, with less waste therefore requiring treatment or disposal, which has in 
turn delivered significant financial savings.

Although it remains the Council’s aspiration to introduce additional kerbside services for 
food waste and glass, the ability to deliver on this expansion has been inhibited by the 
current financial pressures.

In recognition of this reality, the Executive Board therefore approved in November 2015 a 
strategy for ensuring continued increases in recycling through maximising existing 
recycling capacity and infrastructure. The Council undertook to support this with an 
effective programme of communications, community engagement, enforcement and 
service improvement, but noting that this would only succeed with the engagement of 
everyone in the city in the recycling agenda and through a significant behavioural change 
in this area.

Since this time, the Council has developed or implemented a range of initiatives or 
campaigns to support greater recycling participation. A further programme of 
communications and engagement is now planned, including a series of ‘invest to save’ 
campaigns focused on particular materials in order to maximise their separation for 
recycling by residents.

Report author: Helen Freeman/ 
Susan Upton
Tel: 2474041

Page 123

Agenda Item 12



 
In January 2014, Executive Board also formally adopted a range of waste collection 
policies aimed at clearly communicating the role and responsibilities of the Council and 
residents in managing domestic waste.

For a large proportion of the City’s residents, the recently introduced changes to kerbside 
collection services have entailed an increased frequency of recycling collections, and have 
required residents to contain and manage their waste and recycling between black and 
green wheeled bins on an alternating weekly cycle. These changes have also enabled 
black and green wheeled bins to be collected on the same day of collection, reducing 
previous confusion over collection days and contributing to a reduction in contact about 
missed collections or instances of bins being inadvertently left on streets pending 
collection.  

When residents contain their refuse properly, separate recyclables well and routinely 
present their bins at the kerbside and return them to their properties, this has a positive 
impact in a number of ways:

 Maintaining clean and tidy streets, since waste is properly contained; 
 Ensuring that pavements are clear of obstructions;
 Ensuring the separation of high quality recycling for collection; and 
 Providing an efficient collection service.

Although the vast majority of the city uses their waste and recycling services appropriately, 
the city needs all residents to take responsibility for their domestic waste and manage it 
well. Without this, there will continue to be a detrimental impact on some neighbourhoods, 
recycling performance will suffer and resources will be spent needlessly.

The principles guiding the approach to securing behaviour change are that, first and 
foremost, the Council will aim to educate residents so that they understand their role with 
regard to responsible waste management. In circumstances, however, where an 
educational approach has not been successful, the Council will take an incremental 
approach from targeted support through to formal enforcement action. Residents will be 
given several opportunities to change and thus avoid the possible sanctions and penalties.

It is anticipated that the need to undertake formal enforcement action will be the exception, 
and only where residents are choosing to disregard Council policy and persistently act 
unreasonably in a way which has a detrimental effect on others.

Recommendations

Executive Board is recommended to:

 Note the progress in delivering a programme of co-ordinated communications, 
marketing and engagement to provide the information, tools and services to support 
good waste and recycling habits;

 Agree to the targeted use of enforcement powers for persistent and unreasonable 
waste and recycling behaviours.

Page 124



1 Purpose of this report

The purpose of this report is to provide an update on progress in developing and 
implementing the strategy for communications and engagement in relation to waste 
and recycling. The report also provides an overview of where domestic waste 
practices and behaviours can result in a detrimental impact on local 
neighbourhoods, including where residents do not properly contain their refuse, do 
not use recycling bins properly and/or do not routinely put their bin out or bring it 
back in.  Finally the report sets out the principles to guide the approach to securing 
behaviour change, from education through to enforcement action.

2 Background information

2.1 Leeds City Council has introduced significant changes and improvements to waste 
collection services and practices over recent years, in particular with the roll out of 
fortnightly kerbside recycling services in most of the city. As a result, the City has 
benefitted from increased kerbside recycling, with less waste therefore requiring 
treatment or disposal, which has in turn delivered significant financial savings.

2.2 Although the Council’s aspiration is to introduce additional kerbside services and 
the capture of new recycling streams (in particular food waste and glass), the ability 
to deliver on this expansion has been inhibited by the current financial pressures 
and central government funding cuts, with other services across the Council 
currently needing to be prioritised.

2.3 In recognition of this reality, the Executive Board therefore approved in November 
2015 a strategy for ensuring continued increases in recycling through maximising 
existing recycling capacity and infrastructure. It is estimated that if the whole city 
recycled as well as the areas which perform best in the city, seven percentage 
points would be added to the recycling result. Not only would this be good for the 
environment but the costs of dealing with waste would reduce by £1.75m per 
annum. The Council undertook to support this with an effective programme of 
communications, community engagement, enforcement and service improvement, 
but noting that this would only succeed with the engagement of everyone in the city 
in the recycling agenda and through a significant behavioural change in this area.

Page 125



2.4 Since the November Executive Board, the Council has developed or 
implemented a range of initiatives or campaigns including the following:

 Delivery of a recycling awareness campaign focused on establishing basic 
city-wide knowledge before moving on to targeted campaigns (including 
whatgoeswhere.org.uk ‘one click’ web tool for recycling);

 Launch of ‘Leeds Bin App’ pilot, including accessible information on recycling 
services and notifications in advance of collections;

 Development and commencement of delivery of Housing Officer training to 
support improved recycling engagement amongst Council tenants;

 Design of ‘recycling champion’ training for Council tenants;
 Opening of Visitor Centre and commencement of tours at the Recycling and 

Energy Recovery Facility, including the first school visit in May 2016. The 
Council is leading these visits jointly with Veolia in order to communicate 
wider recycling and environmental messages;

 Ongoing delivery of schools programme to establish school ‘recycling 
champions’, and targeting schools in low recycling areas.

2.5 In January 2014, Executive Board formally adopted a range of waste collection 
policies aimed at clearly communicating the role and responsibilities of the Council 
and residents in managing domestic waste.

2.6 Every householder has a legal responsibility to manage their waste in accordance 
with the collection systems provided by the Council. For the vast majority of 
households, the Council provides wheeled bins for the collection and recycling of 
domestic waste. Using wheeled bins correctly protects the local environment by 
containing refuse effectively, assists in providing efficient collections and helps to 
maximise the amount of waste recycled. 

2.7 Since that time, the focus of the service has been to move to alternate weekly 
collections (AWC) for the majority of the city. With approximately 265,000 
households across Leeds now managing their waste and recycling between the 
alternating collection of black and green bins, there has been a beneficial impact on 
the overall recycling performance, with a 13% increase in the level of dry 
recyclables collected at the kerbside during 2015/16 over the previous year. 
Detailed communication preceded each phased introduction of this new service 
including information on how to use the black/ green bins, and days of collection. 
Having black and green wheeled bins collected on the same day of collection, has 
reduced previous confusion over collection days and contributed to a reduction in 
contact about missed collections or instances of bins being inadvertently left on 
streets pending collection.

2.8 Attention now needs to turn to a number of problematic domestic waste practices, 
as described in more detail below:

2.8.1   Side waste (rubbish left alongside a wheeled bin).
Usually as a result of not making full use of the green recycling bins, some residents
have more waste than their black bin will hold and therefore place the excess by the
bin in the expectation that it will be collected. This has a detrimental effect on the 
locality through creating litter, attracting vermin and making streets look untidy and 
messy. 

Page 126



2.8.2 Contaminated bins.
Residents put items into the wrong bin, causing the waste intended for recycling to 
be too contaminated for processing. Whilst this is sometimes a result of genuine 
confusion about what can be recycled, at other times green bins are being used as 
an additional black bin. Residents do not always remove the contaminants when 
requested and the bin can then simply remain full and abandoned on the street. The 
resident consequently finds they have insufficient capacity to store their waste, 
which is therefore presented as side waste, creating the set of issues covered in 2.4 
above.

The level of contamination in green bins has a financial impact both through having 
to send rejected material for further processing and the poorer quality of separate 
recyclate streams reducing market value.

2.8.3   Bins left on the street
After collection, the wheeled bin should be returned to within the boundaries of the 
premises and not left on the highway. Bins left on streets can look unsightly, can be 
vandalised or blown over, causing damage to vehicles, etc., or can be stolen for use 
elsewhere. When persistently left on the street, they create obstacles to be 
navigated by, for example, people with pushchairs and people in wheelchairs. 
People who are blind or partially sighted routinely cite bins on streets as a main 
obstacle to them using pavements safely.

2.8.4   Excessive numbers of wheelie bins   

Evidence suggests that there are a fairly significant number of properties with 
multiple bins for which they are not eligible. (An additional bin is available to 
households of greater than five, or with two or more children in nappies.) The 
provision of multiple black bins does not encourage waste minimisation and 
recycling and also provides a ready avenue for commercial waste to be presented 
as domestic waste, thus avoiding commercial collection charges. Executive Board 
have previously agreed the number of bins that households should have and, in 
November 2015, approved the removal of bins over and above that number. It is 
proposed that this policy now be vigorously applied. This has the potential to result 
in an increase in side waste and contaminated green bins unless complementary 
enforcement is introduced as proposed in this report.

2.8.5 Poor access 
There are occasions when waste and recycling collections cannot be made as 
access is obstructed, often as a result of poor or inconsiderate parking. Although 
attempts are made to return, this can result in delays to collection and bins being 
left on the street longer than necessary. The Council, in conjunction with its 
partners, may take action where there are repeated problems with access. This 
action may involve, although not exclusively, enforcing parking restrictions, 
changing collection days, changing collection points or consideration of new parking 
restrictions.

2.9 Although the vast majority of the city uses their waste and recycling services 
appropriately, the city needs all residents to take responsibility for their domestic 
waste and manage it well. If there is no improvement in this situation, there will 

Page 127



continue to be a detrimental impact on some neighbourhoods, recycling 
performance will suffer and resources will be spent needlessly.

2.10     A programme of co-ordinated communications, marketing and engagement aims to 
provide the information, tools and services to support good waste and recycling 
habits in becoming a social norm, with the resulting positive impact on local 
neighbourhoods. Once these efforts have been exhausted, enforcement action 
would be taken where the education and support has not produced the desired 
change in behaviour.

3.0 Main issues

3.1     Communications and Engagement

3.1.1 Across Leeds, there are clearly significant differences in residents’ understanding of 
waste and recycling, from those who are unaware of the basics of putting waste into 
the correct bins and presenting bins on time through to those who are advocates of 
high quality recycling and waste minimisation.
 

3.1.2 As agreed by the Executive Board in November 2015, a programme of targeted 
communications and engagement using a range of different media is being 
developed and implemented. In line with the Equality Improvement Priority, 
communication activities are also to be designed to recognise the barriers faced by 
residents new to Leeds and/or where English may not be the primary language.

3.1.3 Since the November Executive Board, the Council has developed or implemented a 
range of initiatives or campaigns as detailed in para 2.4

3.1.4 A further programme of communications and engagement is now planned. To 
ensure that limited resources can be used to maximum effect, this programme will 
include:

a) Ongoing general information: provided at a city level around recycling and 
managing bins. Key messages will include the following:

 Remember your bin days: To put your bin out and bring it back in after 
collection;

 Put the right thing in the right bin to provide good quality recycling;
 Recycle for Leeds to save money on waste treatment/disposal that can then 

be used for other vital local services.

b) Targeted information: addressing specific issues within a defined area or 
demographic. This may involve bin stickers, specific leaflets, letters, community 
forums and events.

Page 128



c) Personalised support: this could involve a visit from a Council officer (Waste and 
Recycling Advisor, Localities or Housing) to understand any barriers to a 
household’s ability to manage waste/recycle and to demonstrate how these can be 
overcome. Where available, support from residents and communities will also be 
harnessed to reinforce positive waste and recycling behaviours.

3.1.5 To complement these activities, an ‘invest to save’ communications plan has been 
created to target specific issues (i.e. reduce recycling contamination or increased 
collection of a specific waste stream like glass). The plan aims to invest in specific 
campaigns to encourage positive waste/recycling behaviours that have been judged 
to provide a higher return on investment in terms of increasing recycling and 
savings in disposal costs.

3.1.6 For 2016/17, ‘invest to save’ campaigns in glass, paper/card and metal have been 
planned. Recycling and waste minimisation messages and activities will be targeted 
at specific population segments and areas. This work will be supported through a 
suite of communication channels including digital, face to face and advertising 
options.

3.1.7 It is anticipated that, with this robust communications and engagement programme, 
the need to undertake formal enforcement action will be the exception and only 
where residents are choosing to disregard Council policy and persistently act 
unreasonably in a way which has a detrimental effect on others.

3.1.8 The impact of these initiatives will be formally evaluated, although the timescales for 
influencing major behavioural change and the difficulties in demonstrating a direct 
and exclusive link between communications/engagement activity and recycling 
performance must be recognised.

3.1.9 Further work will also be undertaken to support capacity within and enhance the 
promotion of Third Sector re-use organisations and networks to maximise the 
capture of re-usable items along with the associated social benefits.

3.2 Service Design

3.2.1 The vast majority of residents use their waste and recycling services appropriately 
and with the successful city wide roll out of alternate weekly collections (AWC), 
kerbside recycling levels have increased, residual waste levels have fallen and the 
quality of service has improved.

3.2.2 There remain, however, residents who do not manage their waste appropriately for 
a range of reasons. For some, the layout of their neighbourhoods makes it 
inherently difficult to store waste appropriately before collection. For others, the 
attempts to communicate and educate residents are particularly challenging, due to 
high turnover, such that the impact of that work is short-lived. Service arrangements 
which keep areas clean, manage the collection of waste well and encourage 
recycling need to be tailored with these local factors borne in mind, meaning a ‘one 
size fits all’ collection service and education / enforcement approach is not 
appropriate.

Page 129



3.2.3 Analysis is ongoing in areas not on alternate weekly collections to assess potential 
future refuse and recycling collection options. This may involve communal collection 
arrangements for particular clusters of properties or high-rise flats where the current 
system is not working effectively.  Alternatively, there are areas where recycling 
participation is persistently so poor, that the existing service is proving fruitless. The 
Ash Road pilot in Headingley, where the green bins were actually withdrawn and an 
‘opt-in’ service offered, has been successful in delivering higher levels of 
uncontaminated recycling, and there are other areas of the City where this model 
will be appropriate. As well as addressing the issue of non-participation in recycling 
or wholesale contamination of green bins, this strategy has also addressed the 
broader ‘street-scene’ issues associated with the number of bins left out on these 
streets.

3.2.4 It is therefore proposed to develop a costed and prioritised plan, in consultation with 
Members, to deliver alternative collection solutions in priority areas.

3.3 Legislative framework

3.3.1 A range of legislation is now in place for Authorities to deal with persistent issues
connected to poor waste management that can blight neighbourhoods. These are 
outlined below:

3.3.2 Environmental Protection Act 1990: Section 46 of this Act relates to household 
waste. Notices can be served to specify how residents manage their waste, such as 
the bins to be used, what can be put in them and where they should be presented 
for collection.

3.3.3 Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014: this allows the Council to serve 
a Community Protection Notice (CPN) for persistent and unreasonable behaviour 
which has a detrimental effect on those in a locality. This Act also provides the 
option of using Public Space Protection Orders to deal with behaviours having a 
detrimental impact affecting people across a whole area. 

 
4.0 Enforcement principles proposed

 
4.1 The principles guiding the approach to securing behaviour change are that, first and 

foremost, the Council aims to educate residents to understand their role with regard 
to responsible domestic waste management. In circumstances where an 
educational approach has not been successful, the Council would take an 
incremental approach from education to informal action through to formal action, 
giving residents several opportunities to change and thus avoid the sanctions and 
penalties possible.

4.2 It is intended that the enforcement principles proposed in this report are available 
for use across the city and be undertaken with reference to the Council’s broader 
enforcement strategy. Important principles in that strategy are consistency, 
transparency and proportionality.

4.3 In additional to operational decision-making, the targeting of enforcement powers 
will also be guided by Community Committees through their local prioritisation 
decisions.  Local factors, agreements and contexts will be taken into consideration 

Page 130



when determining the approach on a case by case basis. Given the scale of the 
issue, it will not be possible to enforce across the city all at once.  The full costs of 
enforcement are not recoverable by the imposition of fines, therefore resources are 
limited. There will need to be a staged programme of activity. The Executive 
Member intends to bring together the Environmental Champions from the 
Community Committees to discuss the practical implementation in September.

4.4  Notwithstanding the above, the summary of stages to be followed are:

Stage 1 - General and ongoing communication and education as per the city-wide 
communication plan. 

Stage 2 - Targeted education, either at household or area level. This stage is highly 
effective at rectifying bad practices as most householders do genuinely want to 
uphold their responsibilities. It is hoped and expected that this is the stage where 
behaviours improve and no further action is needed.

Stage 3 - Initial enforcement action. This could be the issuing of a Notice under the 
Environmental Protection Act, or a warning letter as the precursor to the Community 
Protection Notice, or both. The most appropriate legislation will be selected 
depending on the circumstances. An outline of the two processes can be seen in 
appendices 1 and 2, but in all cases the behaviours expected of the residents, the 
timescales within which behaviour changes or actions are needed and the potential 
consequences or sanctions will be made clear.

Stage 4 - Completion of enforcement action. This can be either a Community
Protection Notice specifying the actions and a timescale for the modification of
behaviour by the resident, or the use of the S46 process. For the latter, a formal
warning would be used with immediate effect. This would then be followed by the
notice of intention to issue a fixed penalty which allows 28 days for representations 
as to why a fine should not be issued, which then have to be considered.

Stage 5 - Sanction applied. Fixed Penalty charge of £60 (S46) or £100 (CPN). In 
both instances, non-payment could lead to court action.  The level of this charge 
would partially offset the costs incurred as a result of poor waste and recycling 
behaviours.  

In some circumstances, when dealing with contaminated bins and where the S46 
process has been used, a sanction is the complete removal of the recycling bin or 
charging to have it emptied in order for it to be used correctly in future. It is 
proposed that in non AWC areas, the bin is removed, whereas in AWC areas they 
are returned empty for a charge, due to the need to retain capacity.

Appendix 3 provides some worked-up examples of how the above stages could be 
applied to three common scenarios.

4.5 General Points:

4.5.1 Enforcement action does not always resolve the direct issue such as getting waste 
removed from gardens or streets.  In certain cases, the Local Authority may need to 

Page 131



undertake the work and recharge the resident and this could be in parallel with 
certain types of enforcement action.

4.5.2  It is intended that behaviours improve as a result of interventions at the earliest 
stage of the process, but these may then lapse some time later. In such cases, the 
process would be continued, picking up from the stage reached previously. Each 
case would be considered on its merits. 

5. Corporate Considerations

5.1 Consultation and Engagement 

5.1.1 The waste collection policies referred to in this report have been consulted on 
previously and were approved by Executive Board in January 2014.

5.1.2 The proposals in this report are within the context of the Council’s broader 
enforcement strategy and action taken will be proportionate to the scale of the 
identified problem. As a delegated function, Community Committees will need to 
consider the overall prioritisation of enforcement resources, possibly through 
facilitated workshops, and involving members, the public and other key 
stakeholders.

5.1.3 In preparing for the Council’s 2016/17 revenue budget, a round of public consultation 
was conducted and the results reported to Executive Board in February 2016. 
Approximately a fifth of respondents who provided a commentary suggested the 
use of fines for people not presenting their waste well or not recycling as a way to 
help meet the financial challenges of the Council.

6.0 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

6.1 A screening report has been completed and submitted to the Equalities Team, and
is appended to this report. It has been identified that the proposal will have a 
positive impact because it will reinforce everyone taking responsibility for their 
waste and recycling. Positive impacts include:

 Maintaining clean and tidy streets as waste is properly contained; 
 High quality recycling separated for collection; 
 Pavements are clearer of obstructions. 

6.2 The report recognises the importance of communication and recognising the 
barriers faced by residents new to Leeds and/or where English may not be the 
primary language.

 
6.3 The following actions will be pursued as part of the equality, diversity, cohesion and 

integration action plan:
 Clean and clear pavements, so there is easier access to pavements, particularly 

for older people and people with disabilities;
 Improve recycling rates and the quality of recycling from residents new to Leeds  

where English may not be the primary language;
 Deliver a programme of co-ordinated communications, marketing and 

engagement aimed at providing the information, tools and services to support 

Page 132



good waste management habits and high recycling as a social norm. Good 
waste and recycling habits with a positive impact on local neighbourhoods.

7. Council Policies and Best Council Plan

7.1 The proposals within this report are consistent with the Best Council Plan 2015–20, 
in terms of contributing to: 
 Having a strong economy and being a compassionate city, by addressing 

persistent and unreasonable behaviours that otherwise prevent people from 
being able to live in decent, affordable homes within clean and well cared for 
places;

 Becoming a more efficient and enterprising council, through a reduction in waste 
treatment and disposal costs.

8 Resources and value for money 

8.1 The proposed strategy clearly takes account of the current financial pressures, and 
focuses on maximising the value from existing capacity and infrastructure. There 
are significant savings to be realised through avoided waste disposal costs, whether 
through getting recycling out of the black bin and into the green, or through reducing 
contamination in the green bins.

8.2 With alternate weekly collections encouraging residents to use their green recycling 
bins more, there has been an overall increase in the material captured, with a 21% 
increase in recyclables captured through this service since 2013/14. However, an 
increase in the level of contaminating materials that should not be disposed in the 
green bin service has also been observed.

8.3 In recent months over 20% of materials collected via the green bin service have 
been rejected as unsuitable for recycling at the Materials Recovery Facility in 
Beeston to which these materials are delivered for processing, separation and 
onward sale or disposal. This level of contamination has a negative impact both on 
the quality and market value of the recyclable materials, and in terms of the 
additional costs of double handling waste that should not be sent to this facility and 
which then has to be transported on for disposal. Dealing with this current level of 
contamination in recycling bins costs the city around £100/ tonne more than good 
recycling.

8.4 To realise savings in this area, the emphasis of the Council's recycling strategy 
therefore needs to be increasingly to secure higher quality and less contaminated 
recyclable materials separated at source by residents.

8.5 Executive Board agreed to a costed ‘invest to save’ communications plan in 
November 2015 aimed at achieving the social norm shift referred to earlier in the 
report. It is estimated that a 1% improvement in the city’s recycling rate through 
transferring the targeted recyclables from the black bin to the green bin would save 
approximately £250k per annum.

        

Page 133



9.0 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

9.1 The recommendations in this report have been developed with regard to the 
Council’s ongoing statutory duties as Waste Collection Authority under the 
Environmental Protection Act and other relevant legislation.

9.2 The legal issues relating to enforcement action are covered in section 3 above.

10. Risk Management

10.1 A failure to achieve the 50% national recycling target could potentially have 
implications for the Council should Central Government decide to impose some       
form of sanction.

10.2 It is important to acknowledge that, whilst enforcement is a useful tool in assisting in 
changing behaviours, both the CPN and Section 46 Environmental Protection Act 
processes involve specific timescales and steps that are very resource intensive. 
Completion of the process can be prolonged during which time there can be 
continuing impact on the local environment.

10.3 Demand for enforcement could be well in excess of available resource due to the 
intensive nature of the enforcement process. In order to manage this risk, any areas 
requiring specific attention would be selected and prioritised on a needs basis. In 
some cases, for example, where there is a real risk to public health, it may be 
necessary to take direct action before the enforcement process is completed. This 
early intervention and the form it would take would be agreed between Waste 
Management and Locality Teams.

10.4 Identification of perpetrators can be difficult, and will in some cases prove 
impossible. For example, a bag of waste placed next to a wheelie bin cannot 
automatically be assumed to be a result of the householder putting out excess 
waste. In these cases, enforcement may not be possible and the only action 
available would be to remove the bags.

10.5 There will be a proportionate approach to persistent waste issues where specific 
enforcement action is required, considered on a case-by-case basis. Part of this 
consideration will be the likely longevity of improved and changed behaviours, 
acknowledging that some enforcement actions may be highly resource intensive, 
but with little long term improvement in environmental conditions. For example in 
areas with highly transient populations other considerations such as changed 
service design may provide better value for money.

11 Conclusions

11.1 The vast majority of the city uses their waste and recycling services appropriately.  

11.2   When residents contain their refuse properly, separate recyclables well and routinely 
present their bins at the kerbside and return them to their properties, this has a 
positive impact on a range of outcomes for the City:

o Maintaining clean and tidy streets, since waste is properly contained; 

Page 134



o Ensuring that pavements are clear of obstructions;
o Ensuring the separation of high quality recycling for collection; and 
o Providing an efficient collection service.

11.3 The Council will support this with an effective programme of communications, 
community engagement and service improvements. The latter includes a further 
review of non-AWC areas and possible tailoring of the current waste and recycling 
provision. 

11.4  First and foremost the Council aims to educate local residents to understand their 
role with regard to responsible waste management. However, in situations where 
residents choose to disregard Council policy and persistently act unreasonably, 
such that there is a resulting detrimental impact on the environment or community, 
enforcement may be appropriate.

11.5 Action taken will be proportionate to the scale of the identified problem as 
considered on a case by case basis.

12 Recommendations

Executive Board is recommended to:

12.1 Note the progress in delivering a programme of co-ordinated communications, 
marketing and engagement to provide the information, tools and services to support 
good waste and recycling habits;

12.2 Agree to the targeted use of enforcement powers for persistent and unreasonable 
waste and recycling behaviours.

12 Background documents1 

None. 

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 135



Appendix 1

Identiication of a behaviour 
or problem that is of 

detriment to the amenity of 
the neighbourhood.

CPN warning letter issued, usually 
to occupier, but can be to owner 
requiring change in behaviours or 

proprosals to take  remedial action.

No changes in behaviour or 
proposals to take remedial 

action.

CPN Notice usually served on 
occupier, but may be served 
on the owner. Typically 22 

days for compliance.

Non- compliance. decision 
made as to whether Work 
in Default, Fixed Penalty 

Notice or Prosecution (or a 
combination) most 

appropriate. 
Notification of work in 
default letter issued to 

perpetrator with 
estimate of work in 

default costings – 7 days 
notice provided

Work in default 
undertaken and 
recharged to the 

perpatrator.

Fixed Penalty Notice issued 
for non-compliance of £100 
Non payment of FPN would 

lead to…..

Instigate legal proceedings 
through magistrates court. 
Maximum fine of £2500 for 

individuals.

Identification of a problem or 
behaviuor that is of 

detriment to the amenity of 
the Neighbourhood.

Appendix 1 – Brief Outline of the CPN Process

14 days elapsed

22 days elapsed

7 days elapsed 14 days to pay FPN

Note:- timescales provided 
are the minimum timescales 
needed between stages, but 
they do not include specific 
timescales for officer to visit 

and prepare paperwork.

Page 136



Appendix 2

Notice served under provisions of section 46 of the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990 on all adult occupiers of property specifying how they are required to 

store their waste, how their waste needs to be presented (inlcuded the 
receptacle in needs to be presented in.  It can  also stipulate where to present 

waste and the need to remove bins from the kerbside after collection.

Notice served with a requirement for compliance with immediate effect. No 
right of appeal if LCC have provided receptacle.

Written warning issued to each adult occupier of the property requiring 
compliance with requirements of section 46, usually with immediate effect. 

Written warning stays in place for 1 year subject to the occupiers remaining the 
same.

Notice of intention to issue a Fixed Penalty issued. 
28 days allowed for representations. Consider representations.

Final Notice and Fixed Penalty issued.

Fixed Penalty not paid

Recovery outstanding fine as a civil debt

Continued breach of 46 notice established.

Breach of section 46 notice established.

Continued breach of section 46 notice established.

 14 days to monitor 
compliance

14 days to monitor complaince

33 days – 28 to allow representation and further 5 days to 
consider these.

28 days for payment of FPN

Note:- timescales provided 
are the minimum timescales 
needed between stages and 

do not include specific 
timescales for officers to visit 

and preprare paperwork.

Appendix 2 – Simpfied process under section 46 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended by the 
Deregulation Act 2015)

Page 137



Appendix 3. 

Scenario 1  

A contaminated green bin has been presented by a resident, despite having 
capacity in their black bin in an AWC area. 

Stage 1. Information would be provided to the local community through a communications 
plan about how to recycle and sort waste correctly. This would include activities such as 
mail drops with Council Tax bills, illustrated leaflets, posters in community buildings; and 
Waste and Recycling Advisors roadshows at local venues and events.

Stage 2

(a) An informal, but more targeted approach would then be used in that a sticker would be 
attached to the bin advising why it hadn’t been collected and asking the resident to remove 
any contaminants and then present the green bin at the next scheduled collection.

(b) A letter would then be sent to the resident in the event that previous interventions had 
been ineffective advising that the green bin hadn’t been collected due to contamination 
and the need for contaminants to be removed in order for it to be collected. Contact details 
provided in case more information or support needed.

(c) A representative from Waste Services, Locality Team or Housing Leeds would visit the 
resident as most appropriate to offer to show the resident what they should do or discuss 
any problems or issues they may have. 

Stage 3. A legal notice would be issued in order to formally require the resident to sort and 
present their waste and recyclate correctly.

The contaminated green bin would be emptied at the same time to provide a fresh start to 
support the householder in meeting the notice requirements.

Stage 4 - A warning letter would be sent to the occupiers advising that they are not 
complying with the requirements of the notice and the next step sanctions that would be 
imposed (see stage 5).

Stage 5 A charge would be levied for the emptying a contaminated green bin in Alternate 
Week Collection areas 

Page 138



Scenario 2

Side waste is presented alongside the black bin on a regular basis in an AWC area.

Stage 1 – Community wide communications issued, typically leaflets sent out with the 
Council Tax bill, posters in Housing Offices and community buildings, social media and the 
press, Waste and Recycling advisors roadshows at local venues and events.

Stage 2 

(a) Stickers are put on bins advising the side waste won’t be taken. The black bin is 
emptied and excess bags placed back in the bin. The stickers would provide contact 
details should the customer have any difficulties with their side waste.

(b) If the problem continues, a letter is sent advising the side waste won’t be collected.

(c) Waste advisors/Housing Officers /Environmental Action Officers visit and advise on 
recycling and how this can free up space in the black bin. A bin audit is undertaken to 
ensure that property has sufficient number and types of bin to accommodate the needs of 
the residents. Additional black bin capacity provided if residents meet the criteria for 
additional bins.

Advice is also given that extra recycling presented in green or transparent bags will be 
collected. Bins are labelled for identification purposes.

Stage 3 – A notice is served on all adult occupiers of the property specifying  how, when 
and where their waste is to be presented, including the need for all residual waste to be 
contained within the black bin.

Stage 4 – Formal warning issued. 

Notice of intention (to issue a fixed penalty) is issued, allowing 28 days for representations 
as to why a fine should not be issued. These representations would then be considered.

Stage 5 – The issue of a fixed penalty of £60 and final notice. 

Page 139



Scenario 3 

Private sector tenant does not present their black or green bins, resulting in waste 
overflowing in the garden.

Stage 1 General communications through community mail drops, illustrated leaflets, 
posters in universities and other community buildings, landlord welcome packs, social 
media and Waste and recycling Advisors roadshows at local venues and events.

Stage 2. Write to the resident, due to bags of waste being left uncontained in a garden. 
Contact the landlord of the property to advise them of the need to assist in ensuring their 
tenants sort and present their waste correctly.

Stage 3. Issue a notice requiring the tenants to sort and present their waste correctly. 
Accompany the notice with a warning letter to the tenants and the landlord.

Stage 4 -   A Community Protection Notice would also be issued to the occupiers of the 
property requiring them to contain any waste already in the garden and continue to do so 
in future. 

If the Landlord of the property has not undertaken steps to support his tenants sorting, 
containing and presenting waste correctly, a notice may also be served on the landlord to 
effect that.

Stage 5 – Sanctions – If neither the landlord nor tenants have taken steps to improve the 
situation, it may be appropriate to issue a Fixed Penalty Notice to both parties. A remedy 
to the waste remaining in the garden would be needed and therefore the garden would be 
cleared with the cost recharged to the occupiers of the property.

Page 140



 

EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014 1

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration. In all appropriate instances we will need to carry out an equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment. 
 
This form: 

 can be used to prompt discussion when carrying out your impact assessment 
 should be completed either during the assessment process or following completion 

of the assessment 
 should include a brief explanation where a section is not applicable  

 
Directorate: Environment and Housing Service area: Waste Management 
Lead person: Susan Upton/ Helen 
Freeman 
 

Contact number:  74041 

Date of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment:  
 
11/05/16 
 
1. Title: Working together to improve domestic waste collection and recycling 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy /Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2.  Members of the assessment team:    
Name Organisation Role on assessment team  

e.g. service user, manager of service, 
specialist 

Susan Upton LCC Chief Officer 
Helen Freeman LCC Chief Officer 
Alison Gilliland LCC Specialist and Manager 
Tom Smith LCC Head of Service 
   
   
 
 
3.  Summary of strategy, policy, service or function that was assessed:   
 
 

First and foremost the Council aims to educate local residents to understand their role 
with regard to responsible waste management. Ensuring that waste is properly 
contained, leads to streets being tidier, with less litter. Similarly reducing the number of 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Impact Assessment 

 

X   

Page 141



 

EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014 2

excess bins, abandoned or persistent bins on streets will reduce the obstacles to be 
navigated by people with prams, people in wheelchairs or those people who are blind 
or partially sighted 
 
There will be situations where education alone proves insufficient when working with 
residents who do not properly contain their refuse, do not separate recyclates well and 
do not routinely put their bin out / bring it back in. In those circumstances, a clear 
understanding and agreement is required of the Council’s use of targeted enforcement 
to improve the way residents manage their waste.   
 

 
4. Scope of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment  
(complete - 4a. if you are assessing a strategy, policy or plan and 4b. if you are assessing 
a service, function or event) 
 
4a.  Strategy, policy or plan   
(please tick the appropriate box below) 
 
The vision and themes, objectives or outcomes 
 

            

 
The vision and themes, objectives or outcomes and the supporting 
guidance 
 

 

 
A specific section within the strategy, policy or plan 
 

 

Please provide detail: 
 
Although the vast majority of the city uses their waste and recycling services 
appropriately, the city needs all residents to take responsibility for their domestic waste 
and manage it well. 
 
Across the diversity of Leeds, there are clearly significant differences in residents 
understanding of waste and recycling, from the basics of putting waste into the correct 
bins and presenting bins on time through to the advocacy of high quality recycling and 
waste minimization. 
 
The principles guiding the approach to securing behaviour change are that, first and 
foremost, the Council aims to educate residents to understand their role with regard to 
responsible domestic waste management. The outcomes being tidier, less cluttered 
streets and higher levels of quality recycling that will save money on treatment and 
disposal which can then be used for other vital council services. 
 
In circumstances where an educational approach has not been successful, the Council 
would take an incremental approach from education to informal action through to formal 
action giving residents several opportunities to change and thus avoid the sanctions and 
penalties possible 
 
 

 
4b. Service, function, event 

X 

 

 

Page 142



 

EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014 3

please tick the appropriate box below 
 
The whole service  
(including service provision and employment) 
 

            

 
A specific part of the service  
(including service provision or employment or a specific section of 
the service) 
 

 

 
Procuring of a service 
(by contract or grant) 
 

 

Please provide detail: 
 

It is intended that the enforcement principles proposed are available for use across the 
city and be undertaken with reference to the Council’s broader enforcement strategy. 
Important principles in that strategy are consistency, transparency and proportionality. It 
is anticipated that the need to undertake formal enforcement action will be the exception 
and only where residents are choosing to disregard Council policy and persistently act 
unreasonably in a way which has a detrimental effect on others. 
 

 
 
 
5. Fact finding – what do we already know 
Make a note here of all information you will be using to carry out this assessment.  This 
could include: previous consultation, involvement, research, results from perception 
surveys, equality monitoring and customer/ staff feedback.  
 
(priority should be given to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration related information) 
 
The role and responsibility of the householder is key to reduce the environmental impact of 
poor waste habits, ( maintain clean and tidy streets, clear of clutter from abandoned bins 
and uncontained waste) assist in providing an efficient collection and maximise the amount 
of quality recycling. 
 
The vast majority of the city uses their waste and recycling services appropriately. 
However the city needs all residents to take responsibility for their domestic waste & 
manage it well.  

In January 2014, Executive Board formally adopted a range of waste collection policies 
aimed at clearly communicating the role and responsibilities of the Council and residents in 
managing household waste and increasing recycling.  

In preparing for the Councils 16/17 Revenue budget, a round of public consultation was 
conducted and the results reported to Executive Board in February 2016. Approx a fifth of 
respondents who provided a commentary suggested the use of fines for people not 
presenting their waste well or not recycling as a way to help meet the financial challenges 
of the Council. 
 

 

X 

 

Page 143



 

EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014 4

A range of legislation is now in place for Authorities to deal with stubborn issues connected 
to poor waste management that can blight neighbourhoods. 
 
A programme of co-ordinated communications, marketing and engagement aims to provide 
the information, tools and services to support good waste management habits and high 
recycling as a social norm. The back-stop to that is enforcement where the education and 
support hasn’t worked. 
 
. 
Are there any gaps in equality and diversity information 
Please provide detail:  
 
As defined by the Equality Improvement Priorities and plans.  

1. Clean and Clear pavements, so there is easier access to pavements particularly for 
the elderly or disabled. 

2. Improve recycling rates and the quality of recycling from residents new to Leeds  
where English may not be the primary language 

 
Action required:  
 
As defined and monitored by the Equality Improvement Priorities and plans.  
.  
 
 
6.  Wider involvement – have you involved groups of people who are most likely to 
be affected or interested  
 
          Yes                                   No 
 
Please provide detail:  
 
 
The Equality Board.   
Pavements are for people. 
Migrant Support Network 
Targetted local campaigns and communications 
 
 
Action required:  
Ongoing engagement and communications plan 
 
 
 
 
7.  Who may be affected by this activity?   
please tick all relevant and significant equality characteristics, stakeholders and barriers 
that apply to your strategy, policy, service or function  
 
Equality characteristics 
 

X  

Page 144



 

EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014 5

            
                  Age                                                  Carers                               Disability         
             
 
               Gender reassignment                   Race                                Religion  
                                                                                                                      or Belief 
 
                 Sex   (male or female)                     Sexual orientation  
 
 
                 Other   
                 
(Other can include – marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, and those 
areas that impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-
being) 
Please specify:  
 
Those parts of the city and residents who are struggling to manage their waste 
appropriately for a range of reasons. For some, the layout of their neighbourhoods makes 
it inherently difficult to store waste appropriately before collection. For others, the attempts 
to communicate and educate residents is particularly challenging such that the impact of 
that work is short-lived 
 
Stakeholders 
 
                   
                  Services users                                  Employees                    Trade Unions 
 
 
                 Partners                                          Members                          Suppliers 
           
 
                 Other please specify 
 
Potential barriers.                 
 
 
                    Built environment                                 Location of premises and services 
 
     
                     Information                                           Customer care         
                     and communication 
      
                     Timing                                             Stereotypes and assumptions   
              
 
                     Cost                                                       Consultation and involvement 
 
 
                     Financial exclusion                              Employment and training 
 
 

x 

 

 

x 

 

x 

 

x 

 

X 

x 

 

x x 

x 

X 

 

x 

 

 

x 

 

x x 

 

  

Page 145



 

EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014 6

                  specific barriers to the strategy, policy, services or function 
 
Please specify 
 
                       
 
 
 
8.  Positive and negative impact   
Think about what you are assessing (scope), the fact finding information, the potential 
positive and negative impact on equality characteristics, stakeholders and the effect of the 
barriers 
 
8a. Positive impact: 

 
Everyone takes responsibility for their waste and recycling, to: 

 Maintain clean and tidy streets as waste is properly contained,  
 High quality recycling separated for collection 
 Pavements are clear of obstructions as bins routinely put out and brought back in 

after collection and bags of waste are not left beside bins. 
 Assist in providing an efficient collection 

 
Action  required: 

 
Application of proposals within report 

 
8b. Negative impact: 

 
Perceived as penalising people for innocent mistakes.  The enforcement action also 
carries the risk of disproportionate representation of people whose primary language is not 
English. Adapting to the new domestic waste practices could take much longer due to 
communication barriers and poor understanding of the benefit of recycling. 
 
Action  required: 

 
A common sense approach to be applied. The principles guiding the approach to 
securing behaviour change are that, first and foremost, the Council aims to educate 
residents to understand their role with regard to responsible domestic waste 
management. 
 
It is anticipated that the need to undertake formal enforcement action will be the 
exception and only where residents are choosing to disregard Council policy and 
persistently act unreasonably in a way which has a detrimental effect on others. 

 
 
 

Page 146



 

EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014 7

9.  Will this activity promote strong and positive relationships between the 
groups/communities identified? 
 
                 
                   Yes                                                  No 
 
Please provide detail: 
Overall improvement to local environment and amenity. 
 
Action required:  
 
 
10.  Does this activity bring groups/communities into increased contact with each 
other? (e.g. in schools, neighbourhood, workplace) 
 
        
                   Yes                                                  No   
 
 
Please provide detail: 
Where available, support from residents and communities will also be harnessed to 
reinforce positive waste and recycling behaviours 
 
Action required:  
 
 
 
 
11.  Could this activity be perceived as benefiting one group at the expense of 
another? (e.g. where your activity/decision is aimed at adults could it have an impact on 
children and young people) 
 
                   Yes                                                  No 
 
 
Please provide detail: 
            
 
 
Action required:   
 
 

x  

x  

 x 

Page 147



 

 8 

 
12. Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration action plan 
(insert all your actions from your assessment here, set timescales, measures and identify a lead person for each action) 
 
Action 
 

Timescale Measure Lead person 

 
As defined by the Equality 
Improvement Priorities and 
plan for Clean and Clear 
pavements, so there is easier 
access to pavements 
particularly for the elderly or 
disabled. 
 

   
 

 
As defined by the Equality 
Improvement Priorities and 
plan to improve recycling rates 
and the quality of recycling 
from residents new to Leeds  
where English may not be the 
primary language 
 

   

 
Ongoing engagement and 
communications plan 
 

   
 

 
Common sense application of 
approach detailed in report 
 
 

   

P
age 148



 

 9

13. Governance, ownership and approval 
State here who has approved the actions and outcomes from the equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration impact assessment 
Name Job Title Date 
Susan Upton 
 

Chief Officer Waste 
Management 

11/5/16 

Date impact assessment completed 
 

11.5.16 

 
14.  Monitoring progress for equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
actions  (please tick) 
 
            As part of Service Planning performance monitoring 
 
  
                  As part of Project monitoring 
 
                  Update report will be agreed and provided to the appropriate board 
                  Please specify which board 
 
             
                  Other (please specify) 
 
 
15. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality impact assessment should be attached as an appendix to the 
decision making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality impact assessments that are not to be published 
should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
assessment was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 

x 

 

 

 

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Chief Executive 

Report to Executive Board

Date: 27th July, 2016

Subject: Leeds City Council’s initial response to the referendum on the UK’s 
membership of European Union

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. This report sets out the Council’s proposed initial response to the referendum on the 
UK’s membership of the European Union held on 23rd June, 2016. Brexit will have 
national and local implications and Leeds will not be immune from its impact. Whilst it 
is important we consider the implications carefully, not all of which are yet apparent, 
there is a need to respond quickly to the initial implications. Our city has proved its 
resilience repeatedly in the past; we have a diverse economy, and are a strong 
community of businesses, institutions and people. 

2. The ambition for a strong economy, compassionate city is set out in the Best Council 
Plan, now more than ever it is important to continue with our approach of promoting 
economic growth and tackling poverty. By enhancing the ability of all our people to 
contribute to their full potential we can boost the economic productivity and 
competitiveness of Leeds. We are an inclusive, tolerant and united city committed to 
helping every person in Leeds fulfil their potential. 

3. We need to ensure major development and infrastructure schemes do not stall, 
working with developers and investors to bring forward significant development, 
leading to billions of pounds of investment and delivery of thousands of jobs. We will 
continue to seek to secure European funding, work towards our cultural ambitions and 
continue to present Leeds as an outward looking, international city. 

Report author:  Tom Riordan / 
Tom Bridges

Page 151

Agenda Item 13



4. The referendum highlighted divisions between north and south, cities and rural areas, 
old and young. In this context the case for devolution has become even stronger and 
our focus will be on the success and well-being of Leeds and its city region. We will 
continue to take a lead as a city to work with our partners, central and local 
government, and local communities to ensure that we address local issues and 
opportunities in Leeds.  

Recommendations

Executive Board is recommended to approve the following:

1. Request that the Chief Officer Economy and Regeneration identifies the impact of the 
economic uncertainty on major development projects, and measures that could be 
undertaken by the Council working with the LEP and Combined Authority to de-risk 
existing schemes, and to bring forward new projects to take advantage of the positive 
exchange rate.

2. Make the case to Government to secure the European Structural Investment Funding 
(ESIF) committed to Leeds City Region over the remainder of the period the UK is a 
member of the EU, and once the UK leaves the EU, for funding to replace the 
European Funds earmarked for the city region.

3. Request that the Chief Officer Economy and Regeneration puts in place strengthened 
Key Account Management mechanisms for supporting businesses, particularly those 
where there is a potential risk of disinvestment, and key institutions in the city that 
could be affected by changes in EU funding, and their ability to recruit staff from 
across the EU.

4. Request that the Chief Officer Economy and Regeneration sets up a standing task 
force to respond to any major disinvestment and redundancies, by providing support 
for people to find alternative jobs, and seeking to attract investment to sites that 
become available.

5. Continue to promote a tolerant, open and inclusive city. Provide information and 
advice to people on the implications of Brexit and reassuring them they are welcome 
to live and work in Leeds, and monitor and seek to tackle any community tensions.

6. Continue to make the case for increased devolution to ensure Leeds and the City 
Region have the powers and resources to respond to changing economic 
circumstances, and to do so in a way that connects local people better with the 
making of decisions that affect their lives.

7. Enhance the image of Leeds on the global stage as an outward-looking, diverse and 
international city by continuing to promote inward investment in Leeds, attract 
international visitors, strengthen existing international partnerships and reaffirm our 
support to the bid for Leeds to become European Capital of Culture in 2023. If the UK 
is not eligible for a Capital of Culture (which is only one of a number of possibilities), 
consider the potential for a major international cultural festival to bring people together 
and to promote Leeds internationally.

Page 152



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This report sets out the steps Leeds City Council, working closely with partners, 
will take to support people, growth, businesses, and key institutions in the city 
following the EU Referendum. It is likely that there will be a period of economic 
uncertainty which may have an impact on investment and key institutions in the 
city, including the Council. Many of our people will be concerned about the impact 
on them, particularly EU nationals who have chosen Leeds as a place to live and 
work. 

1.2 We need to manage these risks and remain calm and focused on the interests of 
the city. The report sets out objectives and actions to help with this. Leeds has 
proven repeatedly in the past that it is a resilient city, where people, businesses 
and key institutions pull together when necessary, and we can do so again in the 
days, weeks and months ahead.

2 Background information

2.1 This report is in response to the referendum held on 23rd June where the UK voted    
to leave the European Union. 

2.2 The long term effects of the result are unknown, which creates uncertainty, both in 
terms of our new relationship with the EU and the rest of the world. Our region 
has just had one of its most successful periods of inward investment, as result of 
the UK's primary position in the EU league table for Foreign Direct Investment, 
and Leeds has being able to take advantage of this as the second most popular 
core city for Foreign Direct Investment.  

2.3 The Leeds City Region receives support from the European Union in the form of 
grants, the total value of European Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF) over 
the lifetime of the programme, to the Leeds City Region is £303m. The projects 
which are currently in the pipeline for Leeds are valued at £29m, with additional 
funding possible if the ESIF programme continues.

2.4 Projects that are in the pipeline will fund: 

 Employment and skills support for local people to ensure that they can 
access local and more highly skilled jobs;

 Support for our local businesses, including those in key sectors, to ensure 
that they can grow and create a vibrant economy;

 Measures to create district heating networks and innovative energy efficiency 
measures for those living in social housing; and

 Support to link local businesses with innovation, research and development 
capacity in Universities.

2.5 There is also the potential for ESIF and the European Union Solidarity Fund to 
fund future flood alleviation works. The Solidarity Fund is to support EU member 
states in the immediate aftermath of natural disasters. Applications must be made 

Page 153



by national governments and one is currently being considered by the EU. Within 
the Leeds City Region ESIF Programme, around £12m is allocated to flood 
alleviation and green infrastructure projects.  

2.6 The EU also provides research funding to our Universities as well as important 
opportunities for student exchange, which benefit both domestic and EU students 
and contribute to our international community. Leeds University has 1,300 
students who are from the EU and 690 staff, whilst Leeds Beckett University has 
an additional 545 students and 184 staff from the EU.

3 Main issues

Overview

3.1 This report identifies five main areas where the council and its partners can focus 
on in this period of uncertainty. Leeds is a resilient city with a strong economy, 
and an attractive place to live, work, visit and invest. It is proposed that we will 
prioritise:

 Maintaining momentum on major development and infrastructure schemes, 
and economic growth projects;

 Supporting business and key institutions;

 Creating a more tolerant and united city; 

 Securing devolution; and 

 Providing confident, outward-looking leadership and image of Leeds as an 
international city.

3.2 The referendum result has demonstrated that there are many people who feel 
alienated by globalisation, people who do not feel the effects of our financial 
recovery in an economy that has become increasingly unbalanced, and people 
who experience public services under huge strain. Local communities who have 
voted for more of a say in their affairs. This needs addressing and one way is 
more devolved powers to regions, something the council will continue to lobby the 
government for. 

3.3 We are working with business to assess confidence at a time when the details of 
Brexit and the future economic landscape are not yet known. Investment and 
development is thriving in Leeds and any loss would have an impact. A slowdown 
in the housing market would harm our construction sector and those looking to get 
on the housing ladder. Many schemes in Leeds rely on foreign investment and 
there are foreign owned companies in Leeds who employ local workers. Any 
difficulties in raising finance will need to be closely monitored.

3.4 Many of our companies import and export goods and the decline of sterling will 
have an impact on price, raising costs for imports but making our exports more 
competitive. The fall in the pound will also add to inflationary pressures.

Page 154



3.5 There is a potential for a downward trend in interest rates, which will help with 
mortgage payments. It will also reduce the cost of public sector borrowing which 
presents opportunities for the council.

3.6 Free movement of workers has been a significant factor in the growth of the UK 
economy, particularly as it has recovered from last economic downturn. Limiting 
easy access to skills and labour may well limit future economic growth. However, 
migration can have localised impacts in terms of demand for services, housing 
and employment patterns. Whilst any changes to migration will not be immediate - 
it is likely that we will see a change in the patterns of economic migration.

3.7 Our universities rely on a large amount of EU funding and students from overseas 
who come to Leeds to study. Continuing to attract and welcome talent from across 
Europe and around the world is vital to both the academic and financial success 
of our Universities and, consequently, their positive impact on the city region. It is 
essential that the Government plans to make up any shortfall in research funding 
resulting from Brexit.

3.8 There is the potential that Government may bring forward economic stimulus 
measures. There is also a change in the government’s position on austerity 
following the result with an acknowledgement that the budget surplus may not be 
reached by 2020. 

Maintaining momentum on major development and infrastructure schemes, 
and economic growth projects

3.10 Leeds is a growing city with billions of pounds of investment in the development 
pipeline. The issues relating to European Structural Investment Funds are ste out 
in section 2 of the report.

3.11 Nationally, the Government must do what it can to create economic stability and 
to reassure international investors in the UK. This should include a strengthening 
commitment to major infrastructure projects such as flood alleviation, HS2 and 
improved rail links to other cities in the north. 

3.12 Locally, we need to build on the connections we have made with developers and 
investors. Following the recession the council has been able to work 
collaboratively with the private sector, working to get development started and 
share the risk on big job creating projects, such as Kirkstall Forge, Victoria Gate, 
the Arena, and the Enterprise Zone in the Aire Valley. When the Trinity Leeds 
development stalled in 2009 following the economic downturn the project was in 
doubt, but Leeds proved its resilience and once it restarted in 2010, the shopping 
centre was completed and became a great success story for the city.  We will 
continue this work, alongside partners including the LEP to put in place the 
emergency funding mechanisms to try and shore up investor confidence in Leeds. 

3.13 Housing is an area which is showing signs of a slowdown following Brexit. This 
may be a temporary blip, and Leeds has a strong construction sector which is 
better placed than many to weather any storm, but it is still necessary to monitor 
housing delivery against our ambitious targets for housing growth. 

Page 155



3.14 We will ensure major development and infrastructure schemes do not stall by:

 enhancing key account management with the developers and funders of major 
schemes; 

 identifying alternative investment mechanisms, working with the LEP, other 
Northern Powerhouse cities, and Government; 

 Seeking assurances from Government on major infrastructure projects 
planned for Leeds; and

 Making the case to Government to secure the European Structural Investment 
Funding (ESIF) committed to Leeds City Region over the remainder of the 
period the UK is a member of the EU, and once the UK leaves the EU, for 
funding to replace the European Funds earmarked for the city region.

Supporting business and key institutions

3.15 The impact of Brexit on businesses will be far reaching and we need to support 
business and key institutions. We will need to assess the impact on our 
Universities and colleges given the importance of their international students, 
collaborations with other Universities across the world, and the significant 
research funding they receive from the EU.

3.16 We will support businesses and key institutions in Leeds by:

 providing advice to businesses about potential implications and timescales of 
Brexit, including channelling interested businesses to financial and 
professional services advice;

 enhancing our key account management of priority businesses;

 setting up a standing task force to deal with major potential relocations or 
redundancies; 

 reviewing council financial decisions and exposure in the context of Brexit (and 
making the case to counter the risk of further austerity);

 assessing the impact on Universities and FE colleges, who have large 
numbers of overseas students, and many international collaborations; 

 considering the impact on the NHS, especially Leeds Teaching Hospital Trust, 
given the importance of workers from the EU to keeping health services 
running; and

 quantification of the potential knock-on impact on the city economy, and the 
identification and implementation of mitigating actions.

Page 156



Creating a more tolerant and united city 

3.17 The referendum has demonstrated clear differences between groups in our 
society. These are geographical, with northern England and Wales favouring 
Brexit as opposed to Scotland, London and Northern Ireland who all voted to 
remain. But there are also splits between rich and poor, between young and old, 
between city and suburbs / rural areas, between people enthusiastic about 
globalisation and those concerned by it. 

3.18 We need to reinforce our values in Leeds as an international, diverse, welcoming 
and outward looking city, whilst recognising and responding to the concerns of 
those who feel insecure, who feel they are not benefiting from globalisation, and 
who are experiencing the consequences of public services under pressure as a 
result of austerity. We must do so by ensuring the absolute right of all our people 
to live their lives without intimidation and fear. 

3.19 Leeds has a proud heritage and is a historically diverse city, currently it is home to 
over 140 ethnic groups and many EU nationals. The vast majority of people live 
and work together harmoniously, but where differences are not fully understood or 
valued then tensions can occur. It is important that we support communities to 
work together, strengthen community cohesion and help break down barriers to 
ensure that there is understanding and respect on all sides. We will monitor any 
racial incidents closely, and act decisively if these do occur. A paper will be 
presented to Executive Board in September which sets out the council’s plans for 
community cohesion in more detail.

3.20 We are committed to promoting our city, and are currently bidding to become 
European Capital of Culture 2023, something which will hopefully still be possible 
once we leave the EU. Another great example is the Leeds West Indian Carnival 
which celebrates its 50th year in 2017.

3.21 Now is the perfect time to emphasise our values as a compassionate and tolerant 
city by: 

 providing advice to reassure individual citizens and communities; including 
non-UK EU citizens of potential implications;

 supporting people to access jobs and housing; 

 tackling quickly and robustly any cases of racist abuse and / or intimidation; 
and

 building a greater understanding across local communities of the value and 
benefits that international staff, students and visitors bring to the local 
economy.

Page 157



Securing devolution 

3.22 There is now a need for bold and decisive action. The focus and attention of 
Whitehall is now going to be on negotiating Brexit. Our focus will be on the 
success and well-being of Leeds and its city region. We have proven in recent 
months and years we can deliver.

3.23 If the UK is going to grow to its full potential we need places like Leeds to 
contribute more. We are huge in scale with a city region of three million people 
including one and a half million jobs. Our annual economic output is larger than 
Wales - five percent of the UK economy. 

3.24 When programmes are devolved we have had successes. The Leeds City Region 
Business Growth Programme is one example where we have channelled three 
million pounds into Leeds firms, creating over one thousand jobs.

3.25 The referendum showed how disconnected and disaffected people feel from a 
London based elite of politicians, civil servants, and media that do not understand 
the issues and challenges people face outside the capital. At a time when 
Scotland is looking toward independence, and Londoners are talking about their 
relationship with the UK, we should remember that the population of Yorkshire is 
larger than that of Scotland, and the economies of the eight largest English cities 
outside London is 27% of UK plc (London is 22%).

3.26 We will do what we can in Leeds to engage people in the big debates about our 
city – as we are beginning to do already in areas such as transport and culture. 
But we have to find new ways of engaging young people, many of whom feel their 
voice is not heard. We have a strong track record as a child friendly city, and we 
can build on this, and this must include engaging with the people who feel angry 
and insecure about globalisation and the lack of opportunity they feel in the 
modern economy. 

3.27 We will seek to secure greater devolution and to reconnect people to politics by: 

 putting pressure on Government to agree to a devolution deal; 

 assessing how further powers can be transferred from Whitehall to local areas; 
and 

 seeking to broaden the engagement of all our people in the big debates about 
the future of our city.

Providing confident, outward-looking leadership and image of Leeds as an 
international city and Capital of Culture

3.28 We will continue to promote Leeds on the global stage setting out a clear plan for 
securing international investment, promoting trade and exports, attracting visitors, 
and hosting major events to enhance our image in the world.

3.29 The economic success of Leeds depends on its links to the global economy. Now 
is not the time to retrench and become inward-looking, Brexit was not an anti-

Page 158



European vote, rather an issue of sovereignty and major cities such as Leeds will 
need to work hard to project this message positively on the global stage. 

3.30 Tens of thousands of jobs in Leeds depend on overseas firms and Leeds is 
recognised as one of the most attractive cities in the north for inward investment. 
We are seeing huge investment from places such as China, France, Germany, 
Spain and Estonia. Our Universities attract students and collaborate with other 
Universities across the globe. Leeds manufacturers export goods and our finance, 
legal and digital firms sell their products and services to Europe and the world. 

3.31 The city attracts increasing numbers of international visitors supporting thousands 
of jobs, and our airport is one of the fastest growing in the UK. Our public services 
depend on the skills and hard work of people from overseas. We have hosted 
major events such as the Grand Depart of the Tour De France, the World 
Triathlon Series, and the Leeds International Piano competition which have done 
so much to advance our image on the world stage. 

3.32 The European Capital of Culture competition is designed to celebrate European 
citizenship by promoting ideas, sharing knowledge and best practice across a 
range of global issues from climate change to demographic change and 
digitisation, using culture to unite nations across Europe. Although it is an EU 
action, the EU is only a relatively minor funder of the competition.

3.33 The title is hosted by two EU member states each year, every third year an 
additional associate member state also hosts the title. Previously both Norway 
and Iceland have hosted the title as associate members as part of agreements 
negotiated with the EU.

3.34 We are advised that a country which is not a member of the EU, a candidate to 
join the EU, or a ‘potential candidate’ to join the EU is ineligible. The legislation is 
silent on the eligibility of a country which has left the EU. There is no definition of 
a ‘potential candidate’.

3.35 The UK last hosted the title in 2008 in Liverpool and prior to that in 1990 in 
Glasgow, both of which saw extensive regeneration creating a lasting economic 
legacy for those cities. It remains an important contribution to UK tourism 
positioning within European markets.

3.36 The next opportunity for a UK city to host the title will be 2023 alongside a city in 
Hungary. It is understood that it would require EU legislation to change the 
calendar allocating specific years to specific countries.

3.37 The bidding process is lengthy. Under normal circumstances the Department of 
Culture, Media and Sport would launch the competition for the UK in autumn 
2016. The first stage selection process and shortlisting would take place in 
autumn 2017, with a second stage early in 2018, and a decision expected by 
summer 2018. This timescale is designed to allow an appropriate lead-in time to 
deliver an event of this scale incorporating programming and fundraising 
considerations. Lottery distributors and local authorities have already started long 
term budgetary planning which could be compromised should the bidding process 
experience significant delay.

Page 159



3.38 At the moment Leeds, Milton Keynes, Dundee, and Bristol have formally declared 
their intention to bid. Other cities are still considering their position, although any 
potential additional candidates are considered to be limited in number.

3.39 The competition in Hungary for 2023 is already underway and Germany 2025 is 
already well advanced. UK cities are at various stages in the development of their 
bids with significant work stretching back two years or more.

3.40 It is proposed that we promote Leeds as an international, modern, outward-
looking city by:

 being open to opportunities for global investment and trade given from the 
devaluation of sterling;

 proceeding with work on the European Capital of Culture 2023 bid unless a 
non-EU bid is ruled out, and if it is consider how we can use culture to present 
a modern global image of Leeds;

 continuing to promote tourism to Leeds; and

 work with the Northern Powerhouse, Core Cities and UKTI on the international 
agenda.

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 Discussions have been held with the relevant Executive Members. There has not 
been sufficient time following the referendum to have a more wide reaching 
consultation, however officers have been taking soundings from businesses and 
partners. The situation with Brexit is evolving and further discussion with business 
and stakeholders will be ongoing. 

4.1.2 A draft of this paper has been shared with the Leeds Chamber of Commerce and 
the Universities.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 Themes running through this report have an impact on equality and diversity. The 
Council aims to improve the lives of all its citizens and foster good relations 
between different groups in the community and it is considered that the 
recommendations in this report are positive, particularly the continuing 
commitment to promote a tolerant and inclusive city. 

4..2 An Equality Diversity, Cohesion and Integration screening has been undertaken to 
assess the impact of this report on equality and diversity and is attached as an 
appendix.

Page 160



4.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The vision from the Best Council Plan is for Leeds to be a compassionate, caring 
city that helps all its residents benefit from the effects of the city’s economic 
growth. This includes a commitment to reduce inequality.

4.3.2 Leaving the European Union has the potential to impact on city priorities 
particularly on business. This report is the first step of a longer process setting out 
ways the council, with help from our partners and the city’s businesses can 
continue to promote the city in order to grow the economy and achieve the aims of 
the Best Council Plan.

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 It is too early to tell what impact leaving the European Union will have on 
resources. As discussed above, the city region receives European Funding which 
is now in doubt and this could affect our work programme. More widely any 
potential economic impacts that materialise over the coming months / years will 
need to be monitored carefully.

4.4.2 The separate financial monitoring report presented to Executive Board provides 
an initial analysis of the financial risks and implications of Brexit.  

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 There are no significant legal issues relating to the recommendations in this 
report. The mechanics of Brexit are a matter for government. This report is eligible 
for Call-In.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 Leaving the European Union presents risks as outlined in the report. These 
include development, European funding, jobs, disinvestment, community tensions 
and growth is something that the council and its partners will seek to monitor and 
address. Where there are limitations to local powers further lobbying to 
government will be undertaken to present the case for Leeds, the city region and 
the north. 

5 Conclusions

5.1 Following the referendum where the UK voted to leave the European Union, Leeds 
City Council, working closely with partners, will take action to support people, 
growth, businesses, and key institutions in the city against any future challenges. 

5.2 It is likely that there will be a period of economic uncertainty which may have an 
impact on investment and key institutions in the city, including the Council. Many 
of our people will be concerned about the impact on them, particularly EU 
nationals who have chosen Leeds as a place to live and work. 

5.3 The report sets out practical, positive objectives and actions to help minimise any 
negative effects of Brexit. Leeds has proven repeatedly in the past that it is a 

Page 161



resilient city, where people, businesses and key institutions pull together when 
necessary, and we can do so again in the days, weeks and months ahead.

6.   Recommendations

6.1       Executive Board is recommended to approve the following:

1. Request that the Chief Officer Economy and Regeneration identifies the impact 
of the economic uncertainty on major development projects, and measures that 
could be undertaken by the Council working with the LEP and Combined 
Authority to de-risk existing schemes, and to bring forward new projects to take 
advantage of the positive exchange rate.

2. Make the case to Government to secure the European Structural Investment 
Funding (ESIF) committed to Leeds City Region over the remainder of the 
period the UK is a member of the EU, and once the UK leaves the EU, for 
funding to replace the European Funds earmarked for the city region.

3. Request that the Chief Officer Economy and Regeneration puts in place 
strengthened Key Account Management mechanisms for supporting 
businesses, particularly those where there is a potential risk of disinvestment, 
and key institutions in the city that could be affected by changes in EU funding, 
and their ability to recruit staff from across the EU.

4. Request that the Chief Officer Economy and Regeneration sets up a standing 
task force to respond to any major disinvestment and redundancies, by 
providing support for people to find alternative jobs, and seeking to attract 
investment to sites that become available.

5. Continue to promote a tolerant, open and inclusive city. Provide information and 
advice to people on the implications of Brexit and reassuring them they are 
welcome to live and work in Leeds, and monitor and seek to tackle any 
community tensions.

6. Continue to make the case for increased devolution to ensure Leeds and the 
City Region have the powers and resources to respond to changing economic 
circumstances, and to do so in a way that connects local people better with the 
making of decisions that affect their lives.

7. Enhance the image of Leeds on the global stage as an outward-looking, diverse 
and international city by continuing to promote inward investment in Leeds, 
attract international visitors, strengthen existing international partnerships and 
reaffirm our support to the bid for Leeds to become European Capital of Culture 
in 2023. If the UK is not eligible for a Capital of Culture (which is only one of a 
number of possibilities), consider the potential for a major international cultural 
festival to bring people together and to promote Leeds internationally.

7 Background documents1

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 

Page 162



7.1 None.

published works.

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Development Department Service area: Economic Development 

 
Lead person: Gareth Read 
 

Contact number: 2474180 

 
1. Title:  
Economic Success in the City 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
This screening document is in relation to a paper for Executive Board “Leeds City 
Council’s initial response to the referendum on the UK’s membership of European 
Union”. 
 
The paper sets out the Council’s proposed initial response to the referendum on the 
UK’s membership of the European Union held on 23rd June, 2016. Brexit will have 
national and local implications and Leeds will not be immune from its impact. Whilst 
it is important we consider carefully the implications, not all of which are yet 
apparent, there is a need to respond quickly to the initial implications. Our city has 
proved its resilience repeatedly in the past; we have a diverse economy, and are a 
strong community of businesses, institutions and people. 
 
The five main actions in the paper are: 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

X   

Page 165



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

1. Maintaining momentum on major development and infrastructure schemes, 
and economic growth projects; 

2. Supporting business and key institutions; 

3. Creating a more tolerant and united city;  

4. Securing devolution; and  

5. Providing confident, outward-looking leadership and image of Leeds as an 
international city. 

 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

X  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

X  

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

X  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

Page 166



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

 
 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The consequences of brexit will have an impact on the whole of the UK including Leeds. 
There is currently uncertainty with the form that our new relationship with Europe will 
take. A main theme of the Executive Board paper is creating a tolerant and united city, 
through continuing with the council’s values in building a strong economy and 
compassionate city, in accordance with the Best Council Plan.  
 
Any potential negative impacts – including a slowdown in the economy will impact the 
most on the poorest in society, the council is working with businesses and developers in 
Leeds to assess any impact, as it is still too early for the full implications to be known.  
 
EU nationals living in Leeds are likely to feel unsure of their status in the aftermath of the 
referendum, as leaving the EU may end freedom of movement rules. We intend to 
provide information and advice to people on the implications of Brexit whilst reassuring 
them they are welcome to live and work in Leeds. 
 
The young are also disproportionately affected in the sense that the majority voted to 
remain in the EU.  
 
Devolution of powers from Whitehall will have an impact on Leeds citizens as more tax 
revenue will be able to be retained locally and more powers on spending can be 
controlled. These policies are predicted to benefit citizens of Leeds. One of the main 
reasons we are seeking greater devolution from Whitehall is to give us the powers and 
resources to support economic growth.    
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
The referendum resulted in a near even split of voters in Leeds. It is important to respect 
both sides and the paper considers the effects of brexit whilst seeking to promote 
tolerance and a united city. 
 
The report is clear that any unrest or community tensions on particular groups will not be 
tolerated.  

Page 167



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

 
There is a clear need to promote a “business as usual” stance in the uncertain times 
ahead. Work to reassure investors and developers is key as any negative impact will 
have knock effects on jobs and prosperity for the city – affecting all the people of Leeds. 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
The council will do all it can to reassure the citizens of Leeds, business, investors and 
other stakeholders throughout this period of uncertainty. To promote the city and 
continue with its programme to grow the economy whilst being a compassionate city that 
reduces inequality for the benefit of all.  
 
We will continue to make the case for increased devolution to ensure Leeds and the City 
Region have the powers and resources to respond to changing economic circumstances, 
and to do so in a way that connects local people better with the making of decisions that 
affect their lives. 
 
We will aim to enhance the image of Leeds on the global stage as an outward-looking, 
diverse and international city by continuing to promote inward investment in Leeds, 
attract international visitors, and strengthen existing international partnerships. 
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Simon Brereton 
 

Head of Sector 
Development and 
Innovation 

July, 2016 

Date screening completed 7th July, 2016 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 

Page 168



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

5

making report:  
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 

Council. 
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 

and Significant Operational Decisions.  
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 

sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 
 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: July, 2016 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent:  

 
 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive 

Report to:  Executive Board 

Date:  27th July 2016 

Subject:  Compassionate City with a Strong Economy: Financial Strategy 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number 

Summary of main issues 
1. Between the 2010/11 and 2016/17 budgets, Leeds’ core funding from Government 

has reduced by around £214m and in addition the council has faced significant 
demand-led cost pressures.  This means that the council will have had to deliver 
reductions in expenditure and increases in income totalling some £400m by March 
2017.  To date, the council has responded successfully to the challenge and, whilst 
this has not been easy, has marginally underspent in every year since 2010 through 
a combination of stimulating good economic growth and creatively managing 
demand for services alongside a programme of more traditional efficiencies.   

2. However, as signposted in the 2016/17 Best Council Plan and 2016/17 Budget 
reports to Council in February 2016, it will become increasingly difficult over the 
coming years to identify further financial savings without major changes in what the 
council does and how it does it.  This will have significant implications for the 
services provided directly and commissioned by the local authority, impacting upon 
staff, partners and service users.  Those services that are no longer affordable and a 
lesser priority than others will be delivered differently or, in some cases, stopped.  
This will be achieved through a proactive process of policy and service reviews 
across the council’s functions and ongoing consultation and engagement.  
Throughout, there will be a continued focus on delivering the Best Council Plan 
ambitions aimed at tackling poverty and reducing the inequalities that persist across 
Leeds in terms of poverty and deprivation, health and educational attainment, many 
of these being compounded by welfare changes and wider austerity which have 
impacted disproportionately on those most disadvantaged in society. 

3. Government has already provided indicative funding levels for 2017/18 through to 
2019/20 which will see the council’s Settlement Funding Assessment - the core 

Report author: Alan Gay  
Tel: 74226 
 

      
  

Page 171

Agenda Item 14



funding received from Government - reduced by a further £53m of which £25m will 
be cut in 2017/18.  Taking this into consideration with increased demand pressures, 
the estimated funding gap for the period 2017/18 to 2019/20 is substantial: around 
£110m of which £81m is front-loaded into 2017/18.  This estimated funding gap 
recognises the Government’s assessment of Core Spending Power for Leeds and 
therefore assumes for planning purposes Council Tax increases of 1.99% and Adult 
Social Care precept increases of 2% each year from 2017/18 to 2019/20. 

4. As part of Government’s 2016/17 financial settlement, councils have been offered a 
choice in taking up a four-year funding settlement for the period 2016/17 to 2019/20.  
Government states that a multi-year settlement will give greater funding certainty and 
stability to enable more proactive and longer-term planning of local service delivery.  
All local authorities now need to decide whether to accept the Government’s four-
year offer by the 14th October 2016 which will require publishing an updated 
medium-term financial strategy / ‘efficiency plan’.   

5. This report sets out an approach and timetable for updating Leeds’ medium-term 
financial strategy, taking into account the implications of the 4-year funding offer and 
balancing the potential increased income from local taxation and new/increased fees 
and charges against the impact of increasing demand and cost pressures.  It 
considers the actions and decisions that will need to be taken to deliver the Best 
Council Plan outcomes and priorities while staying within our available financial 
resources, emphasising the requirement for early action to increase income and 
reduce spend to address the significant pressures on the 2017/18 budget.  The 
report also considers the consequent implications for our workforce. 

6. The intention is to present the updated financial strategy to the September meeting 
of the Executive Board to inform the Board’s decision on whether or not to accept the 
four-year funding settlement.  This will then form the framework for the 2017/18 
budget.  Today’s report is being presented well in advance of December’s initial 
2017/18 budget proposals to give the Board greater opportunity to consider the 
range of issues. 

Recommendations  
7. Executive Board is recommended to: 

i) Note the medium-term financial challenge and Government’s proposed four-year 
funding settlement for those local authorities choosing to accept this offer.  Also 
to note that the Deputy Chief Executive will present an updated medium-term 
financial strategy at the Board’s September meeting as part of the decision on 
whether or not to accept this four-year settlement. 

ii) Note the service and policy review work underway aimed at continuing to deliver 
the Best Council Plan ambition of tackling poverty and inequalities, whilst at the 
same time addressing the challenges of increasing demand, reducing resources 
and the particular pressures on the council’s 2017/18 budget.   

iii) Express thanks to Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) for its work on fees 
and charges and note the progress made against the recommendations 
approved by the Executive Board in February 2016.  

iv) Note the potential implications for the council’s workforce set out in this report 
and the indicative timescales set out in Appendix 2.

Page 172



 

1. Purpose of this report  

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Executive Board on the development of 
the council’s medium-term financial strategy in the context of the Government’s 
spending plans and local service and financial challenges.  It highlights the scale of 
the challenge and the potential impact in advance of a more detailed report to this 
Board in September. 

1.2 As requested by the Board at its February 2016 meeting, this report also provides a 
progress update on Scrutiny (Strategy & Resources) Board’s recommendations on 
fees and charges. 

2. Background information  

2.1 2015 Spending Review and Autumn Statement 2015  

2.1.1 On 25th November 2015, the Chancellor announced the first combined Spending 
Review and Autumn Statement since 2007.  Compared to the Summer Budget 2015, 
the Office for Budget Responsibility forecast higher tax receipts and lower debt 
interest, with a £27 billion improvement in the public finances over the Spending 
Review period.  The Spending Review set out firm plans for spending on public 
services and capital investment by all central government departments through to 
2019/20.  

2.1.2 Details of the 2015 Spending Review and Autumn Statement were included in the 
Initial Budget report to Executive Board in December 2015.  The main points specific 
for local government are recapped below: 

• Significant reductions to the central government grant to local authorities. 
• Reductions in local authority public health spending with average annual real-

terms savings of 3.9% over the next 5 years which will manifest in reductions to 
the public health grant to local authorities.   

• Introduction of a new power for local authorities with social care responsibilities 
to increase council tax by an Adult Social Care precept of up to and including 
2% per year.  The money raised will have to be spent exclusively on adult 
social care.  Nationally, if all local authorities use this power to its maximum 
effect, it could raise nearly £2 billion a year by 2019/20.  This would be 
equivalent to over £20m per year for Leeds by 2019/20.  Effectively, the 
introduction of this new precept represents a shift in the burden for funding the 
increasing costs of Adult Social Care from national to local taxpayers. The 
redistribution effect should also be noted in that the precept will be most 
beneficial to those local authorities with the largest council tax bases.  

• The Spending Review re-affirmed Government’s commitment to join up health 
and social care. Government will continue the Better Care Fund, maintaining 
the NHS’s mandated contribution in real terms over the Parliament. From 2017, 
central government will make funding available to local government, worth £1.5 
billion by 2019/20, to be included in the Better Care Fund. 

• The Spending Review 2015 indicated that the Government will look at 
reforming the New Homes Bonus, including means of sharpening the incentive 
to reward communities for additional homes and reducing the length of 
payments (the period of time over which Government matches the Council Tax 
raised on each new home) from 6 years to 4 years.  Government’s preferred 

Page 173



option is for savings of at least £800 million with the potential grant reduction for 
Leeds then being in the region of £6m. 

• Confirmation of the previous announcement of the proposal to end national 
uniform business rates with the introduction of 100% retention of business rates 
for local government and the phasing out of the Revenue Support Grant as well 
as introduction of new responsibilities giving councils the power to cut business 
rates to boost growth, and empowering elected city-wide mayors.  

• Allowing local authorities to be able to use 100% of receipts from asset sales 
on the revenue costs of reform projects.  

• Capping the amount of rent that Housing Benefit will cover in the social sector 
to the relevant Local Housing Allowance. 

• Reducing the Education Services Grant by £600m, or 73%.  For Leeds, the 
2015/16 allocation was £9.2m and so applying the same 73%, the reduction 
would be in the region of £6.7m per year.   Clarity is needed around the impact 
and timing of this significant reduction with consultation in 2016 and the 
changes effective from 2017/18.   

• Introduce a new national funding formula for schools to begin to be introduced 
from April 2017. 

• Redistribution: Government to consult on changes to the local government 
finance system to rebalance support including to those authorities with social 
care responsibilities by reassessing needs and taking into account resources 
available to councils, including council tax and business rates. 

2.2 Finance Settlement and the Budget Gap 

2.2.1 The final Local Government Finance Settlement for 2016/17 was announced on 8th 
February 2016 ahead of a formal motion and parliamentary debate two days later.  
Through the settlement the Government introduced a new measure of ‘Core 
Spending Power’ which includes the Settlement Funding Assessment, Council Tax 
income, the improved Better Care Fund (from 2017/18) as well as the New Homes 
Bonus income.  The details of the Leeds Core Spending Power per the settlement 
are provided in table 1 below: 

Table 1: Settlement Funding Assessment – 2015/16 to 2019/20 

 
Actual 

2015/16 
£m 

Actual 
2016/17 

£m 

Indicative 
2017/18 

£m 

Indicative 
2018/19 

£m 

Indicative 
2019/20 

£m 

Settlement Funding Assessment 272.2 238.0 212.9 198.7 184.8 
Council Tax      

Council Tax requirement excluding parish 
precepts (including base growth and 
levels increasing by CPI) 

249.9 261.4 274.7 289.1 304.4 

Additional 2% Adult Social Care precept - 5.1 10.5 16.4 22.8 

Improved Better Care Fund - - 1.5 12.6 22.7 
New Homes Bonus 14.1 17.5 17.6 11.0 10.6 
Leeds Core Spending Power 536.2 516.9 506.7 511.4 522.5 
Year-on-year change: (reduction)/increase - (19.3) (10.2) 4.7 11.1 

Page 174



Change over the Spending Review Period: (reduction)/increase (13.7) 
Change over the Spending Review Period: (reduction)/increase (2.6%) 

2.2.2 The Government’s indicative assessment of the Leeds Core Spending Power shows 
cash reductions in 2016/17 and 2017/18 with cash increases in the following 2 years.  
Overall, the table shows a cash reduction of £13.7m, or 2.6% over the four-year 
period to 2019/20.  It should be stressed that the figures in table 1 are Government’s 
assumptions in respect of the growth in the council tax base, an annual increase in 
Council Tax, additional income from any Adult Social Care precept and the New 
Homes bonus income generated through housing growth and so are not without risk.  
In addition, the assessment of Core Spending Power makes no recognition of 
increased costs through inflation and demand, nor do they factor in the cuts to other 
specific grant funding such as the Public Health grant and the Education Services 
Grant described in section 2.1.2 above. 

2.2.3 In terms of the indicative Settlement Funding Assessment from 2016/17 through to 
2019/20, table 2 below provides the breakdown between the Revenue Support Grant 
and the Business Rates Baseline funding and indicates a 78% reduction in Revenue 
Support Grant by 2019/20. 

Table 2: Settlement Funding Assessment 2015/16 to 2019/20 split by Revenue Support Grant and 
Business Rates baseline funding 

 
Adjusted 
2015/16 

£m 

Final 
2016/17 

£m 

Indicative 
2017/18 

£m 

Indicative 
2018/19 

£m 

Indicative 
2019/20 

£m 

Revenue Support Grant 128.4 93.1 65.0 46.5 27.8 
Business Rates Baseline Funding 143.8 145.0 147.9 152.2 157.1 
Settlement Funding Assessment 272.2 238.0 212.9 198.7 184.8 
In-year reduction - (34.2) (25.2) (14.2) (13.9) 
Cumulative reduction - (34.2) (59.3) (73.5) (87.3) 

2.2.4 In addition to the £34.2m reduction to the council’s Settlement Funding Assessment 
in 2016/17, Government has indicated a further reduction of £53m between 2017/18 
and 2019/20 of which over £25.2m is front-loaded to the 2017/18 financial year. 

2.2.5 Compounding the reductions in government funding, there are a number of other 
cost and funding pressures that need to be taken into account as part of updating the 
2017/18 to 2019/20 financial strategy.  These include: 

• The cost of inflation; 
• The financial impact of demographic changes and increasing demands for 

services, especially in Adult Social Care and Children’s Services; 
• The continuing impact of implementing the national living wage for 

commissioned services;  
• Rising pension costs; 
• Reductions to specific grants, for example, New Homes Bonus, Public Health 

and the Education Services Grant, as noted above; 
• The new apprenticeship levy, to be implemented from April 2017; 

Page 175



• The cost of debt and the Minimum Revenue Provision; and 
• Other cost pressures and non-recurrent funding/savings.  

2.2.6 Table 3 below sets out the council’s estimated budget gap over the next 3 years.  It 
shows that the council’s estimated headline funding gap for the period 2017/18 to 
2019/20 is substantial: around £110m of which £81m is front-loaded into 2017/18.  
This estimate recognises the Government’s assessment of Core Spending Power for 
Leeds through to 2019/20 at table 1 and for planning purposes therefore assumes 
annual rises in the Council Tax and Adult Social Care precept of 1.99% and 2% 
respectively.  The report in September 2016 to update the medium-term financial 
strategy will provide further detail of the assumptions which underpin these 
estimates. 

Table 3: Estimated Budget Pressures – 2017/18 to 2019/20 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Total

£m £m £m £m
Settlement Funding Assessment 25.2 14.2 13.8 53.2
Estimated changes in local funding (23.7) (21.4) (18.0) (63.1)
Other Funding Changes 29.1 (2.4) (6.4) 20.3
Decrease/(increase) in funding 30.6 (9.6) (10.6) 10.4

Inflation 8.3 8.4 8.5 25.2
Pensions - actuarial review 1.5 1.5
Apprentice Levy 1.6 0.0 0.0 1.6
National Living Wage 4.7 4.6 4.6 13.9
Demography & demand 9.0 5.9 4.9 19.8
Debt & Minimum Revenue Provision 20.9 6.2 3.3 30.3
Other cost changes & full year effects 4.3 0.9 1.6 6.8
Estimated increase in costs 50.3 26.0 22.9 99.1

Estimated Budget Gap 80.8 16.4 12.3 109.5

In-year

Decrease/(increase)

 

2.3 Four-year funding settlement 

2.3.1 As part of the 2016/17 financial settlement, Government set out an offer of a four-
year funding settlement for the period 2016/17 to 2019/20 to any council that wishes 
to take it up.   Government states that as part of the move to a more self-sufficient 
local government, these multi-year settlements can provide the funding certainty and 
stability to enable more proactive planning of service delivery and to support 
strategic collaboration with local partners; local authorities should also use their 
multi-year settlements to strengthen financial management and efficiency.  

2.3.2 Government is making a commitment to provide central funding allocations for each 
year of the Spending Review period, should councils choose to accept the offer and 
on the proviso that councils have published an efficiency plan.  The deadline for local 
authorities to choose whether or not to accept the funding offer and, if they are 
accepting, to publish a medium-term financial strategy/efficiency plan, is the 14th 
October 2016. 

Page 176



2.3.3 The intention is therefore to present the updated medium-term financial strategy for 
approval to the September meeting of the Executive Board as part of the decision on 
whether or not to accept the four-year funding settlement.  It should be noted that the 
approval of the medium term financial strategy is not part of the budget and policy 
framework although it will form the basis for setting the 2017/18 budget.  The initial 
2017/18 budget proposals will be brought as usual to the Executive Board in 
December 2016 prior to consultation, recommendation by Executive Board and then 
approval by Full Council in February 2017. 

2.3.4 In preparation, the ‘main issues’ section below describes an approach for updating 
the medium-term financial strategy and considers the actions and decisions required 
to continue delivering the Best Council Plan ambitions and priorities while addressing 
the challenges of increasing demand, reducing resources and the particular 
pressures on the council’s 2017/18 budget. 

3. Main Issues  
3.1 Policy & Service Reviews 
3.1.1 In February 2016, Full Council approved the 2016/17 Best Council Plan and the 

supporting Budget.  The Best Council Plan is the council’s strategic planning 
document and sets the context and policy direction against which the budget and 
medium-term financial strategy are developed.  The policy direction is clearly 
explained in the 2016/17 Best Council Plan: that the council’s ‘Best City’ and ‘Best 
Council’ ambitions remain - articulated around Leeds having a strong economy and 
being a compassionate city and the council being an efficient and enterprising 
organisation – with a focus on reducing poverty and tackling the range of interlinked 
inequalities that persist across the city.   

3.1.2 The reports that accompanied the proposals to Executive Board and then Full 
Council on the 2016/17 Best Council Plan and Budget identified that the future 
financial climate for local government presented significant risks and challenges to 
the council’s priorities and ambitions and that, whilst every effort would be made to 
protect the front-line delivery of services, changes to what the council does and how 
it does it would be unavoidable.   

3.1.3 To help identify options for what those changes might be, from April 2016 an ongoing 
process of review has been underway across a range of services and policy areas 
with the active involvement of the Best Council Leadership Team (the c. 50 most 
senior managers) and service managers throughout the organisation.  With the Best 
Council Plan focus on tackling inequalities being central to any proposals, the 
reviews will identify possible savings / income generation opportunities, decision-
making routes for any changes to be implemented, initial identification of possible 
third sector and equality impacts and a high-level risk assessment.  Of particular 
note are the two key cross-cutting reviews on Support Services and Locality Working 
/ Leadership (both incorporating reviews of JNC – senior management – staff) and 
reviews assessing options around income and trading.   

3.1.4 The latter follows on from Executive Board’s approval at its February 2016 meeting 
of the recommendations in the report on fees and charges from Scrutiny Board 
(Strategy & Resources).  These included agreement that all fees would be reviewed 
annually by at least the rate of inflation, that officers should benchmark their charging 
frameworks each year and that full-cost recovery in line with CIPFA guidance should 
apply as part of the annual budget setting process.  As requested at this Board’s 

Page 177



February meeting, Appendix 1 provides an update against the full set of 
recommendations.  

3.1.5 The service and policy reviews have been – and will continue to be – updated as 
part of an iterative approach to developing the council’s strategic plan and aligned 
medium-term financial strategy and annual budgets.  All services are within scope 
though the council remains committed to protecting front-line services as far as 
possible – especially those that provide support to the most vulnerable.   

3.1.6 Whilst no decisions have been taken yet to implement the policy and service 
reviews, it is clear from the scale of the financial challenge, and particularly the front-
loading impact into 2017/18, that the impact on council services and functions will be 
significant.  The potential consequential impact on the staffing workforce is 
discussed in section 3.2 below, and the impact on equalities, partners and outcomes 
will be fully considered as part of the decision-making processes. 

3.2 Workforce Implications 
3.2.1 Following the 2015 Comprehensive Spending Review the council re-issued a 

Section 188 notice (notice to collectively consult to avoid redundancies issued under 
s.188 TULRCA 1992) stating that it is anticipated the council will need to downsize 
by 1,000 – 2,000 FTEs by the end of March 2020.  A broad estimate is that the 
required reduction in staff numbers will be 800 FTEs during 2016/17 with a further 
500 FTE reduction during 2017/18.  The council will continue to seek ways of 
avoiding compulsory redundancies - for example through the authority’s Early 
Leavers Initiative (ELI) scheme and normal staff turnover - however, it is unlikely that 
this will be sufficient.  

3.2.2 The process for making redundancies is clearly set out in the council’s Managing 
Staffing Reductions (MSR) policy and is based on the assumption that the 
requirement for activities and / or work has either lessened or stopped.   

3.2.3 There are specific timescales set out in law for collective consultation to avoid 
redundancies which must be adhered to in order to avoid the very real risk of legal 
challenge around failing to meet minimum consultation requirements, incorrect 
selection for redundancy and/or failure to give adequate notice of termination due to 
redundancy.  An indicative timeline is provided at Appendix 2 to this report.  From 
this, it can be seen that the council will need to embark on this programme urgently 
in order to deliver the required reduction in the workforce for 2016/17 through fair 
and transparent consultation and selection processes.   

3.3 European Union  
3.3.1 At the time of writing, the country faces a period of political, fiscal and economic 

uncertainty following the results of June’s EU referendum with potentially wide-
ranging implications/uncertainties in terms of:  

• An uncertain economic outlook potentially impacting on levels of trade and 
investment; 

• Potentially rising inflation; 
• Interest rate volatility impacting on the council’s debt costs;  
• Impact on the labour market, both around make-up and availability;  
• The UK’s legislative and regulatory framework will require in-depth review and 

revision; and  

Page 178



• At the time of writing, there is currently a degree of political uncertainty at central 
government level. 

3.3.2 The effects for local government and local communities will emerge over the coming 
months and years.  The council remains committed to working with partners across 
all sectors to deliver our Best City / Best Council ambition whilst anticipating and 
responding to the economic, political and social challenges and opportunities that 
emerge with our service and financial strategies continually kept under review. 

3.4 Timetable 
3.4.1 The specific decisions around the service and policy change proposals will be taken 

in line with the council’s decision-making framework over the coming months as 
required and factored into the 2017/18 Best Council Plan and Budget proposals.  
Key dates and activities are shown below: 

Activities Description Timescales 

Efficiency plan Development Jul – Sep 2016 

Executive Board – Draft plan 21 Sep 2016 

Deadline for response to Government on 4-year financial 
settlement & link to published efficiency plan 14 Oct 2016 

2017/18 Best 
Council Plan 
& Budget 

Executive Board – Initial proposals 14 Dec 2016 

Executive Board – Final proposals 8 Feb  2017 

Full Council – Executive Board recommendations 22 Feb  2017 

Workforce Staff & trade union consultation, HR processes (see 
Appendix 2) 

Jul 2016 – Mar 
2017(indicative) 

Service & 
Policy reviews 

Service reviews revised, new review areas / proposals 
brought forwards, medium-term financial strategy updated 

Jul 2016 – Mar 
2017 & beyond 

4. Corporate Considerations 
4.1 Consultation and Engagement  
4.1.1 Embracing the concept of civic enterprise set out in the Leeds-led ‘Commission on 

the Future of Local Government’, it is clear that the council needs to work differently 
in the future. We must move away from a heavily paternalistic role where we largely 
provide services, towards a greater civic leadership role where we work with people 
rather than doing things to or for them unless they need this. 

4.1.2 To achieve changes on the scale proposed will require city-wide and local 
conversations about the council and its future role.  These conversations need to go 
beyond the traditional consultation methods used for budget setting or changes to 
services.  We will undertake significant and ongoing engagement with staff across 
the council, elected members, the public and partners on the future priorities, shape 
and funding model of the council.  At the core of the engagement will be discussions 
that redefine the social contract – the relationship between public services and 

Page 179



citizens where there is a balance between rights and responsibilities.  These 
conversations will focus on the likely future extent of council services and what 
responsibilities partners and the public should take on to look after themselves, 
others and the places they live and work.  If more people are able to do more 
themselves, the council and its partners can more effectively concentrate and 
prioritise services and resources to those communities and areas most in need. 

4.1.3 Where there are specific and imminent changes proposed to council services, we will 
use normal business processes to engage users and staff to inform decision-making.  

4.1.4 When considering any workforce change the trade unions should be meaningfully 
engaged at the earliest opportunity.  The council re-issued the Section 188 notice 
following the Comprehensive Spending Review last year, which triggered the 
consultation process around the mitigation of redundancies and there have been 
regular meetings with trade union colleagues about how we can work together to 
meet our financial challenges.  Now the financial position has become clearer, 
further discussions have taken place with the trade unions, most recently at the 
council’s Corporate Joint Consultative Committee on 24th May 2016 where the 
anticipated staffing reductions were outlined.  More focused consultation will need to 
take place once the proposals regarding workforce changes become clearer and 
more defined.   

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 
4.2.1 The council continues to have a clear approach to embedding equality in all aspects 

of its work and recognises the lead role we have in the city to promote equality and 
diversity.  This includes putting equality into practice, taking into account legislative 
requirements, the changing landscape in which we work and the current and future 
financial challenges that the city faces. 

4.2.2 As an example of the commitment to equality, scrutiny will again play a strong role             
in challenging and ensuring equality is considered appropriately within the decision-
making processes.  

4.2.3 The proposals within this report have been screened for relevance to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration and a full strategic analysis and assessment will 
be undertaken on the Financial Strategy 2017/18 - 2019/20 and associated 
service/policy review programme.   

4.2.4 Specific equality impact assessments will also be undertaken on the implementation 
of all budget decisions as they are considered during the decision-making processes 
in 2016/17.  As part of this, the proposed revenue budget for 2017/18 will be subject 
to Equality Impact Assessments where appropriate with details included in the 
2017/18 budget proposal reports to this Board and subsequently Full Council. 

4.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan 
4.3.1 The approach and timetable set out in this report for updating Leeds’ medium-term 

financial strategy, developing the 2017/18 budget and the actions required to deliver 
the Best Council plan outcomes and priorities within tightening financial resources 
are in line with the council’s budget and policy framework.  They will also inform the 
development of the 2017/18 Best Council Plan. 

4.4 Resources and Value for Money 
4.4.1 All financial and workforce implications are considered in the main body of the report. 

Page 180



4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 
4.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.  Any proposals resulting from 

the ongoing service / policy reviews will be subject to specific decision-making 
processes in which the legal implications, access to information and call-in will be 
considered in accordance with the council’s decision-making framework.  This 
includes compliance with the legal requirements around managing staffing 
reductions. 

4.6 Risk Management 
4.6.1 Making changes to council services carries a number of significant risks that will 

need to be carefully managed in line with the council’s Risk Management Policy.  
However, failure to make these changes will require the council to consider even 
more difficult decisions that will have a far greater impact upon front-line services, 
including those that support the most vulnerable, and thus our Best Council Plan 
ambition to tackle poverty and inequalities. 

4.6.2 Key risks include: 

• Risks to people: 
o Failure to consider the potential cumulative impact of proposals on specific 

population groups; 
o Failure to identify and mitigate unintended consequences; 
o Failure to manage demand; 
o Failure to invest in early intervention / preventative measures; 
o Best Council Plan outcomes and ambitions not achieved, inequalities 

worsen; 

• Financial risks: 

o Economic uncertainty related to the result of the EU referendum impacts 
on local government and our partners; 

o Uncertainties around the levels of funding, other sources of income, costs 
and demand; 

o Delays in the implementation of any proposals impacting upon delivery of 
the anticipated financial savings/additional income; 

o Actual financial savings/additional income delivered are less than those 
required; 

o Failure to deliver the 2016/17 budget, increasing the 2017/18 pressures; 

• Workforce risks: 

o Process for managing staff reductions (and associated development of ELI 
offer) unclear, insufficiently communicated and/or delayed, damaging staff 
morale and impacting upon financial savings required – key source of 
delay may be insufficient capacity across the organisation to deliver the 
required reductions within the required timescales; 

o Council no longer seen as an employer of choice;   

• Legal / regulatory breach & resulting challenge: 
o Council’s statutory / regulatory duties not met; 
o Failure to ensure due regard for consultation, equality and diversity; and 
o Failure to comply with legal requirements for managing staffing reductions. 

Page 181



4.6.3 A full risk assessment will be undertaken of the council’s financial plans as part of 
the normal budget process and a full analysis of budget risks will continue to be 
maintained, subject to monthly review as part of the in-year monitoring and 
management of the budget.  Any significant and new risks/budget variations will 
continue to be included in the in-year financial reports brought to the Executive 
Board. 

4.6.4 In addition, risks identified in relation to specific proposals and their management will 
be reported to relevant member and officer decision-makers as required.   

5. Conclusions 

5.1 The council is facing continued financial pressures through a combination of reduced 
funding, rising costs and growing demand.  The scale of the funding gap between 
2017/18 and 2019/20 is projected to be in the order of £110m, £81m of this front-
loaded to 2017/18.  In response, the council will need to make significant changes in 
the way it works and what it does, informed by ongoing engagement with staff, 
elected members, the public and partners on the future priorities, shape and funding 
model of the council. 

5.2 Those services that are no longer affordable and a lesser priority than others will be 
delivered differently, reduced or, in some cases, stopped.  This will have implications 
for the council’s service users, partners and workforce and so, although the council 
will continue to seek ways of avoiding compulsory redundancies, it is unlikely that the 
level of savings required can be achieved without this.  Throughout any programme 
of redundancies, the council’s Managing Staffing Reductions Policy will be adhered 
to. 

5.3 A planned and iterative approach is being taken to review a range of service and 
policy areas to identify potential savings and income generation opportunities.  
These will inform the development of the council’s medium-term financial strategy 
and response to Government this autumn on whether or not to accept its 4-year 
financial settlement.    

5.4 While all services are within scope, the council remains committed to protecting 
front-line services as far as possible – especially those that provide support to the 
most vulnerable in line with our stated Best Council Plan ambitions to tackle poverty 
and reduce inequalities.   

6. Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to: 
i) Note the medium-term financial challenge and Government’s proposed four-year 

funding settlement for those local authorities choosing to accept this offer.  Also 
to note that the Deputy Chief Executive will present an updated medium-term 
financial strategy at the Board’s September meeting as part of the decision on 
whether or not to accept this four-year settlement. 

ii) Note the service and policy review work underway aimed at continuing to deliver 
the Best Council Plan ambition of tackling poverty and inequalities, whilst at the 
same time addressing the challenges of increasing demand, reducing resources 
and the particular pressures on the council’s 2017/18 budget. 

Page 182



iii) Express thanks to Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) for its work on fees and 
charges and note the progress made against the recommendations approved by 
the Executive Board in February 2016.  

iv) Note the potential implications for the council’s workforce set out in this report 
and the indicative timescales set out in Appendix 2. 

7. Background Documents1 

7.1 There are no background documents relating to this report. 

 

 

 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 183



 

Appendix 1: Fees & Charges Update to Executive Board 27/7/16 
 
On 10th Feb 2016, Executive Board received a report on Fees and Charges from Scrutiny 
Board (Strategy & Resources).  Executive Board agreed the recommendations and tasked 
officers with reporting back as appropriate.  The following paragraphs provide an update on 
the agreed recommendations. 

• Recommendation 1: That Executive Board agrees the proposed changes to the 
Fees and Charges Policy and Best Practice Guidance. 
Update: The policy has been redrafted and published on Insite. The new document 
has also been promoted to increase awareness and understanding. 

 
• Recommendation 2: That all fees are reviewed annually and the normal 

expectation is that they would increase by at least the rate of inflation and be 
implemented on 1st January. 
Update: Arrangements are in place to ensure that where desirable fees are 
increased by at least inflation on 1st January each year. Although this change was 
only agreed in February 2016 many of our fees have been increased by 3% for 2016. 
The next fees increase will take place on or before 1st January 2017. 

 
• Recommendation 3: That directorates review and look at refreshing policies or 

charging frameworks on an annual basis. 
Update: As part of the Fees and Charges Best Practice Guidance officers are asked 
to benchmark against other comparable authorities. Evidence over the last three 
years suggests that we are comparing better with others and the gap is narrowing. 

 
• Recommendation 4: That directorates ensure that all possible costs in line 

with CIPFA’s service Reporting Code of Practice for local Authorities are 
accounted for in relation to those services where legislation states that fees 
can only recover costs. 
Update: There is currently an inconsistent approach to calculating costs and setting 
fees and charges for services. To address this Executive Board agreed that CIPFA’s 
rules on calculating ‘full cost’ should be adopted. This policy will be introduced during 
the 2017/18 budget setting process and will mean that elected members will see the 
true level of subsidy for each service allowing comparisons between services to be 
made. Members will then be able to make informed decisions about the level of 
subsidy for each service. To facilitate this happening directorates will produce true 
cost statements for each charged for service as part of the 2017/18 budget 
preparation process. 

 
• Recommendation 5: That the Executive Board actively considers the list of 

potential new fee areas drawn up by this Scrutiny Board and where 
appropriate request that officers undertake a full cost benefit analysis. 
Update: Officers have produced a briefing document for each one of the potential 
new fee areas drawn up by Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board. These have all 
been considered by CLT and Cabinet and the vast majority of them are now being 
prepared for more formal consideration by Members as part of the 2017/18 budget 
preparations.  

 

Page 184



• Recommendation 6: That in relation to non-residential Adult Social care 
Services, the Executive Board considers either increasing or removing the 
current cap on the amount anyone pays for their services per week. 
Update: Executive Board at its 10th February meeting agreed to raise the maximum 
amount anyone pays for their services per week to the equivalent of 85% of the cost 
of a typical older person's residential placement i.e. £375 per week at current prices.  

 
• Recommendation 7: That Executive Board looks at providing a budget to fund 

work/resources to generate income. 
Update: Resources were provided in the 2016/17 budget to fund income generation 
work.  To date two seminars have been held on trading and income generation and 
there is also an expectation that as 2017/18 budget options are further developed 
this resource may be used to work up income generation ideas. 

 

Page 185



 
Appendix 2: Managing Staff Reductions Policy Indicative Timeline 

 
                      
ACTIVITY Month 1 Month 2 Month 3 Month 4 Month 5 Month 6 Month 7 Month 8 Month 9 Month 10 

  
         

  
CONSULTATION PERIOD (Note 1)           

    
  

  
         

  
Consultation (Note 2)     

       
  

  
         

  
Apply selection criteria 

 
    

      
  

  
         

  
Individual consultation period 

  
      

    
  

  
         

  
Carry out equality impact assessment on proposals           

    
  

  
         

  
Redundancy meeting ('hearing') (Note 3) 

   
    

    
  

  
         

  
Notice period (+ 1 month) (Note 4) 

     
          

  
         

  
Notice period (+2 months) (Note 4) 

     
          

  
         

  
Appeals 

     
          

  
         

  
Redeployment options, trial periods                     
                      

Notes 
1. Minimum consultation period needs to be at least 30 days (if 20-99 employees redundant within 90 days), or 45 days (if more than 100 employees affected). 
2. Reasons for reductions; consider alternatives to redundancy; proposed selection criteria etc. 
3. Consultation events, individual consultation meetings and redundancy meetings ('hearings') will need to be phased as HR/Trade Union availability to support 

these meetings needs to be scheduled over an appropriate period. 
4. The notice period enhancement agreed in the December 2014 collective agreement was to reduce to + 1 month and we have met the criteria to do this; 

however, no decision to move to this has been taken, so the timeline above allows for 3+1 month and 3+2 months. 

P
age 186



Report of Director of City Development

Report to Executive Board

Date: 27 July 2016

Subject: Leeds Innovation District

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): City & Hunslet

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. The cities that will be successful in the modern economy are those that can harness 
and commercialise the knowledge, creativity, and ideas from their most innovative 
people and institutions. Universities, research intensive health services, government 
functions and knowledge intensive firms have an important role to play, and by 
working together can create the new innovations, products, processes and high growth 
firms to drive economic development. In Leeds City Centre many of these functions 
are in close proximity, with development potential as these organisations reconfigure 
their estates. This creates an opportunity of international significance to develop an 
innovation district, a 21st century science park, which could be a flagship economic 
growth initiative for Leeds, Leeds City Region, and the north of England.   

2. This report sets out the potential for developing the concept of an “innovation district” 
for Leeds. This would comprise the main city centre campuses of the University of 
Leeds, Leeds Becket University, potentially the Leeds College of Art and Leeds City 
College, the Leeds Teaching Hospital Trust’s Leeds General Infirmary site, and the 
Leeds City Council estate in the Civic Quarter. This would be a significant, contiguous 
area of Leeds City Centre which already has important innovation assets, and which 
will see substantial change as a result of new investments and estates reconfiguration.

3. An innovation district for Leeds would be a catalyst for productive, sustainable and 
inclusive economic development. It could enable creation and growth of firms, and 
inward investment by enabling businesses, entrepreneurs, universities clinicians and 
government leaders collaborate across sectors, organisations and disciplines. It could 

Report author:  Tom Bridges
Tel:  0113 22 43735

Page 187

Agenda Item 15



also expand job and educational opportunities for people and to inspire young people 
around the range of potential career paths in the modern economy.

4. It could bring together some of our city’s most creative and innovative institutions, 
businesses and people who thrive from proximity enabling ideas and knowledge to be 
shared and developed. Increasingly businesses and people are demanding and 
expecting better choices of where to work, live and spend leisure time; they want 
walkable neighbourhoods with attractive spaces, jobs, space for research and 
learning, housing, and amenities. 

5. At a time of weak productivity growth, an innovation district for Leeds has the potential 
to be the catalyst for productive, sustainable and inclusive economic development. It 
could enable creation and growth of firms, and inward investment, by enabling 
businesses, entrepreneurs, universities clinicians and government leaders collaborate 
across sectors, organisations and disciplines. 

6. At a time of increasing economic uncertainty, social inequality and austerity an 
innovation district could help expand job and educational opportunities for people and 
communities in deprived neighbourhoods, and to inspire young people around the 
range of potential career paths in the modern economy. 

7. And at a time of increasing concern about the environment and air quality, an 
innovation district for Leeds could be an exemplar of sustainable development based 
on high density living and working, excellent public transport, and low carbon energy. 

8. The concept of an innovation district for Leeds could include a coherent approach to: 
supporting economic growth; masterplanning, public space, access and movement; 
promoting Leeds as a location for inward investment; creating an exemplar for smart, 
sustainable growth; and enhancing development value for public sector organisations. 

9. A range a short term actions over the next nine months are identified within this report, 
which are aimed at working with partner organisations to develop the concept further. 

Recommendation

9.   Executive Board is recommended to: 

 a. Support the formation of a partnership between Leeds City Council, University of 
Leeds, Leeds Beckett University and Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trusts; to further 
develop the concept of an innovation district for Leeds;

b. Agree that the Director of City Development allocates funding from existing City 
Development Directorate budgets, in order to progress masterplan, strategy and 
branding work over the next six to nine months, on the basis that the other key 
partners would contribute;

c. Agree that, as part of the masterplanning work, planning policy and the approach 
to highways and transport are considered and reviewed where necessary; and

     
     d. Agree that the branding and marketing work is carried out and that an investment 

proposition is developed.

Page 188



1.0 Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to:

 set out the potential for developing the concept of an “innovation district” for 
Leeds;

 provide background information about innovation districts to Executive Board, 
and to advise how the development of one in Leeds could be beneficial for the 
city; and 

 seek approval to carry out a range of short and medium term activities in order 
to develop the concept further. 

2 Background information

2.1 The Concept of Innovation Districts

2.1.1 Several US cities have pioneered the concept of innovation districts. The term was 
coined by the urban economist Bruce Katz, Director of the Metropolitan Policy 
Programme at the Brookings Institution in Washington DC (see 
http://www.brookings.edu/about/programs/metro/innovation-districts)

2.1.2 The intention is to capture and maximise the benefits of the trend of knowledge 
intensive economic activity and jobs clustering in city centres. In the 1980s and 
1990s increasingly firms undertaking research and development and with highly 
skilled workforces decentralised to out of town business parks to where people 
would drive to work and keep their ideas secret within their buildings. Increasingly 
now and over recent years these functions have moved back into city centres, 
where people walk, cycle or travel to work by public transport, and where they 
share their ideas in, what Katz calls, “the hyper-caffeinated spaces” between the 
buildings.

2.1.3 The move back towards city centres is part of a wider process of agglomeration, 
where high densities of knowledge intensive functions enable people and firms to 
copy, collaborate and compete to generate and commercialise ideas and to boost 
productivity. These activities are attracted to city centres for a number of reasons: 
proximity to major transport hubs that enable them to access a skilled workforce 
across a wide area; the retail, leisure and cultural offer which is important to 
attracting and retaining talented people; and, significantly, proximity to anchor 
institutions for innovation in the universities, healthcare and government sectors.

2.1.4 Innovation districts are where cities seek to attract new research facilities, provide 
a range of work spaces (including incubation and co-working spaces), create 
development opportunities to attract new occupiers, and provide new high density 
housing to attract and retain skilled workers. 

Page 189

http://www.brookings.edu/about/programs/metro/innovation-districts


2.2 Case Studies

2.2.1 Cambridge / Boston, Massachusetts 

There is already a cluster of high value activities, with a particular focus on digital 
and healthcare technologies at Kendal Square and around MIT and Mass General 
Hospital. The City of Boston is also bringing forward the regeneration of the South 
Boston Waterfront, a former industrial area, which has been opened up by new 
transport links, renovation of historic buildings and the waterfront, new cultural 
attractions, which has been supplemented by advanced research institutions and 
anchor companies. There is an interesting potential parallel here in terms of a link 
and coherent approach between a potential innovation district around the 
universities and hospital in Leeds, and the regeneration of Leeds South Bank.

2.2.2 Kings Cross Central, London 

Developers Argent had a clear strategy to secure anchor institutions for innovation 
and creativity such as the University of the Arts, and the Crick Institute. They 
leveraged the value of the site’s proximity to the British Library, UCL and the 
Wellcome Trust to attract high value occupiers such as Google. A high quality, 
distinctive retail offer, hosing, workspace for start-up companies, world class public 
realm have contributed to creating a new successful urban district in a formerly 
run-down part of central London.

2.3 The Case for Leeds

2.3.1 Leeds is already benefitting from the trends of agglomeration noted in 2.1.3. 
Research by Centre for Cities (Core Strength, Supporting the Growth of Leeds 
City Centre, Centre for Cities, December 2014) showed how Leeds City Centre 
has seen levels of private sector jobs growth that outstrip the city and city region 
as a whole. Around 50% of all private sector jobs in Leeds City Centre are in 
Knowledge Intensive Business Services, as opposed to 25% for the city region as 
a whole. 

2.3.2 Leeds City Centre already has significant assets: 

 two universities; 

 Leeds General Infirmary (one of largest teaching hospitals in Europe);

 leading art and music colleges; 

 the UK’s largest financial and business services sector outside London; 

 a fast growing digital sector; 

 the UK’s only global internet node outside London; 

 a successful retail core; 

 major cultural attractions (the only city centre outside London that is home 
to major opera, theatre and dance companies); and

 the busiest railway station in the north of England.  

Page 190



2.3.3 The city centre is set to benefit from major current and future investments. These 
include Victoria Gate which will take Leeds into the top five UK retail destinations; 
HS2 and HS3 creating a transport hub at Leeds station used by more people than 
Gatwick Airport is today; high quality residential developments; a Government hub 
bringing together national government functions from across Yorkshire; a £3.7 
million tech hub, and the Burberry manufacturing facility and wider mixed use 
development. The regeneration of Leeds South Bank will double the size of the 
city centre, and there are also major areas for expansion in the West End 
(Wellington Place, Whitehall Riverside, former Yorkshire Post and International 
Pool sites, and Kirkstall Rd); and to the east on the Victoria Gate Phase 2 and 
Quarry Hill sites.

Figure 1. Location of high-skilled jobs in Leeds City region, 2011 (source: 
Centre for Cities)

 

2.3.4 An innovation district to the north of the city provides an opportunity for further 
expansion on land freed up by consolidating hospital and local government 
functions on a smaller geographic footprint. More importantly it can help ensure 
the city makes the most of its existing leading-edge facilities and functions in this 
part of the city, as well as major new developments such as the University 
Innovation and Enterprise Centre.

2.3.5 The University Innovation and Enterprise Centre (UIEC) will provide a place 
where businesses and other external organisations looking to innovate, be more 

Page 191



productive and grow can access the University’s capabilities and talent. The new 
10,000m2 Centre will be a hub for the growing innovation community in Leeds, 
creating new jobs and investment. Leeds Becket University are planning 
significant investments in their city centre estate. The proximity of Leeds College 
of Art, and buildings occupied currently by Leeds City College also provide 
opportunities. The Council will also be bringing forward the Leonardo Buildings, 
and 2 Great George Street for re-use and / or redevelopment once the Merion 
House scheme is complete.

2.3.6  It could help Leeds to create and retain more university spin out firms and have 
general benefits across areas such as advanced materials, engineering, 
environmental technologies and medical and health. It could connect the 
universities and hospital better with the wider city centre, creating value to a wider 
range of businesses.

2.3.7 This potential was identified in the Centre for Cities report:

“Both the LGI and the universities have a potentially important role to play in 
supporting innovation in the city centre. Given the research and teaching that is 
conducted in both it is likely that there will also be knowledge spillovers generated 
that benefit local businesses.  Work by the Brookings Institute has looked at the 
role that such institutions play in cities in America, identifying them as anchors in 
what they call “innovation districts”.  These districts result from information and 
ideas being able to be exchanged more easily as a result of the proximity of 
different businesses and research institutions…

the way that public realm is designed and laid out influences the way that people 
interact in and travel across a city centre. This means that it will have an impact on 
business location decisions and the way that different cultural medical and 
educational institutions are linked to each other and to the business community of 
the city centre. This in itself is likely to facilitate interactions not only between 
businesses but also between the university, the hospital and the private sector, 
increasing the amount of innovation that occurs within the city centre.”

2.3.8 The Innovation District would complement the development of other parts of 
Leeds City Centre, such as the South Bank. The South Bank provides potential 
for development of huge scale in offices, residential, advanced manufacturing, 
education, green space, and to build on its existing position as a major hub of 
digital businesses. The South Bank, along with other growth areas such as the 
Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone in the Aire Valley, Thorpe Park, and White 
Rose can offer grow-on space for firms that are incubated in the innovation district 
and then need grow-on space.  

3.0 Main issues 

3.1 The concept of an innovation district for Leeds could include a coherent approach 
to:

 Supporting economic growth – leveraging the benefits of a cluster of world class 
research activities and facilities, and organisations that are at the forefront in 

Page 192



innovation in public services to create opportunities for business start-ups, 
growth and investment;

 Masterplanning, public space, access and movement – to link the area together, 
integrate it with the rest of the city, and attract investment and talent; 

 Promoting Leeds as a location for inward investment, providing a clear and 
attractive destination for investment, and strengthening our existing offer;

 Creating an exemplar for smart, sustainable growth in the modern knowledge 
economy, a place that can inspire young people, and spaces that become a 
greater part of the civic life of the city; and

 Enhancing development value – enabling LTHT and Leeds City Council to 
secure development finance and capital receipts.

3.2 A report to Executive Board in October 2015 ‘An Approach to Street Design and 
Public Realm in Leeds City Centre’ stated that good quality public realm can enhance 
people’s experience of Leeds, while improving, promoting and managing the city centre as a 
business location and an engine for economic growth. Executive Board agreed to develop a 
strategic plan for public realm improvements in the city centre, and the opportunities arising 
from the proposed innovation district will be considered as part of that strategic plan. 

3.3 The document ‘Our Transport Vision for a 21st Century Leeds’ recognises that 
transport is a fundamental component of what makes a prosperous, liveable, healthy and 
sustainable 21st century city.  The vision presents a short, medium and long term transport 
investment programme. Furthermore, following the decision not to procede with the NGT 
Trolleybus scheme, transport vision work is currently ongoing, and the proposals for an 
innovation district will be considered alongside, and potentially inform, the cities transport 
aspirations for the medium and long term. 

Masterplanning, movement and infrastructure

3.4    There could be a shared masterplan for the innovation districy, which would not seek 
to unpick existing committed projects, but could ensure existing plans are integrated 
and become more than the sum of their constituent parts in terms of:

• Creating attractive gateways and connections between the main buildings 
and hubs that are part of the innovation district, and with the wider city 
centre;

• Understanding and realising opportunities to reconfigure the road network 
and create better pedestrian, cycle and public transport connections serving 
the area;

• A shared plan for 21st century infrastructure, including broadband and low 
carbon energy; and

• Creating world class public spaces and increasing access to and animation 
of existing ones.

Page 193



Development opportunities

3.5   Potential development opportunities as part of a Leeds Innovation District could 
include:

• New teaching and research space;

• New clinical healthcare facilities;

• The modern office accommodation for Leeds City Council that is already 
planned;

• A range of office space, including incubation facilities, grow-on space, and 
space suitable for larger occupiers who value proximity to the universities, 
hospital and Council; 

• New or improved cultural and conferencing venues;

• Student accommodation;

• Residential development aimed at graduates and key workers;

• Hotels; and

• New and improved public spaces.

3.6      Business Growth and Investment

3.6.1 The Innovation district concept needs to be more than just a physical development 
scheme. The right ecosystem of business and research support will be needed. 

3.6.2 This could include support for businesses that are seeking to spin out of the 
university, hospitals and Council, and links to grow on space elsewhere in the city. 
This support could include facilitating the building peer networks, mentoring, and 
access to finance (including angel investment)..

3.6.3 There would be a need to promote the innovation district as a location for 
investment. This would need to go beyond branding and marketing activity. It should 
focus on developing specific investment propositions around the ideas and 
expertise within Leeds, as well as the property investment opportunities.

3.6.4 There is an opportunity to build on the position of Leeds as a centre of expertise for 
health innovation, and digital. Both these sectors have been identified in the 
Northern Powerhouse Independent Economic Review as two of the four areas 
where the North has “Prime Capabilities” in terms of particular economic strengths 
(the other two areas are Advanced Manufacturing and Energy). 

3.6.5 Leeds is the world’s leading city for digital health. The city is home to the NHS 
information unit, the two largest private sector providers of health information 
systems (EMIS and TPP), and world leading university capabilities. Leeds has more 
health data scientists than any other city in the world. The main organisations in the 
healthcare system in Leeds have formed the Leeds Academic Health Partnership to 

Page 194



drive collaboration and innovation across the system to improve outcomes for 
patients and people, deliver efficiencies, and to create business opportunities from 
innovation. Leeds has also huge strengths in medical technologies, and medical 
and biological engineering. The city has several firms that design and manufacturer 
medical and surgical devices, implants, replacement joints and prosethics. These 
firms work closely with Leeds Teaching Hospital Trust, and the University of Leeds 
who have also spun out a range of medical technology start-up businesses.

Branding and Identity

3.6.6 The branding of the district will need to be carefully considered with partner 
organisations in order to maximise the opportunities that it presents.

Figure 2. Potential Leeds innovation district in the context of a growing city centre

3.7 Potential Next Steps

3.7.1 Within 2-3 months

 Refine the outline proposal for a Leeds Innovation District project;

 Secure formal approval the work together on this concept from the relevant 
organisations;

 Form working group with clear terms of reference;

 Undertake some initial scoping work on the spatial vision and master planning 
framework; 

Page 195



 Undertake some further initial scoping work on how an Innovation District could 
boost economic growth in Leeds; and 

 Develop a consultation and engagement plan.

3.7.2 Within 6 months

 Produce an outline business case / proposition to set out the detailed work, 
including a full equality impact assessment; 

 Specify programme, investment and capacity needed to make an Innovation District 
a reality; and

 Produce a masterplan which sets out how the estates plans of relevant 
organisations will be integrated, and the Innovation District will be connected 
seamlessly to the wider city / city centre.   

3.7.3 Within 9 months

 Appoint team to drive project forward;

 Identify the specific first stage investment opportunities;

 Develop an identity and brand; and

 Launch.

4.0 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 Initial discussions have taken place at a senior level with key partner organisations, 
including Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust, University of Leeds and Leeds Beckett 
University, who are supportive in principle of the concept of an innovation district for 
Leeds. 

4.1.2 A full consultation and engagement plan will be developed as part of the ‘next steps’ 
stages identified in this report.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration.  

4.2.1 The impacts of an innovation district are potentially wide-ranging and substantial. 

4.2.2 An equality impact assessment will be carried out as part of the ‘next steps’ stages 
identified in this report.

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan 

4.3.1 The Council’s ‘Best Council Plan’ includes among its six key objectives to support 
communities and tackle poverty, and to promote sustainable and inclusive 

Page 196



economic growth. It also contains seven breakthrough projects, of which one is 
“Rethinking the city centre”.

4.3.2 Furthermore, “Good Growth” and “21st Century Infrastructure” are listed as two of 
the five key objectives in the Leeds-led Commission on the Future of Local 
Government.

4.3.3 The ambition to develop an innovation district for Leeds has the potential to support 
the objectives listed above.   

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 Although the majority of the work will be carried out by Officers, it is intended to 
commission an external consultant to assist with elements of the ‘next steps’ 
identified in 3.7.1 to 3.7.3, in order to bring in external expertise with a national and 
international perspective. 

4.4.2 It is envisaged that this work can be delivered for under £10,000. The Council’s 
Corporate Procurement Regulations will be followed as part of this commission.

4.5 Funding

4.5.1 The four key partners (LCC, LGI, UoL, LBU) intend to agree a Memorandum of 
Understanding which will set out in more detail each partners responsibility in terms 
of financial contributions. It is likely that another partner, and not LCC, will lead the 
procurement of a consultant to take the concept to the next stage.

4.5.2 All Leeds City Council costs incurred as part of the ‘next steps’ will be funded by the 
Capital Programme.

4.6      Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.6.1 There are no significant legal implications arising from carrying out the ‘next steps’ 
identified.

4.7     Risk Management

4.7.1 There are no significant risks in exploring the concept of an innovation district for 
Leeds.

 
5.0 Conclusions

5.1. The potential exists for developing the concept of an “innovation district” for Leeds, 
comprising the main city centre campuses of the University of Leeds, Leeds Becket 
University, potentially the Leeds College of Art, the Leeds Teaching Hospital Trust’s 
Leeds General Infirmary site, and the Leeds City Council estate in the Civic Quarter.

5.2 The intention of an innovation district is to capture and maximise the benefits of the 
trend of knowledge intensive economic activity and jobs clustering in city centres. In 
Leeds, it could bring together some of our city’s most creative and innovative 

Page 197



institutions, businesses and people who thrive from proximity enabling ideas and 
knowledge to be shared and developed

5.3 An innovation district for Leeds has the potential to be the catalyst for productive, 
sustainable and inclusive economic development. It could enable creation and 
growth of firms, and inward investment, by enabling businesses, entrepreneurs, 
universities clinicians and government leaders collaborate across sectors, 
organisations and disciplines. It could also expand job and educational opportunities 
for people and to inspire young people around the range of potential career paths in 
the modern economy.

5.4. The concept of an innovation district for Leeds could include a coherent approach 
to:

• Supporting economic growth; 

• Masterplanning, public space, access and movement; 

• Promoting Leeds as a location for inward investment;

• Creating an exemplar for smart, sustainable growth; and 

• Enhancing development value.

5.5 A range a short term actions (2-9 months) are identified within this report, which are 
aimed at working with partner organisations to develop the concept further.

6.0 Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to:

a. Support the formation of a partnership between Leeds City Council, University of 
Leeds, Leeds Beckett University and Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trusts; to further 
develop the concept of an innovation district for Leeds;

b. Agree that the Director of City Development allocates funding from existing City 
Development Directorate budgets, in order to progress masterplan, strategy and 
branding work over the next six to nine months on the basis that the other key 
partners would contribute;

c. Agree that, as part of the masterplanning work, planning policy and the 
approach to highways and transport are considered and reviewed where 
necessary; and

d. Agree that the branding and marketing work is carried out and that an 
investment proposition is developed.

7.0    Background papers1

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 

Page 198



7.1    None.

published works.

Page 199



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Director of City Development

Report to Executive Board

Date: 27 July 2016

Subject: Transfer of Hurst bequest to Leeds Art Fund

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. In 2011 the Council received the sum of £1,571,464.10 by way of a bequest from the 
late Mrs Patricia Hurst of Harrogate, to be used to purchase “an object of beauty” in 
memory of Mrs Hurst and her late husband, Lieutenant Colonel Henry Hurst.

2. With the agreement of the niece of the late Lieutenant Colonel and Mrs Hurst, various 
items have since been acquired for the city’s collection as part of a dedicated Hurst 
Collection.

3. In September 2015, the Leader of the Council was contacted by Mrs Hurst’s niece 
expressing her concern that better investment use was not being made of the bequest. 
In particular, she was concerned that the money was not being invested in such a way 
so as to earn a substantial amount of interest to allow for the purchase of more items in 
memory of her aunt and uncle.

4. The Council is restricted in its ability to invest the bequest in a way which could 
produce higher rates of interest, and officers have therefore considered alternative 
approaches in discussion with finance and legal teams and with Mrs Hurst's niece. 

5. As a result of these discussions an established charity – Leeds Art Collections Fund 
trading as Leeds Art Fund (LAF) – has been identified as a more appropriate home for 
the bequest. The LAF has significant experience in investing bequest funds to 
maximise their benefit whilst safeguarding the benefactor’s wishes.

Report author: Cluny Macpherson
Tel:  0113 24 78331

Page 201

Agenda Item 16



6. This report seeks approval subject to an appropriate agreement being entered into with 
Lieutenant Colonel and Mrs Hurst’s niece and the LAF, to transfer the balance of the 
bequest to the LAF.  

Recommendations

7. Executive Board is recommended that:

i) Subject to an appropriate agreement being entered into with the niece of the late 
Lieutenant Colonel and Mrs Hurst and Leeds Art Fund, the balance of the 
bequest be transferred to the Leeds Art Fund;

ii) Approval of the terms of the above agreement be delegated to the Chief Officer, 
Culture and Sport, in consultation with the Chief Officer – Financial Services and 
the City Solicitor, such agreement to address, amongst other things, the 
following issues:

 the Council being released from any ongoing obligations in respect of the 
management of the bequest;

 the use of the bequest by the Leeds Art Fund going forward; and
 ownership being retained by the Council of the objects which have 

already been acquired using the bequest. 

1    Purpose of this report

1.1 To gain approval to the transfer of the balance of the Hurst bequest to the Leeds Art 
Fund subject to agreement being reached between Lieutenant Colonel and Mrs 
Hurst’s niece and Leeds Art Fund.

2  Background information

2.1 In 2011 the Council received the sum of £1,571,464.10 by way of a bequest from 
the late Mrs Patricia Hurst of Harrogate, to be used to purchase “an object of 
beauty” in memory of Mrs Hurst and her late husband, Lieutenant Colonel Henry 
Hurst.

2.2  In legal terms this created what is known as “a non-charitable purpose trust” which 
means that the Council could only ever use the money in accordance with the terms 
of the bequest and not for any other purpose. In addition, the Council could only 
invest the money in accordance with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.

2.3  In 2012, with the agreement of Lieutenant Colonel and Mrs Hurst’s niece, the 
Council used the bequest to purchase an Elizabethan silver cup (then known as the 
Morgan Cup but now known as the Hurst Cup) for £250,000. This is currently on 
display at Temple Newsam. Subsequently the bequest has been used to part fund 
the purchase a number of smaller items as below.

 George II Silver Basket - £34,000.
 George IV Wooden Work Box - £6,000.

Page 202



 Richard Paley Portrait - £1,867.50.
 Mirror/Cupboard - £8,840.
 Wyndham Lewis Watercolour - £5,000.
 Cotman Watercolour - £35,000.
 Anne, Viscountess Irwin  portrait £8,000.

Decisions on which pieces to acquire have been made in line with the service’s 
approved Collections Development Policy and the terms of the bequest  that 
required it to be used to purchase ‘an object of beauty’. Any donation or potential 
purchase is championed by a specific curator who presents the case to a panel of 
curators and conservators chaired by the Head of Service or Head of Collections 
and Programming. They assess its relevance, its condition, costs of future care and 
storage as well as advising on potential sources of funding, its display potential and 
any commercial or learning potential. In future the Panel will then recommend 
acquisition to the LAF Committee for ratification and implementation. Future 
acquisitions supported by the legacy will be owned by and become part of the city’s 
collections.

 
2.4  In September 2015, the Leader of the Council was contacted by Mrs Hurst’s niece 

expressing her concern that better investment use was not being made of the 
bequest. In particular, she was concerned that the money was not being invested in 
such a way so as to earn a substantial amount of interest to allow for the purchase 
of more items in memory of her aunt and uncle. 

2.5 Given the nature of the bequest the Council is restricted legally in its ability to invest 
the bequest in a way which could produce higher rates of interest, and officers have 
therefore considered alternative approaches in discussion with finance and legal 
teams and with Mrs Hurst's niece.

2.6 The Council’s investment criteria are outlined in section 7 and 8 of the Council 
Treasury Management Policy statement.  This statement was approved on 10th 
February 2016 as part of the Treasury Management Strategy 2016/17 report to 
Executive Board.  The Council only invests in those counterparties that are on the 
approved list as per the investment criteria outline in section 7 of the Policy 
statement.  This list effectively limits investments to the very best credit rated 
financial organisations that typically deal in values of £5m or above.   Investments 
made on behalf of Charities/Trust funds are subject to the same criteria unless there 
is specific Charity/Trust fund approval in place to invest in lower credit quality 
financial organisations as detailed in section 8 of the policy statement.  Where 
specific charity/board approval is in place the investment will be invested at the risk 
of the charity or trust fund. 

2.7  As at 30 June 2016, the balance of the bequest stood at £1,261,877.51, including 
earned interest over the period of £39,120.91. As detailed above, because of the 
nature of the bequest, the Council is limited as to purposes for which it can use the 
money for and how it can invest it and following discussions with Colonel and Mrs 
Hurst’s niece and representatives of Leeds Art Fund it is felt that better use could 
be made of the bequest if the remaining balance was transferred to Leeds Art Fund 
for them to manage and administer.

Page 203



2.8   The Leeds Art Fund (formerly the Leeds Art Collections Fund) was founded as a 
charity in 1912. Its aims were:

1. to raise by subscriptions and donations a fund for the purchase of works of art  
to be held by the society for exhibition and to be available for ultimate 
presentation to the City of Leeds City Council;

2. to encourage private donors to offer gifts to the society and to afford expert 
advice and guidance as to the nature of the gifts which would be most 
acceptable; and

3. To organise from time to time the loan exhibitions of works of art.

2.9 The Fund has successfully supported developing the collections in the century 
since. Indeed until 1936 it was the sole source of funding for acquisitions to the 
city’s collections. From 1936-2015 the Council provided a small amount of funding 
annually to continue to develop the collections. Going forward the generosity of the 
Hurst bequest will allow the art collections to continue to develop and grow through 
investment of the bequest to provide an ongoing fund towards future acquisitions 
and the development of a collection commemorating Lieutenant Colonel Henry and 
Mrs Patricia Hurst which would form part of the city’s wider collections held within 
the Leeds Museums and Galleries service. 

2.10   Leeds Museums and Galleries (LMG) exist to collect, preserve and interpret 
historic, scientific and cultural collections and historic sites and use them as 
inspiration for educating, entertaining and informing the people of Leeds as well as 
visitors to the city.   It provides unique learning environments through the 
maintenance of these sites, their collections and through the operation of high 
quality, welcoming visitor attractions with associated commercial activity. 

2.11 LMG is one of the UK’s premier museum and gallery services managing nine sites 
across the City of Leeds, comprising: Abbey House Museum, Kirkstall Abbey, 
Leeds Art Gallery, Leeds City Museum, Leeds Industrial Museum at Armley Mills 
and Thwaite Mills, Leeds Museum Discovery Centre, Lotherton Hall and Temple 
Newsam House.

2.12 Core to the service are the collections; an estimated 1.3 million individual objects 
across a vast range of disciplines. The collections derive from locations across the 
world, across cultures and time – spanning some 5 billion years of Earth history and 
300,000 years of human civilisation.  There is a distinct Leeds flavour in that 
through the collections we celebrate the people, culture and natural environment of 
our city and its environs, but it is in no way restricted to a local focus. 

2.13 Four of our collections are Designated; recognised as being pre-eminent collections 
of national and international importance under the Arts Council England 
Designation Scheme and have an international reputation for their quality, depth 
and unique nature.  These are Decorative Arts, Fine Arts, Industrial History and 
Natural Sciences.

2.14 Our collections are by no means static: we are actively developing them and 
moving forward. A vibrant programme of collecting is ongoing and is conducted 
through various means including; purchase, gift, community projects, transfers, 

Page 204



bequests and commissions.  We have mature relationships with national funding 
bodies and our local supporting organisations and have a strategic approach to 
collecting.  As a result our collections are among the best in the UK in terms of 
quality and range but also in how they are being shaped by the communities with 
whom we engage.

2.15 With the support of the Leeds Art Fund and other supporting groups we have been 
able to develop the collections and as a result the City now boasts some of the 
finest fine and decorative art collections in the Country housed across Leeds 
Museums and Galleries. 

2.16 Since 1912 the Leeds Art Fund has directly acquired or supported the acquisition of 
over 460 works of art. These include works by Henry Moore, Barbara Hepworth, 
Walter Sickert, Pierre Auguste Renoir, Patrick Heron, Alexander Calder, Francis 
Bacon, Andy Warhol, Stanley Spencer, Terry Frost and Thomas Hearne, Thomas 
Chippendale, J.M.W. Turner, John Sell Cotman, John Atkinson Grimshaw, Stass 
Paraskos, Paula Rego, Bridget Riley, Grayson Perry and Auguste Rodin amongst 
others. As a charity Leeds Art Fund has significant experience in investing bequest 
funds to maximise their benefit whilst safeguarding the benefactor’s wishes. 

2.17    The Council also look after a number of other much smaller legacy/bequest funds 
on behalf of the museums and galleries service including :

 Sir Alvary Gascoigne bequest which formed part of the Deed of Gift of the 
Lotherton estate in 1968. Its use is limited to using the interest raised to 
support the purchase of works of art for the Gascoigne Collection at 
Lotherton and fixtures and fittings to display the collection. 

 The Fulford Endowment established in 1984for the enrichment, display and 
research in respect of Temple Newsam House.

 The Harding bequest relates to the collections donated to the gallery by one 
of the Victorian founding fathers of the Gallery.

3   Main issues

3.1 Given the restrictions to which the Council’s management of the bequest is subject, 
Leeds Art Fund will be better able to invest the bequest in order to accrue higher 
interest. That interest can then be used to acquire artworks for the city’s collections 
for many decades to come and ensure the legacy of Colonel and Mrs Hurst. 

3.2 To safeguard all parties an appropriate agreement will need to be entered into with 
Lieutenant Colonel and Mrs Hurst’s niece and the Leeds Art Fund prior to the 
balance of the bequest being transferred to the Leeds Art Fund.

3.3 This agreement will release the Council from any ongoing obligations in respect of 
the management of the bequest, agree the use of the bequest by Leeds Art Fund 
going forward and record the ownership of the objects which have already been 
acquired or will be acquired using the bequest .

Page 205

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Thomas_Chippendale
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Thomas_Chippendale
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/J.M.W._Turner
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_Sell_Cotman
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_Atkinson_Grimshaw
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Stass_Paraskos
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Stass_Paraskos
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Paula_Rego
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bridget_Riley
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Auguste_Rodin


4     Corporate Considerations

4.1  Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The Executive Member for Economy and Culture has been consulted and is 
supportive of the proposed approach. 

4.1.2 Lieutenant Colonel and Mrs Hurst’s niece and the Leeds Art Fund have also been 
consulted and agreed the proposed approach.

4.2 Equality and diversity/cohesion and integration

4.2.1   There is no expected impact on the protected equality characteristics and, 
therefore, it is not applicable for an EIA or screening form to be completed at this 
time.  

4.3 Council policies and best council plan

4.3.1 This approach will maximise the impact of the generous Hurst bequest allowing it to   
support the future development of the city’s collections helping to maintain their pre-
eminence as designated Collections of national or international importance which 
will assist with the 2023 Capital of Culture bid.

4.3.2   The service contributes to both a strong economy and to a compassionate city by
making Leeds a more attractive place to invest but also a better place to live          
and the Best Council priority of maximising the impact of our cultural infrastructure.

4.4 Resources and Value for Money 

4.4.1 The approach will allow the bequest to be potentially more beneficially invested 
than it has been previously with interest from the investment used to support further 
acquisitions to the city’s collections as part of a dedicated Hurst collection. This will 
ensure support to develop the collections for decades to come. 

4.4.2 The LAF’s experience in investing bequest funds to maximise their benefit whilst 
safeguarding the benefactor’s wishes is crucial. This is experience which is not 
readily available within the Council.

4.4.3 The transfer will allow maximum benefit to be obtained from the bequest.

4.5 Legal Implications, access to information and call-in

4.5.1 As the sole trustee of the bequest, the Council has the power pursuant to Section 
40 of the Trustee Act 1925 to vest the residue of the bequest in the Leeds Art Fund.

4.5.2 The agreement to be entered into with the Leeds Art Fund will release the Council 
from its obligations as regards the management and administration of the bequest. 
Leeds Art Fund will also indemnify the Council in respect of the management and 
administration of the bequest from the date of the agreement.

Page 206



4.5.3 The objects which have already been acquired by the Council using the bequest will 
remain the property of the Council.

4.5.4   Legal Services has been consulted as to the proposals set out in this report and are 
currently negotiating the terms of any potential agreement with the Leeds Art Fund 
and its solicitors.

4.5.5 The decisions sought from Executive Board are not subject to call-in as they are 
decisions which are required to be made on behalf of the Council as the trustee of 
the bequest rather than in pursuance of the Council’s powers as a statutory 
authority.  

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1   The only obvious risk is that the investments do not provide as successful a return  
           as hoped resulting in less funds to support acquisitions going forward.  

5     Conclusions

5.1 That the Hurst bequest be transferred to the Leeds Art Fund subject to an 
appropriate agreement being reached between Lieutenant Colonel and Mrs Hurst’s 
niece , Leeds Art Fund and the Council. 

6 Recommendations

6.1  Executive Board is therefore recommended that:

i) Subject to an appropriate agreement being entered into with the niece of the 
late Lieutenant Colonel and Mrs Hurst and Leeds Art Fund, the balance of 
the bequest be transferred to Leeds Art Fund;

ii) approval of the terms of the above agreement be delegated to the Chief 
Officer, Culture and Sport, in consultation with the Chief Officer Financial 
Services and the City Solicitor, such agreement to address, amongst other 
things, the following issues:

 the Council being released from any ongoing obligations in respect of the 
management of the bequest;

 the use of the bequest by Leeds Art Fund going forward; and
 ownership being retained by the Council of the objects which have 

already been acquired using the bequest. 

7. Background documents1  

7.1 None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Assistant Chief Executive – Citizens and Communities

Report to Executive Board

Date: 27 July 2016                           

Subject: Equality Improvement Priorities Progress Report 2015 - 2016

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes x  No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

x  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In? x   Yes    No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes x  No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. The Equality Improvement Priorities 2016 - 2020 were approved by Executive 
Board in October 2015.  They also requested that they receive annual reports on 
progress.  The Equality Improvement priorities were produced to ensure that the 
council meets its legal duties under the Equality Act 2010.  

2. The priorities were developed to complement the Best Council Plan priorities and 
help to underpin our renewed ambition to be a compassionate city with a strong 
economy to address the range of inequalities that still exist.

3. Adult Social Care have reviewed their Equality Improvement Priority and 
Environments and Housing have developed a new priority for approval.

4. The council has a legal duty to publish information to show their compliance with 
the Equality Act duty. 

Report author:  Lelir Yeung
Tel:  0113  247 4152

Page 209

Agenda Item 17



Recommendations

Executive Board is recommended to:

 Note the contents of this report;

 Endorse the Equality Improvement priorities Annual Report 2015 – 2016; and 

 Approve the refreshed Equality Improvement Priority for Adult Social Care 

and the new priority for Environments and Housing

 

Page 210



1 Purpose of this report
1.1 This report sets out the annual progress against the council’s Equality 

Improvement Priorities for 2015 – 2016.
1.2 It also outlines the refreshed Equality Improvement Priority for Adult Social Care 

and a new priority for Environments and Housing.

2 Background information
2.1 Compliance with the Equality Act 2010 includes a specific duty to develop equality 

priorities which are reviewed every 4 years.  The specific duty requires local 
authorities to:

 publish accessible information outlining the equality analysis which has taken 
place to inform equality objectives;

 engage with people who have an interest in furthering the aims of the general 
equality duty; and

 demonstrate progress against equality objectives for both employment and 
service delivery: and

 publish information to show their compliance with the Equality Duty, at least 
annually

2.2 The council’s Equality Improvement Priorities have taken into account the 
protected characteristics as required under the Equality Act 2010.  They also 
recognise poverty as a barrier that limits what people can do and can be. As a 
result priorities were included that address poverty as the council recognises that 
a number of the protected characteristics are disproportionately represented in 
those living in poverty.

3 Progress Update

3.1  Progress against each of the council’s equality improvement priorities during 2015 
– 2016 is attached in Appendix 1.  This update is not intended to give a 
comprehensive view of all the work that has been undertaken but provides an 
overview and examples from across all Directorates.

3.2 The Equality Improvement Priorities recognise that there are currently different 
outcomes and experiences for different groups and communities and were 
developed to support the Best Council ambitions of Compassionate City and 
Strong Economy and progress is reported against these.

3.3 In addition to the work that is taking place to progress the Equality Improvement 
Priorities there is also other complimentary work that is taking place across the 
council.  This is also reported in the annual progress update.

4 Refreshed and New Equality Improvement Priorities
4.1 In addition to the current Equality Improvement Priorities some work has taken 

place on refreshing the existing priorities and developing new ones.   Equality 
Improvement Priorities can be revised/ new ones developed at any point during  
the year.

Page 211



4.2        Adult Social Care is implementing the “strength/ “asset” based approach for 
Access and Care, Provider Services and Commissioned Services.  This approach 
is based on identifying the strengths or assets of individuals, their circle of support 
and their community and builds on the various   elements of support available to 
an individual. This concentrates on their   strengths, on what they can do, not 
concentrating on what they cannot. This linking up of community, Adult Social 
Care and other available support provision  provides a more innovative, 
appropriate, personal and effective support package  leading to achievement of 
personally desired outcomes. 

4.3 This is supported by expanding Asset Based Community Development models.  
There will be a focus on establishing these in communities.  This will include 
communities of interest, Community Builders, Community Connectors and Citizen 
Led Asset Mapping.  There will be ‘small sparks’ funding to support this work.

4.4   Whilst delivering this shift in working, Adult Social Care still needs to ensure that  
             they meet the aspirations of the other elements of the Better Lives Strategy:  
             Integration, Enterprise and Housing Care and Support.

4.5         In order to support this new approach Adult Social Care have proposed a new 
Equality Improvement Priority which is ;-

‘To ensure that the benefits of this change in approach reaches all the citizens of 
Leeds, including, communities of protected characteristics, disabled people, LGB 
and T communities, across gender, ages, Black and Minority Ethnic communities 
and targeting areas of most need’

4.6 To support this Adult Social Care recognise that they will need a staff group (both 
internal and commissioned) with knowledge and experience of the kinds of issues 
faced by the communities.   So have included a specific focus on staff priorities 
which are:-

 To ensure recruitment is both inclusive and flexible with a recruitment 
process that is appropriate for the specific job and accessible to all;

 To build and sustain a workforce that understands values, embraces and 
implements diversity and inclusion, to support the strength based approach;

 To ensure all HR processes support staff from across protected 
characteristics; and

 To demonstrate increased engagement with all staff around protected 
characteristic’s.

4.7   The majority of people in Leeds (approximately 78%) live in privately owned or  
             rented housing.  There are more privately rented properties in the city  

           (approximately 60,000) than council houses.  The private rented sector makes a  
significant contribution to meeting housing need in the City both as a long-term 
tenure of choice and as a ‘stepping stone’ to other housing options/tenures.  

Page 212



4.8   The most disadvantaged in society are more likely to live in poorer standards of  
             housing and there is a high concentration of poor housing in the private rented  
             sector.  Especially in the inner core of the City in areas, such as, Holbeck,    
             Beeston, East End Park and Harehills.  Leeds needs a high functioning private  
             rented sector to address housing need, stimulate economic growth and to meet          
             the ambition of being a Compassionate City. 

4.8        To support the improvement work that is taking place in this area Environments 
and Housing are proposing a new Equality Improvement Priority which is:-

     ‘Improving the quality of private sector housing’

5 Corporate Considerations

5.1 Consultation and Engagement 
This report provides a progress update on the Equality Improvement Priorities.  
Extensive public consultation on the Best City Priorities and budget setting was 
used to inform the priorities.  Service specific consultations have taken place to 
inform the revised/new priorities.

5.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration
5.2.1 The Equality Improvement Priorities are in place to provide focus to address 

issues of inequality.  They are based on evidence of disproportionate outcomes, 
which we are seeking to challenge and change.

5.2.2 The tools and mechanisms that the council use will continue to play a pivotal role 
in identifying and addressing inequality and these priorities form one part of this 
approach.  Equality Impact Assessments continue to take place and will inform 
further developments in each of these priorities.

5.3 Council policies and the Best Council Plan
5.3.1 The Equality Improvement Priorities sit with the council priorities and are an 

integral part of the renewed ambition to be a compassionate city and to tackle 
inequalities in the city

5.4 Resources and value for money 
5.4.1 There are no additional resource implications arising from this report.

5.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In
5.5.1 The production of an annual progress report on the Equality Improvement 

Priorities is a legal requirement to ensure  compliance with the Equality Act 2010
5.5.2   This report does not contain any confidential or exempted information and is 

   subject to call in.

5.6 Risk Management
5.6.1 Any risks associated with specific priorities are addressed as part of service 

delivery.  

Page 213



5.6.2 The risk to the council in not developing 4 yearly equality priorities and/or not 
publishing an annual progress report is that we will be in breach of the Equality 
Act 2010

6 Conclusions
6.1 The Equality Improvement Priorities Annual Update Report demonstrates 

progress against the Equality Improvement Priorities 2016 – 2020 and help the 
council to focus on areas of disproportionality and tackle inequalities

7 Recommendations
7.1        Executive Board is recommended to:

 Note the contents of this report;

 Endorse the Equality Improvement priorities Annual Report 2015 – 2016; and 

 Approve the refreshed Equality Improvement Priority for Adult Social Care 

and the new priority for Environments and Housing

8  Background documents1 

None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 214



1 
 

                            Appendix 1 

 

Leeds - the Compassionate City: tackling inequalities 

 

 

Equality Action 

 

 

 

Equality Progress 2015 – 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 215



2 
 

 

Contents 

 

This annual report is in 4 sections: 

 

Section 1 Introduction and context of Leeds 
 

Page 3 

Section 2 Equality progress Page 5 
 

 Compassionate City – Living safely and well, living 
at home, and valuing communities 
 

Page 6 

 Compassionate City – enjoying culture and sport, 
inclusive access and language access 
 

Page 25 

 Strong Economy – achieving potential and 
improving representation 

Page 37 

Section 3 
 

What Next - Additional/Locality Focussed Work 
 

Page 51 

Section 4 
 

What Next  Page 55 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 216



3 
 

Section 1 
 

Introduction  

“Our vision is for Leeds to be the best city in the UK: one that is compassionate with 
a strong economy that tackles poverty and reduces the inequalities that still exist. 

We want Leeds to be a city that is fair and sustainable, ambitious, fun and creative 
for all. We will continue to work with others to achieve better outcomes for the city 

through a combination of innovation and efficiencies.” 
(’Cllr Judith Blake, Leader of Leeds City Council and Tom Riordan, Chief Executive of Leeds City 

Council (Best Council Plan 2015-20: update 2016-17)) 
 

The Equality Improvement Priorities 2016 – 2020 have been produced to ensure that 
the council meets its legal duties under the Equality Act 2010 and to compliment the 
‘Best City’ ambition aimed at tackling inequalities: for Leeds to have a Strong 
Economy and to be a Compassionate City. 
 
The council’s equality improvement priorities have taken into account the protected 
characteristics as required under the Equality Act 2010.  We also recognise poverty 
as a barrier that limits what people can do and can be.  We have, therefore, included 
priorities that address poverty as we recognise that a number of the protected 
characteristics are disproportionately represented in those living in poverty 
 
We are conscious that there is not an equality priority for every protected 
characteristic but all characteristics are taken into account.  We are committed to 
equality for all our citizens and believe that improving a service for one community 
will have knock on effects for all.  We will continue our work across all the protected 
characteristics, whether or not there are specific equality improvement priorities 
which are explicitly focussing on them.  We will consider all communities when we 
give due regard to equality at both strategic and operational activities.   
 
Context of Leeds 
 
Based in West Yorkshire, Leeds is the second largest local authority in England, 
covering an area of 552 square kilometres. It is an area of great contrasts. It includes 
a densely populated, inner city area with associated challenges of poverty and 
deprivation, as well as a more affluent city centre, suburban and rural hinterland with 
villages and market towns.   The most recent census (2011) indicates that Leeds has 
a population of 751,5001, representing a 5% growth since the previous census in 
2001. The age structure for Leeds is broadly similar to that for England and Wales 
with the notable exception of the 20-29 age bands which in Leeds accounts for 
17.5% of the population compared to13.6% in England and Wales; children (aged 0-
15) account for 18.3% of the city’s population, while people aged 65+ accounts for 
14.6%. 
 
Leeds is an increasingly diverse city with over 140 ethnic groups including black, 
Asian and other minority ethnic populations representing almost 19% of the total 
population compared to 11% in 2001.  The number of Leeds residents that were 

                                                            
1 OSN latest data estimates the population of Leeds at 761,500 (mid-year estimate of population 
2013) 

Page 217



4 
 

born outside of the UK has increased from 47,636 (6.7% of the population) in 2001 
to 86,144 (11.5%) in 2011.  Just over 20,300 people were born in the EU (12,026 
born in EU accession countries) and just over 61,000 born elsewhere.   Of the 
86,144 people born outside the UK, more than half arrived in the last 10 years, 67% 
were between the ages of 16 and 44 when they arrived in the UK and 29.5% were 
aged 15 or younger.  Data from the city’s schools, shows there are more children 
and young people of black and minority ethnic heritage, particularly Black African 
and White Eastern European. The number of children and young people with English 
as an additional language (EAL) has also increased in recent years, from 13% in 
2010 to 16% in 2014. In addition to English language, there are over 170 languages 
spoken in Leeds schools with the main languages spoken being Urdu, Punjabi and, 
increasingly, Polish.  
 
There is no direct count of disability, but the census collects information in relation to 
‘long term health problems or disability’.  In Leeds 83.4% of people say that their day 
to day activities are not limited by long term health problems or disability, 7.7% say 
they are limited a lot and 8.9% say that they are limited a little. Leeds has a relatively 
high level of its working age adult population in receipt of Incapacity Benefit (IB) due 
to mental ill health (50% of IB claimants identify a mental health problem). 
Employment rates for female users of mental health services in Leeds are 
significantly below the national average.   In 2014, 3,099 adults in Leeds were 
identified as having a moderate or severe learning disability. Over the last four years 
there has been an increase in the Leeds learning disabilities population of about 5%. 
This growth is particularly focussed amongst younger people with the most profound 
needs for care. 
 
The proportion of people who confirm that  they are Christian is lower in Leeds 
(55.9%) than across the whole of England and Wales (59.3%), while the  proportion 
of people who say they have no religion is higher (28.2% and 25.1% respectively) 
and; compared to England and Wales, Leeds has higher than average proportions of 
people stating their religion as Jewish (0.9% compared to 0.5%), as Muslim (5.4% 
compared to 4.8%) and as Sikh (1.2% compared to 0.8%). 
 
The 2011 Census collected information on civil partnerships for the first time, 
reflecting the Civil Partnership Act 2004 which came into effect in the UK on 5 
December 2005. Married people account for 41.5% of adults in Leeds; 0.2% of 
adults in Leeds are in a registered same-sex civil partnership, mirroring the rate for 
England and Wales, 40.8% of adults in Leeds are single (never married or never 
registered in a same-sex civil partnership),which is  much higher than the England 
and Wales rate of 34.6%.  We do not publish data relating to transgender as due to 
small numbers individuals would be easily identified. 

As a growing city Leeds is seeing significant changes to the make-up of the 
population, in particular- 

 We have an ageing population.  As the baby-boomer generation grows older 
there will be implications not only in terms of public services (ensuring that older 
people get excellent care and support when they need it and are enabled to live 
independently), but also in terms of the labour market as we make the most of 
the skills and talents that everyone has to offer; 

Page 218



5 
 

 In the last decade the BME population in the city has increased from 11% to 
19%, and the number of residents born outside of the UK has almost doubled.  
There have been many localised impacts across the city, with complex, related 
issues such as ‘national identity’, language proficiency, transient populations and 
variations in birth rates that in turn influence service provision and the wider 
interface between communities; 

 In part linked to demographic change, in part linked to wider social change, 
patterns of faith have also changed across the City.  Different ethnic and religious 
groups have very different age profiles and understanding these differences are 
key to helping plan and deliver the appropriate services; 

 Economic and social deprivation remains concentrated in specific localities, with 
long-term challenges such as access to employment, poor housing, language 
and literacy, skills, health and care responsibilities, being compounded by the 
recent welfare changes; 

 According to the Index of Multiple Deprivation almost a quarter of the Leeds 
population – around 175,000 people across the city - is classified as being in 
‘absolute poverty’. (This measures individuals who have household incomes 60% 
below the median average in 2010/11, adjusted for inflation.); 

 Approximately 20,000 people in Leeds have needed assistance with food via 
     a food bank between April 2014-2015; 
 Over 28,000 (19.5%) Leeds children are in poverty, 64% of whom are 
      estimated to be from working families (2013/14); 
 Leeds is ranked 31 out of 326 local authorities, with 105 neighbourhoods in 
     the most deprived 10% nationally (22% of all Leeds neighbourhoods). Leeds 
     fares relatively well in comparison to other Core City local authority areas; 
 There are 164,000 people in Leeds who live in areas that are ranked amongst 
      the most deprived 10% nationally. The corresponding figure in the 2010 Index 
      was 150,000 people, but clearly not everyone living in these areas is deprived. 
 The IMD shows the geographic concentration of deprivation in the communities 

of Inner East and Inner South; and 
 The age profile of our most deprived neighbourhoods confirms that our most 
 deprived communities are also our youngest (and fastest growing). 

 
Section 2 
 
Equality Progress 
 
Progress against each of the council’s equality improvement priorities during 2015 – 
2016 is outlined below.  This update is not intended to give a comprehensive view of 
all the work that has been undertaken but provides an overview and examples from 
across all Directorates. 
 
The equality improvement priorities recognise that there are currently different 
outcomes and experiences for different groups and communities and were 
developed to support the Best Council ambitions of Compassionate City and Strong 
Economy and progress is reported against these. 
 

Page 219



6 
 

Compassionate City – Living safely and well, living at home, and valuing 
communities 

People in Leeds can lead safer, healthier and happier lives and are free from 
the risks, threats and harms associated with domestic violence and abuse 
 
Progress 
 
Domestic violence has a significant impact on the lives of many individuals, families 
and children in the city with over 14,500 incidents of domestic violence reported to 
the police every year in Leeds. In addition to the human impact on the health and 
wellbeing and life chances of individuals there is also a substantial financial impact to 
the city in terms of the costs of services and lost economic output. 
 
Domestic violence has also been identified as one of the council’s 8 key 
“breakthrough projects”. The aim of the breakthrough projects is to bring council 
directorates, partner organisations, communities and individuals together in new way 
to tackle issues that will have the biggest impact on the people of Leeds. 
 
Significant work is being undertaken under the following 4 priority areas:- 
 

 Changing attitudes and perceptions (individuals and communities) 
 Supporting victims (adults, children and families) 
 Challenging behaviours (working with perpetrators) 
 Enabling Effective Change (workforce and  organisational response) 

 
A number of specific projects have been undertaken including; 
 

 Front Door Safeguarding Hub -  this has been established to provide a live 
time, daily, multi-agency response to high risk and medium risk (with crime) 
domestic violence incidents reported to the police within a given 24 hour 
period.   

 School Domestic Violence Notification - a process has been developed to 
inform schools within 24 hours when their pupils have been present at an 
incident of domestic violence where the police have attended.  This allows 
them to better look after children the day after the incident. 

 Communications - A newly established website has provided a virtual One 
Stop Centre for the public and practitioners, improving access to up to date 
information on domestic violence issues and services available to help. In 
November 2015 we launched the Leeds Let’s Get Comfortable talking about 
Domestic Violence Campaign.  This caught the attention of thousands of 
members of the public, some of who took part in the campaign by submitting 
questions, partaking in blogs and community activities such as planned walks 
and photography.  An evaluation of social media interaction indicated a much 
higher engagement with the public.   

 GP Pilot - A new approach to promote routine enquiries among GPs.  Health 
workers and in particular, GPs, are particularly accessible to marginalized 
groups.  Four practices are running a 6 month pilot which involves GPs asking 
every woman they see if she is experiencing abuse.  A domestic violence lead 

Page 220



7 
 

in each practice is trained to speak to those women who answer ‘yes’ to the 
GP and a Women’s Aid Support Worker is on site on a sessional basis at 
each practice to see women.   

 Domestic Violence Ambassadors and Human Resources Champions - A 
group of Ambassadors is being established across the council.  The 
Ambassadors are offered training courses, as available, to give them 
grounding in domestic violence and abuse issues to allow them to answer 
basic questions from team mates and promote good practice within their 
teams.  The Human Resources Champions are a complimentary scheme 
established as part of the council’s new Domestic Violence and Abuse Policy. 
They are trained to a greater depth of understanding and are able to offer 
support and guidance to colleagues experiencing domestic violence 

 Digital Technology - A part of the Smart City approach work is currently in 
progress to investigate ways in which new technology could be used to help 
the victims of domestic violence.  

 Perpetrator Responses - New ways to engage with perpetrators are being 
explored. The city’s Integrated Offender Management programme is being 
reshaped to respond to domestic violence perpetrators.  A parenting 
programme, Caring Dads, has been successfully piloted by Safer Leeds. This 
programme offers a 17 week course for men who would like to become better 
fathers by recognising and changing their abusive behaviour. 

 Disseminated Lessons Learned from Domestic Homicide Reviews - To 
promote good practice and prevent future homicide.  Around 500 practitioners 
have attended 2 hour multi-agency briefings on practice issues.   

 Commissioning Review - A partnership commissioning review is providing 
an opportunity to make sure that commissioned services have the capacity 
and flexibility to provide the necessary support to respond to the needs of 
victims and to address the support required by perpetrators to break the cycle 
of violence.    

 
In addition to the work detailed above, the council’s breakthrough project has also 
undertaken work to increase awareness and work with partners to tackle domestic 
violence. 
 
 
Improving housing options for young people:- 
 

 Reduce homelessness for 16-24 year olds, such as care leavers, young 
offenders and young people whose relationship with family has broken 
down 

 Reduce homelessness from existing young tenants who find it difficult 
to maintain successful council tenancies 

 
Progress 
 
The key objectives of the Homelessness Strategy are to reduce homelessness and 
the use of temporary accommodation in Leeds. One of the most common reasons 
for homelessness both locally and nationally is parental eviction.  
 

Page 221



8 
 

In recognition of the shared responsibility towards 16 and 17 year olds and the role 
housing plays in finding sustainable resolutions to the housing needs of both care 
leavers and young people in general a partnership was developed with the children’s 
services placement team. The aim of this was to provide rehousing expertise for care 
leavers so that they did not have to take a backward step and did not need to access 
traditional hostel type accommodation when their care ended.  
 
A range of partners including FLAGSHIP  (who are the commissioned service that 
provide supported longer term accommodation) and others ,such as, Gipsil leaving 
care, Youth Offending Service, Archway, Housing Management, the local social work 
teams and  Strategy and Commissioning are also involved  to ensure that the 
housing needs  of the most vulnerable young people are met.  
 
Prior to the setting up of the Young Persons Operational Meeting Group (YPOMG) 
Leeds Housing Options had brought the mediation service back in house (it had 
previously been contracted out to Archway). This has enabled the council to offer 
immediate mediation where required.  It also brought the assessment and decision 
making around duty acceptance closer together with the prevention work previously 
carried out.  
 
The mediation workers focus on 16 and 17 year olds but work with young people  up 
to the age of 25  where needed. Out of 561 cases closed in 2015/16 there were 514 
positive outcomes from mediation. These positive outcomes do not always reflect a 
stay at home conclusion, however, they highlight the reduction of young people 
going into hostel accommodation where chaotic behaviours can develop. 
 
To help embed the commitment to shared work across the two partnerships Leeds 
Housing Options  now have a member of staff based within the  Children’s Services 
placement team helping with both temporary accommodation placements as well as 
acting as a resource for housing advice.  
 
As a result of this joint working there has been a large reduction in the numbers of 
young people going into Adult provision and currently there are no 16 and 17 year 
olds in the council’s adult provision direct access hostels. This has consistently been 
the case over the past two years with young people only going into adult provision 
where they have been evicted from the more appropriate age based accommodation 
projects. 
 
The joint work between Leeds Housing Options and Children’s Social Care was 
referenced in the recent Good rating Children’s services Leeds received by Ofsted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 222



9 
 

Improving housing options for disabled people:- 
 

 To ensure that disabled people have the right housing option in place 
whether that be by helping them move into accessible housing or to 
stay in their existing home by creating an accessible environment 

 
Progress 
 
Housing adaptations play a vital role in promoting the capacity of disabled people to 
live independently in their own homes and to exercise choice and control over their 
lives.   
 
The needs and choices of disabled people are paramount to the housing adaptation 
process and there are two housing pathways to help people to ‘stay put’ in their 
existing home or to make a planned move to alternative housing.   
 
Approximately 2,300 people per year make a Disabled Facilities Grant application 
requesting adaptations to their existing home.  This covers all tenures and the 
breakdown is 1300 for home owners, private and housing association tenants and 
around 1000 for council tenants.  Approximately 600 council tenants receive a 
medical re-housing priority award per year on the basis that their current 
accommodation cannot be adapted to meet their housing needs. There are 
approximately 800 households on the Leeds Homes Register (now included on the 
Accessible Housing Register) that have a medical re-housing 
priority/recommendation for re-housing.  
 
The adaptations service has been re-configured so that the Health and Housing 
service (in Housing Management) has responsibility for the cross-tenure assessment 
including scheme design of the disability housing need and Property and Contracts 
for the delivery of cross-tenure adaptation schemes. 
 
The Health and Housing services comprises of Occupational Therapists, Surveyors, 
Housing Need Assessors and re-housing officers.  The assessment process covers 
both options to help people stay by adapting their current homes and planned moves 
to alternative housing through housing priority awards and re-housing assistance.  
 
The voice of the housing applicant has been promoted through scheduled meetings 
with the Access Committee for Leeds, a disability advocacy group who can raise any 
queries regarding on-going adaptation or re-housing cases.  
 
An Appeals Panel, chaired by independent representatives, has been established so 
that applicants can challenge adaptation decisions that they disagree with.  A weekly 
case panel, led by Health and Housing and which also includes lettings officers, has 
been established to consider the ‘stay put’ (adapt current home) or ‘planned move’ 
(priority award for re-housing) for council housing adaptation cases. 
 
An Accessible Housing Register has been established that will assist with matching  
disabled housing applicants with existing adapted social housing.  The  £30k cap 
relating to private sector adaptation cases for children is routinely waived, if there is 
an ‘invest to save’ benefit and the disabled facilities grant  budget covers the full cost 

Page 223



10 
 

without asking Children’s Services to make a contribution. 
 
The same approach is adopted, on a case by case basis, for adult adaptation cases 
and the Health and Housing service has worked with the Access Committee for 
Leeds to look at innovative adaptations options (including sensory rooms) for 
children with autism.  The Health and Housing service also works with Adult Social 
Care and the Leeds Teaching Hospital Trust to minimize delayed hospital discharges 
 
The University of Leeds is intending to carry out research into the ‘invest to save’ 
benefits of adaptations and the work of Health and Housing is to be cited as an 
example of best practice in respect of developing adaptation cases for disabled 
children and specifically creating ‘sensory environments’ for children with autism.  
 
Improving the Quality of Private Sector Housing 
 
Progress 
 
The majority of people in Leeds (approximately 78%) live in privately owned or   
rented housing.  There are more privately rented properties in the City             
(approximately 60,000) than council houses.  The private rented sector makes a  
significant contribution to meeting housing need in the City both as a long-term 
tenure of choice and as a ‘stepping stone’ to other housing options/tenures.   

 
The most disadvantaged in society are more likely to live in poorer standards of   
housing and there is a high concentration of poor housing in the private rented   
sector.  Especially in the inner core of the City in areas, such as, Holbeck,     
Beeston, East End Park and Harehills.  Leeds needs a high functioning  
private rented sector to address housing need, stimulate economic growth and to 
meet the ambition of being a compassionate City.  
 
A Private Sector Stock Condition Survey was last carried out in 2007 and calculated 
that 44% of private housing in the City failed to meet the decency standard with the 
poorest housing often being pre-1919 built back to back properties.  Such properties 
invariably contain the most common Category 1 hazards.  These are very likely to 
have an adverse impact on the health and wellbeing of the occupant.  The likelihood 
of an adverse impact is likely to be compounded if the occupant is old, young, 
disabled or to have a limited income.  
 
The Private Sector Housing Team leads on the regulation of the private rented 
sector with a focus on the identifying and addressing Category 1 hazards as defined 
within the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS).  excess cold, .  The 
service is able to issue enforcement notice, setting out improvement requirements 
and to prosecute property owners who fail to deliver the required improvements.  
The service carries out the mandatory licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(HMOs) that contain three or more floor levels and five or more occupants.  
Approximately 2,800 properties in the city are subject to HMO licensing and 
approximately 500 properties are subject to a compliance inspection per year( 
licenses are granted for a five year term.) 
 
The Private Sector Housing Team has embarked on a targeted approach to 

Page 224



11 
 

delivering improved housing conditions called the Leeds Neighbourhood Approach 
(LNA).  The initiative started in the Nowell streets in Harehills, moved to the 
Edinburgh streets in Armley and is now in the Recreation streets in Holbeck. The 
LNA involves an intensive focus on approximately 200 properties with the aims of 
bringing empty properties back into use, This involves working with landlords and 
tenants to improve housing conditions, working with partners to improve the overall 
environment and promote area sustainability and to help vulnerable tenants to 
access other services that they might be struggling to access at that point in time.  
All properties are subject to a visit by a Housing Officer to identify improvements 
required including addressing Category 1 hazards.  Discussions also take place with 
empty property owners to try to facilitate bringing properties back into use and the 
ultimate (albeit long-term) option is to proceed with a compulsory purchase order. 
 
As a result of the above  work - 
 

 The number of long term empty homes (empty for longer than 6 months) has 
been reduced from 5776 in March 2012 to 3777 in March 2016; 

 A five year target of having a net reduction of 400 long-term empty properties 
per year was set in April 2012.  The net reduction of 1999 by the end of March 
2016 means the Council has almost met the target a year ahead of schedule;  

 A target of bringing 3200 properties back into use was set for 2015/2016 and 
performance for the year was 3312 properties brought back into use; 

 65 long term empties were returned to use in the LNA areas;  
 2,763 property inspections and re-inspections were carried out in 2015/2016; 
 1,252 hazards were removed or reduced in 2015/16 as a result of service 

interventions; 
 A total of 5,508 people benefitted from our interventions in the year; 
 In 2015/2016 a total of 191 substantive legal Notices were served as well as 

318 Power of Entry Notices to allow investigations of poor housing. In 
addition, over 700 HMO licenses or variations were also issued; and 

 A total of 3 prosecutions were completed in the year. 
 
 
Work to improve properties and assist tenants living in fuel poverty over the 
next four years 
 
Progress 
 
Vulnerable council tenants, who are elderly and or disabled who experience fuel 
poverty, may be at risk of reduced life expectancy, poor mental health and well-being 
and other health inequalities. The key aim of the Affordable Warmth Strategy is to 
reduce fuel costs across the whole housing stock to prevent any household from 
falling into fuel poverty 
 
The latest report published by the Department of Energy and  Climate Change on 
fuel poverty statistics stated that, approximately 11.6% (38,000) of Leeds 
households are estimated to be in fuel poverty, according to the new low 
income/high costs definition.   
 

Page 225



12 
 

In 2015 the council’s Executive Board approved an investment programme to install 
1000 solar panels to council properties.  The council prioritised the installation of 
solar panels in the Inner East and Inner South areas of Leeds which have high levels 
of poverty and deprivation. In addition, support and training was provided to tenants 
on energy efficiency.  
 
As result of the installation of solar panels tenants living in Inner East and Inner 
South areas have  benefited from: 
 

 Free electricity generated by the solar PV systems. 
 Average electricity generated per home of 521.87Kwh (during winter/spring) 

which equates to an average savings per household of £67.84  
 Total carbon prevented is 285.39t which equates to taking 159 cars off the 

road.                                                             
 The generation rates, financial savings and CO2 reductions will increase 

during the summer period. 
 
Reducing fuel poverty increases life expectancy, improves mental health and 
wellbeing and reduces health inequalities. In addition, it improves children’s 
educational achievements and school attendance. Supporting tenants to maximise 
income will result in them having more disposable income for rent and food, which 
will lead to an improved quality of life for vulnerable tenants who are elderly and 
disabled.     
 
The investment of £3.8m is expected to save tenants experiencing fuel poverty over 
£4.4m in electricity costs over 20 years. Installing solar panels to council homes 
contributes to numerous city wide priorities and is a specific action within the Low 
Carbon breakthrough project. Carbon emissions will reduce by c862 tonnes pa, 
equivalent to taking approximately 452 cars off the road.  
 
 
Prevent and protect children from sexual exploitation 

 
Progress 
 
The profile of the risks of child sexual exploitation has been raised in the media at a 
local and national level.  There are over 300 young people in Leeds assessed as 
potentially being at risk of sexual exploitation, due to a range of behavioural, social 
and psychological factors.  Although the majority of identified young people at risk 
are White British teenage girls, potential victims can be any gender or age, and from 
any ethnicity or community.   
 
West Yorkshire Police and Children’s Services undertake child sexual exploitation 
assessments that identify contributory factors and risks relating to individuals.   
 
A number of specific projects/pieces of work have been undertaken including; 
 

 Training - There is a rolling programme of training and awareness courses 
taking place.  These are provided for any service, including volunteers, 

Page 226



13 
 

schools or groups that may be in contact with young people.  The training 
raises awareness of the issues, risks, key patterns, reporting processes and 
responses, including around historic exploitation. 

 Awareness and Media Campaigns - There have been media campaigns 
around child sexual exploitation risks relating to parties (“party-lifestyle”), 
sexting and online grooming, as well as, general awareness and reporting.  
These have involved training, DVD’s, poster and leaflet campaigns, and 
participation in wider awareness campaigns.  There is also a service directory 
of statutory and service providers for child sexual exploitation support. 

 Partnership Tasking - A regular partnership meeting is held to ensure that 
complex or high vulnerability cases are being appropriately managed, that 
there is a common understanding of emerging trends and issues, local 
concern are properly managed and processes and procedures are reviewed 
and assessed. 

 Daily Intelligence Meetings - Representatives from the Integrated 
Safeguarding Unit and West Yorkshire Police meet daily to cross-check 
current assessments and intelligence relating to child sexual exploitation and 
young missing persons. This process ensures that both core data systems are 
up to date and that individual level information is shared in an appropriate and 
timely manner. 

 Practitioners’ Meetings/ Action Groups - District and local meetings are 
attended by representatives of services and groups actively working with 
young people.  These meetings share knowledge and experience around 
issues and trends identified nationally or locally and facilitate sharing of 
experience between practitioners as well as providing a forum for issues and 
concerns to be raised and escalated if required. 

 Benchmarking Project - This project involved assessments of the quality 
and procedures relating to child sexual exploitation held by statutory and Third 
Sector groups in contact with young people and/ or families with potential 
risks.  The purpose was to raise awareness of reporting and assessment 
procedures and to ensure that appropriate processes were in place in all 
relevant organisations. 

 Safe Project - Safe and Free from Exploitation is a multi-agency team based 
within Children’s Services. The aim of the team is to support young people to 
be safe and free from child sexual exploitation by providing intensive, flexible 
and timely support to the young people and their families/carers. 

 
The introduction and development of the tasking and intelligence meetings has 
greatly improved information sharing between partners. 
 
In addition, the training and practitioner’s meetings have improved understanding of 
issues and raised the profile of the risks and responses in a non-confrontational 
manner.  There have been improvements in the volume, scope, source and quality of 
information and intelligence received relating to child sexual exploitation. 
 
There have been action plans produced for all meetings/ action groups to help focus 
local work and integrate it with district wide priorities.  Shared understanding of 
issues has improved responses at individual and community levels and interventions 
and support is more co-ordinated and accountable. Focused support has also 
reduced vulnerabilities for identified individuals. 

Page 227



14 
 

 
 
Older and disabled people are supported to live safely and remain as long as 
they wish in their own homes  
 
Progress 
 
It was recognised that activities in Sheltered Housing Schemes were delivered 
differently when Housing Leeds was formed and Sheltered Support Officers were not 
always actively involved.  Some areas had many sheltered activities for tenants to 
attend whilst many had very few or none taking place.  
Reducing social isolation for an ageing population was a key priority for Housing 
Leeds as it is estimated that by 2020 the number of older people in Leeds will have 
increased by 13%.  Housing Leeds has 49 Sheltered dispersed schemes with no 
communal facilities available, which created an issue facilitating activities for tenants.
 
At the Sheltered forum in March 2015 tenants informed Housing Leeds that they 
wanted the council to help reduce isolation and that there were sheltered schemes 
where ‘not very much seemed to happen’.   
 
Staff teams discussed the barriers that they faced in setting up activities, particularly, 
where there was no access to communal facilities. An audit trail of what activities 
took place across the city and highlighted areas where social isolation might be 
exasperated for older tenants. 
 
Staff were approached at team meetings to gauge their views and opinions on what 
could be done better to develop activities and reduce social isolation.  A focus group 
evolved and 2 Sheltered Support Officers acted as a lead for the team.  Key aims 
and principles were produced along with an activity development plan giving a clear 
direction of travel, ownership and achievable outcomes.   
 
Staff training and development also took place to support and allow them to get more 
involved in delivering activities.  Literature was produced to display on noticeboards 
telling residents what was happening where and when in each Sheltered scheme. 
Funding was awarded through Housing Advisory Panel bids to provide standalone 
community noticeboards for the dispersed schemes that do not have communal 
rooms so they could have the same information. 

 
Joint work took place with other agencies to help promote, increase and develop 
sheltered housing activities, such as, NHS health who provided funding for 
equipment along with staff training to deliver armchair exercise sessions. 

 
Local Neighborhood Network Teams were contacted and encouraged to make use 
of our sheltered communal rooms. 

 
Consultation with sheltered tenants at a local level took place to ask them what they 
wanted and how we could support them to deliver the activities.  Joint work with the 
tenant involvement team also assisted in setting up tenants and residents groups in 
some schemes and attracting funding and external support. 
 

Page 228



15 
 

A centralised database was also developed and Sheltered staff trained and 
supported in recording activities that take place at each scheme – including who runs 
them, type of activity etc. 
 
As a result of the above work:- 
 

 There has been an increase in sheltered activities across the city to 425 
taking place weekly with an addition of 47 new activities taking place. 

 Professional links have been developed that will influence working better 
together and knowing who to go to in sheltered areas. 

 Staff has recently been trained in both food hygiene training and armchair 
exercise facilitating which will increase meaningful activities across schemes 
in coming months that will impact on health and well being for sheltered 
tenants. 

 Activities have been extended across other sheltered schemes to help dispel 
loneliness and isolation. 

 What’s on guides have been produced and information displayed across 
noticeboards to promote activities in the wider community to other older 
tenants. 

 
 
Increase awareness and understanding of hate crime and reduce the 
occurrence and impact of hate crime:- 
 

 increase hate crime reporting 
 
Progress 
 
The key objectives of the ‘Hate Crime Strategy for Leeds’ is to raise awareness of 
what constitutes a hate incident/crime and increase the confidence of victims to 
report their concerns.  
 
One area of hate crime that partners have been concerned about for some time is 
the low level of reports received within the Religion/Faith strand, particularly, given 
global, national and regional events, tensions and the reported rise of Islamaphobia. 
There was also a concern that some faith reports are being incorrectly categorised 
as race hate reports due to a lack of understanding of the motivations. 
 
During 2015 the Leeds Anti-Social Behaviour Team received 239 reported Hate 
Incidents, (slightly down on the figures for 2014/15 when it received 293 reports).  
 
183 (76.6%) of all reports received were identified as being reported under the 
‘Race’ strand, 21 (8.8%) were identified as ‘Disability’ hate incidents, 18 (7.5%) were 
linked to ‘Sexual Orientation’ reports and Faith and Transgender strands accounted 
for 5 (2.1%) each. (7 defined as Other).  
 
During the period referred to the Leeds Anti-Social Behaviour Team opened 1967 
new cases of which only 116 (5.8%) were categorised as hate related. Only one new 
case was opened in the Hate - Religion/faith strand. Data from West Yorkshire 
Police shows that during the 12-month period to the end of December 2015 it 

Page 229



16 
 

recorded 1611 reported Hate Incidents across Leeds, an increase from the 12 month 
period from April 2014 to March 2014 of 1282 reports. Whilst 1317 (81.7%) were 
listed as a Race strand report only 75 (4.6%) reports were linked to the religion/faith 
strand. 
 
Working in partnership with Stop Hate UK, the Leeds Anti-Social Behaviour Unit 
Team has secured funding through the West Yorkshire Police and Crime 
Commissioners Office to develop a programme to engage with community 
representatives across Leeds, to identify and train new advocates and promote 
awareness of faith issues.  
 
The funding secured paid for five bespoke training sessions and a promotional 
campaign to improve information available to faith communities through the use of 
posters, improved advocacy and media opportunities. 
 
Delivery of the project has highlighted the difficulties connecting with some of the 
diverse groups and organisations in the City.  Work has included working with the 
Leeds Faith Covenant Partnership and identified key contacts from Muslim, Jewish, 
Christian and Sikh groups across the city informing them of the opportunities 
available through the project. The response has not been as successful as 
anticipated. 
 
However, there has been some progress with smaller groups across the City through 
the West Yorkshire Police Hate Crime coordinators and established links with an 
Afghan Women’s group and the Syrian Sisters group. Representatives have come 
forward to attend training alongside partner agency staff to raise awareness of what 
constitutes a faith hate incident and enable those advocates to encourage victims 
within their groups to report through the appropriate channels. 
 
The project has already built some new bridges into community groups that were 
previously unknown to the partners and other links are still being progressed. The 
real impact of the project may take some time to evaluate but the groundwork has 
started. Training is being delivered and representatives gain confidence to signpost 
people into reporting centres. Over the longer term it is hoped that the project will 
improve both victims confidence to report and partner organisations understanding of 
how to distinguish between faith and race hate incidents. 
 
 
Understand the context and impact of migration on Leeds 
 
Progress 
 
Leeds is one of the fastest growing cities in the UK, and currently home to over 140 
ethnic groups – making Leeds’ black and minority ethnic population the most diverse 
outside of London. This means that we have a wide diversity of people from different 
countries of origin, as well as from different regions and backgrounds within those 
countries.   
 
Our aim is to be a welcoming city.  Many of Leeds’ communities are made up of 
people from different backgrounds, beliefs and cultures.  People live and work 

Page 230



17 
 

together and where differences are not fully understood or valued then tensions can 
occur.  It is important that we support communities to work together, strengthen 
community cohesion and help break down barriers. 
 
Whilst there is some understanding of the changing nature of the communities, a 
clearer picture of the different and emerging communities will enable consideration of 
the services needed, how these are provided and what further work needs to take 
place in order to support strong local communities.  
 
By fully understanding the current and changing position of communities, we can 
better address need and ensure accessible services.  In addition, the work with the 
Syrian and Afghan resettlement programmes has prompted concerns from some 
citizens in relation to how migration is viewed in the City.  This has led to 
considerable work with the council’s Scrutiny Board (Citizens and Communities) and 
the press to further understand how to better use evidence to address perceptions, 
and to take different courses of action to understand and address potential tensions. 
The council has also strengthened a number of areas of work in relation to migration 
including the formation of a Leeds Strategic Migration Board who will further 
progress work during 2016. 
  
Changes to terrorism legislation and proposed changes to immigration have further 
raised the profile of this agenda and need to be fully understood so that they can be 
implemented appropriately and fairly in Leeds. 
 
Leeds was one of the first local authorities to welcome Syrian Refugees under the 
government’s resettlement programme.  As a response to this there was 
considerable immediate and ongoing generosity shown by the people pf Leeds.  The 
council supported this through the provision of a community centre in Richmond Hill 
which is being used as a storage and sorting centre for donations 
 
The Refugee Welfare Fund of £100,000 was also established in 2015 to provide 
grants to a range of organisations working with migrant communities to enhance 
their work, add value to the agenda and to provide more sustainability.   
 
A number of specific projects/pieces of work have been undertaken including; 
 

 Develop an understanding of new and emerging communities in each 
locality - Area profiles are being developed using current knowledge and 
expertise and further work is taking place to understand the demography and 
how trends and changes in communities can be better understood, for 
example, the position of European Union economic migrants and their impact 
on school places, the provision of English for Speakers of Other Languages 
etc. 

 Establish the needs of new communities and understand how the 
council can best support/influence delivery of appropriate services -  
Work is taking place to build on the information collated via the Migration 
Partnership to understand advice, advocacy and service provision in 2015.  
Further work is to specifically consider the position of children and young 
people, those who are destitute, and to more widely understand where there 
may be any gaps in service provision.  Once completed consideration will be 

Page 231



18 
 

given to how these gaps can best be addressed.  Additional resources have 
been allocated to this work to support and to work with the migrant third 
sector. 

 Consider and adopt appropriate models to strengthen communities 
working together - The Stronger Communities Breakthrough programme 
aims to develop approaches that promote a common sense of belonging and 
respect across all the city’s communities. The programme will seek to better 
understand the diversity of Leeds’ communities, and identify barriers that can 
impact on establishing good community relations.  A range of new ways of 
working will be developed to help foster a common sense of purpose and 
togetherness.  It is hoped that this in turn will develop community capacity and 
activism. 

 Develop an approach to recognise and value difference - Improving 
community cohesion and embedding mutual respect is a key strand of the 
new breakthrough programme. The Stronger Communities project will look to 
encourage greater dialogue between people of different backgrounds, faiths 
and gender.  As an example, a programme of community conversations about 
the issues that matter to people the most will be established.  Some of these 
issues may be sensitive, but through open and honest dialogue we will aim to 
find resolutions which help individuals and communities to move forward in a 
more unified and respectful way 

 
The Refugee Welfare Fund has funded work that this is resulting in increased joint 
working between different migrant organisations, additional provision of services 
including English language provision, food parcels, and increased advice to refugees 
and asylum seekers. 
 
The evolving Culture Strategy will broaden the definition of culture and reflect and 
represent the cultures celebrated by new migrant communities in the City. 
 
The Migrant Access Project continues to understand the needs of migrant 
communities and to work together to develop community led solutions, such as the 
recent setting up of ‘Roma Kitchen’. 
 
There have been some increased tensions as a result of Leeds approach to 
migration and these have been addressed quickly within the communities where 
work has taken place to harness the generally positive community feelings.  All 
questions received, both from members of the public and from the press have been 
responded to quickly and have been able to provide evidence to back up assertions 
in relation to the work which is taking place.  This has prevented issues from 
escalating. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Improve the health of the most vulnerable people in Leeds:- 

Page 232



19 
 

 The Perinatal Education programme, which targets race, pregnancy and 
maternity  

 
Progress 
 
Many disadvantaged parents-to-be, who are most likely to need support, are less 
likely to access perinatal education or support over and above their standard midwife 
care.  These targeted programmes have been developed and commissioned to more 
specifically meet their needs and reduce inequalities in health and wider outcomes.   
 
The Leeds targeted Perinatal Education programme was developed with the aim of 
improving birth outcomes and longer term development opportunities for babies from 
families with more complex needs. The service contributes to achieving key 
priorities, in particular: 
 

 Help children to live in safe and supportive families  
 Ensure that the most vulnerable are protected 
 Support children to be ready for learning  

 
The Leeds Maternity Health Needs assessment (2014) reports  that 30% of births in 
Leeds occur to families living in the 10% most deprived Lower Super Output 
areas(approximately 3,150 births per annum) and sets out the considerable 
inequalities that exist with regard to maternal and infant health. 
 
The Baby Steps and Preparation for Birth and Beyond at Choto Moni are targeted 
perinatal education programmes commissioned to improve services in this area. 
 
Baby Steps is an innovative interactive perinatal education programme, which helps 
parents to prepare not only for the birth of their baby, but also their own transition to 
parenthood, including considering the impact of having a new baby on their 
relationship, and how best to support the development of positive parent infant 
relationships. Thus directly addressing the critical risks factors for poor health, 
parenting and maltreatment including; 
 

 lack of knowledge of child development 
 unrealistic expectations of babies/parenthood  
 parental conflict 

 
The National Society for Prevention of Cruelty to Children worked with Warwick 
University to develop the programme based on the Department of Health’s 
Preparation for Birth and Beyond framework for antenatal education.  
 
The group programme begins with a home visit, and then parents attend six weekly 
group sessions before the baby is born, followed by three more after the birth. A 
multi-disciplinary team consisting of children’s services practitioners, social workers, 
midwives and health visitors deliver the Baby Steps Programme in children’s centres 
across Leeds. Referrals are received from midwives, social workers and other 
professionals who work with mothers and fathers to be. The team review each 
referral; make contact with the referrer and then the pregnant woman and her 
partner. 

Page 233



20 
 

 
Preparation for Birth and Beyond  at Choto Moni has been established to increase 
the accessibility, quality and value of perinatal education  classes to BME families 
with more complex needs including asylum seekers and refugees. It is offered on a 
rolling basis with families able to remain with the programme for up to a year giving 
them time to develop their skills and confidence to engage with mainstream services. 
The sessions are delivered by a National Childbirth Trust counsellor who has good 
links to the Refugee Council. It incorporates the content that would traditionally be 
included in an antenatal education programme, and other content based on the 
specific needs of the group, for example understanding and navigating the UK health 
and housing services.  

While both programmes are based on the Preparation for Birth and Beyond resource 
pack, which underpins Leeds universal perinatal education programme, both 
programmes provide longer term support than the universal provision. Both are 
delivered by dedicated staff that have had more specialist training and experience to 
enable them to make home visits and build the relationships necessary to enable 
these families to engage. Both also have more capacity to provide practical support 
to families where this is considered beneficial; for example they offer an interpreter 
and provision of free transport. Both programmes also have the capacity to provide 
the families with longer term support once baby is born and to facilitate a structured 
transition into mainstream care 
The Baby Steps programme has been running since June 2015.  87 adults have 
engaged with the Baby steps programmes that have been completed to date, of 
which 44 completed a minimum of 6 sessions.  A further 6 programmes are currently 
underway.  The programme is currently on course to achieve its target to engage 
200 parents annually. 
 
While it is early days feedback from the families and practitioners engaged in Baby 
steps has been very positive.  
 
The Preparation for Birth and Beyond course at Choto Moni has been running for 
several years now and on average engages approximately 48 families per year. A 
local small scale qualitative evaluation of the programme was undertaken in 
December 2013 and highlighted the impact that being part of the group has had on 
the families attending and includes case study information. 
 
Key benefits reported from clients include support to access safe affordable housing, 
increased feelings of self-confidence and self-esteem, reduction in social isolation, 
increased ability to navigate health care system, improved birth outcomes and 
satisfaction with the birth experience high breast feeding rates and opportunities to 
gain work experience and employment.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Identify and remove as many organisational barriers as possible to people who 
need access to adult social care services 

Page 234



21 
 

Includes the revised four better lives themes: 

 Better Lives through Housing care and Support – we will promote 
achievement of agreed personal outcomes (including increasing access 
and the equity of access to service) across all equality characteristics to 
encompass all communities and citizens of Leeds 

 Better Lives through Enterprise – all citizens will have access to 
appropriate services and or support, with assistance to develop 
appropriate services from within the community 

 Better Lives through Integration – all citizens of Leeds will have access 
to, and benefit from, joined up services provided by integrated health 
and social care 

 Better Lives through a strength and asses based approach to individual 
and community support 

 

Progress Update One 

The increasing financial pressures are having a severe impact on the funding of 
health and preventative services.  As a result Adult Social Care are looking at new 
and alternative ways to provide services. 
 
Adult Social Care is promoting strength or asset based approaches to providing 
support. This is being done to develop more appropriate and bespoke support 
packages based on the strengths and assets of individuals, their circle of support 
and the wider community, leading to improved outcomes. This approach, which is to 
be incorporated into the Better Lives strategy, enhances the quality of social care by 
enhancing the quality of the conversation with service users to identify what support 
they need. Such a conversation is based upon what they can do and what is 
available within their communities, leading to individualised support and hence more 
individually appropriate outcomes for service users.  This will build on individual 
strengths and passions to develop new innovative and more stimulating support. 
 
This is backed with implementing an Asset Based Community Development model 
with Third Sector delivery using Community Organisers, Community Connectors, 
Citizen Led Asset Mapping and ‘small sparks’ funding. 
 
Several examples of the application of this new way of thinking have been identified. 
 
Action for Gipton Elderly, one of Leeds neighbourhood networks, has now adopted 
the asset based way of working across the whole organisation. This involves 
encouraging members to share their skills and take the lead in setting up new groups 
and activities to pursue their passions. It has enabled the organisation to reach out to 
a greater number of older people in the area, whilst focusing their staff time on 
supporting the most vulnerable. 
 
One tangible result of this approach has been a member of the Middleton 
Neighbourhood Networks who has skills in whittling walking sticks discovered after a 
conversation with a member of staff. As a result of the conversation the individual 
offered to share his skills with others who may be interested in sharing a new skill 
and he was supported to access a small grant to set up the group. The group now 

Page 235



22 
 

organises walks to collect appropriate material and also continues to meet socially, 
addressing both health and social isolation issues. 
 
This approach has been particularly successful in projects and activities set up by 
the Migrant Access Project which is embracing the asset based approach in 
developing community strengths to provide solutions to problems, for example:- 
 

 Association of Independent Women in Action have developed the Eat What 
You Grow project to develop good eating habits, promoting health and 
developing confidence, thus supporting mental health. 

 
 The Syrian Community of Leeds has developed the Syrian Kitchen and the 

Keep Fit Boot Camp to promote healthy eating, fitness, community 
engagement, develop employment skills and to promote confidence.    
 

 
In a recent consultation regarding BME day services most service users reported a 
positive experience of using the current services.  Some also commented that the 
Centre’s programs were not stimulating enough and failed to meet peoples support 
needs.  Additionally individuals are encouraging Adult Social Care to support the 
development of new day opportunities for individuals and more effective ways of 
delivering services through stronger engagement with BME Community Groups. 
 
This information is being used to inform a report on the future of the service to 
Executive Board in November 2016. 
 
Progress Update Two 
 
Adult Social Care has recently undertaken a review of Non-residential service 
charges and an equality impact assessment was completed that looked at potential 
barriers and concerns. From the assessment it became clear that many individuals 
were concerned, partly because they did not understand charging, they were unclear 
as to what charges would be levied, or how great the impact would be, some being 
afraid they would be unable to afford  services to meet identified need. This gave rise 
to a sense of anxiety for some individuals who did not have relevant support in 
understanding whether they would be required to pay a charge or not and the impact 
on them. 
 
A series of actions were developed which included:- 
 

 Sharing updated information about what support was available for those 
experiencing financial difficulties.  This outlined the options and sources of 
support, including the use of the Leeds Directory. Changes to accessibility for 
the Leeds Directory have also been made; 

 Ensuring that services are available to support people facing potential 
financial difficulties, including developing or commissioning services if 
required.  This has resulted in additional services being commissioned to 
provide more advocacy support. 

 A proposal to increase rather than remove the maximum weekly charge and 
amending the proposal relating to housing costs. 

Page 236



23 
 

 Using simple easily understood language to communicate with people, 
allowing people the time and space to absorb and process information and 
asks questions. 

 Developing new and innovative ways of providing services through the use of 
community resources, such as, local luncheon or coffee clubs or grouping 
service users together to provide more bespoke services to address social 
Isolation.  This is being moved forward as part of the asset based community 
development work 

 Analysing the profile of services available across Leeds to identify which 
areas have high levels of support and which do not, for example areas which 
are covered by neighbourhood networks, credit unions, advice and advocacy 
networks. This is to be considered as part of the commissioning process for 
new services. 

 Providing clear information regarding who receives what social care services 
and how what they are asked to contribute is calculated. Explain the Council’s 
legal duties to provide care and support for people from all communities. 

 
To support the implementation work for this change in charging which will take effect 
from October, a number of mitigating actions have been taken. Adult Social Care has 
written to everyone receiving their services and who will be affected by the change 
explaining how they will be affected.  As part of the implementation of the changes a 
face to face assessment for all users prior to any increase will be carried out.  This is 
so they can be re assured and if necessary supported to access the enhanced 
advocacy support.  At this assessment they will be given an advice booklet and at 
visit if any concerns are raised a referral to the face to face service will be made. 
 
All documentation has been discussed with the service user reference group and a 
general booklet produced received positive feedback.  Consideration of these issues 
also informed the Market Position statement which is produced by Adult Social Care. 
 
It is too early to ascertain the full impact of the changes. However, comparing this 
charging review with previous charging reviews responses to the initial letter and 
feedback from face to face financial re-assessments have been considerably less.  
 
Progress Update Three 
 
Under representation of black and minority ethnic (BME) and especially those from 
new and emerging communities who use Adult Social Care services and 
Safeguarding has been highlighted as a concern. These groups are 
underrepresented  when compared with the whole population profile 
 
Work by the Migrant Access Project has identified a number of barriers to new and 
emerging communities accessing Adult Social Care services and Safeguarding. 
 
New migrant communities  hold a number of pre- conceptions about  Adult Social 
Care ranging from ‘I don’t know what Adult Social Care do’ to ‘Adult Social Care will 
take away your children, stay away from them.’  The Migrant Access Point has been 
working on understanding what these barriers are.  It is recognised that these issues 
affect all BME groups but new migrant communities have a range of additional 
issues and barriers that require a greater degree of understanding.  As a result 

Page 237



24 
 

additional work was needed to breakdown these barriers and to develop and deliver 
appropriate and useful services.  
 
This links into the development across Adult Social Care of the asset based 
community development model based on the strengths and abilities of individuals 
and communities to develop services that are appropriate to the needs of that 
community. 
 
Based around the asset based community development model the Migrant Access 
Point  developed a training programme that included 5 key areas including, health, 
education, housing and social care. Under Social Care the areas that were looked at 
included carers, disabilities, residential, older people and day centres to ensure that 
Migrant Community Networks could take accurate and relevant information back to 
their communities.  
 
One undertaking was the use of a buffer organisation where individuals or groups 
from the community could go and discuss issues around Safeguarding or other 
concerns. Such buffer organisations allow open discussion before or instead 
recourse to formal government bodies something many communities feel 
uncomfortable about due to previous experiences. The body who undertook this 
buffer role is VAL (Voluntary Action Leeds). 
 
A number of the Migrant Community Networks members attended the council’s 
safeguarding training.  The Migrant Access Project is also working in partnership 
with Voluntary Action Leeds to tailor the training for communities to support the work 
of the Safeguarding Boards who do not have the resources to visit all of the 
communities. This work has been completed with the Children’s Safeguarding Board 
and the Migrant Access Project is working with representatives of the Adult 
Safeguarding Board to use this model.  
 
In the case of safeguarding and the work around health and social care the aim is to 
continue enhancing the understanding and trust in the communities to breakdown 
Identified barriers.   
 
One example of services being developed to promote health and care is the 
discussions currently taking place with Leeds Women’s Therapy and Counselling 
Services.   The intention is to help women in communities to work with their groups 
providing peer support to help with mental health wellbeing.  Particularly,  for those 
that have left war torn countries, fleeing violence, rape, witnessing family and friends 
being murdered and not knowing where family members are.  
 
Work with Adult Social Care and Safeguarding must be taken at a pace that is 
acceptable to the community otherwise there is a risk they will disengage. 
 
Also Initial work around Safeguarding and introducing communities to Safeguarding 
via Level 1 training did not work for a variety of reasons. Communities did not 
understand Safeguarding as it was a totally new concept and does not exist in most 
countries.  Also the moral, cultural and ethical issues needed to be addressed. To 
address this a pre level 1 course was developed and a range of the relevant issues 
was presented to mixed groups.  In many cases this is a major step for many 

Page 238



25 
 

communities in bringing both genders together. Part of the training is to ensure that 
everyone understands this is a moral responsibility and that religion and culture are 
to be put aside. 
 

Compassionate City – enjoying culture and sport, inclusive access and 
language access 

To improve the quality of parks in Leeds with a focus on community parks that 
provide and develop facilities and activities available for everyone who wishes 
to visit:- 

 particularly for BME, people of faith, young and old, disabled people 

 
Progress 
 
Each year the Parks and Countryside service undertake a number of capital 
improvement schemes for the restoration/installation of recreational facilities, such 
as, children’s playgrounds, sports courts and outdoor gym equipment. 
 
Consultation is undertaken as part of the design process and this is usually 
undertaken using a variety of methods.  However, it was recognised that these did 
not always reach across the whole community. 
 
The survey of tenants and residents undertaken by Housing services asked 
respondents to state their preference for consultation mechanisms.  This included 
areas of work that fell within the remit of Parks and Countryside (although not 
specifically the work relating to capital developments)  It was clear from the analysis 
of responses that those in the under 30 age ranges had an expectation of being able 
to engage with the council using social media. 
 
As a result the consultation approach used by the service has been broadened to 
include the use of Twitter and Facebook as a method of consultation. 
 
This approach has increased the opportunities for residents and stakeholders to 
comment on proposals and to directly influence change. It also provided a response 
to the specific request to use social media as another route to engagement. 
 
Also over the past 6 months, the Leeds Let’s Get Active scheme was widened to 
delivery of free sport and physical activities in Armley Park, East End Park and 
Middleton Park.  These sessions are available for all, however, in light of the need to 
improve women’s participation in sport and physical activity, there are some women 
only beginners running groups, cycle rides and rounder’s sessions which are taking 
place as part of the Leeds Let’s Get Active in the Park and the Leeds Girls Can 
initiatives.  Such programmes have been extremely positive in engaging inactive 
women with over 45% of all participants being inactive at baseline. 
 

Improve recycling rates and quality of recycling from residents new to Leeds 
and/ or where English may not be the primary language 

Page 239



26 
 

 
Progress 
 
The council is looking to ensure that our approach to communication and activities 
recognise the barriers faced by residents new to Leeds and/or where English may 
not be the first language. 
 
Monitoring data for quality of recyclables is received from our contractor who takes 
all the materials from the green wheeled bin service. This data is produced daily for 
every collection round. Therefore we can correlate which round was working in a 
particular area of Leeds and therefore know where recycling is poorest. 
 
When implementing the new alternate weekly collection service a pictorial guide was 
devised to explain the service to those residents whose first language may not be 
English. 
 
The council also liaised with colleagues in Locality and Housing to identify areas of 
the City where residents may find the new service difficult.  Work then took place to 
target Waste Recycling Advisors in these areas to provide face to face advice. 
 
Targeted work in the worst performing areas of the City which included placing 
information stickers on 95,000 green bins has been completed. These pictorial 
stickers aim to inform residents of what goes in the green bin, to try and increase the 
quality and quantity of materials collected. There is also a six months monitoring 
period to assess the level of improvement. 
 
Most recently, the Spring Recycling Campaign has promoted the new “What goes 
where” interactive infographic. The “whatgoeswhere.com” link uses smart phone or 
tablet technology to provide one click referencing to what can be recycled and 
where.  
 
Complementary, recycling awareness postcards have also been distributed along 
with Council Tax bills and during March 2016 there were 9 roadshows at key 
locations across the city all aimed at reminding residents of what can and cannot go 
in green bins. 
 
To further enable citizens to engage through digital channels, work has progressed 
to finalise the ‘Leeds Bins App’ and ensure that data sources are correctly aligned 
with those of the popular “My Bin Day” web pages. It is expected that this will be 
launched during the summer. 
 
The Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility in Leeds features a dedicated Visitor 
Centre for use by the Council, enabling educational visits, presentations and tours of 
the facility. With the facility now complete, the council’s contract management team 
are starting to organise visits, and have been working with Veolia and other partners 
to develop their format and content. It is intended that these visits will be made 
available to schools, and will provide an important opportunity to communicate wider 
environmental messages, such as the importance of recycling at home through 
interactive games and activities. 
 

Page 240



27 
 

The schools mini waste advisors programme was launched over the summer 2015 
and is being offered to all schools in Leeds. Currently ten schools are actively 
engaging with this project. 
  
A learning package outlining the benefits of recycling has been developed with the 
council’s training partner QA, and is available to Council staff.  The council also 
works closely with the Universities especially at the beginning and end of the 
academic year. At the beginning of the year the council also attends fresher’s fairs to 
provide support and information on how students can manage their waste and how 
refuse collections work in Leeds. 
 
At the end of the academic year when students are leaving the council provide extra 
refuse collection and bulky waste crews and put extra temporary textile banks out in 
the main student areas. We have also worked with the third sector reuse groups 
where drop off point were set up for large items. 
 
Information is also provided for Housing Officers to talk about waste when visiting 
tenants and work is targeted at young tenants aged 16 – 35 when they take on a 
tenancy for the first time.  
 

Improve access to cultural opportunities and sport 

Includes: 

 Working to ensure equality groups are fully involved in the European 
Capital of Culture bid development and engagement 

 Make all aspects of our activities as fully accessible as our resources 
allow, including access to buildings, collections, events, exhibitions, 
learning and to our staff and volunteers as well as visitors 

 Improve access to sports and leisure facilities – particularly increasing 
participation of women and disabled people 

 
Progress Update One 
 
The Leeds European Capital of Culture bid team is currently focusing on ‘Who is 
Leeds’ as part of the development of the vision for the 2023 Capital of Culture bid.  
The council wants to develop an understanding of the range of people in the City.  
This will help to inform how the City can be better and how 2023 Capital of Culture 
can be something for everyone. The European Capital of Culture is about everyone 
in the City, everyone needs to be involved. 
  
Many people see culture as something that benefits other people not them.  This 
could be because of perceptions about educational attainment or income levels.  
Culture is not often thought of as something that could be related to hobbies, food, 
family and beliefs. The Capital of Culture Bid Engagement Group wants to challenge 
a common misunderstanding that "culture isn't for me" and send out the message 
that ‘Culture sits on our doorsteps! It’s ours!’ 
 
In order to do this the council is engaging with different people in the City in a variety 

Page 241



28 
 

of ways. The Leeds 2023 Engagement Activity is engaging with local networks that 
represent many communities in Leeds.  These include the LS14 Trust, Black Health 
Initiative, music groups, peace activists; young artists and performers; the City of 
Sanctuary, neighbourhood groups, faith groups, school networks, older people and 
disabled peoples forums.  
 
Specific work is taking place with young people. THINK (The Heart Imagination 
Narrative Knowledge) is a group of young people who are passionate about Leeds 
and keen to get involved in the Leeds 2023 Capital of Culture bid. In July 2015 a 
public call out was put out for 18-25 year olds to be involved with the Leeds 2023 
project. 4 applicants were selected, not on the basis of cultural knowledge or 
qualifications but as representative of a variety of backgrounds and areas and 
experiences that are all passionate about Leeds. The THINK group meets 
regularly and the Leeds 2023 Advisory Group for Engagement works with them as 
an initial sounding board for engaging with young people. 
 
The THINK group has just visited Aarhus in Denmark (ECOC 2017) to learn from 
Aarhus 2017 about becoming a European Capital of Culture. They met a 
representative from the OFFTRACK2017 group, which is a network in Aarhus of 
about 1000 young people, to learn about their involvement in Aarhus2017.   Next 
year the THINK group will use this experience to lead engagement activities with 
young people and help to grow the number of young people involved from all parts of 
the city. The THINK group has a Facebook and an active Twitter profile and led the 
Leeds 2023 social media pages, reporting their findings in Aarhus( 9-11 June). 
 
Progress Update Two 
 
In March 2016 Leeds City Council received the gold award of Attitude is Everything’s 
Charter of Best Practice for showing continuing commitment to venue access to 
customers and performers for the council’s outdoor venue  Victoria Gardens. Victoria 
Gardens hosts a number of events throughout the year including the annual Leeds 
Lights Switch On. Victoria Gardens is the first permanent local authority run events 
space to receive the Gold award in the country. 
  
The events team in City Development will continue to work with Attitude is 
Everything to ensure its venues and events are as accessible and usable as possible 
for as many people, striving to improve disabled customers experience year on year, 
exceeding expectations, removing barriers which may prevent people from 
participating in/ experiencing events, and actively promoting an inclusive approach. 
 
Progress Update Three 
 
Women and disabled people have been under represented in sport participation for 
many years.  This is a national trend but also a local issue. Women do participate in 
health and fitness activities at local leisure centres. Disabled people continue to be 
under represented across all activities and sport and only account for 1.6% of visits 
to the leisure centre’s. 
 
The council’s Sport and Active Lifestyles have been working with Adult Social Care 
to embed bases for people with learning disabilities within leisure centres, providing 

Page 242



29 
 

facilities within their own communities and introducing people to new activities.  Adult 
Social care bases are integrated into ten leisure centres, including multiple services 
at Holt Park Active. 
 
Disability sport opportunities exist across the City run by the council, professional 
clubs, voluntary clubs, disability charities, health partners and other key providers. 
These opportunities are co-ordinated by the Disability Sports Officer for the Sport 
and Active Lifestyles Service and cover all ages, all impairment groups, all ability 
levels and are held city-wide. This programme is widely acknowledged as one of the 
most comprehensive in the country. 
 
There were nearly 5,000 visits per month by disabled people and in total there were 
59,754 visits to the leisure centres in 2015/2016. The total number of visits has 
increased year on year.  There are 973 council leisure centre visits per month by 
disabled children/young people. (0-19 years) which equates to 11,676 visits per year. 
 
The spilt is 41% female and 59% male and 753 individual disabled children and 
young people have accessed provision.  There is a 100% increase in the uptake of 
disabled swimming lessons at leisure centres. 
 
There are short breaks funded through disability sport activity (ages 0-18) and  562 
disabled children and young people have accessed disability sport opportunities 
through short breaks provision in the period 2015/16.  This equates to a total of 8946 
hours of delivery with between 16 to 18 different clubs, sessions and providers 
accessed this funding. Sessions were held in a leisure centre, community and club 
setting. 
 
In addition the council’s Sport and Active Lifestyles service were “Local authority of 
the year” winners at Yorkshire Disability Sport Awards 2016.  The Leeds Disability 
Tennis Network were winners at the Yorkshire LTA awards 2015. Also in November 
2015 Leeds Disability Sport Youth Panel members visited Lille in France, one of 
Leeds twin cities, to develop and progress disability sport programmes with their 
youth council. A great example of partnership working with young disabled people 
influencing and shaping decisions. 
 
Sport and Active Lifestyles have also been working to help remove some of the 
barriers which prevent women from being active.  Women have been enjoying a 
variety of sporting/physical activities as part of a Sport England project called Leeds 
Girls Can. This is an offshoot of the national Sport England Campaign ‘This Girl 
Can’.   The project aims to engage women/girls from across Leeds back into informal 
sport/physical activity through weekly social and fun multi-activity sessions.  
Activities are currently taking place across the city, such as running clubs, cycling, 
and rounder’s. As these activities are relatively new numbers are starting to build 
with some running sessions with up to 25 participants each week. Work is taking 
place with Leeds Beckett University to help promote and market the scheme, with 
website and social media platforms dedicated to the scheme to help drive up 
participation rates. 
 
Leeds Let’s Get Active was launched to explore barriers to physical activity and 
support the most inactive to participate in 30 minutes of moderate intensity physical 

Page 243



30 
 

activity per week. This is aimed at reducing health inequalities across the City.  
Inactivity costs the City around £10.4M annually. The project is funded by Sport 
England (£500k) and Leeds City Council Public Health (£500k) with in kind and 
staffing support from the council’s Sport and Active Lifestyles. The project has been 
developed and is managed by the council’s Sport and Active Lifestyles Team and 
sees a universal free offer of gym, swim, classes, walking, running and family 
activities in 17 leisure centres and a variety of community venues and parks across 
the city. Leeds Let’s Get Active works in partnership with a variety of organisations.   
As a result of the project:- 
 

 Nearly 75,000 people have registered to take part in Leeds Let’s Get Active 
 48% of registered individuals were classed as inactive at baseline (less than 

30 minutes per week) 
 86.9% did not meet the Chief Medical Officers recommendations of 150 

minutes of physical activity per week 
 There have been 348,128 visits to Leeds Let’s Get Active sessions. 45% of 

these visits were made by participants classified as inactive at baseline and 
85% of visits were made by participants reporting lifestyle risk factors in 
combination (2 or more) 

 17.9% of participants that have registered since April 2015 have been 
diagnosed with a Long-term condition in the last 12 months 

 16194 registered participants are from deprived areas 
 At follow up 80% of inactive participants base-lined as inactive were now 

classed as active (more than 30 minutes per week)  
 
 

Produce and adopt a supplementary planning document on inclusive design 
and access 

 
Progress 
 
There was a lack of guidance for developers applying for planning permission in 
terms of access for disabled people, inclusive design, and how they can satisfy 
Leeds City Councils Core Strategy Policy P10 DESIGN, in particular, the 
requirement that the development is accessible to all users.  
 
Queries which came into the council’s City Development Department, via Planning 
Officers and the Access Officer highlighted that some planning applications did not 
understand how to adequately address issues of access for disabled people and 
create an inclusive development. 
 
As a result the Supplementary Planning Guidance “Accessible Leeds” was drafted 
and was subject to public consultation in 2016.  It is due to be published in the 
summer of 2016.  Its aim is to assist planning applicants in creating inclusive 
environments which are suitable for the diverse population of Leeds including 
disabled people. :- 
The Accessible Leeds Supplementary Planning Document  is a draft planning 
document (supplementary to the Leeds Core Strategy) which should be taken into 

Page 244



31 
 

account when considering non-residential planning applications in Leeds. It aims to 
provide additional guidance for planning applicants on the council’s expectations for 
inclusive design and access for disabled people. It recognises the importance of 
creating a high quality inclusive and accessible environment, and eliminating 
physical barriers for disabled people in Leeds.   
 
The guidance is intended for use by anyone applying for planning permission 
including developers, architects, and design teams. It should ensure that an inclusive 
design approach is adopted, and that developments: can be used safely, easily and 
with dignity by all, regardless of disability or impairment ; are convenient and 
welcoming with no disabling barriers, so everyone can use them independently 
without undue effort, separation or ‘special treatment’;  are flexible and responsive 
taking account of the varying needs of people; adopting a pan-disability/ impairment 
approach  
 

Improve provision of information so everyone can find their way around the 
city centre 
 
Progress 
 
It is recognised that for people to be fully involved in everyday life in Leeds and to 
access services they need to be able to find their way around the City centre.  
Feedback received by the  council tells us that : 
 

 Pedestrians with mobility impairments generally prefer to know the average 
length of time it takes to walk to a destination 

 Pedestrians with limited knowledge of written English or with visual 
impairments need information in a different format supported with universally 
understood symbols and large, uncluttered maps without clashing logos 
styles.  Pictograms (illustrated buildings) are highlighted as destinations but 
also act as landmarks for users to locate themselves by 

 Paper based information is important for pedestrians without access to digital 
technology such as international visitors, or those lacking in digital skills. 

 
Also feedback from visitors to the City centre and the outcome independent research 
resulted in:- 

 The design of  a new City centre map in a more accessible format 

 The design of an on-street way-finding system for the whole of the City centre 
including the South Bank  

 Carrying out detailed consultation using questionnaires and working with a 
focus group consisting of disabled users of the City centre to inform the 
design of the mapping and signs to ensure accessibility for all. 

As a result people have found it easier to find their way around the City centre and 
now know the average walking time it will take them to reach their chosen 
destination and what else is on their chosen route. This reduces stress, allows those 
with mobility issues to better plan their route and pace themselves, helps people to 

Page 245



32 
 

leave time to get to the train station/appointments and raises awareness of what the 
City centre has to offer. 
  
Work will now take place to extend the on-street system to other areas on the City 
centre .including. the extended retail area (Victoria Gate), business district and South 
Bank. This is now scheduled for September 2016. 
 
 

Improve access to Leeds city centre pavements and disabled parking:- 

 Improve the accessibility of pavements by tackling physical 
obstructions and seasonal hazards 

 
Progress 
 
There are many hazards on pavements for those who are elderly or who are 
disabled, including seasonal, such as, ice and the accumulation of leaves.  Other 
hazards include overgrown vegetation that restricts the width of pavements for 
wheelchairs, vegetation that encroaches onto the path and can be a slip or trip 
hazard or which overhangs the path at head height and can be a hazard to those 
with visual impairments.  Other movable obstacles, such as, advertising boards and 
wheelie bins can restrict pavement accessibility by making paths narrow and 
inaccessible.  
 
The areas of work identified account for a significant number of service requests 
from the public each year and prioritising them will improve the general 
neighbourhood for all. 
 
The council has taken action against residents/businesses that are causing access 
problems on public pathways through such issues as overgrown hedges, wheelie 
bins left out well after/before collection day and illegal/unauthorised advertising, 
particularly, with the use of advertising boards. 
 
During the autumn/early winter a programme of leaf clearance focused on 
those paths/streets where leaf fall is historically known to cause the most 
problems.  The council also responds promptly to requests for service from the 
public. 
 
The number of reports received relating to obstacles / slippery footways over the last 
three years is shown below: 
  

Page 246



33 
 

 
 
 
Formal Notices served in relation to the main obstruction reported to the Council 
(overgrown vegetation) in 15/16 are shown below: 
 
 

 
In addition, one locality team has worked with the local guide dogs group and has 
undertaken project work within some business districts and student areas to improve 
pavement access as part of a ‘Pavements are for People’ scheme.   
 
The scheme has involved identifying 3 routes around the Arndale Centre in 
Headingley and tackling all aspects of accessibility including cars parked on 
pavements, A-boards and bins left out on streets. 
 
The teams have addressed over 3,000 situations where an obstacle or a slippery 
footway was reported to the Council. In doing so, hazards at these locations were 
removed, freeing up the safe passage of pedestrians here. 
 
 
Improve access to Leeds city centre pavements and disabled parking:- 

 Ensure proper use of disabled parking facilities in Leeds 
 
Progress 
 
Access to parking has a significant impact on the ability of disabled people to 
participate in everyday life. The council is committed to taking steps to make sure 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

13/14

14/15

15/16

0

20

40

60

80

13/14 14/15 15/16

Number notices for
overgrown vegetation

Notices served ‐ all  types
relating to obstruction

Page 247



34 
 

that disabled parking facilities are available for disabled people. 
 
The council has undertaken specific projects to tackle blue badge abuse since 2012. 
This does not cover routine enforcement of blue badges, such as, staying for too 
long or parking in the wrong place; it concentrates on the deliberate misuse of a 
badge by someone who is not entitled to use it. 
 
The focus is solely on the misuse of a badge once issued.  There are various rules 
relating to the use of blue badges but the basic condition is that the badge holder 
must be present in the vehicle for the relevant journey. 
 
Initially Parking Services concentrated on issuing parking penalties for the offence 
with a follow up warning letter and 449 offences were detected in the first year. 
However this did not seem to be particularly effective in reducing offence levels. With 
parking in City Centre spaces costing up to £8 a day the payment of one £35 ticket 
was not a particular deterrent. People who had been caught once took steps to avoid 
being caught a second time and therefore a more robust approach was required 
 
In 2013 the service began to start prosecuting offenders in the first instance provided 
sufficient evidence was secured. With experience we have developed this into a 
routine part of parking enforcement. 
 
In 2014/ 15 179 people were prosecuted and all were convicted. In 2015/16 there 
were 215 cases prosecuted with 213 convicted. 
 
It is difficult to quantify the effect of this activity on the availability of blue badge 
spaces as we do not monitor the availability of spaces and even if we did there are 
many variables that could influence this measure. Although offence levels rose in 
2015/16 the overall figure is less than half the number in 2012.  
 
The scheme is popular with blue badge holders and Parking Services have received 
a number of compliments from people who have witnessed enforcement action 
taking place. There have also been 12 comments posted on newspaper articles all of 
which supported our approach. 
 
 
Ensure that simplified street space is safe:- 

 Develop an approach to the city centre and district centres around 
simplified street space 

 
Progress 
 
Many people and businesses want more simplified street spaces, often called 
‘shared spaces’ with less clutter, more even surfaces, less dominance of traffic with 
greater priority for pedestrians.  However, those who are visually and hearing 
impaired are concerned about the potential lack of kerbs and clear demarcation of 
areas for pedestrians and those for vehicles and bicycles. Therefore, an approach 
was required to ensure shared street space is designed to be safe and is recognised 
as safe for all. 

Page 248



35 
 

 
This work is on-going work as each street will need to be designed on a case-by 
case basis. To date, officers have met with representatives of access groups and 
arranged a site visit to schemes in York. Further visits and consultations are 
planned. 
 
Access groups have welcomed the consultative and collaborative approach the 
council is taking which has started to help allay some fears and concerns. 
 

Continue to improve awareness of availability of ESOL classes and improve 
BSL interpretation:- 
 

 Use of the new video interpreter service 
 Promotion of the learn English website 

 
Progress Update One 
 
When a deaf or hard of hearing customer wanted to contact the council, they had to 
request a face to face British Sign Language interpreter to communicate.  The 
council needed approximately two weeks or longer to book a face to face Interpreter 
due to the high demand and availability of  interpreters.  This meant that customer 
enquiries could not be resolved at first point of contact and they had to return on 
another date 
 
The Interpreting and Translation Team met with the Deaf Forum which has 
representatives of the deaf and hard of hearing community to gather their views on 
how to improve the service.  As a result research was undertaken to explore what 
options were available to allow deaf or hard of hearing customers to communicate 
immediately with council staff.  The options looked at included the recruitment of an 
in house Interpreter or find ways of providing British Sign Language Video 
Interpreting.  
 
It was established that recruiting an in house interpreter would reduce the waiting 
time for an appointment.  However, this would not enable deaf or hard of hearing 
customers to speak with an officer immediately.  It was, therefore, agreed that the 
provision of British Sign Language video interpreting was the most appropriate 
option. 
  
The service was set up initially at The Compton Centre, LS9 and 2 Great George 
Street, LS1 for face to face contact and British Sign Language live on the council’s 
website. 
 
A deaf or hard of hearing customer can go to any of the two One Stop Centres 
where they are able to advise staff that they require a British Sign Language 
Interpreter via video phone.  Alternatively they can also contact the council from their 
own computer or mobile device by clicking on a link for British Sign Language Live 
on www.leeds.gov.uk/ContactUs .   
 
Further work has taken place to find out which areas of Leeds would also benefit 

Page 249



36 
 

from having the British Sign Language video interpreting service.  As a result this 
service is now available at The Reginald Centre (LS7), Armley One Stop Centre 
(LS12) and Dewsbury Road One Stop Centre (LS11). 
 
The introduction of this service now enables deaf or hard of hearing customers to 
contact the council immediately either face to face or at the One Stop Centres who 
have the British Sign Language  Video Interpreter service or via the Corporate 
Contact Centre using British Sign Language  Live.  This reduces avoidable contact 
and improves services for Deaf or hard of hearing customers.  Deaf or hard of 
hearing customers can stay independent and do not have to rely on bringing a 
hearing person with them or have to wait for an appointment.   
 
There has been positive feedback from customers and comments made include:- 
 

 A customer attended The Compton Centre told staff he was very happy to use 
the video interpreting service and said he had been given a voice; 

 The session was positive to meet the customer’s needs on the day; 
 I think it is fantastic to be able to use British Sign Language video interpreting; 

and 
 A member of staff fed back - I used the video interpreting for first time today at 

Great George Street.  I’ve no idea what the interpreter’s name was but she 
seemed very good.  At the end of the appointment the client pointed to the 
phone and put her thumbs up! 

The Interpreting and Translation Team regularly attend the Deaf Forum to feedback 
progress on the service. 
 
Progress Update Two 
 
In March 2010, the English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) Working Group 
at Leeds City Council identified the need for research to investigate the match, or 
mismatch, between ESOL need and ESOL provision in Leeds.  This would help 
enable the council to meet the responsibilities it has for the co-ordination of local. 
 
As a result in 2010/11, the Harehills ESOL Needs Neighbourhood Audit (HENNA) 
was undertaken by researchers from the University of Leeds and the Refugee 
Education Training Advice Service (RETAS). The Harehills area was chosen as it is 
a highly diverse area of inner-city Leeds, to the east of the city centre. It is an area 
with significant new and more established migrant and Black and Minority Ethnic 
communities. 
 
The study found that patterns of ESOL provision, funding and attendance were 
complex and went beyond the neighbourhood boundaries and impacted the whole 
City. The general picture was one of fragmented ESOL provision locally and City 
wide.  
 
The HENNA study made a series of recommendations and in 2013 a group from the 
University of Leeds, Leeds City Council and RETAS formed the Migrant English 
Support Hub (MESH). As a result of their work the Learning English in Leeds (LEL) 
with web development support from the council was developed and launched. 

Page 250



37 
 

 
The LEL website provides an accessible and comprehensive online directory of 
ESOL provision in Leeds: a ‘one stop shop’ for adult migrants wanting to develop 
their English language skills, and for advisers.   LEL assists new arrivals in finding 
the most appropriate ESOL classes and planning their progression across provision 
in Leeds. It also provides a space for the ESOL sector in Leeds to develop practice 
and plan strategically to meet the language education needs of learners. The 
resource also supports a range of services across the council. 
 

Strong Economy – achieving potential and improving representation 

Increase access to apprenticeships, particularly for young people and BME 
communities 
 
Progress 
 
The number of apprenticeship starts by Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) residents of 
Leeds stood at just over 10% of all starts in the 2013/14 academic year. This does 
not compare favorably with BME participation rates across adult learning 
programmes in England as a whole which is 19%.  Locally the Leeds Community 
Learning programme (15,000 learners) has a BME participation rate of 34% and 
there is a school BME population of 21.2%. 
 
The Skills Funding Agency released Local Education Authority ethnicity data for the 
first time which evidenced the under-representation of BME apprenticeship starts.   
As a result the council’s Employment and Skills Service has proposed a range of 
potential measures, underpinned by a commissioned programme of research with 
young people in BME communities. Agreement was also sought to co-commission 
research with Bradford Council in April 2016. 
 
In addition there are a range of activities that have been  undertaken or are 
underway which include:- 
 

 A promotional campaign to raise awareness through specific media channels 
(Fever FM which is now commissioned for a 12 month period ) 

 Promoting apprenticeships to key contacts in the BME community (youth 
groups, sports clubs etc) through the distribution of vacancy information 

 Promoting the Leeds Apprenticeship Recruitment Fair (March 2106) to BME 
communities  
 

Quantitative data on BME apprenticeship starts in the 2016/17 academic year will be 
released by the Skills Funding Agency in September 2017.  The Employment and 
Skills service intervention may only account for a small element of any change.  Also 
any positive change that has been achieved could be outweighed by negative 
impacts in the wider labour market. 
 
Further work will be carried out including research with the BME community.  It 
should be noted that the Leeds Apprenticeship Hub, that has lead responsibility in 
the council for this priority, has been funded through the City Deal apprenticeship 

Page 251



38 
 

programme which expired in March 2016. Alternative funding sources are being 
sought through European Structural Investment Funds but limited resource 
constrains the scope for delivery of activity and currently relies on the use of an 
influencing model with city partners. 
 

Increase access to employment particularly for those people with mental 
health issues 
 
Progress 
 
Data available from Job Centre Plus (JCP) indicates that of those people claiming a 
health related out-of-work benefit , Employment Support Allowance (ESA) over 40% 
of them report mental ill health as a single diagnosis alongside a physical one.  In the 
City this equates to approximately 15,000 claimants with the highest concentrations 
living in the wards with the highest rates of deprivation. 
 
Although levels of unemployment have been falling significantly amongst people 
claiming Job Seekers Allowance the number of people claiming ESA has remained 
static over time.  
 
For those with severe or significantly moderate mental health needs there are a 
range of health interventions available.  However, for claimants who have mild to 
moderate mental ill health the city’s picture can be fragmented and lack coherence. 
 
Anecdotally, managers and frontline Job Shop staff report an increasing number of 
customers presenting with what may be termed as low level mental ill health, for 
example, low mood, poor self -confidence etc. This is a significant barrier to effective 
job seeking and impacts their employability potential in a competitive market. Elected 
members have also reported a changing and increasing profile of residents actively 
seeking support with or presenting mental ill health.  
 
Mental health issues are regularly cited as a key barrier by a range of delivery 
partners engaged in employability and job search support and feature in the city’s 
Employment and Skills Board priority plans.  
 
JCP has evolved its services to more effectively meet the needs of this customer 
group which takes into account the number of people affected and the enduring 
nature of the issue. 
 
There are a number of services offering support to those experiencing low level 
mental ill health and those looking to gain employment which compliments the 
services available from JCP. However, there are few examples of effective 
integration.  
 
The Employment and Skills Service explored a variety of possible delivery models to 
pilot an effective response to these needs. This was during an extended period of 
consultation with stakeholders including mental health specialists.  
 
In line with the city’s longer term ambition, the direction of travel from the Clinical 

Page 252



39 
 

Commissioning Groups the council has selected a model which integrates mental 
health support into existing services, particularly, Job Shops in Community Hubs. 
The Employment and Skills Service procured specialists with a track record of 
supporting those with mental ill health back into employment to deliver services 
within Job Shops.  
 
This model also includes an extensive staff development programme for Job Shop 
staff in the first instance initially and ultimately the wider Hub staff resource. This will 
enable us to build the capacity of Hubs to continue to develop the provision 
sustainably, beyond the pilot which commenced on 4 April 2016.  
 

Reduce the gaps in learning outcomes particularly for child in care, those on 
free school meals and disabled children 
 
Progress 
 
Nationally, children who have experienced care do not do as well in their learning as 
their non-looked after peers and this is the case at all stages of learning from the 
early years to higher education.  
 
Leeds has the highest aspirations for children and young people who are looked 
after and addressing this ‘gap’ in attainment and achievement is a key priority in the 
Children and Young People’s Plan and is an integral aspect to our ambition to 
become the best city for children to live and grow up.  
 
Although in Leeds, 13% of care leavers are in higher education compared to about 
11% of care leavers nationally, this compares to about 38% of the general 
population.  Care leavers are more likely to not make successful transitions into 
education, employment and training and this is impacted on as they are less likely to 
achieve five good GCSE passes. 
 
Leeds has a statutory duty to promote the educational achievement of children 
looked after and these duties are discharged through our Corporate Parenting 
responsibilities. These duties are discharged strategically through the Corporate 
Parenting Board, the Multi-Agency Looked After Partnership and the Virtual School. 
All of these partnerships contribute to continuous improvements in outcomes for 
children looked after and care leavers and include services such as Learning 
Improvement, Educational Psychologists and Complex Needs Services, Youth 
Offending Service and Health. 
 
There is a robust training offer through the Workforce Development service and the 
Virtual School provide a comprehensive programme of training and development 
across all corporate parenting roles including designated teachers and governors, 
social workers, foster carers and other services who contribute to the educational 
achievement of children looked after and care leavers. 
 
All first time entrants to care have their very first Personal Education Plan and first 
review quality assured by the Virtual School to ensure that there are SMART targets 
and the pupil premium is being spent effectively and is impacting positively on 

Page 253



40 
 

children’s progress in their learning. 
 
Across the whole partnership, some of the key outcomes include: 
 

 Increased number of children with an up-to-date quality personal education 
plan  

 Reduced a number of potential permanent exclusions 
 Supported a number of young people to remain in mainstream education 
 Supported the highest levels of attendance ever seen in Leeds, with children 

at primary school having better attendance than their looked after peers 
 Increased the number of children looked after in education settings that are 

deemed good or outstanding by Ofsted 
 In a range of primary education performance measures, closed the gap more 

quickly than other local authorities 
 Directly increased the number of young people in education, employment and 

training through the “Ready to Work” scheme 
 Increased the number of children in stable placements 

 
Work will continue to develop the ability of the Virtual School to use timely 
information about the progress looked after learners and care leavers are making at 
all stages of their learning journey.  This will help the council to celebrate where 
young people are doing well and if they are not, ensure schools and services 
intervene quickly.  
 
This will help to ensure corporate parenting responsibilities are proactively 
understood across the council and its partnerships so that young people in care and 
care leavers have access to the best opportunities that Leeds has to offer in terms of 
learning and employment.  
 
Free School Meals/ Pupil Premium 
 
Over the last decade, whilst overall attainment has risen in schools, the performance 
gap between pupils from more and less advantaged backgrounds in the UK has 
remained prevalent. The picture in Leeds reflects the national picture, with 
attainment gaps for children who are from less advantaged backgrounds.  Analysis 
of Local Authority data shows that poverty is a key factor in gaps at all key stages 
and phases, and it also impacts health, educational achievement, longevity and job 
opportunities.  
 
Whilst the changing demography of Leeds presents challenges and a context within 
which performance should be viewed, this does not fully explain the extent of the gap 
in outcomes for our vulnerable and deprived children and young people. Analysis 
from the Department of Education indicates that the outcome gaps in Leeds are 
larger than in comparable Local Authorities 

Page 254



41 
 

 
Narrowing the gap in these learning outcomes is a key priority for Children’s 
Services and Learning Improvement. Leeds is striving to ensure education in Leeds 
is equitable. In education, equality is used to provide the same opportunities for all, 
regardless of background. However equity of education acknowledges that not every 
child starts at the same point, so extra support is provided to ensure children who 
are disadvantaged have the same outcomes as their peers.  
 
In partnership with schools, partner head teachers and third sector groups, 
Children’s Services have utilised a variety of bespoke projects and programmes to 
narrow the gap in Leeds. 
 
Pupil Premium is additional funding that is given to publicly funded schools in 
England to raise the attainment of disadvantaged pupils. It is available to all schools.  
The pupil premium is paid directly to schools as it is thought that they are best 
placed to assess what additional provision their pupils need.  
 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities  
 
In Leeds primary schools there are 10,168 pupils who receive Special Educational 
Needs (SEN) related support and 515 pupils who have a statement/ Education and 
Health Care (EHC) plan. In secondary schools 5337 pupils receive SEN support and 
498 have a statement or an Education, Health and Care plan. Data shows that there 
is a gap in educational attainment for some less advantaged groups in comparison to 
their peers. 
 

Page 255



42 
 

 
 
 
Embedded planning for Special Educational Needs (SEN) provision in Children’s 
Services ‘Good Learning Places’ Board to ensure all new developments and 
expansions give regard to the needs of those with Special Educational Needs and 
Disability (SEND)  
 
Following an expansion of the generic Specialist Inclusive Learning Centre (SILCs) 
200 new specialist places have been provided.  There was a first year intake of 75. A 
new provision for deaf and Hearing Impaired children was also opened at Moor 
Allerton.   
 
Over the past year Children’s Services have been working on developing a vision to 
radically improve the provision for pupils with Social Emotional and Mental Health 
(SEMH) needs.  The aim is to bring the current Behavioural, Emotional and Social 
Difficulty Specialist Inclusive Learning Centre (BESD SILC) at Elmete Wood and the 
Pupil Referral Units together. This will form one unified, multi-site SEMH provision, 
under the leadership and governance of single academy trust with a record of 
excellence in this area of work.  
 

Page 256



43 
 

The vision includes: new sites to improve the spread of provision across the City; 
reducing travel for many learners; and a new build and significant refurbishment of 
existing buildings to improve current facilities. We will also extend the age range, 
which currently ceases at 16 years of age, to 19 years of age. 
 
In addition Children’s Services are consulting on a proposal to bring the primary 
Social Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) provision at West Oaks SEN Specialist 
School and College (North East SILC) into the new academy provision, creating a 
single ‘through school’ provision. This would create multiple sites for learners aged 
4-19, under one leadership and governance. This ‘through school’ will create greater 
consistency across practice and ethos in the provisions, as well as smoother 
transitions between the sites when learners need to move from one setting to 
another. 
 
These developments will reduce the numbers of pupils travelling each day to costly 
placements outside of Leeds; necessary due to the limitations of our current offer. It 
will improve equity for this vulnerable group of learners and give them a better 
chance of achieving the outcomes we want for all our children and young people in 
the city. 
 
 
Support people out of financial hardship:- 
 

 Helping people out of financial hardship 

 Tackling the financial challenges of poverty, deprivation and inequality 
 
Progress 
 
Access to affordable financial services which taken for granted by the vast majority 
of citizens, is not generally available to people on low incomes and those who live in 
the more deprived parts of our major cities.  It is well known that the poorest 
members of our society often turn to alternative sources of finance such as doorstep 
lender and payday lenders, pawn brokers and rent to buy options, or in the worst 
case scenarios illegal lenders. This effectively means that the lowest earners pay a 
‘poverty premium’ for basic goods and services, which reinforces low pay and offers 
little options for improving financial circumstances.   
 
This situation has been exacerbated in recent years following the recession, slow 
economic recovery and welfare changes.  These have impacted disproportionately 
on the poorest people, and have led to increased problems of financial hardship and 
distress.   
 
Poverty is recognised as an issue that impacts on equality and financial exclusion as 
a barrier to an equal society. Poverty and financial exclusion disproportionately affect 
people within specific equality groups, particularly single parents (typically women), 
and people with mental health issues.   
 
For several years the council and partners have developed many initiatives to tackle 
financial exclusion by; increasing access to affordable credit, increasing the 

Page 257



44 
 

availability of free debt advice, and improving levels of financial capability.  
  
The council became aware of anecdotal evidence of the detrimental effect on people 
without access to mainstream financial services. Research was undertaken in 2003 
and 2010 and the scale of the issue was uncovered. The research found high levels 
of people living in the most deprived areas of the city did not have access to 
mainstream financial services; used credit for day to day living expenses; and were 
turning to high cost financial services.  
 
Findings from this study highlighted that due to the worsening economic climate and 
increase in high cost lending (particularly online payday lending) financial exclusion 
was spreading to the most economically average areas of the city. Of particular 
concern in terms of equality groups was the finding that lone parents (38%) were far 
more likely than the average (22%) survey sample to use high cost sources of credit. 
Lone parents are also more likely to:- 
 

 Have less savings  
 Have financial difficulties 
 Have difficulties paying fuel bills 
 Be concerned about getting in debt 
 Be falling behind with payments and getting into debt 
 Use sub-prime credit 
 Use credit to pay for day to day living expenses 

 
These findings are backed further supported by evidence from StepChange debt 
charity. They reported in April 2016 that the number of single parents approaching 
the charity for help has risen rapidly and doubled over the last four years and they 
are now the fastest growing group among its clients. Single parents are hugely over-
represented among their clients compared to the national population. They now 
represent 19.6% of the charity’s clients, but just 7% of UK households. The charity 
says this is the fourth increase in as many years, from 15.3% in 2011, and that single 
parents are the only type of household that is increasing as a proportion of it clients 
every year. 
 
Single parents are significantly more likely to be struggling with high cost credit taken 
out with catalogues and doorstep lenders. Compared to the average StepChange 
Debt Charity client, they are 33% more likely to have catalogue debt and 42% more 
likely to have home credit. These types of borrowing can compound someone’s 
financial vulnerability as they can be long term and expensive commitments, which 
act as an even further drain on budgets that are already very tight. 
 
In recent years the link between debt and mental health issues has been well 
documented:- 
 

 In December 2015 The Picker Institute Europe published a briefing; Debt and 
Health: A Briefing, which focused on the relationship between debt and 
health. Including the health related consequences of debt, the impact it can 
have on individual mental health and recommendations for implication 
prevention. It shows that people in debt are between 2.5 and four times more 
likely to have a mental health problem. 

Page 258



45 
 

 On 6 April 2016 a YouGov survey, commissioned by Mind, revealed that 
almost half (46%) of people with mental health problems have considered or 
attempted to end their own lives as a result of social factors such as debt, 
housing and welfare problems. The survey, of over 1,500 people who had 
used mental health services in the last two years, found that of those who had 
considered or attempted suicide: 41 per cent cited financial and/or housing 
pressures; 29 per cent cited the fear of losing, or the loss of welfare benefits.  

 
The council’s Financial Inclusion team produces the ‘Leeds Poverty Fact Book’, 
which is a compilation of data, information and analysis for the city. The Fact Book 
covers poverty levels, incomes, welfare reforms, food and fuel poverty and levels of 
debt. This information enables effective monitoring of poverty in the city.  
 
The council works in partnership with key organisations in the City.   The Financial 
Inclusion Steering Group co-ordinate the activities of partners and to develop specific 
proposals aimed at bringing about financial inclusion. Smaller more focused working 
groups have been formed to work specifically on key issues and projects including 
credit union development, debt advice provision and financial capability.  More 
recently partnership working groups have been established to work on welfare 
reforms, food poverty, and the implementation of Universal Credit.   
 
Examples of the most recent projects and developments are as follows;- 

 Local Welfare Support Scheme - Leeds City Council has used its funding 
from central government to design a unique scheme to help those in the most 
desperate need and require emergency assistance. The scheme provides 
basic household good and emergency food provision. Since 2013, 20,261 
awards have been made to vulnerable residents of Leeds. 

 FareShare - FareShare Yorkshire launched FareShare in Leeds (FiL) in 
August 2014 in partnership with Leeds City Council, Leeds Food Aid Network 
and St Georges Crypt.  They support food aid providers in the City who are 
engaged in feeding vulnerable people alongside providing support to help 
people out of crisis.  Food parcels were previously provided directly by ASDA, 
however, since April 2015 Fareshare Yorkshire and the Food Aid have 
provided the food parcel service. This has resulted in a reduction in the costs 
to the scheme associated with supplying food but also allowed continued food 
supply to those people in the most immediate need. 

In January 2015 FareShare also started supplying cereal to school breakfast clubs     
and Children’s Centres.  Initially the areas of highest deprivation were targeted and 
the scheme supplied 12 school clusters totaling 102 schools – the scheme will be 
rolled out across further clusters during 2016/17.  The cereal is also used to support 
families over the school holidays.   

 Advice provision - The provision of the city’s advice contract is delivered 
collectively by three advice agencies (Citizens Advice Leeds, Chapeltown 
Citizens Advice Bureau and Better Leeds Communities). Over the past year; 
-  32% more people than in the previous year were helped across the 

services. 
-  42% more telephone calls were answered. 

Page 259



46 
 

-  26,414 people were assisted with free and independent advice. 
-  2,448 clients were helped at over 40 outreach locations across Leeds, 

including GP surgeries, children’s centres, OSCs and libraries.  
-  Increased client’s incomes by £4.3 million. 

 Leeds City Credit Union - With the support of the council Leeds City Credit 
Union has almost trebled its membership from 11,000 in 2005 to 31,000 
today. The credit union has an ambition to build its loan book to £20m by 
2020 (currently £8m, up from £7m in 2013). Current projects include; 
-  Launching an online schools savings scheme with primary schools across 

Leeds. Under the scheme, all pupils entering key stage two have been 
offered a £10 contribution towards opening a credit union account. This is 
only be available to pupils in schools that have agreed to establish a 
school savings club and is designed to incentivise schools and pupils to 
become involved in managing their own credit union account, alongside 
the work of schools to provide greater education to pupils about the 
importance of saving and financial matters. School savings clubs are also 
an excellent way to engage with parents to join the credit union and help 
them with their own financial awareness.   

-  Housing Leeds fund LCCU to deliver a citywide Money Management and 
Budgeting Service. The service is primarily focused at Housing tenants 
who are in arrears and struggling to pay their rent due to low incomes or 
poor money management. The support service is delivered by three Leeds 
City Credit Union  staff members and aims to provide timely intervention to 
avoid court proceedings. 14 surgeries are held across the city on a weekly 
basis, residents are signposted to specialist partners if required, and also 
conduct income and expenditure reviews as well as setting up payments 
through the bill paying and budget accounts.  

-  Launching a web based Pay Day loan product charging credit union rates.
-  Expanding the credit unions successful “Your Loan Shop” which started 

trading last year and is now being set up and supported in the Councils 
Community Hub at the Compton Centre in Harehills. 

Year on year the projects and initiatives outlined above have enabled more 
individuals and families to access the support and advice to assist them with their 
finances and improve their quality of life.  
 
 
Increase digital inclusion particularly for those in poverty to provide greater 
access to jobs, skills and learning to reduce poverty 
 
Progress 
 
A lack of connectivity impacts on people’s ability to easily and readily access 
services and opportunities which add to financial and rural exclusion. 
 
Analysis of the 2010 Index of Multiple Deprivation showed that 23% of premises in 
West Yorkshire with the poorest connectivity (no superfast provision) are in the 20% 
most deprived areas in the country.  Lower income levels and lower rates of take up 
meat that there is less incentive for the market to extend into these areas.   
 

Page 260



47 
 

For some people the costs of having a home broadband connection (which all rely 
on having a landline telephone contract) are prohibitive 
 
A range of actions/projects were developed to address this issue.  These included:- 
 

 Delivery of the Superfast West Yorkshire Phase II programme to increase the 
coverage of superfast broadband provision across the district - Phase 1 of 
Superfast West Yorkshire is complete. As at 31st March 2016, 67,500 
premises in West Yorkshire now have access to fibre broadband. This gives 
West Yorkshire over 95% coverage for ‘superfast’ fibre broadband.  Phase 2 
is under way with a target of another 33,000 premises to have broadband by 
the end of June 2018. Current take-up on Phase 1 is 24,74% (that is, the 
proportion of households with access to fibre broadband, who subscribe to it). 
The target is 30% and above. 

 Delivery of  enhanced connectivity to priority locations by encouraging the 
development  of wireless networks across the City using council owned tall 
residential buildings, and encouraging  providers to make free residential Wi-
Fi provision available to residents in the blocks concerned 

 Continue to maintain free public Wi-Fi provision in council owned public 
buildings - Wi-Fi has been provided in 106 public buildings in Leeds, such as 
libraries and Children’s Centres as part of the Superconnected Cities scheme.  
Wi-Fi has also been provided on buses (the service which runs between 
Leeds and Bradford and the Airport buses) and on trains on the 
Airedale/Wharfedale lines. 

 Working with the delivery partner on the council’s free city wireless 
concession agreement to encourage the roll out of free public Wi-Fi – The 
council is working with one of its delivery partners to provide free Wi-Fi in 
public areas.  So far free Wi-Fi has been deployed in Beeston, with further 
areas to follow in due course. 

 
The actions are helping to increase  the availability of free Wi-Fi in public buildings, 
public spaces and public transport and superfast broadband in domestic premises 
 
 
Increase board representation and major projects (including City 
Developments extended management team) 
 
Progress 
 
It was recognised that work needed to be undertaken to improve representation at a 
senior level in the council’s City Development directorate and on the city’s major 
boards and projects. 
  
In City Development 44% of staff are female and only 29% hold senior management 
positions.  This does not compare favorably to the City population of  51%.  
 
A number of pieces of work have been undertaken and actions to date include: 
 

 The Sustainable Economy and Culture Board have increased membership of 
women.  This includes the Leader of the Council, a representative from and 

Page 261



48 
 

the Chair of the newly formed Millennials Group.  This ensures not just more 
women attend but there is a more representative age profile as well.  Also a 
representative of the Asian Business Network has also been invited 
unfortunately he has been unable to attend to date so other avenues are 
being explored. All organisations that attend the meeting are encouraged to 
send a representative that would help to improve the diversity of the Board 
whenever possible. 

 A more inclusive approach has been adopted in creating the European 
Capital of Culture Board by ensuring membership was selected using more 
inclusive criteria. 

 Work has started on a pilot project in City Development to understand what, if 
anything, holds women back from applying for more senior posts and what 
measures would encourage more women in the Directorate to apply for senior 
posts. Two workshops have been held so far attended by over 65 women.  A 
series of recommendations will be made to agree a way forward.  

 City Development have also created Equality Champions in every service to:  
-  monitor and report on progress on the Equality Improvement Priorities; 
-  provide appropriate challenge including review and refresh of the Equality 

Improvement Priorities and annual progress reports; 
-  receive and disseminate information from the corporate Equality Board to 

relevant colleagues in their service; 
-  champion equality issues and provide representation at relevant equality 

related meetings; 
-  A graduate trainee has been commissioned to research how City 

Development is viewed as an employer of people with protected 
characteristics by those on the graduate and apprenticeship programmes.  
This will help inform senior management to take any necessary steps to 
ensure that the Directorate is seen as an employer of choice by people 
with protected characteristics. 

 
There has been a review of the membership of the Directorate senior leadership 
team and membership of the extended management team has been broadened to 
ensure a greater diversity which is more representative of both the City’s population 
and the directorate’s workforce.  Also putting in place measures, such as, ensuring 
that  at least one senior woman is involved in shortlist/interviewing for senior posts in 
the Directorate 
 
City Development continues to support other organisations to encourage greater 
diversity in the City, for example, supporting the Balanced Business Forum to hold 
an event in Leeds Town Hall in November 2016. The Balanced Business Forum 
(formerly known as The Women’s Business Forum) is the World's first gender 
balanced leadership conference: ‘We challenge, debate and deliver effective 
leadership and organisational performance via the delivery of progressive and 
sustainable talent management solutions’. 
 
There has been an increase in board representation but for some initiatives it will 
take time for a noticeable difference to be made.  
 
 
 

Page 262



49 
 

Develop a skilled and diverse council workforce which is: 
 

 representative of the City and citizens feel that the City is theirs 

 a safe , inclusive and welcoming  workforce where everyone is treated 
with respect and dignity and people say “I feel like I count“ 

 one where every person who works for the Council will have an 
appraisal and development plan which gives them the opportunity to 
develop their careers with the Council 

 inclusive at all levels of the organisation 

 engaged, empowered and motivated to take personal responsibility for 
creating an inclusive and diverse workforce   

 
Progress 
 
Over the last year there has been a focus on embedding Inclusion and Diversity 
across the council. A variety of different themes have been followed to focus the 
attention of the organisation on the benefits of being an inclusive employer. 
 
In 2013 an analysis of the council workforce profile against the 2011 census 
information showed that the council was not representative of the City across a 
range of characteristics. 
 
There has been significant work undertaken to raise awareness across the council 
workforce. A Member Steering Group was established in early 2015 and this has 
continued to provide strategic direction and challenge to directorates.  
 
All Directors and Chief Officers now have an inclusion and diversity objective. 
Directors are being actively challenged to demonstrate how they are delivering 
against these objectives and update the Members Steering Group at regular 
intervals. 
 
The People and Culture Strategy has been refreshed for 2015-2020. This has a 
number of themes which sees inclusion and diversity running throughout. At the 
2015 Leadership Conference a “Call to Action” was given by Tom Riordan Chief 
Executive to all for Inclusion and Diversity to be a priority. This sits at the centre of 
the delivery approach which shows clear links across the thematic areas and the 
need to embed inclusion and diversity across the organisation. 
 
In addition each strand of the People and Culture Strategy is led by a Head of 
Human Resources who is ‘buddied’ with a colleague from Citizens and Communities. 
Work is also taking place to ensure that inclusion and diversity is embedded into the 
key work streams around Culture, Leadership, Management, Valuing People, Talent 
Management and Workforce Planning. 
 
Work has taken place to raise awareness with staff and to promote events, such as, 
National Inclusion Week, introduction of the Trans Awareness Policy, Deaf 
Awareness Week, Pride, and International Women’s Day. 
 

Page 263



50 
 

The council have sponsored the Excellence in Equality Awards and joined the 
national Employers Network for Equality and Inclusion which sends a positive 
message around our commitment to inclusion. 
 
Further work is taking place to look at the digital divide and how we use social media 
more effectively to reach our front line staff and remote workers. 
 
During 2015 a team from HR have worked on improving disclosure within our 
workforce. The introduction of Employee Self-Serve in November 2015 has provided 
a secure platform for ICT users to amend their personal details. At this point it is still 
too early to see if Employee Self-Serve has had a significant impact on the base line 
workforce figures. Going forward the work must focus on how we can provide the 
same secure environment for front line employee to disclose their personal 
information.  There is also further work to be done to build trust with the workforce so 
they understand why we want their information and what it will be used for. 
 
Appraisal rates have continued to improve year on year showing that our appraisal 
process is embedded across the council with 93.7% of staff receiving an appraisal 
first time on time (June 2015) and 97.6% (mid year December 2015). Work 
continues to ensure the focus remains on quality appraisals. 
 
In the full year appraisal cycle managers are required to rate employee’s 
performance in terms of how well they are performing against the council’s values in 
the way they carry out their work, and their overall performance.  Future focus will 
remain on ensuring all staff receive quality appraisals.  
 
The engagement survey for 2015 saw real significance in the results as they gave 
our first progress report since the baseline figures where established in 2014 and 
gives insight in to the impact of the manager challenge.  The survey continues to 
show a high level of response with the overall engagement score for the council 
increasing from 7.2 to 7.52.  This was based on answers to the question “if a friend 
asked you to give a score from 1 to 10 working for Leeds City Council what would it 
be.?” 
 
The survey shows that over 80% of employees said:- 

 
 We all take our responsibilities seriously for promoting diversity and inclusion 

in the workplace 
 My training and development helps me to do a better job 
 I have opportunities to use my skills at work 
 Colleagues in my team are open and honest. They treat me with respect 

 
This survey has provided some great data that reveals the different experiences of 
different groups of staff, for example, disabled staff.  Further work is being taken by 
Directorates/Services who will take local actions around “what I say counts” and “my 
ideas are heard” as these were the lowest area performance across the council. 
 
 

 

Page 264



51 
 

Section 4 

What Next 

Additional/Locality Focussed Work 

In addition to the work that is taking place to progress the Equality Improvement 
Priorities there is also other complimentary work that is taking place across the 
council.  Details of some of this work are outlined below. 
 
Civic Enterprise Leeds 
 
Progress Update One 
 
Independent Travel Training is an initiative originally developed in Children’s 
Services which transferred to Civic Enterprise Leeds in July 2015 
 
The service aims to train disabled people to use public transport independently. A 
team of assessors meet with the young person and their family to assess whether 
they are suitable for the initiative. 
 
Leeds Alternative Travel then provide travel buddies who are matched to a young 
person. Training takes place over a 4-6 week period.  As part of this work the training 
buddy:- 
 

 Goes to the young person’s home; 
 Accompanies them getting onto the bus, travelling on the bus and getting off 

at the correct bus stop; and 
 Accompanying them from the bus to college. 

 
The work also includes road safety training, keeping safe, and which bus to catch 
from where and to 
 
An average of 130 – 140 students are trained each year.  Previously these young 
people would have been travelling on booked transport. The service was initially 
aimed at young people, 16+ who attend college.  In October 2015 the service was 
extended to adults with learning difficulties. 30 adults have already been trained and 
for one 50 year old this is the first time in 30 years that they have been able to travel 
independently. 
 
Growing from strength to strength the service is looking at extending its access to 
much younger children using the service. 
 
In April 2016 two of the assessors visited Transport for London to share good 
practice and a celebration event is being organised for July 2016. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 265



52 
 

 
Progress Update Two 
 
Presto has been developed to help older people who need a helping hand to 
maintain their independence but who are not eligible for mainstream services. The 
service was initially launched in the Moortown and Alwoodley areas of Leeds during 
April 2015.  Following its successful implementation the service was rolled out City 
wide in June 2015.  
 
Presto offers a range of services, including, companionship, housekeeping, home 
and garden maintenance, social support and transport facilities through the council’s 
Passenger Transport service. Customers are already benefiting from the services 
provided although it is too early to evaluate the overall impact. 
 
Every week between 30 to 40 people access the service for companionship, 
someone to talk to; help with shopping and help with putting shopping away. 
 
There has also been a growth in the number of people using the service for cleaning 
with between 30 to 40 people using the service every week. 
 
A recent development has seen a local firm of solicitors using Presto who have 
responsibility for their client’s finances.  They have engaged Presto on behalf of 
families whose older relatives need extra support.  
 
There are currently four companions providing this service and, in response to 
increased demand on the service two further posts have been created. A Business 
Manager is to be recruited to both manage and further develop the initiative. 
 
Benefits of this initiative include: 
 

 Enabling older people to carry on living as they would have done 30 to 40 
years ago; 

 Building existing and new relationships;  
 Enabling older people to remain living independently  in their own homes and 

interacting in their local communities; 
 Tackling social isolation; and 
 Creating an opportunity to carry out welfare checks  

 
 
Locality Focussed Equality Work 
 
East North East 
 
It became clear that tackling Domestic Violence and Abuse should be a local priority 
following discussions at the East North East Locality Safety Partnership (LSP) and 
both Inner East and Inner North East Community Committees 
 
Statistics considered by the LSP and Community Committees highlighted domestic 
violence as a local priority for action.  For example, between July 2014 to June 2015, 

Page 266



53 
 

there were 4,583 incidents of domestic violence in East North East Leeds.  This 
meant that there was a slightly higher proportion of domestic violence reported in 
East North East Leeds compared to Leeds overall.  The repeat victim rate is higher 
than the Leeds average.   
 
Also three of the Inner East wards fall within the top four wards for incidences of 
domestic violence across the city.  These are  Gipton and Harehills , Burmantofts 
and Richmond Hill, Killingbeck and Seacroft with Chapel Allerton ward in Inner North 
East Community ranked at number nine.  This indicated that there was a significant 
problem. 
 
Discussions took place at the Inner North East and Inner East Community 
Committees in September 2015.  These discussions acted as a catalyst for the 
formulation of an action plan at a local level primarily to raise awareness around 
domestic violence and the services that are available to victims.  Many of these 
activities took place during the ’16 Days of Action’ campaign, which carried the tag 
line of ‘Get Comfortable Talking About it’.  However, some of the actions that were 
undertaken left a legacy beyond that particular campaign. 
 
Between 25th November and 10th December 2015, the Inner East and Inner North 
East Community Committees supported a programme of activities in support of the 
national ‘16 Days of Action’ campaign against domestic violence and abuse. As part 
of the campaign, a number of information boards were displayed in key Council 
buildings, including the Reginald Centre hub, Moor Allerton library and Oakwood 
library.  In addition, a partnership walk took place from the Reginald Centre in 
Chapeltown to the Compton Centre in Harehills to raise awareness of domestic 
violence and abuse.   White ribbons were tied around trees along the route of the 
walk, including,  Potternewton Park, as a symbolic gesture of men taking a stand 
against domestic violence.   
 
The activities that took place during the ‘16 Days of Action’ helped raise awareness 
of domestic violence and abuse and promoted support mechanisms which are in 
place locally and in the City.  Awareness of staff was also increased, so they are now 
better placed to support any victims presenting at the hubs.   
 
 
South East 
 
In 2015 concern was raised over issues with young women taking place in the 
Halton Moor area. The matter was being addressed through appropriate Police and 
support channels.  
 
The Halton Moor estate largely depends upon public sector providers to stage 
events for young people.  Research showed that a lack of opportunities for teenage 
girls was echoed by young women from the area. The girls said they would like to do 
stuff without boys and suggested a mixture of arts, crafts, pamper stuff and beauty, 
sports, fitness and cooking. The young women said it will be good to have 
somewhere to be with friends and talk about issues.  lt was felt that there is a need 
for new opportunities for young women in the area to build confidence, bring together 
young women from different backgrounds with a chance to try new activities and 

Page 267



54 
 

have fun,  
 
Getaway Girls enables vulnerable young women aged 11-25 from Leeds to build 
confidence, develop new skills and take positive risks in an environment which offers 
co-operation and support.  Following discussions with Getaway Girls the South East 
the Girls’ Zone project was developed. 
  
Girls Zone is a new project in Halton Moor for girls aged 13 to 16.  It gives young 
women a chance to build confidence, develop new skills, build friendships and have 
fun. By trying loads of activities including graffiti art, music, photography, dance, 
pamper sessions, games and a chance to talk about lots of things that matter to girls 
and make new friends and have fun. 
 
Getaway Girls developed the projects and identified potential participants by 
advertising with and liaising with Breeze, local schools via the Temple Newsam 
Learning Partnership and other groups and support networks operating in the area. 
 
Two groups per week were run after school from September 2015 to the end of 
March 2016 which helped young women to integrate with groups, including, Eastern 
European and African young women. 
 
Developing confidence and providing ongoing support networks the project identified 
and supported 3 teenagers from the area to be Peer Educators. Peer Educators act 
as positive role models in groups. They can take on a leadership role with this work. 
They act as mentors or Buddies and support vulnerable young women and 
encourage them to participate with the project. 
 
In addition, they provide more general support for any girls who could benefit from 
the scheme and two sessions per week were delivered and evaluated throughout the 
Summer holidays and half term offering a range of advice through fun activities.   
The Girls Zone programme has been running since July 2015 and  50 teenage girls 
participated in the project,  
 
Young girls are now more involved in community activity and some regularly attend 
the community forums to discuss ideas to provide on-going improvements. 
 
 
West North West 
 
The Hyde Park area of the City is a priority neighbourhood with high levels of obesity 
and poverty especially amongst the BME community living here.  
 
It was identified that there was a need to engage better with the local community and 
develop a specific project and promoting health and wellbeing messages amongst 
the female BME community. The work that was developed was to provide women 
with the means to access education, training and support relating to health and 
wellbeing. In particular, it aimed to provide a safe environment for women to attend 
courses that they could enjoy and to access physical activity sessions on a weekly 
basis.  
 

Page 268



55 
 

A local organisation called the Behno Group were running trips to the local swimming 
pool, to encourage exercise amongst the female BME community in Hyde Park. The 
group was approached by Public Health and the council’s Communities team to 
explore opportunities to expand their work to cover more people and more activities.  
 
The organisation has been supported to provide activities, such as, healthy cookery 
courses, information sessions with the Police and Public Health, run relaxation 
classes including massage and aromatherapy, light exercise classes and weekly 
swimming trips that are culturally sensitive.  
 
Benho has expanded its membership from 20 people to around 150 people with an 
age range of 18 to 75. Swimming sessions can attract around 18 members and 
exercise classes around 10 members.  
 
The project has helped to attract new people into exercise and has provided an 
opportunity for the council to get health and other messages out to members of the 
female BME community in the Hyde Park area.  
 
 
What Next 

During 2016/2017 further work will take place on reporting progress of the Equality  
Improvement Priorities.  This work will seek to identify and improve ways to  
report equality progress, demonstrate outcomes and impact on inequality.   
 
In addition the council has identified eight key “breakthrough projects”. The aim of 
the breakthrough projects is to bring council directorates, partner organisations, 
communities and individuals together in new way to tackle issues that will have the 
biggest impact on the people of Leeds.  Six of the projects are explicitly linked to 
equality:  
 

 Tackling domestic violence and abuse; 
 Housing growth and high standards in all sectors; 
 Making Leeds the best place to grow old in; 
 Early intervention and reducing health inequalities; 
 More jobs, better jobs; 
 World class events and a vibrant city centre that all can benefit from; and 
 Stronger communities benefitting from a strong economy 

 
Work will continue during 2016/2017 to ensure that there continues to be an equality 
focus to the work of the Breakthrough Projects. 
 
Equalities and specifically tackling inequalities is also integral to the council’s Best 
Council Plan 2016 - 2017 objectives.  Progress against the Equality Improvement 
Priorities will continue to support the City’s vision for Leeds to be the best city in the 
UK: one that is compassionate with a strong economy, which tackles poverty and 
reduces the inequalities that still exist. 
 
 

Page 269



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive 

Report to the Executive Board 

Date: 27th July 2016 

Subject: Best Council Plan Annual Performance Report 2015/16  

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  
1. This annual report looks back on performance in delivering the council’s six strategic 

objectives set out in the 2015/16 Best Council Plan: 
i. Supporting communities and tackling poverty 
ii. Promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth 
iii. Building a child-friendly city 
iv. Delivering the better lives programme 
v. Dealing effectively with the city’s waste 
vi. Becoming a more efficient and enterprising council 

2. The report draw on and links with a range of supporting council and partnership plans 
against which performance is regularly assessed and reported: for example, the 
Children & Young People’s Plan; Health & Wellbeing Strategy and Equality 
Improvement Priorities.  In addition to partnership boards, performance is also 
considered across a wide range of stakeholders relevant to their roles and areas of 
interest: for example, through Scrutiny Boards, Community Committees, external 
regulatory bodies and inspectorates and members of the public.  

3. Significant progress has been made across all Best Council Plan objectives, though 
we recognise that more remains to be done to tackle the range of inequalities that 
persist across the city at a time of increased demand for council services and ongoing 
financial challenges.  The council will continue to work with partners across all sectors 
and engage with the public to respond to these pressures and we will produce a report 
next summer looking back on our performance in doing so during 2016/17.   

Recommendations 
Executive Board is asked to receive the draft annual performance report and note the 
progress made against the 2015/16 Best Council Plan objectives.  Also to note that further 
design work will take place and that some of the statistics included may change between 
this draft and the final design version being published as full-year results are finalised. 

 Report author:  Coral Main & Tim 
Rollett 
Tel:  39 51571/2 

Page 271

Agenda Item 18



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 
1.1 This report presents a year-end stocktake, looking back on performance in 

delivering each of the six strategic objectives set out in the 2015/16 Best Council 
Plan.  It provides a useful resource for elected members and staff to draw on to 
help ‘tell the story of Leeds’ confidently and consistently.  

2 Background information 
2.1 In line with our performance management framework, an annual report is 

produced for the Executive Board each year looking back on our performance in 
delivering the council’s objectives.  The previous report was considered by the 
Board on 15th July 2015 and related to the six 2014/15 objectives presented in the 
Best Council Plan that had been approved in June 2014. 

2.2 Executive Board approved the 2015/16 Best Council Plan update on 18th March 
2015.  The Plan set out the context for the council’s strategic priorities for the 
period 2015-20, key areas of work for the year in line with the council’s 2015/16 
budget and linkages to supporting council and partnership plans and strategies.  It 
retained the same six objectives from the previous year’s Plan: 

i. Supporting communities and tackling poverty 
ii. Promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth 
iii. Building a child-friendly city 
iv. Delivering the better lives programme 
v. Dealing effectively with the city’s waste 
vi. Becoming a more efficient and enterprising council 

2.3 Assurance on the council’s performance management arrangements is provided 
through an annual report to the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee.  The 
report contains details on the effectiveness of these arrangements in terms of how 
the Best Council Plan and key performance indicators are kept up to date, 
effectively communicated and monitored with action taken as appropriate.  This 
annual assurance report was presented to the Committee on 24th June 2016 with 
no issues identified. 

3 Main issues 
3.1 The Best Council Plan is Leeds City Council’s strategic planning document.  It 

sets out what the council, working in partnership, will do to deliver better 
outcomes across Leeds.  It informs the council’s budget setting and financial 
strategies and is an essential tool for planning and delivering services.  It also 
helps our staff understand how the work they do makes a real difference to the 
people of Leeds and shows our partners how we contribute to citywide priorities.   

3.2 In line with the council’s performance management framework and best practice, 
it is essential that performance against the Best Council Plan is considered on an 
ongoing basis with a year-end stocktake that looks back on what the council – 
often in partnership – has done to deliver its objectives.  Ongoing performance is 
measured through the Best Council Plan ‘scorecard’ (the most significant key 
performance indicators – KPIs) which is published quarterly.  The year-end 
stocktake is considered through an annual report.   

3.3 This is supplemented by additional detail provided to relevant Boards through 
performance reports produced for key council and partnership plans and 

Page 272



 

 

strategies: for example, the Children & Young People’s Plan; Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy; Core Strategy; Adult Social Care Local Account; Safer Leeds Strategy; 
the council’s People & Culture Strategy and Equality Improvement Priorities (a 
2015/16 progress report on this last is included in today’s Executive Board 
agenda).  In addition to partnership boards, performance is also considered 
across a wide range of stakeholders relevant to their roles and areas of interest: 
for example, through Scrutiny Boards, Community Committees, external 
regulatory bodies and inspectorates and members of the public.     

3.4 Appendix 1 provides the draft text and statistics for the annual Best Council Plan 
report.  In brief, the report comprises an introduction and highlights progress and 
key achievements against each of the six 2015/16 Best Council Plan objectives.  
The text will be worked up into a final design version based upon the format used 
for last year’s annual report (please refer to Appendix 2 for an extract from that 
report) with infographics pulling out the key cross-council achievements and the 
year-end 2015/16 scorecard included.  The final version will then be published on 
the council’s website and Intranet site as part of the suite of Best Council Plan 
documents for use by staff, elected members, partners and the public.   

3.5 Achievements from 2015/16 include: 

• Winning the Municipal Journal’s Local Authority of the Year 2016 award 
• Winning the Local Government Chronicle’s 2016 award for Children’s 

Services and the Municipal Journal’s 2016 award for ‘Innovation & Impact in 
Children’s Services’, following on from Ofsted’s March 2015 assessment of 
the council’s Children’s Services as ‘good’ overall with ‘outstanding’ 
leadership 

• Winning the Municipal Journal’s ‘Commercialisation in the Property State’ 
2016 award 

• Delivering £84m savings and efficiencies 
• Bringing staff sickness absence down to its lowest recorded level 
• Expanding Community hubs to provide more integrated services, broader 

provision and extended opening hours 
• Supporting over 2,700 people into work through the council’s Job Shops 
• More children leaving care and fewer children entering care 
• Reducing hospital delayed discharges due to social care related reasons 
• Launching a new integrated drug and alcohol community prevention, 

treatment and recovery service 
• Doubling the amount of waste recycled since 2005 and completing the 

innovative recycling and energy recovery facility 
• Increasing the number of homes across Leeds by over 3,000 through a 

combination of new builds and bringing empty properties back into use 
• Opening the Leeds Station Southern entrance and completing the 

construction of Kirkstall Forge station 
• Successfully hosting the Rugby Union World Cup and Tour de Yorkshire 2015 

and securing the bid to host the UK round of the World Series Triathlon in 
2016 

3.6 However, we are mindful of the challenges facing the council and the city:  

Page 273



 

 

• At the time of writing, the country faces a period of political, fiscal and 
economic uncertainty following the results of June’s EU referendum with 
potentially wide-ranging implications/uncertainties.  The effects for local 
government and local communities will emerge over the coming months and 
years with possible risks – including opportunities - at this point in time around 
the economic outlook impacting on levels of trade and investment; rising 
inflation; interest rate volatility; the labour market; and the UK’s legislative and 
regulatory framework.  (The council’s initial response to the EU referendum is 
provided through a separate report on today’s Executive Board agenda.)  

• Demands on council services are increasing within the context of reduced 
funding and a reduction in the authority’s workforce, as noted in today’s 
‘Compassionate City with a Strong Economy: Financial Strategy’ Executive 
Board report. 

• Demographics are shifting with significant increases in both the youngest and 
oldest in society.   

• Inequalities persist across Leeds in terms of poverty and deprivation, health 
and educational attainment, many of these being compounded by welfare 
changes and wider austerity which have impacted disproportionately on those 
most disadvantaged in society.  Latest data from the council’s 2016 Poverty 
Fact Book (due to be published later in the summer) indicate that: 

o A fifth of the Leeds population – almost 155,000 people across the city 
- is classified as being in ‘absolute poverty’ in 2014/15.  (This 
measures individuals who have household incomes 60% below the 
median average in 2010/11, adjusted for CPI inflation.1) 

o Approximately 25,000 people in Leeds have needed assistance with 
food via a food bank between March 2015 and April 2016.  

o Over 28,000 (19.5%) Leeds children are in poverty, 64% of whom are 
estimated to be from working families (2013/14).  

o As of October 2015, around 73,000 Leeds households were in receipt 
of Council Tax Support.  Of this figure over 25,000 (35%) of these 
households in Leeds now have to pay 25% of their council tax due to 
changes to Council Tax Support.  

o During 2014/15 in-work poverty was estimated to affect 15,000 
households in Leeds.  Just over 26,000 Leeds residents in full-time 
work earn less than the Living Wage and almost 9,500 Leeds workers 
are on Zero Hour contracts.  

• Economic and social deprivation remain concentrated in specific localities in 
the city, with long-term challenges around language and literacy, skills, health 
and care responsibilities, access to employment and poor housing.   The 
following maps help to show this, with a comparison of the government’s 
Indices of Multiple Deprivation highlighting that the relative gap between the 
most and least deprived areas of Leeds has not lessened in the last five 
years. 

 

                                            
1 The 2015 Poverty Fact Book noted that c. 175,000 people in Leeds were classified as being in ‘absolute 
poverty’ in 2010/11.  Since then, Government has revised its method of estimating poverty and now uses 
CPI inflation instead of RPI.  This means that the latest figures quoted in today’s report are not comparable 
with prior years.  

Page 274



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.7 The Best Council Plan was updated for 2016/17, setting out how we plan to 

address these challenges as part of our Best City/Best Council ambitions: for 
Leeds to be a compassionate city with a strong economy, tackling poverty and 
inequalities, with the council continuing to be an efficient and enterprising 
organisation.   

3.8 The 2016/17 Best Council Plan was approved by Full Council in February 2016.   
A report looking back on performance against this 2016/17 Plan will be reported to 
the Executive Board next summer.   

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  
4.1.1 The draft annual report at Appendix 1 has been subject to consultation with key 

officers and the Corporate Leadership Team.  It also draws on and links with a 
range of published reports assessing performance against supporting council and 
partnership plans which are themselves subject to consultation and engagement 
with relevant stakeholders. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 
4.2.1 This is not a decision-making report so due regard is not directly relevant.  

Specific equality impact assessments will continue to be carried out for individual 
initiatives and decisions relating to the delivery of the Best Council Plan. 

Page 275



 

 

4.3 Council policies and the Best Council Plan 
4.3.1 This report brings to Executive Board a performance update on progress against 

the council’s 2015/16 Best Council Plan objectives.  Producing this annual report 
forms part of the council’s performance management framework. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  
4.4.1 The Best Council Plan provides the strategic context for the council’s budget and 

financial strategies with resources allocated in support of the Plan’s objectives.  
Effectively monitoring and managing performance against the objectives helps 
ensure that resources continue to be appropriately deployed. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 
4.5.1 All information within this report is publicly available.  The report is subject to call 

in. 
4.6 Risk Management 
4.6.1 There are no risks associated with this annual report.  The key risks that could 

impact upon delivery of the Best Council Plan objectives and details on how they 
are managed are included in the Corporate Risk Management annual report on 
today’s Executive Board agenda.  

5 Conclusions 
5.1 Significant progress has been made in delivering the 2015/16 Best Council Plan 

objectives as described in the annual performance report.  However, more 
remains to be done to tackle the range of inequalities that persist across the city 
at a time of increased demand for council services and ongoing financial 
challenges.  The council will continue to work with partners across all sectors and 
engage with the public to respond to these pressures and we will produce a report 
next summer looking back on our performance in doing so during 2016/17.   

6 Recommendations 
6.1 Executive Board is asked to receive the draft annual performance report and note 

the progress made against the 2015/16 Best Council Plan objectives.  Also to 
note that further design work will take place and that some of the statistics 
included may change between this draft and the final design version being 
published as full-year results are finalised. 

7 Background documents2 - None 

                                            
2 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, unless they 
contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include published works. 

Page 276



Leeds City Council Best Council Plan Annual Performance Report: 
Looking back on 2015/16 

Draft text and statistics prior to final design version 

Introduction  

[Page 1] 

“Our vision is for Leeds to be a compassionate, caring city that helps all its residents benefit from the 
effects of the city’s economic growth.  We will focus on creating the right conditions for the economy 

in Leeds to prosper and, hand in hand with that, ensure a consequence of that growth is a reduction in 
the inequalities that exist in Leeds.  We will need an enormous amount of help from our partners and 
the city’s businesses to succeed in this dual aim, but working together we will achieve our ambition of 

Leeds being the UK’s best council and best city.” 

Councillor Judith Blake, Leader of Leeds City Council [Picture] 
Tom Riordan, Chief Executive of Leeds City Council [Picture] 

 

In 2015/16, Leeds City Council had six Best Council Plan objectives: 

1. Supporting communities and tackling poverty 
2. Promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth 
3. Building a child-friendly city 
4. Delivering the better lives programme 
5. Dealing effectively with the city’s waste 
6. Becoming a more efficient and enterprising council 

Against each of the objectives, we defined a set of outcomes (what difference did we want to make), 
priorities (what we would focus on to achieve these outcomes) and key performance indicators (how 
we would know if we were making a difference).  The most significant of these indicators form a 
‘scorecard’ which we’ve used throughout the year to help measure our performance on the Best 
Council Plan as a whole and published quarterly.  The full year’s results are shown at Appendix 1.  

One year on, it’s time to reflect on our progress in delivering the 2015/16 Best Council Plan.  The 
following pages highlight some of the real achievements that the council, working with our many 
partners across the public, private and third sectors, has made during that period with a summary that 
draws out just a few of these presented on the opposite page. 

However, we know that we’ve more to do against a challenging backdrop: 2016/17 and beyond will 
bring continued reductions in our funding; the result of the EU referendum brings a range of economic 
and political uncertainties; we have a growing and ageing population with increasingly complex needs; 
inequalities persist across the city; some communities are not benefiting from the economic growth 
the city has experienced and welfare changes could make the inequality gap bigger.  A renewed 
ambition focused on tackling poverty and inequalities therefore sits at the heart of our 2016/17 Best 
Council Plan, available here.   

 

Appendix 1 

Page 277

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Council-plans.aspx#http://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/Best Council Plan Update 2016-17.pdf


[Page 2] 

Key achievements [these will be presented through infographics]  

• Winner of Municipal Journal’s Local Authority of the Year 2016 award 

• Winner of Local Government Chronicle’s Children’s Services 2016 award for Innovation & 
Impact 

• Delivered £84m savings and efficiencies in 2015/16 

• Lowest ever recorded staff sickness absence: down to 8.9 days per FTE per year 

• More than 2,700 people supported into work through council’s Job Shops  

• Expanded Community Hubs: more integrated services, broader provision, extended opening 
hours 

• More children leaving care year-on-year; fewer children entering care 

• Highest ever school attendance 

• Reduced obesity levels for reception age children; now below national rate 

• ‘Forward Leeds’ service launched: new integrated drug and alcohol community prevention, 
treatment and recovery service  

• Reduced hospital delayed discharges due to social care related reasons 

• Launched new framework for delivering domiciliary care to better meet social care needs 

• Created more than 3,000 homes through new builds and bringing empty properties back into 
use 

• Opened Leeds Station Southern entrance; completed construction of Kirkstall Forge station 

• Successfully hosted Rugby Union World Cup and Tour de Yorkshire 2015 

• Doubled the amount of waste recycled since 2005 

• Completed innovative recycling and energy recovery facility 

 

Page 278



Objective 1: Supporting communities and tackling poverty [Pages 3-4] 
Involving people in shaping their city and tackling the challenges of poverty, deprivation and inequality 

The council and partners have continued to provide inclusive, local citizen-based services to tackle 
poverty, inequality and related issues and to improve people’s physical and mental health and 
wellbeing.  

Key achievements  

Providing accessible and integrated services 

• Expanded Community Hubs approach to nine sites across the city, providing integrated services and 
broader provision across extended opening hours.  A further nine sites are planned for opening in 
2016/17. 

• Achieved the highest available rating (4*) from the Society of Information Technology Management’s 
(SOCITM) Better Connected survey for the council’s website - SOCITM promotes the effective and 
efficient use of Information Technology in Local Government and the Public Sector.  

• Launched self-serve, on-line capability for a number of environmental services so citizens can access 
services 24/7 via the council website. 

Helping people out of financial hardship 

• Worked to reduce the burden of debt through tackling high-cost lenders, including successfully lobbying 
for changes to the market, introducing the online Money Information Centre and launching  a web-
based Pay Day loan product that charges credit union rates, much lower than the rates still charged by 
commercial payday sector. 

• Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) are extra payments to help people pay their rent. We give DHPs 
to people receiving Housing Benefit or the housing costs element of Universal Credit who need more 
help with their housing costs. In 2015/16, Leeds made 5,620 DHP awards totalling nearly £2m. 

• Launched a scheme to support the expansion of Credit Union School Savings Clubs within primary 
schools across Leeds.  Under the scheme, all pupils entering key stage two will be offered a £10 
contribution towards opening a credit union account. 

• The Food Assistance/Fareshare work has been very successful in providing clients with food assistance, 
during 2015/16 and this work will continue throughout 2016/17.  

Helping people into work 

• Job Shops (facilities provided by the council to help people into work) supported over 2,700 people into 
work through advice and guidance, skills training, work experience and brokerage with employers. 

• Delivered 471,000 ICT skills training sessions across the Community Hubs throughout the year. These 
sessions cover a wide range of ICT skills that help to develop a person’s potential, assisting them when 
applying for jobs and then in the workplace.  

• Launched the country’s first Personal Work Support Package to help residents applying for Council Tax 
support who are also in receipt of Job Seekers Allowance for 6 months or more to become work ready 
and to find employment.  Since October 2015, 390 people have started in the scheme and 46 people 
have been supported into work to date.  

• Signed Employment & Skills Charter with John Lewis and Hammerson, marking their commitment to 
support Leeds residents to access new employment opportunities created through the £165 million 
Victoria Gate development. 

Responsive to the needs of local communities 

• Community committees have established a strong social media presence which has led to increased 
promotion of programmes funded through Wellbeing and the Youth Activities funds: e.g. money 
buddies, enhanced housing and mental health PEP (People for Equal Partnership in Mental Health) 
which helps to encourage and engage individuals by providing them with the tools to succeed, 
community development work and social isolation pilot. 

• Established Neighbourhood Improvement Boards / Partnerships (NIPS / NIBs) in areas of high 
deprivation aimed at engaging communities and tackling inequalities. 

Page 279



• Council Leader and members of the Corporate Leadership Team carried out programme of ward-based 
visits, helping to raise awareness of priority issues at ward level and increase engagement with local 
residents, groups and ward members. 

• Engaged communities on a wide range of locally relevant topics, which have led to local service 
improvements. Practical action examples include:  
- Engaging services, local people and community groups in the Outer East on the flash flooding which 

occurred in the villages in August 2015. 
- Engaging children and young people through activities such as the West Leeds young people 

summit. 
- Engaging at most committees on the council’s ‘breakthrough’ (cross-cutting) project on Domestic 

Violence and identifying local actions, including local activity such as in the Inner East on the ‘Let’s 
get comfortable’ campaign. 

• Begun an early intervention Domestic Violence pilot in West Leeds aimed at supporting low and 
medium risk victims.  Includes partnership case management meetings, establishing peer support, 
engaging and accrediting local businesses with DV charter mark and information and awareness raising 
training for frontline multi-agency staff. 

Healthy lifestyles and getting people active  

• Significantly reduced premature mortality from cardiovascular disease in deprived communities with a 
major contributor being the NHS Health Checks.   

• Successfully re-commissioned Drug and Alcohol provision with delivery of a new integrated drug and 
alcohol community prevention, treatment and recovery service for children, young people and 
adults.  Known as ‘Forward Leeds’, the service is being delivered by a consortium of local partners led by 
DISC. With an increased focus on prevention, recovery and improved access the service is expecting to 
help more than 5,000 people a year reduce or abstain from substance misuse, contributing to key 
outcomes in the Drug and Alcohol Strategy 2016-18. 

• Launched new integrated Sexual Health service offering extended opening hours, 6 days a week, central 
booking, online triage and telephone access.  The service targets some of the populations most at risk of 
sexual ill health and specialised clinics to encourage access to the service and is delivering well against 
key performance and quality indicators. 

• Established a movement of 115 Winter Friends across Leeds aiming to provide vulnerable older people 
with support over winter. Winter Friends have attended awareness sessions and will use a Winter 
Wellbeing Checklist with older people to increase their resilience during cold weather.   

• The popular Leeds Let's Get Active scheme continued during 2015/16 and is being funded to continue 
until at least November 2016. The scheme encourages people who do not do any physical activity to do 
at least 30 minutes of physical activity, once a week.  

• Continued to deliver sporting events including the Leeds half marathon and 3rd consecutive mass 
participation Leeds Sky Ride and increased visitor numbers to council leisure centres by 2% to nearly 4 
million visits. 

• Latest National Child Measurement Programme data (2014/15) shows that levels of obesity among 
reception children in Leeds have continued to reduce (8.8% in 2014/15, down from 9.5% in 2013/14) 
with Leeds’ rates now below the 9.1% 14/15 national rate. A contributor to this achievement has been 
investment in the HENRY (Health Exercise and Nutrition for the Really Young) programme with over 
1000 frontline practitioners trained.  

Key statistics [infographics running along bottom of page]  

 4,877 people supported into jobs, 12,176 people gained new skills. 
 More than £1m spent through Local Welfare Support Scheme 
 £0.3m Initiative Funding spent on financial inclusion, including debt support & advice 
 47% increase in customer contact received via self-service digital channels 
 20,109 NHS Health Checks carried out, down from 21,889 in 2014/15 
 7,000 people took part in Leeds Sky Ride 2015; more than 8,000 in Leeds half marathon 2015 
 Established multi-agency Front Door Safeguarding Hub to better respond to cases of domestic violence 

reported to the police 
 Incidents of burglary reduced by 45% from 9,000 in 2011 to 5,000 in 2015. 

Page 280



Objective 2: Promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth [Pages 5-6] 

Improving the economic wellbeing of local people and businesses 

A prosperous, sustainable and inclusive economy is critical to the future success of Leeds. While 
businesses create wealth, the council has a central role in creating the conditions for a strong economy 
and a compassionate city. As the largest employer, landowner and procurer in the city we can use our 
assets, working with the private sector and other public partners, to promote economic activity, 
attract investment and tackle poverty.  

Key achievements  

Economy  

• Leeds cited by Grant Thornton as one of the UK’s most attractive cities for inward investment, the 
highest rated in the north. 

• Work progressing well on the city centre’s 42,000m² Victoria Gate retail and leisure development, on 
target to open autumn 2016 with 1,000 retail and hospital jobs in the completed scheme. 

• Work continues to transform the South Bank, bringing more than 4,000 homes and employment areas 
for 35,000 jobs.  In 2015, Burberry announced an initial investment of £50m for a new production 
facility, providing employment for 1,000 people, including 250 new jobs. 

• Private sector job growth increased by 7,400 new jobs with the largest increase being in full-time 
positions.  601 new jobs forecast to be created in 51 companies who have invested a total of £32m in 
Leeds’ businesses as a result of £4m grants awarded by the council.  

• Key developments moved forward in the Enterprise Zone including the John Lewis Distribution Centre, 
Building 1 at LogicLeeds, Fed Ex, and Perspex Distribution.  In addition a number of Leeds based 
companies relocated to expand their operations including Watershed Packaging, Samuel Grant, Orion 
and Floorstore Group.   

Housing  

• Extensive consultation undertaken on the Site Allocations Plan (SAP) which identifies potential sites for 
housing, employment, retail and greenspace to ensure that enough land is available in appropriate 
locations to meet the growth targets set out in the city’s Core Strategy.  Nearly 46,000 individual 
representations have been received. 

• Older Persons’ Housing Prospectus approved and sites marketed.  New older people’s accommodation 
has been created in Holbeck, East Park Road, together with affordable housing in Middleton. 

• 3,296 homes created through new builds, conversions and empty properties brought back into use of 
which 2,541 were built in 2015/16. This represented a 26% increase from 2014/15.   

Culture  

• Leeds was one of ten host cities for the Rugby Union World Cup 2015.  The two matches held in Leeds, 
both with international TV coverage, boosted the Leeds economy by an estimated £5m. 

• Successfully hosted the 2015 inaugural Tour de Yorkshire.  One and a half million fans lined the route 
across the region and TV audiences in more than 150 countries watched the race which boosted the 
regional economy by an estimated £48m through spending on accommodation, food and drink, 
souvenirs and transport. 

• Leeds hosted the 20th MOBO awards, bringing an estimated £1.35m to the local economy through ticket 
sales and hotel stays. 

• Leeds successfully bid to host the UK round of the World Series Triathlon in 2016. 
• 48,474 0-19 year olds, assisted by more than 7,000 teachers, took part in school visits to workshops held 

in the council’s museums and galleries 
• Extensive consultation and engagement has taken place to inform the European Capital of Culture 2023 

bid. 

Infrastructure 

• Work progressed on the £45million Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme (FAS), one of the largest river flood 
defence schemes in the country aimed at protecting over 3,000 homes and 500 businesses by reducing 

Page 281



the likelihood of major flooding incidents such those over Christmas 2015.  The council supported 200+ 
businesses affected flooding with £3.3m of government / LEP grant funding. 

• Leeds Station Southern entrance opened in January 2016 and infrastructure works continue to enable 
the delivery of Kirkstall Forge, which will include 1,000 new homes, offices and leisure facilities and 
connect to the new railway station. 

• Secured funding for the City Connect Scheme to link communities from Bradford to East Leeds and for 
the resurfacing of towpath of the Leeds to Liverpool Canal between Armley and Shipley. 

• Elland Road Park & Ride opened and progress continues on the East Leeds Orbital Road. 
• Remediation works commenced at Temple Green where the Council’s new 1,000 space park and ride 

facility is due to open in spring 2017. 

Key statistics [infographics running along bottom of page] 

 283 Leeds SMEs (small and medium enterprises) supported to take on an apprentice; 393 
apprenticeship starts in total. 

 Founded Leeds Standard for Housing; includes minimum space standards, design standards and energy 
efficiency for new homes 

 Enterprise Zone receipts rose by 26% since 2012/13 through continued increase in new business 
developments 

 11.4m global TV viewers in over 150 countries watched the 2015 Tour de Yorkshire  
 Satisfaction levels with council’s cultural provision in Leeds remains high at 73% 
 Around 1 million annual visitors to council’s museums and galleries 
 3 million visitors to libraries; 2.5 million items borrowed this year 
 Leeds Market won prestigious award of Britain’s Favourite Market, as decided by the public 
 5,500 super-connected broadband vouchers given out worth £7m 
 Number of ‘A’ roads where structural maintenance should be considered remains at last year’s low level 

of 3% 

 

Page 282



Objective 3: Building a child-friendly city   [Pages 7-8] 

Improving outcomes for children and families 

Leeds wants to be a child-friendly city: the best city in the UK for children, where young people enjoy 
growing up and achieve their potential to become successful citizens of the future.  Outcomes for 
children and young people in Leeds are good and improving, with the overwhelming majority of 
children and young people having fun growing up and being ready for adult life.  However, in order to 
fulfil our child friendly ambitions we need to improve life outcomes for all children, particularly those 
who are vulnerable or in care, by providing children with the learning, support, advice, guidance, care 
and opportunities they need to lead successful and fulfilling lives. 

Key achievements  

• The council won the 2016 Local Government Chronicle’s award for Children’s Services with judges 
praising, ‘a genuinely ambitious programme reaching out to all children and young people across the 
city through concerted interagency drive and an obvious clarity of leadership’. 

• Leeds was chosen as one of the first six local authorities to help trial new ways of working and model 
excellent practice for local authorities across the country.  Coverage includes restorative practice, 
expanding the use of family group conferences, and intensive work on domestic abuse. 

• Numbers of looked after children continue to reduce, bucking national trends.  There has been a (safe 
and appropriate) 44% reduction in the number of young people subject to a child protection plan since 
the launch of the 2011 Children & Young People’s Plan. 

• Numbers of young people not in education, employment or training (NEETs) are also falling, again 
bucking national trends.  The proportion of young people whose status was not known was 2.2 per cent, 
half a percentage point lower than March 2015. 

• An increased focus on permanence, including adoption, has resulted in more children leaving care year-
on-year and fewer children entering care.   

• Good practice continues in schools to promote high attendance and working with families, including the 
Families First programme, where there are barriers to good attendance.   All these have all helped to 
improve school attendance in Leeds to its highest ever.  School attendance has risen in the last five 
years, with approximately 400,000 more pupil days in schools now than in 2011. 

• Leeds has been chosen as one of only seven areas nationally to participate in an outcomes project led by 
the Child Outcomes Research Consortium.  The focus of the project is cross-sector outcomes, and 
joining up data across services involved with children and young people’s mental well-being. 

• Significant priority has been given to closing the gap between the lowest 20 per cent of the EYFS (Early 
Years Foundation Stage) good level of development cohort and the median score.  Leeds had the largest 
gap in the country in 2013 but is is now ranked 116th of 152 local authorities - although there is more 
work to do, the gap has more than halved since 2013 and Leeds’ results are close to statistical neighbour 
and regional comparisons. 

• Young people in Leeds make consistently high progress from their relative starting points.  In every year 
since 2012, the percentage of children making expected progress in reading, writing and maths at key 
stage 2 has been above the national average in all three main subjects.  Much of this has been achieved 
through focused monitoring, challenge and support that is directed to schools proportionate to need.  
Level 4 results are improving in line with the regional and Core City local authority average, with a 2 
percentage point increase in pupils achieving a Level 4 or better in reading, writing and maths; however, 
this is below national and statistical neighbours. 

• GCSE attainment continues to improve so, while Leeds remains behind national and statistical 
neighbour figures, the city has seen a faster rate of improvement with the increase for Leeds between 
2014 and 2015 the highest in the Yorkshire and Humber region.   

• 88.6% of pupils (primary and secondary combined figure) attend a good or outstanding school in Leeds, 
compared to 84.6% nationally, and 79.9% in Yorkshire and The Humber (source: Watchsted 8th July 
2016).   

• Meanwood C of E Primary School won the Sunday Times State Primary School of the Year Award for 
2015, out of more than 17,000 primary schools.  Moortown Primary School was also listed in the Sunday 
Times top 200 list of state primary schools nationally. 

Page 283



Key statistics [infographics running along bottom of page]  

 Winner of the 2016 Municipal Journal’s award for Innovation & Impact in Children’s Services 
 1,232 children in care at end March 2016, 2.6% lower (33 fewer) than March 2015 
 583 children subject to a child protection plan at end March 2016, 58 fewer than March 2015  
 Primary school attendance 96.4%; secondary school attendance 95.0%. Nearly 250 fewer young people 

classed as NEET at end March 2016 compared to prior year   
 535 young people committed an offence during 15/16; 117 fewer than 14/15. 
 62% of children achieved a good level of development between 0-5 years in 2015, up by 4 percentage 

points from 2014 
 78% pupils in Leeds achieved Level 4 or better in reading, writing and maths 
 54% of young people achieved five or more GCSEs at grades A*-C (including English and maths)   
 Launched Leeds Baby Steps to deliver perinatal support and education to families with complex lives 
 Child Friendly Leeds campaign celebrated its third birthday and the support of over 350 ambassadors 
 Opened £10m state of the art campus with space for 150 pupils at West Oaks Specialist Inclusive 

Learning Centre  

 

 

Page 284



Objective 4: Delivering the Better Lives programme [Pages 9-10] 
Helping local people with care and support needs to enjoy better lives 

People who use social care services have told us what they want most is to maintain their 
independence and stay at home for as long as possible. Our focus remains on ensuring people with 
social care needs can access services earlier; maintain their independence with support where needed; 
and people are given choice and control to use the services that best suits their individual needs. This 
is our firm commitment to the people in the city, and we call it ‘Better Lives for people in Leeds’.  The 
better lives we aim to see don’t just involve Adult Social Care, but others in the council and partner 
organisations, health service colleagues and third sector. As we work more closely together, it enables 
us to benefit from a shared approach and work more smartly towards common solutions.   

Key achievements  

Integration 

• Numbers of delayed discharges from hospitals have steadily decreased since August 2015 as health and 
social care have worked with a range of partners to ensure timely and supported transfers home.  The 
establishment of initiatives such as Home from Hospital run by Age UK Leeds and British Red Cross have 
enabled older people who need some support to return home to go home sooner.    

• Following the successful launch of Integrated Neighbourhood Teams, work commenced to review how 
they work to support people, including developing  a ‘strengths- based’ approach to social work which 
will focus upon a person’s abilities and resources  in order to meet their needs.  

• The council and its NHS partners have revised the entry criteria for specialist services for people 
recovering from an illness or accident to enable more people to benefit.  In addition the council has 
begun work to move to providing a 7 day a week service with additional extra capacity, including an 
additional focus on supporting people with dementia.   

• Health and social care integration has been supported by the innovative use of technology: the Leeds 
Care Record enables information relation to both health and social care needs to be accessed by 
professionals. On a person’s arrival at A&E, hospital staff can now see if they are receiving support from 
Adult Social Care. From February 2016, access to the Leeds Care record has been extended to 
neighbourhood teams.  

Housing, care and support 

• A programme of work to increase the availability of extra care housing across the city is underway.  This 
includes commencing design work for the West Ardsley extra care complex has commenced and 
launching the Specialist Housing with Care Prospectus.   

• The accessible information standard has been launched, ensuring that requirements around a range of 
information needs are met and will better enable people to make informed decisions about their 
options for care and support. 

• A Carers Assessment Team has been established at Carers Leeds to cope with the increase in demand 
for carers assessments.  

Enterprise 

• A new framework for the delivery of domiciliary care was launched in 2015 and was fully in place for 
June 2016.  Work was carried out with the full involvement of service users and their representatives as 
well as the sector, to develop a framework which could best assure the needs of people would be met.  

• Consultations and work with a wide range of internal and external stakeholders and partners is 
underway to look at how we can make better use, and tap into, the assets and resources in local 
communities to better support people to remain in their own homes and independent for longer. An 
example of this work was the Armley Community Wellbeing ‘early adopter’ Leadership Team, which met 
for first time in March 2016 to see how they could promote better wellbeing in their area. 

• The council invested in new community initiatives, aiming to improve employment opportunities for 
people with a learning disability, including a café run by a third sector organisation, which created jobs 
for 20 people.  Leeds has a larger proportion of its learning disabled adult service users in paid 

Page 285



employment than comparable local authorities and is one of the highest authorities for people receiving 
mental health services who are in paid employment.  

• The new £2.5m Rothwell Fulfilling Lives hub opened, supporting adults with learning disabilities.  The 
centre is designed to cater for customers with the most complex health needs and contains a number of 
specialist facilities including a rebound therapy room with floor level trampoline, a sensory room and 
charging stations and areas for electric wheelchairs.  It also features a purpose built physiotherapy and 
postural management room. 

Key statistics [infographics running along bottom of page]  

 66% overall satisfaction of people who use adult social care services, up from 63% in 2014/15 
 Number of days that people are delayed from being discharged from hospital due to social care related 

reasons down to 425 in March 2016 from 772 the year before 
 Increased numbers of people who say they find it easy to find information, advice and support about 

services they require from Adult Social Care to 78%, up from 69% 2014/15. 
 1,363 people completed a package of reablement in 2015/16 against target of 1,100 
 Invested further £1m to meet rising demand for Tele Care services to help more older people live safely 

and independently at home 
 Successfully bid for £6m investment in new services to reduce social isolation amongst older people 
 Safely reduced numbers of people under 65 admitted to a permanent care home placement to 10.6 per 

100,000 from 12.3 last year  
 Increased numbers of people using services said they ‘felt safe’ from 67% to 71% 
 9% of people aged 18-65 with a learning disability known to the council in paid employment, higher than 

6.6% national average and up from 6.9% in 2014/15 

 

Page 286



Objective 5: Dealing effectively with the city’s waste [Pages 11-12] 
Minimising waste in a growing city  

As the city grows and the amount of waste produced increases, how we deal with the city’s waste 
becomes more and more important. Dealing effectively with the city’s waste will reduce the 
immediate and long term impact on the natural environment, create energy, improve public health, 
encourage clean neighbourhoods and ease financial strains on the council budget.  Our vision is to 
reduce waste and improve recycling in Leeds. We are achieving this through the introduction of 
alternate weekly collections (AWCs) and closer working with reuse charities. Part of this work is the 
creation of our new Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility (RERF) at Cross Green. 

Key achievements 

An efficient, reliable and high quality waste collection service 

• The council undertakes around 500,000 collections every week, a total of nearly 26 million collections 
each year. AWC, where households receive a fortnightly recyclables collection instead of four weekly 
collection, and a fortnightly general waste collection, were provided to a further 60,000 households 
during 2015; bringing the total number of households on AWC to 264,419, 75% of the city’s households. 
Suitable alternatives will be piloted in densely built areas during 2016/17. 

• The reliability of our waste collection services has improved again, with the number of reported missed 
collections reducing year on year. 18,908 collections were reported missed in 2015/16, just 0.07% of all 
scheduled collections. 

More waste recycled and less sent to landfill 

• In 2005 we were only recycling 20% of waste; we are now recycling double that figure – 40% as at the 
end of March 2016. Although this last year has seen a small decline in the recycling rate, mainly due to a 
reduction in recycling from black bin waste, this trend should be reversed with the new Recycling and 
Energy Recovery Facility moving into full operations (see next section below). 

• The volumes of dry recyclables (green bin material) have increased by 13% in 2015/16 following the 
successful implementation of AWC, increasing the overall recycling rate by 1.1%. 

• The Kirkstall Road household waste recycling site is currently undergoing major redevelopment into a 
modern, high quality facility, and will re-open in early 2017. The new site will include a ‘re-use shop’ to 
be run by a Third Sector organisation, similar to the highly successful shop at the East Leeds household 
waste recycling site.  

• Work continues to raise awareness and participation in recycling, both generally across the City, and in 
specific communities where there are challenges in terms of language being a barrier to communication, 
or because there are large transient populations. 

Recycling and energy recovery facility 

• The construction and commissioning of the RERF has been successfully completed with a range of 
financial and environment benefits.  The increased processing of black bin waste over the life of the 
contract will reduce carbon emissions by 62,000 tonnes a year, equivalent to taking 29,000 cars off the 
road per year, improving the city’s air quality. 

• Further infrastructure has now been installed within the RERF turbine to facilitate the supply of hot 
water to a district heating scheme which will not only deliver further environmental benefits, but also 
contribute to tackling fuel poverty in social housing. 

• The RERF visitor centre will host educational visits and weekly tours.  It will also be available for hire by 
community groups. 

Key statistics [infographics running along bottom of page] 

 166,100 tonnes of waste produced each year; 590kg on average per household 
 40% of waste recycled 

Page 287



 99.9% of domestic refuse and recycling collections successfully made 
 Alternate weekly collections up from 64% in 2014/15 to 75% in 2015/16 
 £7m per year saving on disposal costs through RERF 
 Over life of contract, 4m tonnes of black bin waste processed at RERF, reducing carbon emissions 
 16,000 tonnes of materials anticipated to be captured annually for recycling from RERF processing of 

kerbside black bin waste  
 Around 11MW electricity will be generated from RERF, equal to power demands of over 22,000 homes. 

Page 288



Objective 6: Becoming a more efficient and enterprising council [Pages 13-14] 
Improving our organisational design, developing our people and working with partners to effect change 

Public resources continue to face significant financial challenges through reducing levels of funding and 
rising demand for services, particularly from an expanding and ageing population.  In response, we 
need to work differently, change our approach, embed our ‘Doing Our Best’ culture and reshape our 
structures; we need an agile, skilled and diverse workforce with the ability to respond flexibly; we need 
to maximise income generation and develop services in new markets, whilst ensuring that there are no 
unintended consequences for vulnerable citizens: we need to become a more efficient and 
enterprising organisation. 

Key achievements 

• Leeds City Council named ‘Local Authority of the Year 2016’ at the Municipal Journal Awards.  The 
awards are nationally recognised as one of the most valued indicators of success in the sector and 
winning in this category highlights a local authority’s success isn’t limited to just one department or 
project, but spreads right across the organisation.  

• Leeds City Council was also ‘Highly Commended’ in the Local Government Chronicle ‘Council of the Year 
2016’ award. 

Our workforce     

• Sickness absence levels for the council at the end of March 2016 were the lowest the council has 
recorded since this measure was introduced with an estimated saving of £900,000 in sick pay as a result.   

• The latest information from Core Cities (economically the largest areas outside of London in England, 
Wales and Scotland) indicates that Leeds is the second best performing council for sickness absence 
behind Bristol, and significantly ahead of Manchester, Liverpool and Sheffield. 

• Staff survey results show a continued good level of engagement: we successfully maintained the high 
level of response rates in 2015, and scores for every individual question improved on the previous year. 
Based on answers to the question, ‘If a friend asked you to give a score from 1 to 10 working for Leeds 
City Council, what would it be?’ the score increased to 7.52/10 from 7.2 in 2014/15.  

• We’ve managed to keep delivering front-line services while reducing and reconfiguring our services.   

New technology  

• PrintSmart project undertaken to review the council’s print requirements and procure more efficient 
and effective arrangements, resulting in significant reductions in the number of printers and volume of 
paper used. 

• Open Data Manifesto adopted, setting out the council’s intention to work towards becoming an ‘open 
by default’ organisation and cementing Leeds’ position of being a leader in open data.   

The way we work 

• Employee and Manager Self Service system was launched and rolled out to over 9,000 users during the 
year. The new system allows smarter and more efficient ways of working with more control for 
employees including being able to view and update their own personal information as well as 
administering mileage and overtime claims and leave requests. Manager approval of these transactions 
is now electronic rather than having to use paper documents.   

• We continue to embrace modern ways of working through our Changing the Workplace (CTW) 
programme.  CTW is helping the council become more efficient by introducing new, more flexible ways 
of working for staff and redesigning our offices to support this.  This should in turn allow staff to be 
more responsive to customers and waste less time travelling.  Results from staff surveys on CTW have 
been positive. 

• CTW will also save the council money by making more effective use of our office space and reducing the 
number of city-centre buildings we use, over time rationalising this into four main office 

Page 289



accommodation sites, saving in excess of £15m.  Work is underway on the redevelopment of Merrion 
House.   

• As a wider recognition of the positive outcomes being delivered through this work, the council was 
shortlisted for the 2015/16 Local Government Chronicle Business Transformation awards.  

• Leeds City Council won the ‘Commercialisation in Property Estate’ category in the Municipal Journal 
Awards.  The award was given to the local authority that could demonstrate major organisational 
achievement and innovation in maximising the value of its estate or creating revenue income from its 
property assets. 

Key statistics [infographics running along bottom of page] 

 Delivered marginal underspend of £0.4m against 2015/16 revenue budget; £84m of savings and 
efficiencies achieved  

 Improved in-year collection rates for council tax and business rates  
 Achieved ‘Excellent’ assessment for revised Framework for Equality in Local Government 
 8.9 days per FTE (full time equivalent) sickness absence levels; down by 0.51 days on 2014/15 
 Improved staff engagement scores 
 Appraisal figures [to follow – analysis underway at time of writing] 
 Total spend on agency staff £9.5m by end 2015/16, down by £4.1m on previous year 
 Number of compliments about council services increased by 13% on 2014/15 
 Number of complaints about council services reduced by 2.5% on 2014.15 
 Achieved £4.6m procurement savings 
 25% reduction in printing through new contract, saving 12.5m A4 sheets of paper 
 £1m saved on children’s social work transport spend in last 2 years 

 
 

[Section break] 

 To follow: appendix showing 2015/16 Best Council Plan Scorecard 

 

 

Page 290



Appendix 2: Extract from the Best Council Plan Annual Report - looking back on 2014/15 

 

P
age 291



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive 

Report to Executive Board    

Date: 27th July 2016 

Subject: Financial Health Monitoring 2016/17 – Quarter 1 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Executive Board of the financial health of 
the authority in respect of the general fund revenue budget, and the Housing 
Revenue Account.  

 
2. The 2016/17 financial year is the first year covered by the 2015 Spending Review 

and again presents significant financial challenges to the Council. The Council to 
date has managed to achieve considerable savings in the order of £330m since 
2010 and the budget for 2016/17 will require the Council to deliver a further £76m of 
savings.  
 

3. The current and future financial climate for local government represents a 
significant risk to the Council’s priorities and ambitions. Whilst the Council continues 
to make every effort possible to protect the front line delivery of services, it is clear 
that the position is becoming more difficult to manage and it will be increasingly 
difficult over the coming years to maintain current levels of service provision without 
significant changes in the way the Council operates.  A separate report on this 
agenda sets out the scale of the financial challenge facing the council over the 
coming three financial years, 2017/18 to 2019/20. 
 

4. Executive Board will recall that the 2016/17 general fund revenue budget, as 
approved by Council provides for a variety of actions to reduce net spend by 
£31.5m delivering some £76m of budget action plans by March 2017. After the first 

Report author: Alan Gay/Doug Meeson  

Tel: 74250 

Page 293

Agenda Item 19



 

  

quarter of the financial year, it is clear that the majority of these actions and savings 
plans are on track to be delivered.  However this report highlights a potential overall 
overspend/risk of £2.9m, although it should be noted that measures are being put 
into place to reduce this figure.   

 
5. At quarter 1, the Housing Revenue Account is projecting a marginal underspend of 

£0.1m.  

Recommendation 

6. Executive Board are asked to note the projected financial position of the authority. 
 
1. Purpose of this report     
 
1.1 This report sets out for the Executive Board the Council’s projected financial health 

position for 2016/17 at quarter 1.  
 
1.2 Budget Monitoring is a continuous process throughout the year, and this report 

reviews the position of the budget and highlights potential key risks and variations 
after the first quarter of the year. 

 
2. Background information 
 
2.1 Executive Board will recall that the net budget for the general fund for 2016/17 was 

set at £496.4m, supported by the use of £3.5m of general reserves.   
 
2.2 The balance of general reserves at the end of March 2016 was £21.3m and when 

taking into account the budgeted use of £3.5m in 2016/17 will leave an anticipated 
balance at March 2017 of £17.8m. 

 
2.3 Financial monitoring continues to be undertaken on a risk-based approach where 

financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget 
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, 
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc.  
This has again been reinforced through specific project management based support 
and reporting around the achievement of the key budget actions plans. 

 
2.4 A separate report on this agenda sets out the scale of the financial challenge facing 

the council over the coming three financial years, 2017/18 to 2019/20 in advance of 
a report will be brought to this Board in September 2016 to update the medium-term 
financial strategy and decide whether to accept the Government’s 4-year funding 
offer. 

 
3. Main Issues  
 
3.1 At quarter 1 an overspend of £2.9m is forecast, as shown in Table 1 below.   
 
 Table 1 

 

Page 294



 

  

 
  
3.2 The major variations against the budget are outlined below;  
 
3.2.1 Adult Social Care – overall, the directorate is currently projecting an overspend of 

£0.7m by the financial year-end, an increase of £0.5m over the month 2  report   
The increase is mainly due to higher spend on community care packages and the 
rescheduling of the older people’s Better Lives report on residential and day care 
services to September’s Executive Board. Some slippage has been identified in 
delivering budget action plans of some £1.5m, but at this early stage in the financial 
year most are projected to be achieved over the remaining 10 months of the year. 
There is slippage in delivering the specific actions for savings of £0.5m within the 
community care packages budget, mainly relating to learning disability services. 
Slippage of £0.5m relates to contracts and grants budgeted savings and £0.5m to 
the Better Lives programme within older people’s residential and day care services. 
Some other budget pressures and savings have been identified including 
anticipated savings of £1.4m across the staffing budgets which recognises reducing 
staffing numbers within the Community Support Service since the budget was set 
and vacancies within the care management and business support services, partly 
offset by slippage relating to the Better Lives programme within older people’s 
residential and day care services. Savings of £1.0m are projected in commissioning 
services, resources and strategy and health and wellbeing due to ongoing 
vacancies.  A risk of £2m has been identified in the budget for Community care 
packages which mainly relates to residential and nursing care placements, 
reflecting the trend in the last quarter of 2015/16 and a higher number of residents 
at the start of the current financial year than was assumed when the budget was 
set. Expenditure on the learning disability pooled budget is higher than budgeted 
which also reflects the impact of the spend in the last quarter of 2015/16 and some 
slippage in delivering the 2016/17 budgeted savings.   

 
3.2.2 Children’s Services – overall, at quarter 1 the Children’s Services are forecasting a 

bottom-line overspend of £3.8m.  The directorate is facing a number of continuing 
demand-led and funding budget pressures, which could potentially increase the 
overspend. Children’s Services has committed to a number of actions to mitigate 

Directorate Director Staffing Total Expenditure Income
 Total (under) 
/overspend

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

Adult Social Care Cath Roff (1,393) 497 189 686 192                           

Children's Services Nigel Richardson 145 8,115 (4,315) 3,800 3,600                        

City Development Martin Farrington (504) (507) 281 (226) (210)

Environment & Housing Neil Evans (64) (56) (32) (88) 0

Strategy & Resources Alan Gay (301) (250) 225 (25) 0

Citizens & Communities James Rogers (14) (7,066) 6,930 (136) 0

Public Health Dr Ian Cameron (168) (68) 0 (68) 0

Civic Enterprise Leeds Julie Meakin 698 1,067 (1,067) 0 0

Strategic & Central Alan Gay 400 (1,726) 661 (1,065) (601)

Total Current Month (1,201) 6 2,872 2,878 2,981

Previous month (under)/over spend (2,223) 6,032 (3,051) 2,981

Forecast (under)/overspend for the current period
Previous Month 

(under)/over 
Spend

Page 295



 

  

these budget pressures including tightening controls around recruitment, further 
promoting the early leaver initiative, reviewing contracts and commissioned services 
and a restrictions in all areas of non-essential spend. In addition, the directorate is 
anticipating additional funding, not all of which will result in additional spend, 
although this will be subject to the approval of a bid to the Department for Education   
In terms of the demand-led children in care budgets, at quarter 1, there is a £4.9m 
forecast pressure which is made up of £3.5m in respect of externally provided 
residential placements and £1.4m for placements with independent fostering 
agencies).  There are currently 1,243 children in care against an assumption in the 
budget of around 1,170 placements. The trend in the last quarter of the 2015/16 
financial year was for an increase in the external residential placements and this 
trend has continued in 2016/17, although the current projection is that this position 
stabilises.    

 
The home to school and home to college transport budget is under significant 
pressure due to a rise in the number of young people with complex needs, a rise in 
the transport requirements outside the city and an increase in private hire rates. The 
pressure is currently identified at £1.7m. A full revised projection and action plan will 
be produced in September once pupil numbers are finalised. 

 
In terms of the schools budget, pressures have emerged over the past-term 
principally in relation to the Social Emotional and Mental Health provision, funding 
for inclusion numbers and central early years expenditure which total some £5m. In 
addition there is a risk around receiving the budgeted Schools Forum funding for the 
Readiness for Learning proposal and options are being considered to manage this 
pressure over the medium term.  

 
3.2.3 City Development – overall, the directorate is anticipating an underspend of £0.2m 

against the £43m net managed budget.  There are a number of identified 
risks/pressures notably around planning appeals and income, but these are 
mitigated by anticipated income from the Bridgewater Place settlement. 

 
3.2.4 Environment & Housing – at quarter 1 the directorate is forecasting a marginal 

underspend of £0.1m against its £54m net managed budget.  Within this overall 
figure, there is a pressure on the waste management budget of £0.2m which is 
mainly due to increased disposal costs.  In car parking, staffing savings and 
additional income are expected to deliver a saving of £0.2m and in Community 
Safety there is a forecast underspend of £0.17m due again to staffing savings, one-
off income from the WYPCC and additional Ministry of Justice funding. 

 
3.2.5 Strategic & Central budgets – at quarter 1, the strategic and central budgets are 

anticipated to underspend by £1.1m.  The key variations include; 
  

i. Debt – we have taken advantage of unprecedented low long-term interest 
rates and the opportunity to reduce the risk in the Council’s debt portfolio. In 
addition, the forecast debt costs for the year include purchasing the strategic 
asset on Sovereign Street which will generate an income stream which will 
reduce the overall net pressure on the debt budget to just £0.6m. 

ii. Section 278 income - a potential £1.5m risk due to lower levels of 
development activity. 

iii. Procurement - a £1m variation which reflects that the procurement savings will 
be managed through directorate budgets. 

Page 296



 

  

iv. Early Leaver Initiative - a potential £0.4m additional spend over the £2m 
earmarked reserve. 

v. Savings of £2m from the additional capitalisation of eligible spend in general 
fund and school budgets. 

vi. Appropriation of £2.7m of earmarked reserves. 
vii. Savings of £0.7m on the levy contribution to the business rates pool. 

 
3.3 Other Financial Performance 
 
3.3.1 Council Tax 

 
 The Council Tax in-year collection rate at the end of June was 28.29% which is in 

line with the performance in 2015/16.  At this early stage the forecast is to achieve 
the 2016/17 in-year collection target of 95.9% collecting some £299m of income. 

 
3.3.2 Business Rates  
 

The business rates collection rate at the end of June was 30.54% which is 0.36% 
behind of the performance in 2015/16.  The forecast is to achieve the 2016/17 in-
year collection target of 97.7% collecting some £386m of income. 
 

4.    Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  

4.1 At quarter 1 the HRA is projecting a marginal underspend of £0.13m against the 
2016/17 budget.  Projected combined income from rents and service charges are 
forecast to be in line with the budget with a marginal £31k anticipated variation at 
this stage of the year.  There are a number of marginal variations against the 
expenditure budgets which when combined, total some £0.16m. 

 
5. Corporate Considerations 

5.1 Consultation and Engagement  

5.1.1 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation 

5.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

5.2.1 The Council’s revenue budget for 2016/17 was subject to equality impact 
assessments where appropriate and these can be seen in the papers to Council on 
24th February 2016. 

5.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan 

5.3.1 The 2016/17 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and priorities 
as set out in the Best Council Plan. This report comments on the financial 
performance against this budget, supporting the Best Council ambition to be an 
efficient and enterprising organisation.   

5.4 Resources and Value for Money  

5.4.1 This is a revenue financial report and as such all financial implications are detailed 
in the main body of the report. 

 

Page 297



 

  

5.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

5.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.  
 
6. Recommendations 
 
6.1 Executive Board are asked to note the projected financial position of the authority. 
 
7. Background documents1  

7.1 None 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

                                            
1 Any background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 298



 

  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total 
(under) / 

overspend
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Health 
Partnerships

383 (130) 252 (73) 0 89 0 4 102 0 0 0 122 (172) (50)

Access & Care 
Delivery

246,191 (39,745) 206,446 (405) 1 157 (11) (37) 1,559 (51) 0 0 1,214 335 1,549

Commissioning 
Services

13,231 (24,483) (11,252) (562) 0 (88) 0 120 475 0 0 0 (55) (367) (422)

Resources and 
Strategy

6,915 (1,008) 5,907 (353) 0 (108) 0 (323) 0 0 0 0 (784) 393 (391)

Total 266,720 (65,366) 201,354 (1,393) 1 50 (11) (236) 2,137 (51) 0 0 497 189 687

ADULT SOCIAL CARE
2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR - QUARTER 1

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall narrative

The directorate is currently projecting an overspend of £0.7m by the financial year-end, an increase of £0.5m sover the month 2  report The increase is mainly due to higher spend on community care packages and the 
rescheduling of the older people’s Better Lives report on residential and day care services to September’s Executive Board. 

Some slippage has been identified in delivering budget action plans totalling £1.5m, but at this early stage in the financial year most are projected to be achieved over the remaining 10 months. There is slippage in delivering 
the specific actions for savings of £0.5m within the community care packages budget, mainly relating to learning disability services. Slippage of £0.5m relates to contracts and grants budgeted savings and £0.5m to the 
Better Lives programme within older people’s residential and day care services. Some other budget pressures and savings have been identified, further details of which are outlined below.  

The main variations at quarter 1 across the key expenditure types are as follows:

Staffing (-£1.4m – 2.7%)
Savings within Access and Care Delivery total £0.4m. This mainly reflects reducing staffing numbers within the Community Support Service since the budget was set and vacancies within the care management and business 
support services, partly offset by slippage relating to the Better Lives programme within older people’s residential and day care services. Savings of £1.0m are projected in commissioning services, resources and strategy 
and health and wellbeing due to ongoing vacancies.

Community care packages (+£2.0m – 1.1%) 
The main variation relates to residential and nursing care placements, reflecting the trend in the last quarter of 2015/16 and a higher number of residents at the start of the current financial year than was assumed when the 
budget was set. Expenditure on the learning disability pooled budget is higher than budgeted. This also reflects the impact of the spend in the last quarter of 2015/16 and some slippage in delivering the 2016/17 budgeted 
savings.  

Other Expenditure (-£0.2m – 0.4%)
Savings across a range of general running expenses budgets has been partly offset by slippage relating to contracts and grants budgeted savings.

Income (+£0.2m – 0.4%)
This includes health funding for some intermediate care beds within homes for older people which has not yet been agreed for 2016/17 and some reduced health funding for Information Management and Technology offset 
by reduced staffing costs. Service user contributions and funding for staffing costs through the learning disability pooled budget are slightly higher than budgeted.

P
age 299



 

  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer Action Plan Value RAG

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1. D Ramskill 0.9 A 0.5

2. S McFarlane 1.0 G 0.0

3.
M Ward / M 
Naismith

1.0 A 0.1

4. J Bootle 0.5 A 0.1

5.
J Wright / M 
Naismith

3.0 A 0.3

6. S McFarlane 0.5 G 0.0

7. M Ward   1.4 A 0.5

8. Various 0.8 G 0.0

9. A Hill 1.0 G 0.0

10. S Hume 3.9 G 0.0

11. S Hume 1.8 G 0.0

B. Other Significant Variations

1. Various (1.9)

2.
J Bootle / M 
Naismith

1.5

3.
S Hume/ S 
McFarlane

0.6

4 Various (0.9)

Adult Social Care Directorate - Forecast Variation 0.7

Net effect of other variations Mainly general running expenses through careful budget management

Additional Comments

Older people's residential and day care Full-year effects and ongoing Better Lives programme

Review of care packages - mental health 
Reviewing care packages for existing  customers based on the strengths based approach 
and securing improved value for money commissioning

Review of care packages - physical impairment
Reviewing care packages for existing  customers based on the strengths based approach 
and securing improved value for money commissioning

Assessment and care management practice
Delivering the most cost effective service for new customers based on the strengths based 
approach and the use of reablement and telecare services

Health income Funding for some in-house beds and IM&T work not yet confirmed

Community care packages
Pressures experienced in 2015/16 on residential & nursing placements and the learning 
disability pooled budget are continuing

Fees and charges Implementation of February 2016 Executive Board decisions

Mainly funding received in 2015/16 on a non-recurring basisHealth funding

Staffing
Ongoing tight vacancy management and reducing staff numbers in the Community Support 
Service

Review of care packages - learning disability
Reviewing care packages for existing  customers based on the strengths based approach 
and securing improved value for money commissioning

Assessment and care management efficiencies Review of skills mix and business processes

Exploring opportunities to realign spend between capital and revenueBetter Care Fund

Vacancy management Mainly non-frontline services

Grants and contracts Review of contracts and grants across client groups

P
age 300



 

  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget
Latest 

Estimate
Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income
Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Partnership, Development 

& Business Support
19,777 (1,137) 18,640 610 0 (610) 1,700 0 0 0 0 0 1,700 0 1,700

Learning, Skills & 

Universal Services
129,193 (116,578) 12,615 (1,077) 0 (707) 0 (92) 250 0 0 153 (1,473) 1,022 (451)

Safeguarding, Targeted & 

Specialist Services
121,529 (29,397) 92,132 529 0 (439) 200 100 6,467 73 0 875 7,805 (5,337) 2,468

Central Overheads 9,109 (12,053) (2,944) 83 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 83 83

Total  279,608 (159,165) 120,443 145 0 (1,756) 1,900 8 6,717 73 0 1,028 8,115 (4,315) 3,800

CHILDREN'S SERVICES FINANCIAL DASHBOARD 

Quarter 1, 2016/17

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall ‐ At quarter 1 the directorate is reporting a projected overspend of £3.8m.  The directorate is facing a number of budget pressures,  if all materialised to the worst case level then 
the extent of the overspend could be higher than the £3.8m projected position. The directorate has committed to a number of actions to mitigate against these budget pressures including 
additional controls on recruitment and promoting the ELI scheme in some areas, a review of contracts and a review of spend  including restrictions in all areas of non‐essential spend . In 
addition, the directorate is anticipating additional DfE funding, not all of which will result in additional spend although this will be subject to the approval of a bid.  CLA Obsession ‐ at quarter 
1, there is a £4.9m  pressure around  CLA  demand budgets (£3.5m External Residential & £1.4m Independent Fostering Agency).  Currently there are 1,243 CLA children; this includes 59 
with External Residential and 226 with Independent Fostering Agencies. Overall the CLA budget supports  1,170 placements which includes provision for 36 ER and 185 IFA placements. The 
trend at the end of the last financial year was for an increase in the external residential placements and this trend has continued in 2016/17. The current projection assumes that this 
position doesn't get any worse. There has been a small reduction in numbers in May and June. Staffing ‐ current assumption is for pay to slightly overspend by £0.1m. There are some 
significant risks around this forecast although the directorate has committed to take action to reduce staffing numbers. Current FTE levels and spend would suggest an overspend of 
approximately  £1m although FTE numbers have reduced in May and June.  Commissioned Services ‐ A £0.5m saving target around the £10m of commissioned contracts and other spend 
within the directorate. There is a risk that this saving target is not achieved.  DfE Innovations Funding ‐ There is a potential pressure of £0.8m with the existing DfE Innovations funding. The 
current projection assumes that actions will be taken so that overall commitments match the funding available but there is still a significant risk that commitments will exceed the available 
funding in 16/17.
Transport  ‐ The home to school and home to college transport budget is under significant pressure due to a rise in the number of young people with complex needs, a rise in the transport 
requirements outside the city and an increase in private hire rates. The pressure is currently identified at £1.7m. A full revised projection and action plan will be produced in September once 
pupil numbers are finalised.  Other Income ‐ Additional £2m DfE Innovations & Partners in Practise grant (part of a new 4 year bid which has not been secured yet). A further £0.3m HRA 
income to support the FIS and MST Service. Offsetting this is a net £0.6m pressure from the loss of £1.6m CCG income supporting the Children's Centres offset by an anticipated  £1m health 
income from ASC.
Dedicated Sshools Grant (DSG) Pressure‐ Pressures have emerged over the past term principally  in relation to the Social Emotional and Mental Health provision,  Fundng for Inclusion 
numbers and Central Early Years expenditure which total £5m. In addition there is a risk re receiving  the budgeted Schools Forum funding for the Readiness for Learning proposal.  Options 
are being considered to manage this pressure over the medium term.A report will be considered at the next Schools Forum meeting in October.

P
age 301



 

  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer
Action Plan 

Value
RAG

Forecast 
Variation

A. Significant Variations £m £m

Children Looked After Steve Walker 4.90

Passenger Transport Sue Rumbold 1.70

Income ‐ DSG Steve Walker 0.75

Income ‐ DfE bid Steve Walker (2.00)

Commissioning Sue Rumbold (0.50)

HRA ‐ funding Steve Walker (0.30)

Savings challenge across department All (1.80)

B. Key Budget Action plans (BAP's)  

A1 CSLT 2.40 A 0.00

A2 CSLT 1.60 R 0.60

C1
Andrea 

Richardson
1.20 A 0.25

E1/E2/E4 Sue Rumbold 1.40 A 0.00

E5
Andrea 

Richardson
0.50 A 0.30

A3 Steve Walker 0.50 G 0.00

A4 Francis N'Jie 0.40 G 0.00

E3 Steve Walker 0.40 G 0.00

  All CO's 2.29 A (0.10)

Children's Services Directorate ‐ Forecast Variation 3.80

Target savings against running costs and staffing budgets.  Proposals are being considered by CSLT.  

Various other budget savings (10)
Including reconfiguration of Targeted Services, a review of assets, additional trading with schools, 

reviewing non Statutory costs etc.

Impact of residential review on overtime costs
Running cost efficiencies following closure of Pinfolds and Bodmin. Linked to the overall pay 

strategy for the directorate. 

Securing additional income from Schools Forum
£3.4m of funding per academic year provisionally agreed subject to delivery of activity and funds 

being available from DSG.

Health Funding For Children's Centres
Negotiate with CCG's to extend 15/16 funding into 16/17. Income unlikely to be received from 

CCGs but alternative funding being pursued. 

Reconfigure services to young people at risk of 

becoming NEET
IAG contract has been extended to July 2016. Some existing provider staff will TUPE.

Staff savings
Reduction in posts/additional trading opportunities and ELIs. Linked to medium term strategy for 

the directorate. Further staff reductions are required to meet budget assumptions. 

Reduce net cost of Learning For life managed 

Children's Centres Childcare.
Ensure childcare income generated is reflected in childcare staffing levels

Adel Beck
Maximise income from selling to other LA's. Rates revised for 16‐17 to recover this additional 

income subject to occupancy levels being achieved. 

Improvement partners
Maximise income from supporting other LA's. Work underway with Manchester. Other expressions 

of interest from other LA's. Innovations bid to DfE ongoing. Decision due late summer.

Additional Comments

Increased numbers of children requiring education outside the city, increased complexity of need 

and an increase in private hire rates.  

The current projection allows for a £0.75m shortfall against the budgeted income. The other 

pressures on the DSG could be partly met by exploring options in relation to balances and re‐

examining eligibility criteria. Options to be presented to School Forum in October. 

New bid to DfE in 2016/17. Assumes that not all the proposed expenditure will be additional.

Additional HRA income re signpost and MST service may not be forthcoming.  It is subject to 

agreement with Environments & Housing.

Pressure on CLA demand led budgets (External Residential placements and Independent Fostering 

Agencies).

Target saving against the £10m commissioning budget. Specific savings proposals to be presented 

to CSLT. There is a risk that sufficient savings cannot be achieved in 2016/17.

P
age 302



 

  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services Transport

Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments Capital Appropriation

Total 
Expenditure Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning and 
Sustainable 
Development

8,608 (5,733) 2,875 0 0 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 200 0 200

Economic Development 4,886 (3,998) 888 42 10 (43) 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 163 172

Asset Management and 
Regeneration

11,203 (10,394) 809 (140) 33 0 0 (318) 0 0 0 0 (425) 229 (197)

Highways and 
Transportation

55,878 (39,502) 16,376 (352) (78) 107 (23) (14) 0 0 0 0 (360) (5) (365)

Libraries, Arts and 
Heritage

22,458 (7,401) 15,057 (31) (6) 98 0 0 0 0 0 0 60 (54) 7

Sport and Active 
Recreation

24,332 (18,631) 5,701 (20) 6 7 3 15 0 0 0 0 11 (52) (40)

Resources and Strategy 1,811 (523) 1,288 (3) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (3) 0 (3)

Total 129,176 (86,182) 42,994 (504) (35) 370 (20) (318) 0 0 0 0 (508) 281 (226)

2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR - QUARTER 1
CITY DEVELOPMENT

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall - At quarter 1 City Development is projecting an underspend of £226k.  This is based on a number of assumptions and recognising some high level risks within the budget:
Advertising Income pressure has increased by £46k to £286k.  Although the income target was reduced in the 2016/17 estimates cycle by £200k  it is unlikely to achieve its target this year due to time required to 
build up the advertising sites portfolio and programme delays around approvals for the Advertising Sites.  However it is assumed that this will be offset by Arena Debt Savings and income from two new asset 
purchases awaiting Executive Board approval this month (approximately £490k in 2016-17).
Sport staff savings are expected from within the Active Lifestyle service. At this point the proposed closure and refurbishment of the swimming pools at Aireborough and John Smeaton are expected to be cost 
neutral as the loss of income from swimming lessons and general swimming will be offset by a managed reduction in staffing and running costs.   
Highways and Transportation have a number of budget pressures specifically in relation to drainage and roads maintenance issues (£230k) which are to be funded from increased external income.
There are concerns around Planning Appeals costs this year as the service currently have a number of appeals ongoing from 2015/16 and new ones coming in in 2016/17, this is currently estimated at £200k.

Income targets at Kirkgate Market are also under pressure due to rent discounts and later than anticipated new leases resulting from delays to the major redevelopment these are estimated at £172k

The Directorate has a further income generation target of £460k which is currently held centrally until new income opportunities are identified within services , and there is an assumption in the strategy that the 
Bridgewater Place money will be used to offset this if required.

The Directorate Strategy is to use the  proposed £825k Bridge Water Place settlement to fund these net pressures and contribute the balance to the corporate strategy. In the service analysis below £460k is within 
Resources & Strategy and £365k Highways & Transportation.

P
age 303



 

  

 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations: Action Plan 
Value

RAG
Forecast 
Variation

Lead Officer
A.  Budget Action Plans £'000 £'000

1. Tim Hill 550 G 0

2. Tom Bridges 280 G 0

3. Tom Bridges 410 G 0

4. Gary Bartlett 440 G 0

5.
Cluny 
MacPherson

570 G 0

6.
Cluny 
MacPherson

125 G 0

7.
Cluny 
MacPherson

440 G (40)

8 Ed Mylan 30 G 0

9.
All Chief 
Officers

460 G 0

B. Other Significant Variations

1. Asset Management Tom Bridges (197)

2. Highways Gary Bartlett 0

3. Planning Appeals Tim Hill Uncertainty at this stage around the costs of planning appeals 200

4. Tom Bridges 176

5.
Martin 
Farrington

(365)

City Development Directorate - Forecast Variation (226)

Arts Grant 
Full Year Effect of new grant allocations will deliver the savings. DDN published 25 
March 2015 and implemented 1st April 2015

Kirkgate Market
Extension of 20% rent discount and other rent  reductions resulting from the delay in 
the Kirkgate redevelopment. 

Reduction in the net cost of service through staffing savings and increased income 
generation

Reduction in the net cost of service via alternative service delivery, removal of 
subsidies, staffing savings and additional income 

Reduction in the net cost of service via efficiency savings, staffing savings and 
increased income generation

Highways and Transportation

Libraries, Arts and Heritage

Additional Comments

Reduction in the net cost of service through staffing savings and increased income 
generation

Reduction in the net cost of service through management restructure, staffing savings 
and increased income generation

Planning and Sustainable Development

Economic Development

Asset Management & Regeneration

As per the Directorate Strategy, use of balance of Bridgwater Place settlement to 
mitigate pressures

Additional Highways Income

Sport and Active Recreation

Resources and Strategy Reduction in the net cost of service via efficiency and staffing savings

Directorate Directorate-wide additional income target

Bridgwater Place 

Reduction in the net cost of service via efficiency savings, staffing savings and 
increased income generation

Reduced borrowing costs at Leeds Arena (£450k) offsetting reduced income from 
Advertisisng and increased legal costs

P
age 304



 

  

Summary By Service
Expenditure 

Budget Income Budget
Latest 

Estimate Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services Transport

Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments Capital Appropriation

Total 
Expenditure Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Community Safety 8700 (6,501) 2,199 (149) (23) (60) (232) 58 (174)

Strategic Housing, SECC, Contracts 17,825 (8,583) 9,242 (467) (2) 79 (5) 7 (5) (393) 312 (81)

General Fund Support (428) (408) (836) 357 (128) 229 229

Leeds Building Services 45,395 (51,217) (5,822) 346 (346) 0 0

Parks & Countryside 29,319 (21,259) 8,060 (10) (32) 160 (64) 69 123 (123) 0

Waste Strategy and Disposal 20,566 (5,749) 14,817 (10) 176 166 166

Household Waste Sites & Infrastructure 4,502 (480) 4,022 63 2 2 77 144 (122) 22

Refuse Collection 16,747 (375) 16,372 0 0

Environmental Action 15,354 (4,343) 11,011 (56) 20 (36) 36 0

Environmental Health 3,179 (765) 2,414 (25) (18) (43) (43)

Car Parking 5,003 (12,614) (7,611) (113) 80 19 (14) (193) (207)

Total 166,162 (112,294) 53,868 (64) (32) 2 8 35 (5) 0 0 0 (56) (32) (88)

ENVIRONMENT & HOUSING DIRECTORATE

2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR - QUARTER 1

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget;

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall Position (£88k under budget)

Community Safety (£174k under budget)
The service is projecting an underspend on staffing of  £149k (offset by reduced 
charges to HRA of £128k). One off income In year has been received from West 
Yorkshire Police & Crime Commissioner (£85k) for contributions  to LASBT
(Leeds Anti social behaviour team) and additional  Ministry of Justice funds 
(£89k) have been utilised.

Parks & Countryside  (£0k Nil Variance)
Even though there was no Easter in 16/17, turnover at attractions (including 
cafe/retail) continues to be strong with a projected increased surplus (£188k). 
This is partially offset by projected reduction in Golf income £38k, the loss of 
Forestry grant £60k and additional planting cost £70k. Other minor variations 
across the service £13k.

Environmental Action & Health (£43k under budget)
Env Action ‐ Projected staffing savings  (£56k) offset by loss of Wellbeing 
funding £36k and GPS system for gully tankers £20k.
Env Health ‐ projected staffing savings of (£25k) + other minor savings (£18k).

Car Parking (£207k under budget)
Ongoing vacant attendant posts (£113k) partially offset by additional 
expenditure of £80k for P&D machine maintenance and the upgrades 
required to facilitate the new £1 coin coming into circulation in 2017. 
Overall Income is projected to be increased by (£193k). Of this the  50p 
increase  at Woodhouse Lane (in June) projected to generate an additional 
(£90k). Other variations being  off street parking (£85k), PCN  (£19k).   

Housing Support/Partnerships/SECC/SP Contracts (£81k under budget)
Housing staffing underspends (£427k)due to vacant posts are partially offset 
by a reduction of £210k corresponding income charged to HRA.  Other 
variations across  all areas are projected to be £136k.

General Fund SS (+£229k over budget)
Of the £970k Directorate wide staffing efficiency target,  £458k savings have 
been included  within  the projected position  of individual services and 
therefore remains a pressure within GFSS. (It is assumed that the remaining  
£512k will be found  across the directorate in year) . Offsetting the £458k are 
staffing savings in Intelligence & Improvements (£102k) and assumed 
directorate line by line savings  of (£128k). 

Leeds  Building Services (£0k Nil variance)
The service is currently projecting an overspend on staffing  of +£346k, this 
being offset by corresponding reduction in the Sub Contractor costs. The 
service has a WIP of £10.1m, this will be closely monitored during the year.

Waste Management +£187k over budget

Refuse (£0k nil variance)
Additional staffing costs reflecting additional back up routes and above‐
target sickness levels, are anticipated to be offset by the identification of 
other staffing savings. No overall variance is projected. 

HWSS & Infrastructure (+£21k over budget)
Additional staffing costs of £21k are forecast, reflecting additional operatives 
at Kirkstall Road required to deal with higher than anticipated waste 
volumes. 

Waste Strategy & Disposal (+£166k over budget)
A projected overspend of £217k in respect of SORT disposal costs reflects 
average gate fees and wastage rates being higher than budgeted. In 
addition, higher than anticipated tonnages at HWSS are projected to cost an 
additional £140k. Additional street arisings tonnages are currently projected 
to be offset by savings on the gate fee. These pressures are partially offset 
by a reduction on volumes at the RERF (£80k) and a higher than anticipated 
share of electricity  (£60k). Other projected variations include garden waste 
(£35k), food waste (£7k) and textiles (+£13k). 

P
age 305



 

  

  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer
Action Plan 

Value
RAG

Forecast 
Variation against 
Plan/Budget

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1. Susan Upton (4.5) G 0.0

2. Susan Upton (0.1) G 0.0

3. Sean Flesher (0.6) G 0.0

4. Simon Costigan (0.2) A 0.0

5. Helen Freeman (0.2) G 0.0

6. Sam Millar (0.7) A 0.0

7. Neil Evans (0.3) G 0.0

8. Directorate wide staffing reductions Neil Evans (1.2) G 0.0

9. Contract / Procurement Savings / Line by Line (0.3) A 0.0

10. All Other action plan items (0.1) G 0.0

B. Other Significant Variations
1. Susan Upton 0.2

2. Susan Upton 0.0

3. Susan Upton 0.0

4. Helen Freeman 0.0

5. Car Parking Fee Income Fee Income Helen Freeman (0.2)

6 Environmental Action staffing Helen Freeman 0.0

7 Property Maintenance Simon Costigan 0.0

8 Parks and Countryside ‐ Tropical/ Lotherton Sean Flesher (0.2)

9 Parks and Countryside ‐ Bereavement Services Sean Flesher 0.0

10 All other variations 0.1

Environment & Housing ‐ Forecast Variation (0.1)

Savings in Housing related support programme FYE of 15/16 pus recommissioning of more SP contracts

Review of Price tariffs and additional income target.

£12.2m pay budget in service;  nil variation anticipated at P2

Repairs £0.7m; Fuel £1.2m. 

Target for contract savings in the base.  (not shown as a variance as reported corp in 15/16)

Net budget £15.7m for 329.2k tonnes of waste; Detailed in year monitoring

£713k funding budgeted but not confirmed therefore remains a risk

Refuse Collection staffing costs

Waste Disposal Costs

Car Parking Fee Income BLE / PCN income

Refuse Collection vehicle costs

BLE  £1.4m ; PCN's   £2.3m ‐ Nil variance projected at P2

WYP &CC grant use

£0.9m unallocated in Support accounts, current level reduced to £0.5m + £0.3k of other staffing targets

£8.4m budget increase of £810k from 15/16.(Introduced new WHLCP increased by 50p June 2016)

Budgeted surplus of £5.2m required to be delivered. Service currently operating with £10.1m WIP

£1.7m  Income budget  (incl: TWorld £1.3 m budget)

£6.3 m budget

£13.5m pay budget in service

Dealing Effectively with the City's waste

HWSS Strategic Review

Parks and Countryside additional income

Leeds Building Services

Car Parking

Implement price rises, plus additional income at various attractions

Identification of savings to fund PPPU costs

Additional Comments

Service still reviewing options but likely to be 2017/18. Other savings to be identified.

FYE of Waste Strategy and assumes PFI at £53.3 for B1 tonnes; £0.3m for additional recycling performance

P
age 306



 

  

 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Communities 8,041 (2,513) 5,528 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Customer Access 16,972 (1,568) 15,404 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

Elections, 
Licensing & 
Registration

6,755 (6,024) 731 (15) 0 (9) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (24) 0 (24)

Benefits, Welfare 
and Poverty

298,440 (295,528) 2,912 0 0 0 0 0 0 (7,043) 0 0 (7,043) 6,930 (113)

Total 330,208 (305,633) 24,575 (14) 0 (9) 0 0 0 (7,043) 0 0 (7,066) 6,930 (136)

2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR - QUARTER 1
CITIZENS AND COMMUNITIES

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall
Budget action plans have been reviewed with each Chief Officer and at present it is anticipated that all plans will be achieved, therefore the Directorate is currently projected to come in slightly under budget.

Communities
The latest figures for Community Centres indicate a potential overspend of £50k, although this assumes no savings in utility costs (last year this was £50k) which it is assumed will balance the overall position.   Savings on 
Well Being, Youth Activities, Innovation Fund have been delivered. The full saving of 3rd Sector Infrastructure Grant will not be delivered in year but this will be offset by savings elsewhere within the service.

Customer Access
At this stage, it is hoped that the services will be on budget, though savings targets built in to the budget for 2016/17 are challenging and there is a significant amount of work involved  in developing the Community Hubs.

Elections, Licensing & Registration
A small underspend of £24k is expected, largely due to staff vacancies.

Benefits, Welfare and Poverty
Housing Benefit payment, subsidy and overpayments is currently expected to be underspent by £113k, largely as a result of the continued work on overpayment income.

P
age 307



 

  

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead 

Officer
Action Plan 

Value
RAG

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

Efficiencies

0.1 G 0.0
0.3 G 0.0

0.2 G 0.0
0.1 G 0.0

0.1 G 0.0
0.1 G 0.0

Changes to service

0.1 B 0.0
0.2 B 0.0
0.1 B 0.0

0.4 G 0.0

0.0 G 0.0

0.2 B 0.0

0.1 B 0.0

B. Other Significant Budgets

Net effect of all other variances (0.14)

Citizens and Communities Directorate ‐ Forecast Variation (0.14)

Grant reduction

HRA contribution relating to under occupancy and rent arrears

Savings in line with the asset management plan for closure of buildings and 
move of some HRA functions into the Community Hubs

Local Welfare Support Scheme Steve Carey HRA contribution in respect of support of Council tenants

£64k from PPE, printing and mail

Steve Carey

Steve Carey

Confident that this level of overpayments will be achieved in the light of the 
outturn position in 2015/16. Figure could be higher - review in progress

Continue Capita work £200k target added to CT base

Shaid Mahmood

Shaid Mahmood

Additional income - traded services, partner and other income

Shaid Mahmood

Shaid Mahmood/Lee 
Hemsworth

Main savings in Communities

Further savings from the implementation of transactional web, mainly staffing

All CO's

Advice consortium and welfare rights

Asset savings

Other

Housing benefits over payments

Council Tax Single Person Discount

Reduction in wellbeing and youth activities
Third sector infrastructure grant

Innovation Fund

John Mulcahy

Additional Comments

Review of costs and income

Reduction in budget
Budget reduction

Steve Carey

Registrars

Community hubs

Running costs

Shaid Mahmood

Shaid Mahmood

Transactional web Lee Hemsworth

Efficiencies from bringing services together, linked to Phase 1 and 2 of the 
capital investment in the service

P
age 308



 

  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest Estimate Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Public Health Grant (46,630) (46,630) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Staffing and General 
Running Costs

5,089 5,089 (100) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (100) 0 (100)

Commissioned and 
Programmed Services:

 - General Public Health 142 142 0 0 0 0 0 29 0 0 0 29 0 29

 - Population Healthcare 283 283 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 - Healthy Living and 
Health Improvement

15,273 (140) 15,133 0 0 0 0 0 30 0 0 0 30 0 30

 - Older People and 
Long Term Conditions

2,361 (47) 2,314 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 - Child and Maternal 
Health

14,115 14,115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 - Mental Wellbeing and 
Sexual Health

9,248 9,248 0 0 0 0 0 (192) 0 0 0 (192) 0 (192)

 - Health Protection 806 806 0 0 0 0 0 233 0 0 0 233 0 233

Transfer From Reserves (500) (500) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Supporting People 964 (637) 327 (68) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (68) 0 (68)

Drugs Commissioning 1,304 (1,285) 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 49,585 (49,239) 346 (168) 0 0 0 0 100 0 0 0 (68) 0 (68)

2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR - QUARTER 1
PUBLIC HEALTH 

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall

The allocation of the ring fenced Public Health grant for 2016-17 is £46,630k, this includes an additional £4,993k of funding for the full year effect for the 0-5 years services (Health Visiting and Family Nurse Partnership) which transferred to LCC in October 
2015.  On the 4th November 2015 the Government announced the result of the consultation with local authorities on the implementation of a £200m national cut to the 2015-16 Public Health grant allocation.  This confirmed the Department of Health's 
preferred option of reducing each local authority's allocation by 6.2%, this has been confirmed as a recurrent cut resulting in a £2.818m recurrent cut for Leeds City Council.  In addition to the £2.818 cut, the 2015 comprehensive spending review has shown
a further 3.9% real terms reduction in 2016-17 which equates to an additional reduction of £1.1m.  The grant allocation represents a cash reduction of £3,896k or 7.71%.

Although the Public Health grant for 2016-17 is fully committed, a 2 year cuts plan has been implemented in order to meet the required savings. Work has taken place to identify options for savings and critical difficult decisions have had to be taken in order 
to meet this significant challenge.  Savings have been made through successful consultation and negotiation with our partners and providers including 3rd Sector and NHS providers, this has resulted in approx. £1.1m of savings.  In addition savings have 
been made from the Public Health funding which is provided across Council directorates to support joint commissioning and commissioning of Council run services resulting in £355k of savings.  Savings of £955k have been found from Public Health 
programme budgets, vacant posts, support services and running costs.  £233k identified as a saving as part of the transfer of the TB contract will not materialise therefore work has begun to compensate for this shortfall.  Due to overtrading of sexual health 
services, provision was made for anticipated costs however it is likely that these costs will not materialise in full therefore resulting in a saving of 192k to offset against this risk.  In 2016-17 there is a £1.3m shortfall to meet the required £3.9m cut this amount 
has been taken from Council reserves and will be paid back by the end of 2017-18 as part of the Public Health cuts plan.

Detailed Analysis

At quarter 1, the Public Health ring fenced grant is showing a balanced position, this is due to a current underspend on the staffing budget due to staff turnover and vacant posts on hold, a review is underway to prioritise critical posts that need to be filled.  
Work is continuing to identify potential financial pressures particularly in relation to costs associated with the new drugs and alcohol contract and Public Health activity contracts which are paid based on demand and some on NHS tariff.  

In Supporting People there are a number of vacancies which has resulted in a projected underspend of £68k.

P
age 309



 

  

 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations: Lead 
Officer

Action Plan 
Value

RAG
Forecast 
Variation

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

Efficiencies

 - General effciencies on contracted services
Ian 

Cameron
0.8 B 0.0

 - Staff savings
Ian 

Cameron
0.4 B 0.0

Review of commissioned services;
Third Sector:-

 - Savings on contracts due to expire
Ian 

Cameron
0.2 B 0.0

 - Drugs and alcohol services
Ian 

Cameron
0.2 B 0.0

 - Drug Intevention Programme and Integrated Offender Mangement
Ian 

Cameron
0.4 B 0.0

 - Savings on existing contracts
Ian 

Cameron
0.3 B 0.0

 - Transfer of TB service to NHS provider
Ian 

Cameron
0.2 R 0.2

Leeds City Council services:-
Ian 

Cameron
1.8 B 0.0

Programmed budgets:-
Ian 

Cameron
0.6 B 0.0

Projected underspend on staffing costs (0.2)

Net effect of all other variations (0.1)

(0.1)

Additional Comments

In response to this proposed reduction in public health funding in 16/17 to council provided services, 
£1.3m of non-recurrent earmarked reserves will be used to maintain services to March 17. LCC 
directorates and heads of finance have confirmed savings have been achieved and implemented either 
by absorbing the saving or in consultation with relevant provider.

Contracts affected include Health Visiting, School Nursing, Healthy Lifestyles, Smoking Cessation, 
Weight Management, Infection Control. Consultation with NHS provider has started, further discussions 
planned.

Following consultation with NHS Partners this saving will not be realised

B. Other Variations

Public Health - Forecast Variation

Reduction in staffing pay budget through vacant posts on hold and vacancy management throughout 
2016/17

5% saving on 22 contracts due to expire. Areas covered community development, food and nutrition, 
vulnerable groups, older people, sexual health, domestic violence, mental health, cancer screening, 
children's physical activity, obesity and breast feeding. All affected 3rd Sector providers have confirmed 
their acceptance of the 5% saving, public health contract managers continue to provide support to all 
providers.

Initial consultation with provider has taken palce, further discussions are planned.

Consultation with partners and providers have begun in order to realise savings.

Programme budgets removed for area health priorities across ENE, S&E and WNW. Adult public health 
programmes including drugs and alcohol, mental health, sexual health, infection control and fuel 
poverty. Children's public health programmes including obesity, breastfeeding, alcohol, drugs infant 
mortality and oral health.

A combination of reductions in demand, expiry of contracts, ending one-off contributions and activities 
now funded by other contracts or organisations

P
age 310



 

  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategy & 
Improvement

4,825 (430) 4,395 (36) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (36) 36 0

Finance 15,864 (7,025) 8,839 (104) 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 (99) 100 1

Human Resources 8,429 (1,809) 6,620 (103) 0 82 4 (40) 0 0 0 0 (57) 57 0

Information 
Technology 

19,296 (5,925) 13,371 (43) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (43) 43 0

Projects, Programmes 
& Procurement

7,658 (8,248) (590) 41 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 41 (41) 0

Legal Services 4,738 (6,915) (2,177) (29) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (29) 30 1

Democratic Services 4,945 (26) 4,919 (27) 0 0 0 0 0 (14) 0 14 (27) 0 (27)

Total 65,755 (30,378) 35,377 (301) 0 87 4 (40) 0 (14) 0 14 (250) 225 (25)

2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR - QUARTER 1

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall
Budget action plans have been reviewed with each Chief Officer iand at present it is anticipated that all plans will be achieved, therefore the Directorate is currently projected to come in on budget.

Strategy & Improvement
Staff vacancies have resulted in a projected underspend of £36k, though as this post is income generating, there is a corresponding under recovery in income meaning that overall Strategy and Improvement is expected to be 
on target.

Financial Services
Overall Finance Services is expected to be on budget, though this is dependent on achieving significant staffing savings during the rest of the year. 

Human Resources
Staffing costs are underspent due to vacant posts, though this is offset by additional running costs and reduced income from schools.  Overall, the service is expected to be on budget.

Information Technology
Savings on staffing costs due to vacant posts are expected to be offset by reduced income as these posts are income generating.

PPPU
The Unit is currently managing a risk of £614k, mainly due to the loss of income for work on NGT that was expected at the time the budget was compiled. PPPU are currently assessing whether other external income or 
capital work could replace the lost income. At quarter 1, it is assumed that the overspend can be contained either within PPPU or across Strategy and Resources as a whole.

Legal Services
Vacant posts have resulted in a projected underspend on staffing of £29k, though this is offset by a corresponding reduction in recharge income.

Democratic Services
Democratic Services are expected to be £27k underspent due to staff vacancies in Scrutiny Support.

P
age 311



 

  

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations: Lead 
Officer

Action Plan 
Value

RAG
Forecast 
Variation

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1 0.8 G 0.0

2 0.4 G 0.0

3 0.1 G 0.0

4 0.1 G 0.0
5 Catherine Witham 0.1 G 0.0

6 Mariana Pexton 0.4 G 0.0

7 Catherine Witham 0.1 G 0.0

8 Dylan Roberts 0.3 G 0.0

9 0.7 G 0.0

10 Dylan Roberts 0.2 G 0.0

B. Other Significant Variations

Net effect of all other variations (0.03)

(0.03)

Financial services

ICT staffing

ICT

Strategy and Resources Directorate - Forecast Variation

Additional Comments

Legal Services

Corporate Communications and intelligence

Democratic services

ICT procurement savings

Additional income - traded services, partner 
and other income

HR

ICT Print Smart

Efficiencies

PPPU

Further changes to way services provided, self service, less internal audit, 
centralisation.

On-line advice, less HR input into low level cases, ELI and vacancy management

Further efficiencies on top of those delivered in 2015/16

Doug Meeson

Lorraine Hallam

Dylan Roberts

Dylan Roberts

Provision of managed service to WY Joint Services

David Outram

Staffing and efficiency savings, mainly within the Communications Team

Staffing and efficiency savings. Member pension saving

Modernisation of telephony
Significant reduction in Procurement particularly low value procurements. 
Additional external incomeP

age 312



 

  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Business 
Support 
Centre

14,716 (5,375) 9,341 (82) 1 (4) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (85) 85 0

Commercial 
Services

59,588 (56,858) 2,730 677 55 (133) 550 3 0 0 0 0 1,152 (1,152) 0

Facilities 
Management

9,977 (3,955) 6,022 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Corporate 
Property 
Management

5,966 (587) 5,379 103 (103) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 90,247 (66,775) 23,472 698 (47) (137) 550 3 0 0 0 0 1,067 (1,067) 0

2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR - QUARTER 1
CIVIC ENTERPRISE LEEDS (CEL)

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall

At quarter 1 a balanced position is projected for CEL in 2016/17 with anticipated additional spend in commercial  services funded through additional traded income.

P
age 313



 

  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer

Action Plan 
Value

RAG
Forecast 
Variation

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1 Sarah Martin 0.3 G 0.0

2 Sarah Martin 0.6 G 0.0

3 Mandy Snaith 0.1 G 0.0

4 Sarah Martin 0.1 G 0.0

5 Helena Phillips 0.4 G 0.0

6 Terry Pycroft 0.2 G 0.0

7 Richard Jackson 0.2 G 0.0

8 Mandy Snaith 0.1 G 0.0

9 Terry Pycroft 0.0 G 0.0

10 Les Reed 0.1 G 0.0

B. Other Significant Variations

1 Net effect of all other variations 0.0

0.0

Additional MOT income.

Recovery of cleaning charges.

Asset rationalisation

Maintenance of council buildings

Catering Savings

Energy

BBM - admin, mail and print

Additional Comments

Savings from: 1&3 Reginald Terr £29k, Belgrave Hse £60k, Deacon Hse £30k, South 
Pudsey Centre £25k, Tribecca £110k

Significant changes in respect of business processes required to deliver these savings 
across 4 contract areas.

Extend life of light commercial vehicles

Impact of energy efficiency measures

Reduce responsive maintenance

Civic Enterprise Leeds ‐ Forecast Variation

Increase number of MOTs undertaken.

Agency staff

Recovery of charges from clients.

Vehicle Fleet

Recover cost of living wage

Catering additional income. Increased income/efficiencies.

Recover from Property Cleaning.

P
age 314



 

  

Expenditure 
Budget Income Budget

Latest 
Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services Transport

Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments Capital Appropriation

Total 
Expenditure Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategic Accounts (11,480) (32,488) (44,422) 400 1,000 (2,000) (2,700) (3,300) 1,500 (1,800)

Debt 24,380 (1,103) 23,277 1,325 1,325 1,325

Govt Grants 3,015 (26,434) (23,419) 0 (590) (590)

Joint Committees 37,411 0 37,411 0 0

Miscellaneous 2,450 (1,311) 1,139 0 0

Insurance 9,831 (9,831) 0 249 249 (249) 0

Total 65,607 (71,167) (6,014) 400 0 1,249 0 0 0 0 (675) (2,700) (1,726) 661 (1,065)

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS
2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR - QUARTER 1

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall :

At quarter 1, the strategic & central budgets are anticipated to underspend by £1.1m. 

The key variations are;

- Debt - a forecast net pressure of £0.6m due to the conversion of short-term debt to long-term to take advantage of low long-term interest rates and acquisition of strategic assets
- Section 278 income - a potential £1.5m risk due to lower levels of development activity.
- Procurement - a £1m variation which reflects that the procurement savings will be managed through directorate budgets.
- Early Leaver Initiative - a potential £0.4m additional spend over the £2m earmarked reserve.
- Savings of £2m from the additional capitalisation of eligible spend in general fund and school budgets.
- Appropriation of £2.7m of earmarked reserves.
- Savings of £0.7m on the levy contribution to the business rates pool

P
age 315



 

  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer Budget RAG
Forecast 
Variation

A.  Major Budget Issues £m £m

1. Doug Meeson 13.0 A 1.3

2. Doug Meeson 10.3 A 0.0

3. Doug Meeson (19.2) G 0.0

4. Doug Meeson (7.1) A 0.1

5. Doug Meeson (5.2) A 1.5

6. Doug Meeson (3.0) A (1.0)

7. Schools capitalisation target Doug Meeson (2.5) A (1.0)

8. Doug Meeson (1.0) A 1.0

9. David Outram (0.9) A 0.0

10. Early Leaver Initiative Doug Meeson 0.0 A 0.4

B. Other Significant Budgets

1. Doug Meeson 0.0 A (1.0)

2. Doug Meeson 3.0 G (0.7)

3. Doug Meeson (11.9) G 0.0

4. Doug Meeson 0.0 G (1.7)

5. Doug Meeson 0.0 G 0.0

Strategic & Central Accounts - Forecast Variation (1.1)

Debt Costs and External Income Latest projection of increased debt costs due to new long term borrowing. 

Additional Comments

Corporate Savings Target Centrally-held budget savings target.  Actual savings will be shown in Directorate budgets.

Minimum Revenue Provision
The budget assumes the use of £23.4m capital receipts to repay debt. There is a risk that capital 
receipts available to fund this may fall short by up to £6m.

New Homes Bonus No material variation anticipated at this stage in the year

Business Rates  (S31 Grants, Tariff adjustment & EZ) Tariff adjustment £480k and Enterprise zone reliefs £370k not budgeted for.

S278 Contributions
Projection from Capital team is £3m, therefore potential risk of £2.2m depending on development 
activity to the year-end

General capitalisation target
Capitalisation of eligible spend in directorate/service revenue budgets.   No variation anticipated at 
this stage.

Capitalisation of eligible spend in school revenue budgets.

PFI Contract Monitoring Target
Budget held in the strategic accounts pending confirmation of where the reductions in expenditure 
will be achieved

£2m earmarked reserve established to fund the severance costs in 2016/17. 

Insurance Potential additional costs in-year which will be managed through the Insurance Reserve

Business Rates Levy No material variation anticipated at this stage.

Earmarked Reserves Potential additional use of capital reserve & demand/demography reserve

Prudential Borrowing Recharges Contra budgets in directorate/service accounts.  No material variation at this stage.

Other significant variations

P
age 316



 

  

Summary of projected over / under spends (Housing Revenue Account)

Comments

Income £000 £000 £000 £000

Rents (218,415) (218,276) 139                 ‐                                

Service Charges (6,403) (6,517) (114) ‐                               

Other Income (29,161) (29,155) 6                     ‐                                

Total Income (253,979) (253,948) 31                 ‐                                

Expenditure

Disrepair Provision 1,000                      1,000                    ‐                ‐                               

Repairs to Dwellings 43,548                    43,548                    ‐                  ‐                                

Council Tax on Voids 663                         725                         62                   ‐                                

Employees 28,514                    28,444                  (70) ‐                               
Premises 6,983                      7,061                    78                 ‐                               
Supplies & Services 5,781                      5,781                    ‐                ‐                               
Internal Services 37,640                    37,461                  (179) ‐                               
Capital Programme 73,041                    73,041                  ‐                ‐                               
Appropriations (7,115) (7,115) ‐                ‐                               
Unitary Charge PFI 7,575                      7,575                    ‐                ‐                               
Capital Charges 49,159                    49,159                  ‐                ‐                               
Other Expenditure 7,190                      7,140                    (50) ‐                               

Total Expenditure 253,979              253,820              (159) ‐                                

Total Current Month ‐                       (128) (128) ‐                            

Increase in surveyor RTB valuation work £158k. Reduction in the GF recharges to the HRS (£337k)

Reduction in capitalised salaries due to vacant posts £103k, offset by KPI income (£97k)

Additional service charge income (£178k), part‐offset by income from sheltered accommodation £64k

Projected rent lower than budget due to stock numbers being less than anticipated

Increase in cleaning charges
Vacant posts (£238k), offsetting disrepair agency staff £157k. Other variances £11k.

Current charges indicate overspend

Projected Year 
End Spend

Housing Revenue Account
2016/17 Financial Year ‐ Quarter 1

Directorate
Variance to 
budget

Previous period 
variance

Current Budget

Leeds Tenant Federation ‐ in line with 2016/17 negotiations

P
age 317



 

   

P
age 318



Report of the Deputy Chief Executive

Report to Executive Board

Date:  27th July 2016

Subject: Capital Programme 2016-2020 Quarter 1 Update

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Summary of main issues 

1. This report sets out the latest capital programme for both the General Fund and the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  

2. The Council continues to seek to deliver a large capital programme across the city 
which will provide improved facilities and infrastructure and which supports the 
Leeds economy, whilst ensuring the impact on debt costs within the revenue budget 
is managed.  

3. Major schemes continue to progress, with no significant concerns to report at this 
stage. 

4. Whilst the capital programme remains affordable in 2016/17, a wider review will 
consider the continued affordability of debt costs in future years in the context of: 
planned expenditure and pressures in conjunction with the Council’s best plan 
priorities; projections on interest rates; and the Council’s balance sheet to fund 
capital spend. Scheme phasing will continue to be monitored to ensure that it is 
accurate and realistic. 

5. The HRA programme remains affordable over the next 3 years.

Recommendations

Executive Board is requested to:

1. Approve the injection of £0.44m in relation to Capital Receipts to be utilised by 
Ward Councillors under the Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) as detailed 
at Appendix C.

Report author:  Bhupinder Chana
Tel:  0113 39 51332

Page 319

Agenda Item 20



2. Note the latest position on the General Fund and HRA capital programme as at 
Quarter 1 2016/17.

1. Purpose of this report

1.1. The purpose of the report is to provide Members with an update on the capital 
programme as at end of June 2016.  The report includes an update of capital 
resources, progress on spend and a summary of the economic impact of the capital 
programme. 

2. Background information

2.1. The Capital Programme approved by Council in February 2016 projected 
expenditure of £932.5m from 2016/17 to 2018/19.  This included borrowing of 
£370.9m over the period, including £155.0m in 2016/17. 

3. Capital Programme

3.1. Restated Capital Programme – Outturn reported to June 2016 Executive Board. 

3.1.1. Since the approval of the Capital Programme in February 2016, the provisional 
2016/17 accounts have been completed and the position reported to Members as 
part of the June Revenue Outturn Report to Executive Board. Consequently the 
2016/17 and future years capital programme has been restated and the resources 
position has also been updated. Table 1 shows the revised capital programme for 
2016/17 to 2019/20 as at period 3 2016/17.

Table 1: Capital Programme as at period 3 2016/17 – 2019/20

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Forecast Expenditure 441.3 349.0 218.5 60.2 1069.0
Funded By:
LCC Borrowing (See table 3 below for split) 189.8 156.1 83.3 33.8 463.0
Government Grants 124.8 89.9 52.4 25.7 292.8
HRA Self Financing 98.3 81.6 77.7 0.0 257.6
Other grants & contributions 16.9 5.3 0.6 0.7 23.5
HRA Right to Buy Receipts 11.5 16.1 4.5 0.0 32.1
Total Forecast Resources 441.3 349.0 218.5 60.2 1069.0

3.2. Capital Programme Latest Position

3.2.1. The General Fund capital programme currently stands at £729.7m for the period up 
to 2019/20.  It provides for investment in improved facilities and infrastructure and 
also has an impact on the Leeds economy through supporting jobs and income and 
business generated throughout the city.  The HRA capital programme provides for 
capital investment of £339.3m for the 3 years 2016/17 through to 2018/19.  

3.2.2. The latest capital programme resources position for General Fund and HRA in 
2016/17 is shown in Table 2 below.

Page 320



Table 2: Capital Resources Position

Restated 
Capital 

programme 
as at outturn 

May 2016

Period 3 as at 
June 2016

£m £m
Forecast Expenditure 365.1 441.3
Funded By:
Borrowing 134.4 189.8
Government Grants 103.9 124.8
HRA Self Financing 98.3 98.3
Other grants & contributions 17.0 16.9
Right to Buy Receipts 11.5 11.5
Total Forecast Resources 365.1 441.3

2016/17

3.2.3. Table 2 shows that since outturn 2015/16 to period 3 2016/17 there has been an 
increase in borrowing of £55.4m mainly attributable to the Strategic Investment 
Fund which was injected at June’s 2016 Executive Board. This additional borrowing 
is supported by income streams.

3.2.4. Overall the level of borrowing required to fund the full 2016-20 capital programme is 
£463m an increase of £88.9m since Outturn 2015/16 reported to EB in June 2016. 
82% or £379m of borrowing relates to capital expenditure that is funded by 
additional income or generates revenue savings or ensures that our assets are 
maintained to an acceptable standard.  The remaining 18% or £84m  supports the 
Best Council Plan objectives  The split of LCC borrowing for the full programme is 
shown in the pie chart below.

Graph 1: LCC Borrowing Split 2016-2020 

Page 321



3.2.5. The Social and Emotional, Mental Health (SEMH) programme detail is set out in a 
report elsewhere on this boards agenda and makes provision for an additional 
£28.7m of LCC borrowing supported by income streams, along with current basic 
need grant of £15m. By utilising basic need grant for the SEMH programme the 
projected funding gap on the Learning Places Programme rises from the £67.5m 
reported to June 2016 Executive Board, to £82.5m. This pressure is not reflected in 
the capital programme. Work continues on identifying changes to the demographic 
pressure for secondary school places.

3.2.6. Appendix A details projected spend in 2016/17 of £441.3m. Graph 2 below shows 
that the % rate of actual spend 11.2% to period 3 as a percentage of total projected 
in year spend is slightly lower than the previous year at this point. This is mainly 
attributable to major schemes expected to spend later in the financial year. 

Graph 2: Percentage spend rates per quarter 

13.3% 8.4% 8.8%
14.8% 11.2%

25.6%

20.0% 23.5%
21.9%

22.9%

24.2%
29.1% 25.4%

38.2%
47.3%

38.7% 37.9%

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

Qtr
1
Qtr
2
Qtr
3
Qtr
4

Total Capital expenditure 2012/13 - 2016/17

3.2.7. A review of current scheme profiles taking account of the capacity to deliver the 
capital programme is being undertaken on a monthly basis. This ongoing review 
ensures that the capital programme continues to be aligned to the strategic priorities 
of the Council.  

3.2.8. The cost of funding the capital programme remains affordable and within the agreed 
2016/17 debt budget.  Brexit has createdconsiderable unceratinity in the financial 
markets, however the cost of debt is now expected to reduce and stay low for 
longer than previously anticipated.  The debt projections will continue to be adjusted 
for changes in the level of borrowing required to fund the capital programme, 
interest rates and the strength of the Councils balance sheet.  The affordability of 
debt will continue to be monitored and assessed in the context of the medium term 
financial strategy. 

Page 322



3.2.9. The February 2016 Capital Programme update report 2016-2020 detailed the major 
schemes within the capital programme and they continue to progress with no major 
concerns to report at this stage.  An update on these annual programmes and major 
schemes is provided in appendix B(i) and (ii) and a further detailed update on 
individual schemes and pressures will be provided in the Quarter 2 update report to 
the board in November 2016. 

3.2.10. Members are asked to note that there are a number of other capital related 
reports elsewhere on the agenda. 

3.3. Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme

The establishment of a Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) was approved by 
Executive Board in October 2011.  The key feature of the scheme is that 20% of 
each receipt generated will be retained locally for re-investment, subject to a 
maximum per receipt of £100k, with 15% retained by the respective Ward and 5% 
pooled across the Council and distributed to Wards on the basis of need via 
community committees.  

Some receipts are excluded from the scheme and these are largely receipts that are 
already assumed to fund the Council’s budget or are earmarked in some other way 
to previous or future spend.

3.3.1. Appendix C details the additional CRIS allocations to wards and community 
committees for the period October to March 2016 of £0.44m and identifies the total 
balance available as at 30th June 2016 of £1.95m. A further CRIS injection will be 
included within the Q2 November 2016 report for April-September 2016 
completions.

4. Economic Impact of the Capital Programme

4.1. Members will recall that the February 2016 Capital Programme update included 
details of the Economic Impact Assessment of the Council’s capital programme 
investment on the Leeds economy. The key points being:

 An estimated peak of 3,943 net additional FTE job roles in Leeds will be 
created over the three years through Leeds City Council capital expenditure 
generating over £755m Gross Value Added (GVA) for the Leeds economy.

 In addition a further net additional 770 jobs and £93m GVA will be created in 
the wider Leeds City Region by our capital expenditure 

 In total, it is therefore estimated that Leeds City Council capital expenditure 
between 2016/17 and 2018/19 will create a peak of 4,713 FTE jobs and 
generate £848m GVA in the Leeds City Region.

4.2. In addition to the use of the Regional Econometric Model (REM)  to determine the 
effect on the economy, further analysis is ongoing to assess the impact employment 
and skills obligations within Council contracts have on jobs and apprenticeships.

4.3. There are no material changes within the programme which have impacted on the 
figures in 4.1 since the February capital Programme report was presented to board. 
A further updated economic impact model will be presented to Executive Board 
including chages up to period 6 in November 2016.

Page 323



5. Corporate Considerations

5.1. Consultation and Engagement 

There has been no external consultation in respect to the recommendations of this 
report as it is not considered appropriate. Consultation on the Council’s budget 
proposals, including the capital programme, took place prior to the finalisation and 
approval of the budget in February 2016.  

5.2. Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

The capital programme sets out a plan of capital expenditure over future years and 
further spending decisions are taken in accordance with capital approval processes, 
as projects are developed.  This is when more detailed information will be available 
as to where in the city capital spending will be incurred and the impact on services, 
buildings and people. Service Directorates will include equality considerations as 
part of the rationale in determining specific projects from capital budgets.

5.3. Council Policies and Best Council Plan

Capital objectives were set out as part of the February 2016 budget process and the 
capital programme approved in February 2016 is structured to show schemes under 
these objectives.

5.4. Resources and value for money

5.4.1. The resource implications of this report are detailed in section 3.2 above. 

5.4.2. For the capital programme to be sustainable, the Deputy Chief Executive must be 
satisfied that the cost of borrowing currently included in the capital programme can 
be contained within the approved revenue debt budget.  The updated capital 
resources position statement set out in Appendix A shows that the cost of borrowing 
for 2016/17 can currently be contained within the agreed 2016/17 debt budget. 

5.4.3. For HRA, the position as outlined at Appendix A shows that expenditure can be 
managed within resources available.   

5.4.4. In order to ensure that schemes meet Council priorities and are value for money, 
the Deputy Chief Executive has put processes in place to ensure:

 the introduction of new schemes into the capital programme will only take 
place after completion and approval of a full business case and identification 
of the required resources;  

 promotion of best practice in capital planning and estimating to ensure that 
scheme estimates and programmes are realistic;

 the use of departmental unsupported borrowing for spend to save schemes 
is based on individual business cases and in the context of identifying the 
revenue resources to meet the borrowing costs.

5.5. Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

There are no legal implications arising from this report.

Page 324



5.6. Risk Management

5.6.1. One of the main risks in managing the capital programme is that insufficient 
resources are available to fund the programme.  As the capital programme is now 
fully funded this risk lays within the treasury management of the debt budget.  
Monthly monitoring procedures are in place for expenditure, resources and capital 
receipts and debt monitoring to ensure that this risk can be managed effectively.

5.6.2. In addition, the following measure are in place:

 ensuring written confirmation of external funding is received prior to 
contractual commitments being entered into

 provision of a contingency within the capital programme to deal with 
unforeseen circumstances

 compliance with both financial regulations and contract procedure rules to 
ensure the Council’s position is protected.

5.6.3. New capital expenditure continues to be directed towards schemes that are fully 
funded (either by external resources or departmental prudential borrowing), or are 
essential (on health and safety grounds or in order to ensure Council assets are 
maintained for continued service provision).  

6 Conclusions

6.1 The Council continues to seek to deliver a substantial capital programme across the 
city which will deliver improved facilities and infrastructure and also support the 
Leeds economy. The capital resources position statement shows an increase in the 
level of borrowing required to fund the 2016-19 capital programme of £60.2m to 
£434.3m since Outturn 2015/16.  The cost of borrowing for 2016/17 programme can 
currently be contained within the approved debt budget.  A review of current 
scheme profiles taking account of the capacity to deliver the capital programme is 
undertaken on a monthly basis. This ongoing review ensures that the capital 
programme continues to be aligned to the strategic priorities of the Council. For the 
HRA, forecast expenditure can be contained within available resources in 2016/17.

7 Recommendations 

Executive Board is requested to:

7.1 Approve the injection of £0.44m in relation to Capital Receipts to be utilised by 
Ward Councillors under the Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) as detailed 
at Appendix C 

7.2 Note the latest position on the General Fund and HRA capital programmes.

Appendices
A – Capital Programme Resource Statement
B(i) – Annual programmes
B(ii) – Major programmes 
C – Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) funding statement

Background documents1 

Page 325



None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.

Page 326



Appendix  A

Whole Authority Capital Programme Funding Statement 2016/17 to 2019/20 Period 3
 

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

EXPENDITURE

GENERAL FUND (GF)
IMPROVING OUR ASSETS 156.0 71.4 50.8 19.5 297.7

INVESTING IN MAJOR INFRASTRUCTURE 28.2 12.7 8.6 10.4 59.8

SUPPORTING SERVICE PROVISION 66.2 97.6 49.6 19.1 232.6

INVESTING IN NEW TECHNOLOGY 8.9 6.2 5.3 0.3 20.7

SUPPORTING THE LEEDS ECONOMY 40.3 15.3 10.8 1.9 68.3

CENTRAL & OPERATIONAL EXPENDITURE 17.8 12.6 11.2 9.0 50.6

TOTAL ESTIMATED SPEND ON GF 317.4 215.7 136.3 60.2 729.7
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)
IMPROVING OUR ASSETS - COUNCIL HOUSING 123.8 133.3 82.2 0.0 339.3

TOTAL ESTIMATED SPEND ON HRA 123.8 133.3 82.2 0.0 339.3

TOTAL ESTIMATED SPEND 441.3 349.0 218.5 60.2 1,069.0
RESOURCES

GENERAL FUND (GF)
Specific Resources

GOVERNMENT GRANTS 119.8 84.6 52.4 25.7 282.5

OTHER GRANTS 12.0 5.0 0.6 0.7 18.2
Corporate Resources

BORROWING - Corporate 105.9 87.2 56.8 22.2 272.1

BORROWING - Departmental 79.8 39.0 26.5 11.6 156.9

CAP.  RESOURCES REQD FOR GF 317.4 215.7 136.3 60.2 729.7
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)
Specific Resources

HRA SELF FINANCING 98.3 81.6 77.7 0.0 257.6

R.T.B. CAPITAL RECEIPTS 11.5 16.1 4.5 0.0 32.0

GOVERNMENT GRANTS 5.0 5.3 0.0 0.0 10.3

OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS 5.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 5.3

BORROWING - Departmental 4.1 29.9 0.0 0.0 34.0

CAP.  RESOURCES REQD FOR HRA 123.8 133.3 82.2 0.0 339.3

TOTAL CAP.  RESOURCES REQD 441.3 349.0 218.5 60.2 1,069.0

BORROWING REQUIRED TO FUND THIS PROGRAMME 189.8 156.1 83.3 33.8 463.0

Average Interest rate (subject to change) 0.60% 1.00% 1.5% 2.0%

Page 327



 
Annual Programmes Appendix B(i)

2016/17 
£000

2017/18 
£000

2018/19 
£000

2019/20 
£000

Total       
£000

Improving Our Assets
Highways Maintenance 12,475.0 12,000.0 12,000.0 36,475.0
Corporate  Property Maintenance 1,500.0 1,500.0 1,500.0 4,500.0
General Refurbishment Schools 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 4,000.0
Demolition 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 3,000.0
Heritage Assets 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 3,000.0
Schools capital expenditure 1,286.2 400.00 400.0 466 2,551.7
Library Books 750.0 700.0 700.0 2,150.0
Sports Maintenance 500.0 500.0 500.0 1,500.0
Civic Hall Backlog Maintenance 250.0 250.0 250.0 750.0
Traffic Management Programme 200.0 200.0 200.0 600.0
Improving our assets other 5,245.8 (372.40) (6.0) 65 4,932.4

25,207.0 18,177.6 18,544.0 1,530.5 63,459.1

Supporting Service Provision
Adaptations - DFG supported by external funding 6,953.3 6,950.0 6,950.0 20,853.3
Telecare (ASC) 400.0 600.0 700.0 1,700.0
Adaptation to Private Homes outside of scope 400.0 400.0 400.0 1,200.0

7,753.3 7,950.0 8,050.0 0.0 23,753.3

Investing In New Technology
Essential Services Programme 4,389.7 4,100.0 4,100.0 12,589.7

4,389.7 4,100.0 4,100.0 0.0 12,589.7

Supporting The Leeds Economy
Project Support Fund - Groundwork 70.0 70.0 70.0 210.0

Central & Operational Expenditure
General Capitalisation 4,900.0 4,900.0 4,900.0 14,700.0
Vehicle Programme 11,693.8 6,506.8 3,000.0 2,145.4 23,346.0
Capital Programme Management 600.0 600.0 600.0 1,800.0
Capitalisation Interest 300.0 300.0 199.9 799.9

17,493.8 12,306.8 8,699.9 2,145.4 40,645.9

Total Annual Programmes 2016/17  to 2018/2019 54,913.8 42,604.4 39,463.9 3,675.9 140,658.0

* The annual programmes for 2019/20 will be injected as part of the Q2 report to Novembers Executive Board

Page 328



Major Programmes & Other Directorate Schemes Appendix B(ii)
2016/17 

£000
2017/18 

£000
2018/19 

£000
2019/20 

£000
Total       
£000

Improving our assets - Council Housing
HRA Housing Leeds Refurbishment & BITMO 86,645.8 84,088.9 82,220.8 0.0 252,955.5
HRA Council Housing Growth 37,184.9 49,177.8 0.0 0.0 86,362.7
Improving our assets - General Fund
Changing the Workplace 1 & 2 24,228.1 19,797.1 10,757.0 0.0 54,782.2
Strategic Investment Fund - Acquisitions 49,246.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 49,246.9
Childrens - Capital Maintenance 10,707.8 8,257.6 8,037.1 14,716.6 41,719.1
Highways & Transport Package - Local Transport Plan 10,198.6 7,285.7 7,030.0 0.0 24,514.3
Bridges and Structures 8,134.8 4,493.4 2,500.0 0.0 15,128.2
Section 278 and Section 106 Highways schemes 6,432.5 5,326.6 2,076.6 866.0 14,701.7
Whinmoor Nursery, Parks and Countryside 9,669.7 12.4 0.0 0.0 9,682.1
Elland Road & Aire Valley Park and Ride 7,551.8 1,050.0 0.0 0.0 8,601.8
Childrens - Devolved Formula Capital 1,870.6 1,626.0 1,626.0 1,126.0 6,248.6
Community Hubs Phase 2 1,708.7 2,308.7 0.0 0.0 4,017.4
East Leeds Orbital Ringroad Highways works 1,532.7 500.0 0.0 0.0 2,032.7
Highways Adoption of 32 Roads 584.2 845.8 70.0 1,500.0
Other smaller schemes within the objective (1,088.9) 1,741.0 109.4 1,265.3 2,026.8

254,608.2 186,511.0 114,426.9 17,973.9 573,520.0
Investing in Major Infrastructure
Flood Alleviation Works 16,526.1 4,479.0 4,910.0 710.0 26,625.1
Cycle City Ambition 5,173.8 6,000.0 2,104.2 0.0 13,278.0
* New Generation Transport (NGT) 1,000.0 0.0 0.0 9,315.4 10,315.4
Highways Major Schemes including Inner Ring Road Tunnel 1,359.7 1,415.8 1,540.6 0.0 4,316.1
East Leeds Extension - Land acquisition 1,744.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,744.6
Other smaller schemes within the objective 2,433.1 791.5 0.0 335.5 3,560.1

28,237.3 12,686.3 8,554.8 10,360.9 59,839.3
Supporting Service Provision
Childrens - Learning Places (Basic Need) 46,041.4 68,905.6 23,118.4 8,161.2 146,226.6
Social Care and Health Fund 687.0 8,513.0 7,250.0 8,550.0 25,000.0
District Heating Network 1,000.0 10,000.0 10,000.0 21,000.0
Kirkstall Rd HWSS 4,247.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 4,247.3
Private sector Renewal - Equity Loans 1,014.8 639.6 790.4 889.0 3,333.8
Other smaller schemes within the objective 5,466.2 1,607.1 436.0 1,494.6 9,003.9

58,456.7 89,665.3 41,594.8 19,094.8 208,811.6
Investing in New Technology
Customer Access Phase 1 & 2 1,493.6 1,190.5 1,175.0 344.4 4,203.5
ASC Care Act Implementation 798.0 674.4 0.0 0.0 1,472.4
Other smaller schemes within the objective 2,195.3 200.0 47.7 0.0 2,443.0

4,486.9 2,064.9 1,222.7 344.4 8,118.9
Supporting the Leeds Economy
Aire Valley Enterprise Zone 14,894.5 3,000.0 5,760.0 0.0 23,654.5
Kirkgate Market Strategy 7,754.7 1,533.0 0.0 0.0 9,287.7
City Region Revolving Infrastructure 2,100.0 2,100.0 2,030.5 0.0 6,230.5
Town & District, Townscape Heritage Initiative 1,967.8 525.4 1,670.0 1,055.6 5,218.8
Digital Business Incubator 1,700.0 2,000.0 0.0 0.0 3,700.0
Grand Theatre, West Yorkshire Playhouse and YCCC 4,256.0 4,125.0 8,381.0
Logic Leeds Spine road 1,000.0 600.0 0.0 1,600.0
SCIP & Group Repair 1,126.1 0.0 0.0 67.4 1,193.5
Other smaller schemes within the objective 5,471.9 1,297.7 1,276.2 800.2 8,846.0

40,271.0 15,181.1 10,736.7 1,923.2 68,112.0
Central & Operational Expenditure
Contingency General 300.0 300.0 300.0 5,817.1 6,717.1
Contingency Children's Basic Need 0.0 0.0 2,198.2 0.0 2,198.2
Contingency Specific Emergencies 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,000.0 1,000.0

300.0 300.0 2,498.2 6,817.1 9,915.3

Total Major Programmes & Other Directorate schemes 386,360.1 306,408.6 179,034.1 56,514.3 928,317.1

Annual Programmes  (See Appendix B(i) ) 54,913.8 42,604.4 39,463.9 3,675.9 140,658.0
Total Annual & Major Programmes 441,273.9 349,013.0 218,498.0 60,190.2 1,068,975.1
* Remains within the programme until full implications known.

Page 329



Appendix C

 Additional CRIS Injections to WBI & Community Committees and Total Balance Available

Ward Based Initiative (WBI) Allocations
Initial WBI 

Allocation from 
2008

CRIS Injection
to Sept '15
15% WBI

CRIS Injection 
Mar '16

15% WBI

Total CRIS 
Injection

Total WBI 
Allocation

Spent / 
Committed

(as at June '16)

Total Balance 
Available 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
ADEL AND WHARFEDALE 40.0 32.7 0.0 32.7 72.7 50.0 22.7
ALWOODLEY 40.0 95.9 0.0 95.9 135.9 83.6 52.3
ARDSLEY AND ROBIN HOOD 40.0 19.5 0.0 19.5 59.5 27.0 32.5
ARMLEY 40.0 12.0 13.4 25.4 65.4 21.8 43.6
BEESTON AND HOLBECK 40.0 24.2 0.0 24.2 64.2 26.0 38.2
BRAMLEY AND STANNINGLEY 40.0 52.1 30.1 82.2 122.2 40.7 81.5
BURMANTOFTS AND RICHMOND HILL 40.0 38.4 9.6 48.0 88.0 45.4 42.6
CALVERLEY AND FARSLEY 40.0 45.3 0.0 45.3 85.3 65.0 20.3
CHAPEL ALLERTON 40.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 40.0 40.0 0.0
CITY AND HUNSLET 40.0 34.1 73.7 107.8 147.8 3.0 144.8
CROSSGATES AND WHINMOOR 40.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 40.0 28.4 11.6
FARNLEY AND WORTLEY 40.0 46.5 15.4 61.9 101.9 86.5 15.4
GARFORTH AND SWILLINGTON 40.0 12.6 2.5 15.1 55.1 49.4 5.7
GIPTON AND HAREHILLS 40.0 86.7 74.5 161.2 201.2 123.6 77.6
GUISELEY AND RAWDON 40.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 40.0 40.0 0.0
HAREWOOD 40.0 51.6 0.0 51.6 91.6 38.6 53.0
HEADINGLEY 40.0 176.6 0.0 176.6 216.6 93.2 123.4
HORSFORTH 40.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 40.0 40.0 0.0
HYDE PARK AND WOODHOUSE 40.0 217.9 0.0 217.9 257.9 15.5 242.4
KILLINGBECK AND SEACROFT 40.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 40.0 40.0 0.0
KIPPAX AND METHLEY 40.0 10.8 0.0 10.8 50.8 38.7 12.1
KIRKSTALL 40.0 42.4 0.0 42.4 82.4 45.4 37.0
MIDDLETON PARK 40.0 25.4 0.0 25.4 65.4 44.9 20.5
MOORTOWN 40.0 0.0 45.4 45.4 85.4 39.1 46.3
MORLEY NORTH 40.0 4.8 0.0 4.8 44.8 32.5 12.3
MORLEY SOUTH 40.0 26.9 0.0 26.9 66.9 39.2 27.7
OTLEY AND YEADON 40.0 3.6 19.3 22.9 62.9 43.6 19.3
PUDSEY 40.0 102.2 0.0 102.2 142.2 30.6 111.6
ROTHWELL 40.0 49.8 12.7 62.5 102.5 40.0 62.5
ROUNDHAY 40.0 32.4 0.0 32.4 72.4 57.7 14.7
TEMPLE NEWSAM 40.0 34.7 16.2 50.9 90.9 25.9 65.0
WEETWOOD 40.0 74.1 16.6 90.7 130.7 64.6 66.1
WETHERBY 40.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 40.0 40.0 0.0
TOTALs 1,320.0 1,353.2 329.4 1,682.6 3,002.6 1,499.9 1,502.7

Community Committee Allocations

Area

Percentage CRIS Injection
to Sept '15

5% AWB

CRIS Injection
to Mar '16

5% AWB

Total CRIS 
Injection
5% AWB

Transfer from 
ACW Residual 

schemes

Spent / 
Committed

(as at June '16)

Balance on
ACW CRIS

% £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
INNER SOUTH 12.72% 56.5 14.0 70.5 4.8 0.0 75.3
OUTER SOUTH 10.31% 46.2 11.3 57.5 5.4 17.0 45.9
OUTER EAST 10.20% 46.5 11.2 57.7 1.3 11.0 48.0
INNER WEST 10.97% 36.1 12.0 48.1 0.0 26.5 21.6
INNER NORTH WEST 8.46% 52.3 9.3 61.6 4.1 41.4 24.3
OUTER WEST 8.73% 38.8 9.6 48.4 10.0 21.4 37.0
OUTER NORTH WEST 8.81% 40.3 9.7 50.0 42.0 26.2 65.8
INNER NORTH WEST 8.85% 40.6 9.7 50.3 0.4 17.5 33.2
INNER EAST 14.83% 65.9 16.3 82.2 10.6 22.6 70.2
OUTER NORTH EAST 6.11% 28.1 6.7 34.8 0.5 13.5 21.8
TOTALs 100.00% 451.3 109.8 561.1 79.1 197.1 443.1

Total CRIS Injection Mar '16 439.2

Page 330



 

 

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive 

Report to the Executive Board 

Date: 27th July 2016 

Subject: Annual Risk Management Report 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  
1. Our vision is for Leeds to be the best city in the UK: one that is compassionate with a 

strong economy that tackles poverty and reduces the inequalities that still exist. A 
corporate risk is something that, if it occurred, could impact on this vision and our best 
city and best council ambitions. It is essential that we understand, manage and 
communicate the range of risks that could threaten the city and the vital services 
provided by the council, so that we’re better placed to prevent them from happening 
and to reduce the impact if they do.   

2. This annual report updates the Executive Board on the nine most significant risks 
currently on the corporate risk register and summarises their level of risk and the 
arrangements in place to manage them, including the accountable executive member 
and director.  This summary report is supplemented by a more detailed annual 
assurance report covering each of the nine risks that is publicly available through the 
council’s website. 

Recommendations 
Executive Board is asked to note the annual risk management report and the 
assurances given on the council’s most significant corporate risks.  

 

 Report authors:  Coral Main & 
Tim Rollett 
Tel:  39 51571/2 

Page 331

Agenda Item 21



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 
1.1 This annual report updates the Executive Board on the council’s most significant 

corporate risks and summarises the arrangements in place to manage them and 
further work planned.  The assurances provided are an important source of 
evidence for the Annual Governance Statement, due to be signed by the Council 
Leader in September. 

2 Background information 
2.1 The previous annual corporate risk management report was provided to Executive 

Board on 15 July 2015.  Since then, the corporate risk register has continued to 
be reviewed and updated in accordance with the council’s Risk Management 
Policy and in line with the Best Council Plan outcomes and priorities.  The 
remainder of this report focuses on the management of the most significant risks 
currently on the corporate risk register.     

2.2 It is supplemented by the annual assurance report on the council’s risk 
management arrangements considered on 24th June 2016 by the Corporate 
Governance and Audit Committee.  The Audit Committee report focuses on the 
policies, procedures, systems and processes in place to manage risks at 
corporate, directorate, service and project levels.  No issues were identified. 

2.3 With regard specifically to corporate risks, in April 2016 KPMG issued a report on 
their analysis of local authority corporate risk registers (including that of Leeds 
City Council).  The review considered the most frequently featured risks across 
local authorities’ registers to enable organisations to consider whether any 
potential risks should be added to their own registers and whether they are given 
sufficient priority. It also considered the arrangements in place to maintain and 
review registers against 6 criteria: 

• Are risks scored on impact and probability / likelihood 
• Are risks allocated to lead officers 
• Are mitigating controls in place 
• Does the register identify movement of risk 
•  Is there clarity on when specific risks will be reviewed 
• Are risks allocated to leading members 

2.4 KPMG concluded that Leeds’ corporate risk register compares well to those of 
other comparable councils and complied with all the criteria above except ‘risks 
allocated to members’.  This has now been actioned with all corporate risks 
assigned to the relevant lead portfolio member. 

3 Main issues 
Corporate Risk Management 

3.1 The council’s risks stem from a variety of sources, many of which are out of our 
direct control: for example, global events such as an economic downturn and 
climate change present immediate as well as longer-term challenges.  Closer to 
home, we often have to respond quickly to changes in government policy and 
must also recognise and meet the evolving needs of our communities, particularly 
those of vulnerable people.  Such changes, and the uncertainties they may bring, 
can pose threats that we need to address but also bring opportunities to exploit.   
Both aspects of risk management rely on the council working effectively with 
partners across the public, private and third sectors. 

Page 332



 

 

3.2 All council risks are managed via a continuous process of identification, 
assessment, evaluation, action planning and review, embedded at strategic and 
operational levels and for programmes and projects.  All staff and elected 
members have responsibility for managing risks relevant to their areas, including 
Scrutiny Boards, Community Committees and partnership boards.   

3.3 This annual report considers the strategic level: the arrangements in place to 
manage the council’s corporate risks.  Corporate risks are those of significant, 
strategic importance that require the attention of the council’s most senior 
managers and elected members.  Each of the corporate risks has one or more 
named ‘risk owner(s)’, members of the Corporate Leadership Team and a lead 
portfolio member who are accountable for their management.  The Executive 
Board as a whole retains ultimate responsibility. 

3.4 Each corporate risk has a current rating based on a combined assessment of how 
likely the risk is to occur – its probability - and its potential impact after considering 
the controls already put in place.  When evaluating the impact of a risk we 
consider the range of consequences that could result: effects on the local 
community, staff, the services we provide, any cost implications and whether the 
risk could prevent us meeting our statutory and legal requirements.   

3.5 A consistent ‘5x5’ scoring mechanism is used to carry out this assessment of 
probability and impact which ensures that the risks are rated in the same way.  
Target ratings are also applied for each risk that show the lowest scores possible 
for the risk.  These are used to compare the gap between ‘where the risk is now’ 
to ‘how low the risk can go’ and so help determine whether additional actions are 
needed to manage the risk down to the target level. There are some risks that, 
whilst the council can manage their probability down to low levels, the impact, 
should it arise, will always be high. These ‘red’ rated risks reflect the high priority 
afforded to them by the council should they arise.   

3.6 Action plans are in place for all risks in line with their ratings: the greater the risk, 
the more we try to do to manage it if it is in our control and if that would be the 
best use of resources.  The council recognises that the cost and time involved in 
managing the risk down to nothing may not always be the best use of public 
money and we factor this in when developing our risk management action plans.  
The risks are reviewed and updated regularly through horizon scanning, 
benchmarking and in response to findings from inspections and audits, 
government policy changes and engagement with staff and the public.  The 
council’s corporate risk register is formally reviewed each quarter by the 
Corporate Leadership Team and, since February 2016, the latest corporate risk 
map has then been made publicly available via the Leeds Observatory and also 
published on the council’s Intranet risk management webpage.   

3.7 The nature of risks is that they come and go as the environment changes.  
However, there are a set of ‘standing’ corporate risks that will always face the 
council and which are the focus of the annual risk management report: 
• Safeguarding Children 
• Safeguarding Adults 
• Health and Safety 
• City Resilience 
• Council Resilience 
• Financial management: this risk covers in-year and longer-term financial forecasting 
• Information Safeguarding 

Page 333



 

 

3.8 They can be roughly split into two types: those that could principally affect the city 
and people of Leeds and others that relate more to the way we run our 
organisation internally.  An example of a ‘city’ risk includes a major disruptive 
incident in Leeds or breach in the safeguarding arrangements that help protect 
vulnerable people; these are often managed in partnership with a range of other 
organisations.  An example of a more internal ‘council’ risk is a major, prolonged 
failure of the ICT network.   

3.9 The annual report discusses these ‘standing’ corporate risks plus two additional 
risks currently of high significance - air quality and major flooding - in more detail 
and provides assurance on how the council, often in partnership, is managing 
them.   The full report is available on the council’s website and summarised at 
Appendix 1. 

EU Referendum 
3.10 At the time of writing, the country faces a period of political, fiscal and economic 

uncertainty following the results of June’s EU referendum with potentially wide-
ranging implications/uncertainties.  The effects for local government and local 
communities will emerge over the coming months and years with possible risks – 
including opportunities - at this point in time around the economic outlook 
impacting on levels of trade and investment; rising inflation; interest rate volatility; 
the labour market; and the UK’s legislative and regulatory framework.   

3.11 In response, the corporate risk around ‘economic growth lag, increasing 
inequalities’ has been raised and is now at a similarly significant level as the other 
nine corporate risks reported here.  A specific assurance report has not been 
prepared for inclusion in this annual corporate risk report due to timing issues; 
however, the Board is referred to a related report on today’s agenda, ‘Leeds City 
Council’s initial response to the referendum on the UK’s membership of the EU’ 
for further information.  

3.12 Work will continue through the authority’s ongoing risk management processes to 
assess, evaluate and mitigate any potential impacts to the council and the city and 
the corporate risk register updated.  At the request of the Corporate Governance 
& Audit Committee at its meeting 24th June 2016, a report providing assurance on 
the arrangements in place to identify and manage any risks emerging as a 
consequence of the vote to leave the EU will be provided later this year.   

4 Corporate Considerations 
4.1 Consultation and Engagement  
4.1.1 The corporate risk assurances have been subject to consultation with key officers 

for each objective / risk respectively, the Corporate Leadership Team and portfolio 
members.   

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 
4.2.1 This is an assurance report with no decision required.  Due regard is therefore not 

directly relevant. 
4.3 Council policies and the Best Council Plan 
4.3.1 The risk management arrangements in place support compliance with the 

council’s Risk Management Policy and Code of Corporate Governance, through 

Page 334



 

 

which, under Principle 4, the authority should take ‘informed and transparent 
decisions which are subject to effective scrutiny and risk management’.   

4.3.2 Effective management of the range of risks that could impact upon the city and the 
council supports the delivery of all Best Council Plan outcomes and priorities. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  
4.4.1 All council risks are managed proportionately, factoring in the value for money use 

of resources.  
4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 
4.5.1 The council’s risk management arrangements support the authority’s compliance 

with the statutory requirement under the Accounts & Audit Regulations 2011 to 
have ‘a sound system of internal control which facilitates the effective exercise of 
that body’s functions and which includes arrangements for the management of 
risk.’   

4.5.2 Both the detailed assurances on the management of the council’s most significant 
risks and assurances on the council’s risk management arrangements are publicly 
available through the council’s website.  In addition, the latest corporate risk map 
will continue to be published. 

4.5.3 This report is subject to call in. 

4.6 Risk Management 
4.6.1 This report supports the council’s Risk Management Framework in providing 

assurances on the managing of the authority’s most significant risks.  

5 Conclusions 
5.1 The corporate risk register houses the council’s most significant risks that could 

impact upon our Best City / Best Council ambitions, outcomes and priorities.  
Robust and proportionate arrangements are in place to mitigate the risks, 
considering both the probability of each risk materialising and the consequences if 
it did.  Assurances on the nine most significant risks, including the seven ‘standing 
risks’ are given through this annual corporate risk management report  and 
provide an important source of evidence for the Annual Governance Statement 
due to be signed by the Council Leader in September.   

6 Recommendations 
6.1 Executive Board is asked to note the annual risk management report and the 

assurances given on the council’s most significant corporate risks.  

7 Background documents1  
7.1 There are no background documents. 

 
 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, unless they 
contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include published works. 

Page 335



 
 

Better risk management.  Better decisions.   
Better outcomes. 

 
 

Corporate Risk Management 

Appendix 1: Summary assurances on the management of the council’s most 
significant risks 

1. Safeguarding Children 
Local authorities have a legal duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  These duties 
fall within the remit of the Director of Children’s Services under section 18 of the Children Act 2004.  
Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children covers protecting children from maltreatment, 
preventing impairment of children’s health or development, and ensuring that children are growing 
up in circumstances that are consistent with the provision of safe and effective care.  This duty 
places important responsibilities on local authorities, both directly through providing or 
commissioning safeguarding services such as children’s social work, but also strategically, through 
their responsibility as the lead agency for promoting better joint working between all local services 
and communities. 

The potential consequence of a significant failure in safeguarding is that a child or young person 
could be seriously harmed, abused or die.  Secondary effects of this include reputational damage, 
legal and financial costs and management and staffing time.  The council is strongly committed to 
improving the safeguarding of children and young people and this is a clear priority in our Best 
Council Plan and partnership plans. The most thorough independent assurance for this risk was the 
external inspection by Ofsted in early 2015: Leeds was rated as ‘good’ overall with the ‘leadership 
and management’ sub area receiving an ‘outstanding’ rating.    

Corporate risk 

Risk description Risk of harm, accident or death to a child linked to failure of the council to act appropriately 
according to safeguarding arrangements. 

Accountability 
Officer Director of Children’s Services 

Executive member Councillor Mulherin - Executive member for Children and Families 

Evaluation 
Current Probability: 3 (Possible), Impact 5 (Highly significant).  Overall rating: Very 

high 

Target Probability: 3 (Possible), Impact 5 (Highly significant).  Overall rating: Very 
high 

2. Safeguarding Adults 
Local authorities have a legal duty under the Care Act 2014 to safeguard adults at risk of abuse and 
neglect and to make enquires about any such allegations with the Director of Adult Social Services 
in each local authority area charged with leading partnership arrangements.  This is enacted 
through a Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) that consists of three core statutory partners: the local 
authority, the NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and the Police.  

The main consequence of a significant failure in safeguarding is that an adult at risk suffers violent 
abuse, serious harm and/or ultimately death. This would be a failure in the local authority’s legal and 
ethical duty in safeguarding its citizens. The consequences that could impact on the city council 
and/or the city if safeguarding processes are not followed include reputational damage, legal and 
financial costs (such as the payment of compensation) and also management and staffing time.   

In Leeds, the independently chaired SAB works closely across a number of strategic partnerships to 
manage this risk, specifically the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB), Health and 
Wellbeing Board and the Safer Leeds Executive.  In addition the council’s Cross-Council 
Safeguarding Group ensures that the whole council takes its safeguarding duties (both adults and 
children) seriously.  Leeds has worked with other local authorities in the development of the North 
and West Yorkshire Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults policy and procedures.  These were revised 
in 2015 to ensure they are compatible with the requirements of the Care Act 2014.  

 

Page 336



 
 

Better risk management.  Better decisions.   
Better outcomes. 

 
 

Corporate Risk Management 

 

Corporate risk 

Risk description 
Failure of (a) staff in any council directorate to recognise and report a risk of abuse or neglect 
facing an adult with care and support needs in Leeds; (b) staff in adult social care to respond 
appropriately, in line with national legislation and safeguarding adults procedures 

Accountability 
Officer Director of Adult Social Care 

Executive member Councillor Charlwood - Executive member for Health, Wellbeing & Adults 

Evaluation 
Current Probability: 4 (Probable), Impact 4 (Major).  Overall rating: Very high 

Target Probability: 3 (Possible), Impact 3 (Moderate).  Overall rating: High 

3. Health and Safety 
The council has wide-ranging responsibilities to prevent the risk of health and safety failures that 
could result in death, injury, legal challenge and significant reputational damage.  Under the Health 
and Safety at Work Act (1974), the council has a responsibility to ensure, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, the health, safety and welfare at work of all its employees and those affected by the 
work that we do.  These responsibilities cover:   

• As a duty holder with large numbers of employees; 
• As a service provider with large numbers of clients, visitors, pupils etc; 
• As a landlord with a large portfolio of buildings and land; 
• As a regulator through environmental health;  and 
• As a large scale procurer of goods and services which can influence safety through the 

supply chain. 

The main duties of any employer can be summarised as providing: safe systems of work; safe plant, 
equipment and substances; safe workplaces; risk assessments and training/instruction/supervision.  
A range of health and safety controls are in place to manage this risk including a Health and Safety 
Policy and adoption of performance standards (both jointly agreed with the trade unions), employee 
accountability, audit reviews and an annual action plan which sets out priorities for the year.  In 
October 2015 the council’s Internal Audit section carried out a review of Corporate Health and 
Safety and gave an audit opinion of ‘Good assurance’ for the control environment and for 
compliance with the control environment. 

Corporate risk 

Risk description Risk of an health and safety failure resulting in death, injury, damage or legal challenge (either 
criminal or civil) 

Accountability 
Officer Deputy Chief Executive 

Executive member Councillor J Lewis, Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Resources & 
Strategy 

Evaluation 
Current Probability: 3 (Possible), Impact 4 (Major).  Overall rating: High 

Target Probability: 2 (Unlikely), Impact 4 (Major).  Overall rating: High 

4. City Resilience 
Under the Civil Contingencies Act (2004) the council has both a statutory duty and a community 
leadership role to ensure that the city collectively does all it can to enhance its resilience and 
manage its vulnerabilities.  This involves regional and city-wide partnership working to identify, 
assess, prevent, prepare, respond to and recover from emergencies and disruptions.   

The risk of significant disruption in Leeds is a combination of two factors: the causative event and 
the way in which Leeds as a city responds to this event.  Disruptive events include civil unrest, 
adverse weather and problems with keeping transport networks operational.  Management of this 
risk seeks to ensure a secure and resilient Leeds, protecting our people, economy, environment, 
infrastructure, territory and way of life from all major risks that could affect us directly.   

Page 337



 
 

Better risk management.  Better decisions.   
Better outcomes. 

 
 

Corporate Risk Management 

 

The West Yorkshire Resilience Forum (WYRF) is the council’s principal partner organisation for city 
resilience.  The aim of the WYRF is to co-ordinate the actions and arrangements between 
responding services in the area to provide the most effective and efficient response to civil 
emergencies when they occur.  The WYRF Community Risk Register is key to identifying resilience 
risks that may impact on the city.  This register forms the basis of multi-agency emergency planning 
and is used by the WYRF and its partner organisations to review the risks to ensure that they are 
being appropriately managed.  Identified and assessed risks are channelled into work programmes 
undertaken by the WYRF and its partner agencies - including the council - to determine the most 
effective means of managing the risk.  

Corporate risk 

Risk description Risk of significant disruption in Leeds 

Accountability Officer Deputy Chief Executive 

Executive members  Councillor J Lewis, Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Resources & 
Strategy    

Evaluation Current Probability: 3 (Possible), Impact 5 (Highly significant).  Overall rating: Very 
high 

Target Probability: 2 (Unlikely), Impact 4 (Major).  Overall rating: High 

5. Council Resilience 
Leeds City Council has a legal responsibility under the Civil Contingencies Act (2004) to have 
arrangements in place to keep delivering critical services in the event of an emergency, as well as 
those functions that are important to the welfare and security of the community.  The council does 
this through an organisational-wide Business Continuity Programme that also assesses the 
resilience of partner and contracting organisations.   

The risks or threats to council services come from a wide range of sources including severe 
weather, industrial action, pandemic outbreak, flooding, fire, utility failure, ICT outage and supply 
chain failure.  However, regardless of the source, the impact will generally be on the council’s 
people, premises, ICT and their suppliers and providers of goods and services.  By focussing on the 
impact, the consequences of the disruption on critical services can be assessed and business 
continuity plans developed to document what needs to be done to protect the service should a 
disruptive or emergency incident occur.  Business continuity plans are regularly reviewed and 
exercised at local and multi-agency levels.        

Council services requiring business continuity plans are those assessed as being most critical 
through completion of a Business Impact Analysis; there are currently 84 services identified as most 
critical.  Additional council-wide arrangements are in place to respond to industrial action and ICT 
services. 

Corporate risk 

Risk description Risk of significant disruption to council services 

Accountability 
Officer Deputy Chief Executive 

Executive member Councillor J Lewis, Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Resources & 
Strategy 

Evaluation 
Current Probability: 3 (Possible), Impact 5 (Highly significant).  Overall rating: Very 

high 

Target Probability: 2 (Unlikely), Impact 4 (Major).  Overall rating: High 

6. Financial Management 
The ongoing challenge of reshaping and delivering council services within significantly reduced 
funding levels remains a significant risk in both the short- and medium-term and so we have two  

Page 338



 
 

Better risk management.  Better decisions.   
Better outcomes. 

 
 

Corporate Risk Management 

 

corporate risks on this: one that considers the in-year risk, and another around future financial 
forecasting.  Failure to adequately plan, both longer term and annually and to manage the budget 
in-year carries a number of specific risks:  

• That the council is unable to set a legal budget by the due date; 
• That the budget does not reflect council priorities and objectives; 
• That the budget does not adequately resource pressures and increases in demand; 
• That the budget includes savings which are not deliverable; 
• That unplanned or reactive measures would be needed in-year to deliver savings;  
• That the council falls into negative reserves or that reserves are used impacting upon the 

medium-term financial strategy; and 
• Should the audit of the council’s Statement of Accounts contain damaging comments, this 

would negatively impact upon the authority’s reputation and could potentially result in 
increased audit and government inspections. 

The duties of the council’s Section 151 officer – in Leeds, the Deputy Chief Executive - are crucial in 
how we manage these risks: he is charged with reporting to Council on the robustness of the 
estimates and adequacy of financial reserves; certifying that the accounts are a true and fair view of 
the council’s financial position; and ensuring that the council’s financial systems accurately record 
financial transactions and enable the prevention and detection of inaccuracies and fraud.  Financial 
risks are managed through strategic financial planning, budget preparation and setting, in-year 
budget monitoring, closure of accounts and audit inspections.   

At their meeting of the 24th June 2016, the council’s Corporate Governance and Audit Committee 
(CGAC) received two audit reports providing independent assurance of the council’s financial 
management arrangements:  

• KPMG’s (the council’s external auditors) Interim Audit Report and Technical update 
concluded that, ”There are no major issues raised in KPMG’s interim audit which would 
impact on the level of audit work required to certify the Council’s financial statements”.   

• The council’s Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion for 2015/16 provided an overall 
conclusion that, on the basis of the audit work undertaken during the 2015/16 financial year, 
the internal control environment (including the key financial systems, risk and governance) is 
well established and operating effectively in practice.  

Corporate risks: financial management 

Accountability 
Officer Deputy Chief Executive 

Executive member Councillor J Lewis, Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Resources & 
Strategy 

Corporate risk: in-year budget 

Risk description 
Council’s financial position goes into significant deficit in the current year resulting in reserves 
(actual or projected) being less than the minimum specified by the council’s risk-based reserves 
policy 

Evaluation 
Current Probability: 3 (Possible), Impact 3 (Moderate).  Overall rating: High 

Target Probability: 1 (Rare), Impact 2 (Minor).  Overall rating: Low 

Corporate risk: Financial forecasting 

Risk description Failure to reasonably estimate the financial ‘envelope’, both annually and in the medium-term 

Evaluation 
Current Probability: 2 (Unlikely), Impact 3 (Moderate).  Overall rating: Medium 

Target Probability: 2 (Unlikely), Impact 3 (Moderate).  Overall rating: Medium 

 

Page 339



 
 

Better risk management.  Better decisions.   
Better outcomes. 

 
 

Corporate Risk Management 

 
7. Information Safeguarding 
Information is an asset like any other; we need it to do business and without it, business would stop.  
Getting things right with information produces better quality information and delivers it to the right 
people at the right time. This allows service quality to be maintained or improved and assists in the 
identification of opportunities.  Failing to manage information properly can be a root cause of non-
compliance with the council’s legal duties, including human rights law, confidentiality, service 
specific legislation (adoptions law, children’s law, Council Tax law, etc.) and access to information 
(Freedom of Information and Data Protection).  However, the most significant risk associated with a 
failure in information safeguarding is death or serious harm that could have been prevented if data 
and information had been properly managed and disclosed.   

The council manages these risks through a range of policies and procedures, guidance and 
mandatory training for staff, ongoing reviews and internal and external inspections.  The Deputy 
Chief Executive, through his role as the council’s Senior Risk Information Owner (SIRO – the person 
with ultimate responsibility for information risk in the council), has ultimate responsibility for the 
authority’s information safeguarding arrangements, assisted by the Information Management Board 
and staff with specific information management responsibilities.   

Corporate risk 

Risk description Risk of harm to people, partners or the council from wrongful disclosure, theft or damage to 
information held.   

Accountability 
Officer Deputy Chief Executive 

Executive member Councillor J Lewis, Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Resources & 
Strategy 

Evaluation 
Current Probability: 3 (Possible), Impact 3 (Moderate).  Overall rating: High 

Target Probability: 2 (Unlikely), Impact 2 (Minor).  Overall rating: Low 

 
8. Major flooding 
In recent years there has been an increasing awareness of the destructive impact and devastating 
consequences of flooding on individuals, communities and the economy.  While the council has no 
statutory duties around flood prevention, it is required under the European Union Flood Directive 
(2009) to develop, maintain, apply and monitor a strategy for local flood risk management (LFRMS).  
The council also has responsibilities as a Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) under the Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010 and has the legal power to make landowners remove watercourse 
obstructions.   

Leeds adopted its LFRMS in 2014. This provides information on the approach the council and other 
partner agencies will take in managing flood risk in the city. The purpose of the LFRMS is to guide 
the flood risk management activities undertaken by key partners operating in the metropolitan 
district of Leeds including Leeds City Council, the Environment Agency (EA), Yorkshire Water 
Services and the Highways Agency.   

Activities include: 

• Spatial planning and development control;  
• Investigating flooding incidents, assessing flood risk and developing and promoting schemes 

to alleviate flood risk;  
• Developing and maintaining a register for recording, monitoring and maintaining flood risk 

assets; 
• Improving engagement with internal and external partners to raise awareness of the LFRMS; 
• Involving local communities in decision making; and  
• Improving plans for multi-agency emergency response and recovery. 

 

Page 340



 
 

Better risk management.  Better decisions.   
Better outcomes. 

 
 

Corporate Risk Management 

 
Corporate risk 

Risk description 
Leeds fails to take effective measures to reduce the risk of flooding across the District that has a 
significant impact on homes, business, land and infrastructure. 

Accountability 
Officer Director of City Development  

Executive member Cllr Richard Lewis, Executive member for Regeneration, Transport and 
Planning 

Evaluation 
Current Probability: 4 (Probable), Impact 5 (Highly significant).  Overall rating: 

Very high 

Target Probability: 3 (Possible), Impact 5 (Highly significant).  Overall rating: Very 
high 

9. Air Quality 
The seriousness of current air pollution levels and their impact on public health is now much better 
understood.  We are all exposed to air pollution to some extent and this is having a harmful effect on 
the health of individuals, reducing life expectancy and increasing health inequalities.  Improving air 
quality will also mitigate the financial risk to the council if a material fine is imposed for failing to 
meet air quality targets by 2020.   

There is now categorical evidence that long-term exposure to everyday air pollutants contributes to 
cardiovascular disease (CVD, including heart diseases and stroke), lung cancer, and respiratory 
disease (including asthma and chronic bronchitis).  The heaviest burden is borne by those with 
greatest vulnerability and/or exposure: the elderly, children, pregnant women and those with 
cardiovascular disease and/or respiratory disease are more susceptible to air pollution than others 
while those who spend more time in highly polluted locations will be affected more.  There are no 
absolutely safe levels of the main pollutants of concern.  Any improvement in air quality will 
therefore have positive health consequences.   

Long term it is very clear that only concerted partnership action across a range of measures will 
provide the kind of comprehensive solutions to the air quality issues within the city.  These 
measures include traffic demand management techniques, encouraging more sustainable travel and 
actions to reduce vehicle emissions.   

Corporate risk: Air Quality 

Risk description Failure to meet air quality standards by 2020 results in a significant fine for the council. 

Accountability 
Officer Director of Environment and Housing 

Executive member Cllr Yeadon, Executive member for Environment and Sustainability 

Evaluation 
Current Probability: 3 (Possible), Impact 4 (Major).  Overall rating: High 

Target Probability: 3 (Possible), Impact 2 (Minor).  Overall rating: Medium 

 

Page 341



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Director of City Development

Report to Executive Board

Date: 27 July 2016

Subject: Growing the Leeds Digital Economy 

Are specific electoral wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. Leeds is rapidly establishing itself as the digital centre of the north, with a thriving 
private sector, internationally important infrastructure, a significant public sector 
presence through NHS Digital, and an approach to growing the sector based on 
close collaboration between the Council and the private sector.

2. This paper updates Executive Board on the digital economy in Leeds and the work 
the council is undertaking to support the sector in terms of skills, promotion and 
infrastructure. The Best Council Plan promotes strong economic growth and 
employment support and we are delivering this with the help of the private sector 
and education institutes in the city.

3. Digital companies – specialist technology firms – employ around 45,000 people in 
our city and are growing rapidly.  Through their innovative products and services, 
tech companies currently create huge economic value for Leeds.  The sector is 
predicted to grow at by 15% over the next 5 years, providing new jobs and 
investment together with opportunities for local people and our student population. 

4. Over the past 18 months we have worked hard to support individual firms to grow, 
promoting Leeds as the digital capital of the north. Through the Leeds Digital Skills 
Action Plan we are working on a set of outcomes to fill the large number of tech 
vacancies in the city and promote careers advice, bespoke training and increasing 
interest in tech careers across schools. 

Report author:  Simon Brereton
Tel:  0113 247 4249

Page 343

Agenda Item 22



5. Initiatives such as the recent Leeds Digital Festival, the Promoting Leeds grant fund 
and the Leeds Digital Board have all helped us to link with the tech community and 
raise the profile of the city’s achievements in tech.  We have run targeted 
campaigns to bring companies and talent from London to Leeds, helped local 
companies recruit talent from within the city, and supported projects to spread the 
word on tech in Leeds through films, a new tech news website, and detailed work 
with potential overseas investors.  We have also supported the work of the not-for-
profit Leeds internet exchange, IX Leeds, the Leeds Digital Careers Fair and the 
Open Data Institute work in Leeds.  We are currently undertaking work to position 
Leeds as a centre of excellence for cyber-security, innovation in distributed ledger 
technologies and fintech. 

6. The not-for-profit FutureLabs project has secured for the city £3.7m of capital 
funding from government, which has been awarded to the Council, for a tech hub to 
act as the front door to the sector, to support early-stage businesses as they start 
up and grow, and to bring together established businesses and innovators.  Work is 
progressing on how best to utilise this funding, and a report will be brought back to 
Executive Board later in the year. In the short term, to provide proof of concept and 
build a customer base for the project, a FutureLabs pop-up has opened at 1 
Eastgate.

7. Other private sector-led initiatives, focussing on the emerging fintech, cyber security 
and insuretech sub-sectors – bringing the innovation of the tech sector to financial 
services, data security and insurance – are working towards additional new facilities 
for the city.  There are opportunities for Leeds to support and promote these 
initiatives and for the city to lead the field in these specialist areas.

Recommendations

8. Executive Board is recommended to:

i) Endorse the Leeds Digital Skills Action Plan and endorse our approach to 
procuring sector specialists to lead on this moving to a model where it is 
entirely funded by the sector.  

ii) Acknowledge the success of the Leeds Digital Festival and continue to offer 
support as this becomes an annual event, and continue to support the Leeds 
Digital Board and the work it does to promote the sector.

iii) Accept the £3.7m grant from DCMS and approve its injection into the capital 
programme.

iv) Request that the Chief Officer Economy and Regeneration works up 
proposals for a Tech Hub in Leeds, to be considered by Executive Board 
later in 2016.

v) Request that the Chief Officer Economy and Regeneration, in consultation 
with the relevant Executive Member develops a proposal to support the 
existing FutureLabs pop up in the short to medium term. 

Page 344



vi) Request that the Chief Officer Economy and Regeneration works up 
proposals and bring these back to Executive Board for supporting the growth 
of fintech businesses in Leeds, developing Leeds as a centre of expertise for 
cybersecurity, and for Leeds becoming a hub for innovation in Blockchain 
and distributed ledger technologies.

Page 345



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This paper updates Executive Board on the growth of the digital sector in Leeds 
and the work undertaken by officers to support and promote this sector.

1.2 It also seeks approval from Executive Board to devolve powers to build a Tech 
Hub to the Director of City Development.

2 Background information

2.1 Leeds has a strong digital sector, founded on our heritage in the communications 
industry. The invention of the Wharfedale printing press in the 1850s transformed 
the print industry. More recently with the birth of the internet Leeds was home to 
Freeserve, one of the world’s first popular internet service providers.  The recent 
and rapid growth of SkyBet, now valued at over $1bn and employing over 1,000 
staff, demonstrates the potential that the sector now provides.  

2.2 In recent years, Leeds has developed a particular expertise in:

 the commercial exploitation of big data – through direct marketing, the analysis 
of credit card transactions and social media;

 the IT systems underpinning the NHS, including HSCIC (the Health and Social 
Care Information Centre) and companies such as TPP, EMIS and Lhasa;

 a leading city for open data, through the ODI and Leeds Data Mill;

 digital media, including Sky’s national technology centre of expertise which 
now employs 500 people at Leeds Dock, compared to 50 a year ago;

 computer games, including a main development centre of Rockstar Games, 
who created the best-selling “Grand Theft Auto” in Leeds;

 in-company tech, such as Asda Walmart’s consumer data analytics function, 
or DLA Piper, the world’s largest law firm which runs its global IT from Leeds;

 financial technology, based on our position as the UK’s second financial 
centre;

 telecommunications and data storage, based on the IX Leeds infrastructure, 
and the position of Leeds as one of the UK’s three internet nodes (and the only 
one outside London) with direct connectivity to the global internet 
infrastructure; and

 university expertise in computing and data analytics. 

2.3 The city is now home to around 3,500 digital and tech companies, the IT specialist 
teams of global companies such as DLA Piper, KPMG and Asda, and key digital 
infrastructure including IXLeeds – the only independent internet exchange outside 
London located at aql in Leeds South Bank.

Page 346



2.4 Total employment in the sector in Leeds is estimated at 45,000 – approximately 
10% of all jobs in the city. This is predicted to grow by 15% over the coming 5 
years.

2.5 The sector is becoming increasingly collaborative and is represented by the Leeds 
Digital Board, formed following the Leeds Digital Summit 2015. The Board 
comprises of leaders of business, higher education providers and the council. 
Initiatives for skills, promotion and infrastructure have been recognised as 
important by the board to aid the sector moving forward.

2.6 Leeds Digital Festival 2016 was held in the week leading up to May Day Bank 
Holiday weekend.  The festival was organised by the sector and supported with a 
small grant from the Promoting Leeds fund.  In total, 5,000 people attended 53 
separate events showcasing our strengths as a city in areas such as digital 
health, innovation, Fintech, software development and online marketing.  The 
festival began with the launch of the film Tech in Leeds, and ended with a day of 
events on music and tech, leading into the Live at Leeds music festival.

2.7 Two specific areas of the digital economy – Fintech and cyber security – are 
thought to present significant opportunities for Leeds.  

2.8 Fintech (financial technology), and more specifically block chain and distributed 
ledger technology, builds on the city’s strong financial services sector, offering 
potential competitive advantages to Leeds through developing innovative 
technologies to support banking and personal finance, and to provide new ways to 
authenticate legal documents.

2.9 Cyber security is of increasing importance as more and more business is done 
online. Leeds has both a strong academic research background in this sphere and 
a unique position arising from the physical infrastructure present in the city, 
exemplified by IXLeeds, the regional internet exchange.

2.10 Through our work with the digital sector we are exploring how technology can help 
address city challenges such as the Age Friendly agenda.  Our partnership with 
the Urban Sustainable Development Lab, recognised this year by NESTA as one 
of the 50 New Radicals, has led to the creation of new apps such as the Leeds 
Bin App, CareView and GSOH (Great Sense of Home).  These innovations have 
great potential to make a big difference to our city and to highlight our work 
towards being a strong economy and a compassionate city.

  
3 Main issues

Coordination and collaboration

3.1 The digital sector is thriving in Leeds but requires continuing support in order to 
maximise growth. The Leeds Digital Board, established in June 2015, has a key 
role in ensuring that the best efforts of the public, private and education sectors 
are well-coordinated and promote collaboration.  The Board has had a successful 
start, producing an overall strategy and a Skills Action Plan (see Annex 1). 

Page 347

https://vimeo.com/164599733


Skills

3.2 The recent Scrutiny Board (City Development) Digital Inclusion Inquiry considered 
broader issues of digital skills and inclusion for the citizens and businesses of 
Leeds and identified actions to reduce digital inclusion and increase general 
digital skills.  This is distinct from the advanced technical skills needs of the digital 
sector discussed below.

3.3 One of the consequences of a rapidly growing digital sector is the danger that 
demand from employers will outstrip supply. This is the situation Leeds faces, in 
February there were 640 vacancies for mid-level tech jobs in the city, an increase 
of over 50% from the previous six months.

3.4 The city wants to retain graduates from our high quality universities and we want 
to attract graduates from other parts of the UK and internationally. We also want 
businesses to invest here confident that they can find the right employees. 

3.5 To meet the skills challenge we have developed the Leeds Digital Skills Action 
Plan, focussing on short, medium and long term aims. This was launched in 
March, 2016 and has support from business, the universities, education providers 
and others such as Tech North. The Skills Action Plan and Digital Board are being 
followed by other authorities as an example of best practice and have the support 
of the Department for Culture, Media and Sport. Initiatives which are being 
developed following the Skills Action Plan include: 

 A tech careers fair which took place in February at Leeds Arena and was 
attended by over 1,500 graduates. An additional event took place in London in 
May to recruit tech workers to Leeds. The success of the careers fair has led 
to future events being planned in Leeds. 

 Digital “boot camps” and bespoke university courses working with local 
employers.

 A new University Technical College for 16-18 year olds specialising in tech. A 
submission for funding is expected in October.

 A digital skills summit bringing employers and education providers together.

 Improving careers advice, particularly in schools. There is also a need to offer 
training and advice to people wishing to make a career change.

 Developing more code clubs for primary schools to get children interested in 
tech – particularly girls as women are underrepresented in the digital sector.

3.6 The Leeds Digital Board will lead on these actions with the help of the council. It is 
proposed to procure sector specialists to implement the Plan which will be 
primarily funded through the sector, overseen by the Digital Board. Ownership of 
the Action Plan by the sector is considered key to its success, particular with 
regard to the medium and longer term objectives of the plan.

Page 348



Promotion

3.7 As a council we have supported this promotion through the Digital Economy team 
and we now link with over 1,000 companies through our newsletter and email list. 
The Promoting Leeds Grant Fund launched in September, 2015 offered financial 
support to projects focussed on the digital sector and included the Leeds Digital 
Festival, Leeds Indie Map, the Tech Careers Fair and Leeds Arena, Tech in 
Leeds promotional film, a tech news website and others.

3.8 The projects have resulted in positive promotion of the digital sector, greater 
collaboration between businesses, wider community engagement with the digital 
and tech sector and numerous events showcasing digital and the city. The Leeds 
Digital Festival will now become annual event following the success of the 
weeklong event held in April, this featured 56 events across the city and was 
attended by approximately 5,000 people. It has led to greater collaboration in the 
tech sector, showcasing of companies and products as well as a new regular 
serial promoting the digital sector in the Yorkshire Evening Post.

Infrastructure

3.9 Leeds has secured a government grant towards providing a new Tech Hub for 
start-up and scale–up companies.  Announced as part of the ‘Tech Nation’ 
initiative, a project to help promote the UK’s technology industry and support 
entrepreneurs, the grant is intended to “nurture start-ups, foster collaboration and 
provide mentoring, learning and business support” (DCMS, Sept 15) in the tech 
sector. 

3.10 The government has invested a total of £11m for hubs in Manchester, Sheffield 
and Leeds. Leeds has secured £3.7 million from DCMS as a capital injection to 
fund the project. The money was transferred to the council in March, 2016. No 
additional council funds are to be used for this project.

3.11 The hubs are designed to stimulate growth in the tech sector which the 
government has recognised as underperforming in the north, and DCMS estimate 
that the three tech hubs could create or safeguard 6000 jobs over 10 years.

3.12 The grant is to be spent on capital works and it is intended to use this money to 
secure a building, the council will also procure an operator to run the Hub. There 
is no revenue funding as part of the grant and we have identified this as a risk to 
the project as the Hub would benefit from revenue in the form of business support 
to companies, improving links with the universities, funding accelerator 
programmes and strengthening links with the tech community,

3.13 In an attempt to secure revenue funding we have submitted a bid for European 
funding as part of the ERDF programme for innovation. The £3.7m UK 
government grant has been used as partial match funding, we have applied for an 
additional £3.5m. A decision on this bid is expected in September and at this 
stage we will be in a position to move forward with the Tech Hub project. If 
successful, it is proposed that a full bid will be worked up for submission in 
December. If on the other hand we are unsuccessful in our ERDF bid we will 
continue with the project on the basis with a total budget of £3.7m and scale down 

Page 349



the ambitions of the Hub to fit within this.  If this process is delayed by the recent 
EU referendum result, officers propose that the Council push ahead with the 
project as a capital only scheme.

3.14 The Council is working with the LEP and a number of leading global financial, 
digital and telecoms firms on proposals for a fintech innovation hub. This would 
provide a space for research and development in new technologies such as 
blockchain, and data analytics enabled by advances in computing. It is envisaged 
that this will complement a tech hub in the city centre.

3.15 In order to provide proof of concept and begin the work of linking with the tech 
community, FutureLabs has opened a pop-up version of the hub at 1 Eastgate.  
The centre is already being used by a range of tech startups and as a venue for 
many of the city’s tech networks.

An update to Executive Board on the Tech Hub project, including the FutureLabs 
pop-up, will be provided at the end of the year.

4 Corporate considerations

4.1 Consultation and engagement 

4.1.1 The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Resources and Strategy, who also 
chairs the Leeds Digital Board, was briefed on this paper on 23rd June and is 
supportive of the approach.

4.1.2 Consultation has been undertaken on the Leeds Digital Skills Action Plan 
including a skills summit held on 7th March 2016. Links with the tech community 
have been improved over the last 18 months through work on promotion of the 
sector, including the Leeds Digital Festival which will become an annual event. 

4.1.3 The Digital Economy team has links with the tech sector through a mailing list of 
over 1,000 companies.

4.2 Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The Council aims to improve the lives of all its citizens and foster good relations 
between different groups in the community and it is considered that the 
recommendations in this report will have a positive outcome.  An Equality Impact 
Assessment has been completed and is attached to this report. 

4.2.2 It is recognised that the tech sector is underrepresented by women and the 
council and wider sector has taken steps to encourage more women in tech 
through aims set out in the Leeds Digital Skills Action Plan. These include 
improved careers advice, promotion of the sector and increasing the amount of 
code clubs in primary schools to encourage more participation particular from 
girls.

4.2.3 The grant to build a new Tech Hub which will provide more affordable office space 
for new tech companies to grow, generating jobs for the city. 

Page 350



4.2.4 Our longer term work on digital skills aims to increase the opportunities for all 
people in Leeds to benefit from growth in the digital economy.  Projects such as 
coding clubs in primary schools, women into tech initiatives, and digital 
apprenticeships are key to achieving this objective. 

4.3 Council policies and best council plan

4.3.1 The vision from the Best Council Plan is for Leeds to be a compassionate, caring 
city that helps all its residents benefit from the effects of the city’s economic 
growth. The digital sector within Leeds is growing faster than the wider economy 
resulting in more jobs and economic growth for the city.

4.3.2 The council’s vision is for Leeds to be the best city for children and young people 
to grow up in. Work focussing on improving skills, careers advice and code clubs 
for young people support this aim.

4.3.3 The success of the Leeds Digital Festival has led to this becoming an annual 
event and will contribute to wider council aims as it bids to be European Capital of 
Culture 2023. 

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The £3.7m grant from DCMS for the tech hub is an additional resource to the 
council rather than a reallocation of existing funds.  It has been provided as a 
capital grant, and can only be spent on capital items, which provides a challenge 
as many of the early costs of a tech hub will be revenue items such as staffing 
and other operating costs.  We will explore with DCMS whether there are options 
either for flexibility in supporting revenue costs from the existing grant or for 
additional revenue funding to support the hub through its start-up stage. 

4.4.2 Ensuring value for money and minimising risk are key factors which will be used 
to determine how best to spend the grant.   It is likely that there will be a 
requirement for an open and competitive process for ensuring the project 
represents value for money.

4.5 Legal Implications, access to information and call In

4.5.1 Advice has been sought from the council’s legal and procurement departments 
who are assisting with the tech project, offering advice on process, value for 
money, legal and state aid implications.

4.5.2 There are no legal implications on the wider digital sector as a result of this report.

4.5.3 This report is eligible for Call-In.

4.6 Risk management

4.6.1 The tech hub project is at an early stage contains an element of risk. These 
include ensuring the money is spent in accordance with all applicable legal and 
regulatory requirements, including use of capital funds, state aid, planning, public 
procurement, and the Public Sector Equality Duty as set out in Section 149 of the 
Equality Act 2010.

Page 351



4.6.2 To minimise risk a European funding bid has been submitted for additional 
revenue funds and the council will be informed of the result this September. If 
unsuccessful the project will be scaled back in order to minimise any potential risk 
to the council.

5 Conclusions

5.1 This paper updates Executive Board on the growth of the digital sector in Leeds 
and the work undertaken by officers to support this sector including work on skills 
promotion and infrastructure.

5.2 The paper also informs Executive Board of a £3.7m grant from DCMS to build a 
new tech hub and seeks approval from Executive Board to devolve powers to 
build the Tech Hub to the Chief Officer of City Development.

6 Recommendations

6.1   Executive Board is recommended to:

i) Endorse the Leeds Digital Skills Action Plan and endorse our approach to 
procuring sector specialists to lead on this moving to a model where it is 
entirely funded by the sector.  

ii) Acknowledge the success of the Leeds Digital Festival and continue to offer 
support as this becomes an annual event, and continue to support the Leeds 
Digital Board and the work it does to promote the sector.

iii) Accept the £3.7m grant from DCMS and approve its injection into the capital 
programme.

iv) Request that the Chief Officer Economy and Regeneration works up 
proposals for a Tech Hub in Leeds, to be considered by Executive Board 
later in 2016.

v) Request that the Chief Officer Economy and Regeneration, in consultation 
with the relevant Executive Member develops a proposal to support the 
existing FutureLabs pop up in the short to medium term. 

vi) Request that the Chief Officer Economy and Regeneration works up 
proposals and bring these back to Executive Board for supporting the growth 
of fintech businesses in Leeds, developing Leeds as a centre of expertise for 
cybersecurity, and for Leeds becoming a hub for innovation in Blockchain 
and distributed ledger technologies.

7 Background documents1 

7.1    None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 352



THE LEEDS DIGITAL SKILLS ACTION PLAN

Leeds Digital Board

Page 353



02

Currently there are over 1,350 digital companies based in Leeds who employ over 10,000 people ranging 
from freelance coders to national companies such as Sky and KPMG. Leeds has the highest amount of 
scale-up digital companies outside the South East and our city region has already outstripped Bristol and 
Manchester for employment growth in digital and creative industries. This is a positive story we should be 
proud to tell.

However, one of the consequences of a rapidly growing digital sector is the danger that demand from 
employers will outstrip supply. This is the situation Leeds faces, and can be encapsulated in the fact that 
there are currently 640 vacancies for mid-level tech jobs in the city, and increase of over 50% in the last 
six months.

The city wants to retain graduates from our high quality universities within the digital sector in Leeds, 
and we want to attract graduates to the city from other parts of the UK, and internationally. We also want 
businesses to invest here, and to do so there needs to be confidence about the calibre and depth of the 
talent pool they can recruit from.

The Leeds Digital Board asked a number of employers and education providers, supported by Leeds 
City Council, to form a Digital Skills Working Group to identify how to address some of these issues. The  
Leeds Digital Skills Action Plan is the outcome of those discussions, and sets out actions to be taken by 
partners to drive growth through creating and promoting entry points to the sector to local, national and 
international talent, and improve connections between employers and education to ensure supply meets 
demand.

The actions that follow are set out under both of the above headings, with colour coding used to indicate 
whether implementation is planned for the short, medium or longer term.

INTRODUCTION

1,350
DIGITAL COMPANIES 

BASED IN LEEDS

LEEDS EMPLOYS OVER

PEOPLE IN THE 
DIGITAL SECTOR

10,000

THERE ARE CURRENTLY 

VACANCIES FOR MID-LEVEL 
TECH JOBS IN THE CITY

640

R

Page 354



03

DRIVING GROWTH THROUGH CREATING AND PROMOTING ENTRY POINTS TO THE SECTOR TO LOCAL, 
NATIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL TALENT

The immediate pressure on the digital sector is the number of vacancies for primarily skilled roles, a 
number which is growing. These need to be filled to safeguard economic growth and prevent companies 
moving elsewhere, both outcomes that have a direct impact on the city’s economic health.

Leeds has a large graduate and student base and the city region boasts 12 higher education institutes, a 
large number of colleges, apprenticeship schemes and a skilled workforce. While there are some longer 
term issues around the number of young people coming through the education system, and the relevance 
of the skills they are taught in preparing them for entry to the sector, our short term priority is to drive 
growth through creating (where appropriate) and promoting entry points to the sector to local, national and 
international talent.

Actions include:

• The Leeds Digital Careers Fair

• The London Digital Careers Fair

• The Leeds Digital Graduate Scheme

• New Apprenticeship Standards

• A Digital Skills UTC

ACTION: THE LEEDS DIGITAL CAREERS FAIR AT THE FIRST DIRECT ARENA

RATIONALE

With 640 current vacancies in Leeds the fair will bring together key 
employers in the sector with students, graduates and job seekers to connect 
supply to demand. The date is before half term and runs between 12pm and 
7pm in order to maximise the amount of people attending. It is also on the 
same day as the Manchester Talent Fair to increase northern promotion.

OUTPUTS

Take up of the 40 available stands will be measured alongside feedback 
from employers. Attendees are asked to pre-register and basic footfall data 
will be calculated to measure attendance.  A post event survey will measure 
the impact with the attendees and gauge if there is a need to re-run the 
event in future.  Impact of the marketing and communications strategy will 
also be measured.

TIMETABLE
Promotion and marketing, November 2015 – January 2016

Evaluation, February 2016

PARTNERS

Promotion and staging is through Herd.

Employers, education providers (HE/FE/WBL) are promoting and attending.

LCC, Leeds Beckett University & Tech North are providing support.

FUTURE
Key aim is for the careers fair to become an annual event.
A further event is planned be held in London to attract a new pool of 
potential employees and promote Leeds as a digital city (see below).

RESOURCES

The careers fair has been funded through sponsorship/in-kind 
contributions/sale of stands and exhibition collateral.
A 2017 event is expected to require a diminished sponsorship value – c. 
£15k as the event becomes mainstreamed and prioritised by employers.

THE LEEDS DIGITAL SKILLS ACTION PLAN

Page 355



04

ACTION: THE LEEDS DIGITAL ‘BOOTCAMP’

ACTION
We will encourage training providers to introduce short intensive courses in 
the format of a “Digital Academy” or “Boot Camp” to get people job-ready for 
the digital sector.

RATIONALE

Some of the sector’s short term recruitment issues could be tackled through 
the creation of rapid throughput ‘bootcamp’ courses, accessible by young 
people/school leavers, those already employed in the sector, and those 
looking to retrain and enter the sector from careers elsewhere (e.g. armed 
forces personnel).

OUTPUTS

Scoping delivery model and funding issues, May 2016

Provision of a programme addressing, Sep 2016

Volumes of people entering courses and being hired, December 2016

TIMETABLE Pilot programme to launch July 2016

PARTNERS Education providers, funding bodies (LCR Skills Fund).

FUTURE Detailed scope of demand, costings and firming up collaboration.

RESOURCES Potential for funding from LCR LEP Skills Service

ACTION: THE LONDON DIGITAL CAREERS FAIR

RATIONALE 

Promoting the opportunities available in the digital sector in Leeds offers 
the potential to widen the talent pool and start to attract a new workforce 
to Leeds. It will also help promote the opportunity of basing a business in 
Leeds to potential investors. 

OUTPUTS

Take up of the 40 available stands will be measured alongside feedback 
from employers. Attendees are asked to pre-register and basic footfall data 
will be calculated to measure attendance.  A post event survey will measure 
the impact with the attendees and gauge if there is a need to re-run the 
event in future.  Impact of the marketing and communications strategy will 
also be measured.

TIMETABLE
Promotion and marketing, Summer 2016.

Careers fair - September, 2016.

PARTNERS
A dedicated partner will be engaged to promote and deliver the fair, with the 
support of LCC.

Employers to commit resources to attend.

ACTIONS
Gauge appetite from employers following Leeds Digital Careers Fair
Development of a business plan and 

RESOURCES
Sponsorship to support promotion, marketing, and event costs, will be 
required from both public and private sector partners (estimate £30,000)

THE LEEDS DIGITAL SKILLS ACTION PLAN

Page 356



05

ACTION: DEVELOPMENT OF THE LEEDS DIGITAL GRADUATE SCHEME

ACTION
We will encourage training providers to introduce short intensive courses in 
the format of a “Digital Academy” or “Boot Camp” to get people job-ready for 
the digital sector.

RATIONALE 
This will improve the skills gap within Leeds by providing opportunities for 
students and graduates, school leavers, apprenticeships and those wanting 
to retrain. Numerous courses can be developed for each group.

OUTPUTS

Detailed discussions with education providers and other training bodies 
such as Iron Yard to continue. A clear understanding of the requirements 
of providers is needed and help from companies to make courses more job 
focussed. The creation of a pilot programme to …………

TIMETABLE Pilot programme to launch July 2016

PARTNERS
Education providers, LCC, key employers and private sector training 
companies such as Iron Yard.

FUTURE Detailed scope of demand, costings and firming up collaboration.

THE LEEDS DIGITAL SKILLS ACTION PLAN

ACTION: PROMOTING NEW APPRENTICESHIP STANDARDS TO EMPLOYERS

RATIONALE 

New apprenticeship standards for digital sector roles are now becoming 
available, and offer another entry route for the sector which are likely to 
be very appealing to young people in particular. The implementation of the 
Apprenticeship Levy (in 2017) will also be stimulus for large companies to 
invest more in apprenticeships.

OUTPUTS
New standards being deployed by Leeds employers

Providers reporting number of local people starting apprenticeships 

TIMETABLE Ongoing as new standards emerge (commencing Jan 2016)

PARTNERS
Education providers
Employers
Tech Partnership

FUTURE Consideration of need for further standards to be developed.

ACTION: DEVELOPMENT OF THE LEEDS DIGITAL GRADUATE SCHEME

RATIONALE

A number of employers have expressed an interest in developing a bid for 
the creation of a UTC to specialise in digital and tech skills. This would form 
part of a broader suite of mechanisms designed to address entry points to 
the sector.

OUTPUTS
UTC bid developed and submitted
BID approved and UTC developed

TIMETABLE
Scoping and bid by October 2016
Approval process, curriculum development and recruitment, 2017/2018
Launch, Sep 2018

PARTNERS University partner, Baker Dearing Trust, employers, schools.

RESOURCES
LCC – labour market intelligence, schools liaison

Financial input from employers to support development of bid, time to 
develop/present bid, recruit Principal, develop curriculum

Page 357



06

IMPROVING CONNECTIONS BETWEEN EMPLOYERS AND EDUCATION TO ENSURE SUPPLY MEETS DEMAND

While creating and promoting entry routes to the sector, both to alleviate short term pressures and to 
develop a more robust supply of skilled individuals, is vital, we need to look beyond these entry points 
and work to improve the dialogue between employers and education providers to ensure supply more 
appropriately meets demand.

This means creating targeted interventions to ensure that employers and education providers are better 
connected, giving employers the opportunity to inform the development of provider offers, and providers 
the opportunity to inform their offer with what employers really need. It also involves making better 
connections between employers and the education system to drive an increase in young people, especially 
women, entering the digital and tech sector, with work experience and work placements a vehicle to 
enthusing them about the opportunities on offer.

• Actions include:

• Co-design of skills provision through a Skills Summit

• Improve careers advice in schools, business engagement with schools, and inspire young people to 
enter the sector

• Support the extension of Code clubs to all Leeds primary schools

ACTION: CO-DESIGN OF SKILLS PROVISION THROUGH A SKILLS SUMMIT

RATIONALE

Employers regularly complain that the skills system is not providing them 
with potential employees that have the appropriate technical skills, as well 
as basic competences around team working, communication/presentation, 
problem solving and so on. A Skills Summit will being employers and 
education providers together in a focused, mediated environment to 
constructively challenge each other, and to set a framework for future 
collaboration at a level much more sophisticated than before.

OUTPUTS

Creation of new provision for both entrants to the sector and those wishing 
to upskill

Enhancements to existing provision

Improved approaches to work placement (HE) and work experience 
(FE/schools)

TIMETABLE Meetings between education providers and employers Spring 2016.

PARTNERS
Education providers (including schools), LCC, key employers and private 
sector training companies such as Iron Yard.

FUTURE LCC to broker periodic meetings to refresh approach.

THE LEEDS DIGITAL SKILLS ACTION PLAN

Page 358



07

ACTION: IMPROVE CAREERS ADVICE IN SCHOOLS, BUSINESS ENGAGEMENT WITH SCHOOLS, AND 
INSPIRE YOUNG PEOPLE TO ENTER THE SECTOR

RATIONALE 

The quality of careers advice is patchy, and is not always well-informed 
about opportunities in the digital sector. This has a long term effect on the 
talent pool available in Leeds. If we were to improve careers advice, making 
young people more aware of all the opportunities then they will be more 
likely to choose a career in tech, with a particular focus on attracting girls 
into the sector. 

Alongside careers advice there is also an opportunity to provide stronger 
links with digital businesses that could offer work experience placements, 
mentoring in schools, sponsorship or could include classes in schools.

OUTPUTS

Detailed discussions with education providers and other training bodies 
such as Iron Yard to continue. A clear understanding of the requirements 
of providers is needed and help from companies to make courses more job 
focussed. The creation of a pilot programme to …………

TIMETABLE

Scoping of existing careers IAG with an emphasis on digital sector.

Development of materials and IAG advisor upskilling on the sector, including 
teacher CPD.

Engagement of employers with schools 

PARTNERS
Schools, LCC, key employers, LCR Enterprise Advisers, Careers and 
Enterprise Company.

THE LEEDS DIGITAL SKILLS ACTION PLAN

ACTION: SUPPORT THE EXTENSION OF CODE CLUBS TO ALL LEEDS PRIMARY SCHOOLS

RATIONALE

Code clubs are a great way to get young children interested in tech and have 
wider benefits beyond learning to code. Problem solving and logical thinking 
skills are useful for a range of other disciplines including maths. Code clubs 
are also a great way to get girls interested in tech at an early age.

OUTPUTS
Code clubs operational in all primary schools across Leeds.
Employers involved in delivering code clubs in all primary schools.

TIMETABLE

Meetings between education providers and employers Spring / Summer 
2016.

Increasing Code Clubs across Leeds – 2016/2017

PARTNERS Primary schools, LCC, key employers, Code Club.

Page 359



This page is intentionally left blank



 1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development Service area: Economic Development –  

Economic Policy, Innovation & Sector 
Development 

Lead person: Simon Brereton – 
Head of Innovation and Sector 
Development 

Contact number: 
0113 247 4249 

 
1. Title: Supporting Growing in the Digital Economy 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
If other, please specify: 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
This screening document is in relation to an Executive Board report, dated 27 July 
2016. 
 
The report outlines the importance of the digital & tech sector, identifies the work that 
we have been doing with the sector, and discusses the £3.7m capital funding that 
has been received from DCMS to develop a tech hub and further support growth.  
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees 
or the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a 
greater/lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

X   

Page 361



 2

When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The report identifies the potential of the tech sector to create significant numbers of new 
jobs in Leeds and the potential for these new employment opportunities to reduce 
poverty in the city. 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 

Page 362



 3

The growth of the tech sector provides significant opportunities, however further work is 
required to grow the skill levels needed for these jobs and to raise aspiration, particularly 
among young people, so that they can recognese these opportunities as being for them. 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
We have three main programmes of work that are relevant:   

 One third of primary schools in Leeds currently have coding clubs, and we have 
an aspiration to make these opportunities available in all primary schools 

 Working with the Libraries service, a broader initiative to reduce the digital divide 
is making facilities and learning available to all through the library network 

 We are working with the Skills and Employment service to increase the availability 
of apprenticeships at all levels in the tech sector, including the new apprenticeship 
degrees recently launched through the Tech Partnership 

 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Simon Brereton Head of Innovation and 

Sector Development 
June 2016 

Date screening completed 7th July 2016 
 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 

Page 363



 4

screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 364



Report of Director of City Development

Report to Executive Board

Date: 27th July 2016

Subject: South Bank Regeneration Framework and Leeds Station

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): City and Hunslet, Beeston and 
Holbeck

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1) The regeneration of the South Bank (an area the size of 250 football pitches) will 
double the size of Leeds City Centre, creating a world class mixed use district 
providing over 35,000 jobs and over 4,000 homes. Delivering our ambitions here 
will achieve Best Council Plan priority of Leeds being: A Strong Economy and a 
Compassionate City and will contribute to the delivery of a range of Best Council 
Plan priority outcomes.

2) The city has made significant progress in the regeneration of the South Bank. In the 
previous 12 months alone, there have been announcements of over £500m worth of 
investments into the area, including from Burberry, Vastint and CEG. Put simply, 
the South Bank area is one of the country’s biggest and most important growth 
initiatives. 

3) The Council has also led an approach to secure an integrated railway station for the 
city.. When the HS2 station was proposed originally to be over 500 metres away 
from the existing station, the Council made the case for an alternative location to 
achieve an integrated station to enable people to interchange seamlessly between 
HS2 and other rail services, helping spread the benefits of HS2 across the city 
region.  The new Leeds Station this will be one of the most used and important 
transport interchanges in the entire country – busier than Gatwick Airport currently 
is. The Council is now part of the team leading the development of an integrated 
long term plan and design for Leeds Station so that it accommodates HS2, HS3, the 
Transpennine and Northern franchise commitments, capacity improvements to the 

Report author:  Lee Arnell and 
Liz Hunter
Tel:  0113 24 75408

Page 365

Agenda Item 23



existing network, and improved concourse areas and interfaces with surrounding 
streets and public realm. 

4) Leeds bid to be European Capital of Culture will be transformational and help 
redefine the city. The development of the South Bank presents an ideal opportunity 
to position culture right at the centre of the city’s overall narrative and to strengthen 
the 2023 bid by so doing.  Alongside this the emerging cultural strategy will drive 
our approach from 2017 to 2030 and will emphasise the significance of culture in its 
widest sense to create places that are successful socially, economically and of 
course culturally.

5) In this context, and to continue to make the most of this once in lifetime opportunity, 
this paper sets out proposals contained in a South Bank regeneration framework 
‘masterplan’ to drive forward further transformational growth in the area to reflect 
the scale of ambition, as well as proposals to steer forward a clear delivery plan for 
improvements to the Leeds Station in the short, medium and long term. The 
regeneration framework proposes (a summary of which is shown in an appendix 1), 
as a basis for co-production, consultation and feasibility work:

i) A vision for the HS2 station as part of integrated hub for the regionto guide 
the delivery of a world class station befitting on Leeds’ role as a driver of the 
Northern economy. This the through an architectural statement that fits into 
the urban grain of the city: including early ideas to remove traffic from Neville 
Street, transforming this and the Dark Arches as a concourse for the station 
and major destination, as well as defining a new commercial zone of 
international significance in the hinterland of this station;

ii) Making the River Aire and areas close to it a major leisure, events and 
recreation space for people of all ages to enjoy, through play, leisure and 
high quality design;

iii) Creation of six major pieces of public open space in the South Bank, 
including a forecourt for HS2, as well as public spaces for events, play and 
animation, in support of the city’s Child Friendly status and ambitions to be 
European Capital of Culture;

iv) A complete transformation of the road network within the South Bank to 
provide streets which complement the adjacent land uses. This new road 
hierarchy will  provide public transport priority, be pedestrian and cycle 
friendly, and be designed as a high quality people first focussed design 
through a ‘city boulevard concept’ to reduce the feel of car dominance; 

v) New routes into the South Bank to adjoining neighbourhoods to improve 
connectivity to surrounding neighbourhoods, with land uses supporting the 
creation of a range of employment opportunities; 

vi) Expansion of the Public Transport Box south of the river to increase the bus 
accessibility of HS2 station and the South Bank by allowing cross city routes 
to give strong connections to the whole city network.  As development 
increases in the South Bank, it will act as the catalyst for additional routes 
and services;

Page 366



vii) The Green City Centre Park as a major piece of Green Infrastructure to 
serve the area and wider city;

viii)Continuing the vision of a mixed use neighbourhood, with the clustering of a 
variety of land uses, with zones for commercial development (across a range 
of sectors), residential and housing, community facilities and education. 
Through this, limiting retail to ancillary usage, and the principle of continuing 
to nurture the growth of independent food, beverage and retail within the 
area;

ix) The potential for landmark, taller buildings and major leisure destinations to 
be developed in the area at certain locations;

x) Innovative ideas to mitigate the potential implications of floods including 
potential Flood Channels and urban forests within the area.

6) This report therefore seeks Executive Board approval to commence comprehensive 
public consultation of the framework (which will be published in August) and 
feasibility work on key infrastructure proposals contained within it. The consultation 
will seek views on the role and function of a city park, proposals to transform the 
highway network including consideration of the future of city square, public space 
proposals, principles for the HS2 development, and how the public feel the South 
Bank should be developed. This work will form part of the HS2 Growth Strategy, of 
which £1.25m has been allocated by the Government to support its development.

7) To build upon the successful work on the HS2, it is also proposed that the Council 
now takes a lead role to develop, in partnership with WYCA, Transport for the 
North, Network Rail, HS2 and Government, a reference case design of the  
integrated Leeds Station and develop a detailed short, medium and long term plan 
to transform the station and integrate HS2 and HS3  and embed the station into the 
city. 

Recommendations

8) Executive Board is recommended to:

i)  Support the ambitions for the South Bank and Leeds Station, and request 
that the Director of City Development:

a. Undertakes a three month public consultation on the South Bank 
regeneration framework and associated city centre transport proposals, 
commencing in August 2016.

b. Develops the HS2 Growth Strategy as per the proposals contained in 
paragraph 3.10 of this report, including a delivery and funding plan to 
deliver proposals contained within the framework. 

c. Develops, in partnership with others, a single reference case design for 
Leeds station, which includes the opportunity to phase improvements 
and considers how third party funding could help deliver change.

ii)  Request that the Chief Planning Officer reviews the Council’s South Bank 
SPD and policy framework relating to taller buildings in the South Bank with 

Page 367



a view to recommending how the framework may facilitate updates or 
changes to existing policies. 

iii)  Injects a £575,000 loan from West Yorkshire Combined Authority into the 
Council’s capital programme to fund the ground remediation to four sites off 
Bath Road.

iv)  Note that the Director of City Development is responsible for the 
implementation of these actions and request a further report on these 
matters later in 2016.

Page 368



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This report sets out details of the South Bank framework, the status of work on the 
Leeds Station and seeks approval to undertake comprehensive public 
consultation on the framework, the next steps on the HS2 Growth Strategy and to 
develop a reference case design for the Leeds Station. 

2 Background information

2.1 The regeneration of the South Bank will double the size of Leeds City Centre, 
creating a world class mixed use district providing over 35,000 jobs and over 
4,000 homes. Approximately over 180 hectares in size, the area expands from 
Hunslet Mill along to Temple Works in Holbeck. It is one of the largest city centre 
regeneration initiatives in Europe, and will capture the growth of Leeds City 
Centre for the coming decades, cementing the city’s role as the UK’s fastest 
growing city and driver of the region’s and nation’s economy.

2.2 The area is already home to headquarters for Asda, over 3,000 residents and a 
creative and digital cluster of over 250 businesses.  There are over 30 listed 
heritage assets in the area, whilst it is a leading location for the region’s digital 
economy.

2.3 In the last eighteen months, the pace of growth of South Bank has been rapid. 
Few, if at all any, city centre regeneration initiatives in the United Kingdom have 
seen the level of investment secured here. Over £500m of investments have been 
announced, including:

 Burberry deciding to locate their manufacturing facility in the South Bank, 
along with potential proposals to restore the Grade I listed Temple Works;

 Commercial Estate Group acquiring the Holbeck Portfolio Sites and is 
developing major proposals for the site;

 Vastint acquiring the 22 acre Tetley Brewery site, their only investment in 
the UK outside of London, whilst the Tetley Gallery continues to be a 
success;

 Planning permissions granted for over 1,000 new homes at Tower Works, 
Low Fold, Iron Works and Dandara – all due to start construction this 
year;

 Citu’s proposals for a £125m Climate Innovation District;

 The opening of new campuses for the Leeds College of Building, Leeds 
City College, and under construction facilities for a new free school and 
University Technology college: providing facilities for over 10,000 
students; 

 The rejuvenation of Leeds Dock, with Sky deciding to locate their 
technology hub in the area. 

Page 369



2.4 The HS2 station is also proposed to be located in the South Bank. The Council 
has led an approach to secure an integrated station for the city. When the HS2 
station was proposed originally to be over 500 metres away from the existing 
station, the Council made the case for an alternative location to achieve an 
integrated station to enable people to interchange seamlessly between HS2 and 
other rail services, helping spread the benefits of HS2 across the city region.  

2.5 The proposals for the Leeds Station, Northern Powerhouse Rail (the proposed 
fast rail link across the north, including between Leeds and Manchester, which is 
sometimes referred to as HS3), HS2 and new rail franchises provides unique 
growth opportunities. These once in a lifetime opportunities  allows the city a 
chance to deliver a world class-transport gateway that reflects the scale and 
ambition of the city, and secure unprecedented investments into the city. 

2.6 Leeds bid to be European Capital of Culture will be transformational and help 
redefine the city. The development of the South Bank presents an opportunity to 
position culture right at the centre of the city’s overall narrative and to strengthen 
the 2023 bid by doing so.  Alongside this the emerging cultural strategy will drive 
our approach and will emphasise the significance of culture in its widest sense to 
create places that are successful socially, economically and culturally.

2.7 This has meant that some previous guidance documents are now dated and the 
deliberations on HS2 have meant infrastructure projects in the South Bank, such 
as the city park and highways works, need to be reviewed in light of the HS2 
location and there has not been a single plan to guide how regeneration moves 
forward in the South Bank in the context of the matters raised above. 

2.8 This report therefore covers proposals for the city to continue to take a lead role to 
deliver regeneration and growth in the South Bank, associated with HS2 and to 
develop proposals for the Integrated Leeds Station. The report is structured as 
follows:

 The purpose of the framework and the main proposals contained within 
the framework as basis for consultation;

 The proposals in the framework around the Leeds Station; and

 Next steps.

3 Main issues

3.1 The South Bank Framework – Location, Purpose, Status and Function

3.1.1 The framework provides concepts to guide forward the growth of the South Bank 
to achieve visions of:

 Doubling the size of Leeds City Centre, as a hub for the knowledge economy;

 Building 21st century infrastructure to support growth and resilience: Leeds 
Station, City Park, Waterfront, broadband and internet, flood alleviation, and new 
approaches to city centre living, roads, parking, walking and cycling;

Page 370



 Developing a leading European location for investment, learning, creativity, leisure 
and living;

 Attracting jobs, firms, and skilled workers who are not already in Leeds from 
across the world, and

 Connecting people to jobs by improving links between the South Bank and 
surrounding neighbourhoods, raising skills levels, and strengthening connections 
between employers, schools and local people 

3.1.2 The masterplan provides greater definition of how to achieve these vision themes. 
In addition, the purpose of the framework framework is to:

 Provide a single plan that can guide the way the city develops its policies for 
future development in the South Bank and deliver the once in a lifetime growth

 Provide guidance on the infrastructure requirements for the area including the City 
Park, flood alleviation, social and community facilities, public realm and digital 
infrastructure. 

 Set out the city’s vision for how HS2 is best integrated into the city’s urban grain 
and economic vision to help guide the detailed design of the HS2 station and 
developments immediately near it. This is with the purpose of achieving a world 
class gateway that projects an image befitting of Leeds’ role as an international 
city. 

 Make proposals to better connect adjoining neighbourhoods to the prosperity and 
growth in the South Bank.  

 Clarify the strategy for the transport network in the area, including major proposals 
to redefine the road network for South Bank.

 Act as a platform to develop a delivery plan, funding bids and delivery plans to 
deliver the infrastructure and achieve the level of ambition the framework sets out. 

 Build upon successful regeneration of the area, to complement the Holbeck, 
South Bank SPD (approved by Executive Board in June 2016), the Core Strategy, 
Aire Valley Area action plan and to act as a basis for future planning policy 
updates where appropriate.

3.1.3 The framework reinforces many long held aspirations for the area, whilst 
introducing greater definition to infrastructure delivery and an area wide approach. 
The document is not intended to be prescriptive and is intended as a flexible 
framework that developers, investors and decision makers can use to ensure 
activities align to the South Bank vision. 

3.1.4 Appendix 2 provides a boundary for the area that has shaped this framework, and 
covers 180 hectares of land south of the River Aire. There is more detailed 
guidance for a smaller area where the Leeds Station is proposed, and this more 
detailed guidance on this area may become a basis for new planning policy to 
supersede the existing South Bank SPD.

Page 371



3.1.5 However, there is no fixed boundary for the South Bank, and the principles of 
regeneration and the framework are intended to cover a broad geography without 
restricting where regeneration will take place, or where the intended investments 
or benefits will go.

3.2 Framework Proposals

3.2.1 The framework provides background on the South Bank and has three main 
sections: 1) delivery principles; 2) Area wide moves, and 3) The HS2 station and 
hinterland. 

3.3 Principles

3.3.1    These delivery principles are strategic in nature and are intended to ensure that
   the regeneration and growth of the area of the area is joined up and cohesive. 

3.3.2 These are not just focussed on physical interventions, but how work is co-
ordinated in the area. These seek to ensure that the city achieves its vision for the 
area, whilst tackling some of the major issues in the South Bank currently (such 
as dominance of roads, socio-economic and physical barriers for adjoining 
residents, and the quality of public spaces).  The 8 strategic principles are 
summarised as follows:

1. Compassionate Growth and Connecting People to jobs;
2. Urban Life – the South Bank is an attractive and walkable part of city; 
3. Connected Open Space Network – Living and working in South Bank is 

supported by a diverse suite of open spaces that cater to all;
4. Responsive Built Environment – Quality Built Form all work together to 

support a new iconic place in Leeds;
5. Integrated Station – A HS2 station integrated seamlessly with the city’s urban 

fabric becomes part of the city’s everyday life; 
6. Generating Value – Distributing value generated through HS2 and South 

Bank regeneration;
7. Resilience & Sustainability – a resilient and sustainable South Bank 

embraces, social, economic and environmental goals contributing to a higher 
quality of life in Leeds; 

8. Effective Governance – the city will lead a collaborative approach to 
governance in delivering the regeneration vision for South Bank.

3.3.3 A headline of some of the framework principles contained include:

 A robust delivery plan and vision will seek to ensure that the city makes the most 
of the regeneration opportunity before and after HS2 is constructed. 

 The city will work collaboratively with residents, the Chamber, developers and 
landowners to attract new jobs to the city and work collaboratively to address 
barriers to regeneration and growth: co-production will be at the centre of the 
approach.

 The city will be proactive and secure funding to deliver the infrastructure the city 
needs to attract new jobs and homes in the South Bank, using the framework as 

Page 372



an influential tool.  Investing in new technologies and ensuring that there is a 
strong diversity of uses from independent businesses to digital, to larger 
commercial operations will be part of this work. 

 The South Bank regeneration will have mechanisms are in place to improve the 
availability of jobs for local people and improving connections between 
businesses, schools and local people is a priority.

 The South Bank will be safe, lively, attractive, healthy and sustainable and will be 
a ‘Green and Blue’ area, with green landscaping and the waterfront being key 
elements of for the growth of the area.

 The South Bank accommodates everyday life, with development decisions 
considering how people will best access jobs, quality choices in schools and 
education, community facilities and leisure. This includes social spaces – public 
realm, playgrounds, schools and cafes 

 There will be increased mobility options – including greater public transport 
options and spaces will be designed for climate– ensuring spaces are light and 
sunny, with environmentally sustainability measures embedded to make the area 
resilient to the effects of climate change. 

 The fine street grain and heritage of the South Bank will help to shape its future, 
and how developments will be varied in scale and shape.

 In the South Bank, human scale development is advocated, alongside some 
sensitively planned taller buildings at certain locations. There will be a diverse 
range of uses and a mixture of architectural responses across the areas of the 
city.

 Regeneration approaches will seek to be agile and flexible, to capture emerging 
opportunities. The Council will provide leadership to consider the urban 
management plans to ensure the area is animated, safe and clean. This will 
include considering a potential BID for the South Bank to support the activities of 
businesses across the area.

3.3.4 These strategic principles are expanded upon in greater detail in the framework 
and will form an important part of the consultation on the document.

3.4 Key Moves – Concept Proposals 

3.4.1 The framework considers how, through physical changes, ‘moves’ to help achieve 
the vision and the principles set out above. These are centred on nine Strategic 
Key Moves. These are included as a basis to shape a delivery plan for 
infrastructure in the area and act as a catalyst for transformational changes. The 
nine key moves are:

1. Creating a rationalised road hierarchy; 
2. Improving access beyond the inner ring road;
3. Implementing a sustainable parking strategy;
4. Expanding the pedestrian area;

Page 373



5. Connecting the green and blue network;
6. Activating the waterfront;
7. Adapting heritage and ink existing heritage assets;
8. Creating and revitalising centres; and
9. Improving resilience and sustainability.

3.4.2 Concepts are included as a basis for consultation and further feasibility this 
includes:

 Making the River Aire and areas close to it world class leisure, events and 
recreation space that is at the very heart of the city centre and is transformed 
into a place for people of all ages to enjoy, through play, leisure and best 
practice in sustainable design;

 Transforming the road network within the South Bank to provide streets which 
are pedestrian, and cycle friendly with a high quality people focussed design, 
drawing upon best urban design practice from across the world;

 Creation of six major pieces of public open space in the South Bank, including 
a forecourt for HS2, as well as spaces for events, play and animation;

 The Green City Centre Park as a major piece of Green Infrastructure to serve 
the area and wider city;

 Continuing the vision of a mixed use neighbourhood, with clustering of a 
variety of land uses, with zones for commercial development, residential and 
housing, social infrastructure, education;

 The potential for landmark, taller buildings and major leisure destinations to be 
developed in the area at certain locations;

 Limiting retail to ancillary usage, and the principle of continuing to nurture the 
growth of independent food, beverage and retail within the area;  

 Improved physical and cultural connections to adjacent communities;

 Expansion of the Public Transport Box south of the river ensuring high quality 
public transport provision connecting the HS2 station and the South Bank to 
the rest of the city centre and to surrounding neighbourhoods;

 Provision of strategically located short stay and long stay car parks in and near 
the South Bank, supported by strategic Park &Ride, in line with the council’s 
parking policy; and

 Innovative ideas to mitigate the potential implications of floods including 
potential Flood Channels and urban forests within the area.

3.4.3 These concepts include options that can be the subject of further feasibility work.

3.5 Station and Hinterland

Page 374



3.5.1 The Council took the lead by initiating a review of the HS2 station location, and, 
by working closely with HS2 and partners across the city, was able to persuade 
Sir David Higgins to make a recommendation to change the location of the 
proposed HS2 station. 

3.5.2 The Council is continuing to be proactive to make the most of this opportunity, and 
the framework provides a more detailed analysis of the HS2 part of the station, 
and the zone of land in and around HS2 to define the city’s vision for regeneration 
in and around the area. In particular, the framework sets out the city’s vision fto 
deliver a world class-transport gateway that will be a major hub for the region.

3.5.3 This section of the framework focuses on the geography broadly covered by the 
existing South Bank SPD. This will be used as a basis to shape the Council’s 
dialogue with Government and HS2 on the design of the HS2 station, and the 
extent of development in HS2’s immediate hinterland. 

3.5.4 The framework sets guidance for this area including:

 Design principles for HS2 station that will guide the development of a world class 
architectural design for the station and ensure that the station fits into the city’s 
urban grain and achieves the city’s ambitious proposals for the area;

 Early proposals, subject to further diligence, to remove traffic from Neville Street, 
transforming this and the Dark Arches into a shared concourse between HS2 and 
the existing station – linking to a transformed City Square with reduced traffic and 
a people focused environment;

 A zone of development around the station that is for major commercial occupier 
could include taller, landmark buildings that achieve the highest quality in design 
standards;

 A zone for SME and independent businesses as part of the HS2 station, as well 
as a logistical centre; 

 A high number of connections through the station to improve permeability, with 
emphasise on ground floor usages, such as bars, restaurants, to create vitality 
and make the station a destination in its own right;

 Creation of a ‘local district’ of facilities close to HS2 and located close to adjoining 
neighbourhoods, to serve the entire area, including social infrastructure such as 
dentists, doctors and other facilities to support the vision of a lively mixed use 
environment;

 Proposed locations for car parks, bus stops, taxi stops and other interchange 
options that are located and designed to achieve the city’s vision for the South 
Bank as a world class destination; and

 Proposals for temporary usages whilst the station is under construction to ensure 
that the area continues to function as a high quality destination as major work 
takes place.

Page 375



3.6 Consultation

3.6.1 Subject to Executive Board endorsing these proposals, it is proposed that public 
consultation on the framework runs from August until November to help co-
produce the final version of the plan. Following consultation, it would be the 
intention to report back to Executive Board with a proposed final draft of the 
framework. There has been informal consultation to shape this current draft as set 
out at section 4.1.

3.6.2 A variety of methods are proposed to gather views and perspectives, including 
use of events, blogs, online questionnaires, Twitter, Facebook, a series of 
seminars on the future of South Bank, writing to all residents and businesses in 
the South Bank boundary, a roadshow of consultation events across the city as 
well as a chance for residents and interested parties to host their own events 
based on their own ideas for the future of South Bank. It is also proposed to 
engage with schools, and to ensure young people from across the city can help 
shape the proposals through targeted consultation. There will be focussed 
consultation with the Chamber of Commerce, landowners and businesses in the 
South Bank to build upon the consultation that has taken place to date (and as set 
out at section 4.1)

3.6.3 The proposed consultation will not seek to constrain the debate and will allow 
comments on any topic, with an open invitation for any opinions and ideas to be 
offered. 

3.6.4 Areas where specific feedback will be sought include identifying what the city’s 
vision for the Green City Park is –  for example what function and form should it 
have?; How the South Bank can become a leading destination for living, working 
and leisure; Thoughts on the potential for taller buildings in certain areas of the 
South Bank and Feedback on specific proposals to transform the road network, 
and in particular proposals to remove general traffic from City Square, Neville 
Street and concepts to create a hierarchy of streets to serve an expanding  city 
centre. 

3.7 Next Steps

3.7.1 The framework is intended to act as a mechanism for the delivery of activities that 
achieve the vision for the South Bank. The immediate work will be to develop and 
deliver a comprehensive plan to co-ordinate the delivery of the framework 
ambitions to ensure that the city secures the funding and investments required to 
deliver its vision. It is proposed to diligently move at pace to develop this so Leeds 
is able to secure early buy in to its proposals and secure the funding required to 
deliver its plans. 

3.7.2 This next section considers five areas where further work will be progressed. 

3.8 Short Term Enhancements, Urban Management

Page 376



3.8.1 A delivery plan will include short, medium and long term interventions and it is 
proposed that there will be work to make short term and temporary 
enhancements. It is proposed that proposals for the day to day place 
management are recommended to Executive Board later in the year to establish 
the short term interventions to improve the safety, cleansing, vitality and animation 
of the area including meanwhile uses. This has been flagged up by partners as a 
major priority improvement area. Such work will seek to be very closely aligned to 
the Culture Strategy and 2023 bid, with a focus on doing things differently through 
co-production. 

3.8.2 To support this, the Council will look to improve the condition of its sites in the 
South Bank. The Council owns sites at Bath Road in the South Bank and has 
secured a £575k loan from WYCA to remediate the sites. It is proposed that 
remediation will take place over the next 12 months and will remove risks for 
future development at the sites. Remediating will also improve the overall 
environment in this area Executive Board approval to inject this funding into the 
capital programme is therefore sought. 

3.8.3 Further, there will be a focus on proactively delivering in the short term growth and 
Development working with partners and stakeholders to build upon the successful 
initiatives over the previous 18 months. This will include working with major 
landowners such as Burberry, Vastint, CEG, CITU and Allied London, and 
organisations such as Duke Studio, the Tetley and other major occupiers. Whilst 
the framework provides a strong spatial framework, further work could take place 
to look at the broader approach in the South Bank to support growth across key 
sectors. 

3.8.4 An important consideration will be to explore any implications for surrounding 
neighbourhoods to South Bank, including the potential employment and skills 
initiatives to secure jobs for local people, and how to deliver improved connections 
to these areas. Such work will be complementary to proposals set out at today’s 
Executive Board on empty homes and in particular proposals for Holbeck. Work 
will take place to see how elements of the Holbeck Neighbourhood Plan (once 
adopted) could be delivered in a complementary and joined up way. 

3.9 Planning Policy

3.9.1 The framework is consistent with the Holbeck, South Bank SPD that was adopted 
last month. It is acknowledged, however, that the framework introduces concepts 
that mean that the South Bank SPD adopted in 2010 may now be dated, and that 
this may facilitate a review of this planning policy, whilst the proposals for taller 
buildings in the framework may also require a review to provide clarity to 
developers and investors on the city’s position on tall buildings in the South Bank. 
It is therefore proposed that the Chief Planning Officer reviews these matters with 
view of making recommendations for any updates and the consultation exercise 
will be a means by which to test stakeholder’s views on these matters. 

3.10 Growth Strategy and Delivery

Page 377



3.10.1 The city is developing proactively its HS2 Growth Strategy to deliver its vision for 
the Leeds Station and South Bank. With clarity on the location of the HS2 station, 
the city is in a strong position to further develop its delivery plans here. 
Government requires the region to submit a Growth Strategy to maximise the 
economic benefits of HS2 for the city region, including a focussed look at growth 
in the area around the station (e.g. South Bank, and City Square areas).  

3.10.2 It was announced in the Budget that ‘the government will also allocate £4 million 
to develop High Speed 2 Growth Strategies for Manchester Piccadilly, 
Manchester Airport and Leeds stations as part of an integrated long-term plan for 
High Speed 3.’ Leeds City Region was provisionally allocated £1.25m of this 
funding. The city is in a strong position and has already developed baseline work 
on the economic benefits and funding options to deliver a Growth strategy. 

3.10.3 A three pronged approach is proposed - a city region wide economic narrative 
with a skills, supply chain and connectivity package, an integrated plan for Leeds 
Station that incorporates HS2, NPR and local services and is embedded into the 
city and thirdly a focus on the surrounding area around the station of the 
Southbank and City Square to consider the implications of HS2 such as for the 
highway network, public realm, business relocation and how we can maximise the 
benefits.

3.10.4 This provides a basis to develop a delivery and funding plan for key framework 
concepts based on further feasibility studies. It is proposed the Growth Strategy 
needs to identify the costs of interventions in the framework, proposes funding 
options and provides an economic assessment of the benefits. Using the 
framework as a platform to do so, there is now an opportunity, through the funding 
secured, to move these concepts towards delivery

3.11 City Centre Transport Strategy

3.11.1 The Southbank framework is closely aligned with the Council’s City Transport 
Strategy presented at Executive Board in October 2015. The framework presents 
a framework to capture the opportunities the WYTF City Centre transport package 
(CCTP) provides. Removing through traffic from this part of the city offers the 
opportunity to diversify the highways and provide a clear street hierarchy which 
supports adjacent land uses and urban life.  Consultation on the framework and 
City Centre Transport strategy are planned to run concurrently to ensure the 
views of a wide range of stakeholders are captured.  

3.11.2 As well as improvements to the inner ring road and M621, The CCTP proposes to 
close City Square to through traffic in order to provide an improved public realm 
and a world class gateway to the city, suitable for the arrival of HS2 and Northern 
Powerhouse Rail. The next stage of this project is to define the vision for city 
square and therefore, as part of the consultation, key stakeholders and the public 
will be asked to consider what they would like City Square to be and how it should 
be used. 

3.12    Integrated Leeds Station

Page 378



3.12.1 The framework provides detailed guidance on the city’s vision for the HS2 station, 
and this reflects principles previously agreed by Executive Board.

3.12.2 As agreed at the Executive Board in December, the Council has been working 
with HS2 Ltd, DfT, Network Rail, Transport for the North and WYCA on the 
development of an integrated station. There are a number of different projects that 
will help transform Leeds Station – the Transpennine Route Upgrade, HS2, and 
Northern Powerhouse Rail (sometimes referred to as HS3) and alongside these 
the aspiration to have a station that is a world class gateway that delivers an 
excellent passenger experience and is seamlessly integrated into the transport 
network and the city itself.

3.12.3 Using the South Bank framework as a basis for further work, it is proposed to 
bring together the existing projects and aspirations into a single plan (reference 
case) for the station. It is proposed to procure work, in partnership with others, to 
create this reference case. The reference case design will set out the options for 
the location and operation of the main station functions (such as entrances and 
exits and the concourse). It is proposed that this work will provide details of how 
its delivery can be phased to allow improvements to be delivered in stages in a 
way which is future proofed in the context of the long term plan, and enables us to 
lever private sector finance for the retail and commercial development 
opportunities. The outcome from this will be a single delivery plan for an 
integrated station to deliver an integrated station befitting of the city’s ambitions. 

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1  The draft framework has been subject to consultation with the Leader of the 
Council and Executive Member for Transport, Regeneration and Planning. 

4.1.2 Early proposals contained within the framework have been shared at two events 
for South Bank landowners, civic partners and businesses; each attended by over 
100 delegates. This has shaped the consultation draft.

4.1.3 There was also a call for ideas launched in March 2016, and ongoing dialogue and 
collaboration with the Chamber of Commerce who have published a report setting 
out how they can support the city to deliver our ambitions in the area. There is a lot 
of commonality between the Chamber and the Council on the vision and next 
steps on the South Bank. There will continue to be close working with the 
Chamber, landowners and business representative as the framework moves 
towards finalisation and as further more detailed work commences to develop the 
comprehensive delivery plan.

4.1.4   An earlier version of the draft was shared with the Chamber of Commerce, Leeds 
Sustainable Development Group, Leeds Civic Trust Allied London, Asda, Vastint, 
Burberry, Commercial Estates Group, HS2 and Network Rail on an informal basis. 
This has emphasised diverging views on building density, how prescriptive the 
plan should be on land use, and the role of a city park. However, there has been 
common feedback for the city to be bolder on its vision statement, be less 
focussed on HS2, and to make the document clearer. There has also been 

Page 379



feedback on ensuring the South Bank advocates a truly sustainable mixed use 
neighbourhood. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 An equality screening has taken place, and this has helped to shape the 
recommendations in this report. It is acknowledged that the framework will help to 
shape transformational growth and could therefore play a major role in 
overcoming inequality in the city, especially through the high quantum of jobs that 
the regeneration of South Bank will create. The changes to the physical 
environment could also improve accessibility for those with face access barriers. 

4.2.2 It is proposed that the equality assembly forms part of the consultation for the 
framework and that an Equality Impact Assessment is undertaken post 
consultation on the proposed final version of the framework in recognition of the 
major changes to the city that it may facilitate, and the importance of considering 
all equality matters in shaping the final vision for the area. 

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The proposals contained within the framework will help to achieve the Best 
Council Plan priorities of Leeds being: A Strong Economy and a Compassionate 
City. They will help to address inequality through the major job creation the South 
Bank will facilitate. 

4.3.2 In addition, the framework can directly contribute to the delivery of priority 
outcomes for 2016/17, including: supporting economic growth and access to 
economic opportunities; supporting communities, raising aspirations; providing 
enough homes of a high standard in all sectors; supporting children to have the 
best start in life; improving air quality; helping deliver a well-connected transport 
system; providing an inclusive, accessible range of transport options; supporting a 
resilient, inclusive, cultural and creative sector, and enhancing the quality of our 
public realm and green spaces

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The framework has been funded from existing revenue budget and the proposals 
to undertake consultation will utilise existing budget provision. As set out in the 
report, the city region will receive a Government grant to fund the Growth Strategy 
work, and it is proposed this funding will be used to develop delivery plans for key 
concepts contained within the framework. The proposals for further technical work 
on the city centre transport strategy will be funded from existing funding pots 
received to develop this work. 

4.4.2 In addition, it is proposed that dialogue takes place with the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority to establish where funding could be available to fund 
framework proposals. The next steps will be to develop a funding plan to deliver 
interventions and this will explore a wide range of proposals. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

Page 380



4.5.1 The report is subject to call in and there are no legal implications at this stage in 
undertaking consultation. 

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 There is a risk that, with a coherent plan, the city does make the most of the once 
in a generation opportunity for the regeneration of the South Bank. The framework 
seeks to address this. Important to mitigating this risk is ensuring that the 
consultation is as wide ranging as possible and that as many people, stakeholders 
and businesses take part so that the framework and vision best reflects the city’s 
ambitions for the area. 

5 Conclusions

5.1 The South Bank regeneration initiative is one of the country’s largest opportunities 
to capture growth, create jobs and tackle inequality. The delivery of a framework 
will help to guide the regeneration of the area for generations to come, and will 
achieve a wide range of Best Council objectives. It is proposed to undertake 
comprehensive public consultation on the proposals, and to start to develop a 
delivery plan to deliver concepts contained within the framework, including the city 
centre park, public realm, transport changes and a single plan for the new Leeds 
Station 

6.0 Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to:

i) Support the ambitions for the South Bank and Leeds Station, and request 
that the Director of City Development:

a) Undertakes a three month public consultation on the South Bank 
frameworkregeneration framework and associated city centre 
transport proposals, commencing in August 2016.

b) Develops the HS2 Growth Strategy as per the proposals contained in 
paragraph 3.10 of this report, including a delivery and funding plan to 
deliver proposals contained within the framework. 

c) Develops, in partnership with others, a single reference case design 
for Leeds station, which includes the opportunity to phase 
improvements and considers how third party funding could help 
deliver change.

ii) Request that the Chief Planning Officer reviews the Council’s South Bank 
SPD and policy framework relating to taller buildings in the South Bank with 
a view to recommending how the framework may facilitate updates or 
changes to existing policies. 

iii) Injects a £575,000 loan from West Yorkshire Combined Authority into the 
Councils capital programme to fund the ground remediation to four sites off 
Bath Road.

Page 381



iv) Note that the Director of City Development is responsible for these actions 
and request a further report on these matters later in 2016.

7 Background documents1 

7.1    N/A

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 382



SOUTH BANK

LEEDS

Draft Regeneration Framework

Executive Summary of Draft Key Proposals

Page 383



INTRODUCTION

I This summary sets out the key draft proposals contained within
the South Bank Regeneration Framework as a basis for
comprehensive public consultation and feasibility work.

The images are conceptual, and precise layouts of proposals will
be defined through feasibility work and informed by consultation
responses.

This executive summary shows plans for
. The 9 key moves
. The proposed new 6 pieces of open space and the principles to guide

what types of spaces these should be

. The three concepts of a green city centre park

. lllustrative plans of the city boulevard

. The regeneration vision around the HS2 station and station design
principles, including land use and massing

Page 384



9 Key Moves

2.IMPROVEACCESS
BEYONDTHE INNÊR RING
ROAD

5. CONNECTTHE GREEN
& BLUE NETWORK

s.CREATEAND
REVITALISE
CENTRES

3.IMPLEMENTA
SUSÍAINABLE PARKING
STRATEGY

,^
ô

I
I
I
I

6. ACTIVATE THE WATERFRONT

1
¿

9, IMPROVE RESILIENCE
AND SUSTAINABILITY

I
I
I
I

,¿/

I
I
I

I

I
II

I
I
I
I
I
I
fv

^f
I

¿
l.7

v
T

/

l.CREATEA
RATIONALISËD ROAD
HIERARCHY

4, EXPANDTHE
PEDESTR'ANAREA

7, ADAPT HÉRITAGE AND
LINK Ð(ISTING ASSETS

Page 385



1.

INFLUENCES

The 4653 creates a maìor east /
west divide through the heart of
South Bânk
Heavy traffic ctoss to the southern
edge of the river timits the
expans¡on of the c¡ty cåntre and
access to the water
Congest¡on of The Calts and
Sw¡negate along the City C€ntre
Loop
Abitíty to use roads as rat runs
through to ôthêr parts ôf ths city
OveÍ-engineered road network is
occupying potontial devêtopmsnt
land

Create a rational¡sgd and distributed road

hierarchy that i ncreasEs local connectivity

and roduces city centre congest¡on.

INTENDED OUTCOMES

A clear movement gystem
h¡erarchy: lnner R¡ng Road > City
Boutevãrd > Pedestr¡an Precinct
(Public Transport Box) all tied
together with a f¡ne gra¡n network
Tranaformat¡on and êxpansion of
the Urty Ue!1tro Loop lo a stower
more pedestrian and cycte friendly
Çity Boulevard
Establishment of a strong
new east./ west route (the C¡ty
Bout6vard)
Reduct¡on in traffic levels atong
Water Lane, Great Witson Street
and Hunslett Lane

pâsseig De StJoân 8o¡rlevard. Barceloôa
OAdna Goula

- 
rnn€rÍngrord

-Cityboul.vôrd3 Ped6sr¡on 0."n" 
"n,(publcùôñ6pd 

bx)
aoa Slratêg¡c grêcn tinls
... Frñérdrô¡n ndwork

-a

)

,h

0 lø 200n

Page 386



2. lmprove pedestrian and cycle accessibÍtity
to the city centre from beyond the lnner

INFLUENCES

lnadequate qual¡ty and quânt¡ty
of cyct¡ng and pedestrian
connections to areas outs¡dê of
the lnner R¡ng Road
Land uses and frontages atong
ex¡sting con¡lections d¡scourage
movement
Ðes¡gn of exist¡ng connect¡ons
lack securíty ánd teg¡bility

aaa Srotagic dÞ6n l¡nko
... Finergr.in.turk
lll Conn€ctions hyond innd ring õdd

Unclerpass

3, Cometsry Road bridge

INTENDED OUTCOMES

. Fíve new or improved strategic
pedestrian & cycle connections
into South Bânk and the c¡ty
centre from the eâst. west and
south

. Ðscrease in vehicular traffic and
i¡rcreases in sustainable rnodes
of travel

. Growth of development
opponun¡ties along those
coñnect¡ons

. Grêâtêr inctusivity for areas lying
beyond the lnner Ring road

. lncrease in shared act¡v¡t¡es and
seryices between neighbourhoods

_a

rhe 9{€h Lrre OJames Corne. Fretd Operatrorls {projecl Leadi!rrth 3rL[er,
Sófid¡o I RenfrÕ añd Prel Oudolf

2.
5.

4.

T
O

r#/

0 !d 2mm

Page 387



3. lmplement an effectivs parking and public

transportation strategy to create safer

INFLUENCES

City cefitre pr¡vate vehiote
congegt¡on
Neêd for a sustâinabte c¡ty-widê
park¡ng and transport strâtegy

INTENDED OUTCOMES

Ðrivers encouraged to segk
altârnativ6 forma of transport to
the city centrê through a vâriêty
of parking ánd pubt¡c transport
sotut¡ons
An opportun¡ty for a step change in
pubt¡c trãnsport u9e
Cftâtiùfr ùf sâfÐr, hûätthier,
and more enjoyâb[e city æntre
onvironmentg
Dacrease ¡n veh¡cte congest¡on in
thê city cenÌre

Park & Ridê

$r¿t€éic LonÉ Stay
bngSlry
Shod st¡y

aoao

Poppletrn 3ar Park ânci Ride, York @Cìty ofYork Counr¡l

Ïhe concept for the parking strategy a¡ms to reduc6 veh¡cte intens¡ty towards thê city centre and
the pedestr¡an box. Iherefore, pârk ånd rides are located outs¡de the outer r¡ng road, long stay
parking ¡n located oütside the city boulevard and predominantly short stay park¡ng ¡s prov¡ded in
the c¡ty centrê.

Parking adjacent to inf râstructure

Mountain dwell¡¡gs lONaotake À/urayama.
Wikimedia Comrnons. CC

Frontage at ground

Battei Valet Park¡ng 6arag9 (ÐArqurtectonrca

Undsrground park¡ng where soil must
be rèmoved due to contam¡nat¡on

0
@

åTec\
o
I

o c
e

l;F;!l¡Iõ

lffi

OErron Shehal, Ftrckr. CC

Page 388



4. Expand the Pedestrian Precinct (Pubtic

Transport Box) and redefine the city
centre to ¡nclude the river and parts of

INFLUENCES

Velricular movement wh'cb cuts
through the ce¡rtre ol South Bank
Suecess of current pedestriân
areas
Lack of iegibitity for pedestr¡ans
and cyc[¡Êts south of Leeds Station

... Strtêg¡ó gr€€n l¡nks
... F nárg.¡rô græn 

^dwork

- 
(ã,, public tran3po.t cLa¡ridor

$ eeaoariro presclent

INTENDED OUTCOMES

lnctusion of the waterfront and
ünfêttered pedestr¡an and cycling
access tô devetopment, pub¡jc
spâces, ênd HS2
A sh¡ft in the perception of the
centre makes South Bank more
attractive for devetopaent
lmproved permeabil¡ty and
{egibit¡ty ac¡oss the area promotes
bus¡nees and sociat connections
Reductioû ¡n city centre traffic
congest¡on
lmproved saiety and heaith
Leeds to position itsetf at the
foref ront reg¡onally ancj nat¡onaity
as'the waltrable city

t

ij.rÊiio!. ¡ìer./ ilrô{i O{ì¡r;-.i À..rir:ieris

Page 389



5. Create a grêen network that connects
through a tegibte system ofstrests, paths,

INFLUENCES

Very [imited amount of pubtic
space
Lack of continu¡ty and teg¡b¡lity
between exist¡ng pubt¡c spacês
Poor connectiv¡ty to the River AiIe
Str6ets which do not consider ltre
pedestrian or cyctist

aaa striteg¡e grËô linkc
... Frn6r8ru,ñ g€€n ôtuork
I puot¡c 

"p.*l¡tr skateêþpuÞticsFce

INTENÐED OUTCOMES

Placss wh¡ch hetp to create locaI
centres and rreighbourhoods
where communit¡es come togethðr
Publ¡c spaces provide a catatyst
for devetopment
lmproved continu¡ty and tegibility
for cyclists and pedestr¡ans
FuuaI pu¡r tLs fut spcuifiu uiLy-witly
events and activit¡es
A mors cycie & pedostrian fr¡endly
env¡ronment everywlìere, but
part¡cutarly ¡n areas with prox¡mity
to the river

I

tlaol\!¡cà Squã re. çuslaf.)r, Por ler @Oirfi:i llânsf:eid

-.r"""''*

ì-.

/.1

il

¡;

Page 390



6. Make the waterfront a contrat ptace of
activiÇ for the city

INFLUENCES

The waterfront is at the periphery
ofthe city centre
Access to the Rivsr A¡re ¡s tim¡ted
fow paths and footways âlong
large parts ofths wat€rfront are
disjo¡nted, iltegibte and of poór
qual¡ty
Pubtíc spac6 a[ong the water ia
very timited

ll ll rotentiot orecotorrvdéúmt ¡mpræm€nt

a Watsúo¡t spacddiúriês

INTENDED OUTCOMES

Enormous dêvel'opment potential
associated w¡th the c¡ty'€ prímary
nâturâl asset
A redÊf¡nit¡on ofthe c¡ty centre
wíth the R¡ver Aire at ¡ts hÊart
A dramatic sflift in the perception
of what the rivêr provides the c¡ty
Now public späces wh¡ch take
advantage of access to the water
Activíties on the water

Brygge harbour,Copenhagen aJiJeoßlngl booseû

ì
!

CD
0 i@ 2@ñ

Page 391



7,

\

Adapt heritage buitdings and tink with
existing assets

INFLUENCES

Co[ection of under-Lrtitised
heritage build¡ngs in SÖuth Eanl(
Lâck of â network that clescribes
the history of tlre area
Assets oftÈ¡ exist in isolation
withoilt clear serse (rf ideDÌity

(, Retn,uLe,eure

O ø--e.",,r

Q cLlture

O e¡u"'ton
Il dearrgÊ \eraor!
O H6rit¡ge Buildin¿

INTENDED OUTCOMES

Creates a strong identiiy and
character especíally whe'l
associateci with pL¡btjc space
Re¡nforce the creat¡on of local
centres
Define a network 0i ¡deßtìiiat le
tocat qualit'es i¡nkiDg places
tlr¡0úBllout llre 0iiy

O

o

rÐo

t

il!i:,ì!r. i :ir Lqrrl4riì!,. i .êili r-a, iìfr i,i.ìrìeìle

a o
fl

o

CI CIo

otr)

âî)

0
CIOCI

oo

(Ò

o a

o
o o

CI

a-|-r

0 1@ 2@ñ

Page 392



8. Create and rEvitalise esntros by clustering
complimentary land uses.

INFLUENCES

Currsntly lârge areas of South
Bank hâve s¡ngutar uses.
Residentiat nê¡ghbourhoods lack
centres and their âssoc¡ated uaes.
lsolatsd [and uses requ¡re morB
frequent and tonger travet

INTENDED OUTCOMËS

A ser¡es of ne¡ghbourhoods wh¡ch
support each other in ordsr to
support changing economiês
Employment of density around
centres w¡th strong assoc¡atgd
transport i¡nks
M¡x of use€ tocated in close
prox¡m¡ty to crsate watkâble
neighþourhoods with tonger
per¡ods of activity
Some areae that slìoutd be
reinforcôd ¡nclude Holbeck Urban
Viltage, the education cluater
developing âtong Hunslet Roãd,
Leêds Dock, Huñslet R¡vers¡de, and
the Cârlsberg s¡te

-a

BishopsSquare. London @Sp¡talf'elds_Ê, Ftckr,CC

t

ta
O
o
O
c
tc

RdoiY Lei6ure

Her¡t¿ge Eulldr¡g

¡¡

&

e
o

n\
0 td 2mm

'.t

Page 393



I lmprovo rosilience and sustalnabitity,r 
specificatty contribut¡ng to the overatl Ftood

Atleviation Stratogy for Leede and the South

INFLUENCES INTENDED OUTCOMES

. Provides a piece of the puzzle to
ensuring a morê sustâ¡nabte and
res¡tient South Bank
Croates safer envíronments for
busingssss and res¡dents
lncreases liketihood of ¡nvestment
in thB arêa

{.# Pobda¿r b@rbn ro. w¿þr r&fl.n
_ar--- Pamsabtfyof vìodúd

--- tutóñríd Hôl &ckdivffiioñ

Opportun¡t¡sê for impt€m6nting
additíonat flood resitience to build
oñ thê banèfits of Phase 1 Ftood
Altoviat¡on Scheme (æmptstíng ¡n
Spring 201 7) in the context of new
developmont in tfle South 8ank.

0 lm 200ñ

I
t---

{Ð

a C<ar

J
t

I

¡¡

O

i
IL

)

Page 394



Open Space
A CT}HI'IECTED 6REEI'I & ELUE [.IET$'T}HK

É. nra eoçarded blue and green rxtv¡urk ie at tfie he¡rÈ sf c
banefrrr¡ud and ttrrivirg gouth Eanlc ñedsigfred atroritp,
nau¡ Lrban sp,ffi end perke, þoùher with neyr inçrowd
ecceqa snd actiuitier elongthe wdtarf rmt s¡ak to crsob
¡ fundamentsl. tr¡ncfurmatisn ofthe røry peopÞ aæ end
¡¡attheBouth Eonl+-

Distänce

FedestriEna hs'¡* the rbitity to walk bstr¡¡san ¿ny sf the
propoaed public sp€E* in under l0 minutae. An ¡ddiiional
6-t0 minr¡bq tslse thelî s¡th€r nuth to $ty $quare
er EriggaÞ, lrret to l-folbs* Urbon Mttage r eoet to
Leede [)od<.,4 nçtr¡nrkd distinet pub{b spacse alloura
pedætriane ¡nd qrcliet¡ & erwunter a wide variety øf
plar*e eech with their oy¡r oluræte¡.

€ltySqrfl

ttd*rhlnFt¡r rrtytut

âtFr¡ml¡ÊÇrrr¡

l¡¡¡l¡r

Vi*íbility

I-agibil¡ty ¡¡d viaitilþ ere importent oornponervta in
the frrmøtion sf e Eôh€€¡rÆ and integrated mrboorh
l¡/qyfirdirg end aignage hrve cn obryisus rote to ptay.
houmrar the quslity ond €h¡rncter üf sÈr€ete Elso infur¡n
the way pedaatriene ard qdiE*E nrcvethrough the Souttt
Bsnk.

I

i
I

¡ì,

ffi

Page 395



Open Space
AHAÍTMY OF A CO}I!'IECTET} HETÌTORK

hbrft - South Streots

gbede setsbliafi the drustrJm of ttw open apace
ebrhgy. tÞrabury Rd.. l{id¡cæ.SL ¡nd !¡la¡dsw [¡ne sre
ßdmigrùEd to pri¡ritiae pedaetrion+ biqrlee end prbtic
traneport,nfi ile atill allorrirry øff icient,irhirrrt"er moi.€msfit.
Tlraæ rã.JteE prsride a nErr¡la¡fl af ür¡ct acctoatffn
the ssi¡th to sn expended city centre, Eryla|ly vitat to
tlrE Ëouth 3enú& s¡cceer, thea+ attrratlvet¡ rrdeaignad
enyirurimsñts wilt sttrast ner¡r bus¡nffiBe snd htp
eupport trsr and qçanded neighbourhoode.

Ths Arbar

Tha .Aräor i¿ ¡ maJor rww green axia runrúng east tt
r¡¡set which cúræc.lx Tgrrple $/orl¡E tE l¡rde Oodc Th¡s
Etflm tor*g rq¡te is rËtuniionn inoualiÇ br¡t inets€d an
arseørblaga af digtirst surfeÕs* end epeoæ- lt combinea
rgdsigrg¿ *ru¡ta ¡uch es 8¡chRc¡,y,the sout}tm FlB2

corcar¡aE fiorscor.rrt rnd e v*ktyd puHic apecee at
diffurent e*¡te* u¡l¡bh orffir a range of erûivitiEo- ilorth *

eouth linkegee. aræh æ l-turdet Ëbay. will prodde acceaa
to ths Fhisr A¡rs end tñB hiatoric city centre ue r¡æll sE nËru

snd eEfnþtiehÊÉ sress of d€,rstsp¡nent in the south-

StitchingEe*tblffi

Additionsl eoet - $eEt routEe eneure atrongaonnæ.tiviþ
throqhdtlu Eouur Benkïbe apocing behreen the¡*
ruutea hae bæn choeen to øeate appmprieiety eiaad.
walkabte oity btocke that grorrrøb choitç ard frcedorrl
sf moLsment.å hþh degree of pernreebitiþthra+rghthe
visdust eleo improvee rwitienoe Þy red*,rcing the aiæ ard
nurùr sf beniere to potentirt ftsod water mslemsnL
New pub{ic e pacae along tha nryth end eout}r of the ri¡¡eç

beginto reintegrsiethe riter bock intrthrciþ

üryåçrrn ãrTÉ

rá

ã¡t*¡l

l.flA

lrnrl¡
h¡l¡r

1

Page 396



6 New Public Spaces

Open Space
A DIVERSITYOFSEACES

lole,¡'appcr EpÐc€E inthç€outh 8¡nkwiål hwea
dietinõti\,Enase sf ch¡ractec adding identityto nsc ¡nd
eri*lin g n*d ghbanrhooda"

t- Et. Fanci* Squ¿re

Lacatsd edJaoeni Èo Be{å{ Eovr åfld eiÈe within s miffid-
u¡ç dar,eloFfiient wçaË of Brirl¡vrrater ffsce",{ r¡irtr¡re sf
mediurn ta {arge cr¡mmErcisÅ buíldinga frame the rpace
tothe nortþ ar¡d ¡Euth.ruhilathe weat ia baderad ûy
reeidenti¡l buitdånge"rctiw groundfhor uaEa aush ås
rË,tÉit ard cammunlty fariliiieE e ¡e enriaaged aru.rrd tha
par,iphery of ttre apace- A mixtu¡e sf søft ard ha¡d aurfacar,
r.¡ith thE paientis¡ for E gay *ea, crvate a epace that raill
¡*r1s 'eeriebÍ gf .Êctî!Ìtiee.

l-York*hire Plåce

,4 ne,r g$awrE aprca io tha Ç*uth Bsn k. Peaærgrra
¡nd pedåBtria{ìa *xitingÉre propo€Éd aharçd concsursa
urdEaneEth ihe 0a:k,Å¡såee vdlÊ arnerge into a kight
south-frcing aFsre e¿it¡ ,J¡Êr.E ere r Grenary ldharf,
Bridgr*rter *ace End thr So¡¡th Bank. lt ç¡ålå be a rna3ar

ne,r piece of publia apace r¡*tfr direut aocaEE to the rlvpr in
ihr ciÈy cenks, r*eetafuliehing tåe vital cqnneshon Þeår.¡een

the cityandthewsta{.

¡

5

s

{F

*.*r br,iing'r;.;Ll.;r1.a-r:iËf,:'t $Fùl5 iârr :* H.il,d"' lt H{rr!r,!}drì ' I fl.: "' rts -s ' ft

àd{tsüfiÊtår FIDôù

Page 397



3.Thelïfhrffort

Tlu mæt pnmimnt nsh¡r¡l ¡aaet in LsEde iE the Fircr
Aira. Nsr rrürffi ryan*r ¡¡at uf ths HSI vi¡*¡d u¡ill

mirbodr¡cE the public b tlw rirnr ¡nd ¡ hoEt sf neu¡

adivitiaallry complimeøtYorkahirr Ram ¡lith srorr
int¡rfirls sürJth*cing rpacee aupported by reehl¡r¡nh
rnd *tça. A n¡n psdssb¡Bn bridgp iE proFoood üEtr{¡€€rt

ËcmeruignSurtu andr new por*intheËouü Ear*.

4.Ci$Prrk

ThsrE iE snrmnr.n pdential in tlt aru¡tion d r nuJor nmn
perk in tlm Souttr EanlcA plaæthsto¡n €Etãblitr a n$tr
irfentit¡ fur the¡¡¡a, c¡n druw peo¡h and onnh frun
all over the city srd regiort uhñø etilt eening tln lþrû1

poprletion nwtd hÊdfbEmãndoræ vah¡EÍrthr tity e* o
wholr-Tlu sp*ifio lncetfun, progr$ltnls ond üruneionE
of the ne¡r p¡rk fü[ bB sst¡H¡shed in ruheqrrnt unrk.

üaE flæri¡Jtrryr isl¡ [nrlrr

5-]ËtËfl¡thrmhmcourt

Ttu FFI aq¡ürfin 00ncfl¡r8Ê fu¡eoourt i¡ ¡ hrd-ecrped
urb¡n Eptoe r¡hich op*ra onh tlt A¡üEr, th* meþ oaat -
wsEt ¡xi¡ running fromTernpb kr¡hrlfr ts l.e€de Uudc.To ttrE

wmt, it prwidæ di¡rst aff¡ostoths hEort ¡f ttx propoeËd

oormerui¡l disùict ffd offirÊdgto l,¡eedt $Hion snd
tity fruare.TothE saet,thøfurEes¡rtnitl leEd inh ¡ more

intirnubely oral¡d Envimnrænt d rtropa, ruetzurantE ¡nd
sffuænithrosttottßritEn

Br¡nfnn,*ünfl rmÍ,¡¡q lllßrçr t¡;

t tlolrm hrk

Ëih¡ated ss¡th af Hotrn¡o Ëtrwt.thir pcrkuill liaatthe
cmtre of a propo¡nd nar nõighbourtrod. Thn rpene ir
mrÉe up of bortr sËrft ¡nd har*ðrpd aurfaoee rnd wilt he

frmted þ amrtt ¡rd nndium enbrpiBp units, ru¡denti¡l
buildirryr ee rrrtl sE emCl-€#ah *hopa and crfee- lt ie

concEiwd sf ¡e s dlsbûrsti'ru mmrnrnityçace houtirqa
rengraf activibiee.

Ftlf ÁEa¿ftí! l-{hñ qrË, hr E¡¡5¡! ¡ûhrú¡fr { Lrrt$ 0ñ{É!
Clùrr'1ù¡l*¡

r{nCi frè-S. fot'r ûi¡'¡ ¡/clrltrtr

Page 398



Open Space
Sf RATEGIES FOR SûJCTESSR'L $HATES

The srnütion sf a publir tpeæ netuork ¡€Slirsa rrræ thon
tfteallocetion of open çaoalnthe fiouth Banhwhrra
ttrre b a dertinitive tack of pubtis aFæe e¡rd connectivity,
slt ctements ãf the btue and gnaen nEtunrk$¡¡ll be required
to rrrork in apergr frr tha ær!¡rurk to be Errcs€flful.

FlariÞh pubtic opecae ofhrirg a rarge d ætivitier rlir.¡dt bE

eupporbd bycctiw land L¡eeecr$ puHictranaport¡nd þe
tinhed Qr o ¡rtvrork sf inctuaive green eteøte. They ehould
pro+rrub uni'rersal ææ. ¡dd to e neighbourhoodb s€nse
of idãrut¡ty. þf s¡rfa and aecurp, tap inb e ny exiatirg not rmt
¡a¡ste¡rd inthe caaeof targrae¡þd epæ. pro¡ncitp

ciþrtide, cnd re$o*at etrente

Accsssib[e for ilt
" ,ù,rarqe of dlffrantaceba and

typea øf prblla sp€Éæ d1ü/td bÉ
pro'vided

' Ðiaeraityof uaea ahouldcppoolto
sfultrurlgeof ueers

' AcoEEeibiliþfweltngEø
. Hrblicrpeoeeahouldbessssre

¡nd wq{t lit to aurpport activitier
rt dift rent ti¡¡re* øf the dey

Frblicïr¡nrport
. Pt¡ôtictrsnaportahouldb*

direc@ li nlwd to importont
piece+of puÞlicep

" Rtinfsrç€s thp crsütûon qf oçntree

" torrhibuùEe to tha legihitþorf
pubtic epaeee

Ëen¡sof srln€ffhip
- Ftùtic epaoea abddencourega

direst ir*srastftin uith loc¿l
residenta, bua¡n€€a€e and
institutima

' 8otæ areea could beall¡coùeditr
allobmervln End urban grrdening
{r¡gcy few eri*ting within I nrtr
Rlne Rosd]

ù*:,( tarelytrh¡.1r¿ rè¡ùrúlafr tþr¡ r}ñtìútÉ.,;1X

I
II

û3b¡r:fr,i-J¡tír l*l:h

Page 399



$afe
' ü+ereightfrornedjeoent

d€lJE{tFm€rTl
. FtiHicepace€ ehould b€sdcure

and wel.l {it þ eupport ectiriËíea at
diffu rent tjmee of the day

Streeta
. Ëkeete ehocrld funstion ae p,rblic

eFecee wh ictr pecgla waff ta
0ccuEf

. EnvironmertB ahould al.l,g$¡

FeoFrle to nËl¡e cornfodrbåy
tfic*¡eh tlr sity

. Unks¡iatingand new

Rsxíble
- Arangeof diffrentecele¡ a¡ld

typee of pub{ic epecee ehould be
prodded

- Spacee ahou{d beda€igned Ëo

prrform ro.r tti ple fu rrtione

F

l{atur¡tAssetå
- Thð RiwrAira ehou{d ba scoeEeibla

and raintegrrted into the cityfebri+
, Fromorle ¡ctiviÈíqa on tha $¡stÉr

Er¡entep¡cã
- Êorrr major public epacea ehouåd

be, deei grrd with fleæibílityto
aålov¡forawide range cf anønta
and¡stiviti€e

. Theae mejor public eFffis.dÌsuld
cater to city-wide, regional and
pofmtidly notional eçent¡

g:l¡'l ¡rr&Ih-ls lÀr{¡':li¡¡;¡rcri¡f,ll.r,f}trlsr¿elltr*lt rtfilJ ûVrt:ú,},,s;rrlrr¡¡*;}.dj-.1*ù:.r':l{ic!ri!Èrl,rlaa

å¡pporting Prugråmrne
. Public ep€oËe eho¡¡ld be

eupported Þ¡ acti'æ frontagea
inctud ing ee{ea re€tsu runtr,
¡rd rEteiå

. Henitege buitdinga end bui{dirge
sf ¡rnhitecturat quatity add te
the chsr¡ctEr o$ pr.lbiic apecee
rrd to the idantity sf pl#Ê

l*] ' ¡ ù . : *tJ. r,; ,r'rlr:'r 1ú,' aå. rk t:¡rtra¡. r-{¡ 
'.k

''' i

¡

E
I

E

þ.

*:r Lrl,lr t'*irìdr"i¡rÐh¡p Fr'Åx, ..:::

Page 400



PARK CONCEPTS

Option I
A lerge aingte píeoe of apen spsca"f,b[eæsccornrfiodats
åarpr oænte ao rrell ao aæryday ueern- lta prcpwtiame

a[sw ueås and ac{ivitie$tu be híghtyflxibb. [t ie situ€rtad

beü,veen the river and theTeüry buitding

it¡fi ÊumFi*ir!, Âr'lebfi fi ür ú$øe ¿, Fli*r" mr

Optio¡l
tor¡eiet$sf a ssrieoof arnelteç rnore üntirrËÞ pfuoosd
opn spÊoe connåctsd S a centra[ grean eBine. Á laryr
degnee of variety offura dlatincfFvertesa ffd indivlTualltyto
adjaoent deve[oprnont-

Fl¿Èrdãa $oryrq, Fúris 8Ftrlr8&¡íhg" ñ¡rùr. 6g

o@a0
$tretchs€ s single piece of opn spacobatrareen the riwr
and Hunslst Hosd- lt crësteû s slssr¡'nüErmontconidon
ftom the riwr to the Educstbn ftscirut and l-eeda Building

Cotlegetotlege.

¡
r@

¡

8up€ft!¡þn. tspsnlqÂn tof*tur, ü¡htFüti8 €.nrnqlr, 0û

Page 401



CITY BOULEVARD

C;çy
C€ntre

Fsdeatr¡ån
Freo¡mt

tnner R¡ng Road

Tlre C¡ty

PgtÐt¡al ñ¡trrr€
ruf¡gnmem

l

;llr.

rllí t
rtli ll

,t'
ff
I

,l
I

ij
i

Page 402



BOULEVARD- DEWSBURY ROAD CONCEPTS

î

Obhi
êrúr¡bd
lÐ8,ù;
Qte
o¡d/

Page 403



î

BOULEVARD- MEADOW LANE CONCEPTS

0b-,
Sródil
0ù.
014,
0rÁr

"-**-

"f

7

Page 404



HS2 Station Design Principles

; ;

+r (/

/

rrr+ F

L Legible station acc€ss

)

2. 0ptimum permeabitity

)

/

,s

3. lntegrated N/S accEss 4. A strong supportive strcet network

Page 405



HS2 STATION DESIGN PRINCIPLES

) )I
_._f1

5. Access to the water

)

c

6.Accessto muttipte modes of travel

)

¿'.-#:

ry

7. Supporting frontage S.Added amenity

Page 406



HS2 STATION DESIGN PRINCIPLES

) )

10. Human scale

å

^
^

./'

K /

9. Detight - architesturat quatity

Page 407



lllustrative Land Use Around HS2 Station

I

@
@

;æ

(

-r-

,Ð @ \Jt(.., f,r

ew
. q-d

)äffi

&
^&lr,. rryft

tr6
H@*r
lo*'tÞ

&
@

¡5â dr.w¡19ôn thri ¡ngâ ihoLrs
ôn€ þdâñtjal ùolution rñongmony
po33rbilit¡63 il dwôlopod occo.ding
tothô Þr¡ñcrpl€eo!tliõ6d h thiô

f Êorûl
: ; comm.rôial/ m,r€d uo€

f, ço,rme..iou,,et¿l
Þðòrd6ô¡rl mir6d ùõð

3 sñolt- mâdrùñóñt€rórt3e
fll q,o,n¿ roo" ..to¡ 

'-nto¡."

Page 408



PUBLIC SPACES AROUND HS2 STATION

.la
{

lii¡
'ii

*___-l
-ì_

L_*+

-a I

s

ììq ìia,
: ili

{-q
l
II

>_

Lr. 1- ì
L.

>-r

\
'\

-\\
\_\,

tJ

!¿l

I
q

:¡.

lþ*!l'¡

\L

þ
j"t

I

ì

I
I

ì

1

I

!,' j
i
I

I

a

It
t
¡

I

ì

t

Ì
t

i

I

I

L!

i
i
i

/-,
q)"' '
'\ -'i\"'* -

\

..'l

t-.-ì r-- i

r*
i.*¡

'
,i¡

j-r

Li

t
I

I

t

\. _ '{ù;,..:t;li5¡.f

)

Page 409



Massing Around HS2 Station

rhi diiãiaBrê ¡bb ôôæshôw.
)É dentrsl r.{uÈron ¡'1rqfr.rñy
po.sibIrê f ¡wåtoÞêd rc.o.di.e
to lheyrnc.pl€s oltlñed iê this

-ñ.

. îfrr¡i^r
ET
Ð

fr

113,'â
I rs-ze
I :g-oo
Iæ'

0-

Page 410



© Crown Copyright and database right 2014
Ordnance Survey LA100019567 

SOUTH BANK STUDY AREA

Path: G:\PLANS AND PROJECTS\Land Records Plans\17600 - 17699\17645A South Bank Study RED LINE.mxd

PREP BY

OS No

PLAN No

M CORDINGLEY

SE3032NW

17645/A
SCALE 1:12,500

DATE SAVED:      01/05/2014

Richmond Hill

Hunslet

South Bank Study Area

Leeds North Bank / City Centre

Holbeck and Beeston

P
age 411



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development Service area: Asset Management and 

Regeneration 
 

Lead person: Lee Arnell 
 

Contact number: 24 75408 

 
1. Title:  
South Bank Regeneration Framework and the Yorkshire Hub 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
This screening document is in relation to a recommendations made to Executive 
Board to commence consultation on a regeneration framework for the South Bank. 
The paper also seeks approval to commence further work on the Yorkshire Hub  
 
The recommendations ask Executive Board to: 

i) Support the ambitions for the South Bank and Yorkshire Hub, and 
request that the Director of City Development: 

a) Undertakes a three month public consultation on the South Bank 
concept masterplan and associated city centre transport 
proposals, commencing in August 2016. 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

X   

Page 413



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

b) Develops the HS2 Growth Strategyincluding a delivery and 
funding plan to deliver proposals contained within the 
masterplan.  

c)  Develops, in partnership with others, a single reference case 
design for Leeds station, which includes the opportunity to 
phase improvements and considers how third party funding 
could help deliver change. 

ii) Request that the Chief Planning Officer reviews the Council’s South 
Bank SPD and policy framework relating to taller buildings in the South 
Bank with a view to recommending how the masterplan may facilitate 
updates or changes to existing policies.  

iii) Injects a £575,000 loan from West Yorkshire Combined Authority into 
the Councils capital programme to fund the ground remediation to four 
sites off Bath Road. 

The regeneration framework proposes, as a basis for co-production, consultation 
and feasibility work: 

i) A vision for the HS2 station (Yorkshire Hub) to guide the delivery of a 
world class station befitting on Leeds’ role as a driver of the Northern 
economy. This the through an architectural statement that fits into the 
urban grain of the city: including early ideas to remove traffic from 
Neville Street, transforming this and the Dark Arches as a concourse 
for the station and major destination, as well as defining a new 
commercial zone of international significance in the hinterland of this 
station; 

ii) Making the River Aire and areas close to it a major leisure, events and 
recreation space for people of all ages to enjoy, through play, leisure 
and high quality design; 

iii) Creation of six major pieces of public open space in the South Bank, 
including a forecourt for HS2, as well as public spaces for events, play 
and animation, in support of the city’s Child Friendly status and 
ambitions to be European Capital of Culture; 

iv) A complete transformation of the road network within the South Bank to 
provide streets which complement the adjacent land uses. This new 
road hierarchy will  provide public transport priority, be pedestrian and 
cycle friendly, and be designed as a high quality people first focussed 
design through a ‘city boulevard concept’ to reduce the feel of car 
dominance;  

v) New routes into the South Bank to adjoining neighbourhoods to 
improve connectivity to surrounding neighbourhoods, with land uses 
supporting the creation of a range of employment opportunities;   

vi) The Green City Centre Park as a major piece of Green Infrastructure to 

Page 414



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

serve the area and wider city; 

vii) Continuing the vision of a mixed use neighbourhood, with the clustering 
of a variety of land uses, with zones for commercial development 
(across a range of sectors), residential and housing, community 
facilities and education. Through this, limiting retail to ancillary usage, 
and the principle of continuing to nurture the growth of independent 
food, beverage and retail within the area; 

viii)The potential for landmark, taller buildings and major leisure 
destinations to be developed in the area at certain locations; 

ix) Innovative ideas to mitigate the potential implications of floods 
including potential Flood Channels and urban forests within the area 

 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

X  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

Page 415



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The whole framework has considered various aspects of equality. There is a heavy 
emphasis on physical changes to the South Bank and the proposals, whilst high level 
and not subject to detail design at this stage, have sought to improve conditions for those 
who may face barriers. Likewise, the framework has considered the fact that the South 
Bank adjoins a number of areas with high levels of socio-economic deprivation, and 
therefore considers how to help tackle these issues. The framework will transform the 
entire city centre, and double it in size, so consideration has been given, in formulating 
recommendations, all equality characteristics as the proposals will have any implication 
for anybody accessing Leeds City Centre.  
 
There have been meetings with colleagues from the equality team to consider, therefore, 
how best to engage various equality groups as public consultation takes place on the 
proposals.  
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
There will be significant interest in the proposals, across all of the equality areas, and in 
particular on accessibility matters and where the station may be concerned. There is 
potential for the consultation not to be inclusive and targeted consultation is required. 
There has not been wide ranging consultation on the draft to date, and the public 
consultation allows an opportunity to gather a wide range of views to ensure equality is 
fully considered in the regeneration framework.  
 
The South Bank has the capacity to provide 35,000 jobs and there is an opportunity for 
this to foster good relations and equality of opportunity and there is a major opportunity in 
overcoming inequality. There is also a real opportunity to improve socio-economic 
connections to the city centre.  
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 

Page 416



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

5

 
 The equality assembly and hubs are consulted through tailored engagement and 

events.  
 Specific efforts to engage with residents in neighbouring communities 
 Ongoing consultation and engagement as detailed design commences on detailed 

projects 
 Further work to connect people to the employment opportunities within the South 

Bank 
 A full equality impact assessment takes place on the post consultation framework, 

due to the significance of the framework and the work that will follow from it.  
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
A Brannen 
 

Head of Regeneration July, 2016 

Date screening completed 7th July, 2016 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  

Date sent: July, 2016 

Page 417



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

6

 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent:  

 
 

Page 418



Report of the Director of City Development

Report to Executive Board

Date: 27th July 2016

Subject: Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan – Submission Draft

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): Burmantofts & Richmond Hill, City & 
Hunslet, Garforth & Swillington, Middleton Park, Rothwell, Temple 
Newsam 

.

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues

1. The Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan (AVL AAP) will form part of the Local Plan 
for Leeds, also known as the Local Development Framework (LDF).  The scope of 
the AVL AAP was established by Executive Board in May 2005, to provide the future 
planning framework to guide the regeneration of an area of the Lower Aire Valley.  
In July 2010 Executive Board agreed to broaden the objectives of the Plan and to 
extend the boundary to align it with the Urban Eco-Settlement Programme and wider 
City-Region ambitions.   

2. The Aire Valley Leeds area extends from Leeds City Centre south east to the M1 
and beyond.  This is a key strategic location for Leeds and the City Region as a 
whole.  The area includes the Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone and a range of 
major development opportunities including the South Bank of the City Centre.  The 
area contains over 400 hectares of development land which can help meet Leeds’ 
need for housing and provide new jobs. The delivery of the AVL AAP is therefore a 
significant step in supporting Best Council Plan (2016-17 Update) priorities to 
support economic growth and access to economic opportunities and providing 
enough homes of a high standard in all sectors.

3. The AVL AAP has been prepared in accordance with the LDF Regulations 
(specifically, the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 

Report authors: David Feeney (74539), 
Adam Harvatt (78120), Paul Bingham 
(78184)

Page 419

Agenda Item 24



Regulations 2012).  This has entailed three separate rounds of public consultation.  
The Plan is now at a very advanced stage.  At their meeting of 15th July 2015 
Executive Board approved the Publication Draft of the AVL AAP for an 8 week 
period of public consultation, to enable further representations to be made.  
Following the completion of the consultation period (from 22nd September to 16th 
November 2015) and consideration of representations received (a total of 61 
representations were received), a small number of minor changes are proposed to 
the Publication Draft.  Following consideration of consultation representations to the 
Plan a number of changes were presented to and supported by Development Plan 
Panel on the 1st March.  On the 10th May 2016 Development Plan Panel were 
presented with a comprehensive officer response to all proposed changes to the 
Plan. The Panel have recommended the full suite of changes to the Plan to 
Executive Board (and following consideration by Scrutiny Board on the 17th May, 
see Appendix 6) for approval, and to recommend to Council that the Plan be 
submitted to the Secretary of State for Examination.  The 10th May report to 
Development Plan Panel is attached as Appendix 1.

4. The next stage is for the AVL AAP (Publication Draft and schedule of pre-
submission changes) to be formally “Submitted” to the Secretary of State for 
Independent Examination (pursuant to section 20 of the 2004 Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act), following consideration by Executive Board and Council.   

Recommendations

5. Executive Board is invited to: 

i) Agree the contents of the 10th May Development Plan Panel report in 
Appendix 1. This report detailed 1) officer responses to representations to 
the publication draft Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan consultation, 2) 
proposed pre-submission changes to the Publication draft AVLAAP and 
Sustainability Appraisal, and 3) the process of technical and Background 
Paper amendments to the documents which will support the plan and form 
the Submission documents for the Planning Inspectorate.

ii) Recommend to Council that the ‘Submission Draft’ of the Aire Valley 
Leeds Area Action Plan (including Sustainability Appraisal Report and 
addendum in Appendix 4) be submitted to the Secretary of State for 
Examination. The ‘Submission Draft’ is shown in Appendix 2, with a 
consolidated schedule of pre-submission changes in Appendix 3.

iii) Note that the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan has been prepared by 
officers within the Plans and Policies Group under the direction of the 
Head of Strategic Planning.  Following Executive Board and Council 
approval, the plan will be submitted to the Secretary of State for 
Examination by an independent Inspector.  An Examination in Public 
could occur as early as December 2016 and will be resourced by officers 
from within Plans and Policies Group.  

iv) Agree the process of technical and background paper amendments to the 
documents which will support the plan and form the Submission 

Page 420



documents for the Planning Inspectorate (as outlined in paragraph 3.5 of 
this report).

Page 421



1.0     Purpose of this Report

1.1 Following the close of the final round of public consultation (from 22nd September 
to 16th November 2015) Development Plan Panel have considered proposed pre-
submission changes to the AVL AAP at three meetings.

1.2 At the Development Plan Panel meeting on the 19th January 2016, members 
considered the report, ‘Site Allocations Plan (SAP) and Aire Valley Leeds Area 
Action Plan (AVL AAP) – Emerging Issues and Next Steps’.  This report provided 
an initial and interim assessment of the consultation responses received to the 
SAP and AVL AAP consultation.  As part of the report, members received 
information on the overall scale of the consultation response, together with an 
explanation on emerging key issues.

1.3 Based on the report, the overall nature and level of response and subsequent 
discussion, members were minded to proceed with the AVL AAP, in advance of 
the SAP (whilst not seeking for the SAP to be held up), subject to further work 
being undertaken into the issues raised through consultation and the implications 
for the Plan.  The rationale for this approach was the desire to move the AVL 
AAP through the submission process as quickly as practicable, in parallel to the 
analysis and further consideration of the SAP submissions. This decision is also 
critical to enable the Plan to achieve full weight and support and guide the 
sustained uplift in the Leeds economy in this area and to support housing growth.

1.4 At the Development Plan Panel meeting on the 1st March 2016 members were 
provided with further analysis of the AVL AAP submissions and options for the 
way forward in relation to the issues raised.  Members gave their broad support 
to the changes proposed to the AVL AAP by officers, including changes to site’s 
housing capacities and the wording of specific policies.

1.5 At the Development Plan Panel meeting on the 10th May members gave their 
support for the ‘Submission Draft’ of the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan, and 
recommended it to be approved for submission to the Secretary of State by 
Executive Board (and subsequently full Council). Members of Development Plan 
Panel were asked to consider the full list of proposed changes alongside the 
consultation comments received and officer’s responses to them. It was 
emphasised that the primary focus of the changes is to address matters which go 
to the soundness of the Plan. As part of the process of considering the 
representations, opportunities have also been taken to include ‘minor’ changes to 
clarify and update the document where appropriate.

1.6 Appendix 1 of this report contains the report considered by Development Plan 
Panel on the 10th May. 

1.7 Appendix 2 shows the ‘Submission Draft’ of the AVL AAP incorporating ‘track-
changes’ as a result of proposed pre-submission changes contained in 
Appendix 3. Appendix 2 also includes maps that have been updated as a result 
of proposed pre-submission changes. 

Page 422



1.8 Appendix 3 contains a consolidated schedule of pre-submission changes to the 
AVL AAP.

1.9 Appendix 4 incudes the Sustainability Appraisal of the pre-submission changes.

2.0 Background Information

Context
2.1 The AVL AAP has been in preparation since 2005.  Three stages of public 

consultation were held between then and 2007, however the progress of the Plan 
slowed as a result of a variety of contextual factors, including: i) the downturn in 
the economy, ii) changes to national planning policy – including around the 
funding of infrastructure, iii) the designation of the Enterprise Zone in 2012, iv) 
the Urban Eco Settlement proposals and v) boundary changes to include parts of 
the City Centre, Hunslet and Richmond Hill.  

2.2 On the 15th July 2015, Executive Board approved the Publication draft AVL AAP 
for consultation.  An eight week period of consultation was subsequently 
undertaken between the 22nd September and 16th November 2015.  This 
followed on from the consideration of the material by the Development Plan 
Panel on the 20th May 2015 and earlier stages of public consultation on the 
emerging Plan.  The Plan is being taken forward within the strategic context of 
the Core Strategy (adopted 14th November 2014), which sets out the overall 
scale and distribution of housing and economic growth.  The Core Strategy also 
reflects the city council’s aspirations as part of the Best Council Plan and Vision 
for Leeds (Community Strategy).

2.3 The AVL AAP has been prepared for submission alongside wider projects, plans 
and investment programmes of the Council and its partners.  The Council has 
ensured that key sub-regional linkages are made e.g. the Strategic Economic 
Plan for the Leeds City Region identifies the Aire Valley as a strategic growth 
centre that will create a magnet for inward investment and is a focus for 
delivering infrastructure.  The Plan has also been prepared to respond to and 
provide a framework for key projects in the area such as: High Speed 2 and the 
Yorkshire Hub proposals, the heat network, the Leeds Cycle Network, the South 
Bank Masterplan, Hunslet Riverside Masterplan, etc.  Moreover, given the 
number of new homes proposed in the area the plan articulates a commitment to 
the provision of a mix of homes (including for the multiple needs of older people), 
local infrastructure including schools and green infrastructure in line with Best 
Council Plan priorities to enhance the quality of our public realm and green 
spaces.      

Key Elements of the Plan
2.4 Executive Board has already endorsed the scope and content of the Plan and 

considered that it is a “sound” planning document in July 2015.  The key 
elements of the Plan are set out in brief below to provide context at this 
advanced stage of the Plan.  

Page 423



2.5 The Adopted Core Strategy sets a target to identify land for a minimum of 6,500 
new homes and 250 hectares of employment land within AVL.  In seeking to 
deliver this, the AVL AAP identifies site allocations for new homes and jobs, as 
part of an integrated framework, which incorporates:

• An overall Vision and objectives
• A Spatial Strategy and Plan wide Policies,
• Area Plans and Placemaking
• An Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

2.6 A key focus of the Plan is the delivery of a transformational vision for the area, 
linked to the Core Strategy and Best Council Plan, including Policies for 
economic growth, job creation & skills and training, new housing, community 
infrastructure, transport and walking connections, green infrastructure and 
health.  In taking this overall framework forward, the AAP includes 5 Area Plans 
to underpin delivery at a local level.  These areas are:
• South Bank (part of the wider South Bank Masterplan area)
• East Bank, Richmond Hill & Cross Green
• Hunslet
• Central Aire Valley
• Skelton Gate

2.7 The purpose of this approach is to recognise that the Aire Valley is not 
homogenous and that the identities of existing communities have unique 
characteristics and different future opportunities, within the overall framework of 
AVL.  The Plan identifies a range of challenges and opportunities for each area, 
as a basis to present a series of proposals (and site specific requirements) to 
tackle key issues and to bring forward positive solutions.  The focus of this is to 
ensure that common themes such as connectivity and placemaking are 
addressed and that as a whole these component parts all contribute to the role of 
AVL as an ‘Urban Eco-Settlement’, making sure that the framework helps make 
best use of the brownfield land assets of the area.

2.8 In delivering economic growth and opportunities for job creation, a key focus 
of the plan is the support for the Leeds Enterprise Zone (LEZ).  Located within 
Central Aire Valley the LEZ comprises of four development sites (Logic Leeds, 
Newmarket Lane, Temple Green, and Thornes Farm), totalling 142 ha with the 
capability of delivering at least 4.3 million sq ft of new employment floorspace.  
The Temple Green site will also accommodate a new Park and Ride facility for 
the city centre which is due to open in 2017.  A range of green infrastructure 
improvements have already been delivered including the planting of 2,000 new 
trees, 50,000 bulbs and areas of wild flower meadows.  A number of new 
business have located within the LEZ including John Lewis, Amazon, Fed Ex and 
Perspex Distribution, alongside a number of Leeds based businesses who have 
chosen the area to expand their operations including Watershed Packaging, 
Samuel Grant Packaging, Orion and Floorstore Group. The ambition of the LEZ 
is to create 7,000 new jobs by 2025, and is a catalyst for the regeneration of the 
wider Aire Valley, using the uplift generated, to support £550m of additional 
economic output by 2025.  The AAP embraces these opportunities as part of the 

Page 424



Plan as a whole and promotes improved public transport, walking and cycling, 
improved connectivity and wider integration through Green Infrastructure links.

2.9 In promoting other key opportunities for economic development and job growth 
within AVL, the Plan also incorporates site specific and area based proposals.  
These include parts of the South Bank, focused around the Tetley site and Leeds 
Dock (reflecting proposals from the emerging South Bank masterplan including a 
new City Park and the Yorkshire Hub) and a series of identified sites for different 
types of employment uses focused in the eastern part of the plan area.  The Plan 
also seeks to improve the physical connectivity between communities and the 
location of job opportunities (through improved pedestrian, cycle links and public 
transport services) and via local employment agreements.  This will help ease 
and improve air quality issues arising from further development.  

2.10 AVL is currently home to over 13,000 people, with the aim for an additional 6,500 
(minimum) new homes over the Plan period (to 2028).  The approach of the Plan 
to delivering opportunities for housing regeneration and growth, is through 
existing identified sites and new allocations, with a focus on promoting brownfield 
land development for the majority of the area.  

2.11 New housing development in AVL is focussed on five broad locations.  Each of 
these is strategically important to delivering the overall housing requirement and 
to support Plan wide regeneration aspirations.  The main locations for new 
housing development are as follows:

• The South Bank area (part of the wider proposed mixed use area to 
transform this key location in the City Centre, which also includes a new 
City Park),

• East Bank area (along East Street from Marsh Lane to South 
Accommodation Road),

• Cross Green (residential area, focussed on the redevelopment of the 
Copperfields College site),

• Hunslet Riverside (south of the Inner Ring Road, on a number of 
brownfield sites, centred upon the listed Hunslet Mills),

• Skelton Gate (the creation of a new sustainable community on the eastern 
edge of AVL, east of the M1, between the Temple Newsam Estate and the 
River Aire).

2.12 The total estimated capacity for the AAP is 7,950 dwellings against the minimum 
requirement of 6,500 dwellings. This is as a result of consideration via 
Development Plan Panel members in identifying further opportunities for housing 
where possible in this sustainable location.  Where appropriate, sites have been 
allocated to provide for older or disabled people and independent living. 

2.13 The location of AVL in relation to the strategic transport network, supports the 
ambition to deliver large scale economic development.  Within the context of the 
priorities set out in the West Yorkshire Transport Plan and the Core Strategy, the 
transport strategy for AVL is guided by a number of key principles.  These 
include: the need to deliver the transport network and infrastructure to support 
regeneration and growth, to minimise the need to travel by car, to connect 

Page 425



communities in east and south Leeds to the job opportunities within AVL (by 
reducing barriers and creating pedestrian/cycle links), to plan the area to 
integrate key national and City Region transport proposals (including HS2 and 
the Yorkshire Hub) to make better use of the rail and waterways network as a 
mode of transport for freight and enhance the role of the waterways network for 
leisure.  

2.14 The AAP provides a major opportunity to provide a connected network of 
green spaces and places, which link the heart of the City to open countryside 
and the range of visitor attractions which lie along the waterways corridor.  These 
multifunctional green spaces form an overall network of Green Infrastructure.  An 
important consideration of this approach has been to ensure that the Green 
Infrastructure network helps to reinforce and establish local identity, incorporates 
both strategic and local connections, helps to manage floodrisk and enhances 
development opportunities, rather than being a constraint.

2.15 The Plan encourages investment in maintaining and enhancing an attractive 
environment, through the effective management of waste (and the links to 
the adopted Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan) and the desire to 
establish a network for District Heating.

2.16 An integral component of the Plan, through the planning process, is the desire to 
tackle issues relating to public health.  Green space provision and ‘affordable 
warmth’ have a key role to play, as well as the need to secure opportunities to 
delivering new jobs (and access to them) and homes, promoting ‘Child Friendly 
Development’, encouraging physical exercise, promoting food growing and 
improving community facilities.  In reflecting these priorities, the AAP sets out 
proposals which seek to improve public health.

2.17 An important dimension of the Plan, is the need for infrastructure to support 
the aspirations for regeneration and growth.  Where appropriate, specific 
proposals and infrastructure requirements have been incorporated into policy 
and site requirements.  Where relevant, existing infrastructure commitments and 
priorities (such as strategic transport interventions) are reflected in the Plan and 
included in a supporting Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

3.0 Main Issues

Progression of the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan to Submission

3.1 Appendix 2 sets out the ‘Submission Draft’ version of the Aire Valley Leeds Area 
Action Plan (AVL AAP), with Appendix 3 detailing the schedule of proposed pre-
submission changes from the Publication Draft. The ‘Submission Draft’ version 
incorporates changes made as a result of representations made (a total of 61 
representations were received) during the Publication Draft consultation period. 
The Publication Draft Report of Consultation, included as a background 
document, provides details of consultation activity and responses received during 
the consultation period. Officers have considered all comments and made 
recommendations, considered via Development Plan Panel, as to whether 
changes are required to address comments raised. At this stage in the process 

Page 426



changes to the document have been made to address issues of legal compliance 
and soundness; the aspects upon which the Plan will be tested at independent 
examination. 

3.2 In addition other changes have been made that do not originate from 
consultation responses. These include factual updates to reflect a refresh of 
planning permission data, consistency corrections, drafting error corrections and 
cartographical updates and corrections.  

3.3 The documentation submitted to the Secretary of State will include the 
Publication Draft of the AVL AAP and Publication Draft of the Sustainability 
Appraisal and all relevant Background Papers. Accompanying this will be a 
‘Submissions Draft’ of the AVL AAP as well as a schedule of pre-submission 
changes which will clearly set out the changes to the Publication Draft of the 
Plan. In addition there will also be a ‘Submission Addendum’ to the Sustainability 
Appraisal and all relevant Background Papers, which will incorporate all 
necessary changes post-Publication.

Changes to the Background and Technical Material

3.4 An addendum to the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) has been prepared to assess 
the likely significant effects of the proposed pre-submission changes to the Plan. 
This SA Report and addendum are available for Executive Board’s consideration 
to inform the decision-making process with regards to the AVL AAP ‘Submission 
Draft’. One of the main changes to the SA has been to reflect the refusal of the 
NGT scheme, which has an impact on the plan area. The updated SA notes the 
importance of an alternative public transport solution so as to mitigate impacts 
identified from future growth.

3.5 In addition to the changes to the Sustainability Appraisal, other Background 
Papers are being updated and finalised for submission, in light of the pre-
submission changes proposed and other factual and technical updates. As a 
technical exercise, the Employment Land Assessment, in line with national 
guidance, is currently being refreshed and forms an important part of the 
evidence base for the AVL AAP. It is not anticipated that any changes to these 
documents will necessitate changes to the AVL AAP itself. These Background 
Papers will be finalised in advance of Submission to the Secretary of State. The 
latest drafts of these Background Papers as available as background papers to 
this report. However approval is sought for further technical changes to be made 
as required in advance of Submission to the Secretary of State, where work is 
outstanding or where updates may be necessary.

Government Decision on ‘New Generation Transport’ (NGT)

3.6 A significant matter to emerge following the consideration of the changes by the 
Development plan Panel, is the Secretary of State’s decision (12th May 2016) not 
to make the Order and not to give the planning Direction for the new Generation 
Transport Scheme (NGT).  Whilst this has a significant implication for transport 
planning and infrastructure, the City Council is actively seeking alternative 
solutions, in conjunction with a range of stakeholders and partners.  

Page 427



3.7 In relation to the AVL AAP, the future extension of the NGT was a component of 
the Transport Strategy and infrastructure provision.  In the light of the Secretary 
of State’s decision references to NGT have been deleted from the document, 
with reference instead to alternative public transport solutions being explored.  At 
this stage further details are awaited as the Council works with its partners for 
these to be determined.  As these are developed, an update can be provided for 
the AVL AAP Inspector at the submission stage as part of the Examination 
process as appropriate.  It should also be noted that the allocations in the Plan 
are not reliant upon a single public transport scheme.  The Adopted Core 
Strategy establishes the strategic location and accessibility of Aire Valley as a 
sustainable destination for job and housing growth

3.8 Whilst the rejection of NGT is concerning this should not preclude the AVL AAP 
going forward as a ‘sound’ plan, whilst the Council seeks to identify alternative 
solutions now and in the future.  

3.9 The plan now includes a current position on NGT. This wording was not available 
to Development Plan Panel at their 10th May meeting:
“3.5.6 Leeds City Council has instigated extensive engagement and 

conversation on the future direction of transport provision across the 
city which includes reviewing and considering the measures for those 
corridors which were previously covered by the now cancelled NGT 
trolleybus proposals.

3.5.7 The provision of a priority route and park and ride at Stourton is an 
objective and is being considered within the overall review.”

3.10 All additional references to the NGT scheme within the plan have been deleted.

City Development Scrutiny Board

3.11 Following recommendation to progress with the submission of the Plan by 
Development Plan Panel on the 10th May, the Plan was considered by Scrutiny 
Board on the 17th May in line with the requirements of the Budget & Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules. The issues raised as part of the Plan’s 
consideration by Scrutiny Board were as follows:

 The implications for the NGT announcement on the soundness of the Plan
 The links between education provision and housing delivery
 How the Plan has considered floodrisk
 Affordable housing delivery and development viability
 The Skelton Grange proposals and the allocation of land for waste
 The links between investment opportunity and job creation and how the 

Strategic Economic Plan and the Core Strategy supports this.

3.12 Scrutiny Board have prepared a statement for Executive Board, which can be 
found at Appendix 6. Scrutiny Board have not recommended any changes to the 

Page 428



plan apart from a minor change to the Hunslet Area Plan (paragraph 4.4.56 of 
the AAP) which has been made. 

Next Steps

3.13 Should the ‘Submission Draft’ of the AVL AAP be recommended by Executive 
Board for approval by Council, the Submission version of the AVL AAP 
(Publication Draft plus proposed pre-submission changes) will be presented to 
Council in September for approval to submit the Plan to the Secretary of State 
for Examination.  Advice from the Planning Inspectorate is that an Examination 
could be programmed for December 2016.  

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 A comprehensive Draft Report of Consultation is being finalised to accompany 
the submission of the Plan and is included as a Background Paper.  This will be 
a compilation and narrative on the consultation and engagement activity 
undertaken. The consultation and engagement activity undertaken has been set 
within the context of the LDF Regulations and the City Council’s adopted 
Statement of Community Involvement.

4.2. Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 In the preparation of the AVL AAP, due regard has been given to Equality, 
Diversity, Cohesion and Integration issues.  This has included the completion of 
an EDCI Screening of the AVL AAP, attached at Appendix 5, and meeting the 
requirements of the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive, which has 
meant that these Plans are subject to the preparation of a Sustainability 
Appraisal.  The purpose of such Appraisals is to assess (and where appropriate 
strengthen) the document’s policies, in relation to a series of social (and health), 
environmental and economic objectives.  As part of this process, issues of 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration, are embedded as part of the 
Appraisal’s objectives.  The AVL AAP material follows on and reflects the 
approach set out in the Core Strategy, which has also had the same regard to 
these issues.  

4.3. Council Policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The adopted Core Strategy, the Publication Draft AVL AAP, play a key strategic 
role in taking forward the spatial and land use elements of the Vision for Leeds 
and the aspiration to be the ‘the Best City in the UK’.  Related to this overarching 
approach and in addressing a range of social, environmental and economic 
objectives, these Plans seek to implement key City Council priorities as set out 
within the ‘Best Council Plan 2016-17 Update’ relating to supporting communities 
and raising aspirations, economic growth and access to economic opportunities, 
providing enough homes of a high standard in all sectors and enhancing the 
quality of our public realm and green spaces, improving air quality and helping to 
deliver a well-connected transport system . 

Page 429



4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The preparation of statutory Development Plan Documents (Local Plan) is a 
necessary, but resource intensive process.  This is due to the time and cost of 
document preparation (relating to public consultation and engagement), the 
preparation and monitoring of an extensive evidence base, legal advice and 
Independent Examination.  These challenges are compounded by the financial 
constraints upon the public sector and resourcing levels, concurrent with new 
technical and planning policy pressures arising from more recent legislation 
(including the Community Infrastructure Levy and Localism Act).  In addition, the 
Government is pressing local authorities to have up to date Local Plans in place 
by 2017.  Consequently, there are considerable demands for officers, members 
and the community in progressing the council’s Local Plan.

4.4.2 For the Local Development Framework (‘Local Plan’) to be as up to date as 
possible, the Council needs to produce the AVL AAP as quickly as practicable, 
following adoption of its Core Strategy.  This will provide value for money in that 
the Council, through the Plans, will influence and direct where development 
occurs and to help influence and co-ordinate investment decisions.  Without an 
up to date plan the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ by the 
Government means that any development in conformity with national policy will 
be acceptable, regardless of any previous positions of the authority, which could 
have implications in terms of resources and value for money.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The AVL AAP will follow the statutory Development Plan process in accordance 
with The Town and Planning County Planning Act 1990, Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended), The Environmental Assessment 
of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004, Town and Country Planning (Local 
Development) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008, Localism Act 2010, 
Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) 2012 and 
associated legislation.

4.5.2 There is a legal requirement that the AVLAPP must be subject to a process of 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environment Assessment (SEA). The 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) report and the further addendum SA has therefore 
been prepared alongside the AVL AAP to fulfil the SA and SEA requirements and 
to inform the Site Allocations Process 

4.5.3  The report is not eligible for call in, in line with the Executive and Decision Making 
Procedure Rule 5.1.2 – the power to call-in decisions does not extend to those 
being made in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules. The plan was considered by Scrutiny Board (City Development) on 17th 
May 2016 in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 Without up-to-date allocation plans, aspects of the existing UDP allocations will 
become out of date and will not reflect or deliver the Core Strategy policies and 

Page 430



proposals (including district wide requirements for housing and general 
employment land) or the requirements of national planning guidance.  Early 
delivery is essential to enable the Council to demonstrate that sufficient land will 
be available when needed to meet the Core Strategy targets.  Without an up to 
date plan, the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ by the 
Government means that any development or Neighbourhood Plan in conformity 
with national policy will be acceptable, regardless of any previous positions of the 
authority.  The more the work progresses, the more material weight can be given 
to it.

5 Conclusion

5.1 This report provides Members of Executive Board with the ‘Submission Draft’ of 
the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan and relevant accompanying material 
(including the Sustainability Appraisal and Background Papers). This is to enable 
Members of Executive Board to make a decision as to whether to approve the 
Plan for consideration by Council to approve the Plan for Submission to the 
Secretary of State.

6 Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board is invited to: 

i) Agree the contents of the 10th May Development Plan Panel report in 
Appendix 1. This report detailed 1) officer responses to representations to 
the publication draft Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan consultation, 2) 
proposed pre-submission changes to the Publication draft AVLAAP and 
Sustainability Appraisal, and 3) the process of technical and Background 
Paper amendments to the documents which will support the plan and form 
the Submission documents for the Planning Inspectorate.

ii) Recommend to Council that the ‘Submission Draft’ of the Aire Valley 
Leeds Area Action Plan (including Sustainability Appraisal Report and 
addendum in Appendix 4) be submitted for the Secretary of State for 
Examination. The ‘Submission Draft’ is shown in Appendix 2, with a 
consolidated schedule of pre-submission changes in Appendix 3.

iii) Note that the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan has been prepared by 
officers within the Plans and Policies Group under the direction of the 
Head of Strategic Planning.  Following Executive Board and Council 
approval the plan will be submitted to the Secretary of State for 
Examination by an independent Inspector.  An Examination in Public 
could occur as early as December 2016 and will be resourced by officers 
from within Plans and Policies Group.  

iv) Agree the process of technical and background paper amendments to the 
documents which will support the plan and form the Submission 
documents for the Planning Inspectorate (as outlined in paragraph 3.5 of 
this report).

Page 431



Appendices

Appendix 1: Report to Development Plans Panel 10th May 2016

Appendix 2: ‘Submission Draft’ of the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan (including  
Map Book)

Appendix 3: Schedule of Proposed Pre-Submission changes to the Publication Draft 
Plan of the Aire Valley Leeds AAP.

Appendix 4:  Sustainability Appraisal Report Addendum and non-technical summary.

Appendix 5: Equality Impact Assessment Screening 

Appendix 6:  Scrutiny Board (City Development) Statement for Executive Board
 27th July 2016.

7.0 Background Papers1

 Publication Draft Report of Consultation (September 2016)
 Nature Conservation Background Paper (September 2016)
 Housing (including Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Show people) 

Background Paper Submission Addendum (September 2016)
 Flood Risk Sequential & Exceptions Test Background Paper (September 

2016)  
 Duty to co-operate Background Paper Submission Addendum  (September 

2016)
 Infrastructure Delivery Plan (September 2016)
 Employment Background Paper Submission Addendum (September 2016)
 Local Undesignated Heritage Assets Background Paper (September 2016)

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not 
include published works.

Page 432



Report of the Chief Planning Officer

Report to Development Plan Panel

Date: 10th May 2016

Subject: Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan – Submission Draft

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): Burmantofts & Richmond Hill, City & 
Hunslet, Garforth & Swillington, Middleton Park, Rothwell, Temple 
Newsam 

.

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues

1. Members will recall that the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan (AVLAAP) was 
subject to Publication draft consultation 22 September – 16 November 2015. 
Following consideration of consultation submissions to the Plan a number of 
changes were presented to and supported by Development Plan Panel on the 1st 
March. This report presents Development Plan Panel with a comprehensive 
officer response to all changes suggested by representors and proposed 
modifications as a result, as part of the proposed changes to the Plan. 
Development Plan Panel are invited to recommend the full suite of modifications 
to the Plan to Executive Board (following consideration by Scrutiny Board) for 
approval to recommend to Full Council that the Council submit the Plan to the 
Secretary of State for Examination.

Recommendation

2. Development Plan Panel is invited to: 

i) Note the officer responses to representations to the publication draft Aire 
Valley Leeds Area Action Plan consultation, as set out in Appendix A 
(Schedules 1, 2 and 3).

Report authors: David Feeney (74539), 
Adam Harvatt (78120), Paul Bingham 
(78184)

Page 433



ii) Consider the proposed modifications to the Publication draft AVLAAP and 
Sustainability Appraisal (as shown in Appendix A Schedules 1, 2, 3 and 4; 
the ‘track-changed’ version of the AVLAAP in Appendix B; and the revised 
Sustainability Appraisal scoring in Appendix C) and to recommend that 
the proposed modifications are approved at Executive Board for approval 
by Full Council for Submission to the Secretary of State for Examination.

iii) Approve the process of technical and background paper amendments to 
the documents (set out in para 3.8) which will support the plan and form 
the Submission documents for the Planning Inspectorate.

Page 434



1.0     Purpose of this Report

1.1 At the Development Plan Panel meeting on the 19th January 2016, members 
considered the report, ‘Site Allocations Plan (SAP) and Aire Valley Leeds Area 
Action Plan (AVLAAP) – Emerging Issues and Next Steps’.  This report provided 
an initial and interim assessment of the consultation responses received to the 
SAP and AVLAAP consultation.  As part of the report, members received 
information on the overall scale of the consultation response, together with an 
explanation on emerging key issues.

1.2 Based on the report, the overall nature and level of response and subsequent 
discussion, members were minded to proceed with the AVLAAP, in advance of 
the SAP (whilst not seeking for the SAP to be held up), subject to further work 
being undertaken into the issues raised through consultation and the implications 
for the plan.  The rationale for this approach was the desire to move the AVLAAP 
through the submission process as quickly as practicable, in parallel to the 
analysis and further consideration of the SAP submissions. This decision is also 
critical to enable the Plan to achieve full weight and support and guide the uplift 
in the Leeds economy in this area.

1.3 At the Development Plan Panel meeting on the 1st March 2016 members were 
provided with further analysis of the AVLAAP submissions and options for the 
way forward in relation to the issues raised.  Members gave their broad support 
to the modifications proposed to the AVLAAP by officers, including changes to 
site’s housing capacities and the wording of specific policies.

1.4 Members are now asked to consider the full list of proposed modifications 
alongside the consultation comments received and officer’s responses to them. If 
supported, the schedule of proposed changes, together with the Publication Draft 
AVLAAP those changes pertain to, will be recommended to Executive Board to 
recommend to Full Council to submit the AVLAAP to the Secretary of State for 
Examination. It should be emphasised that the primary focus of the modifications 
is to address matters which go to the soundness of the Plan. As part of the 
process of considering the representations, opportunities have been taken to 
include ‘minor’ modifications to clarify and update the document where 
appropriate.

1.5 Appendix A of this report contains four schedules. Schedule 1 shows 
consultation comments relating to sites proposed within the AVLAAP and 
officer’s responses to them, including proposed modifications, where appropriate. 
Schedule 2 shows consultation comments relating to policies/general comments 
within the AVLAAP and officer’s responses to them, including proposed 
modifications, where appropriate. Schedule 3 shows consultation comments 
relating to new sites proposed to the AVLAAP and officer’s responses to them, 
including proposed modifications where appropriate. Schedule 4 differs from the 
other schedules, in that it details modifications proposed by officers as a result of 
updated technical information, drafting/cartographical errors and consequential 
changes resulting from proposed modifications.

Page 435



1.6 Appendix B shows a working draft of the ‘Submission Draft of the AVLAAP 
incorporating ‘track-changes’ as a result of proposed modifications contained in 
Appendix A. Appendix B also includes maps that have been updated as a result 
of proposed modifications. At the time of writing, Appendix B is not a complete 
draft and may not contain all proposed modifications as contained within 
Appendix A, or the consequential changes that arise from proposed 
modifications.

1.7 Appendix C contains two updated extracts from the AVLAAP Sustainability 
Appraisal (referred to as Appendices 7 and 8). These two documents show the 
SA scoring of sites following modifications to SA objectives.

2.0 Background Information

Context
2.1 On the 15th July 2015, Executive Board approved the Publication draft AVLAAP 

for consultation.  An eight week period of consultation was subsequently 
undertaken between the 22nd September and 16th November 2015.  This 
followed on from the consideration of the material by the Development Plan 
Panel on the 20th May and earlier stages of public consultation on the emerging 
plan.  The plan is being taken forward within the strategic context of the Core 
Strategy (adopted 14th November 2014), which sets out the overall scale and 
distribution of housing and economic growth.  The Core Strategy also reflects the 
city council’s aspirations as part of the Best Council Plan and Vision for Leeds 
(Community Strategy).

3.0 Main Issues

Schedule of representations to the draft AVLAAP consultation and Officer’s 
response

3.1 Schedules 1, 2 and 3 in Appendix A set out more details on the representations 
received to the AVLAAP consultation, as well as officer’s responses to the issues 
raised including specific recommendations as to whether changes should be 
made to the Plan or not.  The general issue raised by the representation is 
indicated (with a link to the full comments if viewed in electronic formats), with 
further sections relating to plan soundness, legal compliance and changes 
sought to the plan where relevant. The final sections in each representation 
details the officer’s response and proposed modification where relevant. It is 
important to note that the schedules provide extracts of submitters’ 
comments, and focus on their changes sought to the plan. Schedule 1 
relates to comments made on sites, whereas Schedule 2 relates to comments 
made on policies, wording and other general issues and Schedule 3 relates to 
new sites proposed.

3.2 Schedule 4 in Appendix A sets out modifications proposed by officers that relate 
to minor alterations to the Plan. These address technical information updates, 
consequential consistency changes as a result of proposed modifications in 
Appendix A and typing, drafting and cartographic errors.

Page 436



3.3 The following section sets out more details on officer’s proposed modifications 
and how these are accommodated within the proposed modifications to the 
Publication Draft. As per the 1st March 2016 Development Plan Panel, the key 
changes have already been supported by Panel and this is noted in the 
schedules.

Refresh of Planning Permissions data

3.4 Planning permission data for the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan has now 
been updated to 31st March 2016. This has resulted in some changes to the 
categorisation of sites, with the list of identified sites now being updated. This 
has resulted in some housing and employment sites previously categorised as 
allocations now being reflected as ‘Identified’. This and the inclusion of new sites 
has therefore resulted in changes to the site schedules listed in Policies AVL1, 
AVL2, AVL3, AVL4, AVL6 and AVL7.

Changes to Maps 

3.5 To reflect proposed modifications to the Plan agreed on the 1st March and as 
presented to Panel through this report, alterations have been made to the 
AVLAAP maps including the Policies Map (Maps 13 and 14 – reflecting 
alterations to site boundaries) and Maps 7 and 8 (to reflect the recent 
Masterplanning work at Hunslet Riverside).

Changes to the Background and Technical Material

3.6 The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is currently being finalised to reflect the 
proposed modifications to the Plan. It is not envisaged that these changes will 
result in significant changes to the Plan and it is the intention of officers to make 
available a completed SA for Executive Board to inform their decision-making 
process with regards to the AVLAAP.

3.7 Two specific changes that have been made to the SA relate 1) to objections to 
the Plan made by the Coal Authority regarding land instability and 2) changes 
officers have made to the assessment of accessibility to employment sites. With 
regard to the Coal Authority objection, SA objective 18(d) ‘Land Instability’ has 
been added to the SA to demonstrate that land instability issues are considered 
as part of the process for identifying and allocating sites for development. With 
regard to employment accessibility, officers have worked with the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority to devise a more robust methodology, based on Core 
Strategy accessibility indicators, for the assessment of accessibility to and from 
employment sites within the AVLAAP. This revised methodology feeds in to how 
sites are scored through SA Objectives 13, 15 and 16.

3.8 In addition to the changes to the Sustainability Appraisal other Background 
Papers will have to be updated in light of the modifications proposed and other 
factual and technical updates. The Employment Land Review is currently being 
updated and forms an important part of the evidence base for the AVLAAP. It is 
not anticipated that any changes to these documents will necessitate changes to 

Page 437



the AVLAAP itself. These Background Papers will be finalised in advance of 
Submission to the Secretary of State.

4.0 Next Steps

4.1 Should the proposed modifications to the AVLAAP be endorsed by Development 
Plan Panel, the Submission version of the AVLAAP (Publication Draft plus 
proposed modifications) will then progress to Scrutiny Board. Subject to 
approvals the intention is for the Plan to progress to Executive Board in June and 
Full Council in September, with a view to submitting the Plan to the Secretary of 
State in the autumn for Examination.

5.0 Corporate Considerations

5.1 Consultation and Engagement 

5.1.1 A comprehensive Report of Consultation will be finalised to accompany 
submission of the plan.  The consultation and engagement activity undertaken 
has been set within the context of the LDF Regulations and the City Council’s 
Statement of Community Involvement.

5.2. Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

5.2.1 In the preparation of the AVLAAP, due regard has been given to Equality, 
Diversity, Cohesion and Integration issues.  This has included the completion of 
EDCI Screening of the AVLAAP and meeting the requirements of the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment Directive, which has meant that these Plans are 
subject to the preparation of a Sustainability Appraisal.  The purpose of such 
Appraisals is to assess (and where appropriate strengthen) the document’s 
policies, in relation to a series of social (and health), environmental and 
economic objectives.  As part of this process, issues of Equality, Diversity, 
Cohesion and Integration, are embedded as part of the Appraisal’s objectives.  
The AVLAAP material follows on and reflects the approach set out in the Core 
Strategy, which has also had the same regard to these issues.  

5.3. Council Policies and City Priorities

5.3.1 The Core Strategy, the Publication Draft AVLAAP, play a key strategic role in 
taking forward the spatial and land use elements of the Vision for Leeds and the 
aspiration to be the ‘the Best City in the UK’.  Related to this overarching 
approach and in addressing a range of social, environmental and economic 
objectives, these Plans seek to implement key City Council priorities as set out 
within the ‘Best Council Plan 2015-20’ relating to economic growth, 
improvements to transport infrastructure and enhancing economic growth.

5.4 Resources and value for money 

5.4.1 The preparation of statutory Development Plan Documents or the Local Plan is a 
necessary, but resource intensive process.  This is due to the time and cost of 
document preparation (relating to public consultation and engagement), the 

Page 438



preparation and monitoring of an extensive evidence base, legal advice and 
Independent Examination.  These challenges are compounded by the financial 
constraints upon the public sector and resourcing levels, concurrent with new 
technical and planning policy pressures arising from more recent legislation 
(including the Community Infrastructure Levy and Localism Act).  There are 
considerable demands for officers, members and the community in progressing 
the council’s Local Plan.

5.4.2 For the Local Development Framework (‘Local Plan’) to be as up to date as 
possible, the Council needs to produce the AVLAAP as quickly as practicable, 
following adoption of its Core Strategy.  This will provide value for money in that 
the council, through the plan, will influence and direct where development 
occurs.  Without an up to date plan the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable 
development’ by the Government means that any development in conformity with 
national policy will be acceptable, regardless of any previous positions of the 
authority, which could have implications in terms of resources and value for 
money.

5.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

5.5.1 The AVLAAP will follow the statutory Development Plan process.  The report is 
not eligible for call-in as no decision is being taken.

5.6 Risk Management

5.6.1 Without up-to-date allocation plans, aspects of the existing UDP allocations will 
become out of date and will not reflect or deliver the Core Strategy policies and 
proposals (including district wide requirements for housing and general 
employment land) or the requirements of national planning guidance.  Early 
delivery is essential to enable the council to demonstrate that sufficient land will 
be available when needed to meet the Core Strategy targets.  Without an up to 
date plan, the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ by the 
Government means that any development or Neighbourhood Plan in conformity 
with national policy will be acceptable, regardless of any previous positions of the 
authority.  The more the work progresses, the more material weight can be given 
to it.

6.0 Conclusion

6.1 This report provides a schedule of consultation comments and modifications 
proposed to the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action, informed by Officer’s responses 
to consultation comments raised on the Publication Draft Plans. The main issues 
raised in the representations to the plan have been previously discussed in detail 
at the 1st March Panel, with options for consideration in determining how the 
council should respond. This report builds on those recommendations to provide 
a comprehensive suite of modifications to the AVLAAP and a ‘Submission Draft’ 
to the Plan, showing those changes in context.

Page 439



7.0 Recommendation

7.1 Development Plan Panel is invited to: 

i) Note the officer responses to representations to the publication draft Aire 
Valley Leeds Area Action Plan consultation, as set out in Appendix A 
(Schedules 1, 2 and 3).

ii) Consider the proposed modifications to the Publication draft AVLAAP and 
Sustainability Appraisal (as shown in Appendix A Schedules 1, 2, 3 and 4; 
the ‘track-changed’ version of the AVLAAP in Appendix B; and the revised 
Sustainability Appraisal scoring in Appendix C) and to recommend that 
the proposed modifications are approved at Executive Board for approval 
by Full Council for Submission to the Secretary of State for Examination.

iii) Approve the process of technical and background paper amendments to 
the documents (set out in para 3.8) which will support the plan and form 
the Submission documents for the Planning Inspectorate.

Appendices

Appendix A: Schedule 1: Comments and Modifications relating to Sites

Schedule 2: Comments and Modifications relating to Policies, wording and 
general sites

Schedule 3: Comments and Modifications relating to newly proposed 
sites

Schedule 4: Council proposed Modifications

Appendix B: Working Draft ‘Track changes’ version of ‘Submission Draft’ with modified 
maps

Appendix C: Updated Sustainability Scoring of Sites (referred to as Appendix 7 and 
Appendix 8)

Page 440



 
 
 
 
AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AREA ACTION PLAN  
 
 
 
Leeds Local Development Framework 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Development Plan Document 

Submission Draft Map Book 
 
September 2016 

Page 441



 

Page 442



 
MAPS  
 
Map 1 - Aire Valley Leeds in context 
Map 2 - Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Boundary 
Map 3 – Strategic Plan 
Map 4 – Transport Network Improvements 
Map 5 – Aire Valley Leeds Green Infrastructure Network 
Map 6 – Proposed District Heating Network, City Centre & Aire Valley Leeds 
Map 6A – Area Plan Boundaries 
Map 7 – South Bank Area Map 
Map 8 – East Bank, Richmond Hill & Cross Green Area Plan 
Map 9 – Hunslet Area Map 
Map 10 – Hunslet Town Centre 
Map 11 – Central Aire Valley Area Map 
Map 12 – Skelton Gate Area Map 
Map 13 – Policies Map (Aire Valley Leeds) 
Map 14 – Policies Map (Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan revisions only) 
 

Page 443



Craven

Harrogate

York

Selby
Leeds

Kirklees

Bradford

Barnsley

Calderdale

Wakefield

(c) Crown Copyright and database right 2015 Ordnance Survey LA100019567

Map 1. Aire Valley Leeds in Context

M62

M1

Middleton

Halton Moor

Rothwell

City
Centre

e

Holbeck

Aire Valley Leeds AAP

Leeds City Region

River & Canal

Leeds Boundary

Railways
Motorways
A Roads

Urban Area
City Centre CC2 Boundary

P
age 444



© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100019567  You are not permitted to copy, Sub-Licence, Distribute or sell any of this Data to third parties in any form. PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, DATA & GIS MAPPING TEAM

AIRE VALLEY LEEDS 
AAP BOUNDARY
MAP 2

Scale 1/19,000 @ A3     DATE  25/08/2015Path: L:\CGM\AVL 2013\AVL draft prop map 2013\AVL Proposal map 2014\Revised older persons housing maps aug 15\MAP2 Aire Valley Leeds AAP Boundary A3.mxd

P
age 445



Halton 

Lower Aire Valley 
Nature Reserves

 
NOT TO  
SCALE 

Wyke Beck

River Aire

Fairburn Ings

Holbeck

Link to 
Dales Way

Beeston

Belle Isle

Middleton

Rothwell 

Woodlesford

Temple Newsam 

M1

M621

Middleton Park

Osmondthorpe

Halton 
Moor

M1

Holbeck 
Urban 
Village

East End  
Park

St Aidans

Water  
Haigh  

Woodland  
Park

J45

Rothwell 
Country  

Park

J7

J4J2

J44

Map 3: Strategic Plan

©

Aire Valley AAP boundary

Enterprise zone

Employment sites

Employment Areas

Residential sites

Neighbourhoods

Mixed use sites

Mixed use Areas

Green corridors

Green infrastructure

Flood alleviation scheme

High speed 2 consultation route

Major roads

Trans Pennine Trail

Improved connections - 
public transport

Improved connections - 
pedestrian/cycle

Centres

Landmarks/heritage assets

Low Carbon energy sources

Potential heat network

HS2

P+R

P+R

Cross Green  
Industrial Park

Cross 
Green  

Richmond  
Hill

Hunslet

Stourton

Hunslet

Leeds Valley Park

Skelton  
Grange

Skelton Gate

City Centre 
Core

East Bank 
sites

Marsh Lane Copperfields

Hunslet 
Riverside

City Centre

City Park

Colton Beck

South  
Bank

Leeds  
Dock

KEY

P
age 446



) )

)
)

)

P

P

P
!R&P

!R&P

#

#

#

#

#

#

#

#

#

#

#

#

#

#

# #

Leeds Rail
Station

Leeds Bus
Station

CROSS GREEN

#

#

Hunslet Town
Centre

HUNSLET

STOURTON

BELLE
ISLE

LEEDS VALLEY
PARK

M621

ROTHWELL

M1

M1 SOUTH
TO M62

MIDDLETON

LEEDS/CASTLEFORD
RAILWAY

SKELTON GATE

POTENTIAL
LINK TO 

BULLERTHORPE LANE

M1 NORTH

M1

ENTERPRISE
ZONE

HALTON MOOR

TO
ROUNDHAY PARK
(WYKE BECK WAY)

OSMONDTHORPE

LEEDS/YORK
RAILWAY

CITY CONNECT
TO EAST LEEDS

EAST 
BANK

RICHMOND
HILLSOUTH 

BANK

EDUCATION
HUB

LEEDS
DOCk

EAST END
PARK

TEMPLE NEWSAM
 PARK

ROTHWELL COUNTRY
PARK

SKELTON LAKE

1

2

3

4

#

#

#

TO 
MIDDLETON

J7

J44

J45

#

#

#

#

HOLBECK URBAN
VILLAGE

INNER RING ROAD

HUNSLET 
RIVERSIDE

A63 PONTEFRACT LANE

J6

J5

J4

J3

#

#

#

#

#

#

#

City Centre
Transport Strategy

#

15

19

14

17

16

20

21

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100019567  You are not permitted to copy, Sub-Licence, Distribute or sell any of this Data to third parties in any form. PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, DATA & GIS MAPPING TEAM

KEY

Trans Pennine Trail

Park and Ride

Town Centre

New Public Transport Routes (indicative)

HS2 Preferred Route Jan 2013

!R&P

!CT

PJ Motorway Junction Improvements

Minerals 13 (1)  Safeguarded Railway Sidings & Canal Wharves

Minerals 13 (2&3)  Allocations for Railway Sidings and Canal Wharves 

Proposed Bridge (indicative)

#

#

HS2 Station Construction Area

HS2 Station Operational Area

"

"

Minerals 13 (6) Skelton Grange Rail Spur

! !

NTS       DATE  13/06/2016Path: L:\CGM\AVL 2013\AVL draft prop map 2013\AVL Proposal map 2014\Revised older persons housing maps aug 15\AVL draft prop map 2014 strategic trans infras april15 A3.mxd

AVL AAP  boundary

A63 - Pontefract Road Link Road & Knowsthorpe Lane 
Link (indicative)
Proposed Core Cycle Network (indicative)

Existing Core Cycle Network (indicative)

Local Pedestrian/ Cycle Routes, existing & proposed (indicative)

Minerals 13 (5) Intermodal Freight Area boundary

Visitors Attractions/Leisure Facilities

Skelton Lake

Strategic Road Network

Local Rail Network

Canal

River

1. Royal Armouries
2. Thwaite Mills
3. Leeds Rowing Club
4. Proposed Skelton Lake Visitors Centre

#

"

#

AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AAP 
TRANSPORT NETWORK IMPROVEMENTS
MAP 4

Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone

Proposed NRWLP Sites

Proposed City Park (Indicative)

)1

)

P
age 447



LEEDS STATION

Royal Armouries

Temple Newsam

proposed
City Park

Thwaite Mills

Hunslet Mill

Skelton Lake

Rothwell Country Park

W
YKE BECK

RIVER AIRE &

CALDER NAVIGATION

Middleton 
Park

Map 5: Aire Valley Leeds
Green Infrastructure Network

Fairburn Ings
Water Haigh Park

Leading to
St. Aidan’s

Regional 
Corridor

Local Corridors

Disconnections 
& Barriers

Potential / Existing Visitor 
/ Leisure Attraction

Extract from Core Strategy Map 16 - Strategic Green Infrastructure

Potential Corridors 
(secured through future 
development)

Leeds & 
Liverpool Canal

St. Aidan’s

Transpennine Trail

Trans Pennine 
Trail

Skelton Grange
landfill site (to 
be restored)

Leeds
Rowing

Club

AVL Grassland
Habitat

AVL Wetland
Habitat

AVL Woodland
Habitat

Aire Valley AAP
Boundary

Green Space

KEY

Other Green 
Infrastructure

DO NOT SCALE    DATE 08/04/2015

P
age 448



RERF (Operational 2016)

Permitted ERF

Peaking Plant
AV46

AV19

AV40

AV17

AV20

AV18

AV12

AV32

AV33 AV35AV13AV9

AV24
AV22

AV98

AV48

AV36

AV5

AV23
AV27

AV39

AV26

AV30

AV34

AV25

AV41

AV43

AV7

AV16 AV14

AV28
AV94

AV10
AV11 AV31

AV42

AV44

AV45

AV47

AV50

AV52

AV54 AV55

AV56

AV57 AV58

AV59
AV60

AV61
AV62

AV63

AV64

AV65

AV66

AV67

AV76

AV77AV79 AV80
AV72

AV73

AV70

AV69

AV82

AV91

AV92

AV93

AV51

AV15 AV96

AV71

AV75

AV111

AV112

AV113

AV81

AV29

AV74

AV21

AV78

AV38

AV68

AV83

AV115

AV117

AV116

© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100019567  You are not permitted to copy, Sub-Licence, Distribute or sell any of this Data to third parties in any form. PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, DATA & GIS MAPPING TEAM
Scale: 1/24500    DATE  19/04/2016Path: L:\CGM\AVL 2013\AVL draft prop map 2013\AVL Proposal map 2014\AVL Map 6 Proposed heat network.mxd

KEY

Heat Network Clusters

Heat Network

AVL AAP boundary

AVL AAP Development Sites

Phase 1
Phase 2
Phase 3

canal
river

AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AAP
MAP 6 - PROPOSED HEAT NETWORK 
IN THE CITY CENTRE AND AVL (INDICATIVE)

P
age 449



South
Bank

Skelton
Gate

Central
Aire Valley

East Bank /
Richmond Hill
/ Cross Green

Hunslet

© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100019567  You are not permitted to copy, Sub-Licence, Distribute or sell any of this Data to third parties in any form. PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, DATA & GIS MAPPIMG TEAM

AIRE VALLEY LEEDS
AAP AREA BOUNDARY PLAN
MAP 6A

Scale 1/19,000 @ A3      DATE  25/08/2015Path: L:\CGM\AVL 2013\AVL draft prop map 2013\AVL Proposal map 2014\Revised older persons housing maps aug 15\MAP 6A Area Plan Boundary A3.mxd

P
age 450



" Minerals 13 (1) Safeguarded Railway Sidings and Canal Wharves
" Minerals 13 (6) Skelton Grange Rail Spur

" Minerals 12 Safeguarded Mineral Processing Sites

# Waste 2 Safeguarded Aggregate Recycling Sites

# Waste 2 Safeguarded General Waste Sites

Minerals 13 (2&3) Allocations for Railway Sidings and Canal Wharves

Waste 5 Industrial Estates Suitable for Waste Management Uses

Waste 6 Strategic Waste Sites

Waste 7 Allocation for Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste

KEY - AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AREA MAPS

Trans Pennine Trail

New Public Transport Routes (indicative)

HS2 Preferred Route Jan 2013 (Consultation Jan 2013)

#

#

HS2 Station Construction Area (Consultation Jan 2013)

HS2 Station Operational Area (Consultation Jan 2013)

! !

A63 - Pontefract Road Link Road & Knowsthorpe Lane 
Link (indicative)
Proposed Core Cycle Network (indicative)

Existing Core Cycle Network (indicative)

Local Pedestrian/Cycle Routes, 
existing & proposed (indicative)

#

#

Town Centre

Hunslet Town Centre boundary

!CT

Motorway Network

Local Rail Network

Canal/River

Green Space
Listed Buildings

Park and Ride!R&P

Motorway Junction Improvements

Visitors Attractions/Leisure Facilities

Major Parks (Outside boundary)

1. Royal Armouries
2. Thwaite Mills
3. Leeds Rowing Club
4. Proposed Skelton Lake Visitors Centre

)1

A Roads

Allocations

Identified Sites

Minerals 13 (5) Intermodal Freight Area boundary

!LC Local Centre

Conservation Areas

Green Corridor (indicative)

Green Belt boundary (revised)

Flood Alleviation Scheme

!FCL Local Community Facilities

))

X%

Green Space Improvements

RR Gateway to Site

´

Potential Secondary Access´

Primary Access Potential River Boat Stop & Moorings

Policy SG1 other uses (Indicative)

Sustainable Communities Investment Programme

!PS Primary School

!SS Secondary School

Opportunity Area

Residential Area

Employment Area

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

kk

$

"SP

"ST
CC2 boundary

!SO Proposed City Centre Open Space (indicative)

Local Significant Undesignated Heritage Asset

XX

Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone

Identified, General Employment

Identified, Housing

Identified, Mixed Use

Identified, Offices

Identified, Transport Infrastructure

Potential Food Store (indicative)

Proposed Primary School (indicative)

Proposed Through School (indicative)

AVL AAP boundary

Proposed Bridge (indicative)

Proposed City Park (indicative)

Green Infrastructure

Leeds Dock Local Convenience Centre boundary

Allocation, Housing

Allocation, Mixed Use

South Bank Planning Statement Area, Mixed Use

Older Persons Housing / Independent Living

Allocation, General Employment

Green Space - Civic Space

,

k k k k
k k k k
k k k k

k k k k
k k k k PJ

´ Potential Second Primary Access

Buffer Area (indicative)

! ! !

P
age 451



Leeds Station

Quarry Hill

SOUTH 
BANK

LEEDS
DOCK

EDUCATION
HUB

Former
Tetley
Brewery

CITY 
PARK

Asda
HQ

South
Entrance

Granary Wharf

HOLBECK URBAN
VILLAGE

Leeds 
College

of Building

Leeds
City College

Braimes

Liberty 
Dock

Low 
Fold

INNER RING ROAD

Hunslet 
Mills

EAST BANK

RICHMOND HILL

HUNSLET

Brewery
Wharf

HOLBECK
URBAN

VILLAGE

Leeds
Bridge

Secondary
Academy

(Proposed)

Discovery
Centre

Glass
manufacturer

City Centre
Core

Sovereign
Square

Crown Point
Retail Park

Hunslet Lane

Great Wilson Street
New Lane

Me
ad

ow
 La

ne

Bowman Lane

Bl
ac

k B
ull

 St
re

et

Crown Point Road

Vic
tor

ia 
Ro

ad

Dock Street

Hunslet Road

AV94

AV5
AV7 AV10

AV11

AV9

AV12 AV13

AV16

AV15
AV17 AV96

AV14

1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100019567  You are not permitted to copy, Sub-Licence, Distribute or sell any of this Data to third parties in any form. PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, DATA & GIS MAPPING TEAM
Path: L:\CGM\AVL 2013\AVL draft prop map 2013\AVL Proposal map 2014\AVL master local area July15 ver 3.mxd

AIRE VALLEY LEEDS
SOUTH BANK AREA MAP
MAP 7

Scale 1/5000 @ A3  DATE 13/06/2016

P
age 452



" Minerals 13 (1) Safeguarded Railway Sidings and Canal Wharves
" Minerals 13 (6) Skelton Grange Rail Spur

" Minerals 12 Safeguarded Mineral Processing Sites

# Waste 2 Safeguarded Aggregate Recycling Sites

# Waste 2 Safeguarded General Waste Sites

Minerals 13 (2&3) Allocations for Railway Sidings and Canal Wharves

Waste 5 Industrial Estates Suitable for Waste Management Uses

Waste 6 Strategic Waste Sites

Waste 7 Allocation for Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste

KEY - AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AREA MAPS

Trans Pennine Trail

New Public Transport Routes (indicative)

HS2 Preferred Route Jan 2013 (Consultation Jan 2013)

#

#

HS2 Station Construction Area (Consultation Jan 2013)

HS2 Station Operational Area (Consultation Jan 2013)

! !

A63 - Pontefract Road Link Road & Knowsthorpe Lane 
Link (indicative)
Proposed Core Cycle Network (indicative)

Existing Core Cycle Network (indicative)

Local Pedestrian/Cycle Routes, 
existing & proposed (indicative)

#

#

Town Centre

Hunslet Town Centre boundary

!CT

Motorway Network

Local Rail Network

Canal/River

Green Space
Listed Buildings

Park and Ride!R&P

Motorway Junction Improvements

Visitors Attractions/Leisure Facilities

Major Parks (Outside boundary)

1. Royal Armouries
2. Thwaite Mills
3. Leeds Rowing Club
4. Proposed Skelton Lake Visitors Centre

)1

A Roads

Allocations

Identified Sites

Minerals 13 (5) Intermodal Freight Area boundary

!LC Local Centre

Conservation Areas

Green Corridor (indicative)

Green Belt boundary (revised)

Flood Alleviation Scheme

!FCL Local Community Facilities

))

X%

Green Space Improvements

RR Gateway to Site

´

Potential Secondary Access´

Primary Access Potential River Boat Stop & Moorings

Policy SG1 other uses (Indicative)

Sustainable Communities Investment Programme

!PS Primary School

!SS Secondary School

Opportunity Area

Residential Area

Employment Area

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

kk

$

"SP

"ST
CC2 boundary

!SO Proposed City Centre Open Space (indicative)

Local Significant Undesignated Heritage Asset

XX

Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone

Identified, General Employment

Identified, Housing

Identified, Mixed Use

Identified, Offices

Identified, Transport Infrastructure

Potential Food Store (indicative)

Proposed Primary School (indicative)

Proposed Through School (indicative)

AVL AAP boundary

Proposed Bridge (indicative)

Proposed City Park (indicative)

Green Infrastructure

Leeds Dock Local Convenience Centre boundary

Allocation, Housing

Allocation, Mixed Use

South Bank Planning Statement Area, Mixed Use

Older Persons Housing / Independent Living

Allocation, General Employment

Green Space - Civic Space

,

k k k k
k k k k
k k k k

k k k k
k k k k PJ

´ Potential Second Primary Access

Buffer Area (indicative)

! ! !

P
age 453



Leeds Station EAST 
BANK

RICHMOND
HILL

Saxton
Gardens

Rose
Wharf

Echo

Easy Road

CROSS
GREEN

Copperfields
St Hildas

Low 
Fold

Liberty 
Dock

Fearns
Wharf

The 
Gateway

Quarry Hill

East 
Street
Mills

Markets Leeds 
Bus

Station

Brewery
Wharf

SOUTH 
BANK

HUNSLET 
RIVERSIDEINNER RING ROAD

East End Park

City connect
to east Leeds

St Saviours

AV18

AV19
AV20

AV21

AV26

AV25

AV39
AV27

AV22

AV23

AV24

AV29

AV30

AV31
AV32

AV33

AV35

AV38
AV36

AV34

AV117

201

206

86

77

1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100019567  You are not permitted to copy, Sub-Licence, Distribute or sell any of this Data to third parties in any form. PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, DATA & GIS MAPPING TEAM
Path: L:\CGM\AVL 2013\AVL draft prop map 2013\AVL Proposal map 2014\AVL master local area July15 ver 3.mxd

AIRE VALLEY LEEDS
EAST BANK, RICHMOND HILL & 
CROSS GREEN AREA MAP
MAP 8

Scale 1/6000 @ A3  DATE 19/04/2016

P
age 454



" Minerals 13 (1) Safeguarded Railway Sidings and Canal Wharves
" Minerals 13 (6) Skelton Grange Rail Spur

" Minerals 12 Safeguarded Mineral Processing Sites

# Waste 2 Safeguarded Aggregate Recycling Sites

# Waste 2 Safeguarded General Waste Sites

Minerals 13 (2&3) Allocations for Railway Sidings and Canal Wharves

Waste 5 Industrial Estates Suitable for Waste Management Uses

Waste 6 Strategic Waste Sites

Waste 7 Allocation for Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste

KEY - AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AREA MAPS

Trans Pennine Trail

New Public Transport Routes (indicative)

HS2 Preferred Route Jan 2013 (Consultation Jan 2013)

#

#

HS2 Station Construction Area (Consultation Jan 2013)

HS2 Station Operational Area (Consultation Jan 2013)

! !

A63 - Pontefract Road Link Road & Knowsthorpe Lane 
Link (indicative)
Proposed Core Cycle Network (indicative)

Existing Core Cycle Network (indicative)

Local Pedestrian/Cycle Routes, 
existing & proposed (indicative)

#

#

Town Centre

Hunslet Town Centre boundary

!CT

Motorway Network

Local Rail Network

Canal/River

Green Space
Listed Buildings

Park and Ride!R&P

Motorway Junction Improvements

Visitors Attractions/Leisure Facilities

Major Parks (Outside boundary)

1. Royal Armouries
2. Thwaite Mills
3. Leeds Rowing Club
4. Proposed Skelton Lake Visitors Centre

)1

A Roads

Allocations

Identified Sites

Minerals 13 (5) Intermodal Freight Area boundary

!LC Local Centre

Conservation Areas

Green Corridor (indicative)

Green Belt boundary (revised)

Flood Alleviation Scheme

!FCL Local Community Facilities

))

X%

Green Space Improvements

RR Gateway to Site

´

Potential Secondary Access´

Primary Access Potential River Boat Stop & Moorings

Policy SG1 other uses (Indicative)

Sustainable Communities Investment Programme

!PS Primary School

!SS Secondary School

Opportunity Area

Residential Area

Employment Area

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

kk

$

"SP

"ST
CC2 boundary

!SO Proposed City Centre Open Space (indicative)

Local Significant Undesignated Heritage Asset

XX

Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone

Identified, General Employment

Identified, Housing

Identified, Mixed Use

Identified, Offices

Identified, Transport Infrastructure

Potential Food Store (indicative)

Proposed Primary School (indicative)

Proposed Through School (indicative)

AVL AAP boundary

Proposed Bridge (indicative)

Proposed City Park (indicative)

Green Infrastructure

Leeds Dock Local Convenience Centre boundary

Allocation, Housing

Allocation, Mixed Use

South Bank Planning Statement Area, Mixed Use

Older Persons Housing / Independent Living

Allocation, General Employment

Green Space - Civic Space

,

k k k k
k k k k
k k k k

k k k k
k k k k PJ

´ Potential Second Primary Access

Buffer Area (indicative)

! ! !

P
age 455



Leeds Station

Hunslet 
Green

HUNSLET

Thwaite 
Gate

Pepper Road
Recreation 

Ground

Railway Branch Line
Bridgewater
Road

HUNSLET 
RIVERSIDE

Hunslet 
MillsINNER RING ROAD

Hunslet Town
CentreJ4

City South
Retail Park

J3

J5

J6
M621

Yarn
Street

Glass
Manufacturer

St Hildas

CROSS GREEN
INDUSTRIAL ESTATE

STOURTON

Knostrop cut removed (FAS)

Low Road

Church Street

AV47
AV98

AV48

AV46

AV41

AV43

AV42

AV40

AV45

AV112

201

21

206

51

86

109

112

113

118

15

106

24

136

97

88

87
89

128

77

29

30

27

67

78

2

3

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100019567  You are not permitted to copy, Sub-Licence, Distribute or sell any of this Data to third parties in any form. PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, DATA & GIS MAPPING TEAM
Path: L:\CGM\AVL 2013\AVL draft prop map 2013\AVL Proposal map 2014\AVL master local area July15 ver 3.mxd

AIRE VALLEY LEEDS
HUNSLET AREA MAP
MAP 9

Scale 1/8000 @ A3  DATE 13/06/2016

P
age 456



1

79

2

ELMTREE LANE

11

14

27

GARDENERS COURT

Works

Court
Hetton

15

Retail Centre

15

Mast

JOSEPH STREET

32.63m

Posts

25

El Sub

FLAX MILL ROAD

2

Hill Centre

Bank

Primary School

Bank

16

17

9

5

PCs

29.9m

41

GROVE ROAD

Tank

4

17

6

9 t
o 

12

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

25.9m

40
Gospel

2

107

120

1

67

The Vale

6

126

Copper Hill

Balm
 Road

16 to 26

138

Warehouse

CA
RI

SS
 ST

45

Works

7 
to

 1
9

5

GRANGE ROAD

HUNSLET GREEN

Hetton

Hunslet Green

Water
house Court 6

He
tto

n

2

Middleton

TH
E 

OV
AL

Hunslet Green

Works

STREET

El Sub Sta

7

Posts

Convent

Posts

S Gantry

3

24

39

14

Church

31

EPWORTH PLACE

PH

CHURCH STREET

14a

13b

86

15

Warehouse

Works

20

15

El Sub Sta

Works

El Sub Sta

39

63

Fraternity

El Sub Sta

Travelling

LUPTON STREET

6

3

7

MIDLAND ROAD

National

CHURCH STREET

19

17

1

HILLIDGE SQUARE

8

1
15

124

31.7m
4

43 to 53

1

BEZA ROAD

27

3

2

22

RC

24

25

Vic

St Joseph's

3

19

L Twr

WHITFIELD SQUARE

Nursery

14b

10

L Twr

17

15

3 1

Playground

(PH)

Playing Fields

Catholic Club

11

10

HEMINGWAY GREEN

14
 to

 1
7

Works

26 to 33

El Sub Sta

LC

56

BM 34.73m

85 to 95

7

JACK LANE

8

THE OVAL

15

7

30

BM 32.14m

5

144

Playground

15

50 to 60

14

THE OVAL
1

Po
sts

26
34

St Joseph's

31.4m

16

TCBs

12

Day

29.3m

11
 to

 1
2

11

WHITFIELD WAY
3

4

11

34

19

21

23

31

29

2

MP 0.75

6

TCB

27.4m

Baptist
Tab

ern
acl

e

41

Health Centre

Park

WB

34

35

25

21a

2

Aintree Court

31.7m

Hall

19 to 29

11

33.8m

Tulip Retail Park

HUNSLET

1

CHURCH STREET

Industri
al E

sta
te

55

46
 to

 5
6

47

55

Club

29
35

24

31.7m

1

14

17

Primary School

Sta

St Mary's

Presby

Gas Gov

Bank

29

El Sub Sta

PO

18

7

Works

21

25

WHITFIELD GARDENS
49

WHITFIELD AVENUE

Depot

St Joseph's

28.3m

Hemingway

Crane

Sta

21

15

of the Nazarene

Works

1

118

4

16

Nursing Home

(PH)

Copper Hill Nursing Home

The Sun

BM 30.50m

36

LC

Garage

11

44

30 to 40

Bingo Hall

5

1

11

Bingo Hall

29.9m

BM

2

33.92m

Jack Lane

Post

37

LAW
N'S LANE

90

19

23

Library

4

Tank

1

3

18 to
 25

Tank

LOW ROAD2

22 to 32

PENNY LANE WAY

14

6

GRANGE CLOSE

5

Warehouse

LY
TT

ON
 ST

37

14 to 24

Tank

46

Court

Court
Hetton

7

12

31.4m

Posts

28
36

34.1m

BA
LM

 R
OA

D

49

Posts

29.3m

Hall

Drain

BM 31.81m

RC Church

Centre
The Penny Hill

13a

2

1

17

47

PH

29.3m

SA Citadel

59

WHITFIELD PLACE

Close

Huns
let

1

WHITFIELD WAY

Hemingway Close

27

27

Hemingway Garth

38

25a

1 to 8

HIL
LID

GE
 RO

AD

11

15

BM 33.94m

2

2

Middleton Railway

3

32.0m

2

55

31.4m

63

39

70

1

Electricity Sub-Station

El Sub Sta

2

14

Retail Centre

17

9

Co
ur

t

8

El Sub Sta

Railway

10

Path

11

31.4m

2

47

BM

18

88

C of E

LB

The Penny

Hunslet St Mary's

10

WALTON STREET

House

61

The George IV

7

El
Sub

to 13

Tank

12

HEMINGWAY GARTH

23

39

Church

(c) Crown Copyright and database rights [2014] Ordnance Survey LA100019567

PRODUCED BY GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, CITY DEVELOPMENT, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL
THIS MAP (OR AN EXTRACT) IS AVAILABLE AT A LARGER SIZE

¯
Path: L:\CGM\GIS Projects\Site Allocations DPD Phase 2\Retail\Hunslet_Aire Valley Version.mxd

MAP 10
Hunslet Town Centre

Key
Proposed Aire Valley AAP amendments

Proposed Primary Frontages

Proposed Secondary Frontages

Proposed Primary Shopping Area Boundary

Page 457



" Minerals 13 (1) Safeguarded Railway Sidings and Canal Wharves
" Minerals 13 (6) Skelton Grange Rail Spur

" Minerals 12 Safeguarded Mineral Processing Sites

# Waste 2 Safeguarded Aggregate Recycling Sites

# Waste 2 Safeguarded General Waste Sites

Minerals 13 (2&3) Allocations for Railway Sidings and Canal Wharves

Waste 5 Industrial Estates Suitable for Waste Management Uses

Waste 6 Strategic Waste Sites

Waste 7 Allocation for Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste

KEY - AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AREA MAPS

Trans Pennine Trail

New Public Transport Routes (indicative)

HS2 Preferred Route Jan 2013 (Consultation Jan 2013)

#

#

HS2 Station Construction Area (Consultation Jan 2013)

HS2 Station Operational Area (Consultation Jan 2013)

! !

A63 - Pontefract Road Link Road & Knowsthorpe Lane 
Link (indicative)
Proposed Core Cycle Network (indicative)

Existing Core Cycle Network (indicative)

Local Pedestrian/Cycle Routes, 
existing & proposed (indicative)

#

#

Town Centre

Hunslet Town Centre boundary

!CT

Motorway Network

Local Rail Network

Canal/River

Green Space
Listed Buildings

Park and Ride!R&P

Motorway Junction Improvements

Visitors Attractions/Leisure Facilities

Major Parks (Outside boundary)

1. Royal Armouries
2. Thwaite Mills
3. Leeds Rowing Club
4. Proposed Skelton Lake Visitors Centre

)1

A Roads

Allocations

Identified Sites

Minerals 13 (5) Intermodal Freight Area boundary

!LC Local Centre

Conservation Areas

Green Corridor (indicative)

Green Belt boundary (revised)

Flood Alleviation Scheme

!FCL Local Community Facilities

))

X%

Green Space Improvements

RR Gateway to Site

´

Potential Secondary Access´

Primary Access Potential River Boat Stop & Moorings

Policy SG1 other uses (Indicative)

Sustainable Communities Investment Programme

!PS Primary School

!SS Secondary School

Opportunity Area

Residential Area

Employment Area

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

kk

$

"SP

"ST
CC2 boundary

!SO Proposed City Centre Open Space (indicative)

Local Significant Undesignated Heritage Asset

XX

Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone

Identified, General Employment

Identified, Housing

Identified, Mixed Use

Identified, Offices

Identified, Transport Infrastructure

Potential Food Store (indicative)

Proposed Primary School (indicative)

Proposed Through School (indicative)

AVL AAP boundary

Proposed Bridge (indicative)

Proposed City Park (indicative)

Green Infrastructure

Leeds Dock Local Convenience Centre boundary

Allocation, Housing

Allocation, Mixed Use

South Bank Planning Statement Area, Mixed Use

Older Persons Housing / Independent Living

Allocation, General Employment

Green Space - Civic Space

,

k k k k
k k k k
k k k k

k k k k
k k k k PJ

´ Potential Second Primary Access

Buffer Area (indicative)

! ! !

P
age 458



Leeds Station

Newmarket 
Lane Thornes 

Farm

Logic Leeds

A63 PONTEFRACT LANE

ENTERPRISE
ZONE

Knostrop
WWTW

CROSS GREEN
INDUSTRIAL ESTATE

Skelton Grange Road

STOURTON

Skelton 
Grange

Wyke Beck

Temple Green

Pontefract Road

Leeds Valley
Park

Wa
ke

fie
ld 

Ro
ad

J7

J44M1

ROTHWELL

J45

Halton
Moor
Wood

HALTON MOOR
TO
ROUNDHAY PARK
(WYKE BECK WAY)

Wyke Beck 
Way

Neville Hill
Depot

OSMONDTHORPE

Leeds/York
Railway

CROSS
GREEN

Copperfields

HUNSLET 
RIVERSIDE

HUNSLET

MIDDLETON

M1 SOUTH
TO M62

Skelton
Gate

Skelton Lake

Rothwell
Country Park

Former
Lagoons

AV52

AV63

AV69

AV57 AV58
AV61
AV62

AV50

AV54 AV92

AV65

AV55
AV70

AV66
AV56 AV60

AV59

AV51

AV73
AV93 AV78

AV74 AV83

AV67

AV68

AV91

AV64

AV72
AV76

AV82

AV75

AV113

AV77AV80

AV81

AV79

AV71

AV116

AV115

183

201

21

202

206

200

20

47

51

86

55109
112

113

118

15

106

137

19

23

24

91

14

17

16

136

74

97

88

87 89

128

77

29

30

27

31

67

78

63

1

2
3

4

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100019567  You are not permitted to copy, Sub-Licence, Distribute or sell any of this Data to third parties in any form. PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, DATA & GIS MAPPING TEAM
Path: L:\CGM\AVL 2013\AVL draft prop map 2013\AVL Proposal map 2014\AVL master local area July15 ver 3.mxd

AIRE VALLEY LEEDS
CENTRAL AIRE VALLEY AREA MAP
MAP 11

Scale 1/17000 @ A3  DATE 13/06/2016

P
age 459



" Minerals 13 (1) Safeguarded Railway Sidings and Canal Wharves
" Minerals 13 (6) Skelton Grange Rail Spur

" Minerals 12 Safeguarded Mineral Processing Sites

# Waste 2 Safeguarded Aggregate Recycling Sites

# Waste 2 Safeguarded General Waste Sites

Minerals 13 (2&3) Allocations for Railway Sidings and Canal Wharves

Waste 5 Industrial Estates Suitable for Waste Management Uses

Waste 6 Strategic Waste Sites

Waste 7 Allocation for Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste

KEY - AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AREA MAPS

Trans Pennine Trail

New Public Transport Routes (indicative)

HS2 Preferred Route Jan 2013 (Consultation Jan 2013)

#

#

HS2 Station Construction Area (Consultation Jan 2013)

HS2 Station Operational Area (Consultation Jan 2013)

! !

A63 - Pontefract Road Link Road & Knowsthorpe Lane 
Link (indicative)
Proposed Core Cycle Network (indicative)

Existing Core Cycle Network (indicative)

Local Pedestrian/Cycle Routes, 
existing & proposed (indicative)

#

#

Town Centre

Hunslet Town Centre boundary

!CT

Motorway Network

Local Rail Network

Canal/River

Green Space
Listed Buildings

Park and Ride!R&P

Motorway Junction Improvements

Visitors Attractions/Leisure Facilities

Major Parks (Outside boundary)

1. Royal Armouries
2. Thwaite Mills
3. Leeds Rowing Club
4. Proposed Skelton Lake Visitors Centre

)1

A Roads

Allocations

Identified Sites

Minerals 13 (5) Intermodal Freight Area boundary

!LC Local Centre

Conservation Areas

Green Corridor (indicative)

Green Belt boundary (revised)

Flood Alleviation Scheme

!FCL Local Community Facilities

))

X%

Green Space Improvements

RR Gateway to Site

´

Potential Secondary Access´

Primary Access Potential River Boat Stop & Moorings

Policy SG1 other uses (Indicative)

Sustainable Communities Investment Programme

!PS Primary School

!SS Secondary School

Opportunity Area

Residential Area

Employment Area

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

kk

$

"SP

"ST
CC2 boundary

!SO Proposed City Centre Open Space (indicative)

Local Significant Undesignated Heritage Asset

XX

Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone

Identified, General Employment

Identified, Housing

Identified, Mixed Use

Identified, Offices

Identified, Transport Infrastructure

Potential Food Store (indicative)

Proposed Primary School (indicative)

Proposed Through School (indicative)

AVL AAP boundary

Proposed Bridge (indicative)

Proposed City Park (indicative)

Green Infrastructure

Leeds Dock Local Convenience Centre boundary

Allocation, Housing

Allocation, Mixed Use

South Bank Planning Statement Area, Mixed Use

Older Persons Housing / Independent Living

Allocation, General Employment

Green Space - Civic Space

,

k k k k
k k k k
k k k k

k k k k
k k k k PJ

´ Potential Second Primary Access

Buffer Area (indicative)

! ! !

P
age 460



SKELTON GATE

M1 NORTH

Skelton Grange
Landfill Site
(to be restored 
as parkland)

ROTHWELL COUNTRY
PARK

LEEDS/CASTLEFORD
RAILWAY

SKELTON LAKE

M1
Potential
Secondary
Access

Primary
Access

J45

Wyke Beck

Potential
Second Primary
Access

Colton Beck Indicative 
public
transport 
service

Potential
Second Primary
Access

Knowsthorpe Lane

AV111

202

206

19

4

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100019567  You are not permitted to copy, Sub-Licence, Distribute or sell any of this Data to third parties in any form. PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, DATA & GIS MAPPING TEAM
Path: L:\CGM\AVL 2013\AVL draft prop map 2013\AVL Proposal map 2014\AVL master local area July15 ver 3.mxd

AIRE VALLEY LEEDS
SKELTON GATE AREA MAP
MAP 12

Scale 1/6500 @ A3  DATE 26/04/2016

P
age 461



KEY - POLICIES MAP (AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AAP) MAP 13

Trans Pennine Trail
A63 - Pontefract Road Link Road & Knowsthorpe Lane 
Link (indicative)

Proposed Core Cycle Network (indicative)

Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone

Identified, General Employment

Identified, Housing

Identified, Mixed Use

Identified, Offices

Identified, Transport Infrastructure

Identified Sites

Green Belt boundary (revised)

Opportunity Area

Allocations
AVL AAP boundary

Allocation, Housing

Allocation, Mixed Use

South Bank Planning Statement Area, Mixed Use

Older Persons Housing / Independent Living

Allocation, General Employment

,

! !

Existing Core Cycle Network

Conservation Areas R2 Waterfront Strategy

CC2  boundary

! !

R2 Wyke Beck Valley

T30C Aerodrome Safeguarding Area

Potential Food Store (indicative)

Proposed Primary School (indicative)

Proposed Through School (indicative)

Park and Ride

Motorway Junction Improvements

Proposed City Park (indicative)

Green Space

Green Infrastructure

Town Centre

Hunslet Town Centre boundary

Leeds Dock Local Convenience Centre boundary

Local Centre

Green Space - Civic Space

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!LC
!CT

%

"ST

PJ

_

"SP

Minerals 13 (5) Intermodal Freight Area boundary

Minerals 2 MSA Sand & Gravel

Minerals 3 MSA Coal

Water 3 Functional Floodplain

!R&P

Proposed Pedestrian/Cycle route (indicative)

New Public Transport Routes (indicative)

Proposed Bridge (indicative)

T18 Strategic Highway Network

T20 LCC Road Schemes

Minerals 13 (1) Safeguarded Railway Sidings and Canal Wharves

Minerals 13 (6) Skelton Grange Rail Spur

Minerals 12 Safeguarded Mineral Processing Sites

Waste 2 Safeguarded Aggregate Recycling Sites

Waste 2 Safeguarded General Waste Sites

Minerals 13 (2&3) Allocations for Railway Sidings and Canal Wharves

Waste 5 Industrial Estates Suitable for Waste Management Uses

Waste 6 Strategic Waste Sites

Waste 7 Allocation for Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste

"

"

#
#

"

Waste 2 Safeguarded Existing Landfill Sites; operational

k k k k
k k k k
k k k k

kkkkk
kkkkk
kkkkk

P
age 462



!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!
!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
! ! !

! !

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

! !

! !

!
! !

!

!
!

!

!
!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

! ! !

!

!
!

!
! ! !

!

P

P

P

%

%

"ST

"SP

,
,

,
,

,

,,

Leeds Rail
Station

Leeds Bus
Station

CROSS GREEN

Hunslet Town
Centre

HUNSLET

STOURTON

BELLE
ISLE

LEEDS VALLEY
PARK

M621

ROTHWELL

M1

M1 SOUTH
TO M62

MIDDLETON

LEEDS/CASTLEFORD
RAILWAY

SKELTON GATE

POTENTIAL
LINK TO 

BULLERTHORPE 
LANE

M1 NORTH

M1
ENTERPRISE

ZONE

HALTON MOOR

TO
ROUNDHAY PARK
(WYKE BECK WAY)

OSMONDTHORPE

LEEDS/YORK
RAILWAY

CITY CONNECT
TO EAST LEEDS

EAST 
BANK

RICHMOND
HILLSOUTH 

BANK
EDUCATION

HUB

LEEDS
DOCkCITY 

PARK

EAST END
PARK

TEMPLE NEWSAM
 PARK

ROTHWELL COUNTRY
PARK

SKELTON LAKE

TO 
MIDDLETON

J7

J44

J45

HOLBECK 
URBAN

VILLAGE

INNER RING ROAD HUNSLET 
RIVERSIDE A63 PONTEFRACT LANE

J6

J5

J4

J3

183

201

21

202

206

200

20

47
51

86

55109
112

113

118

15

106

137

19

23

24

91

14

17

16

136
74

97

88
87 89

128

77

29
30

27

31
67

78

63

AV46

AV19

AV40

AV17

AV20

AV18

AV12

AV32

AV33 AV35
AV13

AV9

AV24

AV22

AV98

AV48

AV36

AV5

AV23

AV27
AV39

AV26

AV30

AV34

AV25

AV41

AV43

AV16 AV14

AV28

AV94

AV10
AV11 AV31

AV42

AV44

AV45

AV47

AV50

AV52

AV54 AV55

AV56

AV57 AV58

AV59

AV60

AV61

AV62

AV63

AV64

AV65

AV66

AV67

AV76

AV77
AV79 AV80

AV72

AV73

AV70

AV69

AV82

AV91

AV92

AV93

AV51

AV15 AV96

AV71

AV75

AV111

AV112

AV113

AV81

AV29

AV74

AV21

AV78

AV38

AV68

AV83

AV115

AV117

AV116

© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100019567  You are not permitted to copy, Sub-Licence, Distribute or sell any of this Data to third parties in any form. PRODUCED BY DATA & GIS MAPPING TEAM, CITY DEVELOPMENT, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL
Path: L:\CGM\AVL 2013\AVL draft prop map 2013\AVL Proposal map 2014\Revised older persons housing maps aug 15\AVL Prop Map April 2016 (Map-13) A3.mxd

POLICIES MAP (AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AAP)
MAP 13

Scale: 1/18000  @  A3       Date: 13/06/2016

P
age 463



P

P

P

%

%

"ST

"SP

,
,

,
,

,

,,

Leeds Rail
Station

Leeds Bus
Station

CROSS GREEN

Hunslet Town
Centre

HUNSLET

STOURTON

BELLE
ISLE

LEEDS VALLEY
PARK

M621

ROTHWELL

M1

M1 SOUTH
TO M62

MIDDLETON

LEEDS/CASTLEFORD
RAILWAY

SKELTON GATE

POTENTIAL
LINK TO 
BULLERTHORPE 
LANE

M1 NORTH

M1
ENTERPRISE

ZONE

HALTON MOOR
TO

ROUNDHAY PARK
(WYKE BECK WAY)

OSMONDTHORPE

LEEDS/YORK
RAILWAYCITY CONNECT

TO EAST LEEDS

EAST 
BANK

RICHMOND
HILLSOUTH 

BANK
EDUCATION

HUB

LEEDS
DOCkCITY 

PARK

EAST END
PARK

TEMPLE NEWSAM
 PARK

ROTHWELL COUNTRY
PARK

SKELTON LAKE

TO 
MIDDLETON

J7

J44

J45

HOLBECK 
URBAN

VILLAGE

INNER RING ROAD
HUNSLET 
RIVERSIDE

A63 PONTEFRACT LANE

J6

J5

J4

J3 AV46

AV19

AV40

AV17

AV20

AV18

AV12

AV32

AV33 AV35AV13
AV9

AV24

AV22

AV98

AV48

AV36

AV5

AV23

AV27
AV39

AV26

AV30

AV34

AV25

AV41

AV43

AV7

AV16 AV14

AV28
AV94

AV10
AV11 AV31

AV42

AV44

AV45

AV47

AV50

AV52

AV54 AV55

AV56

AV57 AV58

AV59
AV60

AV61

AV62

AV63

AV64

AV65

AV66

AV67

AV76

AV77
AV79 AV80

AV72

AV73

AV70

AV69

AV82

AV91

AV92

AV93

AV51

AV15 AV96

AV71

AV75

AV111

AV112

AV113

AV81

AV29

AV74

AV21

AV78

AV38

AV68

AV83

AV115

AV117

AV116

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100019567  You are not permitted to copy, Sub-Licence, Distribute or sell any of this Data to third parties in any form.

POLICIES MAP (AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AAP
REVISIONS ONLY)
MAP 14

Path: L:\CGM\AVL 2013\AVL draft prop map 2013\AVL Proposal map 2014\Revised older persons housing maps aug 15\AVL Prop Map April 2016 draft OPH (Map 14) A3.mxd         
PRODUCED BY DATA & GIS MAPPING TEAM, CITY DEVELOPMENT, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

!CT

KEY

Trans Pennine Trail
A63 - Pontefract Road Link Road (indicative)
Proposed Core Cycle Network (indicative)

Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone

Identified, General Employment
Identified, Housing
Identified, Mixed Use
Identified, Offices
Identified, Transport Infrastructure

Identified Sites

Green Belt boundary (revised)

Proposed Pedestrian/Cycle route (indicative)

Potential Food Store (indicative)
Proposed Primary School (indicative)
Proposed Through School (indicative)

Opportunity Area

Allocations
AVL AAP Boundary

Park and Ride

New Public Transport Routes (indicative)

Motorway Junction Improvements

Proposed Bridge (indicative)

Proposed City Park (indicative)
Green Space

Green Infrastructure

Town Centre
Hunslet Town Centre boundary
Leeds Dock Local Convenience Centre boundary

Local Centre

Allocation, Housing
Allocation, Mixed Use
South Bank Planning Statement Area, Mixed Use
Older Persons Housing / Independent Living

Allocation, General Employment

Green Space - Civic Space

,

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

!LC
!CT

%

"ST

PJ
_

! !

"SP

! !

k k k
k k k
k k k

Scale: 1/19000  @  A3           Date: 04/07/2016

!R&P

k k k
k k k
k k k

P
age 464



 
 
 
 
 
AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AREA ACTION PLAN  
 
SUBMISSION DRAFT  
 
 
Leeds Local Development Framework 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Development Plan Document 

Consolidated Aire Valley Leeds AAP comprising Publication 
Draft Sept 2015 and Pre-Submission Draft Changes (CD01) 
 
September 2016 

Page 465



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

Key to changes 

 

Pre submission Changes:  

New Text  

Deletions  

Minor typo/editing changes 
  

Page 466



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

2 
 

CONTENTS                PAGE 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Why an Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan?     4 
1.2 The Area Action Plan-Overall Scope       5 
1.3 Aire Valley Leeds          5 
1.4 Policy context          6 
1.5 Sustainability Appraisal & Habitats Regulations Assessment   9 
1.6 Stages of Preparation and Consultation       8 
 
2. VISION & URBAN ECO-SETTLEMENT (UES) PRINCIPLES   10 
 
 
3. AAP SPATIAL STRATEGY & PLAN WIDE POLICIES     
 
3.1 Introduction           12 
3.2 Economic Growth & Local Job Creation      13 
3.3 New homes           22 
3.4 Healthy & thriving communities       30 
3.5 Transport & connections         37 
3.6 Green infrastructure & visitor attractions      46 
3.7 Energy efficiency & low carbon energy       54 
 
4. AREA PLANS & PLACEMAKING 
 
Area plans and proposals for the following: 
 
4.1 Introduction           61 
4.2    South Bank            62 
4.3 East Bank, Richmond Hill & Cross Green       79 
4.4 Hunslet            97 
4.5 Central Aire Valley          110 
4.6 Skelton Gate           124 

5. INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY PLAN      136 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 467



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

3 
 

CONTENTS           PAGE 
 
GLOSSARY             141 
             
 
APPENDICES              
 
Appendix 1 - Schedule of Leeds Unitary Development Plan Saved Policies     145 
(at adoption of the Leeds Core Strategy – November 2014) to be revised/ 
superseded by the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Publication Draft 
 
Appendix 2: Local Undesignated Heritage Assets Schedule      149 
 
 
MAPS (see AVL AAP Submission Draft Map Book AVL AAP Map Book) 
 
Map 1 - Aire Valley Leeds in context 
Map 2 - Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Boundary 
Map 3 – Strategic Plan 
Map 4 – Transport Network Improvements 
Map 5 – Green Infrastructure Network 
Map 6 – Proposed District Heating Network, City Centre & Aire Valley Leeds 
Map 6A – Area Plan Boundaries 
Map 7 – South Bank Area Map 
Map 8 – East Bank, Richmond Hill & Cross Green Area Plan 
Map 9 – Hunslet Area Map 
Map 10 – Hunslet Town Centre 
Map 11 – Central Aire Valley Area Map 
Map 12 – Skelton Gate Area Map 
Map 13 – Policies Map (Aire Valley Leeds) 
Map 14 – Policies Map (Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan revisions only) 
 
 

  

Page 468



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

4 
 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION 
1.0.1 Aire Valley Leeds (AVL) is one of the largest regeneration and growth opportunities in 

Leeds City Region (LCR).   Located at the geographical heart of the LCR (see Map 1, 
Aire Valley Leeds Context), the area has potential to deliver landmark development of 
national and European significance, including a re-integrated southern half to Leeds 
City Centre, a new City Park for Leeds, the Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone 
(LCREZ), and new sustainable housing. 

1.0.2 What makes this area particularly important is the opportunity to create a sustainable 
place which not only drives the growth of the LCR economy, but also brings benefits to 
local people living in disadvantaged communities within and adjoining the area.  AVL 
can become a popular place to live, work and visit, supported by an effective transport 
network and within a green and attractive environment.  This context underpins the 
identification of the area as an ‘Urban Eco-Settlement’. 

 
1.1 WHAT IS THE AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AREA ACTION PLAN 

(AVLAAP)? 
 
1.1.1 AVL is a major regeneration area covering 1,300 hectares of land to the south east of 

Leeds City Centre.  It includes both banks of the River Aire running from the heart of 
the city centre to the M1 motorway.  With over 400 hectares of mostly brownfield land, 
it has the potential to deliver thousands of new homes and job opportunities, new 
community facilities and leisure and visitor attractions. 

1.1.2 The challenging economic climate from 2008 had an effect on development viability 
and delivery of infrastructure.  However, this fragility is being replaced by a 
strengthening economy, with a number of major projects now established, underway 
or planned.  This includes the decision to locate the LCREZ within AVL, the 
construction of the Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility (RERF) at Cross Green 
and major regeneration and development opportunities emerging on the South Bank in 
Leeds City Centre, linked to the City Park and potential delivery of high speed rail 
(HS2).  

1.1.3 Reflecting the wider opportunities associated with the area, the earlier boundaries of 
the AVL were revisited, and following a public consultation in 2011 were extended to 
include parts of residential communities in Richmond Hill, Cross Green and East Bank 
area in east Leeds; parts of Hunslet, including Hunslet Town Centre in south Leeds; 
and parts of Leeds South Bank in Leeds City Centre.  The boundary of the AAP area 
is shown on Map 2. 

1.1.4 The AVLAAP is a development plan document within the Leeds Local Development 
Framework (LDF) / ‘local plan’ for Leeds.  As such it will form part of the statutory 
development plan and sits alongside the Leeds Core Strategy, saved UDP Policies 
and other existing and proposed Development Plan Documents.  These include the 
Leeds Site Allocations Plan (SAP) and Leeds Natural Resources and Waste Local 
Plan (NRWLP).  It will become an essential component of decision making regarding 
future growth and development of the area. 

  

Page 469



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

5 
 

1.2 THE AVL AAP – OVERALL SCOPE 
1.2.1 The spatial vision and objectives of the Leeds Core Strategy incorporates a long term 

vision for Leeds Metropolitan District by 2030.  Integral to this approach, is the desire 
for AVL, to become a new living and working community, supported by the necessary 
community facilities and infrastructure.  Central to the creation of new homes and jobs, 
is the emphasis upon place making and the protection and enhancement of green 
infrastructure, the regeneration of existing communities and the delivery of priorities to 
reduce reliance on carbon based fuels. 

1.2.2 The AVLAAP provides a spatial planning framework, plan wide policies, area plans 
and site specific allocations for AVL.  The focus is to deliver an innovative and 
integrated approach to the sustainable regeneration of the area, reflecting the scale of 
opportunities in the area and links to adjacent communities in east and south Leeds.  

1.2.3 The AAP is structured around a spatial strategy and plan wide policies (section 3), 
area plans and place making (section 4) and is supported by an infrastructure delivery 
plan (section 5). 

 
1.3 AIRE VALLEY LEEDS 
1.3.1 Major river corridors across the UK have had a fundamental influence upon the 

geography and economic prosperity of places.  These are unique and key resources, 
which have not only shaped the past but have a role in defining the future.  The River 
Aire and Aire Valley have shaped the regional landscape and helped to drive the 
industrial revolution.  This strategic corridor flows through the centre of Leeds MD 
(North East to South East), with the lower Aire Valley being synonymous with 
manufacturing and utility industries.  In recent years, the area has become more 
widely recognised for its biodiversity and habitats (Fairburn Ings and St Aidan’s) and 
new investment in homes and infrastructure.  However, major challenges remain and 
based upon this strategic role and location, AVL provides a major opportunity for 
Leeds and the LCR.  The focus of the AAP is to provide a coherent framework to 
deliver sustainable regeneration and growth, for the benefit of communities now and in 
the future. 

 
1.3.2 AVL is the key strategic employment location in the heart of LCR and provides the 

largest economic and regeneration opportunity in the north of England.  The 1,300 
hectare AAP area extends south east from Leeds City Centre to the edge of the main 
urban area.  The plan contains over 400 hectares of development land benefitting from 
direct connections to the M1 and M621. The area also forms an important part of the 
district’s strategic green infrastructure network.  This network combines a series of 
linear corridors, which connect water bodies and open water, green space, footpaths 
and areas rich in biodiversity and nature conservation interest. 

1.3.3 In harnessing the longer term potential of AVL, it should be emphasised that the area 
has an existing employment base of 800 businesses, (employing around 30,000 
people), with the potential for future job growth associated with the opportunities 
identified in the Leeds Growth Strategy.  These include: health and medical, low 
carbon, advanced manufacturing, digital and creative industries, housing and 
construction.  Within this context, a key priority for the Leeds Core Strategy and AAP, 
is to ensure that these current and future opportunities reflect the needs of the 
neighbourhoods surrounding the AAP area, some of which (east Leeds and south 
Leeds) are within the country’s 10% most deprived.  A key focus of the AAP is 

Page 470



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

6 
 

therefore, to ensure that opportunities are taken to improve physical accessibility and 
connectivity to and within AVL, together with initiatives to improve skills and training, 
as part of the package of measures to facilitate job growth. 

1.3.4 For the delivery of the AVLAAP to be a success, there is a need to address a series of 
interrelated economic, social and environmental challenges and opportunities.  As a 
basis to facilitate and deliver the strategic ambitions for the area, the Leeds Core 
Strategy identifies AVL as an ‘Urban Eco-Settlement’.  The purpose is to highlight and 
unify the unique characteristics and opportunities of the AVL’s location.  Based upon 
this approach, the aspirations for the area is are to ensure that positive progress is 
made in delivering the overarching principles of sustainable development and that AVL 
continues to thrive as a resilient and inclusive destination in which to invest and 
prosper. 

1.3.5 A more detailed profile of AVL is set out within individual area plans (see Section 4) 

1.4 POLICY CONTEXT 
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
1.4.1 The NPPF, sets out the Government’s planning policies and how these should be 

applied.  The framework is the basis for local planning authorities in preparing 
development plans and in making decisions on planning applications.  

1.4.3 The NPPF states that the primary purpose of the planning system is to contribute to 
the achievement of sustainable development and sets out the Government’s view of 
what sustainable development means in practice.  Plans must be prepared with the 
objective of contributing to the delivery of sustainable development and be consistent 
with the principles and policies set out in the NPPF.  Plans should identify 
opportunities to achieve each of the economic, social and environmental dimensions 
of sustainable development and provide net gains across all three, whilst avoiding 
significant adverse impacts. 

 Leeds City Region 
1.4.4 Following the abolition of the Regional Strategy (RS) in February 2012, the Leeds City 

Region Leaders Board retained the high level policies of the RS, to allow for strategic 
planning continuity across the region.  As a consequence, a series of ‘Spatial 
Principles’ and ‘Thematic Policies’ provide a broader planning and regeneration 
context for Leeds.  This includes the role of Leeds City Centre and AVL as a priority for 
economic development and investment, together with policies for green infrastructure, 
climate change and resources. 

 Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) 
1.4.5 As a focus to promote economic development across the city region, the SEP has 

been prepared via the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  This forms the basis to 
deliver the ‘Local Growth Deal’ agreed with Government in July 2014.  The focus of 
the SEP is based upon 4 strategic pillars: 

• Supporting growth in businesses, 
• Develop a skilled and flexible work force, 
• bBuilding a resources smart city region and 
• Delivering infrastructure for growth. 

 

Page 471



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

7 
 

1.4.6 Centred upon these pillars, the SEP includes the following strategic priority: 

• To create an additional £5.2 billion of economic output and an extra 62,000 jobs in 
the Leeds City Region by 2021. 

1.4.7 Within this economic context, Leeds is a key driver of the regional economy, with the 
city centre and AVL (incorporating the LCREZ) identified as the key strategic location 
for job growth and infrastructure investment. 

 Local to Leeds: 
 Community Strategy – ‘Vision for Leeds’ (2011) 
1.4.8 The Vision for Leeds (2011-2030) sets the ambition for Leeds to be the ‘Best City in 

the UK’, as a fair, open and welcoming city, with a prosperous and sustainable 
economy, and for all its communities to be successful.  In practice this means being 
fair, sustainable and inclusive.  The following priorities drive the overall approach of 
the AVLAAP: 
1. Best city for children – where they are safe, have skills for life, choose healthy 

lifestyles, have fun growing up and are active citizens.  
2. Best city for business – to create significant new job opportunities, start-up and 

innovative businesses, supported by sustainable travel and within a low carbon 
economy. 

3. Best city for communities – where people are safe and feel safe in a clean and 
welcoming city. 

4. Best city for health and well-being – people live longer and healthier lives 
supported by high quality services and inequalities in health are reduced. 

5. Best city to live in – a great place to live with good housing and clean, green 
spaces; where people can travel on good quality and reliable public transport and 
have access to walking and cycling routes; housing growth is sustainable and 
meets the need of different age groups; local people benefit from regeneration and 
people enjoy world class culture, sport, leisure and entertainment.  

Leeds Growth Strategy 
1.4.9 In taking forward the economic priorities embedded within the Vision for Leeds and in 

reflecting the status of Leeds as a core city and its strategic role and location as part of 
the city region, the Leeds Growth Strategy defines seven economic development 
priorities.  These are: 

• Health and medical 
• Financial and business services 
• Advanced manufacturing 
• Retail 
• Digital and creative industries 
• Housing and construction; and, 
• Social enterprise and the voluntary sector. 

1.4.10 As outlined in section 1.3 above, AVL, based upon its strategic location, land 
availability and opportunity, is central to the delivery of these key priorities. 

 Leeds Local Development Framework (LDF) (‘local plan’) 
1.4.11 The Council is preparing the Local Development Framework (LDF) / (‘local plan’) for 

Leeds, which is the name for a number of Development Plan Documents and 

Page 472



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

8 
 

Supplementary Planning Documents, which combined are the development plan for 
Leeds. This includes a number of documents (some of which are now adopted), 
together with the AVLAAP and Site Allocations Plan (SAP). 

 Leeds Core Strategy 
1.4.12 The Leeds Core Strategy, adopted in November 2014, is the main document setting 

out the overall vision and strategic level policies and vision to guide the delivery of 
future development in Leeds.  The AAP is guided by the policies in the Core Strategy 
and must be in general conformity.  The Core Strategy identifies the overall spatial 
priorities for the scale and distribution of growth across the district, which includes the 
identification of AVL as an ‘Urban Eco-Settlement’. 

1.4.13 A number of spatial policies specifically refer to the plan area as follows: 

• Spatial Policy 1: Location of Development - Identifies AVL as a key strategic 
location for job growth; 

• Spatial Policy 3: Role of Leeds City Centre - Proposes a new City Park in the 
South Bank area in AVL; 

• Spatial Policy 4: Regeneration Priority Programme Areas - Identifies AVL as an 
area to be given priority for regeneration funding and resources; 

• Spatial Policy 5: AVL Urban Eco-Settlement - Establishes priorities for 
sustainable delivery of a minimum of 6,500 new homes and at least 250 hectares of 
land for employment use; 

• Spatial Policy 8: Economic Development Priorities – Includes a priority to 
improve accessibility to AVL employment opportunities by public transport, walking 
and cycling; 

• Spatial Policy 11: Transport Infrastructure Investment Priorities - Sets out a 
priority for transport improvements to, from and within AVL; 

• Spatial Policy 13: Strategic Green Infrastructure - Identifies the Aire Valley and 
Wyke Beck corridors within the strategic green infrastructure network in Leeds. 

1.4.14 In addition all district wide policies in the Core Strategy will apply within AVL (such as 
Policy H4 – Housing Mix and Policy H5 – Affordable Housing) 

Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan (NRWLP) 
1.4.15 The NRWLP was adopted in January 2013.  The document provides policies for 

determining planning applications which have an effect on minerals, waste, energy, 
water or air and sets out a policy framework to achieve a more efficient use of natural 
resources.  The scope and policies of the plan aim to: 

• Ensure the responsible and efficient use of natural resources; 
• Plan for managing future pressure on natural resources; 
• Increase waste re-use, recycling, composting and residual waste treatment with 

energy recovery (so that as little waste as possible is disposed of at landfill); 
• Provide sufficient land to deliver new processes which manage waste as a valuable 

resource; 
• Encourage more use of those resources that don’t run out, such as solar, hydro and 

wind energy; and, 
• Encourage the movement of freight by alternative means to road, including the 

transfer of minerals and related products by water. 
 

Page 473



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

9 
 

1.4.16 Through the NRWLP, a number of sites have been identified and are retained, within 
the AAP boundary, for specific purposes relating to minerals processing and canal and 
rail freight operations.  These sites are shown on area maps for information but do not 
form part of this plan.  They will provide additional employment opportunities in the 
area and are counted as contributing towards the overall employment land 
requirement for AVL. The housing and employment allocations in AVL will also 
contribute to the respective HMCA targets under Core Strategy Spatial Policy 7 for City 
Centre, Inner Area and East. 

 
Site Allocations Plan (SAP) 

1.4.17 The SAP relates to site allocations for housing, employment, green space and retail 
(town and local centre boundaries and shopping frontage boundaries).  This is a 
district wide plan, with the exception of allocations being identified within AVL, as part 
of the AVLAAP. 
Local Policies & Planning Frameworks 

1.4.18 There are a number of local policies and frameworks of relevance and influence to the 
AAP.  This includes the ‘South Bank Planning Statement’, which was adopted by the 
Council in October 2011, following a period of public consultation. 

 

1.5 SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL (SA) & HABITATS 
REGULATIONS ASSESSMENT (HRA) 

1.5.1 The AVLAAP has been prepared within the context of the LDF legal requirements and 
regulations, including Sustainability Appraisal (which incorporates the requirements of 
Strategic Environmental Assessment) and compliance with the Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA). 

1.6 AVLAAP – STAGES OF PREPARATION & CONSULTATION 
1.6.1 The AVLAAP has been in production since 2005, against a background of changing 

national and regional planning policy.  The current timetable has been driven by the 
adoption of the Core Strategy and the desire to prepare the SAP & AVLAAP at the 
same time, to ensure the district’s site allocations can be presented and considered in 
their entirety. 

 
1.6.2 The stages in plan preparation completed to date are as follows: 

• Early Issues for consultation (Summer 2005) 
• Alternative Options for consultation (April – June 2006) 
• Preferred Options (October - November 2007) 
• Informal consultation on the promotion of the area as an Urban Eco-Settlement and 

extensions to the AAP boundary (January – March 2011) 
 

1.6.3 The final stages to progress the plan to adoption are: 

• Public consultation of publication draft (Autumn 2015) 
• Examination (Spring 2016) 
• Adoption (Winter 2016/2017) 

 

Page 474



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

10 
 

SECTION 2: AVL, URBAN ECO - SETTLEMENT 
VISION & PRINCIPLES 
2.1 AVL offers a unique opportunity for the district and the LCR as a whole, to secure 

investment and innovation in the delivery of economic development, sustainable 
housing growth and vibrant communities.  Place making will be at the heart of the 
planning of the area to secure high quality development which is connected into the 
rest of Leeds. This will support the overall regeneration and enhancement of the area, 
consistent with the ambition for Leeds to become the ‘Best City in the UK’. 

 
AVL – Urban Eco-Settlement Vision 
 
At the heart of Leeds City Region, to create transformational opportunities for 
new jobs and homes, within an attractive, safe, resilient, connected, low carbon 
environment, which together enhance the area’s unique character and strategic 
location. 

 
2.2 This vision is underpinned by the following supporting principles: 
 

1. For the economy: 
To bring the benefits of the city region’s biggest opportunity for economic 
growth, investment and innovation in key employment sectors, to local 
communities. 
 

2. For housing: 
To meet housing needs through the delivery of quality, energy efficient and 
affordable homes for existing and new communities. 
 

3. For communities: 
To develop a place where families are proud to live and are supported by high 
quality local facilities and services. 
 

4. For connections: 
To establish a strategic growth location for Leeds, supported by a sustainable 
transport network, which links to local communities and the national network, by 
improved public transport, safe and attractive walking and cycling routes, roads 
and waterways. 
 

5. For energy and resources: 
To maximise opportunities to develop innovative low carbon energy solutions 
which benefit local businesses and residents. 
 

6. For the environment and visitors: 
To preserve, enhance and ensure a sustainable future  the existing natural and 
for heritage assets and enhance natural assets linked to within a wider network 
of green infrastructure, comprising of places and spaces which enhance local 
character and distinctiveness, provide recreational opportunities, support wildlife 
and improve the visitor experience. 
 

Page 475



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

11 
 

7. For health:  
To be a place which allows people to make healthy lifestyle choices by offering 
local jobs (and training), quality homes and outdoor spaces for play all set within 
a green environment. 
 

8. For infrastructure: 
In support of communities and local businesses, provide a co-ordinated 
framework for investing in green, social and physical infrastructure. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
  

Page 476



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

12 
 

SECTION 3: SPATIAL STRATEGY & PLAN WIDE 
POLICIES 
 
3.1 INTRODUCTION 
 
3.1.1 This section translates the strategic requirements of the Core Strategy and other 

relevant policies into a spatial strategy for the AVL AAP area, which includes plan-wide 
policies, strategic proposals for new infrastructure and site allocations for a range of 
uses, focused on providing new homes and jobs, across the plan area.  Together 
these form an integrated and sustainable package of policies and proposals to meet 
the objectives of the plan set out in Section 2.  

3.1.2 The spatial strategy and plan-wide policies are set out under the following themes: 

• Section 3.2 – Economic growth and local job creation 
• Section 3.3 – New homes 
• Section 3.4 - Healthy & thriving communities 
• Section 3.5 - Transport & connections 
• Section 3.6 – Green infrastructure & visitor attractions 
• Section 3.7 – Energy efficiency & low carbon energy  

3.1.3 The strategic plan (Map 3) illustrates the spatial strategy across the AAP area.  It 
highlights the distinctive geographic areas within AVL, the range of major development 
opportunities set out in the plan area, existing and proposed strategic infrastructure 
and the connectivity of the area to its wider context, including neighbouring 
communities, the city centre, key transport facilities and major parks and nature 
reserves. 

 
3.1.5 In translating the overall spatial strategy and plan-wide policies into the individual and 

distinct geographic areas, five area plans have been prepared which are set out in 
detail in Section 4. 

  

Page 477



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

13 
 

3.2 ECONOMIC GROWTH & LOCAL JOB CREATION 
3.2.1 Bringing forward business growth and creating new jobs in the AVL is crucial to the 

economic prosperity of Leeds and the wider LCR.  Central to this approach is the 
desire to improve the employment and economic prospects of local people living in 
east and south Leeds.  

3.2.2 There are unparalleled opportunities within AVL to consolidate existing economic 
activity and to bring forward new economic development which include the following: 

• AVL is home to the LCREZ which incorporates four major development sites 
totalling over 142 hectares, targeted at growth sectors such as health and medical, 
advanced manufacturing, low carbon industries and logistics businesses.  The 
LCREZ will include a bus-based park & ride which will be a catalyst for bringing new 
public transport services to the area. 

• The South Bank of the city centre is a major regeneration opportunity where the 
vision is to transform the area into a distinctive, vibrant, well connected, sustainable 
business and residential community which has at its heart a new City Park.  The 
new park will act as a catalyst for the regeneration and place shaping of the area, 
by creating a vibrant and outward facing public space that provides the context for 
the broader redevelopment of the area and will help improve connections to the 
surrounding communities. 

• In the longer term, the proposed HS2 station is expected to become a further 
catalyst for regeneration in the South Bank (and beyond) which will offer businesses 
a location with fast and frequent national transport links.  The construction of the 
station would also offer opportunities to reshape the surrounding area, including 
improved pedestrian, cycling and public transport links. 

• The NGT Trolleybus route is proposed to pass through the South Bank and Hunslet 
area, including several stops to improve the accessibility of the area and 
development sites to the city centre and other parts of the city.  The scheme 
includes a 1,500 space park & ride and vehicle and staff depot at Stourton which 
will provide local job opportunities in south Leeds.  

• A wide ranging portfolio of development sites catering for office and industrial and 
logistic uses, including sites within or on the edge of the city centre with excellent 
access to the public transport network and sites close to the motorway network.  

• The potential to improve the leisure and tourism offer along the River Aire building 
upon existing leisure and tourism assets such as the Royal Armouries, Thwaite Mills 
and the Trans Pennine Trail cycle route and linking them into the wider network of 
visitor attractions in the city centre and parks and nature reserves along the river 
(see Section 3.6).  

 
3.2.3 In addition to this growth potential, AVL is already home to a large number and diverse 

range of businesses and jobs, including: 

• Major national and international businesses, including the Asda corporate HQ in the 
South Bank, and the First Direct and Arla Dairy operations at Stourton; 

• Office development at Leeds Dock and along East Street, and one of the largest 
‘out of centre’ office parks in the city at Leeds Valley Park, located just off M1 J44; 

Page 478



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

14 
 

• Employment in the retail, food and drink, entertainment, hotel, leisure and cultural 
sectors focused around destinations such as Brewery Wharf, Leeds Dock, the 
Royal Armouries and Hunslet Town Centre; 

• The Cross Green Industrial Estate, Stourton and parts of Hunslet which are well 
established industrial and commercial areas home to a range of small and medium 
sized businesses;  

• The utilities sector is a large employer, including Yorkshire Water’s waste treatment 
plant at Knostrop, and the area is home to a number of aggregate processing and 
freight distribution operations; and, 

• A growing education hub within the South Bank, including the recently opened and 
expanding Leeds City College Printworks campus on Hunslet Lane, which lies just 
outside the boundary of the AAP and the Leeds Building College campus and the 
proposed Ruth Gorse Academy at Black Bull Street. 

 
3.2.4 Within this overall context, the AAP sets out the broad strategy for delivering economic 

development and bringing new jobs to AVL, consistent with the economic development 
priorities set out in Spatial Policy 8 of the Core Strategy.  It identifies the broad 
locations for specific economic development uses such as offices and industrial and 
warehousing.  Detailed site-specific allocations and proposals are set out in area plans 
in Section 4. 

LEEDS CITY REGION ENTERPRISE ZONE (LCREZ) 
3.2.5 The LCREZ is the largest opportunity for growth across the City Region and north of 

England, recognised in the LCR’s Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) as a driver for 
inward investment and backed by the UK Government.  The ambition is to deliver 
7,000 new jobs by 2025, providing a focus for key sectors for the region.  The area is a 
catalyst for the regeneration of the wider area, using business rate uplift generated by 
the zone to support £550 million of additional economic output by 2025.  The LCREZ 
comprises four large sites covering 142 hectares. 

3.2.6 There are significant challenges being addressed including a recovering market, land 
remediation costs and need to provide infrastructure to service the sites.  In helping to 
address these issues, £8.57 million of funding has been secured from the 
Governments’ ‘Building Foundations for Growth’ fund to deliver essential infrastructure 
and to stimulate investment.  It is supporting new development capable of meeting 
identified demand for SME expansion space; accommodation for advanced 
manufacturing; and large scale space for major logistics operators.  This ‘impact 
investment’ - targeting resources, building momentum, boosting confidence and kick 
starting the market in the short term, to help enable the delivery of the sustainable 
private sector investment and jobs that will underpin the success of the LCREZ and 
delivery of its full economic potential. 

3.2.7 The four LCREZ sites have planning permissions in place for a range of employment 
uses (including large-scale manufacturing, distribution, high quality offices and waste 
processing) and supporting infrastructure and starts were made on all sites in 2014.  
Detailed proposals for each of the LCREZ sites are set out in the Central Aire Valley 
Area Plan (Section 4.5). 

 

Page 479



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

15 
 

LEEDS SOUTH BANK 
3.2.8 South Bank is the other major regeneration opportunity in the plan area.  It is one of 

Europe’s most exciting sustainable growth locations whose regeneration will transform 
Leeds City Centre over the next two decades.  The catalyst for the area’s development 
will be major transport investments; led by the NGT trolleybus system, the opening of 
Leeds Station Southern Entrance and potentially, the proposed HS2 station in Leeds, 
alongside public realm investments, including a flagship City Park.  This will be 
supported by measures to improve pedestrian and cycle links connecting the area with 
the traditional core of the city centre and to surrounding communities.  This is linked to 
proposals to reduce the dominance of vehicular traffic infrastructure in the area and 
improve environmental quality. 

3.2.9 The area is already a rapidly growing hub for the city’s creative, digital and technology 
industries (CDI) and is one of the country’s most important regional internet centres 
led by existing (and proposed data centres) in the area.  It is considered that the area 
has the potential to attract many of the larger internet service providers helping the city 
deliver its ambitious digital plans and the ‘Super-Connected Cities’ project to roll-out 
super-fast broadband.  

3.2.10 The AAP area has a significant supply of large brownfield development sites and 
premises which are suitable for and attractively located to support development of new 
office and business floorspace.  Detailed proposals for this area are set out in the 
South Bank Area Plan (Section 4.2). 

IDENTIFYING SITES FOR BUSINESS AND ECONOMIC GROWTH AND 
JOB CREATION 

3.2.11 A key priority for the AAP is to identify sufficient land to meet economic development 
and job creation targets guided by the requirements set out in the Core Strategy  
Spatial Policy 5 with a target for 250 hectares of employment development land (of all 
types) to be identified in AVL between 2012 and 2028. 

3.2.12 The evidence base for identifying employment sites in the AAP is the Leeds 
Employment Land Review (ELR).  The ELR assesses a portfolio of potential sites in 
terms of their suitability, availability and achievability for employment development. 
The employment sites identified in the AAP are consistent with the NPPF and Core 
Strategy policies and are considered to be deliverable by 2028.  The employment land 
portfolio takes the form of single use sites for employment or mixed use sites which 
offer a greater flexibility in terms of the end use.  

3.2.13 The most significant contribution (182 ha) will be made from identified sites, those 
sites which had planning permission at the start of the plan period or have gained 
planning permission subsequently (up to April 2015) and other employment allocations 
carried forward from the UDPR.  This includes sites completed since 2012 and sites 
currently under construction. 

  

Page 480



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

16 
 

 

 

POLICY AVL1: IDENTIFIED SITES FOR OFFICE USE IN AIRE 
VALLEY LEEDS 
The AVLAAP identifies sites which have existing or recently expired planning 
permission, or were previously allocated for uses including office on the UDP as 
identified office sites.  Identified office sites contribute to the target for office use 
set out in Core Strategy Spatial Policy 9 and the employment land requirement for 
AVL set out in Core Strategy Spatial Policy 5.  These are shown on the Policies 
Map (for office or mixed use) and detailed in Table 1. 

 
3.2.14 Table 1 shows identified office sites (including mixed use development) which provide 

a total of 13.3 13.5 hectares of employment land.  

TABLE 1: SCHEDULE OF IDENTIFIED OFFICES SITES (INCLUDING MIXED USE 
SITES WHICH INCLUDE OFFICE USES) 
Site No. Site Name Identified 

use 
Office floorspace 

(sqm) 
Area (ha) 

(available for 
offices) 

AV5 Indigo Blu, Crown Point Road Mixed Use1 1,271 0.05 

AV10 Armouries Drive, Leeds Dock Mixed Use2 4,130 8,022  0.90 1.04 

AV11 Former Alea Casino, The 
Boulevard, Leeds Dock  

Offices 5,890 8,191 0.17 

AV31 Cross Green Lane / Echo 
Phase 3 

Mixed Use3 6,290 0.18 

AV44 Unit 5 Nelson House, Quayside 
Business Park, George Mann 
Road 

Offices 
1,059 0.37 

AV81 Leeds Valley Park Offices 46,000 11.69 

TOTAL 64,640 70,833 13.38 13.50 

 

POLICY AVL2: IDENTIFIED SITES FOR GENERAL 
EMPLOYMENT USE IN AIRE VALLEY LEEDS 
The AVLAAP identifies sites which have existing or recently expired planning 
permission, or were previously allocated for uses including general employment, 
as identified general employment sites.  Identified general employment sites 
contribute to the overall target for general employment use set out in Core 
Strategy Spatial Policy 9 and the employment land requirement for AVL set out in 
Core Strategy Spatial Policy 5.  These are shown on the Policies Map and detailed 
in Table 2. 

  

                                            
1 Development completed  (also included housing) 
2 Planning permission also allows flexible uses of ground floor units A1/A3/A4 uses up to maximum floorspace 
limits  
3 Planning permission for offices. See Policy EB4 for other suitable uses.  

Page 481



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

17 
 

3.2.15 Table 2 shows identified general employment sites (mainly industry and storage and 
distribution uses) which provide a total of 169 178.2 hectares of employment land. 

TABLE 2: SCHEDULE OF IDENTIFIED GENERAL EMPLOYMENT SITES 
Site 
No. 

Site Name Area (ha) 
 

AV42 Riverside Place, Bridgewater Road 0.45 
AV45 Gibraltar Island Road 0.70 
AV47 South Point, South Accomodation Road 0.51 
AV50 Snake Lane 0.80 
AV52 Newmarket Lane 2.04 
AV55 South of Pontefract Road  Pontefract Lane / Newmarket Lane   0.49 
AV56 Land off Knowsthorpe Road 2.97 
AV57 Plot 2A, Thornes Farm 0.99 
AV58 Plot 2B, Thornes Farm 1.20 
AV59 Plot 5, Thornes Farm 2.70 
AV60 Plot 6, Thornes Farm 2.40 
AV61 Connex 45 site, Thornes Farm Way 1.83 
AV62 Thornes Farm Way 0.87 
AV63 Logic Leeds (Skelton Moor Farm) 46.40 
AV64 Temple Green  69.56 
AV65 Pontefract Lane / Newmarket Approach 0.41 
AV66 Former Pittards site, Knowsthorpe Gate 5.22 
AV67 Skelton Grange (North) 11.81 
AV68 Skelton Grange (South) 7.33 9.17 
AV69 Symingtons, Far Lane, Thormes Farm 1.01 
AV70 2 Pontefract Lane, Cross Green 0.37 
AV71 Thwaite Gate / Sussex Avenue 0.43 
AV73 Former Post Office building, Skelton Grange Road 3.35 
AV75 Pontefract Road, North of M1 J44 5.58 
AV77 Nijinsky Way / Pontefract Road  0.83 
AV78 Haigh Park Road / Pontefract Road  1.17 
AV79 Valley Farm Road, Stourton 1.16 
AV92 William Cooke Castings, Cross Green Approach 0.43 
AV93 Unit 4, Queen Street 0.22 
AV96 Airedale Mills, Clarence Road 0.60 

AV113 Former Leeds College of Building, Stourton Link, Intermezzo 
Drive 1.62 

AV115 Land off Pontefract Road 0.71 
AV116 Site 8, Newmarket Green 0.16 
TOTAL 169.02 178.16 

 
3.2.16 Additional contributions come from sites allocated (or proposed) for waste and rail and 

water freight uses (41.3 42.6 ha).  These sites are identified in the Council’s NRWLP 
and shown on area maps for information.  There are a number of such sites in AVL, 
including three Strategic Waste allocations.  These are allocations intended to provide 
specialist waste and freight uses but are also employment generators and contribute 
towards employment land requirements.  Policy Waste 4 of the NRWLP confirms that 
proposals for permanent waste management facilities will be treated as an industrial 
use of land. 

Page 482



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

18 
 

3.2.17 A further 4.3 hectares of land has been identified as part of the NGT park and ride 
proposal at Stourton.  The scheme incorporates a vehicle and staff depot on land next 
to the park and ride facility which is considered to be an employment use.  The 
calculation of the land area excludes the park and ride facility itself.  This proposal will 
require approval under the Transport and Works Act (see Section 3.5). 

 
3.2.18 Table 3 below summarises the contribution from each of the above sources of supply 

and sets out the residual land requirement that needs to be identified as new 
allocations in the AAP. 

 

TABLE 3: AVL EMPLOYMENT LAND REQUIREMENTS & SOURCES OF 
EMPLOYMENT LAND SUPPLY 
AVL employment land requirement (Core Strategy Spatial 
Policy 5)  250 hectares 

Identified offices sites (including mixed use sites with office uses) 13.4 13.5 hectares 

Identified general employment sites  169 178.2 hectares 
Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan allocations & proposed 
allocations  41.3 42.6 hectares 

Stourton Park & Ride site (employment element) 4.3 hectares 
Residual land requirement for employment uses  22 15.7 hectares 

 
Office Development 

3.2.19 New office development can make a major contribution to delivering new jobs to AVL.  
It is estimated that the area can support at least 10,000 additional jobs through new 
office development (including the sites identified above in Table 1). 

3.2.20 The key locations identified with potential for office development, taking into account 
existing opportunities and the broad approach to the location of office development set 
out in Core Strategy Policy E1, include: 

• The South Bank area, including Leeds Dock, where offices would form an element 
of mixed use development across the area linked to proposals for the City Park and 
to improve pedestrian, cycling, public transport and water transport connections to 
the railway station and northern half of the city centre.  There is potential for at least 
100,000 sq. m of additional office floorspace within this area. 

• The Marsh Lane site and East Street corridor sites also have potential to provide 
new offices within wider mixed use schemes which could potentially deliver over 
30,000 sqm of new office floorspace. 

• The remaining phases of Leeds Valley Park at Stourton provide an existing out of 
centre opportunity which complements the city centre offer. The business park is 
partly developed with further potential to deliver over 40,000 sq. m. of additional 
office floorspace as the market for out-of-centre offices continues to recover. 

• A limited opportunity for up to 10,000 sq. m. of new office floorspace as part of the 
comprehensive housing led development proposals at Skelton Gate, east of the M1 
(See Section 4.6). 

Page 483



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

19 
 

 

3.2.21 A number of the housing and mixed use allocations made under Policy AVL7 are 
located in the above areas and are considered to have realistic potential to include 
offices uses.  Table 4 provides a schedule for mixed use sites which sets out the 
estimated capacity for office development. In total these sites could provide an 
estimated further 9.9 10.5 hectares of employment development alongside housing 
development.  Site requirements for these sites are set out in the area plans.  

POLICY AVL3: OFFICE DEVELOPMENT IN AIRE VALLEY 
LEEDS 
1. New development for large scale offices (Use Class B1a) will be promoted and 

concentrated in the following locations in AVL: 
• The South Bank area (within mixed use schemes) 
• The Marsh Lane site (within mixed use schemes) 
• Leeds Valley Park  
• Skelton Gate (within a comprehensive housing-led development) 

 
2. Office uses will be acceptable on the sites set out in Table 4 as part of 

housing and mixed use development allocated under Policy AVL7, subject to 
site requirements set out in area plans: 

  
 

TABLE 4: HOUSING AND MIXED USE ALLOCATIONS WITH POTENTIAL FOR 
OFFICE DEVELOPMENT 

SITE 
REF 

SITE NAME TOTAL 
SITE AREA 

(HA) 

ESTIMATED CAPACITY FOR 
OFFICE USES 

AREA (HA) 
FLOORSPACE 

(SQ M) 

AV7 Former Yorkshire Chemicals 
North West, Black Bull St 0.30 0.15 2,250 

AV12 Armouries Drive / Carlisle Road  1.45 0.73 10,875 
AV13 Clarence Road / Carlisle Road 0.17 0.09 1,250 
AV14 Hydro Works, Clarence Road 1.60 0.80 12,000 
AV15 Sayner Lane / Clarence Road 1.43 0.72 10,500 
AV16 Sayner Lane / Carlisle Road 1.37 0.69 10,500 

AV18 Marsh Lane 3.67 1.84 27,500 

AV94 South Bank Planning Statement 
Area 19.53 4.90 73,500 

AV98 Atkinson Street 1.18 0.59 8,850 
TOTAL 30.7 10.51 157,225 

 
General employment development 

 
3.2.22 AVL has by far the largest concentration of employment land in the district, accounting 

for nearly half the total supply of general employment land.  The area is particularly 
well suited for industrial and storage and distribution uses and other businesses 
seeking a location with good access to the motorway network and to a large local 
workforce.  This illustrates the importance of delivery of new development in these 
sectors within AVL to support economic growth and to provide new jobs. 

 

Page 484



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

20 
 

 

3.2.23 In addition to the sites with planning permission identified in Table 2, further 
opportunities have been identified within existing employment areas which accords 
with the locational criteria set out in Core Strategy Policy EC1.  Policy AVL4 makes 
new allocations for general employment uses in the AAP area.  A total of 17.7 10 
hectares of land is allocated on 10 7 sites within the existing employment areas at 
Cross Green and Stourton. 

POLICY AVL4: GENERAL EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT IN 
AIRE VALLEY LEEDS 
1. New development for research & development (Use Class B1b), light industry 

(Use Class B1c), general industry (Use Class B1c B2) and storage & 
distribution (Use Class B8) uses will be promoted and concentrated in the 
following locations as defined on area maps: 

• Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone  
• Cross Green Industrial Estate 
• Hunslet (defined employment areas) 
• Stourton 
• Skelton Grange 
 
2. The South Bank area and the Marsh Lane site are identified as suitable 

locations for research & development uses subject to the provisions of Policy 
AVL7 and site requirements set out in area plans. 

 
3. Leeds Valley Park (Site AV81) is identified as a suitable location for general 

employment uses. 
  
4. The following sites are allocated for general employment use in accordance 

with Core Strategy Spatial Policy 9.  These sites are shown on the Policies 
Map and are subject to site requirements set out in area plans: 

SITE REF SITE NAME AREA (HA) 
AV50 Snake Lane 0.80 
AV51 Knowsthorpe Way 0.85 
AV54 Belfry Road 1.98 
AV65 Pontefract Lane / Newmarket Approach 0.41 
AV66 Former Pittards site, Knowsthorpe Gate 5.22 
AV72 North of Haigh Park Road 1.26 
AV74 Former Playing fields, Skelton Grange Road 1.01 
AV76 South of Haigh Park Road 2.91 
AV80 Stock Bros, Pontefract Road 1.62 
AV83 Skelton Grange Road (East site)  1.62 0.41 
TOTAL 17.7 10.04 

  
 
3.2.24 Total employment land identified in the AVLAAP area from all sources is 256.2 254.8 

hectares. This marginally exceeds and is broadly consistent with the Core Strategy 
requirement for the area of 250 hectares and contributes significantly to the Core 
Strategy office and general employment requirements set out in Spatial Policy 9. 

 

Page 485



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

21 
 

 

JOB OPPORTUNITIES FOR LOCAL COMMUNITIES  
 
3.2.25 A fundamental priority for the plan is to ensure that local communities, in east and 

south Leeds, benefit directly from the economic development and new jobs that are 
being created on their doorstep. 

3.2.26 Within AVL, many of the residential communities, particularly Richmond Hill, Cross 
Green and Hunslet have lower levels of economic activity and higher unemployment 
than the Leeds average.  These indicators extend to other communities located close 
to the area, including Belle Isle and Middleton in south Leeds and Halton Moor and 
Osmondthorpe in east Leeds.  Economic and income deprivation contributes to the 
poorer health commonly found in these areas (see Section 3.4). 

 
3.2.27 To address these challenges, the plan focuses on the following aspects to enable 

residents from these communities to access job opportunities created in the area: 

• The need to improve physical access and connectivity between existing and future 
employment areas in the Aire Valley and communities in east and south Leeds. 
Particularly by providing more frequent and direct public transport connections, and 
by creating pleasant and direct pedestrian and cycling routes.  As car ownership 
levels are typically much lower in these communities a greater proportion of 
potential employees will rely on non-car modes of transport to get to work. 

• The need to ensure that local people are offered appropriate training opportunities 
and apprenticeships, which match the skills required by new and existing 
businesses investing in the area and to ensure that developers and business 
employ some local people in jobs created at their sites. 

 
POLICY AVL5: LOCAL JOB OPPORTUNITIES 
The Council will improve access to job opportunities in AVL for communities in 
east and south Leeds through: 
1. Setting out proposals in area plans to improve pedestrian and cycling links 

and public transport services to major employment sites and growth areas 
particularly the city centre and the LCREZ and deliver these schemes 
alongside new development; 

2. The use of planning obligations, where appropriate to secure local 
employment agreements relating to major development in terms of 
construction and end user jobs.   

Page 486



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

22 
 

3.3 NEW HOMES 
3.3.1 AVL is already home to over 13,000 people and has potential to grow significantly 

providing a range of housing choices to meet market demand and local housing 
needs.  The Core Strategy sets out the overall housing requirement for Leeds and the 
broad distribution for growth (Spatial Policy 6) including a minimum target for 6,500 
new homes over the Plan period in AVL (Spatial Policy 5).   

3.3.2 As part of the Urban Eco-Settlement vision, these homes will need to range in type, 
tenure and cost and to be in the right locations to create sustainable, liveable and 
healthy neighbourhoods for the future.  They will need to be designed to be child 
friendly and have easy access to existing and new facilities (including schools), 
services, jobs, parks and green spaces.  

3.3.3 Developing a high quality residential offer is important to the regeneration of the area 
and will support proposals for business and employment growth in the area. The area 
has much to offer as a location for new housing, including: 

• a track record of delivering new homes in the inner part of the area within the past 
two decades; 

• close links to the city centre with its opportunities for employment, shopping, leisure 
and culture; 

• close links to a range of existing and future jobs in the office, industrial and 
distribution sectors including the LCREZ; 

• a green environment which has significant potential to be improved; 
• access to a range of recreational opportunities along the main river corridors; 
• supporting social infrastructure such as schools, health facilities and shopping; 
• a good range of sites and locations which include city living opportunities, waterfront 

sites and more suburban locations which can provide a mix of housing types and 
sizes. 

How the AVL housing requirement will be met 
3.3.4 The evidence base for identifying housing sites in the AAP is provided by the Leeds 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA).  The SHLAA assesses a 
portfolio of potential sites in terms of their suitability, availability and achievability for 
housing development.  The sites identified in the AAP are consistent with the housing 
growth principles and site selection criteria set out in Core Strategy Spatial Policy 6 
and are considered to be deliverable by 2028. 

Green Belt Review 

3.3.5 One of the housing sites proposed in the plan (Skelton Gate, AV111) lies partly within 
the Green Belt.  This site was assessed (including a Green Belt review) in conjunction 
with a large number of potential and suggested sites assessed as part of the 
preparation of the SAP.  The Core Strategy sets the context for this Green Belt review 
in Spatial Policy 10 which included an assessment of sites against the purposes of 
Green Belt, as set out in the NPPF.  The assessment of sites against the purposes of 
Green Belt has enabled those sites with the least harm on Green Belt purposes, 
including Skelton Gate, to be considered for allocation.  The Green Belt part of Skelton 
Gate was consulted upon as part of the Site Allocations Issues and Options in 2013.  
However, because the site lies within the AAP boundary and the development of the 
site depends on the existing (non Green Belt) development site at Skelton Gate, the 

Page 487



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

23 
 

 

two sites have been merged and allocated as one site within the AAP (See Policy 
AVL7 and Section 4.5). 

Identified sites 

3.3.6 The housing requirement will be met from a range of sources of supply, including 
contributions from identified housing sites – those sites which had planning permission 
at the start of the plan period or have gained planning permission subsequently (up to 
6th April 2015).  This includes sites completed since 2012 and sites under construction. 

 
POLICY AVL6: IDENTIFIED HOUSING SITES IN AIRE 
VALLEY LEEDS 
The AVLAAP identifies sites which have existing or recently expired planning 
permission as identified housing sites.  Identified housing sites contribute to the 
targets set out in Core Strategy Spatial Policies 5 and 7.  These are shown on 
the Policies Map and detailed in Table 5.  All identified sites are in Phase 1 for 
release in accordance with Core Strategy Policy H1. 

 
3.3.7 Table 5 sets out a schedule of identified housing sites in AVL as of April 2015 2016 

and these sites are shown on the Policies Map.  Identified sites have potential to 
provide a total of 1,840 2,159 new dwellings (completed post 2012, under construction 
and not started) which count towards meeting the area requirements of at least 6,500, 
leaving a residual requirement of at least 4,660 4,341 dwellings to be allocated on new 
housing and mixed use sites.  

   
Table 5: Schedule of identified housing sites (including mixed use sites to provide 
housing)  

Site 
Ref 

Address Use HMCA Capacity Completed 
Pre-2012 

Completed 
Post-2012 

Under 
construction 

Not 
started 

AV5 Indigo Blu, Crown 
Point Road  

Mixed 
Use 

City 
Centre 

46 20 26 0 0 

AV19 Marsh Lane / Saxton 
Lane 

Housing City 
Centre 

80 0 0 0 80 

AV21 The Parade & The 
Drive  

Housing Inner 
Area 

410 335 75 0 0 

AV24 St Marys Church, 
Church Road 

Housing Inner 
Area 

171 0 0 0 171 

AV25 Flax Place Housing City 
Centre 

195 0 0 0 195 

AV26 The Gateway Housing City 
Centre 

646 538 14 0 96 

AV27 Former Leeds 
College of 
Technology, East 
Street 

Housing City 
Centre 

39 0 0 0 39 

AV30 Ellerby Lane Housing Inner 
Area 

247 100 0 0 147 147 0 

AV33 Low Fold Housing Inner 
Area 

312 0 0 0 312 

AV35 Land On St Hildas 
Crescent, St Hildas 

Housing Inner 
Area 

21 0 21 0 0 

Page 488



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

24 
 

Table 5: Schedule of identified housing sites (including mixed use sites to provide 
housing)  

Site 
Ref 

Address Use HMCA Capacity Completed 
Pre-2012 

Completed 
Post-2012 

Under 
construction 

Not 
started 

Grove, Cross Green 
Crescent 

AV36 Adjacent St Hildas 
Church, Knowsthorpe 
Crescent 

Housing Inner 
Area 

86 0 0 0 86 

AV39 East Street Mills Housing City 
Centre 

161 154 0 7 0 7 0 

AV41 Hunslet Mills 
 

Mixed 
Use 

Inner 
Area 

699 0 0 0 699 

AV43 Yarn Street 
 

Housing Inner 
Area 

287 114 143 173 28 0 2 0 

AV112 Rocheford Court, 
Pepper Road 

Housing East 11 0 0 0 11 

AV117 Land north of St 
Hildas Crescent 

Housing  7 0 0 0 7 

TOTAL    3099 341
8 1261 279 316 28 147 1533 

1696 

 

Housing and mixed use allocations  

3.3.8 New housing development in AVL will be focused in five broad locations.  Each 
location is strategically important to delivering the area’s housing requirement and to 
supporting wider regeneration aspirations.  Within these locations the strategy will be 
to maximise delivery of new homes, supported by transport infrastructure, green 
spaces, services and facilities, to create attractive places to live which integrate well 
with existing communities.  The main locations for housing development (including 
contributions from identified sites) are described below: 

• The South Bank area as part of the wider mixed use regeneration project to 
transform the area including provision of the City Park, an education hub, leisure 
destinations, new commercial floorspace and potentially in the longer term the 
proposed HS2 station at New Lane. 

• Within the East Bank area along East Street from the Marsh Lane site opposite 
Quarry Hill to South Accommodation Road, including waterfront sites between the 
river and the Inner Ring Road. 

• The residential area of Cross Green focused on the former Copperfields College site 
and other opportunities. 

• The Hunslet Riverside area, south of the Inner Ring Road, on a number of large 
derelict brownfield sites along the waterfront, centred upon the listed Hunslet Mills 
buildings. 

• A new sustainable community at Skelton Gate on the edge of the AVL area, east of 
the M1, between the Temple Newsam Estate and the River Aire. 

 
3.3.9 Focused on the above locations, Policy AVL7 sets out the housing and mixed use 

allocations (to provide housing) in AVL. Housing allocations provide a total capacity 
of 4,035 3,026 dwellings.  Within the mixed use allocations set out in the policy it is 
expected that housing will form a significant proportion of the total development area 

Page 489



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

25 
 

 

(or floorspace), alongside a wider mix of uses permitted and required by Core Strategy 
and AAP policies.  Mixed use allocations are generally made within locations in and on 
the edge of the city centre, where other policies support the provision of a range of 
town centre uses such as offices, food and drink and leisure uses, or where there are 
site specific reasons to restrict housing development on parts of the site.  The 
estimated capacity of mixed use sites is based on an assumption that half the site will 
be developed for housing.  A greater proportion of housing will usually be acceptable 
unless site specific requirements set out in area plans indicate otherwise.  Mixed use 
allocations have a total estimated capacity of 1,130 dwellings.  

 
3.3.10 In addition to mixed use allocations, the South Bank Planning Statement Area (AV94) 

provides a further opportunity to deliver new homes in the area as part of major 
regeneration proposals, which also include a new City Park and other town centre 
uses.  The area has potential to provide an estimated 825 1,635 dwellings based on 
the land in the area which is available for development over the plan period, 
predominantly the former Tetley’s Brewery site.  This capacity calculation makes 
allowance for the creation of the City Park and provision of other uses. A higher 
number or proportion of dwellings may be appropriate in the area subject to other 
development plan policies and detailed design matters. Section 4.2 sets out further 
details on proposals in the South Bank Planning Statement Area.  

 
Phasing of site development 

3.3.11 Policy H1 of the Core Strategy sets out criteria for phasing the release of housing 
allocations in order to ensure a 5 year supply of land is maintained and to ensure a 
balance of brownfield and greenfield sites coming come forward. 

 
3.3.12 Three development phases are identified for the managed release of sites for the SAP 

and the AVLAAP.  These phases are linked to the spatial strategy of the plan, and 
focus development primarily in regeneration areas and in relation to the settlement 
hierarchy.  On the basis that AVL is identified as a Regeneration Priority Programme 
Area under Core Strategy Spatial Policy 4, all housing and mixed use allocations will 
be released for development in Phase 1. 

 
POLICY AVL7: HOUSING AND MIXED USE ALLOCATIONS 
IN AIRE VALLEY LEEDS 

1. The main areas for new housing development in AVL will be: 
• Leeds South Bank;  
• The East Bank area, including the Marsh Lane site; 
• Cross Green, including the Copperfields site; 
• Hunslet Riverside; 
• Skelton Gate; 

2. The AVLAAP allocates sites for housing and mixed use development 
(including housing) in accordance with Core Strategy Spatial Policies 5 and 
7.  These are shown on the Policies Map and detailed below.  Housing 
allocations are phased for release in Phase 1 in accordance with Core 
Strategy Policy H1. 

Page 490



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

26 
 

 3. The following sites are allocated for housing, subject to site requirements set 
out in area plans: 

 

SITE REF SITE NAME HMCA AREA (HA) 
ESTIMATED 
CAPACITY 

(DWELLINGS) 

AV20 Yorkshire Ambulance Station, 
Saxton Lane 

City 
Centre 0.60 95 

AV22 Former Richmond Inn, Upper 
Accommodation Road 

City 
Centre 
/ Inner 
Area 

0.40 26 

AV23 Butterfield Manor & Richmond Court, 
Walter Crescent 

Inner 
Area 0.83 48 

AV28 Bow Street & East Street 
Inner 
Area 0.13 23 

AV29 Ellerby Road & Bow Street 
Inner 
Area 1.10 79 

AV32 Rose Wharf Car Park, East Street 
Inner 
Area 0.46 72 

AV33 Low Fold Inner 
Area 2.28 312 

AV34 South Accommodation Road 
Inner 
Area 0.52 27 

AV38 Former Copperfields College site East 11.21 273 
AV40 Bridgewater Road (North) East 11.20 425 546 

AV46 Tetleys Motor Services, Goodman 
Street 

Inner 
Area 0.62 36 

AV111 Skelton Gate East 99.30 2,619 1,801 
TOTAL 130.93 126.37 4,035 3,026 

 
4. The following sites are allocated for housing and mixed use development to 

include a significant proportion of housing, subject to site requirements set out 
in area plans: 

SITE 
REF SITE NAME HMCA AREA (HA) 

HOUSING 
ESTIMATED 
CAPACITY 

(DWELLINGS) 

AV7 Former Yorkshire Chemicals North 
West, Black Bull St City Centre 0.30 53 

AV9 Evans Halshaw Garage, Hunslet Lane City Centre 2.43 191 

AV12 Armouries Drive / Carlisle Road  
 City Centre 1.45 114 

AV13 Clarence Road / Carlisle Road City Centre 0.17 15 
AV14 Hydro Works, Clarence Road City Centre 1.60 105 
AV15 Sayner Lane / Clarence Road City Centre 1.43 94 
AV16 Sayner Lane / Carlisle Road City Centre 1.37 90 
AV17 Braime Pressings Ltd, Hunslet Lane City Centre 2.28 121 
AV18 Marsh Lane City Centre 3.67 289 

AV48 
Former Motor Dealers, Church St, 
Hunslet Inner Area 1.29 23 

AV98 Atkinson Street Inner Area 1.18 35 
TOTAL 14.89 1130 

Page 491



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

27 
 

 
 

5. The South Bank Planning Statement Area is identified on the Policies Map as 
a broad location to provide new housing development of a scale indicated 
below, as part of a wider mixed use regeneration opportunity, and subject to 
site requirements set out in the South Bank Area Plan:  

SITE 
REF SITE NAME HMCA AREA (HA) HOUSING ESTIMATED  

CAPACITY (DWELLINGS) 

AV94 South Bank Planning 
Statement Area City Centre 19.53 825 1,635 

  
6. The AAP identifies sites which are particularly suitable for older persons 

housing / independent living.  These are shown on the Policies Map and 
detailed in area plans.  Opportunities for older persons housing / independent 
living should be considered where new centres are provided as part of larger 
developments, other proposals will still be considered on their merits and in 
the context of a local housing needs assessment. 

 

Distribution of new homes 
3.3.13 Housing sites identified and allocated in the plan and shown on the Policies Map have 

a total estimated capacity of 7,830 7,950 dwellings against the minimum housing 
requirement of 6,500 dwellings.  This provides a degree of flexibility towards meeting 
the housing requirement.  Table 6 below sets out the distribution of new homes 
identified in the AAP by local area showing a broad distribution across the plan area 
except for the Central Aire Valley area which has an employment focus. 

TABLE 6: DISTRIBUTION OF NEW HOMES IN AVL BY LOCAL AREA 
Local Area Dwellings 
1. South Bank 1,649 2,459 
2. East Bank, Richmond Hill & Cross Green 2,160 2,167 
3. Hunslet 1,402 1,523 
4. Central Aire Valley 0 
5. Skelton Gate 2,619 1,801 
Total 7,830 7,950 

    
3.3.14 In addition to meeting the requirement set out in Core Strategy Spatial Policy 5, the 

housing sites identified and allocated in this plan will make an important contribution 
towards the housing requirements set out on Core Strategy Spatial Policy 7 for three 
of the Housing Market Characteristic Areas (City Centre, Inner Area and East Leeds) 
that overlap the plan boundary, alongside other sites identified and allocated through 
the Leeds SAP which lie outside the boundary.   

  

Page 492



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

28 
 

Table 7 summarises the total capacity of AVL housing sites by HMCA. 

TABLE 7: NEW HOMES IN AVL BY CORE STRATEGY HOUSING MARKET 
CHARACTERISTIC AREA (SPATIAL POLICY 7) 
HCMA Identified sites Allocations Total 
City Centre 457 2,002 2,812 2,459 3,269 
Inner Area 1,372 1,691 671 359 2,043 2,050 
East Leeds 11 3,317 2,620 3,328 2,631 
Total 1,840 2,159 5,990 5,791 7,830 7,950 

 
Other housing opportunities 

3.3.15 In addition to the housing and mixed use sites specifically identified and allocated on 
the Policies Map, there is potential for further housing development to come forward 
during the plan period on sites which are not currently available.  This is particularly 
likely to be the case within major regeneration areas.  Area plans identify three 
significant opportunities within the Marsh Lane, East Bank (Section 4.3) and Hunslet 
Riverside areas (Section 4.4) where there could be potential further housing (or mixed 
use) development to expand upon development proposed in this plan and which would 
be encouraged in principle, subject to the suitability of the site and passing the flood 
risk sequential test where relevant.  A further source of new housing may come from 
sites which fall below the size threshold for site allocations (0.4 hectares for allocation 
and 0.2 hectares for identified sites outside the City Centre HMCA). 

3.3.16 Any development on non-allocated sites will be classified as windfall development 
under Core Strategy Policy H2 and will contribute to the delivery of 500 dwellings per 
annum that is anticipated on small and unidentified sites across the district (Core 
Strategy Spatial Policy 6). 

Securing high quality housing development 
3.3.17 To deliver plan-wide priorities and secure high quality housing development, area 

plans set out the site-specific requirements for new housing and mixed use allocations.  
These aim to ensure that high quality schemes are delivered, which connect well with 
existing communities and have good access to local facilities such as shops and 
schools, green spaces and recreation, jobs and public transport supported by the 
necessary infrastructure. Within larger developments new facilities will be provided on-
site where existing facilities are not accessible to the new development or have 
insufficient capacity to serve it.  Core Strategy and UDP Saved Policies provide the 
basis to achieve high quality urban design reflecting local character and 
distinctiveness and the Council is also committed to delivering the Leeds standard for 
new homes being built across the district. 

3.3.18 Core Strategy Policies H3 on density and H4 on housing mix set minimum densities 
and the preferred mix of sizes of dwellings, to ensure efficient use of land and to 
provide mixed, sustainable developments which include, for example, family housing. 

3.3.19 In considering allocating sites for housing, those sites which are most suited for 
independent living for the elderly and people with impaired mobility have been 
identified under Policy AVL7 in accordance with the criteria outlined in Core Strategy 
Policy H8.  Sites within easy access to shops and facilities (400 metres walking 
distance to a town or local centre) have been highlighted on area maps as being 
particularly suitable for this type of housing. Whilst sites marked as being particularly 

Page 493



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

29 
 

suitable for older persons housing/independent living are highlighted, the AAP is not 
prescriptive in allocating sites solely for this use and sites not specifically identified for 
this use may also be considered. Within the context of Core Strategy Policy H4 – 
Housing Mix all residential applications will need to consider an appropriate housing 
mix, and submit a Housing Needs Assessment on larger sites. An additional local 
centre will be delivered as part of the large housing allocations at Skelton Gate 
(AV111) and provision of sites for Older Persons/Independent Living adjacent to new 
centres will also need to be considered. 

3.3.20 Affordable housing requirements for new housing development are set out in Core 
Strategy Policy H5.  This includes the proportion of affordable units to be delivered, 
normally on-site, in developments of 15 units or more with a mix of submarket and 
social rented housing.  AVL falls within three affordable market housing zones 
identified in the policy.  Map 12 of the Core Strategy shows the boundaries of each 
zone which are set out below in Table 8 for information. 

TABLE 8: AFFORDABLE HOUSING REQUIREMENTS BY ZONE 
Zone Proportion 
Zone 2 (Inner Suburbs) 15% 
Zone 3 (Inner Areas) 5% 
Zone 4 (City Centre) 5% 

 
3.3.21 Area plans and maps also identify any important pedestrian/cycling routes and green 

corridors which should be integrated within the design of new housing development.  
These routes are important to create better links for local residents to services and 
facilities, jobs and recreation opportunities in the area. 

 
3.3.22 Section 3.7 of this plan sets out an ambition to create a low carbon heat networks in 

parts of the area including the South Bank, East Bank and Cross Green areas and 
potentially other areas in the longer term.  This creates an opportunity to connect new 
housing and mixed use development into the network where this is technically feasible 
and viable.  This will help to promote more sustainable development by reducing 
carbon emissions and lower the energy bills of future occupiers helping to tackle the 
problem of fuel poverty. 

 
Gypsies, Travellers & Travelling Showpeople sites 

 
3.3.23 The Council have undertaken a district wide assessment of potential sites for gypsies, 

travellers & travelling showpeople in accordance with the Core Strategy Policy H7. A 
number of potential sites within Aire Valley Leeds AAP were assessed as part of this 
exercise but none were considered to be suitable in accordance with the methodology.   

  

Page 494



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

30 
 

3.4 HEALTHY AND THRIVING COMMUNITIES 
 

INTRODUCTION 
3.4.1 An important outcome of the AAP is to deliver an overall framework which promotes 

development proposals and planning decisions which help support and create healthy 
and thriving communities.  This relates both to existing established communities within 
the AAP area and to new communities who wish to make the area their home.  An 
integral focus of the plan is to ensure that the environmental quality of the area is 
enhanced taking into account local character, identity and heritage, that local people 
are connected to job opportunities and that a range of high quality, energy efficient and 
affordable homes are available. 

3.4.2 In support of this, community infrastructure, including public transport, cycling and 
pedestrian routes, health facilities, shops and local services, schools and green 
spaces need to be in place to create thriving communities where people want to live.  
The long term sustainability of communities must also be safeguarded by ensuring that 
new development and existing communities are resilient to future challenges such as 
climate change and deal effectively with the management of flood risk. 

3.4.3 No single policy or proposal in the Plan will achieve this.  Consequently, the plan’s 
objectives and policies need to be delivered as a whole and alongside other 
programmes and initiatives, to ensure that the overall potential and opportunities are 
realised. 

 
IMPROVING PUBLIC HEALTH IN THE AIRE VALLEY 
 
Background 

3.4.4 The Core Strategy (Profile of Leeds Metropolitan District, Section 2), provides an 
important context for the focus of the AVLAAP.  This provides an overview of the living 
conditions across Leeds and highlights the levels and locations of multiple deprivation 
across the District and associated with this, challenges relating to social and health 
inequalities. 

3.4.5 Evidence, including the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), highlights the links 
between improving living conditions and improved health.  Within the area, there are 
underlying healths and inequality issues, which need to be addressed by the Plan and 
other related initiatives. A number of areas of particular concern are set out below. 

3.4.6 For premature mortality, health inequalities within the Inner East and Inner South 
areas of Leeds are a major concern.  For men, there is almost a 7 year gap between 
life expectancy at birth between males born in Cross Green, East End Park & 
Richmond Hill MSOAs (71.85 years), compared to the city wide average of 78.44 
years and an 8 year gap for males in City Centre, Thwaite Gate and Hunslet MSOAs 
(70.66 years). 

3.4.7 Women’s life expectancy at birth is below but closer to the city average than men in 
Cross Green, East End Park and Richmond Hill (80.05 years compared to 82.09 
years), but in City Centre, Hunslet Green and Thwaite Gate MSOAs, at 74.06 years, 
the 8 year difference in life expectancy remains. 

3.4.8 There are a number of serious conditions, including coronary heart disease (CHD) and 
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), which are higher than the Leeds 

Page 495



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

31 
 

average.  In 2011, GP data suggested the age standardised rate4 of COPD rate in this 
area was 3,323 per 100,000 people, a 2.7 % prevalence compared to 1.8% citywide.  
The comparable rate for City Centre, Hunslet and Thwaite Gate MSOAs was 2,820 per 
100,000. 

3.4.10 Conditions, such as COPD, contribute towards high mortality from respiratory disease. 
Rates for females living in Cross Green, East End Park and Richmond Hill MSOA are 
71.6 per 100,000 and in City Centre, Hunslet Green and Thwaite Gate MSOAs, 64.8 
per 100,000, compared to 47.2 per 100,000 in the rest of deprived Leeds.  This MSOA 
also has the 3rd highest respiratory disease mortality for men. 

3.4.11 The under 75 years old (premature mortality) rate from cancers in Cross Green, East 
End Park and Richmond Hill MSOAs is also extremely high at 221.75 per 100,000 
people, compared to 135.81 in City Centre, Hunslet Green and Thwaite Gate MSOAs 
and111.73 per 100,000 for the rest of Leeds. 

3.4.12 In the Inner South area of Leeds, the all-cause mortality for less than 75 years is 
above the Leeds average for men and women.  The City Centre, Hunslet Green and 
Thwaite Gate MSOAs having the highest, all-cause mortality rates for men and women 
in the whole city and the city’s highest circulatory disease mortality rate (coronary 
heart disease and strokes).  

Initiatives and Proposals 
3.4.13 Within this overall context therefore, a key priority for the AAP is to secure 

opportunities to help improve public health within the area over the plan period and 
beyond, supporting other public health, healthy living and regeneration initiatives 
taking place in the area.  

3.4.14 The planning system has an important role to play in encouraging healthier lifestyles, 
by creating places where people can easily walk, cycle or take part in outdoor activities 
and by tackling indirect causes of poor health such as worklessness, ‘fuel poverty’, 
poor housing conditions and lack of access to fresh food.  This should take into 
account the needs of the whole community considering the specific needs of older 
people and reflecting the Council’s objective for Leeds to become a ‘child friendly’ city. 

3.4.15 Housing conditions and fuel poverty will be addressed by ensuring that new 
development provides high quality, energy efficient and innovative housing (in line with 
Core Strategy policies) which helps to lift the profile of the area in conjunction with 
regeneration programmes and other publically funded initiatives such as housing 
renewal, retrofitting and insulating older homes to improve energy efficiency, and 
group repair projects.  Such initiatives include the Sustainable Communities 
Investment Programme in Cross Green (completed in 2015) and the recladding 
programme to improve the energy efficiency of public housing in Hunslet (see Area 
Plans for further details).  

3.4.16 Poor health associated with worklessness and poverty is being addressed by 
proposals to significantly increase the number of job opportunities across a range of 
economic sectors led by the major regeneration opportunities in the South Bank and 
the LCREZ to enhance the area’s existing role as an employment centre.  This is 
complemented by proposals for better physical connections to those jobs, taking into 
account the much lower levels of car ownership in most of AVL, and use of 
employment agreements to ensure that a proportion of new positions are offered to 
local people.  

                                            
4 Age standardised rates take account of the age structure of a population. 

Page 496



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

32 
 

 

3.4.17 In terms of personal health, partnership efforts between Council services (including 
public health) and external providers offer exciting new opportunities.  This includes 
improving mental health by designing out crime, or in terms of physical health, using 
collaborative approaches to enable earlier identification of individuals with 
undiagnosed conditions and improving self-management of these conditions. 

3.4.18 The following policy sets out the planning approach to tackling these issues, with the 
area plans identifying specific local opportunities, focused on those areas which are 
known to suffer from health deprivation. 

POLICY AVL8: IMPROVING PUBLIC HEALTH IN AIRE 
VALLEY LEEDS 
The Council will seek to improve public health outcomes, reduce health 
inequalities and improve the accessibility of health services in AVL through a 
range of measures and interventions, to be delivered through new development 
and other initiatives and programmes, including:  
 
1. Tackling fuel poverty by promoting energy efficient new homes, supporting 

initiatives to retrofit existing homes to improve their energy efficiency and 
promoting decentralised, lower cost energy production and distribution 
through the creation of local heat networks. 

2. Identifying sites to deliver a range of high quality new housing which help 
meet local needs, including affordable housing and housing which better 
meets the needs of specific groups such as older people.  

3. Proposals to improve access to jobs created in the South Bank, LCREZ and 
other key employment areas in AVL for local residents, including use of local 
employment and training agreements associated with new development and 
improvements to the local transport network to improve connections from 
east and south Leeds.  

4. Promoting ‘child friendly’ development, including safer streets and reducing 
the physical barriers created by major roads.  

5. Encouraging local people to take more physical exercise their physical 
activity such as walking and cycling to work and for enjoyment by providing 
new and improve green routes linking communities and key destinations. 

6. Providing high quality new areas of green space within new development and 
improvements to the quality and accessibility of existing green spaces.  

7. Supporting initiatives which encourage residents to grow their own food. 
8. Identifying opportunities and sites for a retail food store to serve areas, such 

as Richmond Hill and Cross Green where people have limited access to fresh 
food.  

9. Requiring provision of a building/ site suitable for a doctor’s surgery / health 
centre within the Skelton Gate housing development (AV111).  

  

Page 497



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

33 
 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES & SERVICES  

3.4.19 Having good access to local shops, facilities and services is fundamental to the 
creation of healthy and thriving communities.  The AAP therefore seeks to improve 
provision of local facilities and services in accessible locations to serve local 
communities, new development and to help address local deficiencies.  This is 
addressed in more detail below. 

Shopping & local services 
3.4.20 The Core Strategy identifies a hierarchy of centres across the district (the city centre, 

town centres and local centres) and promotes a centre’s first approach to development 
of retail and other town centre uses, such as restaurants, cafes, pubs and bars, hotels 
and leisure uses.  The AVLAAP area incorporates part of the city centre (which 
includes the South Bank) and a town centre at Hunslet, which serves wider areas in 
south Leeds.  

3.4.21 A particular issue for AVL relates to the lack of stores selling fresh food and providing 
supporting local services in Richmond Hill and Cross Green.  The Core Strategy 
(Policy P5 and P7) identifies potential for a new centre to serve the wider Richmond 
Hill area.  In response, a retail opportunity is identified on the Copperfields site in 
Cross Green for a food store up to 2,000 sq. m. (gross) alongside support for the 
provision of additional facilities in and adjacent to the existing small concentration of 
local shops and services on Upper Accommodation Road. 

3.4.22 Hunslet is a successful centre, anchored by a large supermarket and supported by a 
range of other shops and supporting services.  New housing development 
proposals and the proposed NGT stop next to the Penny Hill Centre provide an 
opportunity to expand the centre.  A development opportunity has been identified 
within the extended town centre boundary which could support housing and town 
centre uses.  

3.4.23 Additional retail and supporting development will be needed to support new housing 
development less well connected to existing centres.  In accordance with Core 
Strategy Policy SP5 and P7, a new local centre is proposed to support the 2,619 new 
homes proposed at Skelton Gate (AV111).  Major development proposals in the South 
Bank will also create additional demand for local shops and services which it is 
proposed to meet by identifying a local convenience centre at Leeds Dock, existing 
shops and services at Brewery Wharf and potential for small-scale convenience retail 
and food and drink uses on the ground floors of new development in the area to create 
active frontages and vibrant streets.  

  

Page 498



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

34 
 

 

 

POLICY AVL9 – SHOPPING & LOCAL SERVICES IN AIRE 
VALLEY LEEDS 
The following proposals for the creation of new centres or expansion of existing 
centres and other retail development to support new housing and address 
existing deficiencies in provision in AVL are identified:  
1. Opportunity for a new food store up to 2,000 sqm (gross area) within the 

Copperfields site (AV38) in Cross Green to serve the existing deficiency 
identified within the Richmond Hill and Cross Green area in accordance with 
Core Strategy Policies P5 and P7. 

2. An allocation for housing and mixed use development (AV48) within Hunslet 
Town Centre. 

3. A Local Convenience Centre at Leeds Dock in the city centre in accordance 
with Core Strategy Policy CC1 and Map 10.  The centre boundaries are shown 
on the Policies Map. 

4. A local centre, including potential for a new food store up to 2,000 sqm 
(gross) to serve the Skelton Gate site (AV111), in accordance with Core 
Strategy Policy SP5. 

Site requirements relating to these proposals are set out in area plans. 
 

Schools 
3.4.24 The area is currently served by a secondary school at Richmond Hill and four primary 

schools across Richmond Hill and Hunslet. Provision will need to be made for extra 
school places to serve the area’s growing population. 

3.4.25 It is estimated that the new housing proposed in the area will generate the need for 
over 800 additional primary school places which equates to approximately two two-
form entry primary schools.  Sites for new primary schools are identified at 
Copperfields, which could also help meet requirements from the wider Richmond Hill 
and East End Park area, and at Skelton Gate (as part of a through school) to serve the 
new housing development are identified in area plans. The secondary element of the 
through school at Skelton Gate will help to address the needs of the wider area.  The 
schools will need to be delivered alongside new housing development and be well 
linked into the public transport, pedestrian and cycle networks. 

3.4.26 A new secondary free school (The Ruth Gorse Academy) is also proposed to open in 
2016 at Black Bull Street and will make an important contribution to serving the needs 
of the area. There may also be a need to identify a site for a new primary school in the 
South Bank area subject to further masterplanning work and the chosen delivery route.  

POLICY AVL10 – NEW SCHOOLS 
The following sites are identified for provision of new schools in AVL: 
1. A new two form entry primary school at the Copperfields site (AV38) 
2. A ‘through’ school (to consist of a two form entry primary school together 

with a four form entry secondary school) at Skelton Gate (AV111); 

Page 499



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

35 
 

RESILIENT AND SAFE DEVELOPMENT  
 

Managing flood risk  

3.4.27 AVL includes some land classified as being at higher risk of river flooding (Flood Risk 
Zones 2 and 3) along the River Aire, Wyke Beck and Colton Beck.  This includes some 
existing properties and vacant and derelict sites within growth areas, including the 
South Bank and Hunslet Riverside areas.  

3.4.28 To manage flood risk issues in the area, the Council, working alongside the 
Environment Agency, the Canal and River Trust and other partners, is constructing a 
£50m flood alleviation scheme (FAS) to protect Leeds City Centre (between Leeds 
City Station and Knostrop weir in the Aire Valley) from a flood event likely to happen 
once every 75 years on average, taking into account the likely effects of climate 
change.  

3.4.29   Within AVL, the proposed 1 in 75 year flood protection scheme will: 

• Remove existing weirs at Crown Point in the city centre and at Knostrop Cut and 
install moveable weirs that can be lowered when the river is high, causing the water 
level to drop;  

• Construct landscape defences, such as low level embankments, terracing and 
riverside walls; at low points along the riverbank; 

• Remove Knostrop Cut to merge the canal and River Aire which will create additional 
flood water storage and help to lower water levels in flood conditions. 

 
3.4.30 The main objective of the scheme is to protect existing homes, businesses and 

infrastructure, but it also has a secondary benefit in terms of supporting economic 
growth and regeneration.  After it is constructed (expected completion March 2017) the 
scheme will reduce the risk of flooding in the South Bank, East Bank and Hunslet 
Riverside areas such that all development proposed in the AAP in those areas is 
expected to have a less than 1% chance of flooding each year.  This is crucial to 
supporting the sustainable regeneration of these areas and delivering the objectives of 
this plan. 

3.4.31 The Council has undertaken flood risk sequential and exception tests of proposed 
allocations in the AAP in accordance with the NPPF, Core Strategy Policy EN5 and 
NRWLP.  Individual site assessments have considered the flood risk of sites.  The 
Environment Agency have been consulted on both the methodology and results of the 
tests (see Aire Valley Leeds AAP Flood Risk Sequential and Exception Test 
Background Paper).  The sites being advanced in the Plan have passed the sequential 
test, so it is likely that areas of flood risk will be built upon to deliver the Core Strategy 
dwelling requirement.  Sites within or partly within higher flood risk areas (Flood Zones 
2 and 3) should be planned to ensure the development will be safe, will not increase 
flood risk elsewhere, and will apply a sequential approach to the layout of the site so 
that the built development is located in those areas of the site at lowest risk of flooding.  
Where an Exception Test has been undertaken, the required flood risk mitigation 
measures, if development is to proceed, are detailed within the test.  All sites within 
flood zone 1, on sites larger than 1 hectare have to submit a site specific flood risk 
assessment as part of the planning application process. 

 
 

Page 500



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

36 
 

 

Local character and heritage 

3.4.32 AVL includes many historic areas, buildings and structures, including former wharf 
buildings, mills and factories, docks, churches and other religious buildings, which are 
important in defining local character and identity and bringing people to visit the area.  
This includes part of two conservation areas in the South Bank and East Bank, Grade 
I, II* and II listed building and two registered parks and gardens which adjoin the plan 
area; Temple Newsam estate and Hunslet Cemetery. 

3.4.33 An urban design assessment of the area has also identified other buildings of local 
importance which are not formally designated as heritage assets. Core Strategy Policy 
P11 sets out an approach to allow such assets to be conserved where they are 
considered to be locally significant. Policy AVL11 below identifies locally significant 
heritage assets in AVL.  A schedule of the assets is set out in Appendix 2 and The 
location of the assets is shown on area maps. 

3.4.34 Where appropriate, site requirements relating to heritage assets are set out in area 
plans. 

 
POLICY AVL11 – LOCALLY SIGNIFICANT UNDESIGNATED 
HERITAGE ASSETS 
In accordance with Core Strategy Policy P11, the locally significant 
undesignated heritage assets shown on area maps and listed in Appendix 2 and 
their setting will be conserved. 

 
 

Land instability 

3.4.35 Parts of the AVL are in the former coal mining area where there is a legacy of 
problems such as land instability and combustion. These factors have been taken into 
account in the sustainability appraisal of sites allocated in this Plan. Under Saved 
UDPR Policy GP5 all applications for development are required to resolve instability 
problems. Furthermore, in the Development High Risk Area defined by the Coal 
Authority, applications for development are required to include a Coal Mining Risk 
Assessment.  

 
3.4.36 Policy Minerals 3 of the Leeds Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan 2013 covers 

all forms of development within the Coal Mining Safeguarding Area except minor 
householder development. It is a policy which applies to all sites in the Aire Valley 
Area Action Plan within the Coal Authority High Risk Area. This Policy is intended to 
address coal mining legacy problems by requiring the prior-extraction of any surface 
coal as part of site preparation. 

  
3.4.37 Any problems of coal mining legacy must be addressed to ensure that the 

development is safe. The Coal Mining Risk Assessment also needs to identify where 
mine shaft entries are present on the site, these will need to be treated to be made 
safe. Mine entries and their zone of influence need to be kept free from built 
development. 

Page 501



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

37 
 

3.5 TRANSPORT & CONNECTIONS 
INTRODUCTION 

3.5.1 The location of AVL in relation to the strategic transport network, means it is an area 
well placed to deliver large scale economic development making a vital contribution to 
the growth of the city region and to providing new homes and jobs to help meet the 
identified needs of the district.  This is dependent on delivering transport infrastructure 
investment to support new development, whilst minimising wider impacts on the 
network and by offering a choice of sustainable transport options.  

3.5.2 Within the context of the priorities set out in the West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan 
(LTP3) and Core Strategy Policy SP11, the transport strategy for AVL is guided by the 
following principles: 

• To deliver the transport network and infrastructure needed to support development 
and provide the new homes and economic development proposals set out in the 
AAP, particularly the major regeneration and development opportunities in the 
South Bank, LCREZ and East Bank, Hunslet Riverside and Skelton Gate areas. 

• To minimise the need to travel by car by ensuring that the area is well connected to 
the city centre and other key destinations by sustainable transport modes including 
public transport, cycling and walking and to ensure that new development is 
integrated within this network and delivers the necessary infrastructure 
improvement on a phased basis. 

• To connect communities in east and south Leeds to existing and new jobs created 
in the area and reduce barriers created by the river corridor and main road network 
to provide direct, safe and attractive pedestrian and cycle links. 

• To plan the area to integrate potential key national and city region transport 
proposals, such as HS2, and the NGT trolleybus system with the local transport 
network and to maximise the regeneration opportunities created by the potential 
catalyst of transport infrastructure investment.  

• To make better use of the rail and waterways network as a mode of transport for 
freight, where appropriate  

• To make better use of the waterways network as a leisure route.  

  

Page 502



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

38 
 

STRATEGIC TRANSPORT SCHEMES IN AVL 

3.5.3 The transport strategy needs to reflect the important opportunities presented by key 
strategic transport investments, proposed for the area.  These are set out below: 

HS2 / Yorkshire Hub 

3.5.4 The proposed route of the eastern leg of Phase Two of HS2 will extend high speed 
services to Leeds City Centre.  The HS2 consultation documents from 2013 shows the 
route into Leeds aligning with the existing Leeds-Castleford railway corridor within 
AVL, passing through Stourton and Hunslet before rising above street level into the 
new station at Leeds New Lane, partly within the AAP boundary. The consultation 
route is shown on area maps for information. Following the publication of the Sir David 
Higgins report: Re-Balancing Britain: From HS2 towards a national transport strategy, 
the proposed HS2 station location and route into Leeds is subject to an ongoing review 
considering how a HS2 station might relate to a potential transnorth “HS3” route. 
During that consultation LCC raised concerns about the impact of the line of the route. 
A formal route decision is expected in Autumn 2016 by the Secretary of State for 
Transport. 

3.5.5 The final decision to proceed with the schemes will be taken by Parliament.  If the 
scheme proceeds the Government will issue a Safeguarding Direction to ensure new 
development does not conflict with the construction or future operation of the route.  
The HS2 route is not a proposal of the AAP but the Policies Map will have to reflect 
land covered by a safeguarding direction made by the Government.  The consultation 
route is shown on area maps for information. In November 2015, Sir David Higgins 
published a report ‘The Yorkshire Hub’ which proposed moving the HS2 station so that 
it creates a new integrated hub with the existing station. This proposal has support 
from City Region political leaders and the Chamber of Commerce. This is expected to 
form part of the announcement in Autumn 2016 too. 

NGT Trolleybus system Public transport strategy 

3.5.6 Leeds City Council has instigated extensive engagement and conversation on the 
future direction of transport provision across the city which includes reviewing and 
considering the measures for those corridors which were previously covered by the 
now cancelled NGT trolleybus proposals. 

3.5.7 The Leeds New Generation Transport (NGT) trolleybus system is jointly promoted by 
the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and the Council.  The system proposes a 
modern, reliable Trolleybus which combines dedicated lanes, junctions and traffic 
signal priority to ensure improved journey times.  The provision of a priority route and 
park and ride at Stourton is an objective and is being considered within the overall 
review. 

3.5.8 The proposed 14.8km system will run between Holt Park in North Leeds and Stourton 
in AVL through the city centre and will be served by major park and ride facilities.  It 
will connect people to key employment sites, education, health, shopping and leisure 
facilities and act as a catalyst and driver for Leeds and the city region’s economic 
growth and regeneration. 

Page 503



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

39 
 

3.5.9 The scheme is subject to a Transport and Works Act application to the Secretary of 
State.  If approved the scheme is scheduled to open in 2020. 

3.5.10 Within AVL, the system is proposed to run from a 1,500 space park and ride (with 
potential to be expanded to 2,300 in the future) at junction 7 of the M621 at Stourton 
(AV82), through Belle Isle and Hunslet to Leeds Dock and Brewery Wharf, and then 
into the core of Leeds City Centre via Leeds Bridge.  The proposed route and stops 
are shown on area plans, which also identify specific development and regeneration 
opportunities, public realm improvements and improved pedestrian routes which will 
benefit from and improve connectivity to the NGT system.  

Motorway Network Improvements 
3.5.11 The Government’s Pinch Point Programme provides spending on transport schemes 

with the ambition of reducing congestion and stimulating growth in the economy.  
Within this programme a £2.4m scheme has been constructed to increase the capacity 
of J44.  The scheme will improve access to a number of key development sites in the 
south of the area, including Leeds Valley Park and Skelton Grange. 

3.5.12 The Government has announced funding for two further road improvement schemes 
relevant to the area as part of a package of major roads investment in Yorkshire. 
These are: 

• M1 J45 – Improvements to J45 to allow increased capacity and to support the 
LCREZ. This scheme will help enable the development of the Skelton Gate site; 
and, 

• M621 J1 to J7. Junction enhancements and localised widening of sections of the 
M621. 

3.5.13 These schemes complement other improvements on the wider motorway network 
including those completed and under construction on the M1 and M62. 

AIRE VALLEY LEEDS TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE 
IMPROVEMENTS 

3.5.14 This section sets out the transport infrastructure improvements required to support 
delivery of development proposals in the AAP and improve the accessibility of existing 
communities and commercial areas.  The focus is on delivering sustainable transport 
which supports plan vision and objectives and development proposals. 

3.5.15 The package of measures includes schemes which are part of the LCR West 
Yorkshire ‘Plus’ Transport Fund, district wide priorities identified in the Core Strategy 
and other local initiatives, priorities and aspirations, particularly focused on delivery of 
better pedestrian and cycling links. 

3.5.16 Proposed transport infrastructure improvements are set out in Policy AVL12 below and 
indicated on Map 4. 

Highway Infrastructure & Capacity 
3.5.17 The construction of the A63 and IRR Stages 6 & 7 have provided the key elements of 

highway infrastructure that have facilitated the opening up of major sites for 
development in the LCREZ and eastern part of the area. Further infrastructure will 
need to be delivered on a phased basis to enable development of all the sites 

Page 504



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

40 
 

identified and allocated in the AAP and to connect them with the strategic and local 
network whilst minimising negative impacts.  

3.5.18 The following schemes are identified as priorities for improvement of the highway 
network: 

• A new north-south link road between the A63 and Pontefract Road, including a 
bridge crossing at Skelton Grange.  This scheme will help to realise the full 
development potential of the area but also provide much better access for south 
Leeds communities and the LCREZ and for east Leeds residents to existing and 
proposed job opportunities, such as Leeds Valley Park, south of the river corridor. 

• Opening up the existing private road at Knowsthorpe Lane which passes beneath 
the M1 as a road and/or public transport link and a second access to the Skelton 
Gate area. 

• Improvements to the road network in the South Bank to reduce the dominance of 
major roads and the amount of through traffic whilst retaining local access to 
existing properties and new development, including potentially the Leeds New Lane 
HS2 station.  An important priority will be providing new and improved and more 
direct crossing points and routes for pedestrians and cyclists.  This forms part of the 
emerging City Centre Transport Strategy set out in Core Strategy Policy CC3 and 
shown on Map 11 of the Core Strategy. 

3.5.19 Other site specific requirements related to access to individual development sites and 
local improvements to the network which are set out in more detail in Area Plans. 

Public transport improvements (including park & ride) 

3.5.20 The need to improve public transport access and services within AVL has been 
highlighted as a key issue for local residents and businesses and is a vital component 
of delivering sustainable development in the area. 

3.5.21 Parts of the area are well served by the existing bus network and proposed NGT 
Trolleybus network and other parts lie within walking distance of key transport 
interchanges, including the main Leeds bus and rail stations.  In these areas priorities 
will be focused on improving pedestrian/cycle access to services from existing 
properties and proposed development, particularly major development areas such as 
the South Bank and Hunslet Riverside. 

3.5.22 In other areas existing public transport is limited and there is virtually no services in the 
eastern part of the area, north of the river at present.  The priority in these areas is to 
ensure that public transport services are provided on a phased basis alongside new 
development to establish a choice of transport options as people move to live and 
work in the area.  This is partly an issue of infrastructure provision but is also about 
securing the services to use the routes and facilities. 

3.5.23 A proposal for a park and ride facility with capacity for 1,000 car parking spaces at the 
Temple Green site off M1 J45 provides an early opportunity to bring public transport 
into the LCREZ by providing an express bus service to Leeds City Centre with up to a 
10 minute frequency.  This service could also provide stops to serve other areas such 
as Cross Green and the South Bank on route.  The Temple Green Park & Ride is 
funded through the West Yorkshire ‘Plus’ Transport Fund and will open in 2016. 

Page 505



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

41 
 

3.5.24 In addition to serving the city centre, the park & ride services will enhance the 
accessibility of the LCREZ sites by public transport.  There is an opportunity to provide 
connecting services into east Leeds communities utilising the existing and proposed 
bus gates at Thornes Farm Way and the Logic Leeds site with the aim of helping to 
connect local people to new jobs.  This is part of a wider aspiration to provide an 
orbital public transport route linking east and south Leeds and the LCREZ which is 
dependent on delivery of the link road and bridge crossing at Skelton Grange. 

3.5.25 A scheme has also been identified for potential extension of the NGT trolleybus 
network into the east of the area, potentially linking to the park and ride facility.  A route 
and funding for this scheme is yet to be determined, but it forms part of the West 
Yorkshire ‘Plus’ Transport Fund package for AVL. 

A further bus based park and ride facility is under consideration at Stourton to serve 
the city centre. The site would be accessed from M621 J7 and would help to reduce 
the number of car journeys into the city centre from the south using the M621 and 
A639.  

3.5.26 The Skelton Gate site will be a key development to link into a future public transport 
network.  Delivery of this major housing scheme is dependent on securing frequent 
public transport services at an early stage to meet accessibility standards set out in the 
Core Strategy.  

3.5.27 Within the inner part of the area, the Richmond Hill area has been identified as a 
community which is poorly served by existing services.  Options will be explored to 
route buses through the Richmond Hill area to provide better links between the area 
and the city centre and jobs created in the LCREZ. 

Cycling 
3.5.28 An important outcome of the AAP will be to achieve a long-term increase in the 

number of cycling trips made to and within the area, including travelling to work, 
college or school, and for recreation.  This will bring significant benefits in terms of 
health and well-being and contribute to reducing congestion and carbon emissions and 
improving air quality.  

3.5.29 This will require improvements to the cycling network to create continuous and 
attractive off road or quiet low traffic routes which build upon the existing Leeds Core 
Cycle Network.  There will need to be a particular focus on providing new north - south 
links to and across the River Aire corridor.  As part of improvements to the network 
there is an important opportunity to integrate the cycle network within enhanced areas 
of green infrastructure (see Section 3.6). 

3.5.30 The following improvements to the strategic cycle network are identified as priorities 
and are shown on Map 4: 

• Core cycle network improvements including an extension of the Wyke Beck Way 
between Temple Newsam and Rothwell Country Park (with a bridge crossing at 
Skelton Lake) and improvements to the routes linking Rothwell to the city centre, 
including a long term aspiration to extend the cycle superhighway network along 
this route. 

• Construction of the ‘City Connect Cycle Superhighway’ between East Leeds and 
Bradford to open during 2015/16.  This scheme is proposed to run along the edge of 
the plan area on York Road and Marsh Lane and will improve access for cyclists 

Page 506



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

42 
 

between the Richmond Hill area and the city centre.  The scheme also proposes 20 
mph zones to improve access between the cycle route and neighbouring 
communities.  This could potentially include parts of the Richmond Hill area subject 
to further consultation. 

• Diversion and enhancement of the Trans Pennine Trail route including two new 
bridges to take the route along the northern bank of the river and back to the 
southern bank to facilitate the removal of Knostrop Cut as part of the Leeds Flood 
Alleviation Scheme.  Improvement to the bridge crossing at Skelton Grange Road 
and/or provision of a possible alternative route along the northern bank of the river, 
between Skelton Lake and Skelton Grange Road, are also identified as future 
opportunities. 

• New or improved cycle routes pedestrian bridges and routes to create north/south 
links over the river linking local communities to job opportunities, key destinations 
such as the city centre, local services and leisure/recreation opportunities. 

3.5.31 Further local and site-specific improvements and priorities are identified in area plans. 

Pedestrian links & safer streets 
3.5.32 The area lies within walking distance of key facilities and services, employment, major 

parks and green spaces and the river corridor but walking is often made difficult by 
issues such as the barriers created by main roads, lack of direct crossings over the 
river, limited signage and unappealing pedestrian environments dominated by vehicle 
traffic and infrastructure.  This is a particular issue for children, older people and 
people with impaired mobility. 

3.5.33 Increasing journeys made on foot has important benefits in terms of health and well-
being and the environment.  This objective will be addressed by provision of new and 
improved pedestrian routes to employment areas, public transport routes and hubs, 
green spaces, the river corridor and key destinations such as South Bank and the 
LCREZ and to connect major housing opportunities such as Hunslet Riverside and 
Skelton Gate into the wider area.  These routes will need to be integrated within and 
between new development and will be supported by a programme to improve road and 
river crossings, in part linked to the cycle network improvements highlighted above 
and other improvements to the Public Rights of Way network.  

3.5.34 Within the South Bank there is a further priority to link the area better with the 
established core of the city centre north of the River Aire, including Leeds City station. 
In this respect, proposals include a new pedestrian/cycle bridge and link between 
Sovereign Square and the City Park in the South Bank providing a green link to the 
education hub at Hunslet Lane / Black Bull Street.  Pedestrian improvements in this 
area will also focus on better connections to the new Leeds Station Southern Entrance 
and alterations to the road network to improve crossing facilities and reduce the 
dominance of vehicle traffic.  

Rail & water freight 
3.5.36 The Aire and Calder Navigation is part of the network of commercial inland waterways 

and has been identified as having potential for greater freight use in the future. Leeds 
occupies a strategic position on the rail network making it well-placed for the 
promotion of rail freight, including minerals. 

3.5.37 Both rail and water have been shown to be more economically efficient and 
environmentally sustainable compared to road based freight.  Leeds aims to make the 

Page 507



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

43 
 

 

most of its strong links with the Humber Ports and its availability of industrial land that 
is well served by rail and canal, particularly within AVL, by promoting a modal shift 
from road to more sustainable modes of freight transport.  This will help to reduce 
congestion and pollution caused by HGVs, whilst maximising economic efficiency for 
industry. 

3.5.38 The NRWLP safeguards existing rail sidings and canal wharfs in the area and 
allocates two new sites for rail (at Bridgewater Road) and water freight use (at 
Stourton) respectively. It also identifies a safeguarded rail spur to the Skelton Grange 
area and an area of search for an intermodal freight depot in the Stourton area taking 
advantage of the area’AVL2s good connections into the road, rail and waterways 
network.  Designations and allocations from the NRWLP are shown on area maps. 

Leisure uses on the waterway network 
3.5.39 There is also potential to make better use of the waterways to link together visitor 

attractions along the river corridor including potential water taxi services to extend or 
complement the service between Leeds Railway Station and Leeds Dock which 
opened in 2014 and provision of further boat moorings along the river/canal (see 
Section 3.6 and Policy AVL15).  

POLICY AVL12 - STRATEGIC TRANSPORT 
INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS IN AVL 
The following transport infrastructure improvements are proposed in AVL and 
shown on Map 4 and on area maps. Where appropriate and directly related to 
the development, proposals on identified sites, allocations and other sites will 
be required to provide or contribute towards provision of these improvements: 
Highway network 
1. Improvements to junction layouts at M1 J44 and 45 and M621 J7 to increase 

highway capacity and improve traffic flow onto and from the motorway during 
peak periods. 

2. Construction of a link road, including improvements to the junction at Skelton 
Grange Road and Pontefract Road and new river bridge at Skelton Grange, to 
connect the A63 to Pontefract Road to enable better road access and to allow 
public transport and the cycle/pedestrian network to cross the river. 

2a. Upgrade and adoption of Knowsthorpe Lane to provide a link to M1 Junction 
45 and improve access to the Skelton Gate development and employment 
sites west of the M1.   

3.  Changes to road layouts and their priorities and purpose in the South Bank to 
reduce the physical and visual impact of vehicular traffic infrastructure. 

Public transport 
4.  Construction of the NGT trolleybus route and stops through the area between 

the South Bank and Stourton via Hunslet Town Centre, including a 1,500 
space (expandable to 2,300 spaces) A bus based park and ride facility at 
Stourton is under consideration (AV81). 

Page 508



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

44 
 

 
 
 

5. A 1,000 space park and ride facility at Temple Green (AV91), off the A63, 
supported by an express bus service to the city centre and stops on the route 
to serve businesses. 

6.  Delivery of infrastructure needed to provide the following bus connections: 
i. Orbital services between East Leeds communities, the LCREZ and 

Pontefract Road and into South Leeds communities. 
ii. A service to link the Skelton Gate site. 
iii. Improved bus services to Leeds Valley Park. 

7. An extension of the NGT trolleybus system to the LCREZ and eastern part of  
AVL subject to funding. 

Cycle routes 
8.  Improvement of the Leeds Core Cycle Network, including extension of the 

Wyke Beck Way between Temple Newsam and Rothwell Country Park and a 
Rothwell to city centre route. 

  9.  Diversion of the Trans Pennine Trail to the northern bank of the river at the 
Bridgewater Road site to accommodate the removal of Knostrop Cut for the 
Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme, including provision of two cycle/pedestrian 
crossings, and other improvements to remove barriers along the trail 
including construction of a potential alternative route along the northern bank 
of the river between Skelton Lake and Skelton Grange bridge. 

10.  Provision of the following new or improved routes (including cycle /   
pedestrian bridges) to improve links over the river and under the motorway: 
i. Sovereign Square to the City Park and South Bank area 

ii. East Bank to South Bank (at Low Fold), 
iii. Cross Green to Hunslet through the Hunslet Riverside development sites 
iv. East Leeds, LCREZ and South Leeds link via Skelton Grange Bridge 
v. Skelton Gate link along Knowsthorpe Lane 

Pedestrian routes & safer streets 

11.  Provision of new and improved pedestrian links between existing residential 
areas and new development and jobs, local services, green spaces and 
leisure opportunities. 

12. Changes to the road network to improve the pedestrian environment, 
including measures such as street tree planting, widening pavements and 
other public realm improvements, where appropriate 

13.  Improvements to the public rights of way network Retain, and where 
appropriate, improve, existing public rights of way (of any type) within 
development sites. If demonstrated through evidence, a diversion cannot be 
avoided; the proposed diversion should maintain the convenience, safety and 
visual amenity of the original route.5 

 

                                            
5 Public Rights of Way map showing all routes on the LCC on-line definitive map with non-definitive routes in 
green and definitive routes shown in black.   

Page 509

https://leedscc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=fef90bd138bf48e19e3076a81366d3d3


Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

45 
 

TRANSPORT DEMAND MANAGEMENT  

3.5.40 It will be necessary to use other initiatives to manage the level of car use and to gain 
maximum benefits from the investment in sustainable transport proposed in this plan. 
These are intended to reduce traffic levels, congestion and carbon emissions whilst 
supporting the delivery of development proposals. 

3.5.41 Policies relating to transport management and accessibility are set out in Core 
Strategy Policies T1 and T2 and these will apply to development within AVL.  This 
includes a car parking policy to ensure adequate provision for shoppers, visitors and 
commuters whilst supporting sustainable travel measures to be further informed by 
the preparation of a Parking Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and a 
requirement for the preparation of travel plans for larger development to encourage 
use of sustainable travel options and reduce car use. 

  

Page 510



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

46 
 

3.6 GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE & VISITOR 
ATTRACTIONS 

 
3.6.1 At both a local and city region level, AVL represents a unique opportunity to provide a 

connected network of spaces and places linking the heart of the city to the open 
countryside and into the range of visitor destinations which lie along the area’s river 
corridors.  These multifunctional green spaces, which include protected sites, 
woodlands, nature reserves, river corridors, public parks and amenity areas, together 
form a network of green infrastructure. 

3.6.2 At a district wide level, the Core Strategy (Spatial Policy 13) identifies the key green 
infrastructure corridors across Leeds.  This includes the River Aire and Wyke Beck 
corridors. The policy also makes reference to the Aire Valley Urban Eco-Settlement 
and the importance of strengthening green links to the city centre, Lower Aire Valley 
(including the St Aidan’s and Fairburn Ings nature sites), Temple Newsam and 
Rothwell Country Park.  The Core Strategy defines a strategic green infrastructure 
network for Leeds (see Map 16, Leeds Core Strategy) which includes significant areas 
in AVL. 

3.6.3 Complementing the Core Strategy approach, the area has also been highlighted within 
Leeds City Region’s Green Infrastructure Strategy for the Aire and Calder Valleys 
known as the ‘Fresh Aire’ Programme.  The delivery plan for Fresh Aire, published in 
2014, identified three potential projects located within AVL: The South Bank (including 
the City Park), Skelton Lake/Wyke Beck and linking the Aire & Calder (which includes 
proposals for improved pedestrian/cycle links between Cross Green, Richmond Hill 
and Hunslet and the Trans Pennine Trail route along the river). 

3.6.4 In providing a framework to enhance the role and function of green infrastructure 
across the AAP area, important priorities for the plan include: 

• Improving the townscape and character of places, creating places that people want 
to live, work and visit which in turn promotes business investment and high quality 
new development; 

• Improving health and well-being (including mental health) by encouraging people to 
take part in outdoor and physical activities such as walking and cycling and by 
providing a green attractive environment; 

• Increasing the tourism potential of areas and potential to increase visitor spending, 
particularly where attractions are linked by green routes and corridors; 

• Protecting and creating the habitats and ecosystems which can support biodiversity 
and protected species; 

• Identifying opportunities for local food production. 
 

AIRE VALLEY LEEDS GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE NETWORK 
3.6.5 To guide the approach to green infrastructure (protection and new provision), a green 

infrastructure network has been identified for AVL (see Map 5) which shows key green 
infrastructure corridors, sites and connections into the wider network. This further 
develops the strategic green infrastructure network for Leeds (Map 16, Core Strategy) 
at the local level.  This more detailed structural network is founded upon an 
assessment of the functions of the defined corridors set out in the AVL Green 
Infrastructure Study, part of the evidence base for the AAP.  This will be used to help 
implement Core Strategy Policy G1 within the plan. 

Page 511



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

47 
 

3.6.6 The network is made up of important spaces and sites, such as parks, woodland 
areas, water bodies, natural habitats and visitor and leisure destinations and the green 
corridors which link these spaces together. The corridors are identified indicatively 
including the River Aire and Wyke Beck corridors which extend well beyond the 
boundaries of the AAP, and a series of locally important corridors which serve to link 
these corridors into the wider network.  

3.6.7 An important component of the green infrastructure network relates to natural habitats.  
Core Strategy Policy G9 (Biodiversity Improvements) refers to the Leeds Habitat 
Network and aims to protect its integrity and connectivity, as well as encouraging 
provision of new areas and opportunities for habitat creation and enhancement. Map 
18 of the Core Strategy shows a strategic version of the Leeds Habitat Network.  

3.6.8 The Council, in conjunction with the West Yorkshire Ecology Service has updated the 
evidence relating to the Leeds Habitat Network, mapping its components to a more 
detailed level. The Leeds Habitat Network identifies woodland; grassland; wetland; 
heathland; and “other” qualifying habitat types. The Leeds Habitat Network is reflected 
within the AVL Green Infrastructure Network where this is consistent with existing and 
proposed development and other plan proposals. Within these areas the acceptability 
of proposals will be assessed against the criteria set out in Core Strategy Policy G9 
which requires that there is no significant adverse impact on the integrity and 
connectivity of the Leeds Habitat Network.  

3.6.9 A important distinction is made between green infrastructure, which can include land 
which is not intended to be accessible to the public, and “green space” which forms 
part of green infrastructure but is specifically allocated for the public to use for 
recreation and is generally protected from development (see separate Green Space 
section). The inclusion of areas within the green infrastructure network does not mean 
that no development can take place within or adjacent to these corridors areas (unless 
precluded by other policies).  It is recognised that development opportunities provide a 
basis to ensure that green infrastructure can be delivered and maintained into the 
future.  

ENHANCING THE GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE NETWORK 
3.6.10 Within the broad framework established by the AVL Green Infrastructure Network 

(Map 5) a number of key opportunities are identified, these are:  

• Provision of a city park in the South Bank (set out in detail in Section 4.2);  
• An aspiration to create a ‘country park’ centred on Skelton Lake; 
• Improving connectivity to and along the River Aire corridor; 
• Street tree and woodland planting (where appropriate); 
• Greening existing industrial areas where appropriate to provide the setting for new 

industrial/commercial development;  
• Mitigation and management of flood risk. 

  

Page 512



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

48 
 

A ‘Country Park’ in AVL 
3.6.11 A number of existing green infrastructure assets and potential sites have been 

identified in the east of the area along the river corridor. These were recognised in the 
Fresh Aire Pilot Project for Skelton Lake / Wyke Beck which identified a number of 
green infrastructure projects with potential to be delivered over the next 10 years. 

3.6.12 There is considered to be potential for these elements to be drawn together to form a 
future ‘country park’. This will be a long term project which will need to be phased in 
terms of delivery as resources allow and a number of aspects of the proposals will be 
associated with new development in adjacent areas over the next 15 years.   

3.6.13 The elements of a country park in AVL could potentially be: 

• The Skelton Lake area – a managed visitor attraction including potential for a new 
visitor centre which becomes an important destination and gateway to the Lower 
Aire Valley nature reserves.   

• Rothwell Country Park – linked to the north bank of the river by a cycle bridge   
completing the Wyke Beck Valley Way. 

• Restoration of the Skelton Grange landfill at Newsam Grange as an area of 
parkland and natural habitat within five years of the cessation of landfilling. (current 
permission expires in 2016). 

• Land to the west of the M1, such as the former sludge lagoons, which are 
unsuitable for built development and have potential for habitat improvement in the 
longer term. 

• The River Aire and Aire and Calder Navigation between Knostrop Weir and 
Fishponds Lock, with potential new and improved mooring facilities and potential 
river boat services to encourage visitors. 

• Trans Pennine Trail running between the river and navigation and linked into the 
cycle/pedestrian network to the north and south of the river. 

• The Thwaite Mills Museum and the new base for Leeds Rowing Club off Thwaite 
Lane. 

Connectivity to and along green corridors 
3.6.14 Whilst the green infrastructure network is a major asset within AVL, it also offers 

opportunities to improve accessibility and connectivity to surrounding areas.  In 
particular  for communities in east and south Leeds with physical barriers created by 
major roads and the limited number of bridges over the river. A number of proposals 
are identified in Section 3.5 and in area plans to improve overall connectivity.  This is 
also linked to the Leeds Rights of Way Improvement Plan. 

Trees and woodland 
3.6.15 Map 17 of the Core Strategy identifies areas of woodland in Leeds that are greater 

than 2 hectares. This includes part of Halton Moor Wood on the Logic Leeds site 
(AV63) which is shown as protected green space.  There are other areas of tree cover, 
particularly along the River Aire which represent a valuable natural resource and are 
shown within the green infrastructure network (Map 5). 

Page 513



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

49 
 

3.6.16 Core Strategy Policy G2 sets out the general approach to creation of new tree cover in 
Leeds including planting of street trees in the urban area. As well as opportunities for 
tree planting directly associated with development there are also opportunities on sites 
which are not suitable for development and where there may be potential for tree 
planting to be delivered as mitigation associated with adjoining development.   

3.6.17 Planting street trees is also an important part of the approach to green urban streets 
and sites. Priority areas for planting of trees are along pedestrian/cycle routes to 
create attractive new green links to key spaces and destinations, such as the City 
Park. 

Green infrastructure provision in industrial / business areas  
3.6.18 High quality green infrastructure integrates with other landscape provision to provide 

positive and attractive settings for industrial and commercial development.  By adding 
value it also assists in attracting new businesses and investment, thereby creating 
sustainable economic development.  

3.6.19 Requirements for the development of green infrastructure must nevertheless be 
sympathetic to the costs of development. It should not become an onerous burden to 
developers, nor should it restrict the functional requirements of businesses in meeting 
their commercial or operational needs. Green infrastructure provision should also 
reflect key economic initiatives such as the LCREZ which overlaps the Green 
Infrastructure Network.  It is therefore important that green infrastructure requirements 
are proportional to the type and scale of development proposed and consistent with 
wider economic and job creation objectives.    

3.6.20 It is recognised that the green corridors (shown on Map 5) will vary in nature and 
extent in response to their identified functions, location, neighbouring land uses and 
future development proposals.  Not all corridors can or should perform all green 
infrastructure functions.  Where the green corridor is already clearly defined, adjoining 
development will need to respond to and protect the corridor’s functions. In such 
circumstance this may involve little or no intervention.  The Council also encourages 
creative design solutions which also incorporate development requirements as part of 
green infrastructure solutions such as the provision of sustainable drainage or flood 
risk mitigation measures.  This approach can provide strong, multi-functional green 
corridors within development sites without adding unreasonably to the area of land 
given over to green infrastructure. 

3.6.21 Where development lies outside the defined Aire Valley Green Infrastructure Network, 
normal landscaping requirements arising from development proposals as required by 
Core Strategy Policy P12 will apply. 

Existing Industrial Estates 
3.6.22 Environmental quality within the traditional industrial areas such as the Cross Green 

Industrial Estate and Stourton is generally poor with a limited and disconnected green 
infrastructure network. Infill development and redevelopment provides an opportunity 
to secure enhancements and to green the environment by providing a positive 
landscape setting to development.  

3.6.23 Unattractive design solutions will be discouraged in favour of more positive solutions 
which enhance visual amenity and add to the quality of the environment without 
compromising commercial or industrial functions.  For example, the use of prominent 

Page 514



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

50 
 

 

and unsightly palisade fencing would be discouraged in favour of attractive but still 
functional weldmesh fencing, ideally incorporated within a landscaped setting to 
enhance visual amenity.  The Council will always seek opportunities to green the 
environment of industrial areas, focusing in particular on key green infrastructure 
routes and gaps in the network. 

Flood risk management and green infrastructure 
3.6.24 The Council encourages the use of sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) as a 

mechanism to reduce surface water run-off and flooding.  Preference will be for SuDs 
to be integrated positively within the green infrastructure network to enhance green 
corridors both within and in association with new development where this is practical 
and appropriate.  The use of open water SuDS which is designed for biodiversity by 
retaining some water throughout the year and other provision of biodiversity ponds will 
also be encouraged.   

POLICY AVL13 - AIRE VALLEY LEEDS GREEN 
INFRASTRUCTURE NETWORK 
The AVL Green Infrastructure Network is identified on the Policies Map and Map 
5. 

The requirements set out in Core Strategy Policy G1 (Enhancing & Extending 
Green Infrastructure) will apply to development proposals that are located within 
or adjoining this network, having regard to the scale of development, type of use 
and identified green infrastructure functions of the corridor. 

Map 5 defines the Aire Valley Leeds Habitat Network where the requirement set 
out in Core Strategy Policy G9 (iii) will also apply. 

Site requirements for green infrastructure retention, improvement and provision 
relating to this defined network are set out in Area Plans.  

 
GREEN SPACE (RESIDENTIAL AREAS) 

 
Existing Green Space Provision 

3.6.25 Green space forms a discreet and integral part of the green infrastructure network 
serving residential areas or providing public access to the countryside.  It specifically 
relates to publically accessible open space which provide a range of opportunities for 
recreation and enjoyment, such as parks & gardens, outdoor sports pitches, allotments 
and nature areas. 

3.6.26 Total green space protected in the AVLAAP area under Core Strategy Policy G6 and 
shown on the Policies Map is 104 hectares on 26 green space sites, plus an additional 
3.2 hectares of civic space across 7 sites in Leeds City Centre.  This extensive 
provision amounts to 8% of the entire area.   

3.6.27 Green space provision within AVL is set out in Table 9 below.  This only includes the 
21 green space sites that contribute to meeting the green space requirements and 
typologies set out in Core Strategy Policy G3. It therefore excludes the 5 green space 
sites that are not generally available for public use, such as school playing fields. 

Page 515



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

51 
 

Table 9: Overall quantity and quality of green space protected under Core Strategy 
Policy G6 by type 

Type 
No. of 
sites 

Total 
area of 

site (ha) 

Ha per 
1,000 

population 

Core Strategy 
standard ha 

per 1,000 
population 

Meets 
Quantity 
standard 
(per 1,000 

pop) 

Surplus / 
Deficit 
Total 

Area (ha) 

Average 
quality 
score 

(minimum 
standard = 

7) 
Parks and 
gardens 2 2.28 0.17 1 Deficit 0.83 

hectares -10.73 5.35 

Outdoor 
sports 
provision6 

7 13.65 1.05 1.2 Deficit 0.15 
hectares -2.02 5.58 

Amenity 
green space 

8 6.44 0.49 0.45 
Surplus 

0.04 
hectares 

0.57 4.18 

Children's 
and young 
people's 
equipped 
play 

4 7 
facilities 

4.38 
facilities 

(per 1,000 
children) 

2 (per 1,000 
children) 

Surplus 2 
facilities 3 facilities - 

Allotments 1 1.21 0.09 0.24 Deficit 0.15 
hectares -1.92 2.11 

Natural 
green space 

4 75.23 5.76 0.7  
Surplus 

5.06 
hectares 

66.09 5.26 

Total7 21 98.31 7.57 N/A N/A N/A 4.5 

City Centre 
Civic space 

7 3.2 0.53 0.41 
Surplus 

0.12 
hectares 

2.46 7.65 

 

3.6.28 Existing green space provision in AVL largely satisfies the Core Strategy quantitative 
provision standards and overall provides considerably more green space than the 
standard requires when assessed against the existing population of the area.  This is 
mainly a result of the extensive areas of natural green space which lie along the River 
Aire corridor.  The number of children’s equipped play facilities and outdoor sports 
provision in the area also satisfy the Core Strategy standard.  The quantity of civic 
space, focused around the Leeds Dock development and the canal towpath meets the 
standard within the city centre. 

3.6.29 Parks and gardens and allotments are the only two types of green space which 
significantly fall short of the quantity standard and outdoor sport provision does so 
marginally.  However, it should be noted that a  large community park (East End Park) 
and a city park (Temple Newsam) lie in close proximity to the plan area and fulfil some 
of the open space needs of the existing population and proposed housing 
development in the area. 

3.6.30 The quality of green spaces is a significant issue, with the majority of sites failing to 
satisfy the required standard (when surveyed).  Overall the average quality of green 
space sites in the assessment was 4 (out of 10) compared to the Core Strategy 
standard of 7.  Six out of the seven civic spaces satisfy the required quality standard.  

                                            
6 Includes junior pitch (0.5 ha) within parks and gardens site which is not included in totals to avoid double 
counting. 
7 Total excludes children’s play facilities which are located within other green space sites. 

Page 516



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

52 
 

 

3.6.31 Areas of green space to be protected under Core Strategy Policy G6 are identified on 
the Policies Map.  Area plans set out detail about the protection and distribution of 
green space within the area and highlight local issues of importance in respect to the 
quantity, quality and accessibility of green space. 

New and improved green space 
3.6.32 The proposals for new housing set out in the plan will increase the population of the 

area and potentially place greater pressure on existing green spaces.  These 
proposals also offer the opportunity to create new green space within new 
development in accordance with Core Strategy Policy G4.  The larger housing 
allocations such as Copperfields, Bridgewater Road North and Skelton Gate offer the 
greatest opportunities to create high quality new spaces which can help address 
existing local deficiencies. 

3.6.33 In addition, the proposed city park will transform access to high quality green space for 
new and existing communities in the South Bank and surrounding areas.  Within the 
city centre boundary, requirements for open space provision in new residential and 
commercial development on sites greater than 0.5 hectares are set out in Core 
Strategy Policy G5.   

3.6.34 Within smaller residential development sites, it is recognised that it can be difficult to 
provide useable areas of green space which genuinely address wider deficiencies.  A 
flexible approach may be adopted seeking opportunities to improve existing adjacent 
green spaces and pedestrian and cycling access to those spaces, where this is 
considered to be a priority over creation of small areas of new green space.  This 
approach is justified by the evidence set out in Table 9, which identifies the need to 
address the quality of green space in the area as a priority and is consistent with Core 
Strategy Policy G4. 

3.6.35 In a limited number of cases, proposals set out in the AAP involve the development of 
existing green space, for example a former playing pitch within an industrial area that 
no longer functions or satisfies accessibility standards.  These ‘losses’ have been 
accounted for in the analysis in Table 9 and need to be considered in the round, as 
part of the overall provision of green space within AVL and opportunities to improve 
access, quality and provision of the typologies of green space identified in the Core 
Strategy. 

POLICY AVL14 – PROTECTION, IMPROVEMENT AND 
PROVISION OF NEW GREEN SPACE IN AIRE VALLEY 
LEEDS 
 
1. The green spaces shown on the Policies Map will be protected from 

development subject to the criteria set out in Core Strategy Policy G6. 

2. New green space is proposed at the following locations: 
• City Park in the South Bank area (approximately 3.5 hectares) 
• On site green space provision on housing and mixed use sites in accordance 

with Core Strategy Policy G4. 
• On site open space provision on sites within the boundary of the city centre 

will be sought in accordance with Core Strategy Policy G5.  
 

Page 517



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

53 
 

 

 

3. Opportunities will be sought to improve existing green spaces, with priority 
sites for improvement identified on area maps.  Contributions may be sought 
for improvement of these green spaces or to improve pedestrian routes to 
existing or proposed green spaces in lieu of provision of some or all of the 
required on-site provision where this approach would result in a 
demonstrable net benefit to the wider community in terms of the quality and 
accessibility of local green space provision. 

Further details of these proposals/requirements as they relate to specific sites 
are set out in area plans. 

 
TOURISM POTENTIAL OF THE RIVER CORRIDOR 

3.6.36 AVL contains a unique collection of existing and potential facilities and tourism 
locations along the river.  These have the potential to attract a significant number of 
future visitors to the area.  These range from leisure and entertainment outlets in new 
developments in the city centre, such as Granary Wharf, Brewery Wharf and Leeds 
Dock, to the museum at Thwaite Mills, to existing and potential nature reserves and 
visitor destinations at Skelton Lake and in the Lower Aire Valley, including St Aidan’s. 

3.6.37 Connections between these sites along the river are limited because of the absence of 
commercial boat services and a limited number of moorings for narrow boats.  
Consequently, the AAP supports the principle to introduce tourist or other commercial 
boat services along the river.  Within this context, the area around Thwaite Mills and 
Skelton Lake is considered to be a potential stop for boat services.  Proposed 
improvements in the green infrastructure network along the bank of the river will help 
enhance visual amenity and the green setting for people taking trips along the river. 

POLICY AVL15 – TOURISM AND RECREATION IN AIRE 
VALLEY LEEDS 

The following proposals and opportunities are identified to enhance the tourism 
and recreation offer in AVL and to improve its links with the wider network of 
attractions along the Aire Valley corridor:  
• A new visitor centre and attraction at Skelton Lake related to the long term 

management of the lake (see Policy SG4). 
• Improvements to the Trans Pennine Trail and other proposals to improve 

pedestrian and cycle links to the waterfront set out in Policy AVL12 

• Support for river boat / water taxi services and provision of additional boat 
moorings along the Aire and Calder Navigation as part of a wider scheme to 
create a network of linked attractions and destinations along the river corridor 
which can be accessed by boat.  The area around the Thwaite Mills Museum 
and Skelton Lake area are identified as a potential stops within AVL. 

Page 518



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

54 
 

3.7 ENERGY EFFICIENCY & LOW CARBON 
ENERGY  
INTRODUCTION 

3.7.1 AVL provides a major strategic opportunity for energy efficiency and low carbon 
infrastructure.  This section identifies the important requirements and opportunities to 
ensure that the energy efficiency of older properties is improved, that the area’s 
potential to create a low carbon and renewable energy infrastructure network is 
realised and that new development is more sustainable and energy efficient.  
Delivering on this potential will be crucial to support the Aire Valley Urban Eco-
Settlement Vision and objectives set out in this plan. 

SUSTAINABLE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION  
3.7.2 Constructing energy efficient buildings which reduce energy use have key benefits, 

including reducing carbon emissions in line with the Leeds Climate Change Strategy 
and bringing down energy costs for residents and businesses.  The NPPF and the 
Housing Standards Review, provide an overall context for the energy efficiency of 
domestic and commercial buildings.  This is set at the local level in the Core Strategy, 
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD and by the Leeds standard. 

RETROFITTING EXISTING BUILDINGS 

3.7.3 In addition to ensuring that new development is energy efficient and adopts low carbon 
technologies it is important to consider how the energy efficiency of existing homes 
and other properties can be improved to help tackle issues such as fuel poverty and 
poor health.  These are challenges to be addressed in the Richmond Hill, Cross Green 
and Hunslet areas which face particular issues with respect to energy use and 
affordability, including: 

• Areas of older housing stock which are poorly insulated;  
• Some households are in fuel poverty unable to afford to heat their homes 

adequately; and, 
• Lack of knowledge about energy efficiency amongst some local residents  

 
3.7.4 To explore these issues further the Council commissioned the Stockholm Environment 

Institute at York University to undertake a ‘Behavioural Change Study’ in Cross Green.  
This sought to identify what type of improvements would give rise to sustained energy 
efficiency, in terms of both the energy efficiency of the property and the actual energy 
used and to get a better understanding how to change the factors that affect energy 
use.  These are important issues to consider when planning sustainable projects to 
reduce energy use. 

3.7.5 The Study assessed the impact of a range of energy efficiency measures on energy 
use and behaviour. These included: 

• Energy advice: A ‘Green Doctor’ scheme to audit energy efficiency of homes and 
provide advice and a smart meter; 

• Basic infrastructure: Repairs to make homes more energy efficient including loft 
insulation and double glazing; 

Page 519



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

55 
 

 

• Advanced infrastructure: basic infrastructure improvements above and additional 
improvements such as energy efficient boilers; 

• Basic infrastructure & energy advice measures combined. 
 
3.7.6 The study concluded that advanced infrastructure had the greatest reduction in gas 

use and basic infrastructure plus energy advice on electricity use.  

3.7.7 Existing programmes are in place for retrofitting existing homes.  This includes wall 
insulation and re-cladding works that have been carried out to a number of homes in 
the Thwaite Gate area of Hunslet. The principle of extending the scheme to other 
properties in the area is supported in Policy AVL16 and further funding may become 
available through off-site ‘Allowable Solutions’ linked to zero carbon homes or similar 
Government schemes.  

POLICY AVL16: RETROFITTING OF EXISTING BUILDINGS 
The Council will support programmes to retrofit existing buildings to improve 
energy efficiency and other initiatives to offer energy advice to local residents, 
focusing on the Hunslet, Cross Green and Richmond Hill area, subject to future 
funding. Where retrofitting works involves external works to the building such 
as wall insulation and re-cladding, proposals should respect the local character. 
Where works are proposed to a Listed Building, these should safeguard the 
special historic character of that building. 

 
LOW CARBON ENERGY INFRASTRUCTURE 

3.7.8 Increasing capacity for the production and distribution of low carbon and renewable 
energy in Leeds is an important priority, as detailed under Core Strategy Policy EN3 
which sets out the Council’s approach to increasing large scale commercial renewable 
energy capacity. AVL is an area with significant potential for low carbon energy 
production and distribution.  

Low Carbon Energy Production 

3.7.9 The following low carbon energy production capability and potential is identified in 
AVL: 
Solar energy (active solar) 

3.7.10 Solar energy is collected through either photovoltaic (generating electricity) or solar 
thermal panels.  AVL is identified as an area with significant potential for installation of 
solar panels on existing buildings and within new developments, including, for 
example, the park & ride facility at Temple Green and on commercial buildings with 
large roof areas. 

Hydro power 
3.7.11 The Core Strategy identifies potential for the development of hydropower facilities on 

the River Aire which are likely to have capacity for small-scale generation up to 100kw.  
Map 19 of the Core Strategy shows potential hydro power locations at Weir Points 
which includes up to six weir locations within the AAP area, including the weir at 
Thwaite Mills.  Such schemes will be supported subject to environmental impact 
assessments, and provision of integrated fish passes.   

Page 520



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

56 
 

Wind power 
3.7.12 Yorkshire Water have installed a large turbine at the Knostrop Waste Water Treatment 

Works which has a maximum generating capacity of 2.5MW which would be used to 
power some processes at the plant.  Within the industrial parts of the area there may 
also be potential for wind to provide energy for businesses.  Detailed policy criteria 
against which wind energy applications will be judged is set out in the NRWLP. 

Energy from Waste 
3.7.13 A number of energy from waste proposals have recently been granted planning 

permission in the area in accordance with the NRWLP which makes three strategic 
waste allocations and identifies other specific sites suitable for waste development.  
These proposals are summarised below. 

Veolia Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility (RERF), Newmarket Approach 
3.7.14 A RERF is being constructed by Veolia at the Newmarket Approach site at Cross 

Green, within the LCREZ.  The facility will process all of Leeds’ residual waste (black 
bin collections).  A mechanical pre-treatment process will extract and recycle at least 
10% of the waste.  The facility has capacity to process up to 214,000 tonnes of 
residual waste per annum and is due to begin operations in 2016.  The RERF can 
generate up to 12.3 MW of electricity to be exported to the National Grid and is 
designed to be capable of generating heat to supply a local heat network. 

Energy Recovery Facility (ERF) at Skelton Grange 
3.7.15 There is planning permission for an ERF at the former power station site at Skelton 

Grange on a NRWLP strategic waste allocation.  The proposed plant has the capacity 
to receive up to 300,000 tonnes per year of non-hazardous commercial and industrial 
(C&I) waste generated within the Leeds area.  The facility would generate 
approximately 26MWe of electrical power for export to the National Grid and be 
configured with a combined heat and power (CHP) plant with the capacity to deliver 
approximately 28 MWth of heat.  A commercial waste stream would need to be 
secured for construction of the plant to proceed.  It would then take at least three years 
to commission and construct the ERF. 

Anaerobic Digestion (AD) at Knostrop WWTW 
3.7.16 Yorkshire Water have planning permission for a waste management facility that would 

be capable of treating up to 48,000 tonnes per annum of organic waste to generate 
approximately 2.4MW of electricity within the operational land of the Knostrop WWTW.  
The AD facility provides conditions that encourage the natural breakdown of organic 
matter to produce biogas (to generate heat and electricity) and digestate.  The 
electricity and heat produced would be used by the treatment works and it is not 
expected there would be a surplus to supply other energy users.  

Other potential sites 
3.7.17 There are a number of additional sites allocated for waste activities in the area and 

others with good potential to generate both heat and power from a range of 
technologies including biomass and ground or water sourced heat pumps.   

 
 
  

Page 521



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

57 
 

Low Carbon Energy Distribution 
 

Potential Heat Distribution Networks (District Heating) In the Aire Valley 
3.7.20 Policy EN4 of the Core Strategy sets out the Council’s support for the construction of a 

heat distribution network in Leeds.  Heat Distribution Networks (district heating) 
distribute heat (as hot water or steam) to multiple users through a pipe network 
connected to a heat source. Map 21 of the Core Strategy identifies the locations with 
the greatest potential for the creation of heat networks which includes AVL and the city 
centre.  

3.7.21 Environmentally, the main advantages of heat networks from sustainable heat sources 
are the improvement in energy efficiency and reduction in carbon emissions. 
Connection to a heat network also potentially offers the following advantages and 
opportunities for developers of sites in AVL, these include: 

• A simpler way to comply with zero carbon building standards; 
• Reducing the need for expensive plant rooms, saving developers space and money; 
• Avoiding the cost of separate energy systems; 
• Providing cheaper, greener heat for tenants and building occupiers; and 
• Contributing to reputation and corporate social responsibility. 

3.7.22 Ramboll Energy and the Carbon Trust were commissioned by Leeds City Region to 
develop a decentralised energy masterplan for AVL and the city centre. This detailed 
technical assessment forms the evidence base which underpins the approach set out 
below. 

3.7.23 There is an attractive economic case for developing a heat network to serve the area. 
The planned development of a number of low carbon generation facilities within AVL 
presents an ideal opportunity for constructing a heat network.  Of these, the Veolia 
RERF represents the most immediate opportunity with the greatest level of certainty.  

3.7.24 The Council’s agreement with Veolia enables it to develop its own proposals for use of 
this heat.  The Energy Masterplan is based around the Veolia RERF as the primary 
supply asset with future phases based on construction of additional energy sources to 
supplement this energy source, including the ERF proposal at Skelton Grange.  

3.7.25 In addition, there are a number of existing and planned data centres within Leeds City 
Centre.  These represent an opportunity to recover low grade heat from operations 
which currently reject heat.  AQL own two data centres in the south of the city centre at 
the Salem Chapel building at Hunslet Road and at Apex Way with a potential heat 
capacity of over 2MW.  This provides potential for a further heat source to supply the 
South Bank area. 

3.7.26 There are also a number of existing gas fired CHP engines within the opportunity area, 
including a small heat network at the Yarn Street housing scheme in Hunslet, and 
existing operational schemes at Saxton Gardens (which is due for replacement) and at 
Morrisons in Hunslet.  These schemes are expected to have little if any residual heat 
available to export but represent future opportunities to connect into the heat network. 

  

Page 522



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

58 
 

Proposed Heat Distribution Network 
3.7.27 The study recommends that a strategic heat network serving the City Centre and AVL 

could be developed in phases under the ownership and control of a heat network 
company.  A heat network based on the RERF could achieve a significant saving in 
carbon emissions over a business as usual scenario.  

3.7.28 The heat network design is based around sizing to deliver a defined baseload capacity 
from the energy recovery facilities in the Aire Valley into the city centre. The proposed 
route takes into account major centres of heat load, supply assets locations, suitable 
sites for locating peaking plants, major linear infrastructure barriers and major 
transport routes.  It generally follows existing roads, utilising green corridors and 
existing cycle routes where it would reduce construction costs and minimise disruption.  
The proposed network, heat sources, back up plants, phasing and clusters where it 
would be feasible for existing buildings and new development to connect into the 
network are shown on Map 6. 

Phasing 
3.7.29 Phase 1 would involve construction of a network from the RERF into the city centre 

and to the St James hospital area.  The primary supply source would be the Veolia 
RERF.  Back up capacity would be established at the Veolia plant and at additional 
peaking plant elsewhere on the network.  The proposed network to the St James area 
would pass through the Cross Green, Richmond Hill and East Bank area close to 
major development proposals, including Copperfields and the East Street corridor 
sites, providing an opportunity to connect new development into the network.  

3.7.30 Phase 2 would involve an extension of the scheme to include the LCREZ sites and 
other major development sites in the east of AVL and the South Bank areas, with 
additional low carbon supply generation from one or more of a combination of sources 
including the ERF at Skelton Grange (or one of equivalent scale to that) and the South 
Bank data centres.  Additional back up/peaking plant capacity would need to be 
established at this time. The timescales of developing phase 2 would be contingent on 
the construction of new low carbon energy generation.  

3.7.31 Phase 3 would involve further expansion of the scheme to connect: 

• the large scale new housing development and primary school at Skelton Gate; 
• new commercial developments south of the River Aire in Stourton; and 
• additional new development in the South Bank area. 

3.7.32 Extension across the River Aire would only happen when new developments along the 
route come forward. 

Peaking and back up plants 
3.7.33 To support the network, in the event of planned and unplanned outages at the major 

heat sources and during other peak periods of demand, there will be a requirement to 
provide peaking plants and back up plants along the network. Map 6 also shows the 
potential location of these facilities. 

 
Technical safeguarding measures 

3.7.34 For the heat network to expand beyond the initial phase it will be important for new 
developments to connect.  Core Strategy Policy EN4 requires major development to 
connect to existing heat network, where technically viable and appropriate, or to 

Page 523



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

59 
 

 

demonstrate how they have been designed to allow connection to a future heat 
network.  

3.7.35 Map 6 shows how a network can be developed but the timescales for the construction 
of parts of the network may follow the development of major sites. In these 
circumstances it is important that future proofing measures are incorporated into the 
development, where feasible, to ensure that future connections can be made.  
Potential future proofing measures will be set out in a more detailed guidance note. 

3.7.36 The Council has an important role to support developers in order to facilitate the 
development of the proposed heat network.  This support will be initiated at the pre-
application stage where it will explain what measures will be required to meet Core 
Strategy Policy EN4 and Policy AVL17 below and what assistance the Council can 
give. 

 
POLICY AVL17: HEAT NETWORKS IN AIRE VALLEY LEEDS 
 
The Council will support the delivery of a phased heat network in AVL during the 
plan period forming part of a wider scheme linking to the city centre and other 
areas. 
The routes for the district heating pipe network and locations for other 
infrastructure to support the network are shown on Map 6 (but may be subject to 
future amendments or refinement to the routes and infrastructure based on 
further detailed technical feasibility work) and are safeguarded to ensure that 
development does not preclude the future delivery.  
The district heating network clusters shown on Map 6 will be used to inform the 
implementation of the hierarchy set out in Core Strategy Policy EN4 as this 
relates to the heating system requirements for major development. Where a 
development proposal is located within a district heating network cluster it will 
trigger the minimum requirement to design the site to allow connection to a 
district heating network set out under Policy EN4 (criterion iv). When the 
relevant phase or section of the network becomes operational, Policy EN4 
(criterion i) will be triggered, requiring connection to the network from new 
development proposals located in the district heating zone. Area Plans identify 
development sites which lie within district heating network cluster and where 
the requirements of this policy apply. 
Development proposals which lie outside heat network zones identified on Map 
6 will be expected to consider solutions for heat networks set out under Policy 
EN4 (criteria ii and iii). This may also apply to sites within the heat network 
zones should it be demonstrated that connection to an existing or planned heat 
network is not technically viable and/or appropriate for the development.  

Other developments which produce surplus heat will be encouraged to connect 
into existing or planned heat networks.  

All requirements set out in this policy are subject to the provisions of Policy 
EN4, including exceptions regarding technical viability and appropriateness and 
the scale of development to which the policy applies. 

 
  

Page 524



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

60 
 

Low Carbon Vehicle Fuel Infrastructure 
3.7.40 AVL has been identified as a promising area for provision of a gas vehicle refuelling 

station.  Gas vehicles have significant advantages in particular over diesel vehicles 
which are the main source of particulate air pollution in the city.  It is difficult for large 
diesel vehicles to run on electricity (although it can be done for short journeys – see 
below) so gas is a good alternative.  

3.7.41 The Council runs a small refuelling station to serve some of the refuse vehicle fleet, 
but it relies on bottled gas and needs to be expanded.  Locations in the area have 
been identified as suitable for a gas refuelling station taking advantage of the high 
pressure gas main that runs through the area.  There are also potential synergies with 
anaerobic digestion plants that could potentially inject some of their bio–gas into the 
gas main or could supply a gas refuelling station direct.  A large gas refuelling station 
in the area could supply the Council’s vehicle fleet as well as other public and private 
vehicle fleets. A station strategically located near the motorway could also contribute 
to a regional network of stations. 

3.7.42 The other low carbon technology is electric vehicles.  The proposed park & ride site 
has been identified as a potential location for solar PV (generated through panels 
located on canopies shading parked cars) which could be used to supply electricity to 
a fleet of electric buses and provide recharging for long stay parking and export 
excess electricity to the grid and/or energy storage. 

Energy storage 
3.7.43 Some low carbon energy sources (including solar and wind) produce intermittent 

power which is not always aligned with peak periods of demand.  Energy storage is 
one option to provide reliable energy supplies whereby individual energy storage 
projects augment a grid network by capturing excess electrical energy during periods 
of low demand, storing it in other forms until needed using, for example, batteries, fly-
wheels or compressed air or to produce alternative fuel sources such as hydrogen.  

3.7.44 Energy storage is an emerging and rapidly developing technology field and its 
implications in terms of planning for future infrastructure is uncertain.  Nevertheless, 
given the potential for low carbon energy generation in AVL and the nature of sites and 
locations available within industrial areas such as Cross Green and Stourton, 
particularly sites which are otherwise difficult to develop for employment or other uses, 
therefore the area may offer a suitable location for such infrastructure. Future energy 
storage proposals would be subject to the other planning considerations such as visual 
amenity and impact on adjoining uses and the landscape setting. 

  

Page 525

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Electrical_grid


Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

61 
 

SECTION 4: AREA PLANS & PLACEMAKING 

4.1 INTRODUCTION 
4.1.1 In the delivery of the spatial strategy and plan-wide policies, five area plans have been 

identified (see Map 6A for area plan boundaries), concerning the following areas: 

• South Bank,  
• East Bank, Richmond Hill & Cross Green 
• Hunslet 
• Central Aire Valley (including LCREZ, Cross Green Industrial Estate & Stourton) 
• Skelton Gate. 

4.1.2 Each of these areas has its own unique characteristics and individual opportunities 
and challenges.  The area plans present proposals for each of these individual areas, 
which respond to the identified issues and future potential at a local level but reflect 
the aspirations for the AVLAAP as a whole.  In doing so the plans make land use 
allocations, including for housing, mixed use development, offices, general 
employment, retail and transport uses which to be are to be identified on the Policies 
Map and set out site-specific development requirements. 

4.1.3 An important aspect of these individual proposals is to ensure that they collectively 
contribute to supporting, enhancing and where necessary, developing the local identity 
for individual areas and their communities. 

 

  

Page 526



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

62 
 

 

4.2 LEEDS SOUTH BANK AREA PLAN 
 

4.2.1 Leeds South Bank is one of Europe’s most exciting sustainable growth locations, 
whose regeneration will transform Leeds City Centre over the next two decades. 

4.2.2 Leeds South Bank covers all the land to the south of the River Aire in the city centre, 
including Holbeck Urban Village. This plan area covers the South Bank Central (based 
around the former Tetleys brewery site) and Leeds Dock and the surrounding area to 
the north of Hunslet Lane. Other areas of Leeds South Bank lie outside the AAP 
boundary. 

4.2.3 The plan shows how the spatial strategy and plan wide policies will be applied in this 
area, whilst retaining a flexible approach required to facilitate the regeneration of a 
major growth point of the city to effectively allow the area to respond to emerging 
trends and demands including the proposed HS2 station. 

SPATIAL VISION 
A transformed South Bank will be a fully integrated destination within Leeds City 
Centre; home to a new City Park, a regional business centre, an education hub, 
linked to a national transport interchange and supported by sustainable mixed 
use development. 

The catalysts for regeneration are the construction of a HS2 rail station and 
delivery of a nationally recognised City Park which will be integrated into the 
wider redevelopment of South Bank.  The area will be supported by other 
improvements to the city’s transport infrastructure, including the NGT 
trolleybus, and green pedestrian and cycle routes, will link the area to the 
traditional core of the city centre, waterfront, station, Holbeck Urban Village and 
surrounding communities.  This will provide opportunities to stimulate growth 
across business sectors and place South Bank at the heart of the city region’s 
economic growth. 

A focus on placemaking will create an attractive, welcoming and safe 
environment, offering a choice of living accommodation, work and leisure 
opportunities and a vibrant waterfront achieved through redevelopment of 
brownfield sites, the reuse and adaption of its legacy of historic buildings and 
reinvention of existing areas such as Leeds Dock. 

 
OBJECTIVES 

 
1. Deliver one of Europe’s largest regeneration projects through visionary and 

distinctive placemaking and exemplary standards in sustainability. 
2. Subject to the decision on final location of the HS2 station, deliver a world class 

gateway and transport interchange for HS2 services and other modes of transport. 
3. Create a new sustainable business and residential district of city region and 

national significance and support the growth of a diverse range of business 
sectors.  A place which is home to people of all ages, including families, and a 
place which is a commercial, cultural and educational uses in the centre of the city. 

Page 527



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

63 
 

4. Create a major new City Park in the heart of the area, to be designed and 
delivered on a phased basis alongside new development supported by a wider 
network of tree-lined green routes and spaces. 

5. Identify sites and opportunities to deliver at least 1,500 new homes including more 
housing which is suitable and attractive for families supported by appropriate 
services and facilities. 

6. Identify sites and opportunities to bring forward new office/business uses, 
including potential for Grade A commercial floorspace and flexible workspaces to 
meet the wider needs of the city. 

7. Capitalise on the area’s existing and proposed data centres and superfast 
broadband proposals and support the area’s role as a rapidly growing hub for the 
city’s creative, digital and tech industries; creating new jobs and growing the city 
region economy. 

8. Create and enhance pedestrian / cycle routes within the area to provide better 
connectivity with the traditional core of the city centre, to key destinations within 
the area such as the new City Park and Leeds Dock, to the waterfront, to Holbeck 
Urban Village and to surrounding communities in east and south Leeds. 

9. Support the continued transformation of Leeds Dock into a vibrant and self-
sustaining cultural, leisure and business destination, events space and local 
convenience centre. 

10. Make better use of the waterfront as a leisure and recreation destination linked to 
other visitor attractions located along the River Aire corridor. 

11. Encourage the conservation and reuse of the area’s heritage assets to create an 
attractive distinctive gateway to the AVL area from the city centre 

 
THE LOCAL AREA 
PLACE 

4.2.4 This area covers the central and eastern part of Leeds South Bank.  The plan area is 
bounded by Neville Street and Victoria Road to the west, the River Aire to the north, 
the Inner Ring Road / South Accommodation Road in the east and Hunslet Lane / 
Hunslet Road in the south. 

4.2.5 Most of the area lies within the Core Strategy defined boundary of Leeds City Centre, 
but the character of the area contrasts with the established city centre core north of the 
river, reflecting the area’s industrial history and heritage. 

4.2.6 The main gateway to the area from the traditional city centre core to the north is via 
Leeds Bridge which links to Briggate.  The area includes a number of buildings of 
historical and architectural interest including the Grade II * listed Salem Church (which 
has been converted into a data centre occupied by AQL), a number of listed public 
houses and the listed Leeds Bridge structure itself.  

4.2.7 Further west, the waterfront area is home to the Asda’s UK HQ on Meadow Lane.  To 
the east, the area comprises a mix of residential and commercial uses, including 
relatively recent developments / conversions at Dock Street, Brewery Wharf and 
Leeds Dock and student accommodation at Liberty Wharf on Clarence Road. 

Page 528



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

64 
 

4.2.8 To the south of Bowman Lane the character of the area becomes more industrial and 
commercial in nature, characterised by car dominated, large impermeable blocks with 
bland inactive frontages.  This area was home to the Tetley’s Brewery dating from 
1822 which dominated this part of the area.  Since the brewery’s closure, most 
buildings have been demolished, but the Tetley building has been retained and has 
opened as a new centre for contemporary art and learning.  The former Yorkshire 
Chemicals site lies immediately to the south east of the Tetley site.  The industrial 
buildings have been demolished and a new campus for Leeds College of Building has 
been built on part of the site west of Black Bull Street.  The New Lane area lies to the 
west of the Tetley site west of Meadow Lane.  The site includes a range of office and 
industrial buildings effectively within an island surrounded by major roads, including 
Great Wilson Street, Victoria Road and Meadow Lane. 

4.2.9 The area to the south east of Leeds Dock remains industrial in character and is 
dominated by a glass manufacturing plant at South Accommodation Road and the 
Braime Pressings factory at Hunslet Road.  The Leeds City Museum Centre is located 
within this area off Clarence Road and there are some vacant and derelict sites along 
Carlisle Road, Sayner Lane and Clarence Road, including a waterfront site formerly 
occupied by the Hydro works. 

4.2.10 Leeds City Station is a short walk from the South Bank.  Pedestrian connections will 
be further improved by the opening of the Leeds Station Southern Entrance at Little 
Neville Street.  This provides direct pedestrian access to the South Bank for rail users.  
Holbeck Urban Village and Bridgewater Place lie to the west of the area within the 
wider Leeds South Bank regeneration area.  The Apex office park and Crown Point 
Retail Park lie to the south of Hunslet Lane within the city centre. Crown Point is a 
significant retail destination with large format stores but is poorly connected to the 
main shopping area north of the river by pedestrian routes which are indirect, poorly 
signed and severed by wide, busy roads.  This discourages linked trips between the 
two destinations. 

4.2.11 Further along Hunslet Lane / Hunslet Road, Leeds City College have opened the 
Printworks campus at the former Alf Cookes building, this forms part of the emerging 
education hub in the South Bank. 

4.2.12 The East Bank area (see Section 4.3) lies on the opposite river bank.  Crown Point 
Bridge and a footbridge close to Leeds Dock provide connections over the river, but 
there are no crossing points further downstream until the large vehicular bridge 
crossing at South Accommodation Road.  The Hunslet Riverside area and Hunslet 
Town Centre lie to the south east of the area.  Holbeck and Beeston sit further south, 
outside the AAP area.  These areas have poor pedestrian and cycling connections to 
the city centre due to the barriers created by the M621 and railway. 

 
PEOPLE 

4.2.13 The area is home to a substantial residential community of 3,700 people (2012 
estimate).  The vast majority of residents live within the waterfront developments at 
Dock Street, Brewery Wharf and Leeds Dock, as well as in student accommodation at 
Liberty Dock. 

4.2.14 Most of the residential accommodation in this area consists of one or two bedroom 
flats, with few units suitable for family use.  Consequently, the area attracts a younger 
working age population who prefer city living and has a far lower proportion of children 

Page 529



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

65 
 

and older people than the city average.  Other noted characteristics of the population 
in the South Bank compared to the average in Leeds include: 

• A greater proportion of residents living in the private rented sector and a lower 
number of owner occupiers 

• Higher levels of economic activity and lower unemployment 

• Lower levels of car ownership as a result of limited private car parking offered in 
new development and high levels of accessibility to public transport, jobs, shopping 
and leisure opportunities in the city centre. 

• Better health and education attainment. 

 
AREA SPECIFIC POLICIES AND PROPOSALS 

4.2.15 Proposals, planning policies and principles set out in this section aim to help deliver 
the creation of a distinctive, well connected, sustainable business and residential 
community in the South Bank. 

4.2.16 Most of the South Bank area lies within the city centre boundary defined in the Core 
Strategy, and within this area the strategic planning context is set out in Core Strategy 
Spatial Policy 3 which establishes the role of the city centre as a key economic driver, 
including the proposals to create a new City Park in the South Bank.  In areas outside 
the city centre, the general approach set out under Core Strategy Policy SP5 will 
apply. 

4.2.17 The Core Strategy includes area-specific policies for the city centre.  Policy CC1 sets 
out development requirements for the city centre, including specific targets for the 
delivery of office floorspace and new homes and the approach to location of major 
comparison retail development.  Policy CC2 sets out the priorities for development in 
the south of the city centre, including the overall aims of better integrating and 
connecting the northern and southern halves of the area, and delivery of large scale 
office development, a new City Park, residential, cultural and leisure uses, and strong 
pedestrian corridors to connecting to Crown Point Retail Park and Leeds Dock.  Policy 
CC3 sets out proposals to improve local connections, which is a key issue in the South 
Bank, including connections to Holbeck, Beeston and other parts of the AAP area 
including Richmond Hill, Cross Green and Hunslet.  Core Strategy Map 11, City 
Centre Transport Strategy, illustrates the emerging proposals to reconfigure the 
highway network and reduce the dominance of traffic in the South Bank area. 

4.2.18 Regeneration of this area is a long-term project and proposals will come forward which 
are unforeseen at the time the plan is prepared, for example the location of the 
proposed HS2 station and emerging Yorkshire Hub concept (see Section 3.5).  The 
ultimate integration of HS2/Yorkshire Hub and its infrastructure into the South Bank will 
require flexibility in the planning approach for the South Bank, especially at its 
immediate hinterland. Within this context the Council is preparing a masterplan, known 
as the ‘South Bank Masterplan’, to provide concepts and the delivery mechanism to 
guide the growth of the wider South Bank area (including Holbeck Urban Village) 

4.2.19 Area specific policies and proposals are identified on the accompanying area map 
(Map 7). 

 

Page 530



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

66 
 

 

Transport & connections 

4.2.20 There is potential for the new The HS2 station/ Yorkshire Hub location  
proposals to provide an exciting new focus for plans for the South Bank area, with 
potential for this to forming one of the largest regeneration projects in Europe.  The 
location of the HS2 station and its route and the Yorkshire Hub remain subject to a 
decision by Government, assessment before clarity can be given on with the emerging 
South Bank Masterplan establishing the principles for how they will be integrated into 
the area in a way that meets the city’s ambitions for placemaking and growth.  In 
conjunction with the NGT trolleybus scheme, these major transport infrastructure 
investments will transform accessibility with two NGT stops proposed in the South 
Bank area. 

4.2.21 The Leeds Station Southern Entrance at Little Neville Street will significantly improve 
the ease of pedestrian access between the station and the South Bank area, helping 
to support the sustainable growth of the area, as an employment and leisure 
destination. 

4.2.22 Part of the area is dominated by major roads such as Great Wilson Street, Hunslet 
Lane, Black Bull Street and Crown Point Road which create severance resulting in a 
poor environment for pedestrians and cyclists.  The completion of the Inner Ring Road 
link to the M621 offers an opportunity to better manage the network by reducing 
through traffic and creating improved conditions and environment for pedestrians and 
cyclists. 

 
POLICY SB1: PEDESTRIAN AND CYCLE CONNECTIVITY IN 
THE SOUTH BANK 
The following measures are proposed to improve pedestrian and cycle 
connections within the area, to the traditional core of the city centre, the 
waterfront, Holbeck Urban Village, and surrounding communities and to reduce 
the physical and visual impact of vehicular traffic infrastructure.  Where 
appropriate and directly related to the development, proposals on identified 
sites, allocations and other sites will be required to provide or contribute 
towards provision of these improvements: 
1. Provision of new pedestrian/cycle crossings and other measures to narrow 

the roads at Meadow Lane, Crown Point Road and Black Bull Street, where 
appropriate; 

2. Reconfiguration of Great Wilson Street / Meadow Lane / Victoria Road / 
Hunslet Lane to enable better north-south and east-west connectivity, reduce 
severance and improve crossings, potentially in conjunction with planning 
and delivery of the HS2 project and subject to further consultation and 
feasibility work; 

3. Provision of a pedestrian/cycle river bridge at Water Lane linking new green 
space at Sovereign Square to the South Bank; 

4. Provision of a pedestrian/cycle river bridge and route to link the Low Fold site 
(AV38), Leeds Dock and the South Bank Central area;  

Page 531



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

67 
 

 

5. Provision of a north-south shared pedestrian / cycle link between Leeds 
Bridge and the education hub sites utilising the alignment of the former 
Hunslet Road and linking with the proposed City Park; 

6. Provision of other north-south and east-west green pedestrian / cycle links 
through development sites, as shown indicatively on the area map, to 
improve the permeability of the area and to connect with key destinations and 
adjoining communities. 

 

New City Park and green infrastructure 
4.2.23 Delivery of high quality green space and other green infrastructure is fundamental to 

the aspirations for a regenerated South Bank area.  Future proposals are led by an 
ambition to create a high quality new park for the city that redefines the southern 
gateway to the city centre and creates a focal point for new development. 

4.2.24 The provision of green infrastructure will enhance the city centre’s commercial offer, its 
credentials as a liveable place, and support local employment, health and well-being 
and community development and add to the critical mass of the city centre’s 
attractions as a destination in its own right.  Economic benefits include potential for 
increased inward investment and boosted land values. 

4.2.25 Within an urban setting, it also offers a number of environmental benefits and will help 
improve the environmental resilience of development against the predicted impacts of 
climate change.  Benefits include mitigation against ‘urban heat islands’, opportunities 
for biodiversity, and reduced flood risk. 

New City Park 
4.2.26 The Council and key stakeholders in Leeds South Bank have agreed to the creation of 

a new City Park as an integral part of the expansion of the city centre.  It is anticipated 
that the park will be designed in a number of separate phases to create a park of 
approximately 3.5 hectares located within the South Bank Planning Statement Area 
(AV94). 

4.2.27 The City Park will be realised by working with others to coordinate the inclusion of land 
from adjoining sites as they are developed over time, utilising the Council’s own land 
resources, and through the acquisition of third party land.  Core Strategy Policy G5 
requires larger development sites (over 0.5 ha) to contribute at least 20% of its site 
area as open space.  

4.2.28 The extent and specific location of the proposed City Park dictate that delivery will be 
dependent on development phasing and take-up of sites.  This would allow an 
expansion of green space in the vicinity of Bridge End, Meadow Lane and land at the 
former Tetley’s Brewery site (based on the contribution of 20% of the site area).  
Additional provision on the Embankment, and potential for an open space at the end of 
the proposed new bridge crossing to Sovereign Square could also be delivered as 
opportunities arise in the future. 

4.2.29 To enhance the accessibility of the City Park, a key principle of its delivery will be 
provision of linked spaces connecting to adjoining areas (such as Holbeck, Beeston 
Hill, Richmond Hill and city centre core) utilising tree-lined routes and enhanced road 
crossings. 

 

Page 532



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

68 
 

  

Page 533



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

69 
 

 POLICY SB2: NEW CITY PARK 
A new City Park of approximately 3.5 hectares is proposed in the South Bank 
Planning Statement Area (AV94), to be delivered in phases.  The design and 
delivery of the City Park should accord with the following principles: 
1. Create an accessible, safe, secure and child friendly space with improved 

connectivity within the city centre and with adjoining areas for pedestrians 
and cyclists; 

2. Provide a high quality environment which balances the passive and active 
recreational needs of visitors, office workers and residents; 

3. Form a park landscape with large canopy trees and extensive grassed area; 
4. Potentially include a civic event space with positive interfaces with 

surrounding ground floor building uses; 
5. Create opportunities for public art and cultural attractions; 
6. Create opportunities for biodiversity enhancement; 
7. Connect with the wider green infrastructure network; 
8. Be designed in accordance with sustainability, climate change and flood 

alleviation considerations, such as incorporation of surface run-off mitigation 
measures. 

9. Create opportunities to improve the setting of the Listed Buildings and locally 
significant undesignated heritage assets in the area; 

 
 

Other green routes and spaces 
4.2.30 To supplement the new City Park proposal, a network of new and improved green 

routes and spaces is identified on the area map.  The network incorporates the 
planting of street trees and other landscaping to define key pedestrian/cycle routes 
and the provision of new linear green spaces and open space within development 
sites (based on the green space requirements set out in Core Strategy Policy G5). Any 
contribution of land towards the creation of the City Park will be taken into account 
when calculating the green space requirement of a development under Core Strategy 
Policy G5. 

 
4.2.31 The proposed network will contribute to improving north-south and east-west 

connectivity between the north and south banks of the river, with for example a green 
corridor connection to Sovereign Square and the north bank of the river; to the 
waterfront; the new City Park; to Holbeck Urban Village and to surrounding 
communities.  By creating this attractive network of routes, the aim is to encourage 
people to walk and cycle more and to secure the environmental improvements 
associated with high quality green infrastructure. 

 

 

 

Page 534



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

70 
 

 POLICY SB3: NEW AND ENHANCED GREEN ROUTES AND 
SPACES IN THE SOUTH BANK 
In conjunction with proposals for pedestrian / cycle route improvements set out 
in Policy SB1 and the new City Park (Policy SB2), the network of new and 
improved green routes and spaces shown on the area map is proposed to be 
delivered on a phased basis alongside development proposals. 
This will include the planting of new street trees along pedestrian and cycle 
routes and major road frontages and the creation of linear green space and 
other open space where appropriate. 
Where appropriate and directly related to the development, proposals on 
identified sites, allocations and other sites will be required to provide or 
contribute towards provision of the above improvements. 
 

Heritage 

4.2.32 Significant parts of the area still retain the original historic grain; contributing towards a 
rich quality of place.  Placemaking in these locations should seek to retain, preserve 
and reclaim valued historic street patterns where possible, whilst acknowledging the 
area’s potential to deliver large floorplate, commercial developmentAV11s. 

4.2.33 There are a number of listed buildings within the area, notably Salem Chapel and 
Chadwick Lodge (within the SBPSA) and the Braime Pressings building on Hunslet 
Road.  There are also a number of non-designated heritage assets (including the 
Tetley building) of positive character in the area.  These are identified on the area map. 

4.2.34 New development should enhance the setting of these distinct buildings. High quality 
paving materials should be used in the vicinity of listed and non-designated heritage 
assets. 

Low carbon energy 
4.2.35 The South Bank area is identified as a potential location within a heat network on Map 

6 under Phase 2 of the proposed network.  This is based on a potential connection to 
the RERF in Cross Green and further potential to recover low grade heat from data 
centres located in the area (see Section 3.7). 

4.2.36 Given the scale and mix of development proposed in the South Bank, the area will 
provide a concentration of heat load and potential for new development to be 
connected into a future network on a phased basis.  This is reflected in site 
requirements where appropriate in accordance with Core Strategy Policy EN4 and 
Policy AVL15 of this plan. 

  

Page 535



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

71 
 

USES & DEVELOPMENT 
 

Economy & jobs 
 
4.2.37 The South Bank regeneration will not only help anchor the economic and jobs growth 

of the city, but will be a driving force in delivering economic and employment growth 
across the city region.  The proximity to the proposed HS2 terminus and Leeds 
Station, aligned with the quantum of development land, means that the area is likely to 
be able to attract and accommodate a wide range of economic sectors through 
sensitive development. 

4.2.38 The South Bank area was a key part of the city’s industrial economy and there 
remains some industrial activity within the area.  The AQL data centre at Salem 
Chapel, has had a transformational impact on the area’s and city’s digital 
infrastructure.  This infrastructure means that the area is likely to generate more 
interest from technology, creative and digital businesses, as well as the financial and 
professional sectors which can also benefit from this infrastructure.  Current proposals 
for Leeds Dock and emerging businesses opportunities, will offer the potential to 
further enhance these innovative sectors and agglomeration benefits. 

4.2.39 Overall, it is estimated that the area can support the delivery of at least 10,000 new 
jobs.  This includes a contribution from sites identified under Policy AVL1, including two 
schemes to convert existing vacant floorspace at Leeds Dock to office uses (Sites 
AV10 & AV11 on the area map), and through promotion of mixed use development for 
a range of town centre uses on development sites across the area. 

New homes 
4.2.40 Most existing properties in the South Bank are 1 and 2 bedroom units, and a mix of 

owner occupier and build to let units.  There is limited housing stock on offer that is 
suitable for families and there is potential for the development of a greater proportion 
of 3, 4 and 5 bedroom properties to further diversify the community and create a truly 
sustainable location.  The waterfront offers a particular opportunity for high quality and 
distinctive residential units. 

4.2.41 There are limited community facilities for the residential population, although residents 
are in close proximity to the facilities of adjoining areas and the city centre.  There is 
similarly a lack of soft landscaping and green infrastructure to support the population. 

4.2.42 As demand for family city living and larger residential units grows, future developments 
can help to provide the social infrastructure required to sustain the expanding local 
population.  For example, the potential need for primary school provision as family 
housing reaches a critical mass. 

Culture, leisure and visitor attractions 
 
4.2.43 South Bank is home to major culture, leisure and visitor attractions, including the Royal 

Armouries at Leeds Dock and the Tetley building.  The promotion of mixed use 
development has seen a concentration of restaurants, cafes and bars developing and 
the area is served by a hotel.  This is encouraging a night-time economy to develop, 
but full potential is stifled by the severance of the area and the quality of the adjoining 
urban realm.  

Page 536



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

72 
 

4.2.44 There remains scope for further visitor, leisure and cultural destinations across the 
South Bank that attracts visitors or other residents of Leeds.  The achievement of 
mixed use riverside activity is key to the regeneration and vitality of the city centre 
waterfront. 

‘Education Hub’ 
4.2.45 A new campus for Leeds City College opened at the site of the Grade II listed Alf 

Cooke Printworks in 2013 and the Leeds College of Building campus at Black Bull 
Street opened in 2015.  A free school (the Ruth Gorse Academy) is proposed on the 
eastern side of Black Bull Street, further contributing to an ‘education hub’ within the 
South Bank Central area as indicated on the area map.  The colleges will bring 
students to the area from Leeds and beyond. 

4.2.46 It is important to secure improved pedestrian and cycle access to the sites and links to 
public transport services including the Leeds Station Southern Entrance and the 
proposed NGT trolleybus system.  It is also expected that the secondary school will 
serve the family housing that the plan is encouraging to be developed in the area. 
 
Uses on development sites in the city centre 

 
4.2.47 As illustrated on the area map, most of the South Bank area lies within the defined city 

centre boundary.  Core Strategy Policy CC2 encourages development of a range of 
town centre uses (except for major retail) in the south of the city centre, including 
offices, leisure and cultural facilities.  Housing is also promoted alongside these uses 
and will make an important contribution towards delivering the city centre housing 
requirement set out in Spatial Policy 7.  The focus within the city centre is to promote 
mixed use development which includes housing and a wider mix of town centre uses 
across sites. The site capacities set out under Policy AV7 give an indication of the 
expected delivery of housing within individual sites. Within larger sites, which are to be 
developed on a phased basis, there will not be an expectation that housing is provided 
in every scheme or phase providing this does not prejudice delivery of housing 
requirements overall. 

  

Page 537



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

73 
 

  POLICY SB4: APPROPRIATE USES IN MIXED USE SITES  
 WITHIN THE SOUTH BANK (CITY CENTRE SITES)               
Subject to site-specific considerations and delivery of enhanced pedestrian 
connections and a city centre urban grain, the following uses are appropriate on 
sites within the parts of the South Bank area within the defined city centre 
boundary. 

1. Housing, with a broad mix of units, types and sizes (including family-sized 
units) to increase the diversity of the city centre housing offer. 

2. Employment uses complimentary to housing uses including Ooffices, 
research & development, light industry and creative industries 

3. Hotel/conference accommodation 

4. Educational uses 

5. Small-scale convenience retail 

6. Cafés, restaurants, bars, leisure and entertainment.  

7. Community uses, including uses such as small scale healthcare, childcare or 
other community facilities. 

8. Cultural uses, including galleries, museums or visitor centres. 
9. Other appropriate land uses, subject to consideration of relevant development 
plan policies 

 
SITE ALLOCATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS 

South Bank Planning Statement Area (SBPSA) 
4.2.48 The SBPSA lies at the western boundary of South Bank.  The area consists of four key 

sites: the former Tetley’s Brewery, New Lane, Bridge End and Asda House.  Together 
these sites provide one of the most significant growth and development opportunities 
in the city.  There are likely to be further opportunities associated with the location of 
the proposed HS2 route and station and site specific requirements arising from the 
planning of HS2.  Given some uncertainty over the availability, timing and future uses 
of parts of the area, the allocation made under Policy AVL7 has been applied over the 
entire SBPSA to guide future development whilst maintaining a greater degree of 
flexibility than for other sites in the plan. 

4.2.49 The main area of development is expected to be focused on the former Tetley’s 
Brewery site and adjoining land to the east of Crown Point Road.  This site is suitable 
for major phased development for a mix of uses, including housing and offices and will 
be expected to contribute areas of land toward the City Park as part of the requirement 
set out under Core Strategy Policy G5 and Policy SB3 of this plan.  Within the area, 
new pedestrian and cycle routes will be provided to link the site, including the City 
Park, into the wider network (existing and proposed) including Leeds Bridge and 
Sovereign Square to the north, Leeds Dock to the east and the education hub and 
Crown Point retail park to the south.  This will potentially require a new crossing points 
over main roads as part of the overall strategy to downgrade the dominance of roads 
in the area. 

 

Page 538



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

74 
 

 

4.2.50 The South Bank Planning Statement (adopted 2011) provides more detailed site-
specific informal planning guidance for this area to support the uses and site 
requirements set out below. 

 
Under Policy AVL7 and SB3, the South Bank Planning Statement Area (AV94) 
is allocated as a major regeneration opportunity providing a phased housing 
and mixed use development incorporating the following uses: 

• A new City Park of approximately 3.5 hectares to be delivered in phases in 
accordance with the principles set out in Policy SB3. 

• Office uses, particularly in the western part of the area. 
• Housing, particularly in the eastern part of the area. 
• National transport infrastructure (such as a high speed rail station). 
• Other uses set out under Policy SB1 SB4 to support the principle uses above 

and on ground floors to promote the creation of active frontages along road 
frontages, routes and public spaces. 

• Other major development of national, regional or city region significance 
which otherwise accords with Core Strategy strategic and city centre  
Policies. 
 
Site requirements 

• The site is suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 
accordance with Policy AVL7. 

• Provision of the relevant sections of the shared cycle / pedestrian routes 
shown indicatively on the area map to create links within the area to the 
proposed City Park and between the area and adjoining residential 
neighbourhoods to the east and south, Holbeck Urban Village, Leeds Station 
Southern Entrance, the northern core of the city centre, Leeds Dock, Crown 
Point retail park and the education hub. 

• Layout to promote the creation of active frontages along main roads, the City 
Park and other open spaces where possible. 

• Part of the site is within/adjacent to a Conservation Area. Development should 
have regard to the Conservation Area Appraisal and management plan. 

• The site includes listed buildings to be retained within the development and 
where consideration to the setting of the listed buildings is required  There 
are a number of Listed Buildings both within the site and on its periphery. Any 
development should preserve the special architectural interest or setting of 
these buildings. Proposals will also be expected to provide a sustainable 
future for those Listed Buildings which are currently vacant or at risk. Where 
possible, opportunities should be taken to improve the setting of these 
buildings. 

• The undesignated heritage assets within the site shown on the Area Map 
should be retained and where possible opportunities should be taken to 
improve the setting of these buildings.  

• The site is located within Phase 2 of the indicative heat network shown on 
Map 6. 

Page 539



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

75 
 

 

 

 • The site, or part of the site, is located within Flood Zone 3. Flood risk 
mitigation measures set out in the AVL flood risk exception test and the site-
specific flood risk assessment should be applied. 

 
Former Yorkshire Chemicals Site, Black Bull Street   

4.2.51 A 0.3 hectare area of vacant land remains available for future development on the 
former Yorkshire Chemicals site following the Leeds College of Building development 
on the land to the south of this site.  The site also adjoins other identified development 
land immediately to the north within the SBPSA.  A pedestrian/cycle route has been 
provided between the site and new college building which the site should link to. 

 
Under Policy AVL7, the Former Yorkshire Chemicals Site, Black Bull Street (AV7) 
is allocated for housing and mixed use development, to include a significant 
proportion of housing.  Other acceptable uses are set out in Policy SB1. 

 
Site requirements 

 
• The site is suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 

accordance with Policy AVL7. 
• The site should provide access to the pedestrian/cycle route to the south of 

the site shown on the area map. 
• The site, or part of the site, is located within Flood Zone 3. Flood risk 

mitigation measures set out in the AVL flood risk exception test and the site-
specific flood risk assessment should be applied. 

• The site is located within Phase 2 of the indicative heat network shown on 
Map 6. 

Evans Halshaw, Hunslet Road 
4.2.52 This 2.4 hectare site lies to the south of Black Bull Street and east of Hunslet Road 

and includes two parcels of land separated by Chadwick Street.  The site is occupied 
by a car dealership, but has potential to be redeveloped for housing and mixed uses 
over the plan period.  The site has prominent frontages onto the adjoining main road 
providing an opportunity to create more active frontages and for any future proposals 
for the site to be considered alongside any changes to the highway network as part of 
the planning and delivery of the city centre transport strategy.  The area map also 
shows potential for a pedestrian/cycle route and open space to be integrated within the 
development. 

 
Under Policy AVL7, the Evans Halshaw site at Hunslet Road (Site AV9) is 
allocated for housing and mixed use development, to include a significant 
proportion of housing.  Other acceptable uses are set out in Policy SB1. 

Site requirements 
• The site is suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 

accordance with Policy AVL7. 
• Provision of open space within the development in accordance with Core 

Strategy Policy G5 and shown indicatively on the area map. 

Page 540



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

76 
 

 

 • Provision of a shared cycle / pedestrian route through the site creating a link 
between Black Bull Street, Chadwick Street and Sayner Road as shown 
indicatively on the area map. 

• Layout to promote the creation of active frontages along road frontages 
including Black Bull Street, Hunslet Road, Chadwick Street and Sayner Road 
where possible. 

• The site is adjacent to a listed building where consideration to the setting of 
the listed building is required There are a number of Listed Buildings adjacent 
to this site. Any development should preserve the special architectural 
interest or setting of these buildings. 

• Consideration should be had to the setting of the undesignated heritage 
assets to the north and south of this site which are shown on the Area Map. 

• The site, or part of the site, is located within Flood Zone 3. Flood risk 
mitigation measures set out in the AVL flood risk exception test and the site-
specific flood risk assessment should be applied. 

• The site is located within Phase 2 of the indicative heat network shown on 
Map 6. 

 

Sites between Armouries Drive / Clarence Road / Carlisle Road / Chadwick Street 
South 

4.2.53 These sites lie immediately to the south of Leeds Dock and represent an important 
stepping stone to delivering mixed use development within the wider area to the south 
of Leeds Dock.  The sites are occupied by warehouse type buildings with some 
vacancies.  Redevelopment of the site provides an important opportunity to increase 
the permeability of this area by providing a pedestrian/cycle link through the site to 
Leeds Dock which could be linked to the creation of a open space within the site, to be 
delivered as part of Core Strategy Policy G5 requirements. 

 
Under Policy AVL7, Site AV12 (Armouries Drive / Carlisle Road) and Site AV13 
(Clarence Road /Carlisle Road) are allocated for housing and mixed use 
development, to include a significant proportion of housing. Other acceptable 
uses are set out in Policy SB1. 

Site requirements: 
• The sites are suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 

accordance with Policy AVL7. 
• Provision of open space within Site AV12 in accordance with Core Strategy 

Policy G5 and shown indicatively on the area map.  
• Provision of a pedestrian/cycle route as shown indicatively through the site 

creating a link between Armouries Drive and Carlisle Road. 
• The site, or part of the site, is located within Flood Zone 3. Flood risk 

mitigation measures set out in the AVL flood risk exception test and the site-
specific flood risk assessment should be applied. 

Page 541



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

77 
 

 

Clarence Road Development Sites 
4.2.54 The land to the south of Carlisle Road and the Liberty Dock student accommodation 

includes three former vacant and cleared industrial sites.  The development of housing 
on these sites is constrained by the proximity of the large glass manufacturing plant to 
the south of Sayner Lane which impacts on neighbouring sites in terms of noise, odour 
and air quality effectively limiting housing uses to the northern part of the site.  Whilst 
the glass plant remains, a physical buffer will be required to protect residential amenity 
from these operational impacts.  Offices or leisure uses could fulfil this buffer role.  
This will help protect the amenity of future residents as well as the continued operation 
of the plant. 

4.2.55 The former Hydro works site (AV14) lies on the waterfront adjacent to the Trans 
Pennine Trail. This provides an opportunity to provide pedestrian/cycle links into the 
trail and to the sites to the east of Clarence Road.  A pedestrian/cycle bridge is also 
proposed to provide a connection to the Low Fold site (AV33) with the opposite river 
bank.  These routes are indicated on the area map as part of wider proposals to link 
the area.  For sites AV15 and AV16, which share a common boundary, the Core 
Strategy Policy G4 green space requirements could be delivered as a larger space 
between the two sites. 

 
 

Under Policy AVL7, Sites AV14 (Hydro Works, Clarence Road), AV15 (Sayner 
Lane / Clarence Road) and AV16 (Sayner Lane / Carlisle Road) are allocated for 
housing and mixed use development, to include a significant proportion of 
housing.  Other acceptable uses within the development include: 
• Offices (class B1a) 
• Leisure uses (class D2) 

 
Site requirements 
• The sites are suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 

accordance with Policy AVL7. 
• Provision of green space within the development in accordance with Core 

Strategy Policy G4 as shown indicatively on the area map.  
• Provision of a shared cycle / pedestrian routes through the sites creating 

links between the Trans Pennine Trail and waterfront, Clarence Road, Carlisle 
Road and Leeds Dock as shown indicatively on the area map. 

• Provision of a suitable buffer between housing and other sensitive uses and 
the glass manufacturing plant located to the south of Sayner Lane. This 
development should comprise of other less sensitive uses, such as office or 
leisure development, to provide a physical buffer and visual screening to the 
plant.  Air quality, odour and noise reports will be required to assess the 
impact on the development.  Additional mitigation measures may require 
incorporation within the proposed development. 

• An Ecological Assessment of Site AV14 is required and where appropriate, 
mitigation measures will need to be provided including a buffer to the river 
bank reflecting the AVL Green Infrastructure Network shown on the area map.   

Page 542



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

78 
 

 

 
• The site, or part of the site, is located within Flood Zone 3. Flood risk 

mitigation measures set out in the AVL flood risk exception test and the site-
specific flood risk assessment should be applied. 

• The site is located within Phase 2 of the indicative heat network shown on 
Map 6. 

Braime Pressings, Hunslet Road (Site AV17) 
4.2.56 This site is currently occupied by an industrial use.  The building is Grade II listed and 

is an important Hunslet Road landmark. Other buildings on the site are recognised as 
locally significant undesignated heritage assets. The site is suitable for redevelopment 
and conversion to housing or mixed use development subject to other policies.  
Retention and enhancement of the listed parts of the building and its setting will be an 
important requirement of any future proposals. 

 
Under Policy AVL7, Braimes Pressings, Hunslet (Site AV17) is allocated for 
housing and mixed use development, to include a significant proportion of 
housing. 

Site requirements 
• The site is suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 

accordance with Policy AVL7. 
• The site includes a listed building to be retained within the development and 

where consideration to the setting of the listed building is required. Any 
development should preserve the special architectural interest or setting of 
this building. 

• The unlisted part of the buildings shown as undesignated heritage assets on 
the area map should be retained.  

• Provision of appropriate mitigation against air quality, odour and noise issues 
in respect to nearby industrial operations.  

• The site, or part of the site, is located within Flood Zone 3. Flood risk 
mitigation measures set out in the AVL flood risk exception test and the site-
specific flood risk assessment should be applied. 

Temporary uses 
4.2.57 Where the previous use of the land has ceased or is being reconfigured, and areas of 

land are left vacant and under-utilised as a result of demolition works, the Council will 
seek temporary ‘greening’, or the early laying out of the phases of the City Park where 
appropriate.  This will incorporate the pedestrian and cycling routes identified on the 
area map.  People will then become familiar with these routes, with temporary land 
uses taking place in future development areas where practical. 

4.2.58 A similar approach has been adopted on the Tetley’s site with the laying out of a 
temporary area of green space and use of the Tetley building as an art gallery.  A 
temporary short stay car park has also been granted permission.  This seeks to 
prevent the kind of visual blight experienced on vacant sites elsewhere around the city 
centre fringe, and helps to promote the South Bank as a place to visit now. 

  

Page 543



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

79 
 

 POLICY SB5: TEMPORARY USES IN THE SOUTH BANK 
The following temporary uses of vacant land in the South Bank area are 
encouraged: 
1. Temporary greening measures such as amenity areas of grass and planting, 

boundary planting, wild flower meadows, trees in containers to mark walking 
and cycling routes, and community allotments. 

2. Cultural uses including art workspace and installations (possibly making use 
of existing buildings), and temporary sport/recreation uses and public event 
spaces.   

Page 544



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

80 
 

 

4.3 EAST BANK, RICHMOND HILL & CROSS 
GREEN AREA PLAN  

 
INTRODUCTION 

4.3.1 This area plan covers the East Bank, Richmond Hill and Cross Green residential area 
in the north west of AVL.  The plan shows how the spatial strategy and plan wide 
policies will be applied in this area.  

 
SPATIAL VISION 
East Bank, Richmond Hill and Cross Green will be distinctive places which 
together provide a range of affordable homes close to the centre of Leeds. The 
area will become more liveable for people of all ages, with safer streets and 
green spaces, better public transport and more energy efficient homes. The area 
will offer opportunities which make it easier for people to lead healthy lifestyles, 
with better access to fresh food shopping, the ability to grow their own food 
locally, and participate in recreational activities.    

Connections to the city centre, South Bank and the LCREZ will be made far 
easier by improvements to public transport, walking and cycling to provide 
better access to jobs and leisure opportunities. Green spaces will have been 
enhanced and made safer and more accessible. The setting of the area’s 
heritage assets will be protected and enhanced through sensitive new 
development and the improvement of the public realm. 

The East Bank area will continue to be recognised as a place for innovative and 
high quality urban design. New development, focused on the brownfield 
regeneration opportunities at Marsh Lane and along East Street, will deliver 
high-quality buildings and spaces, providing a range of new homes and job 
opportunities and creating key gateways into the city centre.   

A range of family homes will be built at the former Copperfields site, alongside 
new green space, outdoor sports facilities, allotments and a food store. The new 
development will feel part of a revitalised Cross Green area with improvements 
to homes, streets and spaces. 

OBJECTIVES 
1. Improve the quality and of the local environment by making streets safer, greener 

and more child friendly and securing more direct walking and cycling routes 
between East Bank, Richmond Hill and Cross Green and the city centre, Leeds 
Dock, South Bank, LCREZ and wider Aire Valley. 

2. Secure better public transport services to connect the Richmond Hill and Cross 
Green areas with existing and new job opportunities in the city centre and the 
LCREZ. 

3. Enhance the gateway to the city centre along the East Street and Marsh Lane 
corridors.  

Page 545



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

81 
 

4. Deliver new housing, focused on key opportunities such as the Copperfields site, 
which provides high quality, energy efficient homes which meet local housing needs 
and integrate with existing communities.  

5. Maximise local benefits from low carbon energy proposals within AVL, through 
exploring opportunities to create local heat networks and through delivery of linked 
regeneration and retrofitting programmes to improve energy efficiency.   

6. Ensure that the Richmond Hill and Cross Green areas have a better range of local 
facilities to serve the area’s needs and to reduce the need to travel outside the area 
for basic facilities such as food stores.  

7. Improve the quality of the area’s existing green spaces and seek opportunities to 
create new high quality green spaces including areas for people to grow their own 
food locally. 

8. Conserve the area’s heritage assets and ensure that those that are vacant or at risk 
have a sustainable future. 

THE LOCAL AREA 
Place 

4.3.2 This Area Plan covers the East Bank area and the residential communities of 
Richmond Hill and Cross Green. The plan area is broadly bounded by the River Aire in 
the south west; Marsh Lane and Crown Point Road in the north west; York Road (A64) 
and the Leeds – York railway line in the north east and the A63 Pontefract Lane in the 
south east. 

4.3.3 The area is one of contrasts. The area close to the River Aire and along East Street 
has been redeveloped and refurbished to create new flats and commercial premises 
over the past 20 years, benefitting from the growth of the city centre, whilst the 
Richmond Hill and Cross Green communities further to the east suffer from deprivation 
including above average unemployment and poor housing conditions.  

4.3.4 Despite being very close to the city centre the area is perceived as being ‘cut-off’ with 
very limited public transport services, shops and community facilities meaning, for 
example, that most people have to leave the area to do their day to day shopping.   

East Bank 
4.3.5 This area lies on the edge of the city centre to the north and east of the River Aire.  

The Inner Ring Road IRR (East Street and Marsh Lane) is the main thoroughfare 
passing through the area making it an important gateway for people travelling into the 
city centre. The roads create a physical barrier for people walking through the area 
which led to the area being categorised as part of the ‘Rim of Disconnectivity’ between 
the city centre and inner areas of the city.  

4.3.6 The area has seen a significant amount of positive change in the last 15 to 20 years as 
the influence of the city centre has extended outwards.  The waterfront and East Street 
corridor has undergone redevelopment of former industrial use for multi–storey (mainly 
residential) development and restoration and the reuse of historic mill buildings to 
provide new homes and workplaces. Notable examples of this type of development 
include The Gateway, Trinity One, Rose Wharf, East Street Mills and the Echo 
buildings. 

Page 546



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

82 
 

4.3.7 Some vacant sites, empty buildings and older industrial and workshop uses remain 
along the East Street corridor providing opportunities for future development.  This 
includes the Low Fold site in a vacant area of land between the River Aire and the 
Inner Ring Road which is situated in a high profile position along the waterfront.  

4.3.8 In the northern part of the area, opposite Quarry Hill, there is an area of vacant and 
underused land between Marsh Lane, Shannon Street and the Leeds – York railway 
line which provide a major development opportunity, within the boundary of the city 
centre. 

4.3.9 East of East Street the land rises upward towards the Richmond Hill area.  This 
provides some interesting townscape features and views towards the area’s historic 
churches and buildings.  The Saxton Gardens housing scheme is located in this area 
consisting of seven medium-rise blocks of flats originally built in the 1950s.  Two of the 
blocks have been totally refurbished and re-clad to provide a mix of market and 
affordable units with a large amount of outside space with innovative features such as 
allotments, a wildflower meadow and an orchard. 

Richmond Hill 
4.3.10 Richmond Hill developed as both a residential and industrial area during the 19th 

century as the city expanded eastwards.  Today it is a mainly residential area with a 
mix of private and social housing and housing which ranges from Victorian terraces to 
modern family housing. There are also some industrial units and workshops in the 
area particularly along Easy Road. 

4.3.11 The area lacks a real heart and focal point.  The largest group of shops and 
community facilities is along Upper Accommodation Road but these do not properly 
function as a centre to serve the area.  There is currently no food store in the area 
which can meet weekly shopping needs, the nearest are at Hunslet and the city 
centre. Consequently access to fresh food is difficult for local residents and there is a 
lack of a community hub where people can meet. 

4.3.12 Even though many of the older parts of Richmond Hill have been cleared and 
redeveloped in the post-war period the area is still notable for its historic buildings, 
which due to their scale and the area’s topography can be seen over wide areas of 
central and south Leeds.  The St Saviours Church (Grade I listed) and former school 
building off Ellerby Road and Mount St Marys Church are particularly fine examples.  

4.3.13 Richmond Hill Primary school is located in the area. This school was recently been 
redeveloped and enlarged to three form entry in 2012. Mount St Marys is a catholic 
secondary school located next to the church on Ellerby Road. 

4.3.14 Richmond Hill is served by public transport but services are not frequent and do not 
offer direct routes to the city centre.  The nearest frequent services on York Road are 
a considerable walking distance from most of Richmond Hill. The Core Cycle Network 
(City Centre – Garforth route) passes through the northern end of Richmond Hill along 
Pontefract Lane. This provides links to the city centre and to the LCREZ and Temple 
Newsam to the east. 

4.3.15 The area’s green spaces include the Bow Street Recreation Ground and the outdoor 
sports pitches to the north of Ellerby Road.  Whilst providing for important local 
provision, these spaces do not meet the Core Strategy quality standards.  East Leeds 
Amateur Rugby League Club headquarters are located on Easy Road. The club’s pitch 

Page 547



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

83 
 

has been relocated as part of the redevelopment of Richmond Hill Primary School to 
the rear of Easy Road.  
 
Cross Green 

4.3.16 This area lies to the between a railway branch line, which separates it from Richmond 
Hill and the A63 which separates it from the Cross Green Industrial Estate.  The area 
is characterised by terraced housing dating from the late Victorian period and early 
20th century which includes back to back properties. Like Richmond Hill, Cross Green 
suffers a lack of access to local shopping and community facilities and to frequent 
public transport facilities.  

4.3.17 Cross Green Lane, the main road running through the area, now has substantially 
lower traffic levels following the opening of the A63.  St Hildas Church, a listed building 
and local landmark is located on Cross Green Lane. 

4.3.18 The former Copperfields College site is located to the south of Cross Green Lane. The 
school closed in 2004 and the site has been cleared and vacant since 2008. 
Copperfield is the largest potential development site in the area plan.  The former 
school site is flanked by two areas of green space, including an area of disused 
allotments.  East Leeds ARFLC has a pitch on this part of the site. 

4.3.19 To the north of Pontefract Lane, there is a cricket ground and the Red Road allotment 
site, one of the few food growing sites in the area. 

 
People 

4.3.20 The area covered by the East Bank, Richmond Hill and Cross Green Area Plan has an 
estimated population of 6,341 (2011 Census).  The three places are located in close 
proximity but have a very different characteristics and demographics which need to be 
taken into account in planning for the area. 

4.3.21 The East Bank community has grown up mainly in the last two decades as the result 
of the outward expansion of the city centre.  Most people live in flats; look towards to 
the city centre in terms of jobs and services and share similar demographic 
characteristics to other parts of the city centre.  The population is predominantly young 
adults, including students, with far fewer children and older people living in the area 
compared to the average in Leeds. 

4.3.22 Specific issues that are relevant to the preparation of the Area Plan are set out below:  

• Economic activity amongst people of working age (80%) is significantly higher than 
the Leeds average. 

• Only 2.6% of people classify themselves as having ‘bad’ or ‘very bad’ health about 
half the Leeds average. 

• Only 8% of residents over the age of 16 (8%) have no formal qualifications – a third 
of the Leeds average. 

• Car ownership levels are low with 56% of households not having access to a car. 
The Leeds average is 32%. 

• Nearly half of all residents walk or cycle to work, reflecting the proximity to the city 
centre. The Leeds average is 14% 

Page 548



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

84 
 

• 65% of households live in private rented accommodation and only 15% in owner-
occupied accommodation.  This is almost a reverse of the average in Leeds. 

4.3.23 In contrast, Richmond Hill and Cross Green are longstanding communities with a 
much wider range of house type including a large proportion of family and social 
housing but face issues of deprivation and social problems, as highlighted in the 
statistics below: 
• Economic activity amongst people of working age (69%) meets the Leeds average. 

• 9% of people classify themselves as having ‘bad’ or ‘very bad’ health. This is above 
the Leeds average. 

• High proportions (34%) of residents over the age of 16 have no formal qualifications 
– over the Leeds average. 

• Car ownership levels are low with 58% of households not having access to a car. 
The Leeds average is 32%. 

• Just over a quarter (27.5%) of all residents walk or cycle to work, reflecting the 
proximity of the area to job opportunities in the city centre. The Leeds average is 
14% 

• 30% of households live in private rented accommodation and only 24% in owner-
occupied accommodation.  

• Unemployment rates are higher in Richmond Hill and Cross Green than the city 
average, particularly in the St Hildas, Copperfields and Gartons area. 

• Parts of the Richmond Hill and Cross Green area are amongst the 1% most 
deprived areas in the country overall and large parts of the area also fall within the 
10% most deprived in the country for education, skills and training; health and 
deprivation; income and income deprivation affecting children and older people; and 
the living environment. It performs better than the national average in regard to 
geographical barriers to housing and services. 

AREA-SPECIFIC POLICIES AND PROPOSALS 
4.3.24 This section sets out policies and proposals which are specific to the East Bank, 

Richmond Hill and Cross Green areas.  These aim to deliver the vision and objectives 
for the area. Specific proposals and designations which apply in the area are shown 
on the accompanying area map (Map 8).  

New Housing opportunities 
4.3.25 Providing new housing in the area will help to meet the identified needs of the local 

area as well as contributing to the wider needs of the district.  New family and 
affordable housing are considered to be particularly important to meeting needs in the 
Richmond Hill and Cross Green areas. 

4.3.26 New development will make a positive contribution to the local area by bringing vacant 
and derelict land back into use, making streets feel safer and look more attractive and 
as a means of securing new connections and green space.  New housing will also help 
to support and in certain cases contribute to the provision of new services and 
facilities. 

Page 549



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

85 
 

4.3.27 There are a number of specific opportunities to provide new homes in the area.  This 
includes provision for 931 homes on identified sites set out in Table 4 of Section 3.3 
area8 and a further 1,229 homes allocated by Policy AVL7.  These sites shown on the 
area map have a total capacity of 2,160 dwellings. 

New employment opportunities 
4.3.28 The Richmond Hill and Cross Green areas suffer from long standing problems of high 

unemployment and worklessness.  The AAP addresses this issue in a number of ways 
by: 

• Identifying opportunities to create new jobs in the area through new development;  
• Improving connections by walking, cycling and public transport to major 

employment and growth areas, particularly the city centre and the LCREZ; 
• The use of planning obligations to securing local employment agreements relating 

to major development in terms of construction and end user jobs.  

4.3.29 In terms of new employment development, the Marsh Lane site (AV18) has significant 
potential to provide new employment, such as offices, alongside new housing and the 
retail opportunity identified at the Copperfields site would also create local jobs. 

Transport & connections 
4.3.30 Some of the city’s major roads cross the area including the Inner Ring Road (IRR), 

A63 (Pontefract Lane) and the A64 (York Road). Whilst these roads make the area 
accessible by car and have opened up new development opportunities along East 
Street, they also create a physical barrier to cross, particularly for children, older 
people and mobility impaired people.   

4.3.31 Construction of the IRR and A63 has taken through traffic off local roads giving rise to 
potential opportunities to ‘downgrade’ the role of local highways, making them feel 
safer and more pedestrian and cycle friendly, and to improve the quality of the 
environment whilst retaining local access and parking for vehicles.  This could include 
measures such as street tree planting and reducing the width of carriageways and 
increasing the width of pavements. 

4.3.32 Links between this area and the South Bank area are also relatively poor but the Low 
Fold development site (AV33) provides an opportunity to create a new 
pedestrian/cycle bridge facilitated by new development. 

4.3.33 The area has good links into the Leeds Core Cycle Network via the city centre to 
Garforth route. The City Connect Cycle Superhighway will also pass along the edge of 
the area on York Road and Marsh Lane. Improving local links to these strategic cycle 
routes will be important where opportunities arise. 

4.3.34 For an inner city community the area is not particularly well served by public transport - 
only York Road and Marsh Lane carry frequent services.  Opportunities will be sought 
to improve bus services through the area and links to the city centre and the LCREZ. 

4.3.35 Policy EB1 below sets out the priorities for improving transport connections, within the 
Area Plan. 

 
  

                                            
8 This figure includes dwellings completed since 2012. 

Page 550



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

86 
 

 POLICY EB1 – TRANSPORT IMPROVEMENTS IN EAST 
BANK, RICHMOND HILL AND CROSS GREEN 

The following improvements to the transport network in the East Bank, 
Richmond Hill and Cross Green areas are shown on the area map. Where 
appropriate and directly related to the development, proposals on identified 
sites, allocations and other sites will be required to provide or contribute 
towards provision of these improvements: 
1. City-Connect Cycle Superhighway (along York Road & Marsh Lane); 
2. New and improved pedestrian/cycle routes within the area in order to create 

better access to local facilities and services and to the core cycle network;  
3. Improved crossings across East Street to improve connections between the 

area and the city centre, Leeds Dock and the South Bank;  
4. A new shared pedestrian/cycle bridge between the Low Fold site (AV33) and 

the South Bank to improve access between this area and Leeds Dock, the 
South Bank area and the new City Park;    

5. Potential for a new shared pedestrian/cycle link between the Copperfields site 
and Hunslet Riverside;  

6. Potential to improve bus services through Richmond Hill and Cross Green.  
 

Shopping, education and community facilities in Richmond Hill and 
Cross Green 

4.3.36 The Richmond Hill and Cross Green areas lack a defined centre – a meeting place 
that local people consider as the heart of the community. The most significant 
grouping of local shops and facilities is along Upper Accommodation Road.  The 
Council would be supportive of new shops and local community facilities being 
provided in this the Upper Accommodation area but it is unlikely that this could provide 
the scale of new facilities the area needs, such as a new food store, due to a lack of 
suitable development sites opportunities nearby.  Other options to provide the much 
needed new facilities in the area have been considered are set out below. 

Shopping 
4.3.37 There is no food store in the Richmond Hill and Cross Green area to serve the weekly 

shopping needs of local people.  This is a longstanding deficiency which was identified 
in the Leeds Unitary Development Plan and has been carried forward as part of a 
proposal for a new town centre in the Richmond Hill area under Policy P5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

4.3.38 There is considered to be further potential for a food store (limited to a maximum gross 
floorspace of 2,000 sq. m.) to serve the Cross Green area and southern parts of 
Richmond Hill and East End Park.  The Copperfields site provides a suitable site to 
accommodate a store within a wider scheme for housing and a new primary school.  

4.3.39 There is also an existing planning permission on the former Bridge Hotel site, Cross 
Green Lane for four small retail units.  This has potential to help meet the day to day 
top up shopping needs of residents in the Cross Green area and to integrate with the 
food store proposal on the Copperfields site to provide a larger grouping of facilities.  

Page 551



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

87 
 

 

Education 
4.3.40 Based on the existing population profile and the scale of housing proposed in the plan 

there is a requirement for a new two-form entry primary school in the area during the 
plan period.  The Copperfields site is identified as the location for this new school to be 
developed in conjunction with new housing development. 

Other community facilities 
4.3.41 The largest grouping of existing local community facilities is along Upper 

Accommodation Road in the heart of Richmond Hill. The role this area serves is 
recognised by the ‘Local Community Facilities’ designation shown on the area map 
and this area represents a suitable location for new smaller-scale community facilities.  

Green infrastructure 
4.3.42 The East Bank, Richmond Hill and Cross Green area includes a number of existing 

green spaces. It also provides significant opportunities to extend and fill in gaps to 
improve local provision and improve the connectivity of green corridors (shown on the 
AVL green infrastructure network and area map).  

4.3.43 The quality of all the existing green spaces in the area falls below the Core Strategy 
minimum quality standard. This highlights the need for regeneration programmes and 
where appropriate, new development to contribute towards improvements.  

4.3.44 The plan proposes the redevelopment of the Copperfields College playing fields for a 
housing led development which would involve a net loss of green space in the area. In 
compensation an alternative site has been identified off Halton Moor Road to provide 
replacement pitches with changing facilities that are not available at Copperfields. The 
existing pitch used by East Leeds ARLFC (shown on green space on the Policies 
Map) would be retained at the site and the Council would seek opportunities to 
improve facilities at the site such as off–street car parking in conjunction with the wider 
development proposal. The site can also provide a new area of green space within the 
wider development to serve the new development and existing community.  

4.3.45 The opportunities for green space and green infrastructure improvement, are set out 
below. 

POLICY EB2  – GREEN SPACE AND GREEN 
INFRASTRUCTURE IN EAST BANK, RICHMOND HILL AND 
CROSS GREEN 
The green spaces and wider green infrastructure network shown on the Policies 
Map and area map will be maintained and enhanced through the following range 
of measures. Where appropriate and directly related to the development, 
proposals on identified sites, allocations and other sites will be required to 
provide or contribute towards provision of these improvements: 
• Retention of an existing playing pitch at Copperfields as identified on the area 

map. 
• Provision of new green space / open space within housing and mixed use 

allocations in accordance with Core Strategy Policies G4 and G5. 
• Improvement of green spaces identified on the area map. 

Page 552



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

88 
 

 • Identifying opportunities to encourage local food production in consultation 
with local residents and community groups. 

• Other measures to green the area, improve the quality of the local 
environment and improve access to green spaces, including street tree 
planting. 

Low carbon opportunities  
4.3.46 In applying the UES vision to this area there needs to be a focus on improving the 

energy efficiency of buildings and seeking opportunities to distribute low carbon 
energy produced in the area to the benefit of local people and businesses.  

4.3.47 The Council has established the Sustainable Communities Investment Fund (SCIF). 
This is a £5 million investment pot, to be funded by savings that the Council will make 
from paying lower landfill tax as a result of the construction of the RERF on the former 
Wholesale Market site.  Cross Green is one of the target areas for the fund, alongside 
‘The Nevilles’ area in Osmondthorpe.  Physical energy efficiency improvements to the 
housing stock (known as retrofitting), alongside energy efficiency advice to local 
residents are initiatives included in the SCIF.  The current project is limited to Cross 
Green within the AAP area, but there may be potential to extend this to similar areas, 
for example in Richmond Hill, subject to securing future funding. 

4.3.48 Alongside retrofitting initiatives, the Council is exploring options to develop a heat 
network in AVL (see Section 3.7), with the first phase of the network likely to be 
constructed through Cross Green and East Bank.  Development sites such as 
Copperfields may have potential to link into a heat network given its development 
potential and proximity to the RERF. 

 
Heritage 

4.3.49 The area contains some notable listed building including St Saviours Church (Grade I) 
and former school building off Ellerby Road and St Mary’s church Grade II*. Much of 
the area between the river and East Street and parts of the area to the north of East 
Street also lies within the Eastern Riverside Conservation Area as shown on the area 
map.  

4.3.50 A number of non-designated heritage assets have been identified under Policy AVL11 
and shown on the area map. These are summarised below: 

• Upper Accommodation Road - Group of Victorian / Edwardian buildings on Upper 
Accommodation Road in Richmond Hill contain some of the few remnants of the 
area’s history. 

• Cross Green Lane - Several ‘stepping stone’ buildings from Cross Green to the city 
centre. Important for sense of place, identity and orientation.   

 

 

 

Page 553



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

89 
 

Development sites and regeneration opportunities 
4.5 3.51 Within the East Bank, Richmond Hill and Cross Green areas a number of development 

sites and regeneration opportunities are identified.  These are as follows. 

Marsh Lane Opportunity Area 
4.3.52 This is one of the major development opportunities in this area. The area has 

frontages along York Road (A64) to the north and Marsh Lane to the west, making it a 
highly visible location. The south of the site is bounded by the Leeds-York railway line 
which cuts off the area from Richmond Hill. Upper Accommodation Road forms the 
eastern boundary of the site.  

4.3.53 For people travelling into the city centre from the east the area represents the initial 
impression of the city centre and it is therefore an important gateway location.   

4.3.54 Shannon Street runs through the area from west to east. To the south of Shannon 
Street (up to the railway line) the land is mostly vacant and underused with some 
temporary uses on this land, including car parking and outdoor storage and rail 
sidings.  This part of the site is considered as available for development during the 
plan period and is shown as AV18 on the Policies Map. 

4.3.55 The north and west of the area are occupied by a range of older commercial and 
industrial buildings of functional design, forming the frontages to York Road and Upper 
Accommodation Road. 

4.3.56 Many of the city centre’s important facilities, such as the bus station and markets are 
within walking distance of the site although the routes tend to be car-dominated and 
involve crossing multi-lane highways. Pedestrian routes within the area are currently 
poor. There is a railway bridge and footpath which connects Railway Street with 
Shannon Street through the vacant land but this is in poor condition, overgrown and 
has no natural surveillance. Bus services pass close to the site along York Road, 
Marsh Lane and New York Street but bus stops are difficult to get to from the area. 
The Leeds core cycle network passes along the edge of the site and the proposed 
City-Connect cycle superhighway (see Section 3.5) will pass along York Road and 
Marsh Lane.  

4.3.57 The area lies within the defined boundary of the city centre and this sets the context 
for the scale and types of town centre uses that are considered appropriate for the 
area.  Site AV18 has also been identified as a suitable and deliverable for housing to 
support Core Strategy housing requirements.  This provides a good opportunity to 
deliver housing which makes the transition between city centre scale development and 
the residential area of Richmond Hill and family housing would be particularly suited to 
the parts of the site away from the main roads. 

 
4.3.58 The guiding principles for the future development in the area will be:  

1. Ensuring that the Marsh Lane Opportunity Area becomes a new gateway into the city 
centre from the east. 

2. Providing a high quality, comprehensive mixed use development on Site AV18 which 
incorporates housing, including family housing and appropriate town centre uses, such 
as offices.  

Page 554



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

90 
 

 

 

3. Creating a building frontage along Marsh Lane and, where opportunities arise, 
supporting in principle the redevelopment of buildings within the wider opportunity area 
for housing and appropriate town centre uses. 

4. Creating active frontages where possible on the ground floor of buildings along the 
main routes in the area. 

5. Improving pedestrian routes within the site and to the city centre, Richmond Hill and 
Burmantofts, and integrating the site into the existing and proposed core cycle 
network. 

6. Improving access to bus services.  
7. Creating a new area of public space at the heart of the new development in 

accordance with the requirements of Core Strategy policy G5 and securing 
environmental improvements such as street tree planting to green the area.  

 
POLICY EB3 – MARSH LANE OPPORTUNITY AREA 

 
Within the Marsh Lane opportunity area identified on the Policies Map 
redevelopment of existing buildings for housing and uses specified below is 
encouraged where this would be consistent with the guiding principles for the 
area set out in this plan:  
• Offices 
• Hotels 
• Small-scale convenience retail 
• Restaurant and cafes 
• Pubs and bars  
• Assembly and leisure uses (Class D2) 
• Other community uses 

 
Marsh Lane Development Site 

4.6 3.59 Within the Marsh Lane Opportunity Area identified under Policy EB3, an area of 3.7 
hectares (Site AV18) is specifically allocated for housing and mixed use development 
under Policy AVL7. 

Under Policy AVL7, Marsh Lane (Site AV18) is allocated for housing and mixed 
use development to include a significant proportion of housing, and other uses 
specified in Policy EB3: 

Site requirements 
• The site is suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 

accordance with Policy AVL7. 
• Access to the site to be taken from Shannon Street; 
• The development should provide a positive frontage onto Marsh Lane; 
• Active frontage uses should be provided where possible on the ground floor 

of main routes through the area and around public/open space; 
• A green corridor to be incorporated into the development to link into the 

wider network as indicatively shown on the area map; 

Page 555



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

91 
 

 

 • The development should provide new and enhanced pedestrian/cycle routes 
within the site to connect into the wider network, to the city centre and 
Richmond Hill and;  

• An Ecological Assessment is required and where appropriate, mitigation 
measures will need to be provided including a buffer to the edge of the 
railway line along the southern boundary of the site. 

East Street Opportunity Area 

4.3.60 This opportunity area covers an extensive area of land focused mainly along the north-
eastern side of East Street but also taking in the Low Fold area to the south west 
which lies between East Street and the River Aire. The boundary of the area is shown 
on the Policies Map. 

4.3.61 Reflecting the opportunities and characteristics of this area, the following guiding 
principles are identified:   

1. Ensuring that the development in the East Street Opportunity Area enhances its role 
as a gateway into the city centre including from the river corridor. 

2. Providing improved pedestrian and cycle connections between the Saxton Gardens, 
Richmond Hill and Cross Green areas and the city centre, Leeds Dock and South 
Bank including a bridge link from the Low Fold site.    

3. Creating active frontages on the ground floor of buildings along the main routes in the 
area  

4. Improving the visual and environmental quality of the East Street corridor through high 
quality, distinctive building design, attractive areas of new landscaping and 
improvements to the public realm   

5. Taking opportunities to enhance the attractiveness and vibrancy of the waterway 
corridor including waterfront development and improved public access and making 
provision for wildlife and biodiversity. 

6. Ensuring that new development preserves and enhances the Eastern Riverside 
Conservation Area, listed buildings and non-designated heritage assets. 

POLICY EB4 – EAST STREET OPPORTUNITY AREA 
Within the East Street Opportunity Area identified on the Policies Map 
redevelopment of existing buildings for housing is encouraged where it 
supports the guiding principles for the area set out in this plan and accords with 
other plan policies.  
The identified mixed use site at Cross Green Lane (AV31) is suitable for office, 
housing and appropriate community uses 

  

Page 556



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

92 
 

 

Development sites in the East Street Opportunity Area 
4.3.62 Within the East Street Opportunity Area, there are a number of sites specifically 

allocated for housing under Policy AVL7.  The site requirements for these allocations 
are set out below. 

Yorkshire Ambulance Station Lane, Saxton Lane 

4.3.63 This 0.6 hectare site is currently occupied by an ambulance station is to become 
available in the medium term and is suitable for housing use.  

Under Policy AVL7, Yorkshire Ambulance Station, Saxton Lane (Site AV20) is 
allocated for housing: 

Site requirements 

• The site is suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 
accordance with Policy AVL7. 

• The design and layout of the development should provide a positive frontage 
onto the pedestrian/cycling route to the south of the site as shown on the 
Area Map. 

• The site is located within Phase 1 of the indicative heat network shown on 
Map 6. 

Low Fold Development Sites 

4.3.64 The Low Fold area includes a group of three brownfield development sites in separate 
ownerships which lie between the Inner Ring Road and River Aire. The Rose Wharf 
Car Park site (AV32) is a surface car park which has previously been proposed for 
housing. Both the Low Fold (AV33) and South Accommodation Road (AV34) are 
cleared development sites.  

4.3.65 The main roads and river tend to cut the area off from surrounding communities in 
Richmond Hill and the South Bank and this will need to be addressed in the design 
and layout of development. A new pedestrian/cycle bridge is required to access the 
nearest day to day shopping facilities at Leeds Dock and this link will also provide 
much improved links to existing and proposed jobs, public transport, education 
facilities, green spaces and the Trans Pennine Trail in the South Bank. The sites will 
also need to provide better links to schools and services in Richmond Hill. 

4.3.66 The sites have prominent frontages on the river which offers an important opportunity 
to open up the waterfront but this also needs to consider existing riverside habitats 
which will need to be protected. As the highest areas of flood risk at the site are next to 
the river, the on-site green space required by Policy G4 and G5 should be located 
along the waterfront where possible.  

4.3.67 Development proposals, particularly on the adjacent Site AV32 will need to preserve 
the setting of the listed building at Rose Wharf. 

  

Page 557



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

93 
 

 Under Policy AVL7, sites at Rose Wharf Car Park (AV32), Low Fold (AV33) and 
South Accommodation Road (AV34) are allocated for housing: 
Site requirements 
• Sites AV32 and AV33 are suitable for older persons housing / independent 

living in accordance with Policy AVL7. 
• Provide a positive frontage onto East Street including new areas of 

landscaping to enhance the environmental quality of the frontage; 
• A biodiversity buffer to be provided from the edge of the river bank with 

existing riverside vegetation to be retained and improved for its habitat value.   
• Provision of new and enhanced pedestrian/cycle routes to connect into the 

wider network.  
• Site AV33 to make provision for pedestrian/cycle bridge to link the site to the 

South Bank area. 
• The green space requirements of development should be provided on the 

areas of highest areas of flood risk within the site, where practicable.  
• The site, or part of the site, is located within Flood Zone 3. Flood risk 

mitigation measures set out in the AVL flood risk exception test and the site-
specific flood risk assessment should be applied. 

• An Ecological Assessment is required and where appropriate, mitigation 
measures will need to be provided including a buffer to the edge of the river 
bank. 

• Site AV32 is within/adjacent to a Conservation Area. Development should 
have regard to the Conservation Area Appraisal and management plan. 

• Site AV32 is adjacent to a listed building where consideration to the setting of 
the listed building is required. 

East Street / Bow Street / Ellerby Road sites 

4.3.68 These two sites are based on boundaries of a previous planning permission for 
housing and mixed use development. The sites are separated by Bow Street and so 
could potentially be developed independently. Site AV29 includes privately owned land 
that is designated as green space. Development of this land will be linked to 
improvements of the adjoining Bow Street Recreation Ground to mitigate loss of green 
space and to improve the quality of the existing park which currently falls below the 
Core Strategy standard. An opportunity is identified to provide an improved pedestrian 
link between Ellerby Road and East Street through the site. This will help to improve 
access from Richmond Hill to the river corridor and South Bank in conjunction with 
other proposals in this plan.   

4.3.69 There are a number of important listed buildings in the vicinity of the site AV29 
including the Grade I listed St Saviours Church immediately to the east, the Grade II 
listed former school building to the south and half the site lies in the Eastern Riverside 
conservation area. Development proposals will need to preserve the setting of these 
listed buildings. 

  

Page 558



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

94 
 

 Under Policy AVL7, sites at Bow Street / East Street (AV28) and Ellerby Street / 
Bow Street (AV29) are allocated for housing:  
Site requirements 
• The sites are suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 

accordance with Policy AVL7. 
• Site AV29 to contribute to improvement of the adjacent green space at Bow 

Street Recreation Ground to mitigate loss of existing green space within the 
site. 

• The development should provide a pedestrian/cycle route through the site to 
link Ellerby Road and Bow Street/East Street as indicatively shown on the 
area map. 

• The sites are within/adjacent to a Conservation Area. Development should 
have regard to the Conservation Area Appraisal and management plan. 

• Site AV29 is adjacent to the Grade 1 listed St Saviour Church and other listed 
buildings where consideration to the setting of the listed building is required. 
Any development should preserve the special architectural interest or setting 
of these buildings. 

• The sites are located within Phase 1 of the indicative heat network shown on 
Map 6. 

Richmond Hill  
4.3.70 Richmond Hill is an area of existing residential properties lying between the Leeds to 

York/Selby Railway to the east, Easy Road to the South and Ellerby Road to the west.  
The area is divided by Upper Accommodation Road which provides a group of local 
community facilities (shown on the area map) where opportunities to improve and 
enhance the provision of local community facilities are encouraged. 

4.3.71 The guiding principles for future development in the area will be:  
1. Ensuring that the Upper Accommodation Road local community facilities enhances 

opportunities as a local community hub, providing necessary local facilities and 
creating active frontages on the ground floor of buildings 

2. Providing improved pedestrian and cycle connections between the Cross Green and 
East Bank areas and the city centre and across the railway to East End Park as shown 
on the area map. 

3. Seeking opportunities to improve the visual and environmental quality of the Richmond 
Hill green corridor along the railway line, as well as along Upper Accommodation Road 
and Easy Road corridors through new landscaping and improvements to the public 
realm.   

4. Ensuring that new development preserves and enhances the non-designated heritage 
assets along Upper Accommodation Road. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 559



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

95 
 

 

 

4.3.72  Two development sites in Richmond Hill are specifically allocated for housing: 

Former Richmond Inn, Upper Accommodation Road 

This 0.4 hectare site on vacant land provides an infill housing development 
opportunity.  

Under Policy AVL7, the former Richmond Inn, Upper Accommodation Road (Site 
AV22 is allocated for housing. 
Site requirements 

• An Ecological Assessment is required and where appropriate, mitigation 
measures will need to be provided including a buffer from the footpath at the 
western edge of the site. 

Butterfield Manor and Richmond Court, Walter Crescent 
This 0.8 hectare site is located close to the local community facilities on Upper 
Accommodation Road. The site has some mature trees along the Upper 
Accommodation Road frontage which should be retained. A green corridor is identified 
to the north of the site which includes a footpath link between Upper Accommodation 
Road, Lavender Walk and Pontefract Street. This should be retained in the 
development. 

Under Policy AVL7, Butterfield Manor & Richmond Court, Walter Cresent (Site 
AV23 is allocated for housing. 
Site requirements: 
• An Ecological Assessment is required and where appropriate, mitigation 

measures will need to be provided including a buffer from the edge of the 
railway line along the north eastern boundary of the site. 

Cross Green 

4.3.73 This section identifies key proposals, initiatives and opportunities in the Cross Green 
area between the branch railway line, Pontefract Lane and the A63. This includes the 
existing area of housing to the north west of Cross Green Lane and the Copperfields 
development site to the south east.   

4.3.74 The guiding principles for the future development and initiatives in the area will be to:  
1. Tackle issues relating to deprivation, worklessness, poor health and fuel poverty; 
2. Improve connections (walking, cycling and public transport) between Cross Green and 

the Richmond Hill area, the city centre, LCREZ and to Hunslet and the waterfront; 
3. Secure a high quality housing development at Copperfields, along with new areas of 

green space and potentially a new primary school and food store, which links well with 
the existing housing area; 

4. Protect important local green spaces for community use;  
5. Ensure the area’s heritage assets are preserved and enhanced; 
6. Provide new opportunities for local people to grow their own food.  

 

Page 560



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

96 
 

Existing housing area in Cross Green 
4.3.75 There are a number of development opportunities in this part of Cross Green including 

an identified housing site on vacant land to the east of St Hilda’s church which also 
has a planning permission for 86 flats (Site AV36).  

4.3.76 In response to the issues of multiple deprivation identified in Cross Green, the area 
has been declared a priority in terms of intensive neighbourhood management. Many 
of the properties in Cross Green are in a poor state of repair and a ‘group repair’ 
project has been set up with the aim to improve the standard of these properties. This 
project includes repairs such as installing insulation, new windows, new doors, central 
heating, and providing 'A rated' energy efficient boilers. It is intended that these repairs 
will increase the energy efficiency of the properties contributing towards tackling fuel 
poverty. 

4.3.77 As stated in Section 3.7, Cross Green was identified as one of two target areas for 
environmental improvements to be made as part of the £5 million Sustainable 
Communities Investment Fund (SCIF). The initiative was taken forward with 
community involvement to identify local priorities including the following: 

• A group repair scheme - bringing housing up to decency standards and improving 
the external appearance of properties; 

• Promoting energy efficiency through measures such as better insulation and energy 
efficient boilers as well as an initiative to improve energy efficiency awareness 
amongst local residents; 

• Improving Improvements to the public realm such as street tree planting, wider 
pavements and improved road crossings;    

• Providing added value to existing programmes. 

4.3.78 Cross Green has a distinctive local identity with its housing stock being characteristic 
of the late Victorian / Edwardian period. It is important that these positive buildings and 
their setting are enhanced as part of the regeneration initiative. St Hilda’s is a notable 
local landmark and listed building whose setting it is important to preserve and 
enhance. Heritage assets (listed and non-designated) are identified on the area map.  

Copperfields site 
4.3.79 The Copperfields site includes the land bounded by Cross Green Lane, Pontefract 

Lane and the A63 and incorporates the former school site and two areas of green 
space to the immediate north and south. The site has an area of 11.3ha of which 
7.3ha is the former school site. East Leeds ARLFC use a pitch on the northern part of 
the site but the former allotments along Pontefract Lane have remained vacant for a 
long time.  

4.3.80 The site is located between the LCREZ, the new housing developments along East 
Street and the residential neighbourhood of Cross Green. The site has potential to act 
as a catalyst for further development and regeneration of the area and provides one of 
the few significant opportunities in the area to provide additional housing numbers in 
addition to the sites that already have planning permission. The site has an estimated 
capacity of 273 dwellings. 

4.3.81 The site offers the opportunity to address some of the deficiency in food retail 
provision in Richmond Hill and in particular serve the day to day shopping needs of 
people living in Cross Green and the south of Richmond Hill area.  It is also 

Page 561



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

97 
 

 

considered to be the best site in the area to accommodate the two-form entry primary 
school that has been identified as being required during the plan period.   

4.3.82 The Copperfields site needs to retain the East Leeds ARFLC pitch within the site at its 
current location.  In addition a new area of green space within the site will be required 
to meet the needs of the housing proposed on the site and of the wider community. 

4.3.83 The site lies in an important position within the wider green infrastructure network. A 
corridor has been identified running from East End Park to the River Aire and 
potentially beyond into Hunslet. The layout of development and green space on the 
site should reflect this green corridor and provide a landscaped route through the site 
linking Pontefract Road to the A63.  

4.3.84 The site needs to connect into the wider walking and cycling network. The area map 
indicatively shows important connections to Cross Green and through to Richmond 
Hill, to the city centre and to the Cross Green Industrial Estate and the LCREZ 
beyond.  There is also long term potential to create a pedestrian/cycle route through to 
the Hunslet Riverside sites which will link to the proposed network on those sites, 
ultimately providing a more direct connection to the centre of Hunslet from Cross 
Green (see Hunslet Area Plan for further details). 

Under Policy AVL7, the Copperfields site (AV38) is allocated for housing and 
under Policy AVL9 the site is identified as a potential site for a food store (up to 
a maximum gross floor area of 2,000 sqm)  

Site requirements 
• Provision of a two-form entry primary school within the development 
• The existing playing pitch shown on the Policies Map as green space to be 

retained.  
• The former school playing fields within the site should be replaced by new 

provision elsewhere in the locality. 
• The site is adjacent to a two listed buildings where consideration to the 

setting of the listed building is required. Any development should preserve 
the special architectural interest or setting of these buildings. 

• The pedestrian/cycle routes shown on the area plan, including existing public 
rights of way to be incorporated within the development. 

• Opportunities should be sought to create linkages between the site and the 
Hunslet Riverside Opportunity Area to the south.  

• An Ecological Assessment is required and where appropriate, mitigation 
measures will need to be provided. 

• The site is located within Phase 1 of the indicative heat network shown on 
Map 6. 

  

Page 562



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

98 
 

 

4.4 HUNSLET AREA PLAN 
4.4.1 This area plan covers the Hunslet area in the south of AVL.  The plan shows how the 

spatial strategy and plan wide policies will be applied in this area. 

SPATIAL VISION 
Hunslet will be a greener and more liveable place.  New development at Hunslet 
Riverside will connect the waterfront with the rest of Hunslet opening up 
recreational opportunities for residents and visitors. Hunslet will be better 
connected with the rest of the Aire Valley to allow local people to access new 
job and training opportunities and to fulfil their potential.  
An expanded Hunslet Town Centre will be at the heart of these improvements 
and will be a popular and successful place to do business and visit, meeting 
local needs for shopping, services and leisure in a safe and attractive 
environment.  
Hunslet Mill and Victoria Mill have been brought back into use and will have 
become key landmark buildings which have helped in increasing the 
attractiveness of the waterfront area as a place to live and visit. 
 

 
OBJECTIVES 

1. Hunslet will be a place with improved health and well-being for people of all ages.  
2. Hunslet town centre will be a thriving centre at the heart of the community that caters 

for day-to-day shopping, services and leisure needs for people in Hunslet, the wider 
Aire Valley and surrounding communities.  

3. About 1,400 new homes will be built in Hunslet serving the needs of all sectors of the 
housing market and will be supported by improvements made to existing homes as 
part of energy efficiency initiatives to tackle fuel poverty and improve health.  

4. Hunslet will be recognised as a place to do business, attracting new investment and 
providing job and training opportunities for local people, and offering improved links to 
new jobs created in the LCREZ and wider Aire Valley. 

5. New and existing homes, businesses and leisure opportunities in Hunslet will be 
connected to a sustainable transport network, including the NGT trolleybus system, 
new and improved bus services, an improved cycle network, greener and safer streets 
and water-based transport. 

6. A high quality green network will link Hunslet’s new and improved green spaces, 
offering a range of recreational opportunities in a child-friendly environment .This will 
connect into the wider network of parks and nature reserves along the River Aire.  

7. Hunslet and Victoria Mills will have be brought back into use and become recognised 
as key landmark buildings which enhance the waterfront at Hunslet riverside and help 
to attract visitors to the area. 

 
  

Page 563



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

99 
 

The Hunslet Local Area 
4.4.2 Hunslet covers the area between the River Aire and the Leeds-Castleford railway line, 

stretching as far as the inner ring road in the north and the Stourton / Thwaite Gate 
area in the south, incorporating Bridgewater Road to the north of the river.  

People 
4.4.3 The area covered by the Hunslet Area Plan has a population of about 2,470 (2011 

Census).  Hunslet has a large proportion of family and social housing with some 
issues relating to deprivation and poor health which are highlighted in the statistics 
below: 

• Hunslet has a slightly higher proportion of children (aged 15 & under) and older 
people (aged 65 & over) and a lower proportion of working age residents (16-64), 
than the Leeds average. 

• Economic activity amongst people of working age is lower than the Leeds average. 

• Unemployment rates are higher in Hunslet than the city average, particularly in the 
Thwaite Gate area.  Youth employment (ages 16-24) is well above the Leeds’ 
average in Thwaite Gate. 

• Hunslet is classified within the 10% most deprived areas in the country overall and 
in the following specific measures of deprivation: crime & disorder; education skills 
and training and health deprivation & disability. The Thwaite Gate area is also in the 
10% most deprived for income and employment deprivation. 

• More than twice the number of people classify themselves as having ‘bad’ or ‘very 
bad’ health (11.1%) than the Leeds average. 

• Nearly twice the proportion of people over the age of 16 (42.1%) have no formal 
qualifications, compared to the Leeds average. 

• 55% of households do not have access to a car. The Leeds average is 32%. 

• More than half of working people living in Hunslet travel to work using public 
transport or by walking or cycling, well above the Leeds average. 

Place 
4.4.4 The historic character of Hunslet was defined during the 19th Century when Hunslet 

was transformed into an important industrial centre of Leeds. The growth of Hunslet 
was shaped by its location near to the River Aire served by the canal and railway 
networks. This created the opportunities for early water powered mills, followed by 
other types of heavy industry later in the century.    

4.4.5 Hunslet grew as homes were built to house mill and industrial workers.  Living 
conditions were cramped, with back to backs the predominant form of house type.  
The area was well served by a range of local shops, pubs, and other facilities. 

4.4.6 The post-war era brought significant changes to Hunslet, including a slum clearance 
programme and construction of estates of public sector housing. The M1 (now M621) 
motorway divided Hunslet in two when it was constructed in the 1960s.  The majority 
of housing to the east of the motorway in Hunslet dates from the post-war era.  

4.4.7 Hunslet is made up of a number of distinct, but connected areas, which are identified 
on the area map (Map 9):  

Page 564



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

100 
 

• Hunslet Town Centre - The main shopping and commercial centre serving Hunslet 
and the wider area, mainly for food shopping and some other services 

• Hunslet Riverside - A major regeneration opportunity on both banks of the River 
Aire  

• Hunslet Green - A modern residential area close to the town centre.  

• Thwaite Gate - A 1970s/1980s housing estate predominantly in public or social 
landlord ownership. 

• Industrial Hunslet – the industrial and commercial areas to the north of Low Road 
and south of Midland Road. 

4.4.8 Hunslet contains a number of green spaces, the largest of which are Hunslet Green 
and Pepper Road Recreation Ground. The area is well served in terms of outdoor 
sports pitches, amenity spaces and children’s play facilities, but there are deficiencies 
in the provision of parks and gardens and allotments, and most of the spaces do not 
meet the quality standard set out in the Core Strategy. 

4.4.9 The area is served by three primary schools (Low Road, Hunslet St Marys CofE and 
St Josephs Catholic). There are no secondary schools in the area. The nearest are 
Mount St Marys in Richmond Hill and the South Leeds Academy on Old Run Road just 
to the south of the AAP boundary.  The proposed Ruth Gorse Academy on Black Bull 
Street in the South Bank is located just to the north of the plan area. 

4.4.10 Areas bordering Low Road, Church Street, Balm Road and Midland Road are well 
served by frequent public transport services.  The development sites in Hunslet 
Riverside are less well connected.  Main roads, such as Low Road and Church Street 
act as a barrier to pedestrians. The Trans Pennine Trail runs along the river corridor 
and is an important recreational asset linking the area with the city centre and nature 
sites in the Lower Aire Valley, but routes to the river from the centre and residential 
parts of Hunslet are not well defined and tend to be uninviting. 

Area-specific policies and proposals 
 
4.4.12 This section sets out policies and proposals which are specific to Hunslet. These will 

deliver the vision and objectives for Hunslet. Specific proposals and designations 
which apply in the area are shown on the accompanying area map (Map 9).  

Hunslet Town Centre 

4.4.13 Hunslet Town Centre will continue to function as the main centre serving AVL and 
wider areas of Hunslet. This role is recognised in the Core Strategy with Hunslet 
identified as one of the city’s town centres (Policy P1 and Map 10).  Hunslet will be the 
primary centre to serve any new housing proposed in this plan and policies also seek 
to underpin and enhance this role.  Map 10 sets out the boundary of Hunslet Town 
Centre, the primary shopping area (where retail activity is concentrated in the centre) 
and primary and secondary shopping frontages. Policies relating to consideration of 
planning applications for change of use within primary and secondary frontages are 
set out in saved UDPR Policy SF7. This will be replaced by policies for protected 
shopping frontages and shopfronts which will cover all town centres in the district, 
including Hunslet, to be taken forward as part of the Leeds Site Allocations Plan.    

Page 565



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

101 
 

 

4.4.14 The housing and mixed use allocation to the south west of the centre is proposed to 
accommodate a mix of housing and town centre uses, such as retail development, 
with the aim of expanding the scale and range of shopping and other services within 
the centre. The inclusion of this area within the town centre boundary is to offer an 
opportunity to provide additional retail floorspace in the area to support the expanding 
population within the area.  The site is considered to offer a sustainable location for 
development immediately adjacent to the primary shopping area with the potential for 
linked trips and a short walk to existing and proposed public transport services. The 
site offers an opportunity to create a high quality development on an underused site to 
create an attractive gateway to the centre from the south and west and bring new jobs 
to the local area. 

4.4.15 Although Hunslet Town Centre is well served by frequent bus services, the proposals 
for a NGT trolleybus stop within the centre offer an important opportunity to facilitate 
improvements in the centre and to increase the number of visits by local residents. 

4.4.16 Policy HU1 identifies the boundary designations and other proposals for the centre.  

POLICY HU1 – HUNSLET TOWN CENTRE 

1. Hunslet Town Centre boundary, primary shopping area and primary and 
secondary shopping frontages are defined on the Hunslet Town Centre 
Boundary Plan (Map 10); 

2. In order to maintain and enhance the role and function of Hunslet Town 
Centre, the following improvements are proposed subject to availability of 
funding and detailed feasibility work: 

• Improved pedestrian/cycle links between the town centre and the Hunslet 
Riverside Opportunity Area as identified on the area map; 

• Environmental improvements to the public space on Whitfield Way next to the 
Penny Hill centre and Hunslet Library to enhance the setting of existing 
buildings and to create a focal point for the centre. 

 
Church Street / Balm Road Site (Hunslet Town Centre) 

4.4.17 This 1.29 hectare site (AV48) provides a key opportunity to expand the range of 
shopping and other town centre facilities in Hunslet, in addition to providing new 
housing.  The site lies in a prominent location on the junction of Church Street and 
Balm Road and is currently occupied by a vehicle hire and repair businesses.  There 
are no other sites adjacent to the existing centre which can offer a similar scale of 
opportunity.  Appropriate uses in town centres are set out under Core Strategy Policy 
P8. 

4.4.18 Development will be expected to relate to the existing centre and create active 
frontages along the main roads. Existing pedestrian routes between the opportunity 
site and the heart of the centre are relatively poor due to the major road junction acting 
as a barrier to movement. Where development of town centre uses are proposed, 
improved links between the site and centre need to be fully addressed as part of 
proposals to ensure that linked trips to existing shops and facilities can be maximised 
and to mitigate potential adverse impacts on the vitality and viability of Hunslet Town 
Centre resulting from proposals for this site.   

Page 566



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

102 
 

 Under Policy AVL7, Church Street / Balm Road (AV48) is allocated for housing 
and mixed use development to include a significant proportion of housing, and 
other uses specified below: 
• Shops; 
• Financial & professional services; 
• Restaurants & cafes; 
• Pubs & bars; 
• Offices; 
• Assembly & leisure uses; and 
• Community facilities 

Site requirements: 
• In accordance with Core Strategy Policy P8, proposals for town centre uses 

will not be permitted unless they clearly demonstrate that there will be no 
significant adverse impact on vitality and viability or planned investment in 
Hunslet Town Centre or other designated centres. 

• The design and layout of the development should relate positively to the 
existing town centre, such that it encourages linked trips between the site and 
existing facilities in the town centre. 

• Improvements to pedestrian links between the site and the existing town 
centre across the Church Street / Balm Road junction will be sought. 

• Proposals to improve pedestrian links between the site and the City South 
Retail Park to the south of the site are encouraged.  

• An Ecological Assessment of the site is required and where appropriate, 
mitigation measures will need to be provided including a buffer to the railway 
line to the south west of the site. 

• The site is suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 
accordance with Policy AVL7. 

 
Hunslet Riverside Opportunity Area 

4.4.19 Hunslet Riverside is the name given to a collection of key brownfield development 
sites and other land located on either side of the River Aire to the east of Low Road 
and south of the Inner Ring Road. This area has an important industrial legacy and 
many businesses remain in the area. Regenerating this area and integrating it into the 
rest of Hunslet and the wider area is crucial to implementing the vision of this plan. 

4.4.20 Over 30 hectares of land has been identified in the area with potential for new 
sustainable development providing new homes and jobs and potentially new shops, 
leisure and community facilities. The majority of these sites are allocated  were 
incorporated within the Hunslet Riverside Strategic Housing & Mixed Use UDPR 
allocation which was made in the UDPR. The main development opportunities in the 
area are:  

• Bridgewater Road (AV40) 
• Hunslet/Victoria Mills buildings (AV41);  
• Yarn Street (AV43); 
• Smaller development sites and other opportunities. 

Page 567



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

103 
 

4.4.21 The listed Hunslet/Victoria Mill buildings have been vacant for many years but are an 
important heritage asset and landmark for Hunslet benefiting from a location adjacent 
to the river. A key objective of the plan is to see these buildings returned to active use 
as part of a development scheme which secures the future of the buildings and acts as 
the focal point of the Hunslet Riverside area.    

4.4.22 The regeneration of the area is already underway with the H2010 development of 287 
houses and flats on the Yarn Street site.  This scheme has opened up the waterfront 
providing high quality areas of public realm and allowed the Trans Pennine Trail to 
pass alongside the river. The new homes are energy efficient and the heat to the site 
is provided by a combined heat and power plant and district heating network. The site 
contributes 173 dwellings to the housing target over the plan period.  

4.4.23 Across the river from Hunslet/Victoria Mills and Yarn Street, the Bridgewater Road site 
offers a major opportunity to create a sustainable waterfront development. Key issues 
for this site are connecting it with services and facilities in Hunslet and integrating the 
site into the area’s green infrastructure network. 

4.4.24 The area has also been identified as having potential for rail freight and canal freight 
uses through the NRWLP which proposes a rail sidings allocation at Bridgewater Road 
(South). These proposed designations are shown on the Area Map.    

Hunslet/Victoria Mills site 
4.4.25 The remaining buildings at the Hunslet / Victoria Mill site are Grade II* and Grade II 

listed. Former mill buildings are very flexible structures that can be converted into a 
wide range of uses. There are many examples in Leeds and across the country of mill 
buildings being successfully converted.  

4.4.26 The buildings and site have planning permission and listed building consent for 699 
flats which would involve conversion of the listed buildings and some new build 
development. Given changes in the housing market since that permission was granted 
in 2003 the scheme may not be delivered in its current form but this provides the basis 
for identifying the site for housing under Policy AVL6. 

4.4.28 The key objective is to bring the listed buildings back into active use and restored to 
their former glory, acting as a focal point for the regeneration of the Hunslet Riverside 
area and opening up the waterfront for recreational use. The approach is to be flexible 
about the use of the site, where this is appropriate, on the basis that the listed 
buildings are retained and brought back into use within the new development. The aim 
of this is to enhance the prospects of achieving a viable development given the higher 
than normal costs of restoring the listed buildings.  

4.4.29 Suitable uses for the site are set out in the policy below. Some of these are town 
centre uses such as retail, offices and a hotel, which would normally be directed 
towards existing centres. In these exceptional circumstances it is considered 
appropriate to include these as potential uses within the acceptable mix providing it is 
demonstrated this would not adversely impact the city centre and other centres. In this 
respect, a comparison retail use would be expected to be of a factory outlet type use 
rather than the type of shopping usually found in the city centre. Issues such as traffic 
generation and car parking requirements would also need to be addressed 
satisfactorily. 

  

Page 568



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

104 
 

 POLICY HU2 – HUNSLET / VICTORIA MILLS (SITE AV41) 
In addition to the housing use identified under Policy AVL6, the other acceptable 
uses of the Hunslet/Victoria Mills buildings and site (AV41) are: 
• Offices; 
• Hotel; 
• Education; 
• Museums, galleries and exhibition halls; 
• Small-scale convenience retail; 
• Restaurants and cafes;  
• Pubs and bars; 
• Specialist retail uses. 

Site requirements 
• The listed buildings are to be retained, refurbished and reoccupied as part of 

any development proposals; 
• New buildings are permitted providing they preserve the setting of the listed 

buildings and are subordinate in terms of scale and massing, and form part of 
a comprehensive approach to the development of the site; 

• Opportunities to create active frontages to the waterfront, Goodman Street 
and Atkinson Street are encouraged where this is consistent with preserving 
the setting of the listed buildings; 

• For specialist retail uses, it is clearly demonstrated that the proposals, by 
virtue of the type of goods to be sold and their scale, would not have a 
significant adverse impact on vitality and viability and planned investment in 
Leeds City Centre, Hunslet Town Centre or any other designated centres. 

• The site, or part of the site, is located within Flood Zone 3. Flood risk 
mitigation measures set out in the AVL flood risk exception test and the site-
specific flood risk assessment should be applied. 

• The site is located within Phase 2 of the indicative heat network shown on 
Map 6. 

Atkinson Street site 
4.4.30 The site at Atkinson Street (AV98), immediately to the north of the Hunslet / Victoria 

Mills site, is allocated as a further opportunity for housing and mixed use development. 
This could be developed alongside, as part of a comprehensive development, or as a 
later phase to the adjoining Hunslet / Victoria Mills development. The site is currently 
occupied by two industrial units but has been promoted by the site owner as a 
redevelopment opportunity. 

4.4.31 Proximity to the glass manufacturing plant, located to the north of the South 
Accommodation Road, will need to be addressed within the design of the development 
and is likely to limit housing development on the western part of the site, immediately 
opposite the plant. Office use is identified as a potential buffer use in this edge of 
centre location but it will be for detailed air quality, odour and noise reports at the 
application stage to propose suitable mitigation measures.   

Page 569



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

105 
 

 Under Policy AVL7, the Atkinson Street site (AV98) is allocated for housing and 
mixed use development, to include a significant proportion of housing. Offices 
are identified as an acceptable use within mixed use development. 

Site requirements 

• Provision of a suitable buffer between housing and the glass manufacturing 
plant north of South Accommodation Road which could take the form of 
development of other less sensitive uses, such as office development, to 
provide a physical buffer and visual screening to the plant. Air quality, odour 
and noise reports will be required to assess the impact on the development. 
Additional mitigation measures may be required to be incorporated in the 
development. 

• The site is adjacent to a the listed buildings at Hunslet Mill/Victoria 
Mills buildings where consideration to the setting of the listed building is 
required. Any development should preserve the special architectural interest 
of setting of these buildings. 

• An Ecological Assessment of the site is required and where appropriate, 
mitigation measures will need to be provided including a buffer to the river 
bank reflecting the AVL Green Infrastructure Network shown on the area map. 

• The site, or part of the site, is located within Flood Zone 3. Flood risk 
mitigation measures set out in the AVL flood risk exception test and the site-
specific flood risk assessment should be applied. 

• The site is located within Phase 2 of the indicative heat network shown on 
Map 6. 

Bridgewater Road  
4.4.32 At 19 hectares Bridgewater Road is the largest brownfield site in the Hunslet Riverside 

area. The site is mostly vacant, but some waste minerals processing uses occupy 
parts of the site.  Bridgewater Road is the only road access to the site linking to the 
Inner Ring Road via a small estate of commercial units. A branch line railway which 
serves the Tarmac plant to the north forms the north-eastern site boundary. The 
general character of the area to the north of the site is industrial, with the Knostrop 
WWTW to the south-east.   

4.4.33 The River Aire corridor runs along the south-western boundary of the site with over 
1km of waterfront. This area contains some well-established planting which provides a 
green backdrop to the river and is an important wildlife habitat.  

4.4.34 The UDP allocation established the principle of housing development on the site, but 
to secure a sustainable and high quality development a number of issues need to be 
addressed.  

4.4.35 Given the proximity of heavy industrial uses of the north and east of the site, only part 
of the site is considered to be suitable for residential. This is reflected in the NRWLP 
which allocates a 7.4 hectare site (NRWLP Site 21) on the south west part of the land 
for new rail sidings. This allocation requires a landscape buffer to be provided between 
minerals rail freight and residential uses under Policy Minerals 13 (3). 

Page 570



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

106 
 

 

4.4.36 This leaves an area of 11.2 hectares to the north west of the site which is considered 
to be suitable for housing and allocated under Policy AVL7 as Bridgewater Road North 
(AV40). This site has an estimated capacity of 425 546 new homes with a waterfront 
location. Achieving direct links to the rest of Hunslet on the other side of the river will 
require a new/improved pedestrian / cycle bridge which is proposed as part of the 
Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme (see below).  

4.4.37 To protect the amenity of future residents it is important that a separate vehicular 
access is provided to serve the NRWLP site within the wider Bridgewater Road area. 
This is to avoid a situation where HGV traffic passes directly through a residential 
area.  

4.4.38 The site lies along two green corridors identified on Map 5 and shown on the area 
map. The site has a key role in enhancing the River Aire corridor in terms of a green 
route for walking and cycling and whilst maintaining its function as a wildlife habitat. 
The Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme removes Knostrop Cut, requiring diversion of the 
Trans Pennine Trail cycle path is through the Bridgewater Road site.  This requires an 
alignment to be protected. A longer-term aspiration is to create a green route between 
Cross Green and Hunslet as shown on the area map. This can only be achieved if it is 
designed into the Bridgewater Road development.   

Under Policy AVL7, Bridgewater Road North (AV40) is allocated for housing:  

Site requirements 
• Preparation of a masterplan consistent with the general arrangement shown 

on the area map to determine the general layout of development, green space 
and green infrastructure provision and location of access points and roads;  

• The design and layout of development to relate positively to the waterfront 
and complement proposals on the south west bank of the river, where this is 
consistent with protection of biodiversity and habitats of value; 

• An Ecological Assessment of the site is required and where appropriate, 
mitigation measures will need to be provided including a buffer to the river 
bank reflecting, where possible, the AVL Green Infrastructure Network shown 
on the area map.   

• A route close to the north east bank of the river to be safeguarded for the 
Trans Pennine Trail; 

• A new or improved pedestrian/cycle bridge to be provided to link the site to 
the south west bank of the river; 

• A suitable buffer to be provided to screen existing and proposed industrial 
and rail freight uses from housing to protect the amenity of future occupiers; 

• Vehicular access to the site to be taken from Bridgewater Road.  The NRWLP 
allocation immediately to the south west of the site should be served from a 
separate access from the point at which Bridgwater Road enters the site with 
no through route for general traffic to be provided between the two sites. 

• The site is located lies opposite the listed buildings at Hunslet Mill/Victoria  
Mmill buildings where consideration to the setting of the listed buildings is 
required. Any development should preserve the special architectural interest 
or setting of these buildings. 

Page 571



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

107 
 

 

 
• Housing development (or any other type of development classified as ‘more 

vulnerable’ according to the NPPG) should not be developed in any part of the 
site lying within Flood Zone 3, as indicated in the Leeds Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment or the Environment Agency Flood Risk Maps, whichever is the 
most up to date 

 
  Other residential development opportunities 

4.4.39 The Goodman Street site, which is currently a coach depot, lies immediately to the 
west of the H2010 development at Yarn Street.  Development of the site would 
complement neighbouring developments and proposals and could provide an 
extension to the heat network incorporated into the H2010 development, subject to 
capacity and feasibility. 

 
Under Policy AVL7, the Tetleys Motor Services site at Goodman Street (AV46) is 
allocated for housing. 

Site requirements 
• The site is suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 

accordance with Policy AVL7. 
• The design of the scheme should relate to and complement the adjoining 

housing development at Yarn Street by virtue of its scale, massing, layout, 
density and orientation;   

• The design should create a frontage onto Goodman Street and include a hard 
and soft landscape scheme which contributes to creating a green and 
attractive pedestrian route between Hunslet Riverside and Low Road as 
identified on the Area Map;  

• The site is adjacent to a lies opposite the listed buildings at Hunslet Mill/ 
Victoria Mills buildings where consideration to the setting of the listed 
building is required. Any development should preserve the special 
architectural interest or setting of these buildings. 

• The site, or part of the site, is located within Flood Zone 3. Flood risk 
mitigation measures set out in the AVL flood risk exception test and the site-
specific flood risk assessment should be applied. 

• The site is located within Phase 2 of the indicative heat network shown on 
Map 6. 

4.4.40 Further areas with potential for new housing are also identified within the Hunslet 
Riverside Opportunity Area. These areas include occupied industrial and other 
commercial buildings within an area bounded by Old Mill Lane, Atkinson Street, the 
Inner Ring Road, the A63 and Knowsthorpe Lane and a further area of land between 
Low Road and National Road. The intention of identifying opportunities is to indicate 
an area where housing and supporting uses may be appropriate (subject to certain 
constraints) and where this would be consistent with the vision and key aims set out in 
this area plan. The specific sites have been identified on the basis that redevelopment 
would provide one or more of the following benefits: 

• encourage a clear, defensible boundary between existing and potential housing and 
industrial uses;  

• encourage development that enhances the setting of historic buildings;  

Page 572



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

108 
 

  

• facilitate the creation of improved visual and physical links between the Hunslet 
Riverside development sites and the River Aire corridor and Hunslet Town Centre; 
and/or  

• consistency with the proposals and aspirations shown on the area map. 
 
4.4.41 Such proposals could result in the loss of existing employment sites in the area. Future 

proposals will be assessed against the criteria for release of existing employment sites 
set out in Core Strategy Policy EC3.  Where this requirement can be met, the Council 
would be supportive of retaining business and jobs within the area. Wherever possible, 
appropriate steps will be taken to assist businesses to relocate within AVL.  

POLICY HU3 – HUNSLET RIVERSIDE OPPORTUNITY AREA 
(OTHER LAND) 
Within the Hunslet Riverside opportunity area identified on the Policies Map, 
redevelopment of existing buildings for housing is acceptable subject to the 
following considerations: 
• A piecemeal approach to redevelopment of any of the above areas which is 

likely to adversely impact on the amenity of future residents by virtue of 
noise, dust, odour or other means and/or prejudice the operation of existing 
businesses will not be appropriate.  

• The design of the individual proposals should relate to and complement the 
adjoining housing and proposals by virtue of its scale, massing, layout, 
density, orientation and access arrangements; 

• Existing employment sites to be assessed against the criteria set out in Core 
Strategy Policy EC3. 

• The flood risk sequential and exception test requirements to be satisfied. 
 

Additional Employment sites 
4.4.42 In addition to the mixed use sites identified above, there are three smaller general 

employment sites identified in the area (sites AV42, AV45 and AV47) with planning 
permission which provide a total land area of 1.66 hectares and have potential to 
provide local job opportunities. 

Transport connections 
4.4.43 There are significant opportunities to improve connections between Hunslet town 

centre, the city centre, Hunslet Riverside and the River Aire corridor.  The NGT 
trolleybus route and improvements to the bus network in the Aire Valley, which can all 
significantly benefit Hunslet are considered in detail in the strategic connections 
section of the AAP.  

4.4.44 The key priorities for the area are set out in Policy HU4 and identified on the area map. 

Page 573



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

109 
 

   POLICY HU4 – TRANSPORT IMPROVEMENTS IN HUNSLET  
The following improvements to the transport network in the Hunslet area are 
shown on the area map.  Where appropriate and directly related to the 
development, proposals on identified sites, allocations and other sites will be 
required to provide or contribute towards provision of these improvements: 

1. Improved pedestrian and cycle routes between the Hunslet Riverside 
Opportunity Area and Hunslet Town Centre, including a new/improved 
pedestrian/cycle bridge between the Bridgewater Road site and south west 
bank of the River Aire. 

2. Improved pedestrian and cycle routes between Hunslet Riverside Opportunity 
Area and the South Bank and the proposed NGT trolleybus stop at St 
Joseph’s. 

3. Relocation of the Trans Pennine Trail to the north east bank of the River Aire 
as shown indicatively on the Policies Map and area plan  

Low carbon energy  
4.4.45 Hunslet provides key opportunities to develop local networks for low carbon energy 

production and distribution through expansion of existing installations such as the 
combined heat and power plant (CHP) and heat network at the H2010 site at Yarn 
Street.  The Hunslet Riverside sites could take advantage of their proximity to the 
existing Yarn Street CHP plant subject to the technical feasibility and capacity of the 
network. 

Green Infrastructure in Hunslet 

4.4.46 The Hunslet area provides some of the most significant green spaces and green 
corridors in the Aire Valley. It also provides significant opportunities to extend and 
complete missing links to improve the connectivity of the existing green infrastructure 
network. 

4.4.47 The Aire Valley Green Infrastructure study has identified the following corridors within 
the Hunslet area: 

• River Aire corridor (including the Trans Pennine Trail) 
• East End Park to Hunslet 
• Hunslet green spaces  
• Hunslet Lane / Low Road / Pontefract Road corridor  

4.4.48 The River Aire corridor is a particularly important asset for Hunslet as it provides links 
to other visitor attractions, green spaces and nature reserves along the valley and 
accommodates the regionally significant Trans Pennine Trail.  

4.4.49 There is good overall provision of publicly accessible green space within Hunslet, with 
the area exceeding the Core Strategy standards for outdoor sport and amenity green 
space provision and children’s & young people’s facilities.  There are deficiencies 
identified for parks and gardens and allotments (there is no existing provision in this 
part of Hunslet). 

4.4.50 The quality of green space in Hunslet varies.  Hunslet Green is an important outdoor 
sports facility in the heart of the area next to the town centre and is assessed as the 

Page 574



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

110 
 

 

best quality green space in AVL, but no other sites in the area have met the Core 
Strategy minimum quality standard. 

4.4.51 There are some issues relating to the distribution of existing green space.  Most 
existing green space is located to the west side of Low Road and the major roads 
provide a barrier to accessing these spaces from the Hunslet riverside sites.  
Conversely, other recreation/leisure opportunities along the waterfront have poor 
connections from existing residential areas of Hunslet.  

4.4.52 New development will provide opportunities to provide new and improve existing green 
spaces to meet existing deficiencies and to support new development, particularly in 
the Hunslet riverside area.  

4.4.53 The Leeds FAS and NGT trolleybus schemes are is an additional proposals with 
potential to bring funded green infrastructure improvements to Hunslet.   

4.4.54 The Council will also support initiatives for local food production on underused green 
spaces and areas of public realm where this is appropriate to the other functions of the 
space.  

POLICY HU5 – GREEN SPACE AND GREEN 
INFRASTRUCTURE IN HUNSLET 
The green spaces and wider green infrastructure network shown on the Policies 
Map and area map will be maintained and enhanced through the following range 
of measures.  Where appropriate and directly related to the development, 
proposals on identified sites, allocations and other sites will be required to 
provide or contribute towards provision of improvements: 
1. Protection and improvement of areas of the Leeds Habitat Network along the 

River Aire corridor as identified on the area map. 
2. Provision of new green space within housing and mixed use allocations in 

accordance with Core Strategy Policy G4. 
3. Improvement of green spaces identified on the area map. 
4. Identifying opportunities to encourage local food production in consultation 

with local residents and community groups. 
5. Other measures to green the area, improve the quality of the local 

environment and improve access to green spaces, including street tree 
planting where appropriate. 

 
Heritage 

4.4.55   In addition to the Hunslet / Victoria Mill buildings, there are also a number of other  
listed buildings in the area which are shown on the area map, including the Hunslet 
Baptist Church building on Low Road and the tower and spire of St Marys Church on 
Church Street. 

4.4.56   A number of locally important undesignated heritage assets are also shown on the 
area map, including Hunslet Library which remain important local facilities and provide 
a few remnants of the area’s past. 

  

Page 575



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

111 
 

 

4.5 CENTRAL AIRE VALLEY 

4.5.1 This area plan covers a large area in the central part of AVL, including the LCREZ and 
two existing industrial/business areas - the Cross Green Industrial Estate and 
Stourton.  The area plan shows how the spatial strategy and plan wide policies will be 
applied in this area. 

SPATIAL VISION 
The LCREZ will drive local growth and attract new business, jobs and 
investment into Leeds and its city region.  The existing business and 
employment areas of Cross Green and Stourton will be recognised as high 
quality business locations and will become gateways into the urban area of 
Leeds, led by high profile development, such as Leeds Valley Park. Together 
these areas will create up to 15,000 new jobs, many for residents living in local 
communities, and attract significant investment into the area. 

Transport improvements, led by construction of an all-purpose bridge crossing 
at Skelton Grange and including other road improvements, the NGT trolleybus 
network and new bus services, and new walking and cycling routes will 
transform physical access to jobs created in the area, from across the city and 
in particular from nearby communities in east and south Leeds.  Environmental 
improvements secured from these projects will help to green important routes in 
the area. 

The high quality waterfront will be a place that attracts many people to visit the 
Thwaite Mills museum, to walk, cycle and for water-based recreation.  The area 
will link into a wider network of green spaces, wildlife habitats and visitor 
attractions along the River Aire and Wyke Beck, such as St Aidans, Fairburn 
Ings and Leeds Dock.  The waterfront will be connected into a high quality local 
green infrastructure network of green routes and corridors. 

The potential of the area for low carbon energy generation will have been 
maximised, where this is consistent with securing a high quality environment 
for local residents and visitors, and a network will distribute this energy to local 
businesses, homes and service providers. 

OBJECTIVES 
1. Maximise the benefits of the LCREZ for local communities, for Leeds and for LCR 

by ensuring that the necessary infrastructure and business employment and training 
support are in place to attract new business investment and create new jobs. 

2. Ensure the area continues to be a key employment and business centre for Leeds 
and LCR, home to both national, regional and local enterprises, supporting growth 
sectors such as the health and medical, advanced manufacturing, logistics and low 
carbon industry and providing jobs opportunities for local people. 

3. Create a place that is an attractive and green gateway into Leeds, led by high 
quality development on the Logic Leeds, Temple Green and Leeds Valley Park sites 
by providing landscaped green routes into the city. 

Page 576



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

112 
 

4. Ensure that the LCREZ and the Cross Green, Skelton Grange and Stourton areas 
are well connected to each other, the city centre and to communities in east and 
south Leeds by a high quality transport network including the NGT trolleybus 
system, frequent bus routes, park & ride facilities and walking and cycling routes 
which offer a genuine alternative to the car and help to reduce congestion on local 
roads. 

5. Ensure that the river corridor and the heritage assets at Thwaites Mill are is 
recognised for its the attractive environment they provide, and are widely used by 
local residents and visitors for activities such as walking, cycling and water-based 
recreation, and forming part of an enhanced green infrastructure network which 
connects into wider networks. 

6. Create a low carbon energy hub connecting the area’s low carbon production 
opportunities, such as the RERF at Newmarket Approach, with existing energy 
users and future developments via a local heat network helping to reduce the 
running costs and improving the environmental performance of commercial 
buildings and domestic homes in the Aire Valley. 

THE LOCAL AREA 

4.5.2 This area is the commercial heart of AVL.  It is a major business location which 
provides a large number of local jobs focused in the office, manufacturing and 
distribution sectors with potential to expand through the development of the largest 
grouping of employment sites in Leeds.  The catalyst for future business and job 
growth in the area is the LCREZ. 

4.5.3 The two principal employment areas are the Cross Green Industrial Estate, to the 
north of the river, and the Stourton area to the south.  The Knostrop Waste Water 
Treatment Works are a major feature of the area lying immediately east of Cross 
Green.  The major development sites are located in the east adjacent to the M1 
motorway.   

4.5.4 The area benefits from excellent links to the motorway network.  Stourton is served by 
junctions on both the M1 (J44) and M621 (J7) motorways and the area to the north is 
served by J45 on the M1.  Access to J45 is provided by the A63 Pontefract Lane which 
provides a dual carriageway link into the city centre.  Its prominent location means the 
area is an important gateway into Leeds for many visitors, which is further emphasised 
because the area is visible from the elevated section of motorway. 

4.5.5 Whilst strategic transport links are being improved, north to south connections within 
the area and to adjacent local communities fail to provide adequate access.  There is 
limited access between Stourton and the north side of the river corridor.  The existing 
bridge at Skelton Grange is single carriageway and has limited capacity and there are 
no direct walking, cycling or public transport services across the river.  The current 
public transport network is very limited north of the river, although some of the 
infrastructure is already in place to support future services and provide links into local 
communities. 

4.5.6 The River Aire corridor is a key asset.  The Trans Pennine Trail runs between the river 
and the Aire and Calder Navigation, providing an attractive and green environment for 
walking and cycling, with links to the city centre and Lower Aire Valley.  The listed 
Thwaite Mills watermill, located on an island between the River Aire and the Aire & 
Calder Navigation, is one of the last remaining examples of a water-powered mill in the 

Page 577



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

113 
 

country and is now open as a museum and educational resource.  The navigation is 
an important resource for potential water-based transport for both leisure and freight 
purposes.  The river is also an important wildlife habitat which links to regionally 
important nature reserves in the Lower Aire Valley. 

4.5.7 The Wyke Beck also runs through the area from Halton Moor in the north, through the 
LCREZ, before it crosses the motorway and joins the River Aire near Skelton Lake.  
The majority of the beck in this area has been degraded by the creation of culverts and 
man-made concrete channels, but nevertheless retains an important function as a 
wildlife habitat and green corridor linked to habitats further up the Wyke Beck Valley. 

4.5.8 Temple Newsam lies immediately to the east of the LCREZ.  This is the largest park in 
the city and appears on the register of historic parks and gardens.  There are 
important views to consider between this area and the estate. 

4.5.9 The area has very few residents, but it does adjoin a number of communities in east 
Leeds (including Halton Moor, Osmondthorpe, Cross Green, Richmond Hill and East 
End Park) and south Leeds (including Belle Isle, Middleton, Hunslet and Rothwell).  
Many of these communities suffer from higher than average levels of deprivation and 
unemployment.  Creating better links between these communities and the existing and 
potential jobs offered is a key priority both in terms of providing better transport 
connections and ensuring local residents have the necessary skills, training and 
assistance to access new jobs.  

Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone 
4.5.10 The LCREZ includes 142 hectares of development land located on both sides of the 

East Leeds Link Road.  There are four sites which make up the LCREZ which are 
shown on the area map: 

1. Newmarket Lane (9.2 ha) 
2. Thornes Farm (21 ha) 
3. Logic Leeds (49 ha) 
4. Temple Green (63 ha) 

Cross Green Industrial Estate 
4.5.11 The Cross Green Industrial Estate located to the north of the River Aire is one of the 

largest purpose built industrial estates in the city.  It is home to a large number of 
businesses in the manufacturing, distribution and waste processing sectors.  The 
estate stretches north and south of the A63.  To the west, the A63 separates the 
estate from the residential part of Cross Green. 

4.5.12 Cross Green is characterised by large industrial and warehouse buildings surrounded 
by car parking and security fencing.  There are few active frontages and supporting 
facilities.  The environment tends to be vehicle dominated and unfriendly to 
pedestrians. 

Skelton Grange (former power station site) 
4.5.13 The Skelton Grange site is served by a private single-carriageway bridge.  There is a 

large National Grid electricity switching sub-station next to the power station site which 
serves a large area of the city. 

Page 578



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

114 
 

4.5.14 The Skelton Grange Environment Centre is also located in this area close to the river.  
This is an important education and community facility which aims to promote an 
understanding of environmental issues. 

4.5.15 To the west of the former power station there are former sludge lagoons associated 
with the waste water treatment works.  This site has been capped to prevent potential 
leakage of pollutants into watercourses.  The land along with the adjacent site next to 
the River Aire is now naturally regenerating with tree and shrub growth, forming part of 
the green corridor along the river. 

 
Stourton 

4.5.16 Stourton is located between the River Aire in the north and the M1 and M621 
motorways in the south.  The west of the area bounds the residential areas of Hunslet 
and Thwaite Gate. 

4.5.17 Stourton originally grew in the late 19th Century as a village providing housing for 
workers in nearby factories.  By the 1970s the last houses had been cleared and 
Stourton’s modern role as a business and industrial centre became established.  The 
Stourton and Thwaitegate War Memorial standing at the junction of Pontefract Road 
and Wakefield Road is a reminder of the area’s past. 

4.5.18 Most businesses in Stourton are in the manufacturing and distribution sectors with a 
smaller office sector.  Large employers include Arla, who have a large dairy operation 
and headquarters building just off M1 J44, and First Direct Bank on Wakefield Road. 

4.5.19 Leeds Valley Park is one of the city’s most important business parks, offering high 
quality, Grade A office space.  Further opportunities remain available for construction 
and development of the later phases. 

4.5.20 Pontefract Road and Wakefield Road (A61) are the main roads through the area 
providing links to M1 J44, M621 J7 and the city centre.  The Leeds-Castleford railway 
line runs through the area supporting some rail freight operations.  

4.5.21 Stourton is characterised by large industrial and warehouse buildings and which create 
similar issues to those noted for Cross Green.  The highway and rail network in the 
area create barriers which make walking and cycling journeys difficult, particularly from 
communities to the south, such as Belle Isle and Middleton. 

AREA-SPECIFIC POLICIES AND PROPOSALS 

4.5.22 This section sets out policies and proposals which are specific to the Central Aire 
Valley.  These aim to deliver the vision, key aims and objectives for the area. Specific 
proposals are shown on the accompanying area map (Map 11). 

Economy and jobs 

4.5.23 Central Aire Valley represents one of the most significant economic development 
opportunities in the LCR.  The area contains over 200 hectares of land with 
development potential for a range of employment uses.  Developed to its full potential, 
the area could create up to 15,000 jobs. 

4.5.24 The economic potential of this area needs to provide significant benefits for local 
people, particularly the communities in east and south Leeds.  This means providing 
training opportunities and high quality transport links, including public transport, 

Page 579



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

115 
 

walking and cycling links, between these communities and the major employment 
sites, allowing local people access to the newly created job opportunities. 

Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone (LCREZ) 

4.5.25 The LCREZ is an unprecedented opportunity for business relocation and expansion, 
situated at the heart of the LCR.  The LCREZ was established by the Government to 
drive investment, growth and job creation.  Companies locating in the LCREZ will 
benefit from a package of incentives, including reduced business rates over a five year 
period, fast track planning and a business support programme.  The LCREZ is 
expected to create up to 7,000 jobs and bring in £550 million of additional economic 
activity by 2025. 

4.5.26 The four LCREZ sites have various planning permissions in place for employment use.  
Detailed proposals for each of the LCREZ sites are set out below. 

Simplified planning in the LCREZ and Central Aire Valley 
4.5.27 To encourage business growth and expansion, simplified planning has been instigated 

as part of the package of incentives on offer to businesses locating within the LCREZ 
and other areas of the Lower Aire Valley.  This includes: 

• the preparation of two local development orders for the LCREZ; LDO 1 (Solar 
Panels), adopted  April 2012 and LDO 2 (Extensions, alteration & changes of use) 
adopted August 2012 which also applies across wider specified industrial areas in 
Cross Green, Stourton and Hunslet. 

• the use of planning performance agreements with developers to establish the 
procedures and timescales for the determination of reserved matters applications 
on LCREZ sites. 

Transport & connections 

4.5.28 Section 3.5 sets out the key strategic transport improvements to be provided during 
the plan period, many of which have direct implications for, and improve the 
connectivity, of this area.  Both the strategic and local improvements are summarised 
below and shown on the area map: 

• The consultation route of the proposed HS2 line runs along the alignment of the 
existing Leeds – Castleford railway line through Stourton. 

• A NGT bus based park & ride site with up to 2,300 car parking spaces and vehicle 
depot located off M621 J7 in Stourton is under consideration. 

• A bus based park and ride facility serving the city centre, with 1,000 car parking 
spaces at Temple Green off M1 Junction 45.  Opens Spring 2016. 

• Potential for a NGT extension to Aire Valley (route to be determined) 
• Provision of new and enhanced public transport services including: 

- a new radial bus link along the A63 serving the Cross Green Industrial Estate, the 
LCREZ and Skelton Gate development sites (based initially on the Temple Green 
Park & Ride service). 

- potential for orbital public transport routes linking east and south Leeds, running 
through the LCREZ. 

- Potential for future enhancement of existing radial public transport routes serving 
the Stourton area and Leeds Valley Park. 

Page 580



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

116 
 

 

• Junction improvements at M1 J44 & J45 and M621 J7 to increase highway capacity 
and improve traffic flow onto the motorway network during peak periods. 

• Provision of a new bridge at Skelton Grange Road to enable public transport 
services to cross the river via a link between the A63 and Pontefract Road. 

• Enhancement of the Trans Pennine Trail route, including improvement to the bridge 
crossing at Skelton Grange Road and provision of a possible alternative route along 
the northern bank of the river between Skelton Lake and Skelton Grange Road. 

• A long term aspiration to provide a cycle superhighway route between Rothwell and 
Leeds City Centre along the Pontefract Road corridor. 

Stourton Park & Ride 

4.5.29 The NGT trolleybus scheme includes for a 2,300 space park & ride facility and vehicle 
depot on a site at Stourton (site AV82).  Current proposals show a residual area of 
land may become available to the south of the depot along the southern boundary of 
the site, next to existing housing and green space.  This opportunity has been 
identified within the Middleton & Belle Isle Regeneration Framework as a potential site 
for housing.  Given uncertainty about the land becoming available at this stage, it is to 
be identified within the wider park & ride site with any future proposals to be assessed 
against the criteria set out in Policy CAV1. 

An 18 hectare site immediately to the south west of M621 J7 is identified as an 
opportunity to provide a bus based park and ride facility serving the city centre (Site 
AV82).  The land is safeguarded for this purpose under Policy CAV1 but it is not 
expected that the entire site area will be required. An opportunity has been identified 
within the Middleton and Belle Isle Regeneration Framework for housing development 
on any residual areas of land. However, given uncertainty about the extent and timing 
of land becoming available for other uses all the land is included within the park & ride 
designation, with any future proposals to be assessed against the criteria and 
requirements set out in Policy CAV1.   

 

POLICY CAV1 – STOURTON PARK & RIDE SITE (AV82) 
Site AV82 at Stourton is safeguarded for a bus based park and ride facility and 
vehicle depot with supporting ancillary facilities associated with the NGT 
trolleybus scheme. 

Other non-transport infrastructure uses, including housing and/or general 
employment will only be acceptable on any part of the site if it can be 
demonstrated that it is no longer required to deliver the strategic transport 
infrastructure needs of the district. 

Site requirements 

The site lies adjacent to a Registered Historic Park and Garden. Development 
proposals should safeguard those elements which contribute to its  
significance, including its setting. 
 
Other local transport improvements 

4.5.30 Policy CAV2 below sets out a number of local improvements to the transport network.  
The main purpose is to improve pedestrian and cycling connections in the area, 

Page 581



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

117 
 

 

connecting local communities and improving access to employment, recreation and 
tourism opportunities.   

POLICY CAV2 – LOCAL TRANSPORT IMPROVEMENTS IN 
THE CENTRAL AIRE VALLEY 
The following local transport improvements in the Central Aire Valley are 
identified on the area map.  Where appropriate and directly related to the 
development of allocated and identified sites, development proposals will be 
required to provide or contribute towards the following infrastructure 
improvements: 
1. Provision of a safe and direct walking and cycling route over the motorway 

between Leeds Valley Park and the NGT trolleybus park and ride site at 
Stourton Belle Isle; 

2. Provision of a cycle route to connect the A63 cycle path with Leeds City 
Centre - Garforth Core Cycle Network route at Newmarket Approach; 

3. Improvements to the A63 cycle route between Newmarket Approach and the 
junction with the Inner Ring Road; 

4. A pedestrian/cycle path to run alongside the Logic Leeds site spine road 
(AV63) to connect Halton Moor to the A63 cycle path; 

5. A pedestrian/cycle route to connect Skelton Grange Bridge, the A63 and the 
Skelton Gate development site and Skelton Lake area by opening the existing 
M1 underpasses, including provision of an alternative Trans Pennine Trail 
route along the northern bank of the river. 

6. A bus gate at the northern boundary of Site AV63 to enable bus services to 
link the area to Halton Moor whilst restricting general traffic. 

7. Improved bus services to Leeds Valley Park. 

Green infrastructure  
4.5.31 This area is centred on an attractive section of the River Aire and Aire & Calder 

Navigation between Knostrop Weir and Skelton Lake, which incorporates the Trans 
Pennine Trail and the Thwaite Mill museum.  It also includes the Wyke Beck corridor.  
The Temple Newsam estate lies on the edge of the area. To the south of the river 
corridor, in the Stourton area, there are a number of identified green corridors which 
link into the wider network in south Leeds.  However, the network is fragmented in this 
area, with a number of identified gaps and parts of the area suffer from a degraded 
environment with limited green infrastructure provision. 

4.5.32 In view of the opportunities identified in this area and the overall aim of protecting and 
enhancing the AVL Green Infrastructure Network, the specific proposals and site 
development requirements aim to: 

• Provide a green setting for new development within the LCREZ and other major 
development sites and main routes to attract new businesses to locate in the area; 

• Enhance the attractiveness of the River Aire corridor for tourism and recreation; 
• Enhance connections to and across the river and canal through the provision of 

high quality walking and cycling routes and bridges; 

Page 582



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

118 
 

 

• Retain and where possible enhance a connected network of natural habitats, 
particularly along the River Aire corridor; 

 
Green space & the habitat network 

4.5.33 A significant opportunity is identified on the northern bank of the river.  This area of 
land is allocated for employment use in the UDP, but is not considered to be 
deliverable for development during the plan period due to the high costs of remediating 
contaminated land.  The land includes former sludge lagoons associated with the 
Knostrop works and adjoining land to the south covering a total area of over 20 
hectares.  Vegetation on the land is naturally re-growing and The land provides an 
opportunity for enhancement to create a mix of natural habitats including community 
woodland, grassland and semi-permanent wetlands. 

Greening the industrial areas 

4.5.34 Potential enhancement projects linked to site development or habitat off-setting 
include the following proposals: 

• A scheme to naturalise the engineered channel of Wyke Beck running through the 
Temple Green development site to create meanders, swales and ponds where 
possible. This is a conditional requirement attached to the existing planning 
permissions for development of the site. 

• Securing green links (including tree and other structural landscape planting) along 
prominent frontages through the industrial areas where opportunities allow. 

• Tree planting as part of the Temple Green park & ride.  

• A flood alleviation scheme for the Logic Leeds development site to include a new 
open flood relief channel running between Halton Hill Recreation Ground and the 
A63. 

POLICY CAV3 – GREEN INSTRUCTURE IN THE CENTRAL 
AIRE VALLEY 
The green infrastructure network shown on the area map will be maintained and 
enhanced through the following range of measures.  Where appropriate and 
directly related to the development, proposals on identified sites, allocations 
and other sites will be required to provide or contribute towards provision of 
improvements or sought through the delivery of other initiatives led by the 
Council and other partners:  

1. Integration and improvement of 20 hectares of previously developed, former 
employment land, to the north of the River Aire and west of the M1 motorway 
into the wider green infrastructure network.   

2. Protection and improvement of other areas of the Leeds Habitat Network 
identified on the area map. 

3. Improvement of green spaces identified on the area map. 
4. Other measures to green and improve the quality of industrial areas, which 

are consistent with overall plan objectives to promote economic growth and 
create job opportunities.  

Page 583



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

119 
 

Low carbon energy production and distribution 

4.5.35 There is considerable potential offered by the heat sources in this area.  The RERF at 
Newmarket Approach is already enabled to generate electricity for the national grid 
and heat for a local heat network.  If implemented, the first phase of a district heating 
network would be to the west of the area, beginning at the RERF and heading 
westwards towards the city centre.  This western area adjacent to the phase 1 network 
route offers the greatest potential to benefit from the system.  Development sites to the 
east of this area will rely on future network extensions.  Until these extensions are 
confirmed, there is no potential for connections to the network for developments in the 
east of the area.   
 
DEVELOPMENT SITES 
 
LCREZ Site 1: Former Wholesale Market Site, Newmarket Lane 

4.5.36 The former Wholesale Market site is 9.2 hectares.  The southern portion of the site is 
allocated as a strategic waste site through the NRWLP as shown on the area map.  
The RERF is being constructed on the southern portion of the waste allocation. 

4.5.37 The northern part of EZ site (4.7 hectares) is identified development in the short term.  
The Core Cycle Network (City Centre - Garforth route) lies to the north of the site 
forming part of a green corridor identified on Map 5.  A landscape buffer separating 
the site from the green corridor should be retained in order to enhance the visual 
amenity and function of the corridor. 

LCREZ Site 2: Thornes Farm 
4.5.38 Thornes Farm is part developed.  A number of the plots are home to a growing 

number of businesses in the manufacturing and distribution sectors.  The site is fully 
laid out, with building platforms prepared and all utilities in place.  Five plots are 
under construction or available for development.  A cycle path has been constructed 
through the site into the wider network and a bus gate provided on Halton Moor Road 
to allow bus services to access the site from Osmondthorpe to the north.  The site is 
accessed off the A63 which gives it a high profile frontage along the southern 
boundary. 

4.5.39 Thornes Farm was allocated for employment uses in the UDP and all remaining sites 
are carried forward to the identified in the plan.  

4.5.40  The northern part of Thornes Farm includes an area of mature tree and shrub cover up 
to 20 metres in width, which provides an important buffer to the cycle path to the north 
and contributes significantly to the green corridor function.  The eastern boundary of 
site AV62 adjoins the Wyke Beck green corridor (Wyke Beck is culverted at this point). 

4.5.41 Site AV60 has an important frontage location on the A63 and is highly visible to 
passing traffic.  The design and layout of new development on the site should respond 
to this context.  Buildings and landscaping should be orientated to front onto the A63. 

LCREZ Site 3 – Logic Leeds (Skelton Moor Farm) 
4.5.42 The Logic Leeds site is a 49.1 hectare site.  The site is bounded by Thornes Farm to 

the west, A63 to the south, the Temple Newsam Estate to the east and the Halton 

Page 584



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

120 
 

Moor estate to the north. The site is allocated for employment uses in the UDP and 
has outline planning permission for 143,500 sqm of office, industrial and distribution 
uses plus ancillary and hotel development.  The permission limits new office 
floorspace to a maximum of 43,000 sqm.  The site is one of the largest employment 
and economic development opportunities in the Leeds portfolio and is geared 
towards providing units of 3,000 sqm and above to attract medium and large scale 
businesses. It is identified on the Policies Map for general employment uses (AV63)  

4.5.43 The green corridor situated along the northern edge of the site includes the Core 
Cycle Network and links into the wider green space network in Halton Moor.  A 
landscape transition zone is required to provide a buffer to the adjacent residential 
area and enhance the function of the green corridor.  The eastern edge of the site 
adjoins Temple Newsam. This boundary is defined by the protected green space of 
Halton Moor Wood and Bell Wood.  A limited landscape transition zone will be 
required between development areas and woodland areas in order to protect trees. 

4.5.44 A new spine road from the Bellwood Roundabout to Halton Moor Road / Cartmell 
Drive will provide vehicle access to the site.  The road includes a segregated cycle 
route linking to the existing cycle network at the north and south of the site. It will 
enable buses to access the site via a bus gate from Halton Moor housing estate, 
allowing services to be extended in the Aire Valley providing direct access to new job 
opportunities for local people. 

LCREZ Site 4: Temple Green  
4.5.45 Temple Green is the largest of the four LCREZ sites at 63.1 hectares and the only 

one located to the south of the A63.  The site is bounded by the A63 to the north, the 
Knostrop WWTW to the west and the M1 motorway to the east.  There are further 
areas of employment land to the south of the site, located outside the LCREZ.  The 
site is mainly in agricultural use, but also includes the former Knostrop filter beds. 

4.5.46 The site has outline planning permission for up to 275,000 sqm of storage and 
distribution (Class B8) uses including some land which lies outside the LCREZ 
boundary.  Part of the site has a further permission for 152,500 sqm of industrial and 
B8 uses.  It is identified on the Policies Map for general employment uses (AV64), 
except for part of the site allocated for strategic waste uses in the NRWLP (Site 202 
on the area map). 

4.5.47 The primary access to the site is from the Bellwood roundabout, off the A63.  The site 
will need to link into the wider transport network and plays a crucial role in creating a 
north to south public transport link via Skelton Grange bridge which is set out in the 
transport strategy (Section 3.5).  There is also potential to link to the Skelton Gate 
site to the east of the M1, along Knowsthorpe Lane via an existing underpass. 

4.5.48 A number of green corridors run through and along the boundary of the site.  These 
include the Wyke Beck which runs through the site in the form of a man-made 
channel.  To improve the biodiversity habitat and maximize opportunities to enhance 
green infrastructure at this site, it is proposed to naturalise the channel.  The site’s 
prominent boundaries along the M1 and A63 offer potential to enhance green 
corridors to help frame and screen large scale buildings on the site. 

 

 

Page 585



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

121 
 

Skelton Grange 

4.5.49 The Skelton Grange area includes over 30 hectares of potential brownfield 
development land on the site of the former power station.  The sites are accessed via 
the privately owned Skelton Grange Bridge which is currently restricted to one-way 
traffic. 

4.5.50 The NRWLP allocates 11 hectares of the western portion of the site as a strategic 
waste site (shown as NRW Site 200 on the Policies Map).  An ERF (incinerator) with 
capacity to accept up to 300,000 tonnes of non-hazardous waste per annum was 
approved in 2013 within the strategic waste site. 

4.5.51 A greater area of land (which includes the NRWLP site and the land shown as site 
AV67 on the Policies Map) has outline planning permission for a mix of industrial and 
storage and distribution uses which allows development up to a maximum floorspace 
limit of approximately 80,000 sqm.  As this permission overlaps with the ERF, it could 
not be implemented in full alongside construction of the ERF. 

4.5.52 A further 7.8 9.17 hectares of land to the south (AV68) is also carried forward from the 
UDP and identified as a general employment site. Both these sites benefit from a 
location which may incorporate the alignment of a rail served development or 
interchange. 

4.5.53 The improved bridge access to the site required by the above permissions will not 
provide the specification and capacity required to support site AV68 or the longer term 
development of the wider area such as the aspiration to provide a public transport link 
across the river to improve connections between communities in east and south Leeds 
to job opportunities provided in AVL. 

4.5.54 A proposal to provide a new bridge (see Section 3.5) to replace the existing crossing 
forms part of the proposed Pontefract Road – A63 link road.  Feasibility work has been 
undertaken to examine options for providing the bridge, with or without removing the 
existing structure which carries the electricity supply from the substation located next 
to the Skelton Grange site.  The new bridge would be multi-modal, catering for buses, 
pedestrians and cyclists, as well as general traffic.  It could also form part of a potential 
NGT trolleybus scheme expansion into this part of the area.  It would require public 
funding (alongside potential developer contributions) and is included within the West 
Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund. 

4.5.55 The layout of development on sites AV67 and AV68 will need to enable provision of a 
direct road link between the bridge crossing and the Temple Green development sites 
to the north, providing direct access from south Leeds communities to the LCREZ. 

4.5.56 These sites have an important role to play in enhancing the River Aire green corridor 
which runs along the southern edge of the site.  The northern river bank offers the 
potential to provide an alternative route for the Trans Pennine Trail which would utilise 
the river crossing at Skelton Gate and link to the proposed pedestrian/cycle bridge 
crossing next to Skelton Lake.  This would enhance the recreational value of this area 
opening it up to public access for the first time. 

  

Page 586



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

122 
 

 

Leeds Valley Park 

4.5.57 Leeds Valley Park is an established office development located in the triangle of land 
between the M1 and M621 motorways and is a gateway location into the main urban 
area of Leeds. The land is allocated for employment use in the UDP. 

4.5.58 The first phase of the park is home to national companies, such as Arla and BAE 
Systems and includes an on-site café and supporting services. The remainder of the 
site has potential for up to 46,000 sqm of additional office floorspace based on the 
earlier planning permission. The undeveloped part of the site alone offers potential for 
a further 3,000 new jobs making it one of the most significant employment 
opportunities in the area. This existing commitment is to be carried forward in the AAP 
and shown as an office site on the Policies Map. Other employment uses are also 
likely to be acceptable subject to detailed design considerations. 

4.5.59 Improved public transport access to the site is important given the expected number of 
jobs to be created and the limited number of existing services, serving the site.  Green 
travel planning has a vital role to play in reducing the number of car trips to the site by 
employees and increasing take up of measures such as car sharing, shuttle buses, 
greater use of public transport, and walking and cycling to work where appropriate.  
There is an opportunity to provide a pedestrian/cycle link from the site to the 
proposed NGT stop and park and ride at Stourton using an existing pedestrian bridge 
over the M621. This would offer a connection to frequent public transport services from 
the city centre once the NGT scheme is operational.  It would be dependent on 
improvements to walking routes in the Belle Isle area to complete the route, which is 
part of proposals set out in the Belle Isle and Middleton Neighbourhood Framework. 

New employment opportunities in Cross Green & Stourton 

4.5.60 Both Cross Green and Stourton are well-established business areas, providing jobs in 
the manufacturing, distribution and office sectors. 

4.5.61 Opportunities for new employment infill developments have been identified in the area, 
offering the potential to extend the range and number of local jobs.  Allocations of land 
to provide general employment development in Cross Green and Stourton are set out 
in Policy AVL4 and are shown on the Policies Map. These are subject to site 
requirements set out below. 

Snake Lane, Cross Green 

Under Policy AVL4, Snake Lane (AV50) is allocated for general employment 

Site requirements 
• The site is located within Phase 1 of the indicative heat network shown on 

Map 6. 

  

Page 587



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

123 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Knowsthorpe Way, Cross Green 

Under Policy AVL4, Knowsthorpe Way (AV51) is allocated for general 
employment. 

Site requirements 
• The site is located within Phase 1 of the indicative heat network shown on 

Map 6. 

Belfry Road, Cross Green 

Under Policy AVL4, Belfry Road (AV54) is allocated for general employment. 

Site requirements 
• The site is located within Phase 1 of the indicative heat network shown on 

Map 6. 

  Pontefract Lane / Newmarket Approach, Cross Green 

Under Policy AVL4, Pontefract Lane / Newmarket Approach (AV65) is allocated 
for general employment. 

Site requirements 
• The site is located within Phase 1 of the indicative heat network shown on 

Map 6. 

Former Pittards site, Knowsthorpe Gate, Cross Green 

Under Policy AVL4, Former Former Pittards site (AV66) is allocated for general 
employment. 

Site requirements 

• The site is located within Phase 1 of the indicative heat network shown on 
Map 6. 

• The site is affected by a gas pipeline.  Detailed design layout should have 
regard to the building proximity distance required.  Consult with Northern  
Gas Networks to see if any additional plant protection provisions are needed. 

Former playing fields, Skelton Grange Road, Stourton 

Under Policy AVL4, Former playing fields, Skelton Grange Road (AV74) is 
allocated for general employment. 

 
Site requirements 
• An Ecological Assessment is required and, where appropriate, mitigation 

measures will need to be provided including a buffer to the south east 
boundary of the site.  

Page 588



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

124 
 

 

 

 • The site is located within Phase 3 of the indicative heat network shown on 
Map 6. 

 
Stocks Bros, Pontefract Road, Stourton 

Under Policy AVL4, Stock Bros, Pontefract Road (AV80) is allocated for general 
employment.  

 
Site requirements 
• An Ecological Assessment is required and where appropriate, mitigation 

measures will need to be provided.  

 Skelton Grange Road (East site), Stourton 

 Under Policy AVL4, Skelton Grange Road, East site (AV83) is allocated for         
 general employment. 
 
Site requirements 
• An Ecological Assessment is required and where appropriate, mitigation 

measures will need to be provided including a buffer to the waterfront on the 
northern boundary. Part of the AVL Green Infrastructure Network is adjacent 
to the north-western boundary of Site AV83. An appropriate soft landscape 
treatment will be required that is sensitive to the nature conservation value of 
the adjacent land. 

• The site is located within Phase 3 of the indicative heat network shown on 
Map 6. 

 

  

Page 589



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

125 
 

 

4.6 SKELTON GATE AREA PLAN 
 
4.6.1 This area plan covers the land to the east of the M1, between the Temple Newsam 

Estate and the River Aire.  The area includes an existing development site and Green 
Belt land, which includes Skelton Lake and the north bank of the River Aire. The plan 
shows how the spatial strategy and plan wide policies will be applied in this area. 

 
SPATIAL VISION  

Skelton Gate will be a sustainable, healthy, and vibrant community (with 
potential for 1,801 2,619 new homes), within a landscaped parkland setting 
which has Skelton Lake as its centrepiece.  The layout will be walkable, 
supported by key local facilities, such as a through school, local shops and 
services, health services and green spaces. The development will have been 
designed in a manner which safeguards key views from the Historic Park and 
Garden at Temple Newsam. 

A mix of housing, in terms of type, tenure and cost will provide opportunities for 
different households to live at Skelton Gate including families, single person 
households and older people.  The development will be child friendly and 
promote healthy lifestyles and will maximise opportunities to generate and 
distribute low carbon energy to new homes and businesses. 

The area will be well connected into the LCREZ, city centre and neighbouring 
communities by frequent public transport services and pedestrian and cycle 
routes providing access to jobs, education and leisure opportunities. 

Skelton Lake will have become an important visitor destination and gateway to 
the Lower Aire Valley nature reserves, linked to other attractions along the River 
Aire and accessible from the waterways network.  Improvements to the 
pedestrian and cycle network, including completion of the final phase of the 
Wyke Beck Way between Temple Newsam and Rothwell Country Park, will link 
to a network of leisure routes in east Leeds and along the River Aire corridor. 

OBJECTIVES 
1. Deliver a high quality, sustainable housing development of 2,619 1,801 homes 

supported by local facilities and services. 
2. Secure improvements to the transport network in order to support new development 

and to enhance the recreational and tourism offer of the area, including improved 
public transport and walking and cycling connections. 

3. Integrate new development within an enhanced green infrastructure network with 
good links into the wider network.  

4. Promote an opportunity for a visitor destination in the area, based around Skelton 
Lake and linked to other visitor attractions via the river corridor and strategic walking 
and cycling routes. 

5. The design of new development should safeguard key views from the Historic Park 
and Garden at Temple Newsam. 

Page 590



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

126 
 

THE LOCAL AREA 

4.6.3 The boundary of the Skelton Gate area is formed by the M1, the River Aire and 
Pontefract Lane and the Skelton Grange landfill.  

4.6.4 Most of the site has been mined, filled and restored to agricultural use. Skelton Lake, 
was created as part of the restoration of the site.  The lake is an attractive landmark 
which lies within the south west of the area.  The area is entirely undeveloped and has 
no existing residents. 

4.6.5 The area lies in an attractive green setting between the Temple Newsam estate to the 
north of the motorway and the River Aire corridor. Both Temple Newsam and the land 
to the south of the river, including Rothwell Country Park, rise steeply above the area 
framing its setting. 

4.6.6 The planning history of the area can be divided into two separate areas:  

• an existing employment allocation in the north of the area; and 
• land to the south of the allocation, which is Green Belt.  

The allocated development site 
4.6.7 A 72 hectare site off M1 J45 to the north of the area was allocated for a business park 

in the UDPR. 

4.6.8 This land is mainly in agricultural use, sloping downwards from the motorway before 
rising to a plateau of land to the south, creating a natural bowl. Colton Beck runs 
through the centre of the site towards Skelton Lake.  Wyke Beck, contained within a 
concrete channel, runs under the motorway and along the western boundary of the 
site southwards to join the River Aire.  

4.6.9 Pontefract Lane runs between the northern boundary of the site and the M1.  The road 
provides access from J45 to the hamlet of Newsam Green to the east of the area and 
to the Skelton Grange landfill site.  The road has been made access only at Newsam 
Green. Knowsthorpe Lane is a private road which runs westwards from J45 under the 
motorway and through to the former Skelton Grange Power Station site.  

4.6.10 An overhead power line and pylons from the electricity substation at Skelton Grange 
runs across the southern part of the development site. 

4.6.11 The central part of the allocation (44 hectares) was granted outline planning 
permission for a business park with 100,000 square metres of office floorspace and 
ancillary development including retail uses and a hotel in 2006.  The scheme has not 
been progressed.  A planning permission is also in place for the laying out of access 
roads to link to J45 and a landscaping scheme which covers an area of 65 hectares in 
the central and eastern part of the site. 

Green Belt land 
4.6.12 The area to the south of the allocated development site all lies within the designated 

Green Belt.  

4.6.13 Skelton Lake is a large water body covering an area of approximately 17 hectares.  
The lake acts as a flood storage area for the River Aire and provides an important 
habitat for many bird species and other wildlife.  There are public rights of way around 
the lake which provide access.  

Page 591



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

127 
 

4.6.14 The land to the east of the lake and south of the allocated site is raised on a plateau 
created from material deposited on the site. There is a steep bank separating the 
raised area from land to the north, west and south. At the top of the bank the land is 
flat and mainly in agricultural use with some small areas of woodland.  

 
MAJOR HOUSING DEVELOPMENT OPPORTUNITY AT SKELTON 
GATE 

4.6.15 The plan proposes a major new housing development at Skelton Gate. The scale of 
the opportunity at the site is such that this represents one of the largest proposed 
housing schemes in the district, with potential for 2,619 1,801 new homes, making a 
critical contribution to meeting the identified needs of the district for new housing set 
out in the Core Strategy. 

4.6.16 Skelton Gate has potential to become a sustainable, attractive and popular area to live 
if the following key opportunities are maximised: 

• An attractive setting within an area of existing and new areas of parkland, access to 
Temple Newsam, the Wyke Beck Way and the Trans Pennine Trail and with 
potential links further down to the river to the lower Lower Aire Valley nature 
reserves (St Aidan’s and Fairburn Ings). 

• Development is of sufficient scale to support frequent public transport services to 
the city centre, initially via the Temple Green Park and Ride and in the longer term 
through the potential extension of the NGT trolleybus network. 

• Close proximity and access to new jobs created in the LCREZ and other parts of 
AVL. 

• Ability to provide a scale of development which can support key local facilities and 
services such as food store, public transport services, a through school, access to 
key health services including GPs, pharmacies and dentists and green space. 

4.6.17 Achieving sustainable development at Skelton Gate will require a comprehensive 
masterplanning approach which encompasses all the land within the area plan, 
including the existing development site and the Green Belt land to the south.  It will 
need to address how this development is integrated and deliver improvement to the 
areas of parkland and recreation opportunities surrounding the site of which Skelton 
Lake is the most notable.  

4.6.18 To deliver sufficient scale of development to support key local facilities, housing and 
supporting uses must be the principle use on all parts of the site deemed to be 
suitable.  As an area that will potentially be home to over 5,000 people in the future, 
the development needs to be designed and laid out to look and feel like a residential 
community and this approach should apply from the entrances to the site and 
permeate throughout the development.  

4.6.19 Some areas within the site will not be suitable for building new homes because there 
are constraints, set out in more detail below, which cannot be easily addressed.  This 
provides an opportunity to integrate other uses within the development and provide 
new areas of green infrastructure connecting into the wider network. 

  

Page 592



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

128 
 

Securing a sustainable housing development  

Key Principles for Design  

4.6.20 To deliver a new sustainable residential community, the details of the development’s 
design will need to be consistent with the urban design principles set out below: 
1. Establish the residential character of the area by creating a distinctive gateway at 

the entrance off the access road to the J45 roundabout, which provides a marked 
departure from the motorway environment.  This should include appropriate 
detailing to highways, verges and signage to slow speeds, and use of landscape to 
influence perceptions back to the human and pedestrian scale. 

2. Create layouts which are clearly anchored within the wider character and rural 
context, through use of borrowed landscapes, deliberately created key views and 
vistas, and retention and enhancement of existing green infrastructure corridors. 
including the waterway corridors. 

3. Provide distinctive and attractive streets and public spaces, including high quality 
green spaces and use of street tree planting to create boulevards, to encourage 
community/neighbourhood identity and ownership. 

4. Locate key facilities, such as the school, local centre and park centrally within the 
development, within walking distance of all parts of the site in an accessible location 
to all occupiers of the site using sustainable transport options. 

5. Create a child friendly environment which provides safe, easy and direct pedestrian 
/cycle routes to the school, shops and green spaces and incorporate road safety 
measures, such as 20 mph zones. 

6. Seek opportunities to provide housing types and other services, specifically catering 
for the needs of older people in accessible locations, close to the local centre. 

7. Create a suitable residential environment by mitigating proximity to the motorway as 
far as possible through provision of buffer areas of mixed use development, 
landscaping or other sound attenuation measures where necessary. 

8. Maximise connectivity of the site to the wider cycle and pedestrian networks and 
points of interest, including Temple Newsam, Skelton Lake, Wyke Beck Valley, 
Trans Pennine Trail, Rothwell Country Park and the wider river corridor. 

9. Encourage low-impact uses of Skelton Lake for recreation or leisure compatible with 
its wider habitat value. 

10. Ensure key views from the Historic Park and Garden at Temple Newsam are 
safeguarded. 

4.6.21 The design, layout and phasing of the development will also need to into account the 
following issues: 

Noise 
4.6.22 Traffic noise from the nearby motorway impacts on the northern and western parts of 

the site. Noise can be mitigated through the design of the development, for example, 
by optimising the layout and design of buildings, locating less noise-sensitive 
commercial uses closest to the motorway and through the construction of dedicated 
acoustic barriers and bunds. A combination of these measures will be required to 
reduce noise levels in proposed residential areas to acceptable levels.    

Page 593



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

129 
 

Skelton Grange landfill site 
4.6.23 An operational landfill site lies immediately to the south west of Skelton Gate with 

permission to operate until 2016. The permission includes a condition for the site to be 
restored within five years after the end of landfilling operations, or by 2021. 
Restoration works will incorporate the existing lagoon to the west of the landfill site and 
include landscape works such as habitat creation, tree planting and provision of gates, 
stiles and paths to allow public access. The operation of the landfill site will affect the 
phasing of development at Skelton Gate but also provides a longer term opportunity to 
create linked areas of parkland and green infrastructure.  

Geotechnical issues 
4.6.24 The developers of the site have undertaken a Phase 1 Geo-technical and Geo-

environmental Study. This identifies that ground remediation will be required, including 
ground gas protection measures.  

4.6.25 The principal geotechnical hazards relate to the thickness and variability of the made 
ground backfill which poses a significant risk relating to differential settlement. Special 
foundations are likely to be required which may include ground improvement over a 
large area and/or constructing all structures on a raft or piled foundations.  The extent 
of remediation and land stabilisation work will need to be informed by further site 
investigations. 

Green Infrastructure, landscape and ecology 
4.6.26 The Skelton Gate site is located within the Strategic Green Infrastructure Network 

identified on Map 15 of the Core Strategy and includes woodland, wetland and 
grassland habitats.  The AVL Green Infrastructure Network identifies green 
infrastructure within the site that should be retained, improved and integrated within 
new development wherever possible. The area map also indicates potential to link the 
site into proposed new areas of green infrastructure, such as the restored 
Skelton Gate Grange landfill site. 

Access to facilities and services 
4.6.27 The site is not currently accessible to existing local facilities and services, such as 

schools, health services and local shops according to the Core Strategy accessibility 
standards.  Consequently, unlocking the potential of the site will require provision of 
supporting facilities within the early phases of development to avoid creating a car-
dependent community. 

4.6.28 Some facilities, including a school, local centre (including local shops and other 
services) and health centre / doctor’s surgery, will need to be provided on the site, 
within walking distance of homes to satisfy the accessibility standard.  The scale of 
housing development proposed is considered to be large enough to provide and 
sustain these important services in the longer term. As one of the largest housing 
allocations in the district, which will mainly take the form of family-sized homes, a 
through school consisting of a two form entry primary school to serve the development 
and a four form entry secondary school to both serve the development and help to 
address the wider needs of the district is justified. 

Highway access  
4.6.29 The principal highway access to the site will be taken directly from an access road 

linking to J45.  The first stage of the access road has planning permission.  The 
options for alternative vehicle access could be via Pontefract Lane (which leads back 
to the M1, J45) or Knowsthorpe Lane allowing access under the M1 from the west.  

Page 594



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

130 
 

4.6.30 More detailed work is needed to assess the trip generation from the site onto the 
strategic highway network, during peak morning and evening periods.  In principle the 
development can utilise the trips assumed for the existing business park proposal 
although the overall position will depend on the exact mix of uses proposed.  The 
impact will be considered cumulatively in order to ensure that any commercial 
development proposed in early phases does not prejudice the long term delivery of the 
housing proposals. 

Sustainable transport 
4.6.31 Securing frequent public transport services to the site is a key priority for creating a 

sustainable and inclusive housing development and to serve other facilities proposed 
at the site.  This needs to be delivered as early as possible in the phasing of 
development to provide access for residents to the city centre and town centres and 
other employment areas and to reduce dependency on the car.  

4.6.32 There are a number of potential options for securing public transport services to the 
development. These are: 

• Extend services from the Temple Green Park & Ride to provide access from the city 
centre into the development site.  A shuttle service between the Skelton Gate site 
and the park and ride is also a possible option. 

• Use the Knowsthorpe Lane underpass under the M1 as an additional access point 
for bus services to create a circular route to the park & ride or, in the longer term, to 
provide a direct service to Pontefract Road using proposed link road and bridge to 
Skelton Grange Road.  

• The potential to bring services through the site which would continue eastwards via 
Pontefract Lane. For example, a route linking to Colton via Bullerthorpe Lane which 
may offer a quicker service than using existing congested routes to the city centre. 
This option, which would require Pontefract Lane to be opened up for buses. 

4.6.33 Within the site, services should be available within walking distance of all homes.  
From the outset, support services need to be integrated within the design of the 
development, with new access arrangements to the local walking and cycling network 
offering a convenient alternative to the private car. 

AREA SPECIFIC POLICIES & PROPOSALS 

4.6.34 This section sets out area specific policies and proposals for the Skelton Gate Local 
Area to deliver the vision and objectives for the area. Specific proposals and 
designations which apply in the area are shown on the accompanying area map (Map 
12). 

Proposed land uses, scale and phasing of development at Skelton 
Gate  

4.6.35 A comprehensive masterplan to indicate the location of specific uses and key services 
and facilities will need to be prepared before development commences.  The 
masterplan should demonstrate how the site requirements have been addressed. 

  

Page 595



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

131 
 

 Under policy AVL7, the Skelton Gate site (AV111) is allocated for housing: 
 

Site requirements 

• Preparation of a masterplan for the whole site (including Green Belt land to 
the south and the Skelton Lake area) that considers and identifies land for the 
site requirements.  

• Provision of local facilities, to be located centrally within the site or within 
walking distance from all residential areas: 
o A local centre to include the following: 

- local shops (500 – 1,000 sq. m. total floorspace), 
- financial & professional services, cafés/restaurants, a pub (500 – up to a 

maximum of 1,000 sq. m. total floorspace and subject to securing 
operators) 

- provision of space for health services including GPs, pharmacies and 
dentists, as appropriate 

- other community facilities including provision for older people (subject to 
securing operators), where appropriate; 

o A through school consisting of a two-form entry primary school and four 
form entry secondary school; 

o Green space, including a community park, children’s play facilities, 
allotments and amenity space. 

• An Ecological Assessment is required and where appropriate, mitigation 
measures will need to be provided including retention and improvement of 
the  AVL Green Infrastructure Network within and adjoining the development, 
wherever possible. 

• Provision of a second primary access to the site at one of the two locations 
indicated on the area map to provide a separate access to the site to 
complement the access taken from the J45 roundabout. A secondary access 
is also required off Pontefract Lane. 

• The site layout is designed ensuring that, wherever practicable, there are no 
homes located more than 400m walking distance to a bus stop.  

• Ensuring that the pedestrian/cycle routes shown on the Area Map are 
incorporated within the development and are linked to all parts of the 
development by safe and direct routes.  

• Housing development (or any other type of development classified as ‘more 
vulnerable’ according to the NPPG) should not be developed in any part of the 
site lying within Flood Zone 3, as indicated in the Leeds Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment or the Environment Agency Flood Risk Maps, whichever is the 
most up to date. 

• No housing development within 250 metres of the boundary of Skelton 
Grange landfill until later phases following cessation of the operational use 
and substantial completion of the restoration works. 

• Inclusion of noise mitigation measures where appropriate. 
• An Ecological Assessment is required and where appropriate, mitigation 

measures will need to be provided. 

Page 596



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

132 
 

 

 
• The development will be required to safeguard key views from the Historic 

Park and Garden at Temple Newsam. 
• The site is located within Phase 3 of the indicative heat network shown on 

Map 6. 

4.6.36 Due to constraints, some parts of the site are not be suitable or viable for housing.  
Some of these areas can be incorporated within the green infrastructure requirements 
of the development, or incorporate specific commercial uses where this would be 
consistent with and help to facilitate housing development delivery of the scale of 
housing proposed in this plan.  Accommodating other uses could assist viability, 
thereby funding new infrastructure and facilities required in the early development 
phases. 

4.6.37 Proposals for other uses would need to be incorporated within the overall masterplan 
for the site, help facilitate the delivery of the housing scheme and be phased alongside 
new housing and have the potential to support the main housing development. 
Proposals which would lead to the creation of a destination serving a wide catchment 
area such as a retail/leisure park, and motorway service area or other formats which 
provides large areas of car parking and attracts significant trips to the site from  would 
attract an unacceptably high number of additional trips utilising the motorway network 
would not be consistent with this approach. 

4.6.38 A food store is an acceptable use providing the scale is limited to that normally 
permitted within a local centre (up to 2,000 sqm gross floorspace). The location of the 
store should be linked into the local centre to allow people to walk between the two 
along a safe and direct route.  This size of store would help to serve the weekly 
shopping needs of future residents of Skelton Gate, but it should not be of a scale 
which would attract trips to the site from long distances. 

4.6.39 Office or other business units could also act as a buffer between the motorwa4.4.35y 
and housing development along the western boundary of the site within the area 
indicated on the area map and could also help sustain local employment.  

POLICY SG1: SKELTON GATE (SITE AV111) – NON-
HOUSING USES 
Within the framework established in the overall masterplan, the following 
additional uses will be permitted with preference given to locations within the 
site which have been identified as most constrained for housing development 
and subject to compatibility with the following requirements: 

1. A food store up to a maximum gross internal floorspace of 2,000 sq. m. to be 
located within or integrated with the local centre and connected to the rest of 
the centre by safe and direct pedestrian routes. 

2. Offices and/or other business uses (Class B1) along the western boundary of 
the site within the broad area indicated on the area plan, up to maximum total 
gross internal floorspace of 10,000 square metres. 

3. Other commercial uses not specified above or by other policies in this plan, 
providing they can be integrated with and support the wider housing site and 
would enhance the viability and deliverability of the overall development and 

Page 597



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

133 
 

 

 
 

help to deliver a sustainable housing development in accordance with Policy 
AVL7.  

4. Assist delivery of the initiatives and requirements stated in Policies SG2, SG3 
and SG4 where appropriate and proportionate to the development proposed. 

The development of the alternative commercial uses should be phased 
alongside delivery of new housing and other facilities not prejudice delivery of 
the scale of housing on the site set out in this plan.  

Site requirements for Site AV111 will apply to any development permitted under 
this policy where relevant to the specific use.   

Walking and cycling connections 
4.6.40 Completion of the Wyke Beck Valley Way cycle route is an important priority.  The 

Wyke Beck Valley Way currently provides a route between Roundhay Park and 
Temple Newsam which is mainly off-road and is part of the city’s core cycle network. 
The final phase of the route is proposed to run through Skelton Gate site, past Skelton 
Lake over the river and navigation, where it would link with the Trans Pennine Trail 
and onto Rothwell Country Park (as shown on the area plan).  This requires the 
construction of two new bridge crossings over the waterways. Funding has been 
secured for the construction of a bridge over the River Aire and over 200 metres of 
cycleway and the other elements of the scheme are part of the Fresh Aire Pilot Project 
for Skelton Lake and Wyke Beck. 

 
4.6.41 This proposal is also part of a much wider scheme to link Roundhay Park (at the 

northern end of the Wyke Beck Valley Way) into a network of walking /cycling routes 
along the eastern edge of the Leeds urban area to be implemented through the 
construction of the East Leeds extension (including a new country park) and the 
Thorpe Park business park, including the creation of Green Park. The will eventually 
provide a circular network of routes linking back into Temple Newsam and the Wyke 
Beck Way and the Trans Pennine Trail. Rothwell would also be connected into this 
network from the south.   

SG2 - WALKING & CYCLING CONNECTIONS AT SKELTON 
GATE 
The following improvements to the walking and cycling network in the Skelton 
Gate area will be required as part of new development where appropriate or 
sought through the delivery of other initiatives led by the Council and other 
partners: 

1. Completion of the final phase of the Wyke Beck Valley Way Strategic Cycle 
Route between Temple Newsam and Bullough Lane (Rothwell Country Park), 
including bridge crossings over the River Aire and Aire & Calder Navigation 
as shown on the area proposals map. 

2. Retention and improvement of bridleways and other public rights of way 
identified on the area map, including links to the restored site to be created 
following the closure of the Skelton Grange landfill site. 

Page 598



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

134 
 

 3. A new route under the motorway along the alignment of Knowsthorpe Lane 
linking Skelton Gate as part of a wider network of improvements providing 
links through to Skelton Grange Bridge and Pontefract Road to the south and 
the Temple Green and other LCREZ sites to the north. 

4. Provision of a new route under the motorway along the north bank of the 
River Aire, linking the Trans Pennine Trail at Skelton Lake with Skelton 
Grange Bridge.   

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE NETWORK 
5.6.42 Skelton Gate lies at the confluence of the Wyke Beck and River Aire, linking two 

strategically important corridors, as well as Temple Newsam and Rothwell Country 
Park.  Specific opportunities to improve the network in the area, in addition to provision 
of walking and cycling routes set out in Policy SG2. include: 

• Creation of a visitor destination at Skelton Lake based on a nature reserve and 
recreational area to include a visitor centre; 

• Integration of the restored site at Skelton Grange landfill site into the network; 
• Enhancing the tourism potential of the River Aire corridor. 

4.6.43 The area map identifies important green infrastructure corridors and sites which will 
need to be retained and improved within development with the aim of creating 
continuous, high quality green corridors between Temple Newsam, Skelton Lake, 
River Aire and along the Wyke Beck corridor.  

Green space 
4.6.44 Applying the Core Strategy green space standards in policy G4 would require around 

21 hectares of new green space for a scheme of 2,619 1,801 dwellings.  However, it is 
important to recognise that the site is close to extensive areas of green space and the 
more efficient and sustainable approach would be to improve the quality of these 
green spaces and the walking and cycling access between them and the development 
site in lieu of some of the new on-site green space provision. 

4.6.45 Nearby green space includes the natural green space around Skelton Lake and 
potentially links in to a much wider area of linear green space along the river corridor 
(see the ‘country park’ proposal in Section 3.6), ultimately linking to the RSPB nature 
reserves at St Aidans and Fairburn Ings in the Lower Aire Valley. This area is to be 
designated as protected green space under Core Strategy Policy G6.  The site is also 
very close to Temple Newsam which is a city park with a broad range of facilities and 
is connected by a M1 underpass for pedestrians and cyclists.  

4.6.46 Notwithstanding improvements to nearby green space, it is important that the Skelton 
Gate development provides high quality green space to serve future residents and to 
help create an attractive place to live for people of all ages.  This includes parks and 
gardens, amenity space, allotments and children’s play facilities within the types of 
green space provision required by the Core Strategy including a range of equipped 
children’s play facilities. 

4.6.47 Most of the green space should be provided in the form of  A a community park (as set 
out under site requirements) which under the definition set out in the Leeds Open 
Space, Sport and Recreation Assessment should provide for the local community as a 
whole, with multiple facilities for active and passive recreation with areas of formal 
landscaping.  This should be centrally conveniently located within the development site 

Page 599



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

135 
 

 

within easy walking for future residents distance of all occupiers of the site. There is an 
opportunity to link this new park with the Colton Beck green infrastructure corridor 
which runs through the centre of the site and into the wider network of green space. 
The aim would be for the park to be as multifunctional and flexible as possible to 
meets the needs of the community, including provision of equipped play facilities for 
young and older children and teenagers. The masterplanning work will determine the 
location and scale of the park within these parameters. Allotment provision and some 
amenity space provision and a children’s play facility may be located separately within 
the development. The needs for outdoor sport facilities will be considered through the 
preparation of the masterplan.  This will need to take into account existing and 
proposed provision with the wider east Leeds area, including that proposed at Green 
Park in Austhorpe.  

POLICY SG3: GREEN SPACE AND GREEN 
INFRASTRUCTURE NETWORK AT SKELTON GATE 
In addition to the site requirements identified for Site AV111, the green space 
and green infrastructure network in the Skelton Gate area will be protected and 
improved by: 
1. Designation of the Skelton Lake area (50 hectares) as green space to be 

protected under Core Strategy Policy G6 and identified as a green space 
improvement site on the area map. 

2. Retention and improvement of the green infrastructure network identified on 
the area map, including, where appropriate, quality improvements to habitats, 
access and rights of way and better signage and interpretation facilities. 

LEISURE & TOURISM 
4.6.48 Skelton Lake and its surrounds have the potential to become a new visitor attraction 

located along the River Aire corridor.  The lake is already an important bird habitat, but 
there is limited recreational use of the area because current access arrangements are 
inadequate.  There is a balance to be struck between managing and protecting 
habitats at the lake and opening up the surrounds of the lake to visitors. 

4.6.49 The Council support the creation of a visitor attraction facility at the northern end of the 
lake along the southern edge of the housing allocation.  The aim would to be build a 
visitor centre facility linked to management of the lake as a wildlife habitat.  This needs 
to be a distinctive and sustainable building, exemplifying high standards of 
architectural and landscape design which is and designed to be sensitive to its setting.  
It would act as a gateway into the Lower Aire Valley nature sites and river corridor 
from the urban area of Leeds. 

4.6.50 Creation of a visitor centre facility fits into a larger green space enhancement project, 
including improvements to the natural habitat, public rights of way signage, 
interpretation, provision of bird hides and incorporating the area to the west of Wyke 
Beck.  There may also be potential for better recreational use of the lake, for non-
motorised water activities such as canoeing or sailing. 

4.6.51 Attraction to the area could be further improved by creating an access to the site from 
the waterways network, for example through provision of a water taxi / river boat 
services and a stop and boat mooring facilities. 

Page 600



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

136 
 

 POLICY SG4 – NEW VISITOR DESTINATION AT SKELTON 
LAKE 
The following improvements in the Skelton Lake area are promoted and 
supported to enhance the potential of the area as a visitor attraction linked to 
other attractions along the River Aire corridor subject to the outcome of further 
feasibility work and securing funding and long term management arrangements: 
1. Provision of a new visitor centre facility at the northern edge of Skelton Lake 

to be integrated with the wider housing led development at Skelton Gate and 
related to long term management of the lake and surrounding land.  

2. Support for the provision of river boat / water taxi services and stops and 
additional boat moorings along the Aire and Calder Navigation to provide 
access to Skelton Lake as part of a wider scheme to create a network of 
linked attractions and destinations along the river corridor which can be 
accessed by boat. 

 
 
  

Page 601



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

137 
 

SECTION 5 - IMPLEMENTATION AND DELIVERY 
 
5.1 Delivery of the AAP principles and policies requires organisation of various 

implementation and delivery mechanisms.  Core Strategy Policy ID1 provides the 
overview of implementation and delivery mechanisms, within which the AVLAAP is set.  
The Council will continue to seek funding from a wide range of sources to help deliver 
the necessary infrastructure to enable delivery of the AVL vision.  For instance funding 
may be provided by government in the form of supported borrowing and grants 
(normally for specific purposes, and particularly from the Department for Transport and 
the Department for Education).  General funding sources investigated for LCC 
services also include retained non-domestic business rates, council tax, CIL, S106, 
generation of capital receipts, and the new homes bonus.  Throughout the plan various 
mechanisms to ensure delivery of proposals and policies are mentioned.  This section 
provides an overview of the wider delivery framework. 

 
Assisted Areas Status 

5.2 Several wards within AVL are classified as assisted areas; Burmantofts & Richmond 
Hill, Temple Newsam and City & Hunslet.  Assisted areas are those places where 
regional aid can be offered to undertakings, typically businesses, under state aid rules.  
This means that funding available through the Regional Growth Fund (RGF) can be 
awarded to companies who might not qualify under normal EU state aid controls.  This 
is especially true of large companies who would normally be excluded from such 
funding schemes. 

5.3 Identification of assisted areas is aimed at geographic and sectoral rebalancing of the 
economy, primarily by promoting manufacturing growth in traditional industrial 
heartlands.  The existing assisted areas agreement with the EU runs to 2020.  The 
Enhanced Capital Allowances (ECAs) available at LCREZ rely on assisted area status. 

 
Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone (LCREZ) 

5.4 The LCREZ benefits from designation as an assisted area and in the March 2015 
budget, the chancellor confirmed the two larger sites at Temple Green and Logic 
Leeds will be able to offer ECAs as part of their package of incentives to encourage 
manufacturing investment in the area.  Consistent with assisted area status, ECAs will 
be available in the zone up to 2020. 

 
5.5 The SEP identifies delivery of the EZ as the top priority for job creation in the LCR.  In 

demonstrating their commitment, both the Council and the LCR have created 
programs to offer financial assistance to underwrite installation of core infrastructure 
and incentivise site take up.  For example, substantial grants are available to business 
creating additional new job opportunities locating within the EZ.  The Council has 
underwritten the construction cost of the Logic Leeds spine road. 

 
5.6 In addition to the above incentives, businesses locating within the EZ before April 2018 

will benefit from a non-domestic (business) rates discount up to a maximum of 
£55,000 per annum, aggregating at £275,000 over the five years. 

 
5.7 Designation of an EZ also allows the LCR to retain any new business rates that 

become payable following the EZ designation in 2012.  Estimates of plot development 

Page 602



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

138 
 

forecast this income at approximately £130M.  This will be retained by the LCR for 
reinvestment within the city region and could further facilitate delivery of the EZ. 

 
5.8 The Council have had previous success in securing £8.57M under the Building 

Foundations for Growth fund from central government.  This kick started development 
at three sites by financing the remediation and infrastructure works. 

 
HS2 and Transport for the North 

5.9 At an estimated £50 billion, HS2 is the largest national transport infrastructure project 
of a generation.  Primarily financed from central government, its implementation is 
being managed by HS2 Ltd, a government owned company.  The anticipated 
operational delivery date for trains carrying passengers on the new route between 
London and Leeds, via Birmingham, is 2033.  Various delivery mechanisms are being 
established, such as a regional programme board for regional engagement, creation of 
a joint venture between London and Continental Railways and the Council to plan and 
deliver regeneration associated with HS2 Leeds, preparation of a planning framework 
and a master plan for the anticipated new station location. 

 
5.10 HS2 will bring new capacity, as well as relieving congestion on existing rail routes, 

freeing them up for local and regional rail services.  Leeds city station is already the 
busiest in the north of England and it is projected that passenger numbers will 
continue to grow.  The eastern leg combines the economies of Leeds, Sheffield, 
Nottingham, Derby and Birmingham into a closer, more powerful coherent economic 
zone, linking the four main manufacturing centres in the UK.  The eastern route has 
the highest benefit cost ratio for any section of the HS2 network.  The HS2 station 
location provides an exciting new focus for aspirations and emerging plans for the 
South Bank area. 

 
5.11 The Transport for the North (TfN) Strategy established a number of objectives across 

rail, highways, smart ticketing and freight that TfN will now work in partnership with 
Government to develop.  Part of the proposals within the TfN strategy will increase 
frequency and speed of rail services between these two cities Leeds and Manchester. 

 
Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme (FAS) 

5.12 The £45M scheme will provide at least 1 in 75 year flood protection for the city centre 
and other communities along the river corridor to the east.  The project extends 4.3km 
from the railway station to Thwaite Mills.  This scheme replaced fixed weirs with 
adjustable weirs, removed Knostrop Cut to allow the river and canal to merge and 
installed linear flood defences in the form of walls and hard landscaping in the city 
centre.  This scheme provides the city centre; over 3,000 homes and 500 businesses 
with flood protection from the River Aire and Hol Beck.  The FAS will complete in early 
2017, thereby reducing the flood risk at several identified and allocated sites in this 
plan.   

 
5.13 The project funding is provided from a combination of public sector sources.  The 

private business contributions will be generated through the Leeds Business 
Improvement District (BID) which covers the majority of Leeds City Centre. 

 

Page 603



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

139 
 

5.14 There are two further phases planned; phase 2 to extend the scheme upstream of 
Leeds City Centre, to Newlay Weir, and phase 3 to increase the standard of protection 
to 1 in 200 years. 

 
Local Growth Deal 2014 

5.15 In July 2014, the LCR agreed a £1bn Local Growth Deal with government to finance 
regional priorities with the purpose of creating thousands of new jobs and accelerating 
economic growth across the entire city region.  The deal includes: 

• £627m between 2015 – 2021 from the government’s Local Growth Fund to deliver 
the economic agenda outlined in the LEP’s Strategic Economic Plan – with £73m of 
new funding confirmed for 2015/16 

• £420m between 2015 – 2035 to deliver the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund 
 
5.16 Alongside other new funding streams, the Growth Deal provides £1bn of government 

investment and new freedoms and flexibilities to direct investment where it will be of 
maximum benefit to the regional economy. 

5.17 As well as benefitting the whole Leeds City Region, the Growth Deal will enable 
delivery across the four strategic priorities identified in the SEP: 
1. Supporting growing businesses 
2. Developing a skilled and flexible workforce 
3. Building a resource smart City Region 
4. Delivering the infrastructure for growth  

 
5.18 The devolution of these powers and creation of the fund will directly benefit proposals 

within this plan.  Recent approval has been given for the Temple Green park and ride 
to be financed through the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund as the first phase of 
the Aire Valley Integrated Transport Package.  The subsequent phases include a new, 
north south link road, a new river bridge and capacity works at M1 junction 45.  There 
is also the potential for securing future growth deal funding for other proposals in this 
plan. 

Development Management 
5.19 An element of development management is recognising that schemes need to be 

deliverable, and planning applications where viability is a concern may be submitted 
with a viability assessment which should contain sufficient evidence to enable officers 
to assess a scheme. 

 
Delivery frameworks and masterplans and policies 

5.20 Site specific policies within this AAP are necessary to allocate the sites for land uses 
and establishing the minimum key requirements that will need to be delivered to 
ensure the site can be successfully developed.  In relation to larger, more complex 
proposals and sites, wider consideration of issues and requirements is needed to 
deliver sites.  The plan confirms that the sites at Skelton Gate and Copperfields 
require a more joined up approach through the preparation of a masterplan, involving 
all the necessary stakeholders.  These masterplans will establish the blue print for the 
comprehensive development of the sites.  Other masterplans include consideration of 
the HS2 station and its links with the existing city station. 

Page 604

http://www.the-lep.com/about/strategic-economic-plan-(1)/


Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

140 
 

5.21 Masterplans can be prepared by land owners, developers or the Council working 
together, in consultation with other stakeholders, delivery agencies and infrastructure 
providers.    To ensure consistency, masterplans will need to reflect the policy 
requirements presented in this plan. 

5.22 Where an area is undergoing considerable change with many sites available for 
development over s similar timeframe then a framework would be prepared to ensure 
development of individual sites takes account of the wider issues.  Frameworks are 
usually prepared by the local planning authority following consultation with 
stakeholders.  The Council adopted South Bank Planning Framework in October 2011.  
To ensure consistency, this plan reflects much of the content presented in the South 
Bank framework. 

 
Partnership working 

5.23 The Council will continue to work with partners, stakeholders, local communities, 
landowners, businesses, and developers in order to create joint visions for the future 
delivery of the plan and specific sites.  This will ensure that development occurs in a 
planned way aligned with the Core Strategy and is viable and deliverable.  The Council 
will take a positive and cooperative approach to potential investors to promote and 
support development and the economy across Leeds.  Throughout the development of 
the AVLAAP, the Council has worked in partnership with infrastructure providers to 
identify the infrastructure required to enable new development on the sites identified 
and allocated in the AVLAAP. 

Contingency 
5.24 There is inevitably an element of uncertainty in delivery when plans and strategies are 

drawn up and circumstances can changes over time.  The AAP has been developed 
over a number of years throughout various changing circumstances and has 
embedded a degree of flexibility for the future.  Across the evidence base realistic 
market scenarios and viability considerations have been used.  Some of the 
infrastructure planned is essential whereas other infrastructure is less critical and 
funding streams will be prioritised accordingly.  Should key projects not receive 
funding, then the Council can respond and adapt as necessary through other existing 
or new mechanisms.  Monitoring is an important aspect of contingency planning as it 
provides up to date evidence and feedback to enable review of the policies and 
progress towards delivery of the AAP’s vision. 

 
Monitoring 

5.25 Within the context of the Core Strategy monitoring framework, the Council will 
measure the performance of the AVLAAP by assessing how effective its policies and 
proposals are in delivering its vision and objectives.  Monitoring of the AAP policies will 
be undertaken through the production of the annual Authority Monitoring Report 
(AMR).  The AMR also allows early identification of issues that may require 
intervention. 

 
  

Page 605



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

141 
 

Planning obligations and the Community Infrastructure Levy  
5.26 The Council reaches decisions on planning applications based on whether they accord 

with the relevant policies. However, it may be possible to make development 
proposals acceptable which might otherwise be unacceptable in planning terms, 
through the use of planning obligations, also referred to as S106 (section 106) 
agreements.  These agreements can be used to prescribe, compensate, and/or 
mitigate the impact of a development.  For a number of years the Council has pooled 
financial contributions from individual development’s section 106 agreements to fund 
necessary improvements to public transport, green space, the road network, school 
expansion.  Many of the projects for which the Council sought planning obligations 
have been superseded by the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  However, 
affordable housing provision will continue to be sought via a S106 Agreement as 
outlined in Core Strategy policy H5, and section 106s still have an important role for 
mitigating on site specific issues such as greenspace, flood defences and drainage, 
access and nearby junction improvements (also undertaken through Section 278 
highways agreements).  

5.27 Core strategy policy ID2 sets out the Council’s proposal to use planning obligations, 
developer contributions, and the Community Infrastructure Levy in order to help fund 
infrastructure needed as result of new development.  Planning obligations are also to 
be used to ensure non-physical measures such as training/skills initiatives and local 
labour agreements (Core Strategy policy SP8) and travel plans (Core Strategy policy 
T2 and the Leeds Travel Plans SPD). 

5.28 The Council adopted its CIL on the 6th April 2015.  The CIL is levied on new floorspace 
with a range of charges for different uses based on £ per square metre.  It does not 
apply to affordable housing floorspace or where there are existing buildings to have a 
change of use or to be demolished.  The residential rate for the city centre and the 
inner area is £5 psm and the remainder is £23 psm.  Offices within the city centre 
boundary will be charged £35 psm, and supermarkets and comparison retail are 
subject to different charges depending on where they are located.  All other uses are 
charged £5 psm.  For more information and the full categories of the different rates 
see the charging schedule on the CIL webpage via www.leeds.gov.uk/ldf.  

Page 606

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/ldf


Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

142 
 

GLOSSARY 
Term Explanation 
Affordable Housing Housing provided to specific eligible households whose needs are not met by the market.  

It is generally provided by either the Council, or by a Registered Providers 
Aire Valley Leeds 
Urban Eco-Settlement 
(AVL UES) 

Areas identified by the Government for major new housing, which also promote 
sustainable development by seeking the delivery of commercial and residential areas 
which have high quality environments, energy efficient buildings and operations, low 
carbon and green business, sustainable transport, community facilities and linked areas of 
green infrastructure.  

Authority Monitoring 
Report (AMR) 

Annual report submitted to the government by local planning authorities assessing 
progress with and the effectiveness of a Local Development Framework.   

Area Action Plan 
(AAP) 

Development plans within the Local Development Framework which focus on a specific 
area subject to significant change, such as a major regeneration project.  They set out 
policies and proposals for the development of land to help decide planning applications 
and guide the future growth of the area. 

Brownfield / 
Previously Developed 
Land 

Any land or premises that has previously been used or developed in association with a 
permanent structure (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the cartilage 
should be developed).  It does not include land in built-up areas such as private residential 
gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments, and land that was previously-
developed but where the remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface structure 
have blended into the landscape in the process of time. 

City Region or Leeds 
City Region 

The Leeds City Region partnership brings together the eleven local authorities of 
Barnsley, Bradford, Calderdale, Craven, Harrogate, Kirklees, Leeds, Selby, Wakefield, 
York, and North Yorkshire County Council to work together towards a thriving and 
sustainable City Region in areas such as transport, skills, housing, spatial planning, and 
innovation. 

Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) 

A financial charge which local authorities can charge on most types of new development in 
their area, depending on viability.  The money will be spent on infrastructure to support the 
development of the area. 

Core Strategy The principal document within the Local Development Framework.  It sets out the spatial 
vision for the future of Leeds to 2028, and provides broad policies to shape development.   

Density A measurement of the intensity of residential land use, usually measured by the number of 
dwellings per hectare (dph). Net housing density is calculated by dividing the developable 
area (i.e. excluding land for roads, green space etc.) within the red line boundary of the 
planning approval by the total number of units granted permission.  

District heating A system for distributing heat generated in a centralised location for residential and 
commercial heating requirements such as space heating and water heating.  The heat is 
often obtained from a co-generation plant burning fossil fuels but increasingly biomass. 
District heating plants can provide higher efficiencies and better pollution control than 
localised boilers. 

Edge of centre For retail purposes, a location that is well connected to and within easy walking distances 
(i.e. up to 300 metres) of the Primary Shopping Area.  For all other main town centre uses, 
this is within 300 metres of the town centre boundary taking into account local 
circumstances (or for offices 500 metres from a centre’s public transport interchange). 

Employment  Land Employment land relates to all B Class employment sectors including office floorspace 
(B1a Use Class) and general employment land.  
General employment land includes research and development (B1b class), light industry 
(B1c), general industry (B2) and storage or distribution (B8) but excludes office floorspace 
(B1a). 

Employment Land 
Review (ELR) 

Part of the evidence for the LDF which assesses likely demand for office, industrial and 
warehousing space in Leeds and compares this with potential supply, taking account 
issues of quality, location and choice. 

Enterprise Zone (EZ) 
or Leeds City Region 
Enterprise Zone 

Designated areas offering incentives to new development and investment for the purposes 
of stimulating economic growth.  Incentives can range from simplified procedures for 
planning applications, business rate discounts to tax relief on new capital investment.  A 
significant part of Aire Valley Leeds alongside the East Leeds Link Road has been 
approved by Government as the Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone. 

 

Page 607



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

143 
 

 
 
Flood risk zone Areas with a high, medium or low risk of flooding.  Development should generally be 

located outside of flood risk areas.  Flood risk is assessed in Leeds by the Strategic Flood 
Risk Assessment (SFRA), which sets out the different levels of flood risk across the 
District. 

Green Belt A designation for areas of open land around certain cities and large built-up areas where 
strict planning controls apply to keep this land open or largely undeveloped.  The purposes 
of the green belt are to check the unrestricted growth of large built up areas, prevent 
neighbouring towns from merging, and preserve the special character of historic towns.  It 
also aims to safeguard the countryside from encroachment, and assist urban regeneration 
by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land.  The designation is not 
intended to be a statement of the quality or attractiveness of the open land. 

Green corridor Green corridors are green spaces, which can link housing areas to the national cycle 
network, town and city centres, places of employment, and community facilities. They help 
to promote environmentally sustainable forms of transport such as walking and cycling 
within urban areas and can also act as vital linkages for wildlife dispersal.  They often act 
as major breaks around and between parts of settlements. 

Green Infrastructure 
(GI) 

An integrated and connected network of green spaces, which have more than one use 
and function.  GI is both urban and rural and includes protected sites, woodlands, nature 
reserves, river corridors, public parks and amenity areas, and sport facilities, together with 
green corridors.   

Green space  A collective term to describe areas of open space and vegetation, whether public or 
private, used for formal or informal recreation.  Examples include recreation grounds, 
parks, linear spaces alongside canal towpaths, grass playing pitches, bowling greens, 
tennis courts, pedestrian areas in the city centre, small play spaces within housing areas, 
or woodland. 

Greenhouse gases Gases in an atmosphere that absorb and emit radiation within the thermal infrared range.  
This process is the fundamental cause of the greenhouse effect. Common greenhouse 
gases in the Earth's atmosphere include water vapour, carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous 
oxide, ozone, and chlorofluoro carbons. 

Hectare (Ha) One hectare (Ha) is equivalent to 10,000 square metres (100 x 100). This is approximately 
the same size as a full size football pitch. 

High Speed Rail or 
HS2 

The Government’s proposals for a new high speed rail link between Leeds and London via 
Birmingham. Current plans envisage construction of the Birmingham to London link first 
followed by links to Leeds and Manchester by 2033.  Forecast Leeds to London journey 
time would be 80 minutes. 

Impact assessment A planning process which assesses the significance of an impact against existing and new 
circumstances.  An impact could refer to social, environmental and economic matters, for 
example retail, transport, biodiversity, equality and health issues. 

Infrastructure  Basic urban services necessary for development to take place, for example, roads, 
electricity, telephone lines, sewerage, and water.  It is also used to refer to transport 
provision, and social infrastructure such as education and health facilities, and green 
infrastructure. 

Leeds City Region 
(LCR) 

The Leeds City Region Partnership brings together the eleven local authorities of 
Barnsley, Bradford, Calderdale, Craven, Harrogate, Kirklees, Leeds, Selby, Wakefield and 
York, along with North Yorkshire County Council to work toward the common aim of a 
prosperous and sustainable City Region by working together in areas such as transport, 
skills, housing, spatial planning and innovation. 

Leeds Core Cycle 
Network (LCCN) 

Phase 1 of the Leeds Core Cycle Network is a system of 17 routes covering 71 miles and 
linking existing cycle paths and traffic-calmed roads to provide continuous routes into the 
City Centre from throughout the main urban area of the City. Subsequent phases will 
deliver additional connections to the 17 routes. 

Leeds Flood 
Alleviation Scheme 
(FAS) 

The Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme is a major project for to provide flood alleviation for 
19km of the River Aire from Kirkstall, through the City Centre to Woodlesford.  It is 
intended to provide a 1 in 200 year standard of protection against flooding along the river 
in the long term. 

Page 608



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

144 
 

Local centre Local centres cater for daily shopping needs, and provide shopping provision to 
complement weekly shopping known as ‘top up’ shopping. The range of uses and the 
scale of units is less than that offered by town centres and there may be no Council, 
health or community facility, although many provide financial services and offices.  Due to 
the significant differences in scale and function of local centres across Leeds the Core 
Strategy establishes a two-tier approach to split them into higher and lower order local 
centres. 

Local convenience 
centre 

These are local centres which are within the city centre boundary and where slightly 
different policies apply to the rest of the district’s local centres. 

Local Development 
Framework (LDF) 

The collection of development documents, which set out the local planning authority’s 
policies. They take into account the impact of development on the economy, the 
environment and the social make-up of the area. 

Low carbon economy The use of low carbon technologies that can help reduce carbon emissions from fossil fuel 
sources. Renewable and/or low carbon energy supplies include those from biomass and 
energy crops; combined heat and power; waste heat that would otherwise be generated 
directly or indirectly from fossil fuel; energy-from-waste; ground source heating and 
cooling; hydro; solar thermal and photovoltaic generation; and wind generation. 

Main urban area With the City Centre at its heart, it includes those communities and neighbourhoods which 
form the main built up areas of the City of Leeds (and not the separate settlements 
surrounding it). 

Major development Defined by Circular 15/92 as “the erection of 10 or more dwellings, or, if this is not known, 
where the site is 0.5 hectares or more; In other cases; where the floorspace to be created 
is 1,000 square metres or more, or the site area is 1 hectare or more.” 

Mineral Safeguarding 
Area (MSA) 

An area identified to protect potentially economic resources from being sterilised by other 
development. 

New Generation 
Transport (NGT) 

The name of the proposed trolleybus scheme for Leeds that was cancelled in May 2016 
following a public inquiry. This The scheme would have comprised two routes linking 
Stourton and Holt Park to the City Centre, with park and ride sites at Stourton and 
Bodington. The vehicles would run on street with electric power supplied by overhead 
wires. 
 

Open Space Green space with the addition of civic space, usually comprising hard landscaped open 
areas for public gathering and churchyards. 

Policies Map The illustrations on a base map showing the most up to date policies, allocations, and 
designations of the development plan. 

Primary Shopping 
Area (PSA) 

A defined area where retail development is concentrated (generally comprising the 
primary frontages, and those secondary frontages which are adjoining and closely related 
to the primary ones). 

Public Right of Way 
(PROW) 

A route over which the public have a right to pass, whether or not the land that it crosses 
is privately-owned.  The rights have been legally recorded on the Definitive Map and 
Statement.  There are three categories; footpath, Bridleway and Carriageway, and there 
are also permissive footpaths and bridleways. 

Regeneration  A focus of intervention centred on an improvement to the conditions of disadvantaged 
people or places.  It includes interventions to reverse economic failure or to tackle 
deprivation in target areas.  It can be achieved through a range of methods including 
improvements to the physical environment, education, health, housing, employment 
opportunities, and community safety.  It also includes attracting and growing businesses, 
skills and workforce development. 

Regeneration Priority 
Programme Areas 

The council’s key areas for programmes of targeted regeneration, through cross-sector 
working.  These areas are identified in the Core Strategy. 

Renewable energy Energy flows that occur naturally and repeatedly in the environment, for example from the 
wind, water flow, tides or the sun. 

Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan 
(ROWIP) 

The ROWIP is a statutory document prepared by Leeds City Council under section 60 of 
the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000.  It establishes the action plan for the Leeds’ 
rights of way network over the period 2009 to 2017. 

Section 106 
Agreement / planning 
obligations 

Legal agreements negotiated by the landowner or developer with the Council in response 
to a planning application.  They are used to make development proposals acceptable in 
planning terms, and in order to mitigate against the impact new development will have 
upon the City’s existing infrastructure, such as transport provision, local community 
facilities, and green space.   

Page 609



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

145 
 

Sequential approach A planning principle that seeks to identify, allocate, or develop certain types or locations of 
land before others. For example, brownfield housing sites before greenfield sites, or town 
centre uses sites before out-of-centre sites. 

Shopping frontages Stretches of fronts of shops designated within the city centre and town and local centres 
where the intention is to maintain minimum concentrations of retail uses at ground floor 
level and control the mix of supporting uses.  Frontages can be classed as primary or 
secondary. 

Site Allocations Plan Provides site allocations and details that will help to deliver the Core Strategy’s long term 
spatial vision, objectives and policies.  It is a key LDF document in identifying specific 
allocations for development. 

Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment (SFRA) 

Identifies the areas of different flood risk across the Leeds district.  It should be used to 
help identify locations for future growth and inform land use policies. 

Strategic Green 
Infrastructure 

Green Infrastructure which has strategic importance across the district, including the 
strategic connections between green areas for the benefit of people and wildlife. 

Strategic Housing 
Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA) 

A technical study which seeks to identify potential housing sites that could be developed 
over the life of the Core Strategy. It will be used in order to demonstrate the available level 
of supply, and to influence the decisions taken in the Core Strategy regarding the location 
and phasing of sites. 

Supplementary 
Planning Document 
SPD 

SPDs deal with specific issues (thematic or site specific) and elaborate upon the policy 
and proposals in Development Plan Documents (DPDs). 

Sustainability 
Appraisal SA 

A process and a document that takes into account the social, environmental and economic 
effects of a plan to allow decisions to be made that accord with sustainable development. 
It also makes sure that plans produced will last. 

Sustainable 
construction 

The use of design and construction methods and materials that are resource efficient and 
that will not compromise the health of the environment or the associated health of the 
building occupants, builders, the general public or future generations. 

Sustainable 
development  

Seeking to ensure that all development has a minimal detrimental impact on the 
environment whilst maximising environmental, economic and social gains.  A widely-used 
and accepted international definition of sustainable development is “Development that 
meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to 
meet their own needs”.  There are five shared principles of sustainable development in the 
UK.  The aim is to live within environmental limits and achieve a just society, by means of 
a sustainable economy, good governance, and sound science. 

Town centre Provide for weekly and day-to-day shopping and service needs close to where people live 
and work.  They have a wide range of uses including a supermarket and a range of shops 
including independent traders, financial services, a council presence either in the form of a 
library or council offices, healthcare facilities, and community facilities.  

Travel plans A package of practical measures aimed at addressing the transport needs of a particular 
development (or organisation) where it is likely to generate a significant level of trips. 

Unitary Development 
Plan (UDP) 

The current statutory development plan for the whole of the Leeds District (Review 2006). 
It provides a framework for all new developments and is used as a basis for making 
decisions regarding land use and planning applications. It will be replaced by the emerging 
LDF. 

Use class orders Planning legislation which groups together similar types of land and buildings into various 
categories.  The current categorisation is from the Use Classes Order 1987 (Use Classes 
Order 1987 as amended at 2005, 2006, 2010 and 2015). 

Viable  Whether there are reasonable prospects that development will occur on a site. This will be 
influenced by the market, costs, and delivery factors. 

Vision for Leeds – the 
Community Strategy 

The long term community plan for Leeds, which feeds into the Core Strategy.  The Vision 
is to be the best City in the UK by 2030.  Leeds will be fair, open and welcoming, its 
economy will be prosperous and sustainable, and all Leeds’ communities will be 
successful. 

Windfall A term to describe development on a site not specifically allocated for development in a 
development plan, but which unexpectedly becomes available for development during the 
lifetime of a plan. 

 

  

Page 610



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

146 
 

Appendix 1: Schedule of Leeds Unitary Development Plan Saved Policies 
(at adoption of the Leeds Core Strategy – November 2014) to be 
revised/superseded by the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Publication 
Draft 
 
The following saved UDP policies will be deleted on adoption of the Aire Valley Leeds AAP: 
 
Policy No. Name Reason / replacement policy 
Chapter No and Name: 05 – ENVIRONMENT: Volume 1 
N1  PROTECTION OF URBAN 

GREENSPACE (WITHIN AVL 
AAP AREA) 

Superseded by Policy AVL14 – Protection of Green 
Space (under Core Strategy Policy G6)  

N1A  PROTECTION OF 
ALLOTMENTS (WITHIN AVL 
AAP AREA) 

Superseded by Policy AVL14 – Protection of Green 
Space (under Core Strategy Policy G6) 

N6 PROTECTION OF 
PLAYING PITCHES 
(WITHIN AVL AAP AREA) 

Superseded by Policy AVL14 – Protection of Green 
Space (under Core Strategy Policy G6) 

N8 URBAN GREEN 
CORRIDORS (WITHIN AVL 
AAP AREA) 

Superseded by Aire Valley Leeds Green 
Infrastructure Network (Policy AVL13 and Map 5) 

Chapter No and Name: 06 – TRANSPORT: Volume 1 
T17.1 PARK AND RIDE SITES 

STOURTON NORTH 
Superseded by allocation under Policy CAV1 (site 
AV82) 

T21.1  NON STRATEGIC 
HIGHWAY SCHEMES – 
THWAITE GATE LINK 
 

No longer proposed  

T29A  
 

LORRY PARKING AND 
COACH LAYOVER 
FACILITIES AT M1/EAST 
LEEDS LINK 

No longer proposed 

Chapter No and Name: 07 – HOUSING: Volume 1 
H3-1A.45  
 

HUNSLET RIVERSIDE Superseded by identified sites & allocations under  
Policies AVL2, AVL3, AVL6 & AVL7 (sites AV38, 
AV40, AV41, AV42, AV43, AV46, AV47 & AV98) 

Chapter No and Name: 08 – THE LOCAL ECONOMY: Volume 1 
E3A:E8:5 EMPLOYMENT LAND Identified site under Policy AVL2 with revised boundary 

(sites AV57, AV58, AV59, AV60, AV61, AV62, AV69) 
E3A:14 EMPLOYMENT LAND Not identified – developed site. 
E3A:15 EMPLOYMENT LAND Not identified - NRWLP allocation. 
E3A:16 EMPLOYMENT LAND Not identified – developed site. 
E3A:17 EMPLOYMENT LAND Not identified – developed site & NRWLP designation. 
E3A:18 EMPLOYMENT LAND Not identified - developed site. 
E3A:20 EMPLOYMENT LAND Identified site under Policy AVL2 with revised boundary 

(site AV45). 
E3A:22 EMPLOYMENT LAND Not identified – developed site 
E3A:23 EMPLOYMENT LAND Not identified – developed site 
E3B:19 EMPLOYMENT LAND Not identified – developed site 
 

Page 611



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

147 
 

E3B:20 EMPLOYMENT LAND Identified site under Policy AVL2 with revised boundary 
(site AV75) 

E3C:2 (i) CROSS GREEN IND 
ESTATE 

Identified site under Policy AVL2 (site AV56) 

E3C:2 (ii) CROSS GREEN IND 
ESTATE 

Identified site under Policy AVL2 with revised boundary 
(site AV55) 

E3C:2 (iii) CROSS GREEN IND 
ESTATE 

Not identified – developed site 

E3C:2 (iv) CROSS GREEN IND 
ESTATE 

Superseded by extended allocation under Policy AVL4 
(site AV66). 

E3C:2 (v) CROSS GREEN IND 
ESTATE 

Identified site under Policy AVL2 with revised boundary 
(site AV52)  

E3C:2 (vi) CROSS GREEN IND 
ESTATE 

Not identified – developed site 

E3C:2 
(viii) 

CROSS GREEN IND 
ESTATE 

Not identified – developed site 

E3C:3 LOW FOLD, RICHMOND 
HILL 

Superseded by identified sites & allocations under 
Policies AVL1 & AVL7 (sites AV31, AV32, AV33, 
AV34). 

E3C:12 THWAITE LANE, 
STOURTON 

Not identified – developed site 

E3C:19 HUNSLET BUSINESS 
PARK 

Superseded by allocations under Policy AVL7 (site 
AV46) 

E3C:20 CARLISLE ROAD, 
HUNSLET 

Superseded by allocations under Policies AVL7 (sites 
AV15 & AV16). 

E4:8 SOUTH OF 
KNOWSTHORPE LANE, 
CROSS GREEN 

Not identified – developed site 

E4:9 EAST LEEDS RADIAL 
SITES, CROSS GREEN 

Identified site under Policy AVL2 with revised boundary 
(site AV64) 

E4:25 NORTH OF 
PONTEFRACT RD, BELL 
HILL, STOURTON 

Not identified – not suitable 

E4:26 SOUTH OF 
PONTEFRACT RD, BELL 
HILL, STOURTON 

Identified site under Policy AVL1 with revised boundary 
(site AV81) 

E4:27 VALLEY FARM ROAD, 
STOURTON 

Identified site under Policy AVL2 (site AV79) 

E4:28 STOURTON NORTH, 
HUNSLET 

Superseded by allocation under Policy CAV1 (site 
AV82)  

E4:44 SKELTON GRANGE Identified site under Policy AVL2 with revised boundary 
(sites AV67 & AV68) 

E4:45 SKELTON BUSINESS 
PARK, PONTEFRACT 
LANE 

Superseded by allocation under Policy AVL7 (site 
AV111) 

E4:46 SKELTON MOOR FARM Identified site under Policy AVL2 (sites AV63)  
E4:49 HAIGH PARK ROAD, 

PONTEFRACT ROAD 
Identified sites under Policy AVL2 with revised 
boundary (sites AV77, AV78 and AV113) 

 
 

Page 612



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

148 
 

Chapter No and Name: 10 – LEISURE AND TOURISM: Volume 1 
LT5B.1 STOURTON NORTH Superseded by allocation under Policy CAV1 (site 

AV82) 
LT5B.4 ROYAL ARMOURIES, 

CLARENCE DOCK 
Superseded by Policy SB4 

Chapter No and Name: 11 – AREA BASED INITIATIVES and REGENERATION: Volume 1 
R2  AREA BASED 

INITIATIVES: 
- EAST BANK 
- HUNSLET 

Superseded by AAP (Sections 4.3 and 4.4) 

Chapter No and Name: 15 - EAST LEEDS: VOLUME I 
R2:15.2.6  EAST BANK 

NEIGHBOURHOOD 
REGENERATION AREA 

Superseded by AAP (Section 4.3) 

H3-1A:45  
 

HUNSLET RIVERSIDE 
STRATEGIC HOUSING 
AND MIXED 
USE SITE 

Superseded by identified sites & allocations under  
Policies AVL2, AVL3, AVL6 & AVL7 (sites AV38, 
AV40, AV41, AV42, AV43, AV46, AV47 & AV98) 

E4:8 SOUTH OF 
KNOWSTHORPE LANE, 
CROSS GREEN 

Not identified – developed site 

E4:9  EAST LEEDS LINK / 
KNOWSTHORPE, CROSS 
GREEN 

Identified site under Policy AVL2 with revised boundary 
(site AV64) 

E4:44  SKELTON GRANGE Identified site under Policy AVL2 with revised boundary 
(sites AV67 & AV68) 

E4:45 
 

SKELTON BUSINESS 
PARK, PONTEFRACT 
LAN 

Superseded by allocation under Policy AVL7 (site 
AV111) 

E4:46 
 

SKELTON MOOR FARM Identified site under Policy AVL2 (sites AV63) 

Chapter No and Name: 21 - ROTHWELL: VOLUME I 
E4:25  PONTEFRACT ROAD, 

BELL HILL (NORTH), 
STOURTON 
 

Not identified – not suitable 

E4:26 
 

PONTEFRACT ROAD, 
BELL HILL (SOUTH), 
STOURTON 
 

Identified site under Policy AVL1 with revised boundary 
(site AV81) 

E4:27  VALLEY FARM ROAD, 
STOURTON 
 

Identified site under Policy AVL2 (site AV79) 

E4:49  HAIGH PARK ROAD / 
PONTEFRACT ROAD, 
STOURTON 

Identified sites under Policy AVL2 with revised 
boundary (sites AV77, AV78 and AV113) 

 
  

Page 613



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

149 
 

Chapter No and Name: 22 - SOUTH LEEDS: VOLUME I 
R2:22.2.2  HUNSLET 

NEIGHBOURHOOD 
REGENERATION AREA 

Superseded by AAP (Section 4.4 & 4.5) 

E4:28, 
E18:8, 
LT5B:1 
and 
T17:1 
 

STOURTON NORTH, 
HUNSLET 

Superseded by allocation under Policy CAV1 (site 
AV82) 

T21:1  HIGHWAYS 
IMPROVEMENTS 

Not proposed 

Chapter No and Name: A15 - EAST LEEDS: VOLUME 2 
E3C (2)  
 

CROSS GREEN 
INDUSTRIAL ESTATE 

Identified sites  under Policy AVL2 (sites AV52, AV55 
& AV56) and superseded by extended allocation under 
Policy AVL4 (site AV66). 

E3C (3)  LOW FOLD RICHMOND 
HILL 

Superseded by identified sites & allocations under 
Policies AVL1 & AVL7 (sites AV31, AV32, AV33, 
AV34). 

Chapter No and Name: A21 - ROTHWELL: VOLUME 2 
E3B (20)  PONTEFRACT ROAD / 

CINDER OVEN BRIDGE, 
STOURTON 

Identified site under Policy AVL2 with revised boundary 
(site AV75) 

E3C (12)  THWAITE LANE, 
STOURTON 

Not identified – developed site / not suitable 

Chapter No and Name: A22 - SOUTH LEEDS: VOLUME 2 
E3C (19)  
 

HUNSLET BUSINESS 
PARK 

Superseded by allocations under Policy AVL7 (site 
AV46) 

E3C (20) CARLISLE ROAD, 
HUNSLET 

Superseded by allocations under Policies AVL7 (sites 
AV15 & AV16). 

 

  

Page 614



Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft 

150 
 

Appendix 2: Local Undesignated Heritage Assets Schedule 
 
 Name Address Location 
    
1.  54 Cross Green Lane Cross Green 
2.  20 Crown Point Road Hunslet 
3. The Small Mill Chadwick Street Hunslet 
4. The Malthouse Chadwick Street Hunslet 
5. The Sun PH 134 Church Street Hunslet 
6. Crown Hotel Crown Point Road Hunslet 
7. Ellerby House 1 - 2 Ellerby Lane Cross Green 
8. Goodman House Goodman Street Hunslet 
9. T F And J H Braime 

Holdings Plc 
Hunslet Road Hunslet 

10. The Tetley 17 - 33 Hunslet Road Hunslet 
11.  315 – 329 Hunslet Road Hunslet 
12.  331 - 333 Hunslet Road Hunslet 
13. St Josephs Convent 5 Joseph Street Hunslet 
14.  51 Low Road Hunslet 
15.  34 Lupton Street Hunslet 
16.  3 Sheaf Street Hunslet 
17. St Saviours Church 

Hall And Parish 
Building 

9 Upper Accommodation 
Road 

Cross Green 

18.  21 Upper Accommodation 
Road 

Cross Green 

19. Hunslet Branch 
Library 

Waterloo Road Hunslet 

20.  13 Brookfield Street Hunslet 
21. The Brewery Hunslet Road Hunslet 
22. Old offices Crown Point Road Hunslet 
    

 
 

Page 615



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 

 

AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AREA ACTION PLAN  

Leeds Local Development Framework 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Development Plan Document 

Schedule of Pre-Submission Changes   

September 2016 

Page 617



Page 1 of 39 
 

 

Contents            Page 

 

Part 1 – Schedule of proposed changes to Draft Plan       2 
  

Part 2 – Schedule of factual and grammatical changes to     34 

              Draft Plan  

Page 618



Page 2 of 39 
 

Part 1 - Schedule of Pre Submission Changes to the Draft Plan 

The following schedule lists proposed Pre-Submission Changes, which the Council would agree, 
subject to further discussion through the Examination process. Consequently these changes are 
included in the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission Draft, Sept 2016 (CD/01).  

In terms of presentation, the deletion of text is denoted with a strikethrough (strikethrough), with 
inserted new text as bold underlined (new text). 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                         Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

1 1.6 Delete section 1.6 - stages of preparation and consultation and 
update contents page. 

1.6 AVLAAP – STAGES OF PREPARATION & CONSULTATION 

1.6.1 The AVLAAP has been in production since 2005, against a 
background of changing national and regional planning policy.  
The current timetable has been driven by the adoption of the Core 
Strategy and the desire to prepare the SAP & AVLAAP at the 
same time, to ensure the district’s site allocations can be 
presented and considered in their entirety. 

1.6.2 The stages in plan preparation completed to date are as 
follows: 

•Early Issues for consultation (Summer 2005) 

•Alternative Options for consultation (April – June 2006) 

•Preferred Options (October - November 2007) 

•Informal consultation on the promotion of the area as an Urban 
Eco-Settlement and extensions to the AAP boundary (January – 
March 2011) 

1.6.3 The final stages to progress the plan to adoption are: 

•Public consultation of publication draft (Autumn 2015) 

•Examination (Spring 2016) 

•Adoption (Winter 2016/2017) 

This section is not 
needed in the final 
Plan 

2 2.2 (6) Amend principle 6 under para 2.2 as follows:  

6. To preserve, enhance and ensure a sustainable future the 
existing natural and for heritage assets and enhance natural 
assets linked to within a wider network of green infrastructure 

For effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

3 3.2.2 Delete fourth bullet point under para 3.2.2:    

The NGT Trolleybus route is proposed to pass through the South 
Bank and Hunslet area, including several stops to improve the 
accessibility of the area and development sites to the city centre 
and other parts of the city.  The scheme includes a 1,500 space 
park & ride and vehicle and staff depot at Stourton which will 
provide local job opportunities in south Leeds. 

For clarity. 
Reflecting refusal 
of NGT scheme in 
May 2016. 

4 3.2.8 Amend third sentence of para 3.2.8 as follows: 

“…The catalyst for the area’s development will be major transport 
investments; led by the NGT trolleybus system, the opening of 
Leeds Station Southern Entrance and potentially, the proposed 
HS2 station…” 

For clarity. 
Reflecting refusal 
of NGT scheme in 
May 2016. 

Page 619



Page 3 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                                                                  Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

5 3.2.14 
& Table 
1 

Amend table 1 under para 3.2.14 as follows: 

Table 1 shows identified office sites (including mixed use development) which provide a total of 13.3 
13.5 hectares of employment land.  

TABLE 1: SCHEDULE OF IDENTIFIED OFFICES SITES (INCLUDING MIXED USE SITES 
WHICH INCLUDE OFFICE USES) 
Site No. Site Name Identified 

use 
Office floorspace          

(sqm) 
Area (ha) 

(available for 
offices) 

AV5 Indigo Blu, Crown Point Road Mixed Use1 1,271 0.05 

AV10 Armouries Drive, Leeds Dock Mixed Use2 4,130   8,022  0.90  1.04 

AV11 Former Alea Casino, The 
Boulevard, Leeds Dock  

Offices 5,890   8,191 0.17 

AV31 Cross Green Lane / Echo 
Phase 3 

Mixed Use3 6,290 0.18 

AV44 Unit 5 Nelson House, Quayside 
Business Park, George Mann 
Road 

Offices 
1,059 0.37 

AV81 Leeds Valley Park Offices 46,000 11.69 

TOTAL 64,640  70,833 13.38  13.50 

 
 

Update to reflect 
baseline position at 
31st March 2016. 

                                                             
1 Development completed  (also included housing) 
2 Planning permission also allows flexible uses of ground floor units A1/A3/A4 uses up to maximum floorspace limits  
3 Planning permission for offices. See Policy EB4 for other suitable uses.  

P
age 620



Page 4 of 39 
 

No. Policy/
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                               Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

6 3.2.15 
& Table 
2 

Amend text and  table 2 in para 3.2.15 as follows:  

Table 2 shows identified general employment sites (mainly industry 
and storage and distribution uses) which provide a total of 169 178.2 
hectares of employment land. 

TABLE 2: SCHEDULE OF IDENTIFIED GENERAL 
EMPLOYMENT SITES 
Site 
No. 

Site Name Area (ha) 
 

AV42 Riverside Place, Bridgewater Road 0.45 

AV45 Gibraltar Island Road 0.70 

AV47 South Point, South Accommodation 
Road 0.51 

AV50 Snake Lane 0.80 
AV52 Newmarket Lane 2.04 

AV55 Pontefract Lane / Newmarket Lane 
South of Pontefract Road 0.49 

AV56 Land off Knowsthorpe Road 2.97 
AV57 Plot 2A, Thornes Farm 0.99 
AV58 Plot 2B, Thornes Farm 1.20 
AV59 Plot 5, Thornes Farm 2.70 
AV60 Plot 6, Thornes Farm 2.40 
AV61 Connex 45 site, Thornes Farm Way 1.83 
AV62 Thornes Farm Way 0.87 
AV63 Logic Leeds (Skelton Moor Farm) 46.40 
AV64 Temple Green  69.56 
AV65 Pontefract Lane / Newmarket 

Approach 0.41 

AV66 Former Pittards site, Knowsthorpe 
Gate 5.22 

AV67 Skelton Grange (North) 11.81 
AV68 Skelton Grange (South) 7.33  9.17 
AV69 Symingtons, Far Lane, Thormes Farm 1.01 
AV70 2 Pontefract Lane, Cross Green 0.37 
AV71 Thwaite Gate / Sussex Avenue 0.43 
AV73 Former Post Office building, Skelton 

Grange Road 3.35 

AV75 Pontefract Road, North of M1 J44 5.58 
AV77 Nijinsky Way / Pontefract Road  0.83 
AV78 Haigh Park Road / Pontefract Road  1.17 
AV79 Valley Farm Road, Stourton 1.16 
AV92 William Cooke Castings, Cross Green 

Approach 0.43 

AV93 Unit 4, Queen Street 0.22 
AV96 Airedale Mills, Clarence Road 0.60 

AV113 Former Leeds College of Building, 
Stourton Link, Intermezzo Drive 1.62 

AV115 Land off Pontefract Road 0.71 
AV116 Site 8, Newmarket Green 0.16 
TOTAL 169.02  178.16 

 
 

Update to reflect 
baseline 
position at 31st 
March 2016 and 
consequential 
changes. 

Page 621



Page 5 of 39 
 

No. Policy/
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                               Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

7 3.2.16 Amend first sentence of para 3.3.16 as follows: 

“Additional contributions come from sites allocated (or proposed) for 
waste and rail and water freight uses (41.3 42.6 ha)…”  

Update to reflect 
adoption of 
NRWLP in 
September 
2016.  

8 3.2.17 Delete para 3.2.17 and renumber subsequent paragraph numbers: 

3.2.17 A further 4.3 hectares of land has been identified as part of the 
NGT park and ride proposal at Stourton.  The scheme incorporates a 
vehicle and staff depot on land next to the park and ride facility which 
is considered to be an employment use.  The calculation of the land 
area excludes the park and ride facility itself.  This proposal will 
require approval under the Transport and Works Act (see Section 3.5). 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016. 

9 3.2.18 Amend table 3 under para 3.2.18 as follows: 

Table 3 below summarises the contribution from each of the above 
sources of supply and sets out the residual land requirement that 
needs to be identified as new allocations in the AAP. 

TABLE 3: AVL EMPLOYMENT LAND REQUIREMENTS & 
SOURCES OF EMPLOYMENT LAND SUPPLY 

AVL employment land requirement 
(Core Strategy Spatial Policy 5)  250 hectares 

Identified offices sites (including mixed 
use sites with office uses) 13.4  13.5 hectares 

Identified general employment sites  169  178.2 hectares 

Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan 
allocations & proposed allocations  41.3  42.6 hectares 

Stourton Park & Ride site (employment 
element) 4.3 hectares 

Residual land requirement for 
employment uses  22  15.7 hectares 

 

Consequential 
changes to 
totals 

10 3.2.20 Delete fourth bullet point in para 3.2.20 as follows: 

• A limited opportunity for up to 10,000 sq. m. of new office floorspace 
as part of the comprehensive housing led development proposals at 
Skelton Gate, east of the M1 (See Section 4.6). 

Proposal was 
not justified. To 
address 
consultation 
representation. 

11 3.2.21 Amend second sentence of para 3.2.21 as follows: 

Table 4 provides a schedule for mixed use sites which sets out the 
estimated capacity for office development. In total these sites could 
provide an estimated further 9.9 10.5 hectares of employment 
development alongside housing development.   

Consequential 
changes to 
totals 

12 Policy 
AVL3 

Amend fourth bullet point under part 1 of policy text as follows: 

POLICY AVL3: OFFICE DEVELOPMENT IN AIRE VALLEY LEEDS  
1. New development for large scale offices (Use Class B1a) will   be 
promoted and concentrated in the following locations in AVL: 

• The South Bank area (within mixed use schemes) 

• The Marsh Lane site (within mixed use schemes) 

Proposal not 
justified. To 
address 
consultation 
representation. 

Page 622



Page 6 of 39 
 

No. Policy/
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                               Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

• Leeds Valley Park 

• Skelton Gate (within a comprehensive housing-led development) 

Reminder unchanged. 

13 3.2.23 Amend last sentence in para 3.2.23 as follows:  

“…A total of 17.7 10 hectares of land is allocated on 10 7 sites within 
the existing employment areas at Cross Green and Stourton…” 

Consequential 
change to total. 

14 Policy 
AVL4 

Amend point 1 and table under point 4 of policy text follows:  

POLICY AVL4: GENERAL EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT IN AIRE 
VALLEY LEEDS 
1. New development for research & development (Use Class B1b), 
light industry (Use Class B1c), general industry (Use Class B1c B2) 
and storage & distribution (Use Class B8) uses will be promoted and 
concentrated in the following locations as defined on area maps: 

4. The following sites are allocated for general employment use in 
accordance with Core Strategy Spatial Policy 9.  These sites are 
shown on the Policies Map and are subject to site requirements set 
out in area plans: 

SITE REF SITE NAME AREA (HA) 

AV50 Snake Lane 0.80 

AV51 Knowsthorpe Way 0.85 

AV54 Belfry Road 1.98 

AV65 Pontefract Lane / Newmarket 
Approach 0.41 

AV66 
Former Pittards site, Knowsthorpe 
Gate 5.22 

AV72 North of Haigh Park Road 1.26 

AV74 Former Playing fields, Skelton Grange 
Road 1.01 

AV76 South of Haigh Park Road 2.91 

AV80 Stock Bros, Pontefract Road 1.62 

AV83 Skelton Grange Road (East site)  1.62  0.41 

TOTAL 17.7  10.04 

 

Reminder unchanged 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representations. 

Page 623



Page 7 of 39 
 

No. Policy/
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                               Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

15 3.2.24 Amend first sentence of para 3.2.24 as follows: 
 
“Total employment land identified in the AVLAAP area from all 
sources is 256.2 254.8 hectares…” 
 

Consequential 
change to total. 

16 3.3.7 Amend text in para 3.3.7 as follows:  

Table 5 sets out a schedule of identified housing sites in AVL as of 
April 2015 2016 and these sites are shown on the Policies Map.  
Identified sites have potential to provide a total of 1,840  2,159 new 
dwellings (completed post 2012, under construction and not started) 
which count towards meeting the area requirements of at least 6,500, 
leaving a residual requirement of at least 4,660 4,341 dwellings to be 
allocated on new housing and mixed use sites. 

Update to reflect 
baseline 
position at 31st 
March 2016 and 
consequential 
changes. 

Page 624



Page 8 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                                                                                 Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

17 3.3.7 
Table 5 

Amend table 5 under para 3.3.7 as follows: 
 

Table 5: Schedule of identified housing sites (including mixed use sites to provide housing)  
Site 
Ref 

Address Use HMCA Capacity Completed 
Pre-2012 

Completed 
Post-2012 

Under 
construction 

Not 
started 

AV5 Indigo Blu, Crown 
Point Road  

Mixed 
Use 

City 
Centre 

46 20 26 0 0 

AV19 Marsh Lane / Saxton 
Lane 

Housing City 
Centre 

80 0 0 0 80 

AV21 The Parade & The 
Drive  

Housing Inner 
Area 

410 335 75 0 0 

AV24 St Marys Church, 
Church Road 

Housing Inner 
Area 

171 0 0 0 171 

AV25 Flax Place Housing City 
Centre 

195 0 0 0 195 

AV26 The Gateway Housing City 
Centre 

646 538 14 0 96 

AV27 Former Leeds 
College of 
Technology, East 
Street 

Housing City 
Centre 

39 0 0 0 39 

AV30 Ellerby Lane Housing Inner 
Area 

247 100 0      0  147 0  147 

AV33 Low Fold Housing Inner 
Area 

312 0 0 0 312 

AV35 Land On St Hildas 
Crescent, St Hildas 
Grove, Cross Green 
Crescent 

Housing Inner 
Area 

21 0 21 0 0 

AV36 Adjacent St Hildas 
Church, Knowsthorpe 
Crescent 

Housing Inner 
Area 

86 0 0 0 86 

 
 

Update to 
reflect baseline 
position at 31st 
March 2016 
and 
consequential 
changes. 

P
age 625



Page 9 of 39 
 

 
Site Ref Address Use HMCA Capacity Completed 

Pre-2012 
Completed 
Post-2012 

Under 
construction 

Not 
started 

AV39 East Street Mills Housing City 
Centre 

161 154   0  7   0 0 7 

AV41 Hunslet Mills 
 

Mixed 
Use 

Inner 
Area 

699 0 0 0 699 

AV43 Yarn Street 
 

Housing Inner 
Area 

287 114 143  173 28  0 2  0 

AV112 Rocheford Court, 
Pepper Road 

Housing East 11 0 0 0 11 

AV117 Land north of St 
Hildas Crescent 

Housing  7 0 0 0 7 

TOTAL    3099 

3418 
1261 

279 

316 

28 

147 

1533 

1696 

 
 

P
age 626



Page 10 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

18 3.3.9 Amend text in second sentence of para 3.3.9 as follows: 

“Focused on the above locations, Policy AVL7 sets out the housing 
and mixed use allocations (to provide housing) in AVL. Housing 
allocations provide a total capacity of 4,035 3,026 dwellings…”   

Consequential 
change to total. 

19 3.3.10 Amend second sentence onwards of para 3.3.10 as follows: 

“…The area has potential to provide an estimated 825 1,635 dwellings 
based on the land in the area which is available for development over 
the plan period, predominantly the former Tetley’s Brewery site.  This 
capacity calculation makes allowance for the creation of the City Park 
and provision of other uses. A higher number or proportion of 
dwellings may be appropriate in the area subject to other 
development plan policies and detailed design matters. Section 
4.2 sets out further details on proposals in the South Bank Planning 
Statement Area. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

20 Policy 
AVL7 

Amend part 3 and part 7 of Policy AVL7 under para 3.3.12 as follows:  

POLICY AVL7: HOUSING AND MIXED USE ALLOCATIONS IN 
AIRE VALLEY LEEDS 
3. The following sites are allocated for housing, subject to site 
requirements set out in area plans: 

SITE 
REF SITE NAME HMCA AREA 

(HA) 

ESTIMATED 
CAPACITY 

(DWELLINGS) 

AV20 

Yorkshire 
Ambulance 
Station, Saxton 
Lane 

City Centre 0.60 95 

AV22 

Former Richmond 
Inn, Upper 
Accommodation 
Road 

City Centre 
/ Inner 
Area 

0.40 26 

AV23 

Butterfield Manor 
& Richmond 
Court, Walter 
Crescent 

Inner Area 0.83 48 

AV28 
Bow Street & East 
Street 

Inner Area 0.13 23 

AV29 
Ellerby Road & 
Bow Street 

Inner Area 1.10 79 

 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representations. 

 

 

Page 627



Page 11 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

  SITE 
REF SITE NAME HMCA AREA 

(HA) 

ESTIMATED 
CAPACITY 

(DWELLINGS) 

AV32 
Rose Wharf Car 
Park, East Street 

Inner Area 0.46 72 

AV33 Low Fold Inner Area 2.28 312 

AV34 
South 
Accommodation 
Road 

Inner Area 0.52 27 

AV38 
Former 
Copperfields 
College site 

East 11.21 273 

AV40 
Bridgewater Road 
(North) 

East 11.20 425  546 

AV46 
Tetleys Motor 
Services, 
Goodman Street 

Inner Area 0.62 36 

AV111 Skelton Gate East 99.30 2,619  1,801 

TOTAL 
130.93 
126.37 

4,035  3,026 

 

5. The South Bank Planning Statement Area is identified on the 
Policies Map as a broad location to provide new housing development 
of a scale indicated below, as part of a wider mixed use regeneration 
opportunity, and subject to site requirements set out in the South Bank 
Area Plan: 

SITE 
REF SITE NAME HMCA AREA 

(HA) 
HOUSING ESTIMATED  
CAPACITY(DWELLINGS) 

AV94 

South Bank 
Planning 
Statement 
Area 

City 
Centre 

19.53 825  1,635 

Reminder unchanged 

 

 

  

Page 628



Page 12 of 39 
 

 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

21 3.3.13 
& Table 
6 

Amend text and table 6 under para 3.3.13 as follows: 

Distribution of new homes 
Housing sites identified and allocated in the plan and shown on the 
Policies Map have a total estimated capacity of 7,830 7,950 dwellings 
against the minimum housing requirement of 6,500 dwellings.  This 
provides a degree of flexibility towards meeting the housing 
requirement. Table 6 below sets out the distribution of new homes 
identified in the AAP by local area showing a broad distribution across 
the plan area except for the Central Aire Valley area which has an 
employment focus. 

TABLE 6: DISTRIBUTION OF NEW HOMES IN AVL BY LOCAL AREA 

Local Area Dwellings 

1. South Bank 1,649  2,459 

2. East Bank, Richmond Hill & Cross 
Green 

2,160  2,167 

3. Hunslet 1,402  1,523 

4. Central Aire Valley 0 

5. Skelton Gate 2,619  1,801 

Total 7,830  7,950 
 

Consequential 
change to totals. 

22 3.3.14 
Table7 
 

Amend table 7 under para 3.3.14 as follows: 

Table 7 summarises the total capacity of AVL housing sites by HMCA. 

TABLE 7: NEW HOMES IN AVL BY CORE STRATEGY HOUSING MARKET 
CHARACTERISTIC AREA (SPATIAL POLICY 7) 

HCMA Identified sites Allocations Total 

City Centre 457 2,002  2,812 2,459  3,269 

Inner Area 1,372  1,691 671   359 2,043  2,050 

East Leeds 11 3,317  2,620 3,328  2,631 

Total 1,840  2,159 5,990  5,791 7,830  7,950 

 

 

Consequential 
change to totals. 

  

Page 629



Page 13 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

23 3.3.15 Insert text end of third sentence in para 3.3.15 as follows: 

“…Area plans identify three significant opportunities within the Marsh 
Lane, East Bank (Section 4.3) and Hunslet Riverside areas (Section 
4.4) where there could be potential further housing (or mixed use) 
development to expand upon development proposed in this plan and 
which would be encouraged in principle, subject to the suitability of the 
site and passing the flood risk sequential test where relevant…” 

For clarity and 
effectiveness 

24 Policy 
AVL8 

Amend point 5 of Policy AVL5 as follows: 

POLICY AVL8: IMPROVING PUBLIC HEALTH IN AIRE VALLEY 
LEEDS 
5. Encouraging local people to take more physical exercise their 
physical activity such as walking and cycling to work and for 
enjoyment by providing new and improve green routes linking 
communities and key destinations. 

Remainder unchanged 

Policy text 
correction for 
clarity. 

25 3.4.22 Amend second sentence of para 3.4.22 as follows: 
“… New housing  development proposals  and the proposed NGT 
stop next to the Penny Hill Centre provide an opportunity to expand 
the centre…” 

For clarity and 
to reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016. 

26 3.4.23 Amend second sentence of para 3.4.23 as follows: 

“… In accordance with Core Strategy Policy SP5 and P7, a new local 
centre is proposed to support the 2,619 new homes proposed at 
Skelton Gate (AV111)…” 

Consequential 
change. 

27 3.4.26 Insert new text to end of para 3.4.26 as follows: 

A new secondary free school (The Ruth Gorse Academy) is also 
proposed to open in 2016 at Black Bull Street and will make an 
important contribution to serving the needs of the area. There may 
also be a need to identify a site for a new primary school in the 
South Bank area subject to further masterplanning work and the 
chosen delivery route. 

To mitigate 
potential 
negative effect 
identified in the 
SA resulting 
from changes to 
site capacity in 
Policy AVL7. To 
address 
consultation 
representations. 

28 3.4.28 Insert new text to para 3.4.28 as follows: 

To manage flood risk issues in the area, the Council, working 
alongside the Environment Agency, the Canal and River Trust and 
other partners, is constructing a £50m flood alleviation scheme (FAS) 
to protect Leeds City Centre (between Leeds City Station and 
Knostrop weir in the Aire Valley) from a flood event likely to happen 
once every 75 years on average, taking into account the likely effects 
of climate change. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness 

29 3.4.33 Amend text in para 3.4.33 as follows: 

“…Core Strategy Policy P11 sets out an approach to allow such 
assets to be conserved where they are considered to be locally 
significant. Policy AVL11 below identifies locally significant heritage 
assets in AVL.  A schedule of the assets is set out in Appendix 2 

For clarity and 
effectiveness To 
address 
consultation 
representations. 

Page 630



Page 14 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

and The location of the assets is shown on area maps. 

30 Policy 
AVL11 

Amend policy text as follows: 

Where appropriate, site requirements relating to heritage assets are 
set out in area plans. 

POLICY AVL11 – LOCALLY SIGNIFICANT UNDESIGNATED 
HERITAGE ASSETS 
In accordance with Core Strategy Policy P11, the locally significant 
undesignated heritage assets shown on area maps and listed in 
Appendix 2 and their setting will be conserved. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representations. 

31 New 
para 
3.4.35 -
3.4.37 

Insert new section after para 3.4.4 as follows: 

Land instability 
3.4.35 Parts of the AVL are in the former coal mining area where 
there is a legacy of problems such as land instability and 
combustion. These factors have been taken into account in the 
sustainability appraisal of sites allocated in this Plan. Under 
Saved UDPR Policy GP5 all applications for development are 
required to resolve instability problems. Furthermore, in the 
Development High Risk Area defined by the Coal Authority, 
applications for development are required to include a Coal 
Mining Risk Assessment.  
3.4.36 Policy Minerals 3 of the Leeds Natural Resources and 
Waste Local Plan 2013 covers all forms of development within 
the Coal Mining Safeguarding Area except minor householder 
development. It is a policy which applies to all sites in the Aire 
Valley Area Action Plan within the Coal Authority High Risk Area. 
This Policy is intended to address coal mining legacy problems 
by requiring the prior-extraction of any surface coal as part of 
site preparation. 
3.4.37 Any problems of coal mining legacy must be addressed to 
ensure that the development is safe. The Coal Mining Risk 
Assessment also needs to identify where mine shaft entries are 
present on the site, these will need to be treated to be made safe. 
Mine entries and their zone of influence need to be kept free from 
built development. 

For clarity and 
to ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance. To 
address 
consultation 
representations. 

32 3.5.2 Amend fourth bullet point under para 3.5.2 as follows: 

• To plan the area to integrate potential key national and city region 
transport proposals, such as HS2, and the NGT trolleybus system with 
the local transport network and to maximise the regeneration 
opportunities created by the potential catalyst of transport 
infrastructure investment. 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016 

 

 

 

 

Page 631



Page 15 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

33 3.5.4 Amend sub heading and para 3.5.4 as follows: 

HS2 / Yorkshire Hub 
The proposed route of the eastern leg of Phase Two of HS2 will 
extend high speed services to Leeds City Centre.  The HS2 
consultation documents from 2013 shows the route into Leeds 
aligning with the existing Leeds-Castleford railway corridor within AVL, 
passing through Stourton and Hunslet before rising above street level 
into the new station at Leeds New Lane, partly within the AAP 
boundary. The consultation route is shown on area maps for 
information. Following the publication of the Sir David Higgins report: 
Re-Balancing Britain: From HS2 towards a national transport strategy, 
the proposed HS2 station location and route into Leeds is subject to 
an ongoing review considering how a HS2 station might relate to a 
potential transnorth “HS3” route. During that consultation LCC 
raised concerns about the impact of the line of the route. A 
formal route decision is expected in Autumn 2016 by the 
Secretary of State for Transport. 

For clarify and 
effectiveness. 
Bringing plan up 
to date in terms 
of latest position 
on strategic 
transport 
infrastructure 
relevant to the 
area. 

34 3.5.5 Amend para 3.5.5 as follows:  

The final decision to proceed with the schemes will be taken by 
Parliament.  If the scheme proceeds the Government will issue a 
Safeguarding Direction to ensure new development does not conflict 
with the construction or future operation of the route.  The HS2 route 
is not a proposal of the AAP but the Policies Map will have to reflect 
land covered by a safeguarding direction made by the Government.  
The consultation route is shown on area maps for information.  

In November 2015, Sir David Higgins published a report ‘The 
Yorkshire Hub’ which proposed moving the HS2 station so that it 
creates a new integrated hub with the existing station. This 
proposal has support from City Region political leaders and the 
Chamber of Commerce. This is expected to form part of the 
announcement in Autumn 2016 too. 

For clarify and 
effectiveness. 
Bringing plan up 
to date in terms 
of latest position 
on strategic 
transport 
infrastructure 
relevant to the 
area. 

35 3.5.6 Amend sub heading and Insert paragraph 3.5.6 as follows: 

NGT Trolleybus system  Public transport strategy 

3.5.6 Leeds City Council has instigated extensive engagement 
and conversation on the future direction of transport provision 
across the city which includes reviewing and considering the 
measures for those corridors which were previously covered by 
the now cancelled NGT trolleybus proposals. 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016 and 
Council’s latest 
position on 
provision of 
replacement 
transport 
infrastructure. 

36 3.5.7 Amend para 3.5.7as follows: 

The Leeds New Generation Transport (NGT) trolleybus system is 
jointly promoted by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and the 
Council.  The system proposes a modern, reliable Trolleybus which 
combines dedicated lanes, junctions and traffic signal priority to 
ensure improved journey times.  The provision of a priority route 
and park and ride at Stourton is an objective and is being 
considered within the overall review. 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016 and 
objective of 
delivering a 
replacement 
park & ride 

Page 632



Page 16 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

scheme at 
Stourton. 

37 3.5.8 to 
3.5.10 

Delete para’s 3.5.8 to 3.5.10, and renumber subsequent paragraphs 
as follows:  

3.5.8 The proposed 14.8km system will run between Holt Park in 
North Leeds and Stourton in AVL through the city centre and will be 
served by major park and ride facilities.  It will connect people to key 
employment sites, education, health, shopping and leisure facilities 
and act as a catalyst and driver for Leeds and the city region’s 
economic growth and regeneration. 

3.5.9 The scheme is subject to a Transport and Works Act 
application to the Secretary of State.  If approved the scheme is 
scheduled to open in 2020. 

3.5.10 Within AVL, the system is proposed to run from a 1,500 space 
park and ride (with potential to be expanded to 2,300 in the future) at 
junction 7 of the M621 at Stourton (AV82), through Belle Isle and 
Hunslet to Leeds Dock and Brewery Wharf, and then into the core of 
Leeds City Centre via Leeds Bridge.  The proposed route and stops 
are shown on area plans, which also identify specific development and 
regeneration opportunities, public realm improvements and improved 
pedestrian routes which will benefit from and improve connectivity to 
the NGT system. 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016 

38 3.5.21 Amend first sentence of para 3.5.21 as follows: 

“Parts of the area are well served by the existing bus network and 
proposed NGT Trolleybus network and other parts lie within walking 
distance of key transport interchanges, including the main Leeds bus 
and rail stations...” 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016.  

39 3.5.25 Amend para 3.5.25 as follows: 

A scheme has also been identified for potential extension of the NGT 
trolleybus network into the east of the area, potentially linking to the 
park and ride facility.  A route and funding for this scheme is yet to be 
determined, but it forms part of the West Yorkshire ‘Plus’ Transport 
Fund package for AVL. 

A further bus based park and ride facility is proposed at Stourton 
to serve the city centre. The site would be accessed from M621 
J7 and would help to reduce the number of car journeys into the 
city centre from the south using the M621 and A639. 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016 and 
objective of 
delivering a 
replacement 
park & ride 
scheme at 
Stourton. 

40 3.5.38 
 

Amend text in para 3.5.38 as follows: 

The NRWLP safeguards existing rail sidings and canal wharfs in the 
area and allocates two new sites for rail (at Bridgewater Road) and 
water freight use (at Stourton) respectively. It also identifies a 
safeguarded rail spur to the Skelton Grange area and an area of 
search for an intermodal freight depot in the Stourton area taking 
advantage of the area’AVL2s good connections into the road, rail and 
waterways network. Designations and allocations from the NRWLP 
are shown on area maps. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

Page 633



Page 17 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

41 Policy 
AVL12 

Insert new criteria point 2a, amend text to points 4 and 13, delete point 
7 and  add footnote to policy AVL12 as follows: 
POLICY AVL12 - STRATEGIC TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE 
IMPROVEMENTS IN AVL 
Highway network 

2a. Upgrade and adoption of Knowsthorpe Lane to provide a link 
to M1 Junction 45 and improve access to the Skelton Gate 
development and employment sites west of the M1.   
Public transport 

4. Construction of the NGT trolleybus route and stops through the 
area between the South Bank and Stourton via Hunslet Town Centre, 
including a 1,500 space (expandable to 2,300 spaces)   
A bus based park and ride facility at Stourton is under 
consideration (AV81). 

7. An extension of the NGT trolleybus system to the LCREZ and 
eastern part of AVL subject to funding. 

Pedestrian routes & safer streets 

13. Improvements to the public rights of way network  Retain, 
and where appropriate, improve, existing public rights of way (of 
any type) within development sites. If demonstrated through 
evidence, a diversion cannot be avoided, the proposed diversion 
should maintain the convenience, safety and visual amenity of 
the original route. 5 

Insert footnote  
5 Public Rights of Way map showing all routes on the LCC on-
line definitive map with non-definitive routes in green and 
definitive routes shown in black.  
(https://cms.esriuk.com/leedscc/Sites/LCCPROW/# ) 
Reminder unchanged 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representations. 

42 3.7.7 Insert text to end of para 3.7.7 as follows: 

“…The principle of extending the scheme to other properties in the 
area is supported in Policy AVL16 and further funding may become 
available through off-site ‘Allowable Solutions’ linked to zero carbon 
homes or similar Government schemes. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness 

43 Policy 
AVL16 

Amend policy text as follows:  

POLICY AVL16: RETROFITTING OF EXISTING BUILDINGS 
The Council will support programmes to retrofit existing buildings to 
improve energy efficiency and other initiatives to offer energy advice 
to local residents, focusing on the Hunslet, Cross Green and 
Richmond Hill area, subject to future funding. Where retrofitting works 
involves external works to the building such as wall insulation and re-
cladding, proposals should respect the local character. Where works 
are proposed to a Listed Building, these should safeguard the 
special historic character of that building. 

To ensure 
consistency with 
national policy. 
To address 
consultation 
representations. 

Page 634



Page 18 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

44 4.2.3 
Spatial 
Vision 

Amend text to second and third paragraph of South Bank Spatial 
Vision as follows: 

The catalysts for regeneration are the construction of a HS2 rail 
station and delivery of a nationally recognised City Park which will be 
integrated into the wider redevelopment of South Bank.  The area will 
be supported by other improvements to the city’s transport 
infrastructure, including the NGT trolleybus, and green pedestrian and 
cycle routes will link the area to the traditional core of the city centre, 
waterfront, station, Holbeck Urban Village and surrounding 
communities.  This will provide opportunities to stimulate growth 
across business sectors and place South Bank at the heart of the city 
region’s economic growth. 

A focus on placemaking will create an attractive, welcoming and safe 
environment, offering a choice of living accommodation, work and 
leisure opportunities and a vibrant waterfront achieved through 
redevelopment of brownfield sites, the reuse and adaption of its 
legacy of historic buildings and reinvention of existing areas such 
as Leeds Dock. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representations. 

45 4.2.3  
Obj 8 

Amend Objective 8 under para 4.2.3 as follows: 

8. Create and enhance pedestrian / cycle routes within the area to 
provide better connectivity with the traditional core of the city centre, to 
key destinations within the area such as the new City Park and Leeds 
Dock, to the waterfront, to Holbeck Urban Village and to surrounding 
communities in east and south Leeds. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

46 4.2.3  
Obj 11 

Insert Objective 11 under para 4.2.3 as follows: 

11. Encourage the conservation and reuse of the area’s heritage 
assets to create an attractive distinctive gateway to the AVL area 
from the city centre 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

47 4.2.18 Amend para 4.2.18 as follows: 

Regeneration of this area is a long-term project and proposals will 
come forward which are unforeseen at the time the plan is prepared, 
for example the location of the proposed HS2 station and emerging 
Yorkshire Hub concept (see Section 3.5).  The ultimate integration of 
HS2/Yorkshire Hub and its infrastructure into the South Bank will 
require flexibility in the planning approach for the South Bank, 
especially at its immediate hinterland. 
Within this context the Council is preparing a masterplan, known 
as the ‘South Bank Masterplan’, to provide concepts and the 
delivery mechanism to guide the growth of the wider South Bank 
area (including Holbeck Urban Village) 

For clarify and 
effectiveness. 
Bringing plan up 
to date in terms 
of latest position 
on strategic 
transport 
infrastructure 
relevant to the 
area. Also 
providing 
reference to 
other Council 
initiatives to help 
delivery 
regeneration 
and growth in 
the area. To 
address 
consultation 
representations. 

Page 635



Page 19 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

48 4.2.20 Amend para 4.2.20 as follows: 

There is potential for the new The HS2 station/ Yorkshire Hub 
location proposals to provide an exciting new focus for plans for the 
South Bank area, with potential for this to forming one of the largest 
regeneration projects in Europe.  The location of the HS2 station and 
its route and the Yorkshire Hub remain subject to a decision by 
Government, assessment before clarity can be given on with the 
emerging South Bank Masterplan establishing the principles for 
how they will be integrated into the area in a way that meets the city’s 
ambitions for placemaking and growth.  In conjunction with the NGT 
trolleybus scheme, these major transport infrastructure investments 
will transform accessibility with two NGT stops proposed in the South 
Bank area. 

As change to 
para 4.2.18.For 
clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representations. 

49 Policy 
SB1 

Amend Policy SB1 text, first paragraph and point 6 as follows: 

POLICY SB1: PEDESTRIAN AND CYCLE CONNECTIVITY IN THE 
SOUTH BANK 
The following measures are proposed to improve pedestrian and cycle 
connections within the area, to the traditional core of the city centre, 
the waterfront, Holbeck Urban Village, and surrounding communities 
and to reduce the physical and visual impact of vehicular traffic 
infrastructure.  Where appropriate and directly related to the 
development, proposals on identified sites, allocations and other sites 
will be required to provide or contribute towards provision of these 
improvements: 
 
6. Provision of other north-south and east-west green pedestrian / 
cycle links through development sites, as shown indicatively on the 
area map, to improve the permeability of the area and to connect with 
key destinations and adjoining communities. 
 
Remainder Unchanged. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

50 Policy 
SB2 

Insert new text under policy SB2 point 9 as follows: 

9. Create opportunities to improve the setting of the Listed 
Buildings and locally significant undesignated heritage assets in 
the area; 
Remainder Unchanged. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

51 4.2.30 Insert new sentence to end of para 4.2.30 as follows: 
Any contribution of land towards the creation of the City Park will 
be taken into account when calculating the green space 
requirement of a development under Core Strategy Policy G5. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

Page 636



Page 20 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

52 
 

4.2.31 Amend text to para 4.2.31 as follows: 

The proposed network will contribute to improving north-south and 
east-west connectivity between the north and south banks of the 
river, with for example a green corridor connection to Sovereign 
Square and the north bank of the river; to the waterfront; the new 
City Park; to Holbeck Urban Village and to surrounding communities.  
By creating this attractive network of routes, the aim is to encourage 
people to walk and cycle more and to secure the environmental 
improvements associated with high quality green infrastructure. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

53 4.2.46 Amend para 4.2.46 as follows: 

It is important to secure improved pedestrian and cycle access to the 
sites and links to public transport services including the Leeds Station 
Southern Entrance and the proposed NGT trolleybus system.  It is 
also expected that the secondary school will serve the family housing 
that the plan is encouraging to be developed in the area. 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016 

54 Policy 
SB4 

Amend policy SB4 text point 2 and insert point 9 as follows: 

2. Employment uses complimentary to housing uses including O 
offices, research & development, light industry and creative 
industries 

 
9. Other appropriate land uses, subject to consideration of  
     relevant development plan policies 
 
Remainder unchanged 
 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

55 4.2.50 
Policy 
AVL7 &  
SB3 
(Site 
AV94) 

Amend policy text to third bullet point and first, fifth and sixth bullet 
points under site requirements as follows: 

 Other uses set out under Policy SB1 SB4 to support the principle 
uses above and on ground floors to promote the creation of active 
frontages along road frontages, routes and public spaces. 

Site requirements 

 The site is suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 
accordance with Policy AVL7. 

The site includes listed buildings to be retained within the 
development and where consideration to the setting of the listed 
buildings is required. There are a number of Listed Buildings both 
within the site and on its periphery. Any development should 
preserve the special architectural interest or setting of these 
buildings. Proposals will also be expected to provide a 
sustainable future for those Listed Buildings which are currently 
vacant or at risk. Where possible, opportunities should be taken 
to improve the setting of these buildings. 

 The undesignated heritage assets within the site shown on the Area 
Map should be retained and where possible opportunities should 
be taken to improve the setting of these buildings. 

Remainder unchanged. 

For clarity and 
to ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance. To 
address 
consultation 
representations. 

Page 637



Page 21 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

56 4.2.51 
Policy 
AVL7 
(Site 
AV7)  

Delete first bullet point under site requirements as follows: 

Site requirements 

•The site is suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 
accordance with Policy AVL7. 

Remainder unchanged 

To ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance on 
flood risk.  

57 4.2.52 
Policy 
AVL7 
(Site 
AV9)  

Delete first bullet point, amend fifth bullet point and insert sixth bullet 
as follows: 

• The site is suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 
accordance with Policy AVL7. 

• The site is adjacent to a listed building where consideration to the 
setting of the listed building is required. There are a number of 
Listed Buildings adjacent to this site. Any development should 
preserve the special architectural interest or setting of these 
buildings. 
• Consideration should be had to the setting of the undesignated 
heritage assets to the north and south of this site which are 
shown on the Area Map. 
Remainder unchanged 

For clarity and 
to ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance. To 
address 
consultation 
representations 

58 4.2.53 
Policy 
AVL7 
(Sites 
AV12/ 
AV13)  

Delete first bullet point under site requirements as follows: 

Site requirements 

• The sites are suitable for older persons housing / independent living 
in accordance with Policy AVL7. 

Remainder unchanged 

To ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance on 
flood risk. 

59 4.2.55 
Policy 
AVL7 
(Sites 
AV14/ 
AV15/ 
AV16)  

Delete first bullet point under site requirements as follows: 

Site requirements 

• The sites are suitable for older persons housing / independent living 
in accordance with Policy AVL7. 

Remainder unchanged 

To ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance on 
flood risk. 

60 4.2.56 
Policy 
AVL7 
(Site 
AV17)  

Delete first and amend second bullet points under site requirements 
as follows: 

Site requirements 

• The site is suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 
accordance with Policy AVL7. 

• The site includes a listed building. to be retained within the 
development and where consideration to the setting of the listed 
building is required. Any development should preserve the special 
architectural interest or setting of this building. 

To ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance on 
flood risk and 
heritage. To 
address 
consultation 
representation. 

61 4.3.1 
Obj 8 
 

Insert objective 8 under para 4.3.1 as follows: 

8. Conserve the area’s heritage assets and ensure that those that 
are vacant or at risk have a sustainable future. 

To address 
consultation 
representation. 

Page 638



Page 22 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

62 Policy 
EB4 

Amend policy text as follows: 

POLICY EB4 – EAST STREET OPPORTUNITY AREA 
Within the East Street Opportunity Area identified on the Policies Map 
redevelopment of existing buildings for housing is encouraged where it 
supports the guiding principles for the area set out in this plan and 
accords with other plan policies.  
The identified mixed use site at Cross Green Lane (AV31) is suitable 
for office, housing and appropriate community uses 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

63 4.3.67 
Policy 
AVL7 
(Sites  
AV32/ 
AV33 & 
AV34 ) 

Delete first bullet point and amend sixth and eighth bullet points as 
follows: 

•Sites AV32 and AV33 are suitable for older persons housing / 
independent living in accordance with Policy AVL7. 

• The green space requirements of development should be provided 
on the areas of highest areas of flood risk within the site, where 
practicable. 

• An Ecological Assessment is required and where appropriate, 
mitigation measures will need to be provided including a buffer to the 
edge of the river bank. 

Remainder unchanged 

For clarity and 
to ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance on 
flood risk. 

64 4.3.69 
Policy 
AVL7 
(Sites 
AV28 & 
AV29)  

Amend second and fifth bullet point as follows:  

• Site AV29 to contribute to improvement of the adjacent green space 
at Bow Street Recreation Ground to mitigate loss of existing green 
space within the site. 

• Site AV29 is adjacent to the Grade 1 listed St Saviour Church and 
other listed buildings where consideration to the setting of the listed 
building is required. Any development should preserve the special 
architectural interest or setting of these buildings. 
Remainder unchanged 

For clarity and 
to ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance. To 
address 
consultation 
representation. 

65 4.3.84 
Policy 
AVL7 
(Site  
AV38) 
 

Amend fourth bullet point as follows: 

• The site is adjacent to a two listed buildings where consideration to 
the setting of the listed building is required. Any development should 
preserve the special architectural interest or setting of these 
buildings. 
Remainder unchanged 

For clarity and 
to ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance. To 
address 
consultation 
representation. 

66 4.4.1 
Spatial 
Vision 

Insert new paragraph at the end of Hunslet Area spatial vision as 
follows: 

Hunslet Mill and Victoria Mill have been brought back into use 
and will have become key landmark buildings which have helped 
in increasing the attractiveness of the waterfront area as a place 
to live and visit.  

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

67 4.4.1 
Obj 5 

Amend objective 5 under para 4.4.1 as follows: 

5. New and existing homes, businesses and leisure opportunities in 
Hunslet will be connected to a sustainable transport network, including 
the NGT trolleybus system, new and improved bus services, an 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016. 

Page 639



Page 23 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

improved cycle network, greener and safer streets and water-based 
transport. 

68 4.4.15 Delete para 4.4.15 and renumber subsequent paragraph numbers as 
follows: 

Although Hunslet Town Centre is well served by frequent bus 
services, the proposals for a NGT trolleybus stop within the centre 
offer an important opportunity to facilitate improvements in the centre 
and to increase the number of visits by local residents. 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016. 

69 4.4.18 
Policy 
AVL7 
(Site 
AV48) 
 

Amend first bullet point under site requirements as follows: 

In accordance with Core Strategy Policy P8, proposals for town 
centre uses will not be permitted unless they clearly demonstrate that 
there will be no significant adverse impact on vitality and viability or 
planned investment in Hunslet Town Centre or other designated 
centres. 

Remainder unchanged 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 

70 4.4.20 Amend second sentence in para 4.4.20 as follows: 

“… Over 30 hectares of land has been identified in the area with 
potential for new sustainable development providing new homes and 
jobs and potentially new shops, leisure and community facilities. The 
majority of these sites are allocated were incorporated within the 
Hunslet Riverside Strategic Housing & Mixed Use UDPR allocation 
which was made in the UDPR. The main development opportunities in 
the area are...” 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 

71 4.4.31 
AVL7 
and 
AV98 
Site 
Require
ments) 

Amend second bullet point as follows: 

• The site is adjacent to the listed buildings at Hunslet Mill/Victoria 
Mills buildings where consideration to the setting of the listed building 
is required. Any development should preserve the special 
architectural interest of setting of these buildings. 
Remainder unchanged 

For clarity and 
to ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance. To 
address 
consultation 
representation. 

72 4.4.35 Amend para 4.4.35 as follows:  

Given the proximity of heavy industrial uses of the north and east of 
the site, only part of the site is considered to be suitable for residential. 
This is reflected in the NRWLP which allocates a 7.4 hectare site 
(NRWLP Site 21) on the south west part of the land for new rail 
sidings. This allocation requires a landscape buffer to be provided 
between minerals rail freight and residential uses under Policy 
Minerals 13 (3). 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

73 4.4.36 Amend para 4.4.36 second sentence as follows: 
“…This site has an estimated capacity of 425 546 new homes with a 
waterfront location…” 

Remainder unchanged 

Consequential 
change.   

Page 640



Page 24 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

74 4.4.38 
Policy 
AVL7 
(Site 
AV40) 
 

Amend eighth bullet point  under site requirements as follows: 

Site requirements 
• The site is located lies opposite the listed buildings at Hunslet 
Mill/Victoria m Mill buildings where consideration to the setting of the 
listed buildings is required. Any development should preserve the 
special architectural interest or setting of these buildings. 
Remainder unchanged 

For clarity and 
to ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance. To 
address 
consultation 
representation. 

75 4.4.39 
Policy 
AVL7 
(Site 
AV46 
 

Delete first bullet point and amend fourth bullet point under site 
requirements as follows: 

Site requirements 

• The site is suitable for older persons housing / independent living in 
accordance with Policy AVL7. 

• The site is adjacent to a lies opposite the listed buildings at 
Hunslet Mill/ Victoria Mills buildings where consideration to the setting 
of the listed building is required. Any development should preserve 
the special architectural interest or setting of these buildings. 
Remainder unchanged 

For clarity and 
to ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance on 
flood risk and 
heritage. To 
address 
consultation 
representation. 

78 4.4.43 Amend para 4.4.43 as follows; 

There are significant opportunities to improve connections between 
Hunslet town centre, the city centre, Hunslet Riverside and the River 
Aire corridor.  The NGT trolleybus route and improvements to the bus 
network in the Aire Valley, which can all significantly benefit Hunslet 
are considered in detail in the strategic connections section of the 
AAP. 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016. 

79 Policy 
HU4 

Amend point 2 under policy HU4 as follows: 

2. Improved pedestrian and cycle routes between Hunslet Riverside 
Opportunity Area and the South Bank. and the proposed NGT 
trolleybus stop at St Joseph’s. 

Remainder unchanged 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016. 

80 4.4.53 Amend para 4.4.53 as follows: 
The Leeds FAS and NGT trolleybus schemes are is an additional 
proposals with potential to bring funded green infrastructure 
improvements to Hunslet.   

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016. 

81 4.5.1 
Spatial 
Vision 

Amend first sentence, second paragraph under Central Aire Valley 
spatial vision as follows: 

“…Transport improvements, led by construction of an all-purpose 
bridge crossing at Skelton Grange and including other road 
improvements, the NGT trolleybus network and new bus services, and 
new walking and cycling routes ...” 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016. 

82 4.5.1 
Obj 4 

Amend objective 4 para 4.5.1 as follows: 

4. Ensure that the LCREZ and the Cross Green, Skelton Grange and 
Stourton areas are well connected to each other, the city centre and to 
communities in east and south Leeds by a high quality transport 
network including the NGT trolleybus system, frequent bus routes, 
park & ride facilities and walking and cycling routes which offer a 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016. 

Page 641



Page 25 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

genuine alternative to the car and help to reduce congestion on local 
roads. 

83 4.5.1 
Obj 5 

Amend objective 5 para 4.5.1 as follows: 

5. Ensure that the river corridor and the heritage assets at Thwaites 
Mill are is recognised for its attractive environment, they provide, 
and are widely used by local residents and visitors for activities such 
as walking, cycling and water-based recreation and forming part of an 
enhanced green infrastructure network which connects into wider 
networks. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

84 4.5.28 Amend second and third bullet point and delete fourth bullet point  
under para 4.5.28 as follows: 

• A NGT bus based park & ride site with up to 2,300 car parking 
spaces and vehicle depot located off M621 J7 in Stourton is under 
consideration. 
• A bus based park and ride facility serving the city centre, with 1,000 
car parking spaces at Temple Green off M1 Junction 45.  Opens 
Spring 2016. 

• Potential for a NGT extension to Aire Valley (route to be determined) 

For clarity. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016 and 
objective of 
delivering a 
replacement 
park & ride 
scheme at 
Stourton. 

85 4.5.29 Amend para 4.5.29 as follows: 

Stourton Park & Ride 
The NGT trolleybus scheme includes for a 2,300 space park & ride 
facility and vehicle depot on a site at Stourton (site AV82).  Current 
proposals show a residual area of land may become available to the 
south of the depot along the southern boundary of the site, next to 
existing housing and green space.  This opportunity has been 
identified within the Middleton & Belle Isle Regeneration Framework 
as a potential site for housing.  Given uncertainty about the land 
becoming available at this stage, it is to be identified within the wider 
park & ride site with any future proposals to be assessed against the  
criteria set out in Policy CAV1. 
An 18 hectare site immediately to the south west of M621 J7 is 
identified as an opportunity to provide a bus based park and ride 
facility serving the city centre (Site AV82).  The land is 
safeguarded for this purpose under Policy CAV1 but it is not 
expected that the entire site area will be required. An opportunity 
has been identified within the Middleton and Belle Isle 
Regeneration Framework for housing development on any 
residual areas of land. However, given uncertainty about the 
extent and timing of land becoming available for other uses all 
the land is included within the park & ride designation, with any 
future proposals to be assessed against the criteria and 
requirements set out in Policy CAV1.   

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016 and 
objective of 
delivering a 
replacement 
park & ride 
scheme at 
Stourton.  

Page 642



Page 26 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

86 4.5.29 
Policy 
CAV1 

Amend  policy CAV1 as follows: 

Site AV82 at Stourton is safeguarded for a bus based park and ride 
facility. and vehicle depot with supporting ancillary facilities associated 
with the NGT trolleybus scheme. 

Other non-transport infrastructure uses, including housing and/or 
general employment will only be acceptable on any part of the site if it 
can be demonstrated that it is no longer required to deliver the 
strategic transport infrastructure needs of the district. 

Site requirements 
The site lies adjacent to a Registered Historic Park and Garden. 
Development proposals should safeguard those elements which 
contribute to its  significance including its setting 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016 and 
objective of 
delivering a 
replacement 
park & ride 
scheme at 
Stourton.  
To ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance on 
heritage. To 
address 
consultation 
representation. 

87 4.5.30 
Policy 
CAV2 

Amend point 1 under policy CAV2 as follows: 

1. Provision of a safe and direct walking and cycling route over the 
motorway between Leeds Valley Park and the NGT trolleybus park 
and ride site at Stourton Belle Isle; 

Remainder unchanged 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016 

88 4.5.33 
 

Amend last sentence of para 4.5.33 as follows: 
“…Vegetation on the land is naturally re-growing and The land 
provides an opportunity for enhancement to create a mix of natural 
habitats including community woodland, grassland and semi-
permanent wetlands. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

89 4.5.34 
Policy 
CAV3 

Amend point 1 of policy CAV3 as follows: 

1. Integration and improvement of 20 hectares of previously 
developed, former employment land, to the north of the River Aire and 
west of the M1 motorway into the wider green infrastructure network.  

 Remainder unchanged 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

90 4.5.51 Delete paragraph number 4.5.52 merge with 4.5.51 and amend  text 
as follows: 
 
4.5.52 A further 7.8 9.17 hectares of land to the south (AV68) is also 
carried forward from the UDP and identified as a general employment 
site. Both these sites benefit from a location which may incorporate 
the alignment of a rail served development or interchange. 
 

To ensure plan 
is effectiveness 
and positively 
prepared and 
reflects the 
extent of the site 
that can be 
brought forward 
for employment 
development 
during the plan 
period. To 
address 
consultation 
representation. 

Page 643



Page 27 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

91 4.5.54 Delete second to last sentence under para 4.5.54 as follows: 
 
“…The new bridge would be multi-modal, catering for buses, 
pedestrians and cyclists, as well as general traffic.  It could also form 
part of a potential NGT trolleybus scheme expansion into this part of 
the area.  It would require public funding (alongside potential 
developer contributions) and is included within the West Yorkshire 
Plus Transport Fund. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016. 

92 4.4.59 Amend third sentence under para 4.5.59 as follows: 
 
“…There is an opportunity to provide a pedestrian/cycle link from the 
site to the proposed NGT stop and park and ride at Stourton using an 
existing pedestrian bridge over the M621…” 
 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016. 

93 4.5.61 
Policy 
AVL4 
(Site  
AV83) 
 

Amend policy AVL4 site AV83 as follows: 
 
Skelton Grange Road (East site), Stourton 
 
Under Policy AVL4, Skelton Grange Road, East site (AV83) is 
allocated for general employment. 
  
Site requirements 
• An Ecological Assessment is required and where appropriate, 
mitigation measures will need to be provided including a buffer to the 
waterfront on the northern boundary.  Part of the AVL Green 
Infrastructure Network is adjacent to the north-western boundary 
of Site AV83. An appropriate soft landscape treatment will be 
required that is sensitive to the nature conservation value of the 
adjacent land. 
 
• The site is located within Phase 3 of the indicative heat network 
shown on Map 6. 

For 
effectiveness. 
To reflect the 
revised site 
boundary. 

94 4.6.1 
Spatial 
Vision 

Amend first paragraph of Skelton Gate spatial vision as follows: 

Skelton Gate will be a sustainable, healthy, and vibrant community 
(with potential for 2,619 1,801 new homes), within a landscaped 
parkland setting which has Skelton Lake as its centrepiece.  The 
layout will be walkable, supported by key local facilities, such as a 
through school, local shops and services, health services and green 
spaces. The development will have been designed in a manner 
which safeguards key views from the Historic Park and Garden at 
Temple Newsam. 
 

Consequential 
change and to 
ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance. To 
address 
consultation 
representations. 

95 4.6.1 
Obj 1 
and 5 

Amend objective 1 and insert new objective 5 as follows:  

1. Deliver a high quality, sustainable housing development of 2,619 
1,801 homes supported by local facilities and services. 

5. The design of new development should safeguard key views 
from the Historic Park and Garden at Temple Newsam. 

Consequential 
change 
reflecting 
change to site 
capacity in 
Policy AVL7.. To 
ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance. To 
address 

Page 644



Page 28 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

consultation 
representations. 

96 4.6.15 Amend para 4.6.15 as follows: 

The plan proposes a major new housing development at Skelton 
Gate. The scale of the opportunity at the site is such that this 
represents one of the largest proposed housing schemes in the 
district, with potential for 2,619 1,801 new homes, making a critical 
contribution to meeting the identified needs of the district for new 
housing set out in the Core Strategy. 

Consequential 
change 
reflecting 
change to site 
capacity in 
Policy AVL7. 

97 4.6.16 Amend first and second bullet point under para 4.6.15 as follows: 

• An attractive setting within an area of existing and new areas of 
parkland, access to Temple Newsam, the Wyke Beck Way and the 
Trans Pennine Trail and with potential links further down to the river to 
the lower Lower Aire Valley nature reserves (St Aidan’s and Fairburn 
Ings). 

• Development is of sufficient scale to support frequent public 
transport services to the city centre, initially via the Temple Green 
Park and Ride and in the longer term through the potential extension 
of the NGT trolleybus network. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
Reflecting 
refusal of NGT 
scheme in May 
2016. 

98 4.6.20 
(4 and 
10) 

Amend point 4 and insert new point 10 to para 4.6.20 as follows: 

4. Locate key facilities, such as the school, local centre and park 
centrally within the development, within walking distance of all parts of 
the site in an accessible location to all occupiers of the site using 
sustainable transport options. 
10. Ensure key views from the Historic Park and Garden at 
Temple Newsam are safeguarded. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To ensure 
consistency with 
national 
guidance. To 
address 
consultation 
representations 

99 4.6.29 Insert new text to third sentence of para 4.6.29 as follows: 

The options for alternative vehicle access could be via Pontefract 
Lane (which leads back to the M1, J45) or Knowsthorpe Lane 
allowing access under the M1 from the west. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representations 
 

100 4.6.30 Amend para 4.6.30 as follows: 

More detailed work is needed to assess the trip generation from the 
site onto the strategic highway network, during peak morning and 
evening periods.  In principle the development can utilise the trips 
assumed for the existing business park proposal although the overall 
position will depend on the exact mix of uses proposed.  The impact 
will be considered cumulatively in order to ensure that any commercial 
development proposed in early phases does not prejudice the long 
term delivery of the housing proposals. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To reflect fact 
that the planning 
permission for 
the business 
park lapsed in 
April 2016.  

101 4.6.35 
Policy 
AVL7, 
Site 
AV111 

Amend first part of second bullet point, delete ninth bullet point and 
insert new bullet point above last bullet point of Policy AVL7 (Site 
AV111) as follows: 
 
• Provision of local facilities, to be located centrally within the site or 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To ensure 
consistency with 
national 

Page 645



Page 29 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

 within walking distance from all residential areas: 

O A local centre to include the following: 

- local shops (500 – 1,000 sq. m. total floorspace), 

- financial & professional services, cafés/restaurants, a pub (500 – up 
to a maximum of 1,000 sq. m. total floorspace and subject to 
securing operators)  
- provision of space for health services including GPs, pharmacies 
and dentists, as appropriate 

- other community facilities including provision for older people 
(subject to securing operators), where appropriate; 

• An Ecological Assessment is required and where appropriate, 
mitigation measures will need to be provided. 
• The development will be required to safeguard key views from 
the Historic Park and Garden at Temple Newsam 
Remainder unchanged 

guidance. To 
address 
consultation 
representations 

102 4.6.36 Amend para 4.6.36 as follows: 

Due to constraints, some parts of the site are not be suitable or viable 
for housing.  Some of these areas can be incorporated within the 
green infrastructure requirements of the development, or incorporate 
specific commercial uses where this would be consistent with and help 
to facilitate housing development delivery of the scale of housing 
proposed in this plan.  Accommodating other uses could assist 
viability, thereby funding new infrastructure and facilities required in 
the early development phases. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representations 

103 4.6.37 Amend para 4.6.37 as follows: 

Proposals for other uses would need to be incorporated within the 
overall masterplan for the site, help facilitate the delivery of the 
housing scheme and be phased alongside new housing and have the 
potential to support the main housing development. Proposals which 
would lead to the creation of a destination serving a wide catchment 
area such as a retail/leisure park, and motorway service area or other 
formats which provides large areas of car parking and attracts 
significant trips to the site from would attract an unacceptably high 
number of additional trips utilising the motorway network would not 
be consistent with this approach. 

To ensure plan 
is justified. To 
address 
consultation 
representations 

104 4.6.39 Delete para 4.6.39 and renumber subsequent paragraphs as follows:  

4.6.39 Office or other business units could also act as a buffer 
between the motorwa4.4.35y and housing development along the 
western boundary of the site within the area indicated on the area map 
and could also help sustain local employment. 

Proposal not 
justified. To 
address 
consultation 
representation. 

105 Policy 
SG1 

Amend policy text as follows: 
POLICY SG1: SKELTON GATE (SITE AV111) – NON-HOUSING 
USES 
Within the framework established in the overall masterplan, the 
following additional uses will be permitted with preference given to 
locations within the site which have been identified as most 

To ensure plan 
is justified, 
effective and 
consistent with 
national policy 
planning. To 
address 

Page 646



Page 30 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

constrained for housing development and subject to compatibility with 
the following requirements: 

1. A food store up to a maximum gross internal floorspace of 2,000 sq. 
m. to be located within or integrated with the local centre and 
connected to the rest of the centre by safe and direct pedestrian 
routes. 

2. Offices and/or other business uses (Class B1) along the western 
boundary of the site within the broad area indicated on the area plan, 
up to maximum total gross internal floorspace of 10,000 square 
metres. 

3. Other commercial uses not specified above or by other policies in 
this plan, providing they can be integrated with and support the wider 
housing site and would enhance the viability and deliverability of the 
overall development and help to deliver a sustainable housing 
development in accordance with Policy AVL7.  

4. Contribute towards initiatives and requirements stated in 
Policies SG2, SG3 and SG4. 
The development of the alternative commercial uses should be 
phased alongside delivery of new housing and other facilities not 
prejudice delivery of the scale of housing on the site set out in 
this plan 

Site requirements for Site AV111 will apply to any development 
permitted under this policy where relevant to the specific use.   

consultation 
representations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

106 4.6.44 Amend first sentence in para 4.6.44 as follows:  

“…Applying the Core Strategy green space standards in policy G4 
would require around 21 hectares of new green space for a scheme of 
2,619 1,801 dwellings…”   

Consequential 
change. To 
address 
consultation 
representation. 

107 4.6.47 Amend first and second sentence of para 4.6.47 as follows: 

“… Most of the green space should be provided in the form of  a A 
community park (as set out under site requirements) which under the 
definition set out in the Leeds Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
Assessment should provide for the local community as a whole, with 
multiple facilities for active and passive recreation with areas of formal 
landscaping.  This should be centrally conveniently located within 
the development site within easy walking for future residents 
distance of all occupiers of the site. …”  

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representation. 

108 4.6.49 Amend para 4.6.49 as follows: 

The Council support the creation of a visitor attraction facility at the 
northern end of the lake along the southern edge of the housing 
allocation.  The aim would to be build a visitor centre facility linked to 
management of the lake as a wildlife habitat.  This needs to be a 
distinctive and sustainable building, exemplifying high standards of 
architectural and landscape design which is and designed to be 
sensitive to its setting.  It would act as a gateway into the Lower Aire 
Valley nature sites and river corridor from the urban area of Leeds. 

To ensure 
consistency in 
terminology 
used in 
reference to this 
proposal and to 
reflect recent 
discussions on 
likely form the 
facility will take.  

Page 647



Page 31 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Para 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

109 4.6.50 Amend  text in first sentence of para 4.6.50 as follows: 

“…Creation of a visitor centre facility fits into a larger green space 
enhancement project, including improvements to the natural habitat, 
public rights of way signage, interpretation, provision of bird hides and 
incorporating the area to the west of Wyke Beck…” 

To ensure 
consistency in 
terminology 
used in 
reference to this 
proposal.  

110 Policy  
SG4 

Amend point 1 under Policy SG4 as follows: 

1. Provision of a new visitor centre facility at the northern edge of 
Skelton Lake to be integrated with the wider housing led development 
at Skelton Gate and related to long term management of the lake and 
surrounding land. 

Remainder unchanged 

To ensure 
consistency in 
terminology 
used in 
reference to this 
proposal 

111 Appen -
dix 2 

Insert new Appendix 2 as follows:  
Appendix 2: Local Undesignated Heritage Assets Schedule 

 Name Address Location 
    
1.  54 Cross Green Lane Cross Green 
2.  20 Crown Point Road Hunslet 
3. The Small Mill Chadwick Street Hunslet 
4. The Malthouse Chadwick Street Hunslet 
5. The Sun PH 134 Church Street Hunslet 
6. Crown Hotel Crown Point Road Hunslet 
7. Ellerby House 1 - 2 Ellerby Lane Cross Green 
8. Goodman House Goodman Street Hunslet 
9. T F And J H Braime 

Holdings Plc 
Hunslet Road Hunslet 

10. The Tetley 17 - 33 Hunslet Road Hunslet 
11.  315 – 329 Hunslet Road Hunslet 
12.  331 - 333 Hunslet Road Hunslet 
13. St Josephs Convent 5 Joseph Street Hunslet 
14.  51 Low Road Hunslet 
15.  34 Lupton Street Hunslet 
16.  3 Sheaf Street Hunslet 
17. St Saviours Church 

Hall And Parish 
Building 

9 Upper Accommodation 
Road 

Cross Green 

18.  21 Upper Accommodation 
Road 

Cross Green 

19. Hunslet Branch 
Library 

Waterloo Road Hunslet 

20.  13 Brookfield Street Hunslet 
21. The Brewery Hunslet Road Hunslet 
22. Old offices Crown Point Road Hunslet 

 
 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 
To address 
consultation 
representations 

 

  

Page 648



Page 32 of 39 
 

Map Changes 

No. Policy/ 
Map 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

112 Map 3 Amend Map 3 Strategic Plan as follows: 
 
Remove NGT route notation an3, 4,d update key accordingly. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 

To reflect 
changes set out 
in the above 
schedule. 

113 Map 4 Amend Map 4 Transport Network Improvements as follows: 
 
Show Knowsthorpe Lane Link road on map  
 
Update key - A63 - Pontefract Road / Knowsthorpe Lane Link Road. 
 
Delete Pedestrian/Cycle routes (indicative) notation 
 
Revise Local Pedestrian/Cycle Routes, existing & proposed 
(indicative) in the south bank area. 
 
Delete NGT route, stops and potential extension 
 

To reflect 
changes set out 
in the above 
schedule. 

114 Map 7 Amend Map 7 South Bank Area Map as follows: 
 
Delete symbols showing landmark buildings and update key. 
accordingly. 
 
Revise Local Pedestrian/Cycle Routes, existing & proposed 
(indicative) in the south bank area. 
 
Amend boundary to site AV10. 
 
Delete NGT route and stops. 
 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 

To reflect 
changes set out 
in the above 
schedule. 

Landmark 
buildings 
deleted because 
they are not 
referred to in 
policies.  

115 Map 8 Amend Map 8 East Bank, Richmond Hill & Cross Green Area as 
follows: 
 
Revise Local Pedestrian/Cycle Routes, existing & proposed 
(indicative) in the South Bank area 
 
Delete symbols showing landmark buildings and update key 
accordingly. 
 
Change designation of site AV33 from housing allocation to identified 
housing. 
 
Insert site AV117 as identified housing sites. 
 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 

To reflect 
changes set out 
in the above 
schedule. 

Landmark 
buildings 
deleted because 
they are not 
referred to in 
policies. 
 
Changes to 
local pedestrian 
/ cycle routes to 
more accurately 
reflect key 

Page 649



Page 33 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Map 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

routes in the 
area. 

116 Map 9  Amend Map 9, Hunslet Area as follows: 
 
Remove text and symbol referring to an indicative buffer at site AV40 
 
Delete symbols showing landmark buildings and update key 
accordingly. 
 
Revise Local Pedestrian/Cycle Routes, existing & proposed 
(indicative) in the south bank area. 
 
Delete NGT route and stops. 
 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 

To reflect 
changes set out 
in the above 
schedule. 

Landmark 
buildings 
deleted because 
they are not 
referred to in 
policies. 
 

117 Map 11 Amend Map 11 Central Aire Valley Area as follows: 
 
Show Knowsthorpe Lane Link road on map  
 
Update key - A63 - Pontefract Road / Knowsthorpe Lane Link Road. 
 
Amend boundary to site AV68 to the south of the site. 
 
Amend boundary to site AV83. 
 
Change designation of sites AV50, AV65 and AV66 from allocation 
general employment to identified general employment. 
 
Insert sites AV115 and AV116 as identified general employment sites. 
 
Delete NGT route, stops and potential extension. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 

To reflect 
changes set out 
in the above 
schedule. 

 

118 Map 12 Amend Map 12 Skelton Gate Area as follows: 
 
Show Knowsthorpe Lane Link road notation on map  
 
Update key - A63 - Pontefract Road / Knowsthorpe Lane Link Road. 
 
Delete Pedestrian/Cycle routes (indicative) notation.   
 
Remove office and business uses from map and replace with a 
symbol with the following notation: Policy SG1 other uses (indicative) 
and update key accordingly. 
 
Delete NGT route, stops and potential extension. 
 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 

To reflect 
changes set out 
in the above 
schedule. 

 

119 Map 13 Amend Map 13 Policies Map (Aire Valley Leeds Aap) as follows: 
 
Show Knowsthorpe Lane Link road on map  
 
Update key - A63 - Pontefract Road / Knowsthorpe Lane Link Road. 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 

To reflect 
changes set out 
in the above 

Page 650



Page 34 of 39 
 

No. Policy/ 
Map 

Change 
New text: underlined                                Deleted text: strikethrough 

Reason for 
Change 

 
Amend boundary to site AV10. 
 
Amend boundary to site AV68 to the south of the site. 
 
Amend boundary to site AV83. 
 
Change designation of sites AV50, AV65 and AV66 from allocation 
general employment to identified general employment 
 
Insert sites AV115 and AV116 to as identified general employment 
sites. 
 
Insert site AV117 as identified housing sites. 
 
 

schedule. 

 

120 Map 14 Amend Map 14 as follows: 
 
Show Knowsthorpe Lane Link road on map  
 
Update key - A63 - Pontefract Road / Knowsthorpe Lane Link Road. 
 
Amend boundary to site AV10. 
 
Amend boundary to site AV68 to the south of the site. 
 
Amend boundary to site AV83. 
 
Change designation of sites AV50, AV65 and AV 66 from allocation 
general employment to identified general employment. 
 
Insert sites AV115 and AV116 to as identified general employment 
sites. 
 
Insert site AV117 as identified housing sites. 
 
Delete NGT route potential extension. 
 

For clarity and 
effectiveness. 

To reflect 
changes set out 
in the above 
schedule. 

 

 

  

Page 651



Page 35 of 39 
 

Part 2 Schedule of factual and grammatical Pre-Submission Changes 

The following schedule list the proposed factual and grammatical Pre-Submission Changes, which 
the Council would agree, subject to further discussion through the Examination process. 
Consequently these changes are included in the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Submission 
Draft, Sept 2016 (CD/01).   

In terms of presentation, the deletion of text is denoted with a strikethrough (strikethrough) with 
new text in italicised in bold (new text). 

No. Para Change Reason for Change 
1  Amend contents page section “3.2 Economy & Jobs” with  

3.2 Economic Growth & Local Job Creation 

For clarity 

2 1.1.4 First sentence of para 1.1.4 delete the ‘/’ (slash) after  

“…Leeds Local development Framework (LDF)…” 

Text correction. 

3 1.3.4 Last sentence of para 1.3.4 delete is and insert “are” 
‘…the aspirations for the area are to ensure...’ 

Text correction. 

4 1.4.5 Third bullet point of para 1.4.5 add capital letter “B”:  
‘Building a resources smart city region’ 

Text correction. 

5 1.4.8 Para 1.4.8 point 4, add “s” to “live”  

‘…people live longer and healthier lives…’ 

Text correction. 

6 1.4.11 First sentence of para 1.1.4 delete the ‘/’ (slash) after  

“…Leeds Local development Framework (LDF)…” 

Text correction. 

7 3.3.11 End of para 3.3.11 delete “coming” and replace with “come” 
“…brownfield and greenfield sites coming come forward…” 

Text correction. 

8 3.3.22 First line in para 3.3.22 delete the word “a” before “low carbon” 

“…an ambition to create a low carbon heat networks...” 

Text correction.  

9 3.4.5 Second sentence in para 3.4.5 add “,” (comma) after “area” and 
delete “s” in the word “health” 

“…Within the area, there are underlying healths and inequality 
issues…” 

Text correction. 

10 3.4.19 Para 3.4.19 insert “of” before “healthy” 

“…fundamental to the creation of healthy and thriving 
communities…” 

Text correction. 

11 3.5.20 Para 3.5.20 insert “a” before “vital component” 

“…for local residents and businesses and is a vital component of 
delivering sustainable development in the area…” 

Text correction. 

12 3.5.22 First line in para 3.5.22 delete “s” to “service” 

“…there is virtually no services in the eastern part of the area…” 

Text correction. 

13 3.5.41 Para 3.5.41 second sentence delete “preparation of a” and insert 
“Parking”  

“…further informed by the preparation of a Parking 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)…” 

Text correction. 

Page 652



Page 36 of 39 
 

No. Para Change Reason for Change 
14 3.6.13 Para 3.6.13 third bullet point insert “of” after “five years” and 

delete text “(current permission expires in 2016)” 

“…within five years of the cessation of landfilling (current 
permission expires in 2016).” 

Text correction. 

15 4.2.6 Para 4.2.6 second sentence delete  “*” (asterisk) after “Grade II” 
 
“…including the Grade II * listed Salem Church…” 

Text correction. 

16 4.2.49 Para 4.2.49 last sentence delete “a” before “new crossing” 
“…potentially require a new crossing points…” 

Text correction. 

17 4.2.53 To the end of para 4.2.53 delete “a” before “open space” 

“…Leeds Dock which could be linked to the creation of a open 
space within the site…” 

Text correction. 

18 4.2.57 To the end of para 4.2.57 add “s” to “area” 

“…taking place in future development areas where practical.” 

Text correction. 

19 4.2.58 Para 4.2.58 first sentence insert “of” after “laying out” 
“…Tetley’s site with the laying out of a temporary area…” 

For clarification 

20 Policy 
SB5 

Insert paragraph reference “2” to last paragraph of Policy SB5 Text correction. 

21 4.3.1 
Obj 1 

Amend para 4.3.1, objective 1, delete “and” insert “of” 
1.Improve the quality and of the local environment 

Text correction. 

22 4.3.5 Para 4.3.5 second sentence delete abbreviation “IRR” and insert  
Inner Ring Road  

“The Inner Ring Road IRR (East Street and Marsh Lane)…” 

Text correction. 

23 4.3.16 Para 4.3.16 first sentence delete “to the”  

“This area lies to the between a railway branch line…” 

Text correction. 

24 4.3.18 Para 4.3.18 insert “the” before “largest potential“ to the second 
sentence  

“Copperfield is the largest potential development site…” 

For clarification 

25 4.3.20 Para 4.3.20 delete “a” in second sentence  

“…close proximity but have a very different characteristics…” 

Text correction. 

26 4.3.36 Para 4.3.36, second sentence delete “this” and insert “the 
Upper Accommodation” 
“…facilities being provided in this the Upper Accommodation 
area…” 

For clarification 

27 4.3.36 Para 4.3.36, second sentence delete “s” to “site” 

“…due to a lack of suitable development sites opportunities 
nearby…” 

Text correction. 

28  Amend paragraph reference “4.5.51” to “4.3.51” Text correction. 
29 4.3.57 Para 4.3.57 second sentence delete “a” before “suitable” 

“…Site AV18 has also been identified as a suitable and 
deliverable for housing...” 

Text correction. 

30  Amend paragraph reference “4.6.59 to “4.3.59”  Text correction. 

Page 653



Page 37 of 39 
 

No. Para Change Reason for Change 
31 4.3.65 Para 4.3.65 insert “at” before “Leeds Dock” 

“…nearest day to day shopping facilities at Leeds Dock…” 

For clarification 

32 4.3.66 Para insert “frontages” before “on the river” 
 
"The sites have prominent frontages on the river which offers 
an important opportunity…” 

For clarification  

33 4.3.74 Para 4.3.74 point 3 insert “school” after “new primary” 

“…potentially a new primary school and food store…” 

For clarification 

34 4.3.75 Para 4.3.75 insert “which” after “St Hilda’s church” 

“…vacant land to the east of St Hilda’s church which also has a 
planning permission for 86 flats (Site AV36). 

For clarification 

35 4.3.77 Para 4.3.77 third bullet point amend “improving” with 
“Improvements”  

“• Improving Improvements to the public realm such as street 
tree planting…” 

Text correction. 

36 4.4.31 Para 4.4.31 insert “Road” after “Accommodation” 

“…located to the north of the South Accommodation Road…” 

For clarification. 

37 4.4.32 Para 4.4.32 second sentence delete “waste” with “minerals” 
“The site is mostly vacant, but some waste minerals processing 
uses occupy parts of the site.”    

Update to reflect 
current use of the 
site. 

38 4.4.38 Para 4.4.38 third sentence delete “is” after “cycle path” 

“…requiring diversion of the Trans Pennine Trail cycle path is 
through the Bridgewater Road site…”   

Text correction. 

39 4.4.48 Para 4.4.48 delete “a” before “particular”  

“The River Aire corridor is a particularly important asset…” 

Text correction. 

40 4.4.50 Para 4.4.50 second sentence insert “and” before “town centre” 

“…the area next to the town centre and is assessed as the best 
quality green space in AVL…” 

Text correction. 

41 4.4.55 Insert text at the end of para 4.4.55 as follows: 

“…including the Hunslet Baptist Church building on Low Road 
and the tower and spire of St Marys Church on Church  
Street. 

For clarification. 

42 4.5.11 Para 4.5.11 second sentence insert “to” after “It is home” 

“It is home to a large number of businesses…” 

Text correction. 

43 4.5.20 Para 4.5.20 insert “l“ to “Casteford” 

“The Leeds-Castleford railway line runs…” 

Text correction. 

44 4.6.26 End of para 4.6.26 delete “Gate” to “Grange” 
“…such as the restored Skelton Gate Grange landfill site…” 

Text correction. 

 

 

Page 654



Page 38 of 39 
 

No. Para Change Reason for Change 
45  Update Glossary definition Sequential approach delete “uses” 

“…town centre uses sites before out-of-centre sites…” 

Text correction. 

46  Update Glossary definition as follows: 

New Generation Transport (NGT) 
The name of the proposed trolleybus scheme for Leeds that 
was cancelled in May 2016 following a public inquiry. This 
The scheme would have comprised two routes linking Stourton 
and Holt Park to the City Centre, with park and ride sites at 
Stourton and Bodington. The vehicles would run on street with 
electric power supplied by overhead wires. 

Text correction. 

 

 

Page 655



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 

 

AIRE VALLEY LEEDS AREA ACTION PLAN  

Leeds Local Development Framework 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Development Plan Document 
 
Sustainability Appraisal - Addendum 1: SA of Pre-submission 
Changes and Non Technical Summary 

September 2016 

Page 657



1 
 

Contents           Page 
 
 
Non-Technical Summary to Sustainability Appraisal Addendum     2 

Submission Sustainability Appraisal Addendum          4 

Habitats Regulations Assessment          18  

Page 658



2 
 

NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY TO SUSTAINABILITY 
APPRAISAL ADDENDUM 

Introduction 

1. Leeds City Council is preparing the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan in accordance 
with the LDF Regulations.  As such the plan has been subject to sustainability appraisal 
throughout its preparation. This has been documented in the Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA) Report - ‘the SA Report’ which was published for formal consultation along with the 
Publication Draft Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan (AVLAAP) from September to 
November 2015. As a result of the consultation and to update factual information, the 
Council is proposing a small number of pre-submission changes to the Publication Draft 
Plan. Further sustainability appraisal has been carried out on the changes and the 
results of this work are documented in the Sustainability Appraisal Addendum 
September 2016. The Addendum should be read in conjunction with the SA Report.  

Methodology 

2. The Addendum provides two main updates. Firstly, it provides an update to the SA 
methodology, including an additional SA sub-objective for land instability, and updates 
baseline data and re-assesses all plan options, objectives, policies and site allocations 
against the revised SA framework.  A distinction has made between offices and general 
employment which allows a more accurate assessment to made against accessibility 
and transport objectives.  

3. Secondly, the Addendum assesses the proposed pre-submission changes against the 
SA framework, including the additional new sub-objective for land instability. This is 
done in two steps. The first step screens the proposed changes to identify where the 
change may require an alternation to the original SA scoring and results. The second 
step provides a detailed assessment of the proposed change against the SA framework 
where the ‘screening exercise’ determined that the proposed change may alter the SA 
scoring.  

4. Where there is considered to be a need to revise the results of the SA, the Addendum 
then considers whether this alters the assessment of the cumulative effects of the plan 
and recommendations for proposed mitigation and monitoring.   

5. The pre-submission changes have also been screened to determine if they would lead 
to any significant impacts under the Habitats Regulations.  

Results of the SA 

6. Supporting principles and plan policies have been amended to reflect a negative score 
where the plan is allocating development sites or proposing other development in areas 
identified as having potential issues with land instability. 

Page 659



3 
 

7. The screening exercise showed that ten of the seventy-one pre-submission changes 
needed to be re-assessed against the SA Framework as follows: 

i. Site AV68 has a new site boundary and therefore the SA needs to be revised 
accordingly, 

ii. The removal of the Skelton Gate area as a specified location for office development 
has the potential to change the results of the SA of Policy AVL3, 

iii. Site AV83 has a new site boundary and therefore the SA needs to be revised 
accordingly, 

iv. The capacity of three of the sites allocated under Policy AVL7 has been amended. 
This alters the spatial distribution of housing and increases the number of units and 
therefore has potential to change a number of scores, 

v. Four changes to the transport proposals , including the deletion of the NGT trolley 
bus have the potential to change scores in the SA framework, particularly those 
relating to accessibility, 

vi. Changes to Policy AVL16 could affect scores under SA21 (heritage), 
vii. Changes to Policy SB2 have the potential to improve scores under SA21 (heritage), 
viii. The proposed change to a bus based park and ride facility (from the refused NGT 

scheme) has the potential to change scores relating to accessibility, 
ix. Site requirements for site AV111 have been amended to safeguard views of the 

Temple Newsam Estate and this has the potential to improve scores under SA 21 
(heritage), 

x. Changes to Policy SG1 and accompanying paragraphs have the potential to change 
SA scores. 

8. The assessment of these changes (found in Appendix 9 of the Addendum) showed that 
the majority are considered to be beneficial overall. However, potential negative SA 
effects are noted in terms of the deletion of the NGT trolleybus scheme and the impact 
on school provision and flood risk due to the proposed changes to capacity of housing 
sites, particularly with regard to sites within and close to the city centre. 

9. Mitigation measures resulting from the review of the SA framework and proposed 
changes to the submission plan include the insertion of wording into the Resilient and 
Safe Development Section. This wording cross-refers to other policies in existing 
adopted plans that have requirements in relation to land stability in areas of coal mining 
legacy.  

10. The pre-submission changes were not found to lead to any significant impacts under the 
Habitats Regulations. 

  

Page 660



4 
 

SUBMISSION SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL ADDENDUM 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
Background 
1.1 In September 2015, a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Report - ‘the SA Report’; was 

prepared to accompany the Publication Draft Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan 
(AVLAAP). A consultation on the Publication Draft AVLAAP was undertaken in 
September to November 2015. A number of representations were received raising 
issues relating to the soundness and legal compliance of the plan.  

1.2 In response the Council has proposed a number of pre-submission changes to 
address matters relating to the soundness of the plan. In addition the Council is 
proposing other changes for clarification and to update factual information in the plan. 
These proposed changes must be reviewed under the SA for potential changes to 
the SA results and recommendations published in the SA Report. 

1.3 Some responses to the consultation also raised issues relating to the SA 
methodology and assessment results. These responses have been considered and 
revisions to the methodology and assessment made where appropriate. 

 
Purpose of the addendum 
1.4 This document forms an addendum to the original SA Report to support the 

submission version of the AVLAAP and should be read in conjunction with that 
report.  

 
1.5 The addendum provides two main updates. Firstly, it provides an update to the SA 

methodology, including inclusion of an additional SA sub-objective. It then updates 
baseline data, as necessary, and re-assesses all plan options, objectives, policies 
and site allocations against the revised SA framework.    

 
1.6 Secondly, the addendum assesses the proposed pre-submission changes against 

the SA framework. This is done in two steps. The first step screens the proposed 
changes to identify where the change may require an alternation to the original SA 
scoring and results. The second step provides a detailed assessment of the 
proposed change against the SA framework where the ‘screening exercise’ 
determined that the proposed change may alter the SA scoring. This assessment 
considers the changes in the context of the objective / policy / allocation as a whole. 

 
1.7 Where there is considered to be a need to revise the results of the SA, the 

Addendum then considers whether this alters the assessment of the cumulative 
effects of the plan and recommendations for proposed mitigation.   

 
Structure 
1.8 This addendum presents the following information: 
 

• Section 1: Background 
• Section 2: Revision to SA methodology and baseline data 

Page 661



5 
 

• Section 3: Assessment of the plan against the revised SA framework 
• Section 4: Methodology for assessing proposed pre-submission changes 
• Section 5: Assessment of the proposed pre-submission changes for their potential to 

alter the SA 
• Section 6: Habitats Regulations Assessment update 

 
 
2. REVISIONS TO SA METHODOLOGY AND BASELINE DATA 

2.1 Sections 2, 3 and 5 and Appendix 4 of the SA Report set out the overall methodology 
and framework for assessment of the likely significant effects of the AVLAAP, 
including the 22 SA objectives. The methodology has been used to assess 
alternative options, objectives, policies and site allocations. 

2.2 This section sets out two modifications to the SA methodology which are then applied 
to the site assessments and assessment of the plan options, objectives and policies, 
where relevant, in Section 3 of this addendum. These modifications have been made 
to reflect the collection of additional, more detailed, baseline information and in 
response to representations received to the Publication Draft AVLAAP consultation. 

 
Accessibility to potential employment sites 

2.3 As part of the update of the Employment Land Assessment and in conjunction with 
the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, the Council has updated the scoring system 
for employment sites in terms of accessibility of sites to public transport. Accessibility 
to public transport is used as the basis of the score for employment sites against SA 
objectives 13 and 16 and forms part of the score against SA15 alongside other 
transport related issues. 

2.4 The scoring criteria outlined in the SA Report was open to significant interpretation as 
it made reference to meeting Core Strategy standards when there are two separate 
standards for employment depending on whether the end use is offices or a general 
employment use.  

2.5 The revised scoring system has been devised to remove this ambiguity using the 
Core Strategy office accessibility standard as the basis for achieving the highest 
score for this measure (5) and the general employment accessibility standard as the 
minimum level of accessibility (scoring 2). Sites which fail to meet the general 
employment accessibility standard are the least sustainable; scoring 1 (or a double 
negative score) against the relevant SA objectives. The criteria for scoring 3 or 4 lies 
between the office and general employment standard and thus provides a good or 
very good level of accessibility for general employment but marginally fails the 
accessibility standard for office development. These changes capture the intent of 
national and local guidance to ensure that offices, which in general generate high 
numbers of trips are located in highly accessible locations. 

 
  

Page 662



6 
 

The following revisions are made to Section 5, Table 3 - Guide to ranking criteria (for 
transport related SA objectives) 
 
Transport issue Score Criteria 
Accessibility to public 
transport 1 Average time to access public transport services1 

>40 mins (fails to meet Core Strategy standard) 

2 
Average time to access public transport services 
>20 mins and <=40 mins (equivalent to Core Strategy 
standard for general employment uses) 

3 Average time to access public transport services 
>15 mins and <=20 mins 

4 Average time to access public transport services 
>12.5 mins and <=15 mins 

5 
Average time to access public transport services  
<= 12.5 mins (equivalent to Core Strategy standard 
for office uses) 

Highway access 1 No access achievable 

2 Highway frontage but adequate access / visibility not 
achievable 

3 Requires development of adjacent site for access 

4 Access achievable with mitigation works e.g. 
signalised junction 

5 Adequate frontage/s for suitable access/es and 
visibility splays within site / adopted highway 

Impact on local 
highway network 1 Unsuitable local network and no potential for 

mitigation 
2 Unsuitable local network but mitigation potential 
3 Local congestion issues 

4 Spare local capacity and suitable network but likely 
cumulative impact issues 

5 Spare local network capacity and suitable network 
 
Land instability 
 
2.6 The Council received a representation from the Coal Authority as part of the 

consultation on the Publication Draft AVLAAP. This noted that the SA of the AVLAAP 
did not include consideration of land instability issues. The Coal Authority considered 
this to be a fundamental deficiency in the SA which rendered it unsound as 
paragraphs 109,120,121 and 166 of the NPPF which require the issue to be 
addressed as part of the preparation of plans. The Coal Authority suggested an 
amendment to the SA framework to include further sub-objectives under objective 
SA18 to consider land instability issues. SA18 covers ‘pollution’ and already 
considers contamination and Health & Safety Executive major hazards as well as air 
quality. 

                                                           
1 Under the accessibility to public transport criteria average time to access public transport factors in walk time 
to a bus stop and the frequency of services serving that stop. It is calculated using the following formula 
(Average time = x min walks = (0.5 x y min bus frequency) e.g. 5 min walk and 15 min frequency (the Core 
Strategy accessibility standard for offices) = 5 + (0.5 x 15) = 12.5 mins. Any site within 10 mins walk (800 m) of 
a railway station also scores 5. See Employment Land Assessment for further details. 

Page 663



7 
 

2.7 To rectify this omission, an additional sub-objective (SA18D) has been added to 
SA18 ‘Pollution’ relating to land instability. This is reflected in an additional decision 
making criterion under SA18 in Appendix 4 of the SA Report as follows: 

18. Reduce pollution levels d. Will it prevent unacceptable risks from land instability? 

2.8 To assess the plan against this sub-objective baseline data has been obtained from 
the Coal Authority relating to development high risk areas (DHRAs, associated with 
historic coal mining activity), mine entries and mine entry areas of influence (MZIs). 
The baseline data update is set out in the Addendum to Appendix 3 of the Publication 
Draft SA report.  

2.9 There is a need to assess the likely significant effects of plan proposals on land 
instability using sub-objective SA18D. The SA Report assessed alternative options, 
objectives and policies against SA18 as a whole (Sections 4 and 5 and Appendices 5 
and 9). This assessment now also needs to consider land instability. For site 
assessments the sub-objectives of SA18 were broken down into individual scores as 
explained in Section 5, Table 4 of the SA Report. A further separate scoring system 
is therefore required for SA18D based on the baseline data available. The following 
approach to the assessment of sites has been used in this addendum: 

Update to Section 5, Table 4: Scoring criteria of sites applying SA objectives 
 
SA Objective Assumptions used Scoring 
SA18 
 
Pollution 

Sub-divide SA18 into 4 parts (SA18A, SA18B, SA18C and SA18D to 
consider whether site affected by air quality designations, HSE Major 
Hazard Zone, contamination or land instability issues. 

SA18D Land 
instability 

Coal Authority Development 
High Risk Areas and Mine 
Entry Zones of Influence  

O  Less than 5% of the site is located 
within a Coal Authority Development 
High Risk Area 

-   More than 5% of the site is located 
within a Coal Authority Development 
High Risk Area 

--  One or more mine entries and mine 
entry zones of influence located 
within the site boundary 

 

2.10 Additionally, the summary of significant effects, cumulative effects and proposed 
mitigation measures set out in Section 5 and Appendices 7, 8, 10 and 11 need to be 
reviewed where assessment of land instability produces a negative sustainability 
effect or alters the outcome of the previous consideration of the plan against 
objective SA18.     

     

 

 

 

Page 664



8 
 

3. ASSESSMENT OF PLAN AGAINST THE REVISED SA 
FRAMEWORK 

3.1 This section sets out the results of the assessment of the plan against the revised SA 
framework including the revised methodology for assessing the accessibility of 
employment sites to public transport (relevant to SA objectives SA13, SA15 and 
SA16) and the new sub-objective SA18D relating to land instability as set out in 
Section 2. 

Sustainability appraisal of alternative options (see Addendum to Appendix 5) 

3.2 The two alternative options proposed as part of the February 2011 consultation (see 
Section 4.1 of the SA Report) were assessed against the revised SA framework. The 
assessment concluded that there was not a need to amend the scoring and results of 
the original SA. The conclusions of this assessment are set out in the Addendum to 
Appendix 5 of the SA Report set out at the back of this report. 

Sustainability appraisal of sites proposed for allocation and sites not proposed for 
allocation (see Addendum to Appendices 7 & 8) 
 
3.3 All proposed allocations and alternative site suggestions have been reassessed 

using the revised methodology for site assessments set out in Section 2. This has 
resulted in a number of changes to the scoring of SA13, SA15 and SA16 and 
produced a set of scores against SA16. The assessment results are set out in the 
Addendum to Appendices 7 and 8. 

 
Sustainability Appraisal of supporting principles and plan policies (see Addendum to 
Appendix 9)  
 
3.4  All the supporting principles and plan policies have been assessed against the 

revised SA framework. This has resulted in a number of changes to the scoring 
against revised Objective SA18 where the plan is allocating development sites or 
proposing other development in areas identified as having potential issues with land 
instability. The assessment results are set out in the Addendum to Appendix 9 
(Schedule 1).  

 
4. METHODOLOGY FOR ASSESSING PROPOSED PRE-

SUBMISSION CHANGES 
4.1  In conducting SA of the proposed changes, the following tasks have been 

undertaken: 

i. An initial SA ‘screening’: each proposed change has first been compared against 
the original Publication Draft AVL AAP policies and supporting information to 
check whether or not it changes what the original policy or other statements 
intended (and thus if it could change the SA results), and also whether or not it 
changes any of the assumptions of the original SA Report. 

Page 665



9 
 

ii. Where necessary, further SA assessment work of proposed changes: where the 
screening exercise confirmed that the proposed change required further attention 
under the SA, the proposed changes have been assessed against the SA 
framework in order to identify potential effects and inform the proposed changes 
and their future implementation. 

5. ASSESSMENT OF PROPOSED PRE-SUBMISSION 
CHANGES FOR THEIR POTENTIAL TO ALTER THE SA 

 
Screening assessment of proposed pre-submission changes (see Schedule of pre-
submission changes document for details) 
 
5.1 The tables below set out the results of the screening of the proposed pre-submission 

changes for their potential to alter the results and outcome of the SA. This has been 
done in two parts. 

 
Screening assessment of pre-submission changes (Part 1: Schedule of proposed 
changes to Draft Plan) 
 
5.3 The table below shows the results of the screening of pre-submission changes (Part 

1 – Schedule of proposed changes to Draft Plan). To simplify the process related 
changes, for example, changes to the supporting text to a policy and changes to the 
policy have been screened together. The screening exercise shows the need to re-
assess a number of policy changes against the SA framework.  

 
Change 
No. 

Change Potential to 
change SA 
outcome? 

Reason 

1 Section 1.6 No This section was included in the Publication Draft for 
information but is not required in the final document. Deletion 
has no effect on SA outcomes. 

2 Section 2 Vision, 
Principle 6 

No The proposed change is positive in terms of the effect on 
heritage. As the objective already scored a double positive for 
heritage there would be no change to overall scores against 
the SA framework. 

3 & 4 Paras 3.2.2 & 
3.2.8 

No Deletion a result of NGT trolleybus scheme refusal - factual 
change. Sustainability effects of deletion of NGT considered as 
part of assessment of proposed changes to Policy AVL12. 

5 Para 3.2.14 & 
Table 1 

No Reflects planning information update to include new planning 
approvals up to April 2016. Factual change with no effect on 
SA outcomes. 

6 Paras 3.2.15, & 
Table 2 

Yes The SA of site AV68 needs to be revised to reflect new site 
boundary (see revised Appendix 7). Other changes reflect a 
planning information update to include new planning approvals 
up to April 2016.  

7, 8 & 9  Paras 3.2.16, 
3.2.17, 3.2.18 & 
Table 3 

No These are consequential changes to totals for each category of 
employment site. Each site is appraised separately (see 
Appendix 7). The Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan sites 
have been subject to a separate SA process detailed in the SA 

Page 666



10 
 

Change 
No. 

Change Potential to 
change SA 
outcome? 

Reason 

report for that plan. Deletion of allowance for Stourton Park & 
Ride site (employment) a result of NGT trolleybus scheme 
refusal - factual change. Sustainability effects of deletion of 
NGT depot at Stourton considered as part of assessment of 
proposed changes to Policy CAV1 

10,11 & 
12  

Paras 3.2.20, 
3.2.21 Policy 
AVL3 

Yes The removal of the Skelton Gate area as a specified location 
for office development has potential to change the results of 
the SA of Policy AVL3.  

13 & 14 Para 3.2.23 & 
Policy AVL4 

Yes The SA of site AV83 needs to be revised to reflect new site 
boundary (see revised Appendix 7). 

Other changes reflect planning information update - with sites 
now included in identified sites schedule under Policy AVL2.  

15 Para 3.2.24 No A consequential change reflecting updates to Tables 1-4 and 
Policies AVL2 & AVL4.  

16 & 17 Para 3.3.7 & 
Table 5 

No Reflects planning information update to include new planning 
approvals up to April 2016. Factual change with no effect on 
SA outcomes. 

18, 19 & 
20 

Paras 3.3.9, 
3.3.10  & Policy 
AVL7 

Yes The capacity of three of the sites allocated under Policy AVL7 
has been amended. This alters the spatial distribution of 
proposed housing within the AVL and increases the overall 
number of housing units proposed in the AVLAAP. Potential to 
change interpretation and scores against a number of SA 
objectives. 

21 Para 3.3.13 & 
Table 6 

No A consequential change reflecting the update to Table 5 and 
Policy AVL7. No change to SA outcome. 

22 Table 7 No A consequential change reflecting the update to Table 5 and 
Policy AVL7. No change to SA outcome. 

23 Para 3.3.15 No The change provides clarification. No change to SA outcome. 

24 Policy AVL8 No The change corrects a typo. No change to SA outcome. 

25 Para 3.4.22 No Deletion a result of NGT trolleybus scheme refusal - factual 
change. Sustainability effects of deletion of NGT considered as 
part of assessment of proposed changes to Policy AVL12. 

26 Para 3.4.23 No A consequential change reflecting change to site capacity 
proposed in Policy AVL7. No change to SA outcome. 

27 Para 3.4.26 No The change provides potential mitigation for the additional 
housing proposed in the South Bank area under the proposed 
amendment in Policy AVL7. As delivery of a primary school is 
subject to further detailed masterplanning work and identifying 
a delivery route, a specific site has not been identified, the 
school has not been added to the list of sites set out in Policy 
AVL10. This policy already scored a double positive for 
education (SA3) and other scores would be depend on the 
specific site e.g. flood risk.    

28 Para 3.4.28 No The change provides clarification. No change to SA outcome. 

29 & 30 Para 3.4.33 & 
Policy AVL11 

No The proposed change improves the clarity and effectiveness of 
the policy and is positive is terms of the effect on heritage. As 
the objective already scored a double positive for heritage 
there would be no change to overall scores against the SA 

Page 667



11 
 

Change 
No. 

Change Potential to 
change SA 
outcome? 

Reason 

framework. 

31 Paras 3.4.35 – 
3.4.37 

No The additional text provides a cross reference to other LDF 
policies which address land instability issues. These have been 
subject to a separate SA process. 

32 Para 3.5.2  No Deletion a result of NGT trolleybus scheme refusal - factual 
change. Sustainability effects of deletion of NGT considered as 
part of assessment of proposed changes to Policy AVL12. 

33 & 34 Para 3.5.4 & 3.5.5 No Factual updates relating to HS2 and the Yorkshire Hub 
concept reflecting updates since the Publication Draft Plan was 
prepared. Future decisions on these proposals are beyond the 
scope of the AAP. No change to SA outcome. 

35, 36 & 
37 

Paras 3.5.6 to 
3.5.10 

No Deletion of previous NGT trolleybus scheme text reflects the 
refusal of the scheme and the Council’s current position on 
identifying the future direction of transport provision. The 
sustainability effects of deletion of NGT considered as part of 
assessment of proposed changes to Policy AVL12. 

38, 39 & 
41 

Paras 3.5.21, 
3.5.25 & Policy 
AVL12 

Yes There are four significant changes to the transport proposals 
identified in the policy, including deletion of the NGT trolleybus 
scheme and potential extension. The policy needs to be re-
assessed against the SA framework to identify any changes to 
the significant effects. 

40 Para 3.5.38 No The additional text provides a cross reference to the adopted 
NRWLP which has been subject to a separate SA process. 

42 & 43 Para 3.7.7 & 
Policy AVL16 

Yes The proposed change to the Policy AVL16 needs to be re-
assessed against the SA framework as there is potential 
different interpretation of the effects under objective SA21 
(heritage). 

44 Section 4.2 
(Spatial Vision) 

No The vision was not appraised in the original SA because it 
amplifies the overall plan objectives within the area which have 
been assessed separately. Deletion a result of NGT trolleybus 
scheme refusal is a factual change. Sustainability effects of 
deletion of NGT considered as part of assessment of proposed 
changes to Policy AVL12. 

45 & 46 Section 4.2 
(Objectives) 

No The area objectives were not appraised in the original SA 
because they amplify the overall plan objectives within the 
area. No change to SA outcome. 

47, 48 & 
49 

Paras 4.2.18 &   
4.2.20 & Policy 
SB1 

No Changes in 4.2.18 & 4.2.20 refer to changing context relating 
to HS2, Yorkshire Hub and the South Bank Masterplan. These 
provide factual updates which have no effect on SA outcomes. 

Other deletion in Para 4.2.20 a result of NGT trolleybus 
scheme refusal is a factual change. Sustainability effects of 
deletion of NGT considered as part of assessment of proposed 
changes to Policy AVL12. 

Proposed changes to Policy SB1 are minor but help to clarify 
the intent of the policy. There may be slightly more positive 
outcomes in terms of SA15 (Transport) but this would not 
change overall SA scores and outcome. 

50 Policy SB2 Yes The proposed changes needs to be re-assessed against the 
SA framework as the additional reference to heritage issues 
could result in a more positive score against objective SA21 

Page 668



12 
 

Change 
No. 

Change Potential to 
change SA 
outcome? 

Reason 

(heritage).  

51 & 52 Paras 4.2.30 & 
4.2.31 

No The proposed changes in para 4.2.30 are providing further 
clarification in terms of the implementation of Core Strategy 
Policy G5 which has been subject to a separate SA process.  

The changes to the description of proposed green routes in 
para 4.2.31 provide clarification in relation to the routes shown 
on the area maps. No change to SA outcome. 

53 & 54 Paras 4.2.46 & 
Policy SB4 

No Deletion in Para 4.2.46 a result of NGT trolleybus scheme 
refusal is a factual change. Sustainability effects of deletion of 
NGT considered as part of assessment of proposed changes 
to Policy AVL12. 

The proposed changes widens range of employment uses but 
no significant change to SA outcome which is overall double 
positive for SA1 and SA2 (employment / economic growth 
objectives) 

55 
 

Policy AVL7/SB3 
(Site AV94) 

No The requirement relating to older persons housing for this site 
was included in the Publication Draft Plan as a result of an 
error. It was to be removed on flood risk grounds (and the 
designation was taken off the area map) so was not taken into 
account in the original SA.  

The strengthened site requirement is mitigation for potential 
impact on heritage assets and does not change the SA 
outcome significantly. 

56 Policy AVL7 (Site 
AV7) 

No The requirement relating to older persons housing for this site 
was included in the Publication Draft Plan as a result of an 
error. It was to be removed on flood risk grounds (and the 
designation was taken off the area map) so was not taken into 
account in the original SA.  

57 Policy AVL7 (Site 
AV9) 

No The requirement relating to older persons housing for this site 
was included in the Publication Draft Plan as a result of an 
error. It was to be removed on flood risk grounds (and the 
designation was taken off the area map) so was not taken into 
account in the original SA.  

The strengthened site requirement is mitigation for potential 
impact on heritage assets and does not change the SA 
outcome significantly. 

58 Policy AVL7 
(Sites AV12 & 
AV13) 

No The requirement relating to older persons housing for this site 
was included in the Publication Draft Plan as a result of an 
error. It was to be removed on flood risk grounds (and the 
designation was taken off the area map) so was not taken into 
account in the original SA. 

59 Policy AVL7 
(Sites AV14, 
AV15 & AV16) 

No The requirement relating to older persons housing for this site 
was included in the Publication Draft Plan as a result of an 
error. It was to be removed on flood risk grounds (and the 
designation was taken off the area map) so was not taken into 
account in the original SA. 

60 Policy AVL7 (Site 
AV17) 

No The requirement relating to older persons housing for this site 
was included in the Publication Draft Plan as a result of an 
error. It was to be removed on flood risk grounds (and the 
designation was taken off the area map) so was not taken into 

Page 669



13 
 

Change 
No. 

Change Potential to 
change SA 
outcome? 

Reason 

account in the original SA.  

The strengthened site requirement is mitigation for potential 
impact on heritage assets and does not change the SA 
outcome significantly. 

61 Section 4.3 
(Objectives) 

No The area objectives were not appraised in the original SA 
because they amplify the overall plan objectives within the 
area. No change to SA outcome. 

62 Policy EB4 No The change provides clarification as to how the policy will be 
assessed in relation to other plan policies. Other plan policies 
have been subject to a separate SA assessment. 

63 Policy AVL7 
(Sites AV32, 
AV33 & AV34) 

No The requirement relating to older persons housing for this site 
was included in the Publication Draft Plan as a result of an 
error. It was to be removed on flood risk grounds (and the 
designation was taken off the area map) so was not taken into 
account in the original SA.  

Other changes correct typos. No change to SA outcome. 

64 Policy AVL7 
(Sites AV32, 
AV33 & AV34) 

No The strengthened site requirement is mitigation for potential 
impact on heritage assets and does not change the SA 
outcome significantly. 

65 Policy AVL7 (Site 
AV38) 

No The strengthened site requirement is mitigation for potential 
impact on heritage assets and does not change the SA 
outcome significantly. 

66 Section 4.4 
(Spatial Vision) 

No The vision was not appraised in the original SA because it 
amplifies the overall plan objectives within the area which have 
been assessed separately (see Appendix 9). No change to SA 
outcome. 

67 Section 4.4 
(Objectives) 

No The area objectives were not appraised in the original SA 
because they amplify the overall plan objectives within the 
area. No change to SA outcome. 

68 Para 4.4.15 No Deletion a result of NGT trolleybus scheme refusal and is a 
factual change. Sustainability effects of deletion of NGT 
considered as part of assessment of proposed changes to 
Policy AVL12. 

69 Policy AVL7 (Site 
AV48) 

No The change corrects a typo. No change to SA outcome. 

70 Para 4.4.20 No The change provides clarification. No change to SA outcome. 

71 Policy AVL7 (Site 
AV98) 

No The strengthened site requirement is mitigation for potential 
impact on heritage assets and does not change the SA 
outcome significantly. 

72, 73 & 
74 

Paras 4.4.35, 
4.4.36 & Policy 
AVL7 (Site AV40) 

No Para 4.4.35 makes a cross reference to NRWLP site 
requirements for a buffer. The NRWLP has been subject to a 
separate SA.  

Para 4.4.36 makes a cross reference to the revised capacity of 
the site – change made under Policy AVL7 which will be re-
assessed against the SA framework.   

The strengthened site requirement is mitigation for potential 
impact on heritage assets and does not change the SA 
outcome significantly. 

Page 670



14 
 

Change 
No. 

Change Potential to 
change SA 
outcome? 

Reason 

75 Policy AVL7 (Site 
AV46) 

No The requirement relating to older persons housing for this site 
was included in the Publication Draft Plan as a result of an 
error. It was to be removed on flood risk grounds (and the 
designation was taken off the area map) so was not taken into 
account in the original SA.  

The strengthened site requirement is mitigation for potential 
impact on heritage assets and does not change the SA 
outcome significantly. 

78 & 79 Para 4.4.43 & 
Policy HU4 

No Deletions a result of NGT trolleybus scheme refusal and are 
factual changes. Sustainability effects of deletion of NGT 
considered as part of assessment of proposed changes to 
Policy AVL12. 

80 Para 4.4.53 No Deletion a result of NGT trolleybus scheme refusal and is a 
factual change. Sustainability effects of deletion of NGT 
considered as part of assessment of proposed changes to 
Policy AVL12. 

81 Section 4.5 
(Spatial Vision) 

No Deletion a result of NGT trolleybus scheme refusal and is a 
factual change. Sustainability effects of deletion of NGT 
considered as part of assessment of proposed changes to 
Policy AVL12. 

82 & 83 Section 4.5. 
(Objectives) 

No Deletion a result of NGT trolleybus scheme refusal and is a 
factual change. Sustainability effects of deletion of NGT 
considered as part of assessment of proposed changes to 
Policy AVL12. 

The area objectives were not appraised in the original SA 
because they amplify the overall plan objectives within the area 
(see Appendix 9). No change to SA outcome. 

84, 85 & 
86 

Paras 4.5.28, 
4.5.29 & Policy 
CAV1 

Yes The proposed change to a bus based park and ride facility 
(from the refused NGT scheme) is a significant change. The 
policy needs to be re-assessed against the SA framework to 
identify any changes to the significant effects. 

87 Policy CAV2 No Policy wording amended as a result of the NGT trolleybus 
scheme refusal but is not likely to have a significant on the SA 
outcome. The sustainability effects of deletion of NGT 
considered as part of assessment of proposed changes to 
Policy AVL12.  

88 & 89 Para 4.5.33 & 
Policy CAV3 

No Change to para 4.5.33 is a minor change to the site description 
which has no effect on SA outcomes. 

The revision to Policy CAV3 improves the benefits of the policy 
in terms of green space (SA10) and biodiversity (SA12) but as 
the policy already scored a double positive there is no 
significant change to the SA outcome. 

90, 91 & 
92 

Paras 4.5.51,  
4.5.52 & 4.5.54 

No Paras 4.5.51 & 4.5.52 - the change to site area is a cross 
reference to the change to Policy AVL4 (Site AV68) which is 
subject to a revised SA based on the amended site boundary. 
The additional text provides a cross reference to the adopted 
NRWLP rail spur designation and the potential of the site to 
incorporate rail served development. The NRWLP has been 
subject to a separate SA process. The change is minor and will 
result in no significant change to the SA outcome. 

Page 671



15 
 

Change 
No. 

Change Potential to 
change SA 
outcome? 

Reason 

Para 4.5.54 - deletion a result of NGT trolleybus scheme 
refusal and is a factual change. Sustainability effects of 
deletion of NGT considered as part of assessment of proposed 
changes to Policy AVL12. 

92 Para 4.5.59  No Deletion a result of NGT trolleybus scheme refusal and is a 
factual change. Sustainability effects of deletion of the NGT 
service to Stourton considered as part of assessment of 
proposed changes to Policy AVL12 and CAV1. 

93 Policy AVL4 (Site 
AV83) 

No The amended site requirement in relation to green 
infrastructure reflects the mitigation measures required based 
on the proposed change to the site boundary. This has no 
effect on SA outcomes. The revised site has been assessed 
against the SA framework (see Appendix 7).  

94 Section 4.6 
(Spatial Vision) 

No The vision was not appraised in the original SA because it 
amplifies the overall plan objectives within the area which have 
been assessed separately (see Appendix 9). No change to SA 
outcome. 

95 Section 4.6 
(Objectives) 

No The area objectives were not appraised in the original SA 
because they amplify the overall plan objectives within the area 
(see Appendix 9). No change to SA outcome. 

96 Para 4.6.15 No A consequential change reflecting change to site capacity 
proposed in Policy AVL7. 

97 Para 4.6.16 No Deletion a result of NGT trolleybus scheme refusal and is a 
factual change. Sustainability effects of deletion of NGT 
considered as part of assessment of proposed changes to 
Policy AVL12. 

98 Para 4.6.20 No Design principles were not subject to SA in original report but 
they support overall plan objectives which have been assessed 
separately (see Appendix 9).  

99 Para 4.6.29 No Change to description of site access. Factual change with no 
effect on SA outcomes. 

100 Para 4.6.30 No Factual update to reflect that planning permission for business 
park lapsed in April 2016. 

101 Policy AVL7 (Site 
AV111 – site 
requirements) 

Yes Local centre: change clarifies mitigation measures relating to 
local services. No effect on SA outcomes as principle of 
providing local services as mitigation for poor access to 
existing services remains. 

Ecological assessment: the requirement has been included in 
error. It repeats another site requirement under bullet 3 and is 
unnecessary. No effect on SA outcome 

Historic park and garden: this requirement is added as mitigate 
to uncertain impacts against SA21 (heritage) to ensure key 
views of the Temple Newsam estate are safeguarded (see 
Appendix 7). 

102, 
103, 
104 & 
105 

Paras 4.6.36, 
4.6.37, 4.6.39 & 
Policy SG1 

Yes There are several changes to this policy which are considered 
to be significant and have potential to affect the SA scoring and 
outcome. 

106 & 
107 

Paras 4.6.44, 
4.6.47 

No Para 4.6.44 makes a cross reference to the revised capacity of 
the site – change made under Policy AVL7 which will be re-

Page 672



16 
 

Change 
No. 

Change Potential to 
change SA 
outcome? 

Reason 

assessed against the SA framework.   

Para 4.6.47 changes provide clarification as to the 
interpretation of the policy requirement in Policy SG3. 

108, 
109 & 
110 

Paras 4.6.49, 
4.6.50 & Policy 
SG4 

No Proposed changes are for clarify and consistency and to reflect 
further discussions between the Council, wildlife groups and 
developers regarding to type of facility required at Skelton 
Lake. This has no effect on the SA outcome. 

111 Appendix 2 No This has been assessed through the SA of Policy AVL11. The 
appendix listed specific buildings. 

112 to 
120 

Maps 3, 4, 7, 8, 9, 
11, 12, 13 & 14  

No Map changes generally reflect changes screened above which 
have a spatial element. Two changes to maps not assessed 
are the deletion of landmark buildings and changes to 
pedestrian/ cycle routes on Map 8. These changes are not 
considered to significantly change the SA outcome.   

 

Screening assessment of pre-submission changes (Part 2 – Schedule of factual and 
grammatical changes to Draft Plan) 
 
5.2 The table below shows the result of the screening of the schedule of minor 

grammatical and factual pre-submission changes proposed by the Council. These 
have been considered together because the same conclusion has been reached for 
all the modifications in the schedule. 

 
Change 
No. 

Change Potential to 
change SA 
outcome? 

Reason 

1 to 46 All modifications No The changes are all factual or grammatical in nature and have 
no effect on SA outcomes 

 
Assessment of proposed changes ‘screened in’ against the SA framework 

5.4 The seven proposed changes that were ‘screened in’ as part of the exercise detailed 
above have been assessed against the SA framework. All these proposed changes 
related to plan policies and supporting text. The results of this exercise are set out in 
the Addendum to Appendix 9 (Schedule 2).  

5.5 The majority of proposed changes are considered to be beneficial overall. However, 
potential negative SA effects are noted in terms of the deletion of the NGT trolleybus 
scheme and the impact on school provision and flood risk with the proposed changes 
to capacities of housing sites with more of a focus on sites within and on the city 
centre. 

Consideration of cumulative impacts     

5.6 This section of the original SA Report examined the cumulative impact of the plan 
policies and proposals against the 22 SA objectives. As a result of revisions to the 
SA framework and amended SA outcomes relating to proposed changes (see 

Page 673



17 
 

Addendum to Appendices 7,8 & 9) the cumulative impacts of the plan have been 
reconsidered. The results of this exercise are set out in the Addendum to Appendix 
10. 

Proposed mitigation measures 

5.7 Appendix 11 of the original SA report set out a schedule of proposed mitigation 
measures to prevent, reduce or offset significant adverse effects of implementing the 
plan. These have been amended to reflect the updates to the SA Framework (see 
Addendum to Appendix 11). Mitigation measures related to individual sites are set 
out in revised Appendix 7.   

Page 674



18 
 

HABITATS REGULATIONS ASSESSMENT UPDATE 
6.1 Having reviewed the proposed changes to the AVL AAP submission draft, there are 

no changes which present risks to the nature conservation objectives of Natura 2000 
sites. There are also no material changes to these policies in terms of the mitigation 
they provide. 

6.2 It is therefore concluded that the existing HRA Sceening decision would be expected 
to apply, and no further HRA / Appropriate Assessment is required.   

 

  

Page 675



19 
 

 

ADDENDUM TO APPENDICES 
  

Page 676



20 
 

ADDENDUM TO APPENDIX 3 OF SA REPORT 
 
Land instability 
 
Land instability is known to be a potential issue in AVL particularly in relation to former coal 
mining activities in the area. Data has been obtained from the Coal Authority which shows 
two types of areas of potential land instability. These are: 

1. Development High Risk Areas (DHRAs) - This includes areas subject to surface 
mining (past and current); past shallow coal mine working; probable shallow coal 
mining workings and coal outcrops. 

2. Mine Entries Zone of Influence (MZIs) – a buffer area around known former mine 
entries. 

 
According to the data 48% of the AVL area falls within a DHRA and there are 116 separate 
MZIs within the AVL. Site assessments indicate which development sites (proposed and not 
proposed) fall within a DHRA and/or include MZIs.  
  

Page 677



21 
 

ADDENDUM TO APPENDIX 5 

ASSESSMENT OF ADDITIONAL ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS PROPOSED IN 
FEBRUARY 2011 CONSULTATION 

 
AVLAAP 
Alternative 
Options 

Potential 
Change to SA18 
outcome 

Reason 

Boundary 
extension 
 

No Some land within the extension area lies with 
DHRAs and MZIs but if it was not within the 
AVLAAP the potential sites would be considered 
for allocations within the Leeds SAP (or other plan) 
in order to ensure the Core Strategy housing and 
employment targets are met.  

Urban Eco 
Settlement 
 

No The UES approach does not promote the 
development of specific sites and is neutral in 
terms of land instability issues. The overall positive 
score against pollution remains the same. 

 

 

  

Page 678



22 
 

REVISED APPENDIX 7   

 

  

Page 679



HMCA Ref SA01 SA02 SA03 SA04 SA05 SA06 SA07 SA08 SA09 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15 SA16 SA17 SA18a SA18b SA18c SA18d SA19 SA20 SA21 SA22a SA22b SA22c Comment
City Centre AV7

+ ++ 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - ++ 0 ++ - ++ ++ 0 + 0 0 - 0 + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: 
Mixed use allocation also includes housing. SA14: Flood Zone 2 
(94%); Flood Zone 3 (6%). The flood risk sequential test has been 
satisified in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF (see 
separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception Tests 
document). SA18D: Development is required to submit a Coal Mining 
Risk Assessment in accordance with Saved UDP Policy G5 and NRWLP 
Policy Minerals 13 to address land instability issues. SA21: 
Development unlikely to affect the setting of any listed building as 
site is separated from nearest listed buildings by other development 
sites and buildings.

City Centre AV12

+ + 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 - - + 0 + - ++ + 0 + - 0 0 0 + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: 
Mixed use allocation also includes housing. SA10: Requirement in 
Core Strategy Policy G5 to provide open space provision within new 
development. SA14: Flood Zone 3 (100%). The flood risk sequential 
test has been satisified in accordance with the requirements of the 
NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & 
Exception Tests document). SA18b: AAP has a number of policies 
which promote the creation of new open space and greening of 
pedestrian routes including planting street trees e.g. Policies SB2 
(New City Park) and SB3 (New and enhanced green routes and 
spaces in the South Bank). This should help to improve air quality in 
the South Bank and mitigate the impact of new development 
proposed. Site requirements include provision of open space within 
the development. SA21: Development unlikely to affect the setting 
of any listed building.

City Centre AV13

+ + 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - + 0 ++ - ++ ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: 
Mixed use allocation also includes housing. SA14: The flood risk 
sequential test has been satisified in accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk 
Sequential & Exception Tests document).

City Centre AV14

+ ++ 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - ++ - - ++ - ++ ++ 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: 
Mixed use allocation also includes housing. SA12: Mitigation 
measures set out in site requirements. SA14: Flood Zone 3 (100%). 
The flood risk sequential test has been satisified in accordance with 
the requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood 
Risk Sequential & Exception Tests document)

City Centre AV15

+ ++ 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - ++ 0 ++ - ++ ++ 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: 
Mixed use allocation also includes housing. SA14: Flood Zone 3 
(100%). The flood risk sequential test has been satisified in 
accordance with the requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire 
Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception Tests document)

City Centre AV16

+ ++ 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - ++ 0 ++ - ++ ++ 0 + 0 0 0 0 + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: 
Mixed use allocation also includes housing. SA14: Flood Zone 3 
(100%). The flood risk sequential test has been satisified in 
accordance with the requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire 
Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception Tests document) 
SA21: Development unlikely to affect the setting of any listed 
building.

Aire Valley Leeds AAP Submission Draft: Sustainability Appraisal of Proposed Employment Allocations

P
age 680

00710425
Typewritten Text
Appendix 7

00710425_1
Typewritten Text

00710425_2
Typewritten Text



HMCA Ref SA01 SA02 SA03 SA04 SA05 SA06 SA07 SA08 SA09 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15 SA16 SA17 SA18a SA18b SA18c SA18d SA19 SA20 SA21 SA22a SA22b SA22c Comment
Aire Valley Leeds AAP Submission Draft: Sustainability Appraisal of Proposed Employment Allocations

City Centre AV18

+ ++ 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - ++ - + ++ + + 0 + - 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: 
Mixed use allocation also includes housing. SA10: Requirement in 
Core Strategy Policy G5 to provide open space provision within new 
development. SA12: Mitigation measures set out in site 
requirements. SA15: Shannon Street may need widening; site 
frontage available. Pedestrian access improvements. SA18b: AAP 
includes a policy to maintain and improve green space and green 
infrastructure provision in the East Bank area (Policy EB2) to improve 
air quality in the area mitigate the impact of new development 
proposed. Site requirements include provision of open space within 
the development.

City Centre AV94

+ 0 0 0 0 ++ - + 0 - - + 0 ++ - ++ ++ 0 + - 0 - 0 0 u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: 
Mixed use allocation also includes housing. SA10: Requirement in 
Core Strategy Policy G5 to provide open space provision within new 
development. SA14: Flood Zone 2 (27%); Zone 3 (73%). The flood risk 
sequential test has been satisified in accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk 
Sequential & Exception Tests document) SA18b: AAP has a number 
of policies which promote the creation of new open space and 
greening of pedestrian routes including planting street trees e.g. 
Policies SB2 (New City Park) and SB3 (New and enhanced green 
routes and spaces in the South Bank). This should help to improve air 
quality in the South Bank and mitigate the impact of new 
development proposed. Site requirements include provision of open 
space within the development. SA18D: Development is required to 
submit a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with Saved UDP 
Policy G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land stability 
issues. SA21: Mitigation set out in site requirements. Retention of 
listed buildings and undesingated heritage assets on the site.

East Leeds AV51

+ + 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - - 0 + + ++ + - 0 0 - 0 - 0 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: Site 
required to meet Aire Valley employment land target set out in Core 
Strategy Policy SP5. SA11: Site required to meet Aire Valley 
employment target. SA17: Employment use compatible with 
neighbouring waste uses. SA18c: Noted in site requirements. SA19: 
Self seeded trees on site potential to retain some within landscaping 
scheme.

East Leeds AV54

+ + 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - + 0 + ++ + + 0 + 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: Site 
required to meet Aire Valley employment land target set out in Core 
Strategy Policy SP5. SA18D: Development is required to submit a 
Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with Saved UDP Policy 
G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land stability issues.

East Leeds AV72

0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 - - + 0 0 - + 0 - + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 -

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
marginal positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: 
SA7: Site required to meet Aire Valley employment land target set 
out in Core Strategy Policy SP5. SA14: Flood Zone 2 (12%); Flood 
Zone 3 (88%). The flood risk sequential test has been satisified in 
accordance with the requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire 
Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception Tests document). 
SA17: Employment use compatible with neighbouring waste uses. 
SA22d: Next to proposed canal wharf but employment uses are 
compatible.

P
age 681



HMCA Ref SA01 SA02 SA03 SA04 SA05 SA06 SA07 SA08 SA09 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15 SA16 SA17 SA18a SA18b SA18c SA18d SA19 SA20 SA21 SA22a SA22b SA22c Comment
Aire Valley Leeds AAP Submission Draft: Sustainability Appraisal of Proposed Employment Allocations

East Leeds AV74

+ + 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - - - - + - - + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
marginal positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: 
SA7: Site required to meet Aire Valley employment land target set 
out in Core Strategy Policy SP5. SA12: Mitigation measures set out in 
site requirements. SA14: Flood Zone 3 (100%). The flood risk 
sequential test has been satisified in accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk 
Sequential & Exception Tests document). SA22d: Next to proposed 
canal wharf but employment uses are compatible.

East Leeds AV76

+ + 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 - - ++ 0 0 - + 0 - + 0 0 - - 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: Site 
required to meet Aire Valley employment land target set out in Core 
Strategy Policy SP5. SA14: Flood Zone 3 (100%). The flood risk 
sequential test has been satisified in accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk 
Sequential & Exception Tests document). SA17: Employment use 
compatible with neighbouring waste uses. SA18D: Development is 
required to submit a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with 
Saved UDP Policy G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land 
stability issues. This will identify where mine entries are present on 
site and which will need to be kept free from development.

East Leeds AV80

0 0 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - + - + - + + 0 + 0 0 - - 0 0 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: Site 
required to meet Aire Valley employment land target set out in Core 
Strategy Policy SP5. SA12: Mitigation measures set out in site 
requirements. SA14: Flood Zone 3 (45%). The flood risk sequential 
test has been satisified in accordance with the requirements of the 
NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & 
Exception Tests document). SA18D: Development is required to 
submit a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with Saved UDP 
Policy G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land stability 
issues. This will identify where mine entries are present on site and 
which will need to be kept free from development.

East Leeds AV83

+ + 0 0 0 0 - - 0 - - ++ - - - 0 - 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against a number of SA objectives. Overall 
neutral score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: Site 
required to meet Aire Valley employment land target set out in Core 
Strategy Policy SP5. SA8: Mitigation through proposals for 
improvements to transport network (Policy AVL12). SA12: Mitigation 
measures set out in site requirements. SA13: Mitigation through 
proposals for improvements to transport network (Policy AVL12). 
SA14: Flood Zone 3 (100%). The flood risk sequential test has been 
satisified in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF (see 
separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception Tests 
document). SA16: Mitigation through proposals for improvements to 
transport network (Policy AVL12).

P
age 682



HMCA Ref SA01 SA02 SA03 SA04 SA05 SA06 SA07 SA08 SA09 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15 SA16 SA17 SA18a SA18b SA18c SA18d SA19 SA20 SA21 SA22a SA22b SA22c Comment
East Leeds AV52

+ + 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - - + + + + - + 0 0 - 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: Site 
required to meet Aire Valley employment land target set out in Core 
Strategy Policy SP5. SA11: Two thirds of site is brownfield. Existing 
allocation required to meet Aire Valley employment target. SA12: 
Site located next to green corridor within green infrastructure 
network (Policy AVL13 applies) SA17: Employment use compatible 
with adjoining waste use. SA18D: Development is required to submit 
a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with Saved UDP Policy 
G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land stability issues.

East Leeds AV55

+ + 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - - 0 + + ++ + - + 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7:Site 
required to meet Aire Valley employment land target set out in Core 
Strategy Policy SP5. SA11: Existing allocation required to meet Aire 
Valley employment target. SA17: Employment use compatible with 
neighbouring waste uses. SA18D: Development is required to submit 
a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with Saved UDP Policy 
G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land stability issues.

East Leeds AV56

+ + 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - - - - + + + + - - 0 0 - - - 0 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against a number of SA objectives. 
Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: Site required to 
meet Aire Valley employment land target set out in Core Strategy 
Policy SP5. SA11: Existing allocation required to meet Aire Valley 
employment target.. SA12: Site located next to green corridor within 
green infrastructure network (Policy AVL13 applies). SA17: 
Employment use compatible with waste designation under NRWLP 
Policy Waste 5 (Industrial estates suitable for waste management 
uses). SA18c: Noted in site requirements. SA18D: Development is 
required to submit a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with 
Saved UDP Policy G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land 
stability issues. SA19:

East Leeds AV62

+ + 0 0 0 0 - - 0 0 - - - - - - - + - 0 + 0 0 - 0 0 0 - - 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: 
Existing allocation required to meet Aire Valley employment land 
target set out in Core Strategy Policy SP5. SA8: Mitigation through 
proposals for improvements to transport network (Policy AVL12). 
SA11: Existing allocation required to meet Aire Valley employment 
target. SA12: Site located next to green corridor within green 
infrastructure network (Policy AVL13 applies). SA13: Mitigation 
through proposals for improvements to transport network (Policy 
AVL12). SA14: Flood Zone 2 (54%); Flood Zone 3 (44%): The flood risk 
sequential test has been satisified in accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk 
Sequential & Exception Tests document). SA16: Mitigation through 
proposals for improvements to transport network (Policy AVL12). 
SA18D: Development is required to submit a Coal Mining Risk 
Assessment in accordance with Saved UDP Policy G5 and NRWLP 
Policy Minerals 13 to address land stability issues. SA22a: Shown on 
DEFRA map as 3 but is not farmed and has been allocated since 
adopted UDP 2001.

Aire Valley Leeds AAP Submission Draft: Sustainability Appraisal of Identified Employment Allocations (UDP Employment Allocations)

P
age 683



HMCA Ref SA01 SA02 SA03 SA04 SA05 SA06 SA07 SA08 SA09 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15 SA16 SA17 SA18a SA18b SA18c SA18d SA19 SA20 SA21 SA22a SA22b SA22c Comment
Aire Valley Leeds AAP Submission Draft: Sustainability Appraisal of Identified Employment Allocations (UDP Employment Allocations)

East Leeds AV68

+ + 0 0 0 0 - - 0 - - - - - - - 0 - - - + 0 0 - - 0 0 0 0 0 - -

Positive or neutral effects against a number of SA objectives. 
Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: Site required to 
meet Aire Valley employment land target set out in Core Strategy 
Policy SP5. SA8: Mitigation through proposals for improvements to 
transport network (Policy AVL12). SA11: Existing allocation required 
to meet Aire Valley employment target.. SA12: Site located next to 
green corridor within green infrastructure network (Policy AVL13 
applies) SA13: Mitigation through proposals for improvements to 
transport network (Policy AVL12). SA14: Flood Zone 2 (94%) SA16: 
Mitigation through proposals for improvements to transport 
network (Policy AVL12). SA17: Employment use compatible with 
neighbouring waste uses. SA18D: Development is required to submit 
a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with Saved UDP Policy 
G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land stability issues. 
This will identify where mine entries are present on site and which 
will need to be kept free from development. SA22d: Slight overlap 
with proposed minerals rail spur (NRWLP Policy Minerals 13).

East Leeds AV77

+ + 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - - - - ++ - - + ++ 0 + 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: Site 
required to meet Aire Valley employment land target set out in Core 
Strategy Policy SP5. SA11: Existing allocation required to meet Aire 
Valley employment target.. SA12: Site located next to green corridor 
within green infrastructure network (Policy AVL13 applies) SA14: 
Flood Zone 3 (100%). The flood risk sequential test has been 
satisified in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF (see 
separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception Tests 
document). SA19:

East Leeds AV78

+ + 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - - - - ++ - - + ++ 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
marginal positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: 
SA7: Site required to meet Aire Valley employment land target set 
out in Core Strategy Policy SP5. SA11: Existing allocation required to 
meet Aire Valley employment target. SA12: Site located next to 
green corridor within green infrastructure network (Policy AVL13 
applies). SA14: Flood Zone 3 (100%). The flood risk sequential test 
has been satisified in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF 
(see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception 
Tests document). SA19:

East Leeds AV79

+ + 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - - - - - + + ++ + 0 0 - 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
marginal positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: 
SA7: Site required to meet Aire Valley employment land target set 
out in Core Strategy Policy SP5. SA11: Existing allocation required to 
meet Aire Valley employment target. SA12: Site located next to 
green corridor within green infrastructure network (Policy AVL13 
applies) SA18b: Site next to motorway junction but general 
employment uses less sensitive than other uses such as housing. 
SA19:

P
age 684



HMCA Ref SA01 SA02 SA03 SA04 SA05 SA06 SA07 SA08 SA09 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15 SA16 SA17 SA18a SA18b SA18c SA18d SA19 SA20 SA21 SA22a SA22b SA22c Comment
City Centre AV7

0 0 0 + 0 ++ + + 0 - - ++ 0 + - ++ + 0 + 0 0 - 0 + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA14: 
Flood Zone 2 (94%); Flood Zone 3 (6%).The flood risk sequential and 
exception tests have been satisified in accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk 
Sequential & Exception Tests document). SA18D: Development is 
required to submit a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with 
Saved UDP Policy G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land 
instability issues. SA21: Development unlikely to affect the setting of 
any listed building as site is separated from nearest listed buildings 
by other development sites and buildings.

City Centre AV9

- - + + 0 ++ + + 0 - - + 0 ++ - ++ ++ 0 + - 0 - 0 + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA1 & 2: 
Existing employment could potentially be retained within a 
comprehensive redevelopment scheme. Site is allocated as mixed 
use to reflect this and potential for other town centre uses as 
permitted under AAP Policy SB4. SA10: Requirement in Core Strategy 
Policy G5 to provide open space provision within new development. 
SA14: Flood Zone 3 (100%). The flood risk sequential and exception 
tests have been satisified in accordance with the requirements of the 
NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & 
Exception Tests document). SA18b: AAP has a number of policies 
which promote the creation of new open space and greening of 
pedestrian routes including planting street trees e.g. Policies SB2 
(New City Park) and SB3 (New and enhanced green routes and 
spaces in the South Bank). This should help to improve air quality in 
the South Bank and mitigate the impact of new development 
proposed. Site requirements include provision of open space within 
the development. SA18D: Development is required to submit a Coal 
Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with Saved UDP Policy G5 and 
NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land stability issues. SA21: 
Mitigation measures set out in site requirements.

City Centre AV12

- - + + 0 ++ + + 0 - - + 0 ++ - ++ ++ 0 + - 0 0 0 + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA1 & 2: 
Site allocated for mixed use which includes potential for 
employment-generating development.SA10: Requirement in Core 
Strategy Policy G5 to provide open space provision within new 
development. SA14: Flood Zone 3 (100%). The flood risk sequential 
and exception tests have been satisified in accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk 
Sequential & Exception Tests document). SA18b: AAP has a number 
of policies which promote the creation of new open space and 
greening of pedestrian routes including planting street trees e.g. 
Policies SB2 (New City Park) and SB3 (New and enhanced green 
routes and spaces in the South Bank). This should help to improve air 
quality in the South Bank and mitigate the impact of new 
development proposed. Site requirements include provision of open 
space within the development. SA21: Development unlikely to affect 
the setting of any listed building.

City Centre AV13

- - + + 0 ++ + + 0 - - + 0 ++ - ++ ++ 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA1 & 2: 
Site allocated for mixed use which includes potential for 
employment-generating development.SA14: Flood Zone 3 (100%). 
The flood risk sequential and exception tests have been satisified in 
accordance with the requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire 
Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception Tests document).

Aire Valley Leeds AAP Submission Draft: Sustainability Appraisal of Proposed Housing Allocations

P
age 685



HMCA Ref SA01 SA02 SA03 SA04 SA05 SA06 SA07 SA08 SA09 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15 SA16 SA17 SA18a SA18b SA18c SA18d SA19 SA20 SA21 SA22a SA22b SA22c Comment

Aire Valley Leeds AAP Submission Draft: Sustainability Appraisal of Proposed Housing Allocations

City Centre AV14

0 0 + + 0 ++ + + 0 - - ++ - - + - ++ + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA10: 
Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G4 to provide 80 sq m on-site 
provision of green space per residential unit. SA12: Mitigation 
measures set out in site requirements. SA14: Flood Zone 3 (100%). 
The flood risk sequential and exception tests have been satisified in 
accordance with the requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire 
Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception Tests document).

City Centre AV15

0 0 + + 0 ++ + + 0 - - ++ 0 + - ++ + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification - SA10: 
Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G4 to provide 80 sq m on-site 
provision of green space per residential unit. SA14: Flood Zone 3 
(100%). The flood risk sequential and exception tests have been 
satisified in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF (see 
separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception Tests 
document).

City Centre AV16

0 0 + + 0 ++ + + 0 - - ++ 0 + - ++ + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. SA10: Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G4 to 
provide 80 sq m on-site provision of green space per residential unit. 
SA14: Flood Zone 3 (100%). The flood risk sequential and exception 
tests have been satisified in accordance with the requirements of the 
NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & 
Exception Tests document). SA21: Development unlikely to affect the 
setting of any listed building.

City Centre AV17

- - + 0 0 ++ + + 0 - - + 0 ++ - ++ ++ 0 + - 0 0 0 0 u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA1 & SA2: 
Existing employment could potentially be retained within a 
comprehensive scheme. Site is allocated as mixed use to reflect this 
and potential for other town centre uses as permitted under AAP 
Policy SB4. SA10: Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G4 to provide 
80 sq m on-site provision of green space per residential unit. SA14: 
Flood Zone 3 (100%). The flood risk sequential and exception tests 
have been satisified in accordance with the requirements of the 
NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & 
Exception Tests document). SA15: Sayner Rd/Hunslet Rd/Leathley Rd 
junction may require improvement as well as pedestrian 
accessibility. SA18b: AAP has a number of policies which promote 
the creation of new open space and greening of pedestrian routes 
including planting street trees e.g. Policies SB2 (New City Park) and 
SB3 (New and enhanced green routes and spaces in the South Bank). 
This should help to improve air quality in the South Bank and 
mitigate the impact of new development proposed. SA21: Mitigation 
measures set out in site requirements. Retention of listed building 
and undesignated heritage assets within the site.

City Centre AV18

0 0 + + 0 ++ + + 0 - ++ - + ++ + ++ 0 + - 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification - SA10: 
Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G5 to provide open space 
provision within new development. SA12: Mitigation measures set 
out in site requirements. SA18b: AAP includes a policy to maintain 
and improve green space and green infrastructure provision in the 
East Bank area (Policy EB2) to improve air quality in the area mitigate 
the impact of new development proposed. Site requirements include 
provision of open space within the development.

City Centre AV20

- - + + 0 ++ + + 0 - + 0 + ++ ++ + 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA1 & 2: 
Site has been put forward by NHS on the basis that it will become 
surplus to requirements during plan period. SA10: Requirement in 
Core Strategy Policy G5 to provide open space provision within new 
development.

P
age 686



HMCA Ref SA01 SA02 SA03 SA04 SA05 SA06 SA07 SA08 SA09 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15 SA16 SA17 SA18a SA18b SA18c SA18d SA19 SA20 SA21 SA22a SA22b SA22c Comment

Aire Valley Leeds AAP Submission Draft: Sustainability Appraisal of Proposed Housing Allocations

City Centre AV22

0 0 + + 0 ++ + + 0 - ++ - + ++ ++ + 0 0 0 0 - 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA10: 
Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G4 to provide 80 sq m on-site 
provision of green space per residential unit. SA12: Mitigation 
measures set out in site requirements. SA18D: Development is 
required to submit a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with 
Saved UDP Policy G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land 
stability issues.

City Centre AV94

- - 0 0 0 ++ + + 0 - - + 0 ++ - ++ ++ 0 + - 0 - 0 + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA1 & 2: 
Site allocated for mixed use which includes potential for 
employment-generating development. SA10: Requirement in Core 
Strategy Policy G5 to provide open space provision within new 
development. SA14: Flood Zone 2 (27%); Flood Zone 3 (73%). The 
flood risk sequential and exception tests have been satisified in 
accordance with the requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire 
Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception Tests document). 
SA18b: AAP has a number of policies which promote the creation of 
new open space and greening of pedestrian routes including planting 
street trees e.g. Policies SB2 (New City Park) and SB3 (New and 
enhanced green routes and spaces in the South Bank). This should 
help to improve air quality in the South Bank and mitigate the impact 
of new development proposed. Site requirements include provision 
of open space within the development. SA18D: Development is 
required to submit a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with 
Saved UDP Policy G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land 
stability issues. SA18D: Development is required to submit a Coal 
Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with Saved UDP Policy G5 and 
NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land stability issues. SA21: 
Mitigation set out in site requirements. Retention of listed buildings 
and undesingated heritage assets on the site.

East Leeds AV38

0 0 + + 0 0 + 0? - - - - - 0 + + 0 0 + 0 0 - - - 0 u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against a number of SA objectives. 
Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA9 & SA10: Loss of 
existing allotment site but this has been disused for a number of 
years. Core Strategy Policy G4 requires provision of on-site green 
space within housing allocations and Policy G6 requires replacement 
provision of on-site green space lost in redevelopment. Opportunity 
to provide replacement allotment provision within overall scheme. 
SA11: Site required to meet housing requirements set out in the Core 
Strategy. SA12: Mitigation measures set out in site requirements. 
SA18D: Development is required to submit a Coal Mining Risk 
Assessment in accordance with Saved UDP Policy G5 and NRWLP 
Policy Minerals 13 to address land stability issues. This will identify 
where mine entries are present on site and which will need to be 
kept free from development. SA19: Mitigation measures set out in 
site requirements. Existing landscape can be incorporated within 
new development where appropriate. SA21: Adjacent to listed 
building. Mitigation measures set out in site requirements.

P
age 687



HMCA Ref SA01 SA02 SA03 SA04 SA05 SA06 SA07 SA08 SA09 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15 SA16 SA17 SA18a SA18b SA18c SA18d SA19 SA20 SA21 SA22a SA22b SA22c Comment

Aire Valley Leeds AAP Submission Draft: Sustainability Appraisal of Proposed Housing Allocations

East Leeds AV40

- - + 0 0 0 + - 0 - + - - - - + - - + 0 0 - - - + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against a number of SA objectives. 
Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA1 & 2: The proposed 
NRWLP minerals rail freight allocation to the south of the site is a 
potential site for the relocation of the existing aggregates processing 
plant on the site. SA8:Site requirements include new/improved 
pedestrian/cycle route to link to services/facilities south of the river, 
including Hunslet town centre and the South Bank area. SA10: 
Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G4 to provide 80 sq m on-site 
provision of green space per residential unit. SA12: Mitigation 
measures set out in site requirements. SA13: Mitigation through 
proposals for improvements to transport network (Policy AVL12) and 
site requirements including improved pedestrian and cycling access 
to the site. SA14: Flood Zone 2 (26%); Flood Zone 3 (2%). The flood 
risk sequential test has been satisified in accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk 
Sequential & Exception Tests document). Only a very small area of 
the site is situated in Flood Zone 3. This can be incorporated within 
the green space / green infrastructure requirements of the site 
without affecting the site capacity. Avoiding this area would alter the 
SA score to '0 - neutral'. SA16: Mitigation through proposals for 
improvements to transport network (Policy AVL12) and site 
requirements including improved pedestrian and cycling access to 
the site. SA17: Site requirements include provision of an appropriate 
buffer between proposed housing and minerals uses to protect the 
amenity of future residents. SA18D: Development is required to 
submit a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with Saved UDP 
Policy G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land stability 
issues. This will identify where mine entries are present on site and East Leeds AV111

0 0 - - 0 - + 0? 0 0 - - - - - - - - - - 0 + 0 0 - - - 0 u 0 0 0

Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA3: Site requirement to 
provide through school (primary & secondary provision) within the 
development. SA4: Site requirement to provide health facilities 
(within the local centre proposed at the site). SA6: Mitigation 
through proposals for improvements to transport network (Policy 
AVL12) and site requirements including provision of local services, 
public transport services and improved pedestrian and cycling 
access. SA10: Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G4 to provide 80 
sq m on-site provision of green space per residential unit. SA11: 
Majority of site was previously allocated for employment. Site 
required to meet housing requirements set out in the Core Strategy. 
SA12: Mitigation measures set out in site requirements. SA13: 
Mitigation through proposals for improvements to transport 
network (Policy AVL12) and site requirements including provision of 
local services, public transport services and improved pedestrian and 
cycling access. SA14: Flood Zone 2 (2%); Zone 3 (6%). The flood risk 
sequential test has been satisified in accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk 
Sequential & Exception Tests document). Only a very small area of 
the site is situated in Flood Zone 3. This can be incorporated within 
the green space / green infrastructure requirements of the site 
without affecting the site capacity. Avoiding this area would alter the 
SA score to '0 - neutral'. This is set out in site requirements. SA15: 
Mitigation through proposals for improvements to transport 
network (Policy AVL12). and site requirements including highway 
access, provision of public transport services and improved 
pedestrian and cycling access. SA16: Mitigation through proposals 
for improvements to transport network (Policy AVL12) and site Inner Area AV22

0 0 + + 0 ++ + + 0 - ++ - + ++ ++ + 0 0 0 0 - 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA10: 
Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G4 to provide 80 sq m on-site 
provision of green space per residential unit. SA12: Mitigation 
measures set out in site requirements. SA18D: Development is 
required to submit a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with 
Saved UDP Policy G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land 
stability issues.

P
age 688



HMCA Ref SA01 SA02 SA03 SA04 SA05 SA06 SA07 SA08 SA09 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15 SA16 SA17 SA18a SA18b SA18c SA18d SA19 SA20 SA21 SA22a SA22b SA22c Comment

Aire Valley Leeds AAP Submission Draft: Sustainability Appraisal of Proposed Housing Allocations

Inner Area AV23

0 0 + + 0 0 + + 0 - ++ - + ++ ++ + 0 0 0 0 - - - + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA10: 
Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G4 to provide 80 sq m on-site 
provision of green space per residential unit. SA12: Mitigation 
measures set out in site requirements. SA18D: Development is 
required to submit a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with 
Saved UDP Policy G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land 
stability issues. SA19: Mitigation measures set out in site 
requirements. Existing landscape can be incorporated within new 
development where appropriate. Double negative: Impact on 
Biodiversity, mitigation via Policies AV 13 & 14 and site 
requirements, single negative impact/mitigation tbc.

Inner Area AV28

0 0 + + 0 ++ + 0 0 - ++ 0 + ++ ++ + 0 + - 0 0 0 + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA10: 
Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G4 to provide 80 sq m on-site 
provision of green space per residential unit. SA18b: AAP includes a 
policy to maintain and improve green space and green infrastructure 
provision in the East Bank area (Policy EB2) to improve air quality in 
the area mitigate the impact of new development proposed. Site 
requirements include provision of open space within the 
development. SA21: Site is adjacent to the Eastern Riverside 
Conservation Area and listed East Street Mills buildings. Mitigation 
measures set out in site requirements.

Inner Area AV29

0 0 + + 0 ++ + 0 0 - - - + + + + 0 + - 0 0 - 0 u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification - SA10: 
Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G4 to provide 80 sq m on-site 
provision of green space per residential unit. SA11: Site required to 
meet housing requirements set out in the Core Strategy. SA12: 
Mitigation measures set out in site requirements. SA18b: AAP 
includes a policy to maintain and improve green space and green 
infrastructure provision in the East Bank area (Policy EB2) to improve 
air quality in the area mitigate the impact of new development 
proposed. Site requirements include provision of open space within 
the development. SA19: Mitigation measures set out in site 
requirements. Existing landscape can be incorporated within new 
development where appropriate. SA21: Site is located adjacent to 
the Grade 1 listed St Saviours Church. Mitigation measures set out in 
site requirements.

Inner Area AV32

0 0 + + 0 ++ + 0 0 - - + - - + - ++ + 0 + - 0 0 - + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification - SA10: 
Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G5 to provide open space 
provision within new development. SA12: Mitigation measures set 
out in site requirements. SA14: Flood Zone 2 (25%); Zone 3 (10%). 
The flood risk sequential and exception tests have been satisified in 
accordance with the requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire 
Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception Tests document). 
SA18b:AAP includes a policy to maintain and improve green space 
and green infrastructure provision in the East Bank area (Policy EB2) 
to improve air quality in the area mitigate the impact of new 
development proposed. Site requirements include provision of open 
space within the development. SA19: Mitigation measures set out in 
site requirements. Existing landscape can be incorporated within 
new development where appropriate. SA21: Site is located adjacent 
to the listed Rose Wharf building and Eastern Riverside Conservation 
Area. Mitigation measures set out in site requirements.

P
age 689



HMCA Ref SA01 SA02 SA03 SA04 SA05 SA06 SA07 SA08 SA09 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15 SA16 SA17 SA18a SA18b SA18c SA18d SA19 SA20 SA21 SA22a SA22b SA22c Comment

Aire Valley Leeds AAP Submission Draft: Sustainability Appraisal of Proposed Housing Allocations

Inner Area AV34

0 0 + + 0 ++ + 0 0 - - ++ - - 0 - + 0 0 + - 0 - - + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA10: 
Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G4 to provide 80 sq m on-site 
provision of green space per residential unit. SA12: Mitigation 
measures set out in site requirements. SA14: Flood Zone 2 (26%); 
Zone 3 (28%). The flood risk sequential and exception tests have 
been satisified in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF (see 
separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception Tests 
document). SA18b: AAP includes a policy to maintain and improve 
green space and green infrastructure provision in the East Bank area 
(Policy EB2) to improve air quality in the area mitigate the impact of 
new development proposed. Site requirements include provision of 
open space within the development. SA18D: Development is 
required to submit a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with 
Saved UDP Policy G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land 
stability issues. SA19: AAP includes a policy to maintain and improve 
green space and green infrastructure provision in the East Bank area 
(Policy EB2) to improve air quality in the area mitigate the impact of 
new development proposed. Site requirements include provision of 
open space within the development.

Inner Area AV46

- - + + 0 + + + 0 - - + 0 + - ++ + 0 + 0 0 - 0 + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA1 & 2: 
Site has been put forward by owners. Potential for the existing 
business to relocate to an alternative site in the area. SA10: 
Requirement in Core Strategy Policy G4 to provide 80 sq m on-site 
provision of green space per residential unit. SA14: Flood Zone 3 
(100%). The flood risk sequential and exception tests have been 
satisified in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF (see 
separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception Tests 
document). SA18D: Development is required to submit a Coal Mining 
Risk Assessment in accordance with Saved UDP Policy G5 and NRWLP 
Policy Minerals 13 to address land stability issues. SA21: Site 
adjacent to listed Hunslet / Victoria Mills buildings. Mitigation 
measures set out in site requirements.

Inner Area AV48

- - + + 0 + + + 0 - - + - ++ - ++ ++ 0 + 0 0 0 - - + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA1 & 2: 
Site allocated for mixed use which includes potential for 
employment-generating development. SA10: Requirement in Core 
Strategy Policy G4 to provide 80 sq m on-site provision of green 
space per residential unit. SA12: Mitigation measures set out in site 
requirements. SA14: Flood Zone 2 & 3 (

Inner Area AV98

- - + + 0 + + + 0 - - + - - + - + + 0 + - 0 - 0 + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA1 & 2: 
Site allocated for mixed use which includes potential for 
employment-generating development. SA10: Requirement in Core 
Strategy Policy G4 to provide 80 sq m on-site provision of green 
space per residential unit. SA12: Mitigation measures set out in site 
requirements. SA14: Flood Zone 2 (1%); Flood Zone 3 (99%). The 
flood risk sequential and exception tests have been satisified in 
accordance with the requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire 
Valley Leeds Flood Risk Sequential & Exception Tests document). 
SA18b: AAP includes a policy to maintain and improve green space 
and green infrastructure provision in the Hunslet area (Policy HU5) to 
improve air quality in the area mitigate the impact of new 
development proposed. Site requirements include provision of open 
space within the development. SA18D: Development is required to 
submit a Coal Mining Risk Assessment in accordance with Saved UDP 
Policy G5 and NRWLP Policy Minerals 13 to address land stability 
issues. SA21: Site adjacent to listed Hunslet / Victoria Mills buildings. 
Mitigation measures set out in site requirements.

P
age 690



23 
 

REVISED APPENDIX 8  

  

Page 691



HMCA Ref SA01 SA02 SA03 SA04 SA05 SA06 SA07 SA08 SA09 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15 SA16 SA17 SA18a SA18b SA18c SA18d SA19 SA20 SA21 SA22a SA22b SA22c Comment
City Centre AV8 0 0 0 + 0 ++ + 0 0 - - ++ 0 ++ - ++ ++ 0 + 0 - - 0 + u 0 0 + SA14: Flood Risk Zone 3 (100%)
East Leeds AV81

- - 0 0 0 0 + + 0 - - - - + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 - - 0 0 0 - - 0 +
Positive or neutral effects against a number of SA objectives. Overall 
negative score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification:

East Leeds AV82 0 0 + + 0 0 + 0 0 0 - - - - + 0 - - 0 + 0 0 - 0 0 u - - 0 0
City Centre AV95

- - + + 0 - - + + - - + 0 + ++ ++ + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 +
Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score.

City Centre AV96
- - + + 0 ++ + + 0 - - + - - + - ++ + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification:

City Centre AV97
- - + + 0 ++ + + 0 - + 0 + - ++ + 0 + 0 0 0 0 + u 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA14: 
Flood Zone 2 (

East Leeds AV99 0 0 - - 0 - + - 0 - - - - - - - - - + 0 0 - - - - + u 0 0 - - SA14: Flood Zone 2 (25%); Zone 3 (2%)
East Leeds AV100

- - - - 0 0 + - 0 - - + - - 0 - + 0 0 + 0 0 - - - - + 0 0 0 - -
SA14: Flood Zone 2 (17%); Zone 3 (82%) SA15: Possible signalisation 
at Haigh Pk Rd and Skelton Grange Road and capacity improvements 
at Thwaite Gate.

East Leeds AV101 0 0 0 - 0 - + - 0 - - - - - - - 0 - - - + 0 0 - - - + u - - 0 - - SA14: Flood Zone 2 (5%); Zone 3 (1%)

HMCA Ref SA01 SA02 SA03 SA04 SA05 SA06 SA07 SA08 SA09 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15 SA16 SA17 SA18a SA18b SA18c SA18d SA19 SA20 SA21 SA22a SA22b SA22c Comment
Inner Area AV33

+ + 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - - ++ - - ++ - + ++ 0 + - 0 - - + 0 0 0 +
Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
positive score. Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: SA12: 
SA14: SA18b: SA19:

East Leeds AV53
+ + 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 - - - - + + 0 + 0 + 0 0 - - - 0 0 0 0 +

Positive or neutral effects against most SA objectives. Overall 
negative score.

East Leeds AV100 + + 0 0 0 0 - - 0 - - + - - 0 - + 0 0 + 0 0 - - - - + 0 0 0 - - SA14: Flood Zone 2 (17%); Zone 3 (82%)
East Leeds AV102

0 0 0 0 0 0 - + 0 - + - - + ++ ++ + - + 0 - - - 0 0 0 0 0 - -
SA12: Concerns relate to one part of the site (rifle range), rest of site 
supported.

East Leeds AV103 + 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 - + - x ++ x x 0 + 0 0 - - 0 0 0 0 0 +
East Leeds AV104

+ + 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 - - - - 0 - - + 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 +
SA14: Flood Zone 3 (100%) SA20 site is part greenfield and 
brownfield. Majority is of site area is brownfield.

East Leeds AV105 + + 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 - - - - - - - - 0 - - - - + 0 0 - - 0 0 u 0 0 - - SA14: Flood Zone 2 (<1%)
East Leeds AV106 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 - - - - - - + 0 - - - + 0 0 - - + 0 0 0 + SA20 majority of site is brownfield
East Leeds AV107 + + 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 - - - - - - - - - + - - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + SA14: Flood Zone 3 (100%)
East Leeds AV108 + + 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 - - - - - ++ + + ++ 0 + 0 0 - - 0 0 0 - - 0 +
East Leeds AV109 + + 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 - - - - - ++ + + ++ - - 0 0 0 - - - 0 0 0 0 +
East Leeds AV110 + + 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 - - - - - - - - - - - - - + 0 0 - - - 0 0 - - 0 - -
East Leeds AV111

+ + 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 - - - - - - - - - - 0 + 0 0 - - - 0 u 0 0 0

Negative effects & mitigation/justification: SA7: Housing allocation 
with employment uses. SA12: Mitigation measures set out in site 
requirements. SA13: Mitigation through proposals for improvements 
to transport network (Policy AVL12) and site requirements including 
provision of local services, public transport services and improved 
pedestrian and cycling access. SA14: Flood Zone 2 (2%); Zone 3 (6%). 
The flood risk sequential test has been satisified in accordance with 
the requirements of the NPPF (see separate Aire Valley Leeds Flood 
Risk Sequential & Exception Tests document). Only a very small area 
of the site is situated in Flood Zone 3. This can be incorporated 
within the green space / green infrastructure requirements of the 
site without affecting the site capacity. Avoiding this area would alter 
the SA score to '0 - neutral'. This is set out in site requirements. 
SA15: Mitigation through proposals for improvements to transport 
network (Policy AVL12). and site requirements including highway 
access, provision of public transport services and improved 
pedestrian and cycling access. SA16: Mitigation through proposals 
for improvements to transport network (Policy AVL12) and site 
requirements including provision of local services, public transport 
services and improved pedestrian and cycling access. SA19: 
Mitigation measures set out in site requirements and Policy SG3. 
Existing landscape can be incorporated within new development 
where appropriate. SA21: Part of site within registered historic park 
and garden (Temple Newsam). However, this has been severed from 
the estate by the construction of the M1. Key views of the historic 
parks and garden to be safeguared through inclusion of a site 
requirement.

East Leeds AV114 + + 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 - - - - - - - - - - 0 + 0 0 - - - 0 u 0 0 0 SA14: Flood Zone 2 (2%); Zone 3 (6%)

Aire Valley Leeds AAP Submission Draft: Sustainability Appraisal of Potential (not allocated) Housing Sites

Aire Valley Leeds AAP Submission Draft: Sustainability Appraisals of Potential (not allocated) Employment Sites

P
age 692

00710425_3
Typewritten Text
Appendix 8



24 
 

ADDENDUM TO APPENDIX 9  

ASSESSMENT OF PROPOSED URBAN ECO SETTLEMENT SUPPORTING 
PRINCIPLES AND PLAN POLICIES  

 

SCHEDULE 1: ASSESSMENT OF SUPPORTING PRINCIPLES AND PLAN 
POLICIES AGAINST REVISED SA OBJECTIVE SA18 

AVLAAP 
Supporting 
principle / 
policies 

Potential 
Change 
to SA18 
outcome 

SA18 
score 

Reason 

AVLAAP SUPPORTING PRINCIPLES 
1. For the 
Economy No - 

The objective will promote economic 
development of areas of unstable land. As the 
objective already scored negatively against the 
SA18 there is no change. 

2. For Housing 
Yes - 

The objective will promote housing 
development of areas of unstable land. The 
score for SA18 is changed from 0 to -  

3. For 
Communities No + 

Although this objective could promote 
development of community facilities in areas of 
unstable land, the overall score remains 
positive in terms of pollution. 

4. For 
Connections No + No direct relationship between SA18D and 

objective. 
5. For Energy & 
Resources  No ++ No direct relationship between SA18D and 

objective. 
6. For the 
Environment & 
Visitors 

No + 
No direct relationship between SA18D and 
objective. 

7. For Health No + No direct relationship between SA18D and 
objective. 

8. For 
Infrastructure No 0 No direct relationship between SA18D and 

objective. 
PLAN WIDE POLICIES 
AVL1. Identified 
Sites for Office 
Use 

No 0 
Some of sites within DHRAs but land instability 
issues will have been addressed through the 
planning application process. 

AVL2. Identified 
Sites for General 
Employment Use Yes - 

For sites carried forward from the UDP – 
produces negative score for SA18D because 
there are sites identified in areas of unstable 
land.  Therefore overall score becomes 
negative. 

AVL3. Office 
Development Yes - 

Produces negative score for SA18D because 
there are sites identified in areas of unstable 
land.  Therefore overall score becomes 

Page 693



25 
 

AVLAAP 
Supporting 
principle / 
policies 

Potential 
Change 
to SA18 
outcome 

SA18 
score 

Reason 

negative. 
AVL4. General 
Employment 
Development Yes - 

Produces negative score for SA18D because 
there are sites identified in areas of unstable 
land.  Therefore overall score becomes 
negative. 

AVL5. Local Job 
Opportunities No + No direct relationship between SA18D and 

policy. 
AVL6. Identified 
Housing Sites No 0 

Some of sites within DHRAs but land instability 
issues will have been addressed as through 
the planning application process. 

AVL7. New 
Homes in AVL Yes - 

Produces negative score for SA18D because 
there are sites identified in areas of unstable 
land.  Therefore overall score becomes 
negative. 

AVL8. Improving 
Public Health in 
AVL 

No + 
No direct relationship between SA18D and 
policy. 

AVL9. Shopping 
Local Services in 
AVL 

Yes - 
Some of the locations specified in the policy 
are located in areas of unstable land. 
Therefore overall score becomes negative. 

AVL10. New 
Schools Yes - 

One of the locations specified in the policy are 
located in areas of unstable land. Therefore 
overall score becomes negative. 

AVL11. Locally 
Significant 
Undesignated 
Heritage Assets 

No 0 

No direct relationship between SA18D and 
policy. 

AVL12. Strategic 
Transport 
Infrastructure 
Improvements in 
AVL 

No + 

The Stourton park and ride site is located in an 
area of unstable land.  However, this is not 
considered to outweigh the positive effects 
identified against the other SA18 objectives. 

AVL13. Aire 
Valley Leeds 
Green 
Infrastructure 
Network 

No + 

No direct relationship between SA18D and 
policy. 

AVL14. 
Protection, 
Improvement & 
Provision of New 
Green space in 
AVL 

No ++ 

No direct relationship between SA18D and 
policy. 

AVL15. Tourism & 
Recreation in AVL No + No direct relationship between SA18D and 

policy. 

Page 694



26 
 

AVLAAP 
Supporting 
principle / 
policies 

Potential 
Change 
to SA18 
outcome 

SA18 
score 

Reason 

AVL16. 
Retrofitting of 
Existing Buildings 

No + 
No direct relationship between SA18D and 
policy. 

AVL17. District 
Heating Networks 
in AVL 

No 0 
No direct relationship between SA18D and 
policy. 

AREA PLANS 
1. SOUTH BANK 
SB1. Pedestrian & 
Cycling 
Connectivity 

No + 
No direct relationship between SA18D and 
policy. 

SB2. New City 
Park No + No direct relationship between SA18D and 

policy. 
SB3.New & 
Enhanced Green 
Routes & Spaces 

No + 
No direct relationship between SA18D and 
policy. 

SB4.Appropriate 
Uses in Mixed 
Use Sites 

No + 
Policy relates to uses rather than sites. No 
direct relationship between SA18D and policy. 

SB5. Temporary 
Uses No + No direct relationship between SA18D and 

policy. 
2. EAST BANK, RICHMOND HILL & CROSS GREEN 
EB1. Transport 
Improvements No + No direct relationship between SA18D and 

policy. 
EB2. Green space 
& Green 
Infrastructure 

No + 
No direct relationship between SA18D and 
policy. 

EB3. Marsh Lane 
Opportunity Area No 0 Not in a DHRA. 

EB4. East Street 
Opportunity Area Yes - 

Area specified in the policy is located in areas 
of unstable land. Therefore overall score 
becomes negative. 

3. HUNSLET 
HU1 Hunslet 
Town Centre No + No direct relationship between SA18D and 

policy. 
HU2 Hunslet 
Victoria Mills Yes - Site located in area of unstable land. Therefore 

overall score becomes negative.  
HU3 Hunslet 
Riverside 
Opportunity Area 

No - 
In DHRA but already a negative score 

HU4 Transport 
Improvements No + No direct relationship between SA18D and 

policy. 
HU5 Green space 
& Green 
Infrastructure 

No + 
No direct relationship between SA18D and 
policy. 

Page 695



27 
 

AVLAAP 
Supporting 
principle / 
policies 

Potential 
Change 
to SA18 
outcome 

SA18 
score 

Reason 

4. CENTRAL AIRE VALLEY 
CAV1. Stourton 
Park & Ride 

Yes 0 

The Stourton park and ride site is located in an 
area of unstable land.  However, there are 
positive effects noted in terms of air pollution 
as the proposal will reduce the need to travel 
by car to the city centre. Overall remains a 
neutral effect. 

CAV2. Walking & 
Cycling 
Connections 

No + 
No direct relationship between SA18D and 
policy. 

CAV3. Green 
Infrastructure No + No direct relationship between SA18D and 

policy. 
5. SKELTON GATE 
SG1 Non Housing 
Uses 

Yes 0 

The policy promotes development of non-
housing uses (meeting specified criteria) on 
site AV111 which is located within an area of 
unstable land. Therefore overall score 
becomes neutral rather than positive. 

SG2. Walking & 
Cycling 
Connections 

No + 
No direct relationship between SA18D and 
policy. 

SG3. Green 
space & Green 
Infrastructure 

No ++ 
No direct relationship between SA18D and 
policy. 

SG4. New Visitor 
Destination 
Skelton Lake 

Yes - 
Potential development in area of unstable 
land. Therefore overall score becomes 
negative. 

 

  

Page 696



28 
 

SCHEDULE 2: ASSESSMENT OF PROPOSED CHANGES ‘SCREENED IN’ 
AGAINST THE SA FRAMEWORK 
 
Policy AVL3: Office development in Aire Valley Leeds 
SA 
Objective 

Original 
Score 

New 
Score 

Appraisal Summary 

1 ++ ++ SA1 & SA2 – The revised policy promotes a lower 
quantum of office development overall. However, this 
represents less than 5% of the overall level of office 
development promoted in the plan so is not significant 
enough to change the positive SA score against these 
objectives. 
SA11 – The deleted Skelton Gate site (AV111) is 
greenfield. The proportion of office development 
promoted on brownfield land is higher as a result. As the 
SA score was already a double positive, because the 
majority of sites are brownfield, there is no change to the 
overall score. 
SA13, SA15, SA16 – According to the site specific SA 
(see Appendix 8), AV111 scores poorly against these 
objectives because the site is not currently accessible by 
public transport. This is before proposed mitigation 
measures are taken into account. Removal of the site 
will therefore slightly improve overall sustainability 
effects against these objectives. However because it 
only represents a small percentage of total office 
development proposed there is no change to scores 
against these objectives. 

2 ++ ++ 
3 0 0 
4 + + 
5 0 0 
6 0 0 
7 - - 
8 + + 
9 0 0 
10 + + 
11 ++ ++ 
12 0 0 
13 + + 
14 - - 
15 ++ ++ 
16 + + 
17 0 0 
18 0 0 
19 0 0 
20 + + 
21 0 0 
22 0 0 
   
Summary 
The removal of the site is slightly positive against SA objectives relating to brownfield land 
development and transport and accessibility. It is slightly negative against the employment 
and economic objectives. Overall there is no change to the SA scores because the site 
only represents a small percentage of overall office development proposed.  

  

Page 697



29 
 

Policy AVL7: New Homes in AVL 
SA 
Objective 

Original 
Score 

New 
Score 

Appraisal Summary 

1 - - The cumulative effects of the proposed changes would 
deliver more housing in the South Bank (+810 dwellings) 
and Hunslet Riverside (+116 dwellings) areas and less in 
the Skelton Gate area (-817 dwellings). An overall 
increase of 120 dwellings. 

SA3 – Overall increase in the need for school places 
particularly in the South Bank & Hunslet area. Proposed 
to amend the AAP to make reference for potential need 
for primary school in South Bank but a specific site has 
not been identified. 
SA10 – More housing in higher density locations less 
likely to deliver 80 sqm per dwelling level of green space 
required by Policy G4 and put pressure on existing green 
space and those proposed in the AAP.  
SA11 – Higher proportion of dwellings on brownfield land. 
SA13 – Overall the distribution of dwellings is more 
focused on accessible locations and more likely to 
promote trips by sustainable transport modes. 
SA14 – More development proposed in Flood Zone 3. 
Mitigation measures are proposed in site requirements. 
SA15 – Overall the distribution of dwellings is focused on 
more accessible locations. As some less accessible 
locations remain this does not justify increasing the 
current score from a single positive. 
SA16 – Overall the distribution of dwellings is more 
closely linked to existing centres and local services. As a 
lower number of dwellings is proposed at Skelton Gate 
this may make it more difficult to support a full range of 
local services within the local centre proposed in the 
development. Overall no justification for changing the 
score from a single positive. 

2 - - 
3 0 - 
4 + + 
5 0 0 
6 0 0 
7 ++ ++ 
8 ++ ++ 
9 0 0 
10 + - 
11 0 + 
12 -  
13 0 + 
14 - - 
15 + + 
16 + + 
17 0 0 
18 0 0 
19 - - 
20 + + 
21 + + 
22 0 0 
   

Summary 
The proposed changes to site capacities overall promote a higher proportion of new 
housing on brownfield sites in accessible locations providing significant benefits. Negative 
impacts are noted in terms of education provision, green space and flood risk. Mitigation 
measures should be reviewed to ensure these negative effects are addressed where 
possible. 
 

 
 

Page 698



30 
 

Policy AVL12: Strategic Transport Infrastructure Improvements in AVL 
SA 
Objective 

Original 
Score 

New 
Score 

Appraisal Summary 

1 + + SA1 & SA2 – The deletion of the vehicle depot will reduce 
the number of potential jobs based in the area. However, 
the policy remains positive overall in terms of linking new 
jobs to surrounding communities and providing new 
infrastructure to support economic development.  

SA6 – The proposed change has positive benefits by 
helping to clarify the protection and improvement of public 
rights of way, which are important for recreation and 
access to the countryside. This is one aspect of the SA 
objective and therefore does not justify increasing the 
score to a double positive overall. 

SA13, SA15, SA16 – There are marginal benefits noted 
as additional transport infrastructure is identified in the 
proposed changes. However, the deletion of the NGT 
trolleybus scheme is a negative, partially mitigated by the 
replacement proposal for a bus-based park & ride 
scheme at Stourton. Overall it is considered that double 
positives for SA13 and SA15 should be revised to a 
single positive. In mitigation, the AAP refers to the 
emerging transport strategy for Leeds (paras 3.5.6 & 
3.5.7) which will identify and deliver an alternative 
scheme/s to NGT to address cumulative transport issues 
across the city. It is not clear at this stage what specific 
interventions will be delivered in AVL. 

2 + + 
3 0 0 
4 + + 
5 0 0 
6 + + 
7 + + 
8 + + 
9 + + 
10 + + 
11 0 0 
12 0 0 
13 ++ + 
14 0 0 
15 ++ + 
16 + + 
17 0 0 
18 + + 
19 0 0 
20 0 0 
21 + + 
22 + + 
   

Summary 
The proposed changes to delete the NGT trolleybus scheme reduces the positive effects of 
the policy against transport related objectives. The decision on NGT made through a 
Transport & Works Act application is beyond the scope of the AAP. Other changes are 
marginally beneficial but not of enough significance to change the original scores against 
any SA objective. 

 
 

Page 699



31 
 

Policy AVL16: Retrofitting of Existing Buildings  
SA 
Objective 

Original 
Score 

New 
Score 

Appraisal Summary 

1 + + SA21 – Implementation of the Publication Draft AAP 
policy has potential to impact negatively on listed 
buildings. The proposed change is considered to change 
the score to neutral as it refers specifically to the need to 
protect listed buildings. 

2 0 0 
3 + + 
4 ++ ++ 
5 0 0 
6 0 0 
7 ++ ++ 
8 + + 
9 + + 
10 0 0 
11 0 0 
12 0 0 
13 ++ ++ 
14 0 0 
15 0 0 
16 + + 
17 0 0 
18 + + 
19 0 0 
20 0 0 
21* - 0 
22 ++ ++ 
   
Summary 
The proposed changes are beneficial resulting in the revision of the score for SA21 
(heritage) from single negative to neutral. 

* The original score for SA21 was 0 but noting the comments of Historic England to the Publication Draft Plan 
this should have been scored negatively as the policy (without taking into mitigation measures) had potential 
to cause harm to heritage assets 
  

Page 700



32 
 

Policy SB2: New City Park 
SA 
Objective 

Original 
Score 

New 
Score 

Appraisal Summary 

1 0 0 SA21 – The proposed changes ensure that the policy 
now makes clear reference to potential opportunities for 
enhancing listed buildings. As a result score amended 
from single to double positive. 

2 + + 
3 0 0 
4 ++ ++ 
5 0 0 
6 ++ ++ 
7 0 0 
8 + + 
9 + + 
10 ++ ++ 
11 ++ ++ 
12 + + 
13 ++ ++ 
14 + + 
15 + + 
16 ++ ++ 
17 0 0 
18 + + 
19 ++ ++ 
20 ++ ++ 
21 + ++ 
22 + + 
   
Summary 
The proposed changes are beneficial resulting in the revision of the score for SA21 
(heritage) from single to double positive. 

 
  

Page 701



33 
 

Policy CAV1: Stourton Park & Ride Site (AV82) 
SA 
Objective 

Original 
Score 

New 
Score 

Appraisal Summary 

1 0 0 SA2 – The proposed bus based park and ride would not 
include a vehicle depot at the site. There would be a 
lower number of jobs created at the site and it would 
therefore be neutral overall. 
SA13, 15 & 16 – The proposal will result in an improved 
public transport system and reduce the need to travel by 
car into the city centre. The score against these 
objectives therefore remain positive. 
SA21 – The site requirement safeguarding the setting of 
the adjacent registered historic park and gardens is 
positive against this heritage objective 

 

  

2 + 0 
3 0 0 
4 0 0 
5 0 0 
6 0 0 
7 - - 
8 0 0 
9 0 0 
10 0 0 
11 - - 
12 0 0 
13 + + 
14 0 0 
15 ++ ++ 
16 + + 
17 0 0 
18 0 0 
19 - - 
20 0 0 
21 0 + 
22 + + 
   
Summary 
The proposed changes reduce the positive effects of the NGT trolleybus scheme in terms 
of employment at the site. The decision is beyond the scope of the AAP. The inclusion of a 
site requirement on heritage is positive.   

 
  

Page 702



34 
 

Policy SG1: Non Housing Uses 
SA 
Objective 

Original 
Score 

New 
Score 

Appraisal Summary 

1 + + The potential effects of the proposed changes are summarised 
as follows: 

1. Lower level of office development at the site 
2. Removing a motorway service area from the list of uses 

specifically excluded. 
3. Clarifying links between development of other uses and 

other plan polices in the area plan (Policies SG2, SG3 & 
SG4) and to site requirement under Policy AVL7 (Site 
AV111) 

4. Clarifying links and relationship between development of 
other uses and delivery of the main housing use. 

SA1 & 2 – The removal of the potential for office development 
could potential reduce the number of jobs created at the site in 
the long term. However, other potential non-housing uses 
could equally create jobs so the effect of this is unknown but 
overall the policy remains positive. 

SA6 – The proposed change ensures that the development of 
non-housing uses is linked to the requirements / aspirations to 
improve recreation facilities such as footpaths, cycling and a 
visitor centre (Policies SG2, SG3 & SG4) in the Skelton Gate 
area.   

SA10 – The proposed change ensures that the development of 
non-housing uses is linked to requirements / aspirations to 
improve green space (Policy SG3). 

SA12 – The proposed change ensures that the development of 
non-housing uses is linked to requirements / aspirations to 
improve pedestrian and cycle access (Policy SG2). 

SA13, 15 & 16 – Office development in an out-of-centre 
location could promote a significant number of trips by car but 
also had the potential to create local job opportunities for future 
residents of the housing site. Other uses would have to be 
considered on their merits. The policy was previously adjudged 
to be positive overall because it promoted provision of a food 
store promoting local services accessible within walking 
distance of future residents at the housing site. This conclusion 
is not changed by the proposed changes. 

SA19 – The proposed change ensures that the development of 
non-housing uses is linked to requirements / aspirations to 
improve / manage important landscape assets particularly 
Skelton Lake (Policies SG3 & SG4). This should be positive for 
overall landscape quality in the area. 

2 + + 
3 0 0 
4 + + 
5 0 0 
6 0 + 
7 - - 
8 + + 
9 + + 
10 0 + 
11 0 0 
12 0 + 
13 + + 
14 0 0 
15 + + 
16 + + 
17 0 0 
18 + + 
19 0 + 
20 0 0 
21 0 0 
22 0 0 
   

Summary 
The proposed changes are beneficial resulting in a more positive outcome against four SA 
objectives (SA6, SA10, SA12 & SA19). 

 

Page 703



35 
 

ADDENDUM TO APPENDIX 10  
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT EFFECTS OF PLAN 
 
Revisions resulting from the review of the SA framework and proposed changes to the submission plan 
 
SA 
Objective 

Geographical 
Scale 

Permanence Timescale Likelihood Assessment Justification 

SA3 
Education 

L P S-L H + As a result of the proposed changes there is a 
higher proportion of new housing development 
proposed in the city centre. This may increase the 
pressure for school places in these areas. In 
mitigation, the plan makes reference to the potential 
need to identify a site for a new primary school in 
the South Bank area at revised para 3.4.26. With 
this change the overall assessment score remains 
the same. 

SA11  
Greenfield 
and 
brownfield 
land 

L P S-L H 0 As a result of the proposed changes to site 
capacities there is now more development 
proposed on brownfield land. This does not change 
the overall scoring against the objective. 

SA14  Flood 
risk 

R & L P S-L H - The SA of proposed changes notes that overall the 
changes to site capacities will result in a higher 
number of dwellings being located in higher flood 
risk areas.  However, all proposed sites have 
satisfied the flood risk sequential and exception 
tests and the sites with increased capacities in and 
on the edge of the city centre will be protected by 
Phase 1 of the Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme. 
Specific mitigation measures to make the site safe 
over the lifetime of development are set out in site 
requirements and the exception test.  

It should be noted that the housing sites with 
increased capacities otherwise perform very well 
against other SA objectives and on balance it is 

P
age 704



36 
 

SA 
Objective 

Geographical 
Scale 

Permanence Timescale Likelihood Assessment Justification 

considered appropriate to allocate the site subject 
to implementation of mitigation measures.   

SA13 
Greenhouse 
emissions 

SA15 
Transport 
network  

SA16 Local 
Needs 

R & L P S-L H 0 Although the refusal of the NGT trolleybus scheme 
lies outside the scope of the plan, the impact of the 
decision is negative in terms of these SA objectives 
as it was identified as one of the main proposals to 
deliver public transport improvements to parts of the 
plan area. The plan retains the objective of 
providing a park & ride facility at Stourton, which 
partially mitigates the deletion of the scheme, but 
there are no other specific proposals outlined in the 
plan. It is noted that the deletion of the scheme 
does not affect the ability of any development site to 
meet the Core Strategy accessibility standards (as 
this was based on existing accessibility). The plan 
makes reference to the emerging transport strategy 
in revised paras 3.5.6 and 3.5.7 but with no specific 
proposal for the AVL area, the uncertainty 
associated with mitigation the transport impacts of 
development proposals, justifies reducing the 
overall assessment score to neutral.      

SA18 
Pollution 
(land 
instability) 

L P S-L H - The following additional wording required in relation 
to land instability: 

• The site allocations and other development 
opportunities proposed in the plan promote 
development in Coal Authority DHRAs and close 
to MZIs. Developers are already required to 
undertake Coal Mining Risk Assessments for 
development in DHRAs in accordance with 
saved UDPR Policy GP5 and NRWLP Policy 
Minerals 3. Mitigation of coal mining legacy 
issues may increase site development costs 
although this will depend on the specific site 
conditions. Where extraction of near surface 

P
age 705



37 
 

SA 
Objective 

Geographical 
Scale 

Permanence Timescale Likelihood Assessment Justification 

coal is economically viable it could help to 
increase the viability of site development. An 
overall negative score because is given but 
there may be a very small but inherent longer 
term risk where coal is left in the ground or with 
development around MZIs.  

SA21 Historic 
Environment 

L P S-L M 0 There are a number of revisions to the wording of 
site requirements, new site requirements and policy 
wording changes which are positive against this 
objective. However, it is noted that a number of 
development sites lie within or in close proximity to 
heritage assets and these measures are mitigation 
against a negative outcome and therefore neutral 
overall.  

 
 
  

P
age 706



38 
 

ADDENDUM TO APPENDIX 11  
PROPOSED MITIGATION MEASURES  
 
Revisions resulting from the review of the SA framework and proposed changes to the submission plan 
 
SA 
Objective 

Score Definition Mitigation 
Site 
Requirement 

NPPF Policy Core 
Strategy 

AAP Policy Other 

SA18 
Pollution 
D. Land 
instability 

- / -- In Coal Authority 
DHRAs or MZIs 

Insert general 
cross reference 
to other LDF 
polices. 

Paragraphs 
109, 120, 121 
& 166. 

N/A Insert cross 
reference in 
Section 3.4 
under 
Resilient  & 
Safe 
Development 

Saved UDPR 
Policy G5 & 
NRWLP 
Minerals 3 set 
out 
requirements in 
relation to land 
instability and 
coal mining 
legacy areas. 

 

 
 
 

P
age 707



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process 
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for 
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest 
opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already 
been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate:  City Development Service area:  Plans and Policies Group 

 
Lead person: Paul Bingham 
 

Contact number: x78132 

 
1. Title: Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan – modifications and submission  
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
The Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan (AVLAAP) will form one of the suite of documents 
in the Local Development Framework (LFD) which together form the Development Plan. 
The scope and purpose of AVLAAP is to provide a planning framework for the Aire Valley 
Leeds regeneration area and to set out the detailed location of new housing, retail, 
employment, protected green space, supporting community facilities and infrastructure in 
the area until 2028. It is in conformity with and builds on the parameters for growth as set 
out in the Core Strategy (adopted on 12th November 2014), and its key focus is to deliver 
on the Core Strategy’s principles of sustainable development.   
 
AVLAAP equality impact screening was carried out on the Publication Draft version of the 
Plan in January 2015. This screening provides an update to that and considers whether 
there are any implications for equality arising from modifications that are being proposed 
to the AVLAAP. Agreement is being sought at Executive Board for the Publication Draft of 
the AVLAAP together with the modifications to be submitted to the Secretary of State for 
independent examination.  

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

X   

Page 709



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

 

 
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or the wider 
community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser relevance to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.  When considering these 
questions think about age, carers, disability, gender reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual 
orientation. Also those areas that impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and 
well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

        X 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

X  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion 
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, diversity, cohesion 
and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 HOW HAVE YOU CONSIDERED EQUALITY, DIVERSITY, COHESION AND 
INTEGRATION? 

(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related information, gaps in 
information and plans to address, consultation and engagement activities (taken place or planned) with 
those likely to be affected) 
Equality characteristics to consider  
Age   Carers   Disability   Gender reassignment   Marriage and civil partnership   Pregnancy and maternity 
Race   Religion or belief    Sex   Sexual orientation  
Other excluded communities – for example, people who are excluded because of: socio-economic status, 

Page 710



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

social class, income, unemployment, residential location or family background, education or skills levels.  
A useful way of mapping inequalities and defining priorities: 
- Longevity, including avoiding premature mortality.  
- Physical security, including freedom from violence and physical and sexual abuse.  
- Health, including both well-being and access to high quality healthcare.  
- Education, including both being able to be creative, to acquire skills and qualifications and having 

access to training and life-long learning.  
- Standard of living, including being able to live with independence and security; and covering nutrition, 

clothing, housing, warmth, utilities, social services and transport.  
- Productive and valued activities, such as access to employment, a positive experience in the workplace, 

work/life balance, and being able to care for others.  
- Individual, family and social life, including self-development, having independence and equality in 

relationships and marriage.  
- Participation, influence and voice, including participation in decision-making and democratic life.  
- Identity, expression and self-respect, including freedom of belief and religion.  
- Legal security, including equality and non-discrimination before the law and equal treatment within the 

criminal justice system.  
 
Alongside consideration of equality and integration through this Screening, the Council is 
required to undertake a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of a Development Plan Document 
(DPD) under section 39 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which 
incorporates the requirements of the European Directive 2001/42/EC (the EU Strategic 
Environmental Assessment or ‘SEA Directive’). Sustainability Appraisal has been 
undertaken on the proposed modifications to assess if the change could have any 
economic, social or environmental consequences. Therefore to a certain extent the 
equality screening requirements are included within this as a specific planning process. 
The SA takes into account factors directly relevant to equality and integration such as 
access to local services including education and health facilities, community participation 
and cohesion, and the transport network.  
 
The AVLAAP preparation and modifications have been informed by a wide ranging 
evidence base, including the Strategic Housing Market Assessment and Strategic Flood 
Risk Assessment, as well as information and responses derived through formal public 
consultation. 
 
Key elements of the SA relating to equality and integration:  
‐ Employment – location, existing use  
‐ Health - accessibility of site to existing primary health facilities  
‐ Culture and Leisure - proximity to cultural and leisure facilities  
‐ Community cohesion - consider the relationship of the site to the existing area, e.g. 

scale of site in relation to the scale of the existing settlement and loss of existing 
community facility (e.g. sports club, allotments)  

‐ Greenspace - accessibility of sites to existing greenspace. Increase in quantity and 
quality, delivery mechanism (Community Infrastructure Levy /Section 106 
Agreements) and detailed site considerations. Negative score if would be building on 
an existing greenspace use. 

‐ Flood risk 
‐ Transport and accessibility including by public transport, and locally met facilities. 

 
The modifications that are now proposed and which are the subject of this screening 
have come about mostly because of the consultation responses to the Publication Draft 
Plan or because of a factual change in circumstances, such as the decision by 
Government not to support the New Generation Transport trolleybus proposals. No 
significant policy changes are proposed.  

Page 711



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

 
Consultation Procedures  
A very detailed and extensive public consultation took place on the AVLAAP Publication 
Draft for 8 weeks from 22nd September to 16th November 2015.  The consultation took 
place alongside the formal consultation on the Council’s Site Allocations Plan Publication 
Draft. This meant that the Plan benefited from much wider coverage and publicity than 
would otherwise have been possible.  
 
The Consultation was carried out in accordance with the Council’s adopted Statement of 
Community Involvement (SCI). Collectively, the measures set out in the SCI ensure that 
a wide range of people and businesses were made aware of the progress of the Plan, so 
that a broad range of views can be taken into account and to reach a consensus on 
issues. All relevant stakeholders on the Council’s LDF mailing list were notified when the 
Publication Draft was made available for consultation, alongside publication on the 
website and in all libraries and One Stop Centres to raise awareness of the consultation. 
Stakeholder events were also held during the consultation process.  
 
All comments received during the consultation have been considered and reported, with 
a response given. Where appropriate, modifications have been made to the Plan to take 
account of comments raised and achieve a high level of consensus.  
 
The modifications can be summarised as: 

• Revisions to housing site capacities; 
• Inclusion of land stability as a sustainability objective and addition of text to cross-

refer to other existing adopted policies that deal with land stability in the coal 
resource area; 

• Minor revisions to the flood risk evidence sequential and exception test 
• Deletion of references to suitability for older people’s housing/ independent living for 

sites in flood zone 3a; 
• Additional heritage requirement for relevant sites; 
• Expansion of the IDP to include other programmed strategic highway network 

capacity improvements identified in the Road Investment Strategy (RIS) 
• Publication of the assessment of undesignated heritage assets; 
• Factual correction of errors. 

  
 KEY FINDINGS 

(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality characteristics, potential to 
promote strong and positive relationships between groups, potential to bring groups/communities into 
increased contact with each other, perception that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of 
another) 
 
In progressing the preparation of the AVLAAP to submission stage the following activities 
have been carried out: 

 review and consideration of all consultation responses 
 further technical analysis, including highways and transportation issues and flood risk 
 information on planning permissions and completions to 31st March 2016. 
 on-going technical work undertaken in conjunction with other Council services where 

appropriate. 
 
The consultation activity brought a good response and there are no equality implications 
arising out of the manner in which the consultation has been undertaken. 

Page 712



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

5

 
Progressing the AVLAAP to submission will assist the authority to achieve the vision for 
sustainable development that is set out in the Core Strategy. Equality considerations 
have been part of the process in the preparation of the Core Strategy with which the 
AVLAAP has to be in conformity, and will be monitored as part of an Authority Monitoring 
Report (AMR) as set out in the ‘Actions’ section at the end of this document.  
 
There are no significant issues arising from the modifications that would raise any 
particular equality issues or differential impact on groups with equality characteristics.  
 

 ACTIONS 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
Due regard has been given to all the equality characteristics. The following points refer to 
specific equality groups as a record of current or potential future actions, where groups 
are not referenced it is considered that no specific actions are necessary as no or neutral 
equality impacts have been identified.  
 
Age 
A small number of sites had been suggested as suitable for older people’s housing/ 
independent living. However, where these are in areas of high flood risk then a 
modification has been suggested to remove the reference. This reflects the fact that older 
people may be regarded as particularly vulnerable to flood risk, in terms of their mobility 
for safe access and egress during times of flood but also in terms of their ability to 
recover quickly from flooding if it does occur. The AVLAAP still identifies other sites with 
specific opportunities for the provision of older people’s housing/independent living but 
these are not in areas of flood risk. 
 
Low income 
The Government has announced that it is not supporting New Generation Transport 
trolleybus scheme and therefore all references to it in the Plan are proposed to be 
deleted. However, the Council is still committed to finding new solutions to public 
transport provision and funding is available for this, consequently it is not anticipated that 
there will be any reduction in accessibility to services and facilities as stated in the Plan. 
 
Consultation 
As set out above, the Council is required to carry out various rounds of formal public 
consultation prior to the adoption of the AVLAAP, and consultation will be undertaken 
according to the criteria in the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI).  It is 
considered that there will be no negative impacts to mitigate, but that any lessons learnt 
in this regard as a result of early stages of consultation will be applied to the later stages.  
Such factors will also be considered at the Examination to ensure there has been fair and 
appropriate consultation. 
 
Representations received as part of the consultation process have been taken into 
account under the statutory process and where relevant proposed changes have been 
discussed with representors to achieve a better level of consensus.   
 
Review 
Once adopted, the AVLAAP will be subject to an annual review through the Authority 
Monitoring Report (AMR). The AMR will use a series of indicators to determine whether 

Page 713



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

6

the Plan is being implemented appropriately in delivering its objectives and seek to 
identify if it is having its intended effect. The AMR offers an opportunity to gauge whether 
the Plan (and other documents in the LDF e.g. the Core Strategy) is being implemented 
appropriately and that the anticipated effect of implementation is being achieved. 
 
The AVLAAP identifies key regeneration projects for Leeds, which have beneficial effects 
on equality in terms of tackling deprivation and job creation, and so have particular 
benefits for those on lower incomes and the young. These benefits are not reduced in 
anyway by the proposed modifications which are the subject of this screening. 
 

 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
 
 

  

Date screening completed  
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or 
a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and 
Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent 
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening 
was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

Page 714



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

7

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 715



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

Scrutiny Board (City Development) Statement 
for Executive Board 27th July 2016  

 
Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan   

 Introduction 
 
1. There is a requirement, in accordance 

with the Constitution of Leeds City 
Council, for the Scrutiny of the 
development of key policies which form 
part of the Council’s budget and policy 
framework. The Aire Valley Leeds Area 
Action Plan being one such policy was 
considered by the Scrutiny Board (City 
Development) on the 17th of May 2016.  

 
2. The purpose of this report is to inform the 

Executive Board of the deliberations and 
conclusions of the Scrutiny Board (City 
Development) in order to meet 
constitutional requirements under the 
Budget and Policy Framework and 
support the decision making process of 
the Executive Board.  

 
 
Evidence and Information 
Considered 
 
3. The Director of City Development 

submitted a report to the Scrutiny Board 
(City Development) which outlined the 
draft Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan. 
The following information which was also 
appended to the report:  

  
• Appendix 1 - Development Plan Panel 

Report and Appendices 
• Schedule 1: Comments and 

Modifications relating to Sites 
• Schedule 2: Comments and 

Modifications relating to Policies, 
wording and general sites  

• Schedule 3: Comments and 
Modifications relating to newly 
proposed sites 

• Schedule 4: Council proposed 
Modifications 

• Aire Valley Leeds AAP Submission 
Working Draft Plan 

• Appendix B-AVL Map 4 Transport 
Network Improvements Map A3 

• Appendix B-AVL Map 7 South Bank 
Area Map A3 

• Appendix B-AVL Map 8 East Bank, 
Richmond Hill & Cross Green Area Map 

• Appendix B-AVL Map 9 Hunslet Area 
Map A3 

• Appendix B-AVL Map 11 Central Aire 
Valley Area Map A3 

• Appendix B-AVL Map 12 Skelton Gate 
Area Map A3 

• Appendix B-AVL Map 13 Proposal Map 
April 2016 A3 

• Appendix B-AVL Map 14 Proposal Map 
April 2016 A3 

• Appendix C-AVL AAP SA Appendix 7 - 
sites proposed for allocation 

• Appendix C-AVL AAP SA Appendix 8 - 
sites not proposed for allocation  

 
4. The following representatives were in 

attendance to participate in debate, 
provide information and to respond to 
Members queries and comments: 

 
• David Feeney – Head of Strategic 

Planning 
• Martin Elliot – Group Manager (Policy 

and Plans) 
• Paul Bingham – Principal Planner 
• Cllr Richard Lewis – Executive Board 

Member, Regeneration, Transport and 
Planning 

 
5. The meeting of Scrutiny Board on the 

17th of May was arranged in addition to 
the scheduled meetings of Scrutiny to 
facilitate the requirement to consider the 
Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan 
before submission to Executive Board, 
originally planned for June 2016. We 
consider that our function as a Scrutiny 

Page 717



 

2 
 

 

Scrutiny Board (City Development) Statement 
for Executive Board 27th July 2016  

 
Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan   

 Board was somewhat restricted by the 
limited timescale, and the lack of clarity 
regarding the actual function of scrutiny 
in the process.  

 
Deliberations and 
Conclusions  
 
6. We were reassured that the Aire Valley 

Leeds Area Action Plan supports the 
efforts of the Council and the region to 
promote regeneration and growth within 
the area and that this framework is 
consistent with the overarching Core 
Strategy.  

 
7. The Board sought clarity regarding public 

consultation arrangements and the 
analysis of all subsequent feedback 
received, which was explained fully. No 
specific concerns were raised. We were 
further advised that throughout the 
process, there has been significant input 
and oversight from Development Plans 
Panel.  It was confirmed that further 
examination would be undertaken by the 
Planning Inspector, who would address 
any submissions regarding sites, issues 
and process in the context of 
Government planning guidance. 

 
8. We acknowledged that the draft Aire 

Valley Leeds Area Action Plan was 
prepared in advance of the rejection of 
NGT plans by the Department of 
Transport and that further work is 
required to rectify this. We sought to 
clarify how the rejection of NGT will now 
impact on the Aire Valley. We were 
advised that despite the NGT 
announcement, opportunities to provide 
better public transport would be 
available and that that the Aire Valley 
Leeds Area Action Plan is still sound. 
Considering that there will be 
development of significant sites in the 

Aire Valley we understood that there 
will be a greater demand for transport. 
We were reassured that the areas 
identified for development are highly 
accessible and not dependant on NGT 
particularly those close to the city 
centre.  We also received confirmation 
that the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action 
Plan would not prohibit future rail 
station development opportunities. 

 
9. We considered the requirement for 

increased education provision, and the 
opportunity for education providers to 
be better informed about housing 
development. We were advised that 
Children’s Services have been involved 
in the development of the Aire Valley 
Leeds Area Action Plan with regard to 
housing, school places required and 
impact on existing schools.  

 
10. With regard to the provision of local 

employment opportunities we were 
advised that the Aire Valley Leeds Area 
Action Plan in its implementation would 
support this. In addition we were 
advised that the Core Strategy makes 
provision for creating employment 
opportunities through planning and 
therefore both frameworks will support 
the creation of a range of employment 
types in the area.  

 
11. We explored the how the provision of 

affordable housing delivery is reflected 
in the Action Plan and were advised 
that this is defined in the Core Strategy.  
We took the opportunity to reaffirm the 
view that the recommendations of the 
Joint Enquiry into Housing Mix were 
implemented as part of this process. 

 
12. Following the flooding in Leeds on 

Boxing Day 2015 we sought to 
establish how the Action Plan mitigates 

Page 718



 

3 
 

 

Scrutiny Board (City Development) Statement 
for Executive Board 27th July 2016  

 
Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan   

 risk and avoids development in high risk 
zones. We established that eight sites 
proposing housing or housing and 
mixed use development were recorded 
as having flooded or partially flooded in 
the Boxing Day event. A further ten 
employment sites were affected. This 
includes some sites which already have 
a planning permission. We noted that 
these are subject to mitigation 
measures to address flood risk issues. 

13. It was clarified that the Aire Valley 
Leeds Area Action Plan does identify a 
number of sites for development within 
higher flood risk areas known as zone 2 
and 3 and that to meet the housing 
targets in the Aire Valley there is a need 
to allocate these sites for development. 
We were further advised that all the 
allocated sites are brownfield and 
situated in sustainable locations in or 
close to the city centre.  

14. It was highlighted that exception tests 
have been carried out on 
housing/mixed use sites in Zone 3. To 
pass an exception test it must be 
demonstrated that the sustainability 
benefits outweigh flood risk and that 
flood risk issues can be fully mitigated 
on the site without increasing risk 
elsewhere. We were advised that all the 
sites allocated for housing within the 
Action Plan passed the exception test 
and that all housing sites allocated will 
benefit from protection from the Flood 
Alleviation scheme Phase 1 when 
completed.  

 
15. Acknowledging concerns raised by the 

Coal Authority regarding land stability 
and the consideration of mine working, 
we sought to establish what further 
work had been undertaken in response. 
We were reassured that there are 
policies in the Unitary Development 

Plan relating to land stability, and also 
the Natural Resources and Waste plan 
which requires coal risk assessments to 
be undertaken for development in high 
risk areas. It was stated that work has 
been undertaken to address those 
concerns and communicated to the 
Coal Authority.   

 
16. Additional specific areas were explored 

and discussed with regard to The Yarn 
Street development, St Mary’s Clock 
Tower, the linkages to the Tulip Retail 
Park in Hunslet, and the land allocated 
waste at Skelton Grange. Responses 
were provided to the satisfaction of the 
Scrutiny Board. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Recommendation – The Executive 
Board is recommended to note the 
deliberations and conclusions of the 
Scrutiny Board (City Development) 
when considering the draft Aire Valley 
Leeds Area Action Plan submitted for 
approval.   
 
 

Page 719



 

  
Scrutiny Board (City Development) 

27th July 2016 
Report author: Sandra Pentelow 

 
www.scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk 
www.twitter.com/scrutinyleeds 

 
 

 
 

Page 720

http://www.scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk/
http://www.twitter.com/scrutinyleeds


Report of Director of City Development

Report to Executive Board

Date: 27 July 2016

Subject: Consideration of an Award of Grant Funding to Yorkshire County Cricket 
Club to contribute towards the Redevelopment of the North-South stand at 
Headingley Stadium

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): Headingley

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1.

2.

3.

Leeds has long had a well-earned reputation for hosting world class sporting events. 
From the Tour de France, Rugby League and Rugby Union World Cups to the recent 
World Triathlon as well as Ashes Tests at Headingley Stadium, where test cricket has 
been played since 1899. The visitor economy is very important to the City and hosting 
major events is part of the Council’s strategy to position the City and the City Region 
on a global stage. The Leeds City Regions recent Strategic Economic Plan highlights 
the scope to improve major cultural visitor attractions such as Headingley Stadium, 
which will contribute towards the City’s bid to be submitted for the 2023 European 
Capital of Culture.

Currently Yorkshire has more cricket clubs (778) and players (circa 131,000) than any 
other county and has had more cricket clubs than the whole of Australia. At a County 
level it is exceptionally strong with both the women’s and the men’s  sides County 
Champions in 2015, meaning Yorkshire is the first county to win the men’s and 
women’s County Championship in the same year.   

Accordingly, this report seeks Executive Board approval to the award of grant funding 
of £4m to Yorkshire County Cricket Club (YCCC), as a financial contribution towards 
the redevelopment of the North-South stand at Headingley Stadium, for the purpose 
of; securing four World Cup Matches in 2019 and ensuring the retention of 
International Cricket in Yorkshire from 2020 onwards. If the North-South stand 

Report author:  Jane Cash
Tel:  43493

Page 721

Agenda Item 25



proposals are implemented this will realise economic benefits of £5.75m of additional 
visitor spend in Leeds and £5.3m additional visitor spend in Yorkshire per annum from 
2020 onwards as well as 8 new apprenticeships, 30 new FTE’s and the award of 80% 
of SME contracts to local suppliers as well as the £20.5m economic benefits from the 
2019 World Cup.

4. YCCC, play the majority of their matches at Headingley Stadium, where they share 
facilities and common infrastructure with Leeds Rhinos Rugby League Club and Leeds 
Carnegie Rugby Union Club. YCCC has Category A venue status and therefore a 
staging agreement with the England and Wales Cricket Board (ECB) which provides 
for test match cricket to be played at Headingley up to and including 2019. At the end 
of 2019 the existing staging agreements with all of the current test grounds will run out 
and a decision will be made by the ECB as to which grounds will be awarded a new 
staging agreement from 2020 – 2022. It is stated that there will be fewer grounds 
awarded staging agreements by the ECB, with the number reducing potentially from 
nine to six.

5. To ensure the long term future of Headingley Stadium as an international test match 
ground and a Category A cricket venue, YCCC need to secure a new staging 
agreement with the ECB from 2020-2022. 

6.

7.

The ECB has a high regard for YCCC, its local clubs and teams and the sport 
development work the Yorkshire Cricket Foundation undertake. However the quality of 
the facilities at Headingley currently falls short of those of the other ‘Test Grounds’ that 
will be bidding for a new staging agreement. 

Despite the fact that Yorkshire has more cricket clubs (778) and players (circa 
131,000) and provide more international players in both the men’s and women’s game 
than any other County the infrastructure is the key factor in determining host venues. 
Headingley Stadium currently struggles to match other top venues in terms of its 
infrastructure and without significant investment in the North-South stand, is unlikely to 
secure a staging agreement for 2020-2022.

8. In addition YCCC have secured four matches at Headingley Stadium for the 2019 
Cricket World Cup. However the allocation of these matches is also conditional upon 
significant improvements being carried out to the facilities at Headingley in advance of 
the 2019 Cricket World Cup, in particular the North-South stand.

9.

10.

To address this issue YCCC in partnership with Leeds Rugby has developed a holistic 
scheme to improve both the North-South stand (which sits and is shared between the 
cricket ground and rugby league ground) and the south stand of the rugby ground. 
Both stands are owned by Leeds Rugby with YCCC currently their tenant of part of the 
North-South stand. Leeds Rugby also has a need to improve its own facilities to bring 
them in line with modern day facilities offered by other rugby league clubs. However 
the focus of this report is the North-South stand improvements required to secure the 
2019 Cricket World Cup matches and international cricket by way of a staging 
agreement for 2020-2022 and beyond.

The estimated cost of the works to the North-South stand is £28.5 million. To date a 
potential funding package of £24.5 million has potentially been identified, leaving a 

Page 722



shortfall of £4 million. YCCC has approached the Council with a view to securing a £4 
million grant  as a contribution to the scheme.

Recommendations

11. Executive Board is recommended to note the contents of this report and approve:-

(i) The award of a grant of £4 million to Yorkshire County Cricket Club to be used 
exclusively towards the redevelopment of the North-South stand at Headingley 
Stadium to ensure the hosting of four 2019 Cricket World Cup matches and the 
retention of YCCC Category A status and the award of a new staging 
agreement from 2020-2022 and subject to;

(ii) The entry by the Council into a grant agreement with Yorkshire County Cricket 
Club based on the draft Heads of Terms annexed to this report;

(iii) That settlement of the final terms of the above agreement be delegated to the 
Director of City Development.

1.0 Purpose of this Report 

1.1 This report seeks Executive Board approval to the award of grant funding of £4m to 
Yorkshire County Cricket Club (YCCC), as a financial contribution towards the 
redevelopment of the North-South stand at Headingley Stadium, for the purpose of 
securing four World Cup Cricket Matches in 2019 and ensuring the Category A 
status of the ground leading to the award of a new Staging Agreement for the 
hosting of International Cricket matches in Yorkshire from 2020 onwards. 

2.0 Background information

2.1 Throughout the twentieth century, 6 cricket venues (Lord's, The Oval, Edgbaston, 
Trent Bridge, Old Trafford and Headingley), hosted the vast majority of major cricket 
matches in England & Wales. In 1999, all county grounds were given the 
opportunity to host matches as part of the Cricket World Cup which took place in 
this country. This gave Counties and more importantly, their local stakeholders, the 
experience of hosting major sporting for events and created an awareness of the 
advantages of 'sporting tourism' to their local economies. 

2.2 In the early 2000's, Hampshire, Durham and Glamorgan started to develop 
stadiums fit to host major matches and made compelling cases to enter the market. 
This provided competition for the 'traditional grounds' and resulted in significant 
investment being made by them in the development of stadia facilities and as a 
result an increase in the number of test venues across the country. 

Page 723



2.3 Headingley Stadium is one of the premier sporting complexes in Leeds and 
Yorkshire. It is the home of Yorkshire County Cricket, Leeds Rhinos Rugby League 
Club and Leeds Carnegie Rugby Union Team. As well as being the home venue for 
the cricket and rugby teams, it also acts as an international venue for both cricket 
and rugby league, which in turn provides a significant profile for the city.

2.4 There are two separate grounds, the rugby ground to the south and the cricket 
ground to the north. The grounds are held and managed separately under the 
ownership of the rugby and cricket clubs respectively, with some hospitality and 
catering provided by the rugby club in the cricket ground by agreement. 

2.5 Headingley Carnegie Cricket Ground has hosted test cricket since 1899 and has a 
capacity of up to 17,500. It is one of nine cricket grounds that are currently used for 
hosting international cricket through a staging agreement. These are:-

 Lord’s Cricket Ground - London
 The Oval Cricket Ground – London
 Old Trafford Cricket Ground – Manchester
 County Cricket Ground Edgbaston – Birmingham
 Headingley Stadium – Leeds
 Trent Bridge – Nottingham
 County Ground Riverside – Chester-Le-Street Durham
 The Rose Bowl – Southampton
 SWALEC Stadium - Cardiff 

2.6 The City Council provided a £9m loan to YCCC at the end of December 2005 to 
enable the club to purchase the freehold of the Headingley Cricket Ground and 
secure user rights for the North-South stand. Ownership of the ground was one of 
the pre-conditions imposed by the ECB as part of a staging agreement which 
guaranteed test match at Headingley until the end of the 2019 season. Security for 
the loan was provided through the grant conditions imposed by the Council on 
YCCC and by the Council taking a position on the YCCC Board. This loan was 
repaid in December 2015 and the Council’s entrenched position on the Board  fell 
away at that point.  

3.0 Main issues

3.1 Staging Agreement for International Cricket

3.1.1 The ECB has three categories of cricket venues:-

Category Test ODI/IT20 Tour, U19, 
Women’s 

A   
B   
C   

Page 724



3.1.2 Headingley Stadium is currently a Category A venue.

3.1.3 As a Category A venue, Yorkshire County Cricket Club’s current staging agreement 
is to hold one Test per year and at least one one-day international per year until 
2019. However, at the end of 2019 the existing staging agreements with all of the 
current Category A grounds will run out and in the next 12 months, a decision is 
planned to be made by the ECB as to which grounds will be awarded new staging 
agreements from 2020 – 2022. The ECB has stated that there will be fewer grounds 
awarded staging agreements by the ECB, with the number reducing potentially from 
nine to six.

3.1.4 In December 2014, YCCC submitted a bid for the 2019 CricketWorld Cup which will 
be hosted in England. They were successful in their bid to host four one day 
matches, namely one England, two Pakistan and one Sri Lanka.  

3.1.5 Both the award of both the World Cup Matches in 2019 and YCCC being 
considered for a new staging agreement for 2020-2022 and beyond are conditional 
on Headingley Stadium meeting the minimum standard as detailed in the ECB’s 
Minimum Standards Document for model test match grounds. 

3.2 ECB’s Assessment of Yorkshire County Cricket Club’s Position in relation to 
a new Staging Agreement

3.2.1 To gain a clearer understanding of the ECB’s approach in relation to the award of a 
new staging agreement from 2020-2022 and to understand YCCC’s chances of 
success, officers from the Council met with a representative of the ECB in May this 
year. The ECB’s comments about YCCC, staging agreements and Yorkshire’s 
standing in the game are attached at Appendix 1. It is recognised by the ECB that 
Headingley has a rich heritage and is one of the most well known cricket venues 
around the world. Test Match cricket has been played there since 1899, with 
numerous legendary occasions taking place at the ground, including the famous 
'Botham's Ashes' match in 1981. 

3.2.2 The ECB also recognises the significant role Yorkshire County Cricket Club plays in 
the development of the game from grass roots through to County and International 
Level. Yorkshire has more cricket clubs (778) and players (c. 131,000) than any 
other county and has had more cricket clubs than the whole of Australia. The 
Yorkshire Cricket Foundation leading the way for cricket development through its 
involvement in projects such as the development of Bradford Park Avenue. This 
‘South Asian Communities Project’ is an example of best practice and is likely to be 
replicated by other counties, as is the Drax Cup, a competition for years 3 and 4 of 
all primary/junior schools in the Yorkshire and Teesside region and in which more 
than 20,000 boys and girls participate.

3.2.3 The County sides for both the men and women’s game are also exceptionally 
strong at the moment. The men’s County side have been winners of the County 
Championship in 2014 and 2015 and currently produces more players for the 
England Teams than any other county. The women’s county side were winners of 
the County Championship in 2015, meaning Yorkshire is the first county to win the 

Page 725



men’s and women’s County Championship in the same year and have also secured 
‘host status’ in the Kia Super League being launched in 2016.

3.2.4 To be eligible for Category A status and to secure a new staging agreement 2020-
2022, however the venue must comply with the ECB’s minimum standards for 
model Test Match Grounds. Despite Yorkshire’s standing in the game and the 
improvements made to other parts of the ground, the North-South stand at 
Headingley Stadium has deteriorated to a point where it is barely fit for purpose, 
according to the ECB and fall someway short of the standard at other Category A 
venues and the ECB’s minimum standards for Model Test Match Grounds. In 2015 
the North-South stand needed to be closed at one stage during the season to allow 
urgent repair works to the stand to take place. Other venues around the country 
have made greater progress in facility development and have overtaken Headingley 
when it comes to facilities appropriate for hosting major cricket matches. 

3.2.5 In summary, the ECB’s view is that ‘Headingley Cricket Ground has a long tradition 
of hosting international cricket and Yorkshire has a proud history of producing iconic 
players through its extensive network of clubs. Yorkshire is also delivering important 
projects in the local community and is synonymous with cricket. Yorkshire is 
therefore strategically important to cricket in England and Wales with the old adage 
of 'when Yorkshire is strong, England is strong' being most apt. 

Whilst the ECB is delighted with the role Yorkshire CCC is currently playing on and 
off the field, its facilities in the North/South stand are in need of significant 
upgrading if Headingley is to retain Category A status in the medium to long-term 
and reach parity with the other Category A venues across the country.’ 

3.3 Headingley Stadium Redevelopment

3.3.1 Taking account of the requirements outlined above, it is safe to say that without the 
redevelopment of the North-South stand, Headingley Stadium is unlikely to be a 
Category A venue and there is a clear risk that it may not be awarded a new staging 
agreement for 2020-2022. In addition, the four 2019 Cricket World Cup matches, 
conditional on significant improvements being implemented on the North-South 
stand in advance of the tournament, will be in jeopardy. 

3.3.2 At the same time the rugby league club, Leeds Rhinos has a desire and need to 
improve their facilities. From a rugby perspective they need to address ground 
safety issues in their South Stand, which currently operates at a reduced capacity 
due to health and safety requirements. The club also needs to modernise its 
facilities, including its North Stand so that the stadium provides facilities that 
compare favourably with alternative venues. It is the case that a number of rugby 
league clubs have moved to new stadiums in recent years including, Warrington, St 
Helens Salford, Wigan and Huddersfield, which means that the Headingley Stadium 
is fast becoming a less attractive proposition for international events. 

3.3.3 Leeds Rugby own both the Rugby League ground and the North-South shared 
stand that provides seating, changing facilities and corporate hospitality and boxes 
for both Yorkshire County Cricket Club and Leeds Rugby. 

Page 726



3.3.4 In response to the requirement from YCCC to retain Category A status thereby 
securing a new staging agreement for 2020-2022 and the 2019 World Cup 
matches, alongside the need to improve their cricket facilities, Leeds Rugby have 
developed designs for the complete reconstruction of the Rugby South Stand and 
the reconstruction of the shared North-South Stand to meet the ECB’s minimum 
standards for model test match grounds. 

3.3.5 The total scheme redevelopment costs are estimated at £40 million. This is split 
between the two stands as follows:-

Rugby League South Stand £11.5 million
North-South Stand £28.5 million

Total £40 million

3.3.6 Several potential funding sources have been identified as contributions towards the 
total funding package required to deliver the whole scheme. These include the sale 
of two  sites owned by Leeds Rugby in Weetwood and Tingley; contributions by 
both Leeds Rugby and YCCC and a bid for grant funding submitted to the LEP by 
YCCC to fund works to the North-South stand. These contributions, other than 
those of the Clubs have not yet been secured and in relation to the two  sites are 
conditional upon the securing of planning approval by Leeds Rugby and Caddick 
Developments Ltd, for housing development on sites within the green belt. The 
planning applications for both Headingley Stadium and the two development sites 
that are identified as potential funding sources to contribute towards the North-
South stand redevelopment were submitted by Leeds Cricket Football and Athletic 
Co. Ltd and Yorkshire County Cricket Club in April 2016 and a decision is expected 
in September 2016. This report in no way pre-supposes the outcome of those 
planning submissions.

3.3.7 However it should be noted that the purpose of this report is to ensure the award of 
a new staging agreement from 2020-2022 through the redevelopment of the North-
South stand only at Headingley Stadium. The North-South stand is the stand that 
sits between the cricket and the rugby ground. The proposed works for the 
redevelopment of the North-South stand consist of:-

 the demolition of the existing stand profile and its replacement with a three-
tiered seated stand providing lower, mid and upper tier seating for over 5060 
spectators, an increase of over 1400 on the old stand, thereby increasing the 
cricket ground’s capacity up to circa 18,500;

 a new ground floor concourse with male/female/disabled toilets, permanent 
concession units, bars, refreshments and food sales;

 a new ground floor concourse to link with existing stadium concourse to provide 
continuous circulation to all seating areas;

 a new concourse to serve the mid-tier seating level to provide toilet and 
concession facilities which link with the existing pavilion at board room level ;

 a new concourse to serve the upper tier seating level to provide toilet and 
concession facilities;

Page 727



 provision for the expansion of the Taveners Suite and the provision of a new 
Taverners Terrace Bar to the rear of the lower tier seating that will link with the 
existing Hirst and Rhodes Suite;

 a new terrace adjacent to the existing Boardroom which will provide linkages to 
the new stand mid-level seating tier;

 a continuous mid-level viewing suite will also provide panoramic viewing of the 
stadium and premium hospitality and refreshment facilities.

3.3.8 The design of the cricket facilities within the new North-South stand has been 
assessed by the ECB and they have confirmed that it will meet the standards for 
model Test Match Grounds required for the award of Category A status. The 
scheme drawings and images are attached at Appendix 2.

3.4 Cost Estimates and Funding

3.4.1 The holistic scheme costs for the redevelopment of Headingley Stadium North-
South stand, as assessed by Gardiner and Theobold on behalf of Leeds Rugby in 
May 2015 and independently reviewed by Arcadis on the Council’s behalf in August 
2015, currently stands at £28.5 million. Arcadis’s cost consultant was also the 
Council’s consultant on Leeds Arena and is currently delivering improvements to 
Anfield amongst other sports arenas of note.

3.4.2 To deliver the scheme, the following potential financial contributions, whether 
through capital receipts, grants or Club funding have been identified:-

 Yorkshire County Cricket Club contribution £7.0 million
 Development sites capital receipt funding (part) £13.5 million
 Local Enterprise Partnership grant funding £4.0 million

(Bid submitted)

Total £24.5 million

3.4.3 At £24.5 million, there is a £4 million shortfall in potential funding to deliver the 
scheme. To address this, YCCC have approached LCC and asked the Council to 
consider whether it would be willing to provide YCCC a grant to the value of £4 
million to enable the works to proceed.

3.4.4 If the Council were minded to approve the request and award YCCC with a grant of 
£4 million for the delivery of the new North-South stand at Headingley Stadium, it 
would be on the basis of the following requirements:-

 The securing of planning approval for the redevelopment of the new North-South 
stand;

 YCCC long term security of tenure (the joint freehold ownership of the North-
South stand with Leeds Rugby);

 The adherence to a robust set of draft grant conditions as detailed at Appendix 
3, the final details of which will be delegated to the Director of City Development 
for final approval.

 The securing of all other funding to allow the scheme to proceed.

Page 728



3.5 Programme 

3.5.1 If all of the improvements are to be delivered in time for Headingley Stadium to host 
the 2019 Cricket World Cup, which commences in June 2019, works need to be 
progressed at a pace. To achieve this deadline, the programme is:-

 January 2016 Pre-app discussions with ward members
 April 2016 Submission of planning applications
 July 2016 Position statement presented to Plans 
                                                                   Panel
 Grant of Planning approval September 2016October 2016

Demolition and reconstruction of rugby  
                                                             ground south stand

 April 2017 Strip out of North-South stand
 July 2017 Reconstruction of new North-South stand
 April 2019 Practical Completion

3.6      Procurement

3.6.1 The scheme is being managed by Leeds Rugby’s development partner, Caddick 
Construction. Their proposed procurement strategy is to tender the packages, on an 
open-book basis with ongoing negotiation required to agree the final contract sum. 
This procurement strategy has been independently reviewed by Arcadis, at the 
Council’s request to ensure the appropriateness of the approach and secure value 
for money.

3.6.2 Arcadis’s view of this approach, based on their experience, is that engaging with a 
single, preferred contractor is now a popular procurement route and competitive 
tendering is less common than it was a few years ago. This is because the cost 
benefits are often not as significant and market interest in sports projects is very 
limited in the current, buoyant construction industry. Engaging with a trusted 
contractor, that already understands the site, often means that any cost premium 
incurred due to lack of competition is offset by greater cost certainty, meaning that 
costs are less likely to escalate. However the Council will need to be satisfied that 
approach is compliant with the European Commission’s rules as to the provision of 
State aid as outlined in section 4.5. 

3.7 Economic Benefits of International Cricket in Leeds and the City Region

3.7.1 The visitor economy is very important to the City and hosting major events is part of 
the Council’s strategy to position the City and the City Region on a global stage. 
The Leeds City Regions recent Strategic Economic Plan highlights the scope to 
improve major cultural visitor attractions such as Headingley Stadium, which will 
contribute towards the City’s bid to be submitted for the 2023 City of Culture.

3.7.2 Major sporting events deliver significant economic benefit to the City and City 
Region. Headingley is the only sporting venue in the City Region with a regular 
international profile. Taking these aspirations on board, the Council and its partners 
need to be aware of the economic benefits international cricket brings to the region.

Page 729



3.7.3 In 2009, the total number of visiting spectators to the Test Match was 44,018 to 
Leeds and 28,320 to Yorkshire. The estimated economic benefit assessment from 
these figures is:-

 £4.8m of additional visitor spend in Leeds;
 £2.4m of organisation spend;
 £1.1m ticket revenue for a 5 day test match;
 £75k retail spend on merchandise;
 £300k hospitality spend;
 £900k spent on catering;
 During a test match the average number of staff working at Headingley is 653.

3.7.4 On the basis of a £28.5m investment in the North-South stand at Headingley 
Stadium with an increase in stadium capacity, economic modelling shows this could 
increase the economic benefits realised to:-

 £5.75m of additional visitor spend within Leeds by 2020;
 £5.3m additional visitor spend in Yorkshire by 2020;
 175 full time construction jobs nationally during construction;
 £1.5m ticket revenue for each 5 day test match.

3.7.5 In addition there are other benefits identified as:-

 A commitment by Caddick Construction for 4 full time apprentices and 4 
additional apprenticeship opportunities;

 The award of 80% of SME contracts to local suppliers;
 Potential new positions/franchises created within the stadium;
 30 new FTE’s across services such as administration, events, housekeeping, 

food service and bar staff as well as stewarding.

3.7.6 In addition the estimated global TV audience for the 2015 Cricket World Cup of 
354m should not be overlooked.

3.7.7 With regards to the 2019 Cricket World Cup, YCCC and Headingley Stadium have 
provisionally been awarded four matches. Ernst and Young were commissioned to 
carry out an economic benefit study for the 2019 Cricket World Cup as a whole and 
have also undertaken assessments of the benefits to potentially be realised by each 
of the 10 Host Cities. 

3.7.8 International cricket has the ability to draw significant crowds, with the potential 
attendance for the entire tournament estimated at almost 1 million supporters. 
According to Ernst and Young, Leeds has the potential to realise approximately 
£20.5 million in economic benefit through tourism spending, as a result of hosting 4 
Cricket World Cup matches at Headingley Stadium.  

3.7.9 In the light of the ECB’s stance outlined in paragraph 3.2.5, if the proposal to 
redevelop the North-South stand does not progress, YCCC will clearly be at risk of 
:-

Page 730



 losing four 2019 Cricket World Cup Matches; 
 losing  its Category A status; and 
  not being awarded a new staging agreement by the ECB 2020-2022. 

3.7.10 This will potentially have a significant outcome on YCCC, Leeds and the City 
Region as all of the economic benefits outlined above will be lost.

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The request by Yorkshire County Cricket Ground for the award of a grant of £4 
million has been presented to Leader Management Team, who has asked the 
potential award of a grant to be considered by Executive Board. In developing the 
recommendations in the report, dialogue has taken place between Leeds City 
Council, Yorkshire County Cricket Club, the ECB and Leeds Rugby.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 An equality screening form has been completed for this proposal and is attached as 
Appendix 4. There were no specific equality issues raised around the proposed 
purpose of the report. 

4.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The Council’s new Vision 2010-2030

By 2030, Leeds will be internationally recognised as the best city in Britain – a city 
that is fair, open and welcoming with a prosperous and sustainable economy, a place 
where everyone can lead safe, healthy and successful lives.

By 2030, Leeds’ economy will be prosperous and sustainable. Leeds will be a city 
that has:  will be a city that has:
 a strong local economy driving sustainable economic growth;
 a world-class cultural offer;

By 2030, all Leeds’ communities will be successful with:
 local cultural and sporting activities are available to all;

By 2030, Leeds will be the Best City to live where:
 People enjoy world class culture, sport, leisure and entertainment.

4.3.2 ‘To make sure all this happens we need to engage beyond our boundaries, Leeds 
will punch above its weight as the biggest city in the north, raising its profile to 
match, and making sure that decision makers and opinion formers understand the 
city and what it offers, its potential and the needs of its communities. We will build 
on the excellent reputation and international profile of our universities, our cultural 
offer, our hospitals and health care excellence, our sporting facilities and teams and 

Page 731



our businesses and their expertise to create a city that is a world-class destination 
for all in a global economy.’

4.3.3 Best Council Plan

This proposal meets Objective 2 of the Best Council Plan: Promoting sustainable 
and inclusive economic growth through:-
 A rich cultural offer that surpasses the aspirations of Leeds’ residents and 

visitors;
 Enhancing the confidence and profile of the city by hosting world class events.

4.4 Resources and Value for Money 

4.4.1 The resource implications of this report are the award of a £4 million grant to 
Yorkshire County Cricket Club. This is to secure Headingley Stadium’s status as a 
Category A venue thereby securing a new staging agreement from 2020-2022 and 
four 2019 World Cup Cricket matches and all of the economic benefits realised, as 
detailed in Section 3.6.  Accordingly, this will be an unfunded injection into the 
Capital Programme and the revenue implications will be accounted for as part of the 
2017/18 budget setting process.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The proposal is subject to call-in. 4.5.2 Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 
provides that the Council can do anything that individuals generally may do subject 
to a restriction that the Council cannot do anything that it is otherwise prohibited 
from doing. Subject to compliance with the European Commission’s rules as to the 
provision of State aid and to the Council complying with its fiduciary duties to the 
council tax and rate payers of Leeds, there are no statutory restrictions that would 
prohibit the Council from providing YCCC with a grant as outlined in this report.

4.5.2 The European Commission’s State aid rules provide that the Council cannot provide 
commercial undertakings with assistance in a way which is selective and will or is 
likely to distort competition in a European market. Whilst professional cricket is not 
played in any other European countries, the improvements to the North-South stand 
will be of significant benefit to the Club and will assist them in providing facilities for 
corporate events and hosting world class events in competition with other facilities 
across Europe.

4.5.3 Article 55 of the General Block Exemption Regulations (Commission Regulation 
(EU) No 651/2014) allows for aid to be given in respect of sport and multifunctional 
recreational infrastructures provided that certain conditions are met. Any grant to 
YCCC will be conditional on the Council being satisfied that these conditions will be 
met and to YCCC indemnifying the Council in respect of any claims arising from any 
breach.

4.5.4 The Council has a duty to the council tax and rate payers of Leeds to ensure that it 
acts in a financially prudent manner; that it strikes a fair balance between the 
interests of council tax and rate payers on the one hand and the community’s 
interest in adequate and efficient services on the other hand; and that it acts in good 

Page 732



faith with a view to complying with its statutory duties and exercising its statutory 
powers for the benefit of the community.

4.5.5 In the case of the proposed grant to YCCC, and given the benefits that securing the 
playing of test match and international cricket at Headingley will bring to the city, it 
is believed that the Council will be complying with its fiduciary duties.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 The Council will manage the risk of the award of grant funding to YCCC through:-

 A set of robust grant conditions which will need to be signed up to by YCCC 
before the formal award of the grant;

 The appointment of a project monitor to oversee the scheme delivery alongside 
adherence to the grant conditions;

 The ongoing engagement of Arcadis as required, to ensure the scheme is 
delivered in accordance with the agreed drawings and specification.

5 Conclusions

5.1 International cricket at Headingley plays an important part in the city’s sporting 
calendar.  It provides an economic boost to the city’s visitor economy and brings 
international profile to Leeds on a regular basis.  Clearly, Headingley’s position as a 
Category A venue cannot be taken for granted and there is a clear risk that its 
status as a regular venue for international cricket could be lost.

5.2 In light of this risk and recognising the long-standing position of Headingley Cricket 
Stadium as an international venue, losing this position would be a retrograde step 
for the city.  Accordingly, officers recommend in principle, support for a grant 
towards the cost of a new North/South stand by Leeds City Council as outlined 
below. 

6         Recommendations

6.1      Executive Board is recommended to note the contents of this report and approve:-

(i) The award of a grant of £4 million to Yorkshire County Cricket Club to be 
used exclusively towards the redevelopment of the North-South stand at 
Headingley Stadium to ensure the hosting of four 2019 Cricket World Cup 
matches and the retention of YCCC Category A status and subject to the 
award of a new staging agreement from 2020-2022 and subject to;

(ii) The entry by the Council into a grant agreement with Yorkshire County 
Cricket Club based on the draft Heads of Terms annexed to this report;

(iii) That settlement of the final terms of the above agreement be delegated to 
the Director of City Development.

Page 733



7 Background documents1  

7.1      None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 734



Page 1 of 6 

   

 

 

 

International Cricket in Yorkshire  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 735



Page 2 of 6 

   

 

 

 

Table of contents 

 

1 Background ................................................................................................................ 3 

2 Eligibility to host International matches .................................................................. 3 

2.1 Venue categories ......................................................................................................... 3 

2.2 Minimum facility requirements...................................................................................... 3 

2.3 Facilities at Headingley ................................................................................................ 4 

3 National landscape .................................................................................................... 4 

3.1 Venues ........................................................................................................................ 4 

3.2 International cricket’s future ......................................................................................... 4 

4 Yorkshire’s status ...................................................................................................... 5 

4.1 Strong Yorkshire .......................................................................................................... 5 

4.2 Headingley Cricket Ground .......................................................................................... 6 

5 Summary .................................................................................................................... 6 

Page 736



Page 3 of 6 

   

 

 

1 Background 

Throughout the twentieth century, 6 cricket venues (Lord's, The Oval, Edgbaston, Trent 
Bridge, Old Trafford and Headingley, hosted the vast majority of major cricket matches in 
England & Wales. In 1999, all county grounds were given the opportunity to host matches as 
part of the Cricket World Cup which took place in this country. This gave Counties and more 
importantly, their local stakeholders, the experience of hosting major sporting for events and 
created an awareness of the advantages of 'sporting tourism' to their local economies.  

In the early 2000's, Hampshire, Durham and Glamorgan started to develop stadiums fit to 
host major matches and made compelling cases to enter the market. This provided 
competition for the 'traditional grounds' and resulted in significant investment being made by 
them in the development of stadia facilities.  

Whilst the criteria for hosting major matches includes other considerations such as 
geography, venue operations and legacy benefits, the infrastructure within which matches 
are played is a key factor in determining host venues as this is becoming increasingly 
important in a society that has high customer experience expectations.  

2 Eligibility to host International matches 

2.1 Venue categories  

The ECB has three categories of cricket venues: 

 

Category Test ODI/IT20 Tour, U19, 
Women’s 

A    

B    

C    

 

Headingley Cricket Ground is currently a Category A venue. 

 

2.2 Minimum facility requirements 

To be eligible for Category A venue status, a venue must comply with minimum facilities 
criteria including: 

 An established ground development plan identifying the long-term objectives of the 
Club. 

 High standard of playing, practice and training facilities, with pitches rated above 
average for major matches (including pitches which last 5 days). 

 High technological infrastructure including world class electronic and written media 
facilities. 

 Permanent floodlighting. 

 High standard of public seating with a minimum 15,000 seats, the majority of which 
must be permanent. 

Page 737



Page 4 of 6 

   

 

 

 

 

2.3 Facilities at Headingley 

Since 2004 Headingley has seen significant improvements in many of its facilities including 
those provided for spectators, sponsors, players, match officials and the written media. 
However, the North/South stand has deteriorated to a point where it has become barely fit for 
purpose. In particular, spectator facilities and those required by the electronic media are 
deteriorating at pace and fall someway short of the standard at other Category A venues.   

 

3 National landscape  

3.1 Venues 

Currently there are nine venues with Category A status: 

County Venue Location Max. Capacity 

Durham CCC Emirates Riverside Chester-le-Street 15,000 

Glamorgan Cricket SSE SWALEC Cardiff 16,000 

Hampshire Cricket The Ageas Bowl Southampton 22,000 

Lancashire CCC Emirates Old Trafford Manchester 23,000 

MCC Lord's Cricket Ground London 29,000 

Nottinghamshire CCC Trent Bridge Nottingham 17,000 

Surrey CCC The Kia Oval London 26,000 

Warwickshire CCC Edgbaston Birmingham 25,000 

Yorkshire CCC Headingley Leeds 17,000 
 

Over the last ten years there have been significant investments made by First Class 
Counties to improve facilities for spectators, the media and players. Five of the Category A 
venues now boast capacities over 20,000.  

 

3.2 International cricket’s future 

The schedule and host venues for international cricket in England and Wales has been 
confirmed until the end of 2019. However, from 2020 matches have not yet been awarded 
and it is anticipated that a process will take place within the next 12 months to award 
matches to venues for the period 2020 – 2022.  

 

  

Page 738



Page 5 of 6 

   

 

 

 

4 Yorkshire’s status 

4.1 Strong Yorkshire 

More play 
 
Yorkshire has more cricket clubs (778) and players (c. 131,000) than any other county and at 
one point, had more of the former than the whole of Australia!  The roots of 'traditional 
cricket' are therefore deep and represent solid foundations on which to grow the game.   
 
The rich diversity of the Yorkshire community represents a wonderful opportunity for cricket 
to grow further, with the 'Yorkshire Cricket Foundation' leading the charge to capitalise on 
this, through involvement in projects such as the development of Bradford Park Avenue. The 
'South Asian Communities Project' is an example of best practice on a national level and is 
likely to be replicated by other counties, as is the 'Drax Cup', a competition open to years 3 
and 4 of all primary/junior schools in the Yorkshire and Teesside region and in which more 
than 20,000 boys and girls participate. 
 
Great Teams 
 
County men's  
 
Winners of the County Championship in 2014 and 2015, Yorkshire currently produces more 
players for the England teams than any other County.  
 
County women  
 
Winners of the County Championship in 2015 (the first County to win the men's and women's 
County Championship in the same year), Yorkshire were recently successful in securing 
'host status' in the Kia Super League being launched in 2016.  
 
County age-groups  
 
Yorkshire have an extensive County age-group structure, boasting teams at 
U10s,11s,12s,13,14s,15s and over 50s. In addition junior representative cricket at a district 
level provides an arena where the most talented juniors can compete against each other 
giving them the opportunity to demonstrate their potential as future County age group 
players. 
 
Inspired Fans 
 
Despite tiring facilities at the North/South stand end of the ground, Yorkshire have 
significantly grown attendances in recent times, evidenced by a record 59,902 fans watching 
international cricket and 55,655 watching the county play in the NatWest t20 Blast in 2015. 
Collectively, this resulted in a 13% growth in attendances over the previous year.  
 
The customer experience at Headingley also grew in 2015, with their satisfaction score rising 
to 8.5 out of 10, although by far the lowest scores came from spectators in the North/South 
stand.  
 
  

Page 739



Page 6 of 6 

   

 

 

Good Governance 
 
Yorkshire now has one of the strongest non-executive teams in the country. Led by an 
extremely able chairman in Steve Denison, the Board benefits from a diversity of skills, 
envied by many.  
 
The executive team also has real quality, with Mark Arthur respected by ECB and his peers 
throughout the country. Mark's leadership during the 'floods' earlier this year, demonstrated 
the tireless efforts he is making to connect the game at all levels throughout the county.  
 
Strong Finance  
 
In 2015 Yorkshire successfully completed a financial restructure enabling them to 
significantly reduce their interest payments. The club’s ambition is to clear their debt in the 
next 10-15 years. Revenues across the business have increased enabling the club to 
improve all aspects of their operations. However the greatest risk to the club’s financial 
position is the future allocation of international cricket.   
 

4.2 Headingley Cricket Ground 

Headingley has a rich heritage and is one of the most iconic cricket venues around the world. 
Test Match cricket has been played there since 1899, with numerous legendary occasions 
taking place at the ground, including the famous 'Botham's Ashes' match in 1981.  

Whilst significant progress has been made in terms of facilities development since 2004, the 
North/South stand is now at the point where it is barely fit for purpose for spectators or the 
electronic media (to whom the location is fundamentally important). As eluded to in section 3, 
other venues around the country have made greater progress in this area and have 
overtaken Headingley when it comes to facilities that are appropriate for hosting major cricket 
matches. 

 

5 Summary 

Headingley Cricket Ground has a long tradition of hosting international cricket and Yorkshire 
has a proud history of producing iconic players through its extensive network of clubs. 
Yorkshire is also delivering important projects in the local community and is synonymous with 
cricket. Yorkshire is therefore strategically important to cricket in England and Wales with the 
old adage of 'when Yorkshire is strong, England is strong' being most apt. 
 
Whilst the ECB is delighted with the role Yorkshire CCC is currently playing on and off the 
field, its facilities in the North/South stand are in need of significant upgrading if Headingley is 
to retain Category A status in the medium to long-term and reach parity with the other 
Category A venues across the country. 
 
 
 
 
Gordon Hollins 
Chief Operating Officer 
 

16 June 2016 

Page 740



FILE PATH

DRAWING NO REVISION

DRAWN REVIEWED

SCALE DATE

TITLE

PROJECT

55 St Pauls Street

LEEDS

   : 0113 887 3100          : info@dla-architecture.co.ukT E

www.dla-architecture.co.uk

REVISIONS

             | LS1 2TE

C:\RevitLocal ~\headingley Complete op 2
current_TT.rvt

  @ A1

2013-250_B01/050

TCT MM

23/09/14

3D VIEWS
CRICKET SOUTH STAND 3D

NORTH / SOUTH STAND
HEADINGLEY

WORK IN PROGRESSCRICKET TOP TIER CAPACITY

CRICKET TOP TIER 1752
Grand total: 1752

CRICKET MIDDLE TIER CAPACITY

CRICKET MIDDLE TIER 280
Grand total: 280

CRICKET LOWER TIER CAPACITY

CRICKET LOWER TIER 1677
Grand total: 1677

CRICKET MIDDLE TIER CORP. CAPACITY

CRICKET CORPORATE 700
Grand total: 700

P
age 741



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CL

TW ABCDEFGHIJKL

BRICK CLAD CONTROL ROOM/

FILE PATH

DRAWING NO REVISION

DRAWN REVIEWED

SCALE DATE

TITLE

PROJECT

55 St Pauls Street

LEEDS

   : 0113 887 3100          : info@dla-architecture.co.ukT E

www.dla-architecture.co.uk

REVISIONS

             | LS1 2TE

C:\RevitLocal ~\2013-250-NSS-XX-M3-AR-NORTH
SOUTH STAND_TCT.rvt

 1 : 200 @ A1

2013-250_051

TCT RCT

24/04/15

CRICKET ELEVATION_NORTH

HEADINGLEY
NORTH / SOUTH STAND

PLANNING 1 : 200

CRICKET ELEVATION_NORTH

0 20 m1052

P
age 743



T
his page is intentionally left blank



FILE PATH

DRAWING NO REVISION

DRAWN REVIEWED

SCALE DATE

TITLE

PROJECT

55 St Pauls Street

LEEDS

   : 0113 887 3100          : info@dla-architecture.co.ukT E

www.dla-architecture.co.uk

REVISIONS

             | LS1 2TE

C:\RevitLocal ~\headingley Complete op 2
current_TT.rvt

  @ A1

2013-250_B01/051

TCT RCT

02/10/2014

RUGBY NORTH STAND 3D

NORTH / SOUTH STAND
HEADINGLEY

WORK IN PROGRESS

N/S STAND RUGBY CAPACITY

RUGBY LOWER TIER 3690
Grand total: 3690

P
age 745



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Draft Heads of Terms for the Provision of Grant Funding to Yorkshire County 
Cricket Club (YCCC) 
 
These Grant Conditions are subject to Council and YCCC approvals and subject to 
contract and subject to the Council being satisfied that the scheme is state aid 
compliant. (General Block Exemption Regulations – Article 55 – Aid for sport and 
multifunctional recreational infrastructures) 
 
The ‘Scheme’ is the redevelopment of the North‐South stand at Headingley Stadium 
to meet the ECB’s requirements for the hosting of international cricket and the 
securing of a staging agreement from 2020 onwards. 
 
The ‘Works’ include:‐ 
 

 the existing stand profile demolished and replaced with a three‐tiered seated 
stand providing lower, mid and upper tier seating for over 5060 spectators, 
an increase of over 1400 on the old stand, thereby increasing the ground’s 
capacity up to 18,500; 

 a new ground floor concourse with male/female/disabled toilets, permanent 
concession units, bars, refreshments and food sales; 

 a new ground floor concourse to link with existing stadium concourse to 
provide continuous circulation to all seating areas; 

 a new concourse to serve the mid‐tier seating level to provide toilet and 
concession facilities which link with the existing pavilion at board room level ; 

 a new concourse to serve the upper tier seating level to provide toilet and 
concession facilities; 

 provision for the expansion of the Taveners Suite and the provision of a new 
Taverners Terrace Bar to the rear of the lower tier seating that will link with 
the existing Hirst and Rhodes Suite; 

 a new terrace adjacent to the existing Boardroom which will provide linkages 
to the new stand mid‐level seating tier; 

 a continuous mid‐level viewing suite will also provide panoramic viewing of 
the stadium and premium hospitality and refreshment facilities. 

Pre‐Agreement Condition 
 
Prior to entering into the Grant Agreement, the Council must be satisfied that the 
scheme is State Aid compliant. 
  
Pre‐Conditions 
 
Payment of the grant will be subject to the following Conditions 
 

1. The grant will only be awarded to YCCC if the ECB confirm to the Council in 
writing that the design for the North‐South stand meets the ECB’s minimum 
specification for model test match grounds  

Page 747



2. Prior to the award of the grant LCC’ Project Monitor will review and approve 
in writing the design, specification, programme and cost plan for the Scheme; 

3. All consents and approvals for the Scheme including the grant of full planning 
permission must be obtained before the grant is awarded; 

4. LCC to be provided with a detailed programme of construction that 
demonstrates that the works can be delivered in time for the 2019 Cricket 
World Cup matches to be hosted at Headingley; 

5. YCCC must have an agreement in place with Leeds Rugby regarding 
ownership and control of the North‐South stand on terms acceptable to the 
Council 

6. LCC require written confirmation from the ECB of the award of 4 world cup 
matches to YCCC in 2019 subject to the delivery of the redevelopment of the 
North‐South stand 

7. The Council require written confirmation from the ECB of the future staging 
agreement at YCCC for the hosting of international cricket matches to the 
Council’s satisfaction 

8. The Council require written confirmation of the agreement in place between 
YCCC and Leeds Rugby for the carrying out of works and the payment 
mechanism for the Scheme by YCCC which is yet to be fully agreed The 
Council require written confirmation of the provision of all other funding 
required to deliver the Scheme. 

9. The Council will not pay the Capital Grant or any part of the capital grant 
unless it is satisfied that the grant conditions have been met. 

10. If any of the grant conditions have not been met in full within 12 months of 
the date of the Grant Agreement or such later date that the Council may 
agree in its absolute discretion, the Council may by notice in writing to the 
Club determine the grant agreement and any sums paid to the Club shall be 
repaid to the Council. 

 
 

Conditions 
 

 This grant is awarded to Yorkshire County Cricket Club purely for its financial 
contribution to the redevelopment of the North‐South stand at Headingley 
Stadium. 

 The Scheme must be competitively procured in accordance with OJEU 
procurement rules unless an alternative route is approved by the Council in 
writing 

 This grant is conditional on YCCC and partners delivering the redevelopment 
of the North South stand at Headingley Stadium in time to secure the hosting 
of four 2019 Cricket World Cup matches at the ground 

 The Scheme must meet the ECB’s minimum standards specification for model 
test match grounds and receive ECB approval to the proposed design against 
those standards 

 Payments of the grant will only be made on receipt of an authorised 
architects instruction and will be paid in stages according to a schedule 
agreed by the CouncilMaximum amount of the grant is fixed at £4 million 

Page 748



regardless of any Scheme cost increases due to inflation or other 
requirements 

 Written approval of the Council’s Project Monitor is required for final design 
layouts, specification and programme 

 The grant will be subject to an Independent assessment of the scheme 
design, programme and cost/PTE by an organisation nominated by the 
Council and to the Council giving written approval to the Scheme following 
that assessment.  

 The grant payments will be subject to retention at the same percentage as 
set out in the contract preliminaries and only released in line with the 
conditions as set out in the contract preliminaries 

 Where an event of default has occurred and is continuing and has not been 
remedied, the Council may by notice in writing, suspend payment of the 
Capital grant; vary the maximum sum or terminate this agreement where the 
Council shall cease to be under any obligation to provide the grant to the club 
and may require the club to repay part or the whole of the grant to the 
Council. 

 The payment of the grant by the Council is, in the opinion of the Council, 
outside the scope of VAT but if any VAT shall become chargeable, all 
payments of grants shall be deemed to be inclusive of VAT and the Council 
shall not be obliged to pay any VAT over and above the amount of the 
Grants. 

 The agreement/conditions may only be amended in writing duly executed by 
the Council and the Club 

 Until Practical completion or such later date as the Council requires the Club 
will deliver to the Project Manager a written report each month, updating the 
Council on general progress and expenditure in relation to the Scheme	

 Use of the stand – the stand is only to be used for purposes of spectator 
accommodation for cricket matches supporting other sporting events at the 
stadium, hospitality, conferencing and any other ancillary use that supports 
the operation of the Club	

 YCCC will not use the stand for any purpose that brings The Council into 
disrepute 

 As a condition of the grant being awarded, Leeds City Council will retain a 
place on the Board of the Yorkshire Cricket Foundation for a period of 10 
years 

 Security to be determined  

 Start date – from start of works to the construction of the North‐South stand 

 Mechanism for Claiming and paying grant 

 Publicity – The Council want to be notified and reserve the right to 
participate in any publicity on scheme development 

 Duration of Grant Conditions 

 Events of Default 
o Insolvency 
o Misuse of grant 
o Breach 

Page 749



o Fraud 
o Misrepresentation 

 
 

Page 750



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate:City Development Service area: Asset Management 

 
Lead person: Jane Cash 
 

Contact number: 2243493 

 
1. Title: The Development of the Headingley cricket ground and the Loan Agreement 
with the Yorkshire County Cricket Club 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify Consideration of Yorkshire County Cricket Clubs 
proposal to LCC regarding the restructuring of the existing loan agreement 
between the two organisations and the award of a grant as part of a larger 
funding package to facilitate the redevelopment of Headingley Stadium to 
support Yorkshires bid to retain international cricket. 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
Consideration of the award of a grant of £4m to Yorkshire County Cricket Club 
as a contribution to the redevelopment of the North-South stand at Headingley 
Stadium. 
 
 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 751



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 x 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

x  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

  
X 
 

X 
x 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

Page 752



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 

Page 753



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

May 2016 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

July 2016 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

Jane Cash Principal Regeneration 
Officer 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Martin Farrington Director of City 

Development 
6th July 2016 

Date screening completed 27th June 2016 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 6th July 2016 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 754



 

 

Report of the Director of City Development 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 27 July 2016 

Subject: Whitehall Road / Northern Street Junction Improvement 

Capital Scheme Number :  32227 
 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): City and Hunslet   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:   

Appendix number:  

Summary of main issues  

1. The Best Council Plan 2015-20 outlines how Leeds will achieve its ambition to 
become the Best City in the UK and Leeds City Council the best local authority.  For 
2016/17, the Best Council Plan contains priorities to support economic growth and 
access to economic opportunities and to provide an inclusive, accessible range of 
transport options, which this scheme directly contributes to. 

 
2. Whitehall Road is an area seeing significant development.  Development sites 

adjacent to this road junction have planning obligations or conditions to provide 
improvements to the Whitehall Road junction to provide pedestrian facilities which 
are currently not available or achievable and also to widen the Whitehall Road 
corridor to provide cycling facilities.   

 
3. Contributions have been pooled to deliver a comprehensive scheme at the 

Whitehall Road junction to provide pedestrian crossing facilities, segregated cycling 
infrastructure and some additional road capacity aiding bus movements and easing 
traffic congestion.  This additional road capacity allows for development growth and 
is compatible with future aspiration for the closure of City Square to general traffic. 

 
4. To enable this scheme to be introduced now to coincide with development being 

constructed on the ground a top up contribution towards the £2.61m scheme is 

 Report author: Gillian MacLeod  

Tel:  0113 24 75302 

Page 755

Agenda Item 26



 

 

needed.  This top up funding has been identified from S106 Public Transport 
Developer Contributions pooled from other development sites and totals £571,000. 

Recommendations 

5. The Executive Board  is requested to: 
 

i) Approve the junction improvement works as described in this report and 
authorise the detailed design and implementation of the scheme as shown on 
drawing EP/732227/MIS/25; 

 
ii) Give authority to inject a further £2,103,200 into the Capital Programme 

(£506,800 is already included in the Capital Programme); 
 
iii) Give authority to incur expenditure of £2,610,000 to implement the approved 

scheme, fully funded from private developer section 106 receipts; 
 
iv) Note that all remaining decisions relating to detailed design including the 

proposed Traffic Regulation Orders and the designation of cycle tracks on 
the public highway will be reported to the Chief Officer (Highways and 
Transportation) using existing powers under the Officer Delegation Scheme 
(Part 3, Council Constitution) and sub-delegated by the Director of City 
Development. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 756



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the detailed design and 
implementation of a junction improvement scheme as set out in Section 3 and 
indicated on the drawing EP/732227/MIS/25 at a cost of £2.61m.  These costs will 
be funded wholly by developer contributions, of which £2.039m is funded by directly 
related development contributions from three local development sites and the 
remaining £571,000 is funded from S106 contributions obtained through the Public 
Transport Developer Contributions SPD. 

2 Background information 

2.1 The Wellington Place Development (MEPC site) was granted outline planning 
permission in 2008, proposing an intensive mixed-use office / residential / hotel 
development with 1700 car parking spaces.  Improvements to Northern Street and 
Whitehall Road were developed to accommodate the proposals. 

2.2 In the future, it is expected that the role of Northern Street will be one of a key 
access / egress route to the city centre following the closure of City Square.  It is 
currently predicted that traffic levels will rise on Northern Street by 200 to 350 
vehicles in the peak hours.   

2.3 The developments that have now come forward on the MEPC site (which 
commenced on site in 2013) are less intensive in scale and car parking provision 
than originally proposed.  The Developer of Wellington Place is obliged to make 
payments for highway improvements through the associated S106 Agreement, 
triggered by the vehicular traffic generated by the developments.  The reduced 
scale of development has lowered the anticipated levels of traffic generation to such 
an extent that not all the triggers will be reached, reducing the payments that can be 
demanded. 

2.4 As continued expansion of the city centre progresses, a significant increase in 
pedestrian footfall is expected at and around the junction of the MEPC development 
of office, residential, hotel and ancillary retail food & drink uses takes place. It is 
recognised that the current lack of pedestrian crossing facilities is a significant 
barrier to safe pedestrian movement between the site and wider development area, 
the railway station and the established city centre.  As a result, discussions with the 
Developer, led by the Chief Planning Officer, took place that focussed on the lack of 
a formal pedestrian crossing facility at the junction of Northern Street and Whitehall 
Road.    

2.5 A Deed of Variation (DoV) to the S106 Agreement attached to the original consent 
was subsequently agreed and permitted funding towards a highways scheme to 
provide a formal pedestrian crossing to be brought forward to a maximum 
contribution from the developer of £670,000.  The Council has currently received 
£400,000 of the S106 money from the Wellington Place developer and design work 
has commenced on the junction improvement with a number of options reviewed. 

2.6 An alternative scheme was identified which would have provided road widening on 
Whitehall Road to accommodate a pedestrian phase on Northern Street in the traffic 
signals.  With the very high costs associated with statutory undertaker diversions 

Page 757



 

 

and culvert strengthening requirements this scheme was estimated to cost £1.46m 
which could have been fully funded by the three adjacent Developers contributions.  
However this scheme was not supported by the MEPC developers as it did not 
provide any cycle facilities on Whitehall Road or Northern Street and did not provide 
any road capacity benefits to accommodate their development growth or future 
anticipated growth.  It also meant that there would have needed to be a further 
scheme implemented once the MEPC development was all occupied to implement 
the bigger scheme at an overall significantly increased price.  This option was 
therefore discounted. 

2.7 In 2013 the Central Square office consent (13/05506/FU) agreed a contribution of 
£69,000 towards the junction works which has been received. 

2.8 The Whitehall Riverside Development has also come forward on the southern side 
of Whitehall Road.  Part of the highway improvements proposed are captured within 
the planning consent for this development and funded directly by them. 

2.9 Further negotiations have taken place with the MEPC site owners to redirect 
additional monies towards the highway improvement scheme and these are subject 
of a further deed of variation. 

2.10  The anticipated income from the three developments to fund highway 
improvements is now £2.039 million.  A shortfall in funding of £571,000 is being 
made up from Section 106 Public Transport Developer Contributions. 

3 Main issues 

3.1 Development of this part of the city centre is ongoing with the MEPC development 
on site with the first block opening in February 2016 and the next block due to open 
in July / August 2016.  On the Whitehall Riverside site the Premier Inn Hotel 
consent is also well advanced on site.  It is expected that the junction improvement 
scheme will start on site in January 2017 with a 48 week construction period. 

3.2 There are a number of large city centre schemes due to be constructed in the next 
two years including Bridgewater Place Baffles, City Connect 2, potential quick win 
schemes, therefore there will be some significant traffic management coordination 
issues and potential for traffic congestion during the construction periods. 

3.3 The detailed proposals are summarised in the list below and shown on the 
appended drawing EP/732227/MIS/25 (Appendix 1). 

 Widening of Whitehall Road to the north and south sides to provide 
segregated cycling facilities. 

 Widening of the junction of Whitehall Road / Northern Street to accommodate 
central islands to facilitate provision of pedestrian crossing facilities and re-
staging of the traffic lights to give road capacity improvements including a 
right turn ban from Whitehall Road onto Northern Street. 

 Widening of Northern Street to provide segregated cycling facilities. 

Page 758



 

 

 Widening within adopted highway at the Northern Street arm of the junction 
with Wellington Street to provide additional junction capacity and 
accommodate tie in to cycling infrastructure. 

 Note the layby on Northern Street is not part of this scheme but is approved 
under a planning permission on the MEPC site and will be delivered by 
others on private land. 

 Introduction of a series of Traffic Regulation Orders to support the design   
are proposed in the form of Movement, Waiting and Loading restrictions. 

3.4 The junction improvement scheme is estimated to cost £2.61m which includes 
significant works to divert statutory undertakers equipment and works to strengthen 
an existing service culvert beneath Northern Street. 

3.5 The scheme is fully developer funded with £2.039 million directly identified from 
Section 106 agreements and S278 Highways requirements from three adjacent 
development sites. The shortfall in funding of £571,000 is being made up from 
Section 106 Public Transport Developer Contributions which are related to the city 
centre or to the Whitehall Road or Wellington Street road corridors and have been 
identified as being available to spend on this infrastructure. 

3.6 The scheme is designed to enhance the public realm by extending the city centre 
paving palette of materials out to this developing business area.  This will make the 
area more attractive for walking and cycling and feel part of the city centre rather 
than an access to the city centre.  

3.7 It is likely that strategic proposals to close City Square to through traffic will change 
the level and pattern of traffic flow through the Whitehall Road / Northern Street 
junction, however early modelling analysis has shown reductions in outbound traffic 
on Wellington Street and increases in traffic on Whitehall Road.  Any future changes 
to traffic flows and junction designs are accommodated by this proposed junction 
improvement which takes care of statutory undertaker diversions and acquires third 
party land to give maximum flexibility within the highway. 

3.8 All remaining decisions following detailed design relating to the proposed Traffic 
Regulation Orders, Speed Limit Order, Movement Order, Section 90c Notices and 
the designation of cycle tracks on the public highway will be reported to the Chief 
Officer (Highways and Transportation) using existing powers under the Officer 
Delegation Scheme (Part 3, Council Constitution) and sub-delegated by the Director 
of City Development. 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 City and Hunslet Ward Members have been consulted on the proposals in an e-mail 
dated 29 June 2016.  One ward member responded with a detailed query regarding 
the design which will be incorporated at detailed design stage. 

4.1.2 The Emergency Services and WYCA were consulted via email dated 29 June 2016.   

Page 759



 

 

4.1.3 The scheme has been considered by City Development Management team on 22 
June 2016 the Chief Officer (Highways and Transportation) and senior officers, and 
has approval in principle within the service. 

4.1.4 Internal consultation has been undertaken with Transport Policy, UTMC, Major 
Projects, Cycling, Bridges and Asset Management with the proposed scheme being 
supported. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 An EDCI screening document has been prepared (Appendix 2) which shows that a 
full impact assessment is not required for this scheme. The main findings of the 
screening process are summarised below. 

4.2.2 Positive Impacts; 

The scheme will improve the safety of all road users in particular pedestrians and 
cyclists and will support safer movements including journeys to the railway station.  
By providing facilities for crossing the road the accessibility of the area is improved.  
By providing segregated cycling facilities all users are catered for in a safe manner.   

4.2.3 Negative Impacts; 

Increased road width may impact on the ability for pedestrians to cross away from 
designated pedestrian crossing points. 

4.2.4 Any negative aspects of the scheme will be mitigated as far as possible during the 
detailed design stage and discussion with key stakeholders.  What will be achieved 
is a safer more inclusive environment for more vulnerable pedestrians.   

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan 

4.3.1 The Best Council Plan sets out a vision for Leeds to be a compassionate, caring city 
that helps all its residents benefit from the effects of the city’s economic growth. 
Creating the right conditions for the economy in Leeds to prosper and grow, whilst 
ensuring that a consequence of growth of a reduction in inequalities, is a key focus.   
This proposal improves pedestrian and cyclist accessibility and accommodates 
economic growth.  The proposals therefore contribute to delivery of the Best Council 
Plan outcomes for everyone in Leeds to ‘be safe and feel safe’ and ‘move around a 
well-planned city easily’ and the Best Council Plan 16/17 priorities on improving 
road safety and helping deliver a well-connected transport system. 

4.3.2 Environmental Policy; the proposals contained in this report are in accordance with 
Aims 6 and 7 of the Policy in that the proposals will aid to “reduce the impact of 
traffic in the city by changes to the road system” and “develop a safe, healthy local 
environment which provides the best quality of life for Leeds residents. 

4.3.3 The proposal contributes to the policies in the West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan 
2011-26 as follows:  
 
Transport Assets: P2. Maintain to a suitable and sufficient standard. 
Travel Choices: P10.  Promote the benefits of active travel. 

Page 760



 

 

Connectivity:  P18.  Improve safety and security 
P22.  Develop networks and facilities to encourage cycling and 

walking. 

4.3.4 Disabled/Mobility: The provision of improved pedestrian crossing facilities will 
provide a positive aid to all pedestrians, especially disabled people.  The 
segregation of cycle facilities is the preferred design option for visually impaired 
people. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 Full scheme estimate: The total estimated cost of the required highway works 
is £2,610,000 to be fully funded by developer contributions of £2.039m from directly 
obtained contributions and £571,000 from pooled Section 106 PT Developer 
Contributions. 

4.4.2 It is anticipated, subject to approval that the scheme will commence on site January 
2017 and will be completed in the 2017 – 18 financial year. 

Page 761



 

 

Capital Funding and cash flow :  

Funding Approval : Capital Section Reference Number :-

Previous total Authority TOTAL TO MARCH

to Spend on this scheme 2016 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020 on
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

LAND (1) 0.0
CONSTRUCTION (3) 0.0
FURN & EQPT (5) 0.0
DESIGN FEES (6) 0.0
OTHER COSTS (7) 0.0

TOTALS 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Authority to Spend TOTAL TO MARCH

required for this Approval 2016 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020 on
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

LAND (1) 0.0
CONSTRUCTION (3) 0.0
FURN & EQPT (5) 0.0
DESIGN FEES (6) 0.0
OTHER COSTS (7) 0.0

TOTALS 2610.0 226.5 280.3 2103.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total overall Funding TOTAL TO MARCH

(As per latest Capital 2016 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020 on
Programme) £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

LCC Supported Borrowing 0.0
Revenue Contribution 0.0
Capital Receipt 0.0
Insurance Receipt 0.0
Lottery 0.0
Gifts / Bequests / Trusts 0.0
European Grant 0.0
Health Authority 0.0
School Fundraising 0.0
Private Sector 0.0
Section 106 / 278 2610.0 226.5 280.3 2103.2
Government Grant- LTP 0.0
SCE ( C ) 0.0
SCE ( R ) 0.0
Departmental USB 0.0
Corporate USB 0.0
Any Other Income ( Specify) 0.0

Total Funding 2610.0 226.5 280.3 2103.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

Balance / Shortfall = 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

FORECAST

FORECAST

FORECAST

 

Parent Scheme Number :   
Title :  

Page 762



 

 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 There are no specific Legal implications included within this report, nor is any 
information contained within the report to be deemed confidential.   

4.5.2  The decision was placed on the list of forthcoming Key Decisions on 28 June 2016 
and will be subject to Call-In. 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1  There is a lot of new development being built in this part of the city centre and this 
scheme is supported by adjacent land owners to improve the transport accessibility 
of this part of town. 

4.6.2  If the scheme is not approved there is a risk that the lack of a pedestrian crossing 
facility will lead to pedestrian accidents from the increased level of pedestrian use in 
the area. 

4.6.3 The S106 Public Transport Developer Contributions have been obtained to fund 
public transport infrastructure within Leeds.  This scheme has no specific bus 
priority but public transport will benefit from reduced congestion and more reliable 
journey times.  Improved pedestrian and cycle accessibility to the Rail Station also 
assists in the wider public transport journey by rail.  However there is a limited risk 
of challenge of spend of pooled S106 monies for this purpose.  Finance have 
advised that this risk is low and that the funds can be spent for the reasons 
obtained.  The scheme has been put forward for inclusion in the Public Transport 
Improvements and Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document  
Appendix 1 list of schemes to be formally updated at date of next review. This 
documents can be found via the following link - 
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Public-transport-improvements-and-
developer-contributions-SPD.aspx. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 This scheme delivers significant benefits for pedestrians, cyclists and general traffic 
including buses.  The scheme caters for growth in transport demand associated 
with cumulative development in the local area.  The public realm will be enhanced 
by extending the city centre quality paving materials out to this area.  Initial 
consultation indicates the proposals are supported by key stakeholders and will be 
refined during the final design process.   

6 Recommendations 

6.1 The Executive Board  is requested to: 

i) Approve the junction improvement works as described in this report and 
authorise the detailed design and implementation of the scheme as shown 
on drawing EP/732227/MIS/25; 

ii) Give authority to inject a further £2,103,200 into the Capital Programme ( 
£506,800 is already included in the Capital Programme ); 

Page 763



 

 

iii)  Give authority to incur expenditure of £2,610,000 to implement the approved 
scheme, fully funded from private developer section 106 receipts. 

iv) Note that all remaining decisions relating to detailed design including the 
proposed Traffic Regulation Orders and the designation of cycle tracks on 
the public highway will be reported to the Chief Officer (Highways and 
Transportation) using existing powers under the Officer Delegation Scheme 
(Part 3, Council Constitution) and sub-delegated by the Director of City 
Development. 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None. 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 
 
 
 
 

Page 764



Crown Copyright ond dotobose r¡ghts20l6 Ordnonce Survey 14100019567. You ore permitted to use this doto to enoble to respond to, or ¡nteroct with, the orqon¡sotion thot provided you w¡th the doto. you ore nol to copy, sub-l¡cence, distribute or sell of this doto to third porties in fotm,

___------

o\

ff

1A Tower Squore

\)

%j
,%

-J -...--..--.--:
I,VELL/NGION

STREET
- -==_==_==_

City Centrol

l\
,,, O TCB

Sub Sto

ô\

o

1to
66

3o

U)

-L

West Point
1to
364 EI

APP€"1ò rx I

P<eçe€€€ ò oplíoJ
f 2,6/^\

\
AIRE

go

.Ns\ ESS

J

Hotel
A

El Sub Sto

KEY

a-
Sub Sto

oo@d
n\o
'^ r.O

\

I x=42940O,
ïoRoNnNce SU

î Notes:

1. This drowing ís for ¡nformotion only. See relevont
Controct Drowings for octuol construction detoils ond
proposed works,

\, Et sub sio

"r-á,.
\) Cor Pcrk

ortmen ts

N orth ern

Street

House Atlontìc Aportmen

72

76

mr
ru
I
I

FOOTII/AY WORKS - PERFECTA FljGS

CYCLE TRACK - TEGULAR SETTS

NEW CARRIAGEWAY

CoNTRoLLED CRoSS|NG (RED TACTTLE pAVtNc)

uNcoNTRoLLED cRosstNc (BUFF TACT|LE pAVtNG)

HAZARD PAVING FOR SEGREGATED FOOTWAYS

I CYCLE LANE

PROPOSED LINING

uEtovEm CHECK mffiry SCAI F DRAWNG NUMBER:
fIFffi:O tvw INru ME

to|trfr
firu slE

cHECtÐ W

1:500 EP/732227 /Mts/25

Nre ME

WHITEHALL ROAD/NORTHERN STREET

CONSULTATION GENERAL ARRANGTMENT OPTION 11port ol thíE

ñ¡s
Counc¡1. ICity

lh€

the

¡6 skictly

@ LEEDS CÍTY COUNOL

5/ta
oRtcrNsEf st4 A1

ffiLeeds
CITY COUNCIL

H¡GI.IWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION DATE: Morch 201 6

r,itrill, !:r:080t, W o2/ñ/n16

P
age 765



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process 
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for 
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest 
opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration. 

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already 
been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Directorate: City Development Service area: Transport Development 
Services 

 
Lead person: Gillian MacLeod 

 
Contact number: 2475302 

 
1. Title: Whitehall Road / Northern Street Junction Improvement 
  
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify : Transport Infrastructure Scheme to address need for 
improved pedestrian crossing and cycling infrastructure to serve development area  
 

 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 

Highway Improvement Scheme to facilitate the provision of  pedestrian crossing facilities at 
the junction of Whitehall Road / Northern Street and widening of Whitehall Road and 
Northern Street to accommodate segregated cycling facilities and improved signal staging to 
provide additional traffic capacity to ease congestion and provide for development growth.   

 

 

  

 

  X 

Appendix 2 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

Page 767



 

 

 
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

x  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion 
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality 
related information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and 
engagement activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 

The scheme provides controlled crossing facilities for pedestrians which are currently missing 
from the junction of Whitehall Road / Northern Street and will therefore improve accessibility for 
less mobile pedestrians or those with visual impairment.  Cycling facilities are proposed which are 

Page 768



 

 

segregated from the carriageway and from the footway providing quality provision for all. 
 

 Key findings (think about any potential positive and negative impact on different 
equality characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships 
between groups, potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with 
each other, perception that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of 
another) 

 
Positive Impacts: 
 

 Scheme will provide a safer environment for pedestrians and cyclists at the junction. 
 Scheme will maintain access to the locality, especially the Rail Station for those members 

of the public who may have mobility issues by means of providing DDA compliant 
crossing facilities ;  

 Scheme creates a safe cycling environment by introducing dedicated cycle facilities 
suitable for all abilities, but in particular the more vulnerable in society – children and 
senior citizens, and 

 Scheme will support the integration of communities through improved accessibility. 
 
 

The scheme may create negative impacts such as; 
 Increased road width to cross. 

 
 

Actions (think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce 
negative impact) 

 
 The negative impacts will be considered through the detailed design, however the benefits 

of providing a controlled pedestrian crossing mitigate the need to widen the road to 
achieve this aim. 

 
 

 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:  

Date to complete your impact assessment  

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 

Gillian MacLeod 
Transport Development 
Services Manager 

24 June 2016 

 
7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 

Page 769



 

 

screening document will need to be published. 
 
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing 
 

Date screening completed 24 June 2016 

Date sent to Equality Team 24 June 2016 

Date published 
(To be completed by the Equality Team) 

 

 

Page 770



1

Report of Director of Public Health, the Director of Children’s Services and the 
Director of Adult Social Services

Report to Executive Board

Date: 27th July 2016

Subject: Overview of the health and care Sustainability and Transformation Plans

Are specific electoral wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

In October 2014, the NHS published the Five Year Forward View, a wide ranging strategy 
providing direction to health and partner care services to improve outcomes and become 
financially sustainable.  On December 22nd, NHS England (NHSE) published ‘Delivering 
the Forward View: NHS planning guidance 2016/17 – 2020/21’ which described the 
requirement for identified planning ‘footprints’ to produce a Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan (STP) as well as linking into appropriate regional footprint STPs (at a 
West Yorkshire level).

The planning guidance asked every health and care system to come together to create 
their own ambitious local blueprint for accelerating implementation of the NHS Five Year 
Forward View. STPs are place-based, multi-year plans built around the needs of local 
populations and should set out a genuine and sustainable transformation in patient 
experience and health outcomes over the longer-term.

This paper provides an overview of the STP development in Leeds and at a West 
Yorkshire level and highlights some of the areas that will be addressed in the final Leeds 
and West Yorkshire STPs once they are developed July - October.

Rob Webster, Chief Executive of South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation 
Trust, has been appointed by NHSE as the lead for the West Yorkshire STP, with Tom 
Riordan, Chief Executive of Leeds City Council, as the Senior Responsible Officer for the 
Leeds STP.  

Report author:  Manraj Singh Khela, 
Programme Manager, Health Partnerships

Tel:  07891 279320

Page 771

Agenda Item 27



2

The paper also makes reference to the Local Digital Roadmaps (LDR) which alongside the 
development of the STPs, are a national requirement to be developed.  The LDR is a key 
priority within the NHS Five Year Forward View and an initial submission was provided to 
NHS England on 30th June 2016, which outlined how as a city, we plan to achieve the 
ambition of being paper free at the point of care by 2020 and demonstrates how digital 
technology will underpin the ambitions and plans for transformation and sustainability.

Recommendations

The Executive Board is asked to:

1. Endorse the approach described within this paper for the development of the West 
Yorkshire and Leeds STPs within the nationally prescribed framework;

2. Note the key areas of focus for the Leeds STP described in this report and how 
they will contribute to the delivery of the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy and 
the Best Council Plan;

3. Note that the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board will continue to provide strategic 
lead for the Leeds STP;

4. Note the key milestones outlined in this paper and the officers from the Leeds and 
health and care partnership who are leading the development of the West 
Yorkshire STP and the Leeds STP.  

5. Ensure that staff and resources from Leeds City Council continue to be made 
available to support and inform the development and implementation of the STP 
both locally and regionally;

6. Receive a further report in November 2016 with an overview of the proposed key 
changes and impacts outlined in the West Yorkshire STP and Leeds STP following 
further development through the summer.

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this paper is to provide the Executive Board with an overview of 
the emerging Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STP).

1.2 It provides brief background and context and sets out the relationship between the 
West Yorkshire and Leeds plans. It also highlights some of the areas that will be 
addressed within the Leeds plan which will add further detail to the strategic 
priorities set out in the recently refreshed Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
2016 – 2021. 

Page 772



3

2 Background information

Local picture

2.1 Leeds has ambition to be the Best City in the UK by 2030.  A key part of this is 
being the Best City for Health and Wellbeing and Leeds has the people, 
partnerships and placed based values to succeed. The vision of the Leeds Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy is: “Leeds will be a healthy and caring city for all ages, 
where people who are the poorest will improve their health the fastest”.  A strong 
economy is also key; Leeds will be the place of choice in the UK to live, for people 
to study, for businesses to invest in, for people to come and work in and the 
regional hub for specialist health care.  Services will provide a minimum universal 
offer but will tailor specific offers to the areas that need it the most.  These are 
bold statements, in one of the most challenging environments for health and care 
in living memory.  

2.2 Since the first Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy in 2013, there have been 
many positive changes in Leeds and the health and wellbeing of local people 
continues to improve. Health and care partners have been working collectively 
towards an integrated system that seeks to wrap care and support around the 
needs of the individual, their family and carers and helps to deliver the Leeds 
vision for health and wellbeing.  Leeds has seen a reduction in infant mortality as 
a result of a more preventative approach; it has been recognised for 
improvements in services for children; it became the first major city to successfully 
roll out an integrated, electronic patient care record, and early deaths from 
avoidable causes have decreased at the fastest rate in the most deprived wards.

2.3 These are achievements of which to be proud, but they are only the start.  The 
health and care system in Leeds continues to face significant challenges: namely 
the ongoing impact of the global recession and national austerity measures, 
together with significant increases in demand for services brought about by both 
an ageing population and the increased longevity of people living with one or 
more long term condition(s).  Leeds also has a key strategic role to play at West 
Yorkshire level with the sustainability of the local system intrinsically linked to the 
sustainability of other areas in the region.  

2.4 Leeds needs do more to change conversations across the city and to develop the 
necessary infrastructure and workforce to respond to the challenges ahead.  As a 
city, we will only meet the needs of individuals and communities if health and care 
workers and their organisations work together in partnership. The needs of 
patients and citizens are changing; the way in which people want to receive care 
is changing, and people expect more flexible approaches which fit in with their 
lives and families.

2.5 Further, Leeds will continue to change the way it works, becoming more 
enterprising, bringing in new service delivery models and working more closely 
with partners, public and the workforce locally and across the region to deliver 
shared priorities. However, this will not be enough to address the sustainability 
challenge. Future years are likely to see a reduction in provision with regard to 
services which provide fewer outcomes for local people and offer less value to the 
‘Leeds £’.

Page 773



4

2.6 Much will depend on changing the relationship between the public, workforce and 
services.  There is a need to encourage greater resilience in communities so that 
more people are able to do more themselves. This will reduce the demands on 
public services and help to prioritise resources to support those most at need. The 
views of people in Leeds are continuously sought through public consultation and 
engagement and prioritisation of essential services will continue, especially those 
that support vulnerable adults, children and young people.

National picture

2.7 In October 2014, the NHS published the Five Year Forward View, a wide ranging 
strategy providing direction to health and partner care services to improve 
outcomes and become financially sustainable.  On December 22nd, NHS England 
(NHSE) published the ‘Delivering the Forward View: NHS planning guidance 
2016/17 – 2020/21’, which is accessible at the following link:

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/planning-guid-16-17-20-
21.pdf  

2.8 The NHS Shared Planning Guidance asked every health and care system to 
come together to create their own ambitious local blueprint - STPs - for 
accelerating implementation of the Five Year Forward View and for addressing 
the challenges within their areas. STPs are place-based, multi-year plans built 
around the needs of local populations and should set out a genuine and 
sustainable transformation in patient experience and health outcomes over the 
longer-term. The following describes the emerging West Yorkshire STP as well as 
the Leeds STP which will allow Leeds to be the best city for health and wellbeing 
and help deliver significant parts of the new Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  
Both STPs should be viewed as evolving plans which be significantly developed 
through July – October 2016 for delivery from November onwards.   

2.9 Key emphasis of the guidance was:

 Requirement for ‘footprints’ to develop a STP;

 Strong emphasis on system leadership;

 Need to have placed based planning;

 Must cover all areas of Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and NHS 
England commissioned activity;

 Must cover better integration with local authority services, including, but not 
limited to, prevention and social care, reflecting local agreed health and 
wellbeing strategies;

 Need to have an open, engaging and iterative process clinicians, patients, 
carers, citizens, and local community partners including the independent and 
voluntary sectors, and local government through health and wellbeing boards;

Page 774

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/planning-guid-16-17-20-21.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/planning-guid-16-17-20-21.pdf


5

 STPs will become the single application and approval process for being 
accepted onto programmes with transformational funding for 2017/18 
onwards.

2.10 The national guidance is largely structured around asking areas to identify what 
action will take place to address the following three questions:

 How will you close the health and wellbeing gap?

 How will you drive transformation to close the care and quality gap?

 How will you close the finance and efficiency gap?

2.11 Key milestones

 December ‘15 – guidance published

 15th April ’16 - Short return, including priorities, gap analysis and governance 
arrangements to NHS England Local Area Team

 May – June development of STPs

 30th  June – Each footprint (West Yorkshire) to submit their emerging STPs 
for a checkpoint review

 July – Sep  – further development of the STPs and active engagement with 
citizens, service users, carers and staff on the right solutions to address the 
gaps

 Oct – aim to have final STP prepared for review and approval

 Nov onwards – delivery and implementation of the STPs.

3 Main issues

‘Geography’ of the STP

3.1 NHS England (NHSE) has developed the concept of a ‘footprint’ which is a 
geographic area that the STP will cover and have identified 44 ‘footprints’ 
nationally.  It has been prescribed by NHSE that Leeds is within a West Yorkshire 
footprint which also includes Bradford, Kirklees, Calderdale, Wakefield and 
Harrogate.  

3.2 Leeds, as have other areas within West Yorkshire, made representation regionally 
and nationally that each area within West Yorkshire should be recognised as its 
own footprint.  

3.3 The emerging STP for Leeds and West Yorkshire will be multi-tiered.  There will 
be single West Yorkshire STP supported by six local STPs covering Leeds, 

Page 775



6

Bradford, Kirklees, Calderdale, Wakefield and Harrogate.  The primary focus for 
Leeds is a plan covering the Leeds city footprint and will focus on citywide change 
and delivery.  It will sit under the refreshed Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
and will encompass all key organisations in the city.  When developing the Leeds 
city STP, consideration will be given to appropriate links/impacts at a West 
Yorkshire level.

Approach to developing the West Yorkshire STP

3.4 Rob Webster, Chief Executive of South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust, has been appointed by NHSE as the lead for the West 
Yorkshire STP and the Healthy Futures Programme Management Office (hosted 
by Wakefield CCG) is providing support to the development of the West Yorkshire 
STP.  

3.5 Developing the West Yorkshire STP was the substantial agenda item of the West 
Yorkshire Collaboration of Chief Executives meeting held on 8th April. At that 
meeting, it was agreed that primacy is retained at a local level and any further 
West Yorkshire priorities will be determined by collective leadership using the 
following criteria: 

 Does the need require a critical mass beyond a local level to deliver the best 
outcomes?

 Do we need to share best practice across the region to achieve the best 
outcomes?

 Will working at a West Yorkshire level give us more leverage to achieve the 
best outcomes?

3.6 The following guiding principles will underpin the West Yorkshire approach to 
working together:

 We will be ambitious for the populations we serve and the staff we employ

 The West Yorkshire STP belongs to commissioners, providers, local 
government and NHS

 We will do the work once – duplication of systems, processes and work 
should be avoided as wasteful and potential source of conflict.

 We will undertake shared analysis of problems and issues as the basis of 
taking action

 We will apply subsidiarity principles in all that we do – with work taking place 
at the appropriate level and as near to local as possible.

3.7 Current areas being considered at a West Yorkshire STP level include six priority 
areas: Urgent & Emergency Care; Specialised Commissioning; Mental Health; 
Prevention at Scale; Stroke; and Cancer

Page 776



7

3.8 These areas will be supported by enabling workstreams covering: digital, 
workforce, leadership and organisational development, communications and 
engagement and finance and business intelligence.

3.9 The following diagram shows the framework for the development of the West 
Yorkshire STP.

3.10 Leeds is well represented within the development of the West Yorkshire STP with 
Nigel Gray (Chief Executive, Leeds North CCG) leading on Urgent and 
Emergency Care, Phil Corrigan (Chief Executive, Leeds West CCG) leading on 
Specialising Commissioning, Dr Ian Cameron (Director of Public Health, Leeds 
City Council) leading Prevention at Scale, Jason Broch (Chair of Leeds North 
CCG) leading on Digital, and Dr Andy Harris (Clinical Chief Officer Leeds South 
and East CCG) leading on Finance and Business Intelligence.  In addition, Julian 
Hartley (Chief Executive, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust) is chair of the 
West Yorkshire Association of Acute Trusts (WYAAT) and The Stein (Chief 
Executive of Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust) is the co-chair of a new 
West Yorkshire Primary Care and Community Steering Group.

3.11 A series of workshops have been arranged focusing on the different priority areas 
for West Yorkshire with representatives from across the CCGs, NHS providers 
and local authorities in attendance.

3.12 It is important to recognise that at the time of writing this paper the West Yorkshire 
STP is still in its development stage and the links between this and the six local 
STPs are still being worked through.

3.13 Leeds is also taking a lead role in bringing together Chairs of the Health and 
Wellbeing Boards across West Yorkshire to provide strategic leadership to 
partnership working around health and wellbeing and the STP across the region.

Page 777



8

Approach taken in Leeds

3.14 The refreshed Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) , the development of our 
second Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy and discussions/workshops at the 
Health and Wellbeing Boards in January, March and June have been used to help 
identify the challenges and gaps that Leeds needs to address and the priorities 
within our Leeds STP.

3.15 Any plans described within the final Leeds STP will directly link back to the 
refreshed Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy and under the strategic 
leadership of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

3.16 The Leeds Health and Care Partnership Executive Group, which consists of the 
Chief Executives of the statutory health and care commissioners and providers 
within the city and chaired by Tom Riordan, has been meeting monthly to provide 
day-to-day oversight of the Leeds STP.

3.17 A joint virtual team with representatives from the statutory partners hosted by 
Leeds South and East CCG are undertaking the analysis and overseeing the 
project management and the development of the Leeds STP.  This team is being 
led by the Chief Operating Officer, Leeds South and East CCG.

3.18 The development of the Leeds STP has initially identified 5 primary Elements as 
follows:  Rebalancing the conversation (social contract) with the citizens, staff and 
service users; Prevention and Proactive Care; Rapid Response in Time of Crisis; 
Efficient and Effective Secondary Care; and Education, Innovation and Research.  

3.19 The following shows the key aspects covered by the Leeds STP.

Page 778



9

3.20 These are supported by the enablers - Workforce, Digital, Estates and 
Procurement and Comm’s and Engagement and Finance and Business 
Intelligence.

3.21 Over 40 leads (mainly Senior Manager and Director-level) from across the 
partnership have been assigned to one or more of the elements/enablers to work 
together to develop the detail.  A flexible, responsive and iterative process to 
developing the STP has been deployed detail working with leads from the other 
elements / enablers to look at the gaps, the solutions to address the gaps, and 
impact/dependencies across the other areas.  

3.22 Workshops have taken place with Senior Managers / Directors from across all 
partners and the 3rd sector to understand what key solutions and plans are being 
developed across the Elements and Enablers, the” golden thread” and to provide 
constructive input into the solutions. 

Local Digital Roadmaps

3.23 Alongside the development of the STP, there has also been a national 
requirement to develop and submit a Local Digital Roadmap (LDR).  The LDR is a 
key priority within the NHS Five Year Forward View and an initial submission was 
made to NHS England on 30th June 2016, after working with the Leeds 
Informatics Board and other stakeholders.  It describes a 5-year digital vision, a 3-
year journey towards becoming paper-free-at-the-point-of-care and 2-year plans 
for progressing a number of predefined ‘universal capabilities’. Within this, it 
demonstrates how digital technology will underpin the ambitions and plans for 
transformation and sustainability. 

3.24 LDRs are required to identify how local health and care systems will deploy and 
optimise digital enabled capabilities to improve and transform practice, workflows 
and pathways across the local health and care system. Critically, they will be a 
gateway to funding for the city but are not intended to be a replacement for 
individual organisations information strategies.  Over the next 5 years, funding of 
£1.3bn is to be distributed across local health and social care systems to achieve 
the paper-free ambition.

3.25 The priority informatics opportunities included are:

 To use technology to support people to maintain their own health and 
wellbeing 

 To ensure a robust IT infrastructure provision that supports responsive and 
resilient 24/7 working across all health and care partners

 To provide workflow and decision support technology across General 
Practice, Neighbourhood Teams, Hospitals and Social Care 

 To ensure a change management approach that embeds the use of any new 
technology into everyday working practices

3.26 It is recognised that resources, both financial and people capacity and capability, 
are essential to delivering this roadmap. A city-first approach is critical and seeks 

Page 779



10

to eradicate the multiple and diverse initiatives which come from different parts of 
the health and care system that use up resource in an unplanned way and often 
confuse. It will also ensure that digital programmes and projects are aligned fully 
to an agreed whole-system outcomes described in the health and wellbeing 
strategy, STP and LDR.

3.27 The aim is to present a plan in September to the Leeds Health and Care 
Partnership Executive Group which will define the proposals for delivery of the 
roadmap and what investment is required to achieve it.

Key aspects of the emerging Leeds STP

3.28 The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board have provided a strong steer to the 
shaping of the Leeds STP and have reinforced the commitment to the Leeds 
footprint.  The Board also supports taking our asset-based approach to the next 
level.  This is enshrined in a set of values and principles and a way of thinking 
about our city, which identifies and makes visible the health and care-enhancing 
assets in a community. It sees citizens and communities as the co-producers of 
health and well-being rather than the passive recipients of services. It promotes 
community networks, relationships and friendships that can provide caring, mutual 
help and empowerment. It values what works well in an area and identifies what 
has the potential to improve health and well-being. Supports individuals’ health 
and well-being through self-esteem, coping strategies, resilience skills, 
relationships, friendships, knowledge and personal resources. Empowers 
communities to control their futures and create tangible resources such as 
services, funds and buildings.  

3.29 The members of the Board have also placed the challenge that as a system we 
need to think and act differently in order to meet the challenges and ensure that 
“Leeds will be a healthy and caring city for all ages, where people who are the 
poorest will improve their health the fastest”.  

Challenges faced by Leeds

3.30 The city faces many significant health and social care challenges commensurate 
with its size, diversity, urban density and history. We continue to face significant 
health inequalities between different groups.  Over the next 25 years the number 
of people who live in Leeds is predicted to grow by over 15 per cent. The number 
of people aged over 65 is estimated to rise by almost a third to over 150,000 by 
2030.  

3.31 We have identified several specific  areas – gaps – where if we focused our 
collective efforts, we predict will have the biggest impact in addressing the health 
and wellbeing gap, care quality gap and finance and efficiency gap.

3.32 The Health and Wellbeing Board has considered the gaps around: health and 
wellbeing; care and quality; and finance and efficiency and what could be 
undertaken to address the gaps, summarised in the following.

Page 780



11

Health and wellbeing gap

3.33 It is recognised that, despite best efforts, health improvement is not progressing 
fast enough and health inequalities are not currently narrowing. Life expectancy 
for men and women remains significantly worse in Leeds. The gap between 
Leeds and England has narrowed for men, whilst the gap between Leeds and 
England has worsened for women. Cardiovascular disease mortality is 
significantly worse than for England. However, the gap has narrowed. Cancer 
mortality is significantly worse than the rest of Yorkshire and the Humber (YH) and 
England with no narrowing of the gap. There is a statistically significant difference 
for women whose mortality rates are higher in Leeds than the YH average. The 
all-ages-all-cancers trend for 1995-2013 is improving but appears to be falling 
more slowly than both the YH rate and the England rate, which is of concern. 

3.34 Avoidable Potential Years of Life Lost (PYLL) from Cancer for those under 75 
years of age is a new measure which takes into account the age of death as well 
as the cause of death. Deaths from cancer are the single largest cause of 
avoidable PYLL in the city, accounting for 36.3% of all avoidable PYLL.  PYLL 
from cancer is twice the level in the deprived Leeds quintile than in Leeds non-
deprived.  Infant mortality has significantly reduced from being higher than the 
England rate to below it. Suicides have increased, after a decline, and are now 
above the England rate. Within Leeds, for the big killers there has been a 
significant narrowing in the gap for deprived communities for cardiovascular 
disease, a narrowing of the gap for respiratory disease but no change for cancer 
mortality.  There are 2,200 deaths per year <75 years. Of these 1,520 are 
avoidable (preventable and amendable) and, of these, 1,100 are in non-deprived 
parts of Leeds and 420 in deprived parts of Leeds. 

3.35 The following are opportunities where action to address the gap may be identified:

 Scaling up – Scaling up of targeted prevention to those at high risk of Cardio-
vascular disease, diabetes, smoking related respiratory disease and falls.  In 
addition scaling up of children and young people Best Start and childhood 
obesity / healthy weight programmes already in existence. 

 Look at options to move to a community based approach to health beyond 
personal/self-care. Scale up the Leeds Integrated Health Living System; 
aligning partner Commissioning and provision, inspire communities and 
partners to work differently – including physical activity/active travel, digital, 
business sector, developing capacity and capability.

 Increased focus on prevention - for short term and longer term benefits.

Care and quality gap

3.36 The following gaps have been identified:

 There are a number of aspects to the Care and Quality gap. In terms of our 
NHS Constitutional Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) the areas where 
significant gaps have been identified include: Mental Health (including 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies), Patient Satisfaction, Quality of 

Page 781



12

Life, Urgent Care Standards, Ambulance Response Times and Delayed 
Transfers of Care (DTOC).

 Whilst performance on the Urgent Care Standard is below the required level, 
performance in Leeds is better than most parts of the country.  There is a 
need to ensure that a greater level of regional data is used to reflect the 
places where Leeds residents receive care.

 General Practice - There are 4 significant challenges facing General Practice 
across the city. The need to align and integrate working practices with our 13 
Neighbourhood Teams, the need to provide patients with greater access to 
their services; this applies to both extended hours during the “working week”, 
and also at weekends, the severe difficulties they are experiencing in 
recruiting and retaining GPs and practice nurses and the significant quality 
differential between the best and worst primary care estate across the city. 

 There is a need to ensure that there is a wider context of Primary Care, 
outside of general practices that must be considered.  Furthermore, that 
access relates to waiting times in addition to estates.

3.37 The following are opportunities where action to address the gap may be identified:

 More self-management of health and wellbeing.

 Development of a workforce strategy for the city which considers: increasing 
the ‘transferability’ of staff between the partner organisations; widespread up-
skilling of staff to embed an asset based approach to the relationship between 
professionals and service users; attracting, recruiting and retaining staff to 
address key shortages (nurses and GPs); improved integration and multi-
skilling of the unregistered workforce and opportunities around 
apprenticeships; workforce planning and expanding the content and use of 
the our citywide Health and Care workforce database.

 Partnerships with university and business sector to create an environment for 
solutions to be created and implemented through collaboration across 
education, innovation and research.

 Maternity services - Key areas requiring development include the increased 
personalisation of the maternity offer, better continuity of care, increased 
integration of maternity care with other services within communities, and the 
further development of choice.

 Children’s services - In a similar way, for children’s services the key area 
requiring development is that of emotional and mental health support to 
children and younger people. Key components being the creation of a single 
point of access; a community based eating disorder service; and primary 
prevention in children’s centres and schools both through the curriculum and 
anti-stigma campaigns.

Page 782



13

Finance and efficiency gap

3.38 The following gaps have been identified:

 The projected collective financial gap facing the Leeds health and care 
system collectively under our ‘do nothing’ scenario is £723 million. It reflects 
the forecast level of pressures facing the four statutory delivery organisations 
(Leeds City Council, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Leeds and York 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and Leeds Community Healthcare NHS 
Trust) in the city and assumes that our three CCGs continue to support 
financial pressures in other parts of their portfolio whilst meeting NHS 
business rules.  This is driven by inflation, volume demand, lost funding and 
other local cost pressures.

3.39 The following opportunities were discussed as some of the areas where action to 
address the gap may be identified:

 Citywide savings will need to be delivered through more effective 
collaboration on infrastructure and support services.  To explore opportunities 
to turn the ‘demand curve’ on clinical and care pathways through: investment 
in prevention activities; focusing on the activities that provide the biggest 
return and in the parts of the city that will have the greatest impact; 
maximising the use of community assets; removing duplication and waste in 
cross-organisation pathways; ensuring that the skill-mix of staff appropriately 
and efficiently matches need across the whole health and care workforce e.g. 
nursing across secondary care and social care as well as primary care; and 
by identifying services which provide fewer outcomes for local people and 
offer less value to the ‘Leeds £’.

 Capitalise on the regional role of our hospitals using capacity released by 
delivering our solutions to support the sustainability of services of other 
hospitals in West Yorkshire and build on being the centre for specialist care 
for the region.

Emerging Leeds STP – supporting the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy

3.40 The Leeds STP will have specific themes which will look at what action the health 
and care system needs to take to help fulfil the priorities identified within the 
Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  Currently these emerging themes include:

 Rebalancing the conversation with citizens, staff and service users – 
which supports the ethos of the refreshed Leeds Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy and sees citizens and communities as the co-producers of health 
and wellbeing rather than the passive recipients of services.  Supports 
individuals’ health and well-being through self-esteem, coping strategies, 
resilience skills, relationships, friendships, knowledge and personal 
resources.  This will also support Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
Priority 3 – ‘Strong, engaged and well connected communities’ and Priority 9 
‘Support self-care, with more people managing their own conditions’ - using 
and building on the assets in communities. We must focus on supporting 
people to maintain independence and wellbeing within local communities for 
as long as possible. People need to be more involved in decision making and 

Page 783



14

their own care planning by setting goals, monitoring symptoms and solving 
problems. To do this, care must be person-centred, coordinated around all of 
an individual’s needs through networks of care rather than single 
organisations treating single conditions.

 Prevention, Proactive Care and Rapid Response to in time of crisis – 
which directly relates to the Priority 8 - ‘A stronger focus on prevention’ - the 
role that people play in delivering the necessary focus on prevention and what 
action the system needs to take to improve prevention, and Leeds Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy Priority 12 ‘The best care, in the right place, at the right 
time’.  Services closer to home will be provided by integrated multidisciplinary 
teams working proactively to reduce unplanned care and avoidable hospital 
admissions. They will improve coordination for getting people back home after 
a hospital stay. These teams will be rooted in neighbourhoods and 
communities, with co-ordination between primary, community, mental health 
and social care. They will need to ensure care is high quality, accessible, 
timely and person-centred. Providing care in the most appropriate setting will 
ensure our health and social care system can cope with surges in demand 
with effective urgent and emergency care provision.

 Efficient and Effective Secondary Care – which also contributes to Leeds 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy Priority 12 ‘The best care, in the right place, at 
the right time’.   This is ensuring that we have streamlined processes and only 
admitting those people who need to be admitted.  As described above this 
needs population–based, integrated models of care, sensitive to the needs of 
local communities. This must be supported by better integration between 
physical and mental health and care provided in and out of hospital.  Where a 
citizen has to use secondary care we will be putting ourselves in the shoes of 
the citizen and asking if the STP answers, ‘Can I get effective testing and 
treatment as efficiently as possible?    

 Innovation, Education, Research  -  which relates to Leeds Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy Priority 7 – ‘Maximise the benefits from information and 
technology’ – how  technology can give people more control of their health 
and care and enable more coordinated working between organisations.  We 
want to make better use of technological innovations in patient care, 
particularly for long term conditions management. This will support people to 
more effectively manage their own conditions in ways which suit them.  Leeds 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy Priority 11 – ‘A valued, well-trained and 
supported workforce’, and priority 5 – ‘A strong economy with quality local 
jobs’ – through things such as the development of a the Leeds Academic 
Health Partnership and the Leeds Health and Care Skills Academy and better 
workforce planning ensuring the workforce is the right size and has the right 
knowledge and skills needed to meet the future demographic challenges.

 Mental health and physical health will be considered in all aspects of the STP 
within the Leeds STP but also there will be specific focus on Mental Health 
within the West Yorkshire STP, directly relating to Leeds Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy Priority 10 – ‘Promote mental and physical health equally’.

Page 784



15

3.41 When developing the STP, we will keep the citizen at the forefront and asking the 
following questions identified in the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy:

 Can I get the right care quickly at times of crisis or emergency?

 Can I live well in my community because the people and places close by 
enable me to?

 Can I get effective testing and treatment as efficiently as possible?

4 Corporate considerations

4.1 Consultation and engagement 

4.1.11 The purpose of this report is to share information about the progress of 
development of the Leeds STP.  A primary guiding source for the Leeds STP has 
been the refreshed Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy which was been widely 
engaged on through its development.

4.1.12 July through to September active engagement with citizens, service users, carers 
and staff on the right solutions to address the gaps.

4.1.13 The final draft of the STP will be presented to statutory health and care partner 
governing boards in the autumn.

4.1.14 As part of the final STP, there will a clear roadmap for delivery of the STP which 
will identify when and on what topics of engagement and consultation and 
coproduction with staff and citizens of solutions and changes will take place over 
the next 5 years.

4.1.15 Any change programmes of work undertaken as a result of delivery of the STP will 
need to ensure that they undertake appropriate consultation and engagement as 
part of their work in accordance to organisational obligations.

4.1.16 In relation to the West Yorkshire STP, this engagement is being planned and 
managed through the West Yorkshire Health Futures Programme Management 
Office and are currently being finalised.  It is envisaged that engagement with 
communities will take place through August 2016.

4.2 Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 Any future changes in service provision arising from this work will be subject to 
equality impact assessment.

4.3 Council policies and best council plan

4.3.1 The refreshed Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and the second Leeds 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy have been used to inform the development of the 
Leeds STP.  Section 3.39 of this paper outlines how the emerging STP will deliver 
significant part of the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

Page 785



16

4.3.2 The STP will directly contribute towards the achieving the breakthrough projects: 
Early intervention and reducing health inequalities and Making Leeds the best 
place to grow old in’.

4.3.3 The STP will also contribute to achieving the following Best Council Plan 
Priorities: Supporting children to have the best start in life; preventing people 
dying early; promoting physical activity; building capacity for individuals to 
withstand or recover from illness; and supporting healthy ageing.

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The final Leeds STP will have to describe the financial and sustainability gap in 
Leeds, the plan Leeds will be undertaking to address this and demonstrate that 
with our changes will ensure that we are operating within our likely resources.  In 
order to make these changes, we will require national changes/support in terms of 
local flexibility around setting of targets, financial flows and non-recurrent 
investment whilst we make the changes.

4.4.2 As part of the development of the West Yorkshire STP, the financial and 
sustainability impact of any changes at a West Yorkshire level and the impact on 
Leeds will need to be carefully considered and analysis is currently underway to 
understand this.  

4.4.3 It is envisaged that Leeds may be able to capitalise on the regional role of our 
hospitals using capacity released by delivering our solutions to support the 
sustainability of services of other hospitals in West Yorkshire and grow our offer 
for specialist care for the region.

4.5 Legal Implications, access to information and call In

4.5.1 There are no access to information and call-in implications arising from this report.

4.6 Risk management

4.6.1 Failure to have robust plans in place to address the gaps identified as part of the 
STP development will impact the sustainability of the health and care in the city.

4.6.2 Two key overarching risks present themselves, given the scale and proximity of 
the challenge and the size and complexity of both the West Yorkshire footprint 
and Leeds itself:

 Potential unintended and negative consequences of any proposals as a result of 
the complex nature of the local and regional health and social care systems and 
their interdependencies.  Each of the partners has their own internal pressures 
and governance processes they need to follow.

 Ability to release expenditure from existing commitments without de-stabilising the 
system in the short-term will be extremely challenging as well as the risk that any 
proposals to address the gaps do not deliver the sustainability required over the 
longer-term.

4.6.3 The challenge also remains to develop a cohesive narrative between technology 
plans and how they support the STP plans for the city. Leeds already has a 

Page 786



17

defined blueprint for informatics, strong cross organisational leadership and 
capability working together with the leads of each STP area to ensure a quality 
LDR is developed and implemented.

4.6.4 Whilst the in Leeds the health and care partnership has undertaken a review of 
non-statutory governance to ensure it is efficient and effective, the bigger West 
Yorkshire footprint upon which we have been asked to develop an STP will 
present much more of a challenge.

4.6.5 The effective management of these risks can only be achieved through the full 
commitment of all system leaders within the city to focus their full energies on the 
developing a robust STP and then delivering the STP within an effective 
governance framework. 

5 Conclusions

5.1 As statutory organisations across the city working with our thriving volunteer and 
third sector and academia, we have come together to develop, for the first time, a 
system wide plan for a sustainable and high quality health and social care system.  
We want to ensure that services in Leeds can continue to provide high quality 
support that meets or exceeds the expectations of children, young people and 
adults across the city; the patients and carers of today and tomorrow.

5.1 Our Leeds STP will be built on taking our asset-based approach to the next level 
to help deliver the health and care aspects of the Leeds Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy.  This is enshrined in a set of values and principles and a way of thinking 
about our city, which:

 Identifies and makes visible the health and care-enhancing assets in a 
community;

 Sees citizens and communities as the co-producers of health and well-being 
rather than the passive recipients of services;

 Promotes community networks, relationships and friendships that can provide 
caring, mutual help and empowerment;

 Values what works well in an area;

 Identifies what has the potential to improve health and well-being the fastest;

 Supports individuals’ health and well-being through self-esteem, coping 
strategies, resilience skills, relationships, friendships, knowledge and 
personal resources;

 Empowers communities to control their futures and create tangible resources 
such as services, funds and buildings;

 Values and empowers the workforce and involves them in the coproduction of 
any changes.

Page 787



18

5.2 There is significant work still to do to develop the Leeds STP with the required 
level of detail.   Colleagues from across the health and social care system will 
need to commit substantial resource to producing the final draft. Additionally, 
senior leaders from Leeds will continue to take a prominent role in shaping the 
West Yorkshire STP. 

5.3 It is important to recognise that the West Yorkshire STP is still in its development 
and the links between this and the six local STPs are still being developed. 
Getting the right read-across between plans to ensure a coherent and robust STP 
at regional level which meets the requirements of national transformation funding 
needs to be an ongoing process and Leeds will need to be mindful of this whilst 
developing local action.

5.4 The final Leeds STP will describe the detail of how we will deliver health and care 
elements of the refreshed Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy. Over the coming 
months, Leeds will continue to prioritise local ambitions and outcomes through the 
development of its primary STP as a vehicle for delivering aspects of the Leeds 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

6 Recommendations

6.1 The Executive Board is asked to:

1 Endorse the approach described within this paper for the development of 
the West Yorkshire and Leeds STPs within the nationally prescribed 
framework;

2 Note the key areas of focus for the Leeds STP described in this report and 
how they will contribute to the delivery of the Leeds Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy and the Best Council Plan;

3 Note that the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board will continue to provide 
strategic lead for the Leeds STP;

4 Note the key milestones outlined in this paper and the officers from the 
Leeds and health and care partnership who are leading the development of 
the West Yorkshire STP and the Leeds STP.  

5 Ensure that staff and resources from Leeds City Council continue to be 
made available to support and inform the development and implementation 
of the STP both locally and regionally;

6 Receive a further report in November 2016 with an overview of the 
proposed key changes and impacts outlined in the West Yorkshire STP 
and Leeds STP following further development through the summer.

7 Background documents1 

7.1 N/A

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 788


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Investment in new Social, Emotional and Mental Health Specialist Provision for Children and Young People
	7 Outcome of consultation to increase learning places at Beecroft Primary School
	Beecroft Primary Report Appendix EIA 140716

	8 Outcome of Statutory Notices to increase learning places at Low Road Primary School and Cottingley Primary Academy
	Low Road & Cottingley Report Appendix 1 150716
	Low Road & Cottingley Report Appendix 2 150716

	9 Outcome of consultation to increase learning places at Hunslet St Mary's Church of England Primary School
	St Mary's Report Appendix EDCI 140716

	10 Regionalisation of Adoption
	Adoption Report Appendix EIA 080716

	11 Empty Homes Strategy: Filling the Void 2016-19
	Empty Homes Strategy Report Appendix EDCI 180716

	12 Working together to improve domestic waste and recycling practices
	Waste & Recycling Report Appendix 4 EIA 180716

	13 Leeds City Council's Initial Response to the Referendum on the UK's Membership of the European Union
	EU Report Appendix EIA 080716

	14 Compassionate City with a Strong Economy: Financial Strategy
	1. Purpose of this report
	2. Background information
	2.1 2015 Spending Review and Autumn Statement 2015
	2.1.1 On 25th November 2015, the Chancellor announced the first combined Spending Review and Autumn Statement since 2007.  Compared to the Summer Budget 2015, the Office for Budget Responsibility forecast higher tax receipts and lower debt interest, w...
	2.1.2 Details of the 2015 Spending Review and Autumn Statement were included in the Initial Budget report to Executive Board in December 2015.  The main points specific for local government are recapped below:

	2.2 Finance Settlement and the Budget Gap
	2.2.1 The final Local Government Finance Settlement for 2016/17 was announced on 8th February 2016 ahead of a formal motion and parliamentary debate two days later.  Through the settlement the Government introduced a new measure of ‘Core Spending Powe...
	2.2.2 The Government’s indicative assessment of the Leeds Core Spending Power shows cash reductions in 2016/17 and 2017/18 with cash increases in the following 2 years.  Overall, the table shows a cash reduction of £13.7m, or 2.6% over the four-year p...
	2.2.3 In terms of the indicative Settlement Funding Assessment from 2016/17 through to 2019/20, table 2 below provides the breakdown between the Revenue Support Grant and the Business Rates Baseline funding and indicates a 78% reduction in Revenue Sup...
	2.2.4 In addition to the £34.2m reduction to the council’s Settlement Funding Assessment in 2016/17, Government has indicated a further reduction of £53m between 2017/18 and 2019/20 of which over £25.2m is front-loaded to the 2017/18 financial year.
	2.2.5 Compounding the reductions in government funding, there are a number of other cost and funding pressures that need to be taken into account as part of updating the 2017/18 to 2019/20 financial strategy.  These include:
	 The cost of inflation;
	 The financial impact of demographic changes and increasing demands for services, especially in Adult Social Care and Children’s Services;
	 The continuing impact of implementing the national living wage for commissioned services;
	 Rising pension costs;
	 Reductions to specific grants, for example, New Homes Bonus, Public Health and the Education Services Grant, as noted above;
	 The cost of debt and the Minimum Revenue Provision; and
	 Other cost pressures and non-recurrent funding/savings.
	2.2.6 Table 3 below sets out the council’s estimated budget gap over the next 3 years.  It shows that the council’s estimated headline funding gap for the period 2017/18 to 2019/20 is substantial: around £110m of which £81m is front-loaded into 2017/1...
	Table 3: Estimated Budget Pressures – 2017/18 to 2019/20

	2.3 Four-year funding settlement
	2.3.1 As part of the 2016/17 financial settlement, Government set out an offer of a four-year funding settlement for the period 2016/17 to 2019/20 to any council that wishes to take it up.   Government states that as part of the move to a more self-su...
	2.3.2 Government is making a commitment to provide central funding allocations for each year of the Spending Review period, should councils choose to accept the offer and on the proviso that councils have published an efficiency plan.  The deadline fo...
	2.3.3 The intention is therefore to present the updated medium-term financial strategy for approval to the September meeting of the Executive Board as part of the decision on whether or not to accept the four-year funding settlement.  It should be not...
	2.3.4 In preparation, the ‘main issues’ section below describes an approach for updating the medium-term financial strategy and considers the actions and decisions required to continue delivering the Best Council Plan ambitions and priorities while ad...


	3. Main Issues
	3.1 Policy & Service Reviews
	3.1.1 In February 2016, Full Council approved the 2016/17 Best Council Plan and the supporting Budget.  The Best Council Plan is the council’s strategic planning document and sets the context and policy direction against which the budget and medium-te...
	3.1.2 The reports that accompanied the proposals to Executive Board and then Full Council on the 2016/17 Best Council Plan and Budget identified that the future financial climate for local government presented significant risks and challenges to the c...
	3.1.3 To help identify options for what those changes might be, from April 2016 an ongoing process of review has been underway across a range of services and policy areas with the active involvement of the Best Council Leadership Team (the c. 50 most ...
	3.1.4 The latter follows on from Executive Board’s approval at its February 2016 meeting of the recommendations in the report on fees and charges from Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources).  These included agreement that all fees would be reviewed ann...
	3.1.5 The service and policy reviews have been – and will continue to be – updated as part of an iterative approach to developing the council’s strategic plan and aligned medium-term financial strategy and annual budgets.  All services are within scop...

	3.1.6 Whilst no decisions have been taken yet to implement the policy and service reviews, it is clear from the scale of the financial challenge, and particularly the front-loading impact into 2017/18, that the impact on council services and functions...
	3.2 Workforce Implications
	3.2.1 Following the 2015 Comprehensive Spending Review the council re-issued a Section 188 notice (notice to collectively consult to avoid redundancies issued under s.188 TULRCA 1992) stating that it is anticipated the council will need to downsize by...
	3.2.2 The process for making redundancies is clearly set out in the council’s Managing Staffing Reductions (MSR) policy and is based on the assumption that the requirement for activities and / or work has either lessened or stopped.
	3.2.3 There are specific timescales set out in law for collective consultation to avoid redundancies which must be adhered to in order to avoid the very real risk of legal challenge around failing to meet minimum consultation requirements, incorrect s...

	3.3 European Union
	3.3.1 At the time of writing, the country faces a period of political, fiscal and economic uncertainty following the results of June’s EU referendum with potentially wide-ranging implications/uncertainties in terms of:
	 An uncertain economic outlook potentially impacting on levels of trade and investment;
	 Potentially rising inflation;
	 Interest rate volatility impacting on the council’s debt costs;
	 Impact on the labour market, both around make-up and availability;
	 The UK’s legislative and regulatory framework will require in-depth review and revision; and
	 At the time of writing, there is currently a degree of political uncertainty at central government level.
	3.3.2 The effects for local government and local communities will emerge over the coming months and years.  The council remains committed to working with partners across all sectors to deliver our Best City / Best Council ambition whilst anticipating ...

	3.4 Timetable
	3.4.1 The specific decisions around the service and policy change proposals will be taken in line with the council’s decision-making framework over the coming months as required and factored into the 2017/18 Best Council Plan and Budget proposals.  Ke...


	4. Corporate Considerations
	4.1 Consultation and Engagement
	4.1.1 Embracing the concept of civic enterprise set out in the Leeds-led ‘Commission on the Future of Local Government’, it is clear that the council needs to work differently in the future. We must move away from a heavily paternalistic role where we...
	4.1.2 To achieve changes on the scale proposed will require city-wide and local conversations about the council and its future role.  These conversations need to go beyond the traditional consultation methods used for budget setting or changes to serv...
	4.1.3 Where there are specific and imminent changes proposed to council services, we will use normal business processes to engage users and staff to inform decision-making.
	4.1.4 When considering any workforce change the trade unions should be meaningfully engaged at the earliest opportunity.  The council re-issued the Section 188 notice following the Comprehensive Spending Review last year, which triggered the consultat...

	4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration
	4.2.1 The council continues to have a clear approach to embedding equality in all aspects of its work and recognises the lead role we have in the city to promote equality and diversity.  This includes putting equality into practice, taking into accoun...
	4.2.2 As an example of the commitment to equality, scrutiny will again play a strong role             in challenging and ensuring equality is considered appropriately within the decision-making processes.
	4.2.3 The proposals within this report have been screened for relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration and a full strategic analysis and assessment will be undertaken on the Financial Strategy 2017/18 - 2019/20 and associated service...
	4.2.4 Specific equality impact assessments will also be undertaken on the implementation of all budget decisions as they are considered during the decision-making processes in 2016/17.  As part of this, the proposed revenue budget for 2017/18 will be ...

	4.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan
	4.3.1 The approach and timetable set out in this report for updating Leeds’ medium-term financial strategy, developing the 2017/18 budget and the actions required to deliver the Best Council plan outcomes and priorities within tightening financial res...

	4.4 Resources and Value for Money
	4.4.1 All financial and workforce implications are considered in the main body of the report.

	4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In
	4.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.  Any proposals resulting from the ongoing service / policy reviews will be subject to specific decision-making processes in which the legal implications, access to information and call-in...

	4.6 Risk Management
	4.6.1 Making changes to council services carries a number of significant risks that will need to be carefully managed in line with the council’s Risk Management Policy.  However, failure to make these changes will require the council to consider even ...
	4.6.2 Key risks include:

	 Risks to people:
	o Failure to consider the potential cumulative impact of proposals on specific population groups;
	o Failure to identify and mitigate unintended consequences;
	o Failure to manage demand;
	o Failure to invest in early intervention / preventative measures;
	o Best Council Plan outcomes and ambitions not achieved, inequalities worsen;
	 Financial risks:
	o Economic uncertainty related to the result of the EU referendum impacts on local government and our partners;
	o Uncertainties around the levels of funding, other sources of income, costs and demand;
	o Delays in the implementation of any proposals impacting upon delivery of the anticipated financial savings/additional income;
	o Actual financial savings/additional income delivered are less than those required;
	o Failure to deliver the 2016/17 budget, increasing the 2017/18 pressures;
	 Workforce risks:
	o Process for managing staff reductions (and associated development of ELI offer) unclear, insufficiently communicated and/or delayed, damaging staff morale and impacting upon financial savings required – key source of delay may be insufficient capaci...
	o Council no longer seen as an employer of choice;
	 Legal / regulatory breach & resulting challenge:
	o Council’s statutory / regulatory duties not met;
	o Failure to ensure due regard for consultation, equality and diversity; and
	o Failure to comply with legal requirements for managing staffing reductions.
	4.6.3 A full risk assessment will be undertaken of the council’s financial plans as part of the normal budget process and a full analysis of budget risks will continue to be maintained, subject to monthly review as part of the in-year monitoring and m...
	4.6.4 In addition, risks identified in relation to specific proposals and their management will be reported to relevant member and officer decision-makers as required.


	5. Conclusions
	5.1 The council is facing continued financial pressures through a combination of reduced funding, rising costs and growing demand.  The scale of the funding gap between 2017/18 and 2019/20 is projected to be in the order of £110m, £81m of this front-l...
	5.2 Those services that are no longer affordable and a lesser priority than others will be delivered differently, reduced or, in some cases, stopped.  This will have implications for the council’s service users, partners and workforce and so, although...
	5.3 A planned and iterative approach is being taken to review a range of service and policy areas to identify potential savings and income generation opportunities.  These will inform the development of the council’s medium-term financial strategy and...
	5.4 While all services are within scope, the council remains committed to protecting front-line services as far as possible – especially those that provide support to the most vulnerable in line with our stated Best Council Plan ambitions to tackle po...

	6. Recommendations
	6.1 Executive Board is recommended to:

	7. Background Documents0F
	7.1 There are no background documents relating to this report.
	On 10th Feb 2016, Executive Board received a report on Fees and Charges from Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources).  Executive Board agreed the recommendations and tasked officers with reporting back as appropriate.  The following paragraphs provide a...



	15 Leeds Innovation District
	16 Transfer of Hurst Bequest to Leeds Art Fund
	17 Equality Improvement Priorities Progress Report 2015 - 2016
	Equality Improvement Appendix 1 Annual Report 2016 300616

	18 Best Council Plan Annual Performance Report 2015/16
	EB Annual perf report cover FINAL
	App 1 EB Annual performance report
	Appendix 2 Extract from 2015 report

	19 Financial Health Monitoring 2016/17 - Quarter 1
	20 Capital Programme 2016-2020 Quarter 1 Update
	21 Annual Risk Management Report
	22 Growing the Leeds Digital Economy
	Digital Economy Report Appendix 1 Action Plan 180716
	Digital Economy Report Appendix 2 EDCI 180716

	23 South Bank Regeneration Framework and Leeds Station
	South Bank Report Appendix 1 180716
	South Bank Report Appendix 2 190716
	South Bank Report Appendix 3 EIA 180716

	24 Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan - Submission Draft
	AVLAAP Report Appendix 1 150716
	AVLAAP Report Appendix 2A 150716
	AVLAAP Report Appendix 2B 150716
	3.5.4 The proposed route of the eastern leg of Phase Two of HS2 will extend high speed services to Leeds City Centre.  The HS2 consultation documents from 2013 shows the route into Leeds aligning with the existing Leeds-Castleford railway corridor wit...
	3.5.8 The proposed 14.8km system will run between Holt Park in North Leeds and Stourton in AVL through the city centre and will be served by major park and ride facilities.  It will connect people to key employment sites, education, health, shopping a...

	AVLAAP Report Appendix 3 150716
	AVLAAP Report Appendix 4 150716
	AVLAAP Report Appendix 5 EIA 150716
	AVLAAP Report Appendix 6 Scrutiny 150716

	25 Consideration of an Award of Grant Funding to Yorkshire County Cricket Club to contribute towards the Redevelopment of the North-South Stand at Headingley Stadium
	Headingley Stadium Report Appendix 1 180716
	Headingley Stadium Report Appendix 2A 180716
	Headingley Stadium Report Appendix 2B 180716
	Headingley Stadium Report Appendix 2C 180716
	Headingley Stadium Report Appendix 3 180716
	Headingley Stadium Report Appendix 4 180716

	26 Whitehall Road / Northern Street Junction Improvement
	Whitehall Road Report Appendix 1 Map 180716
	Whitehall Road Report Appendix 2 EIA 180716

	27 Overview of the Health and Care Sustainability and Transformation Plans



